














































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































CITY OF TURLOCK

FINANCIAL REPORTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK

This book contains the following financial statements for the
City of Turlock and related entities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014:

City of Turlock
Basic Financial Statements

Turlock Public Financing Authority
Component Unit Financial Statements

City of Turlock
Single Audit

City of Turlock Transportation Development Act (TDA)
Financial Statements



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK, CALIFORNIA

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Prepared by

THE ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES DEPARTMENT



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

   Page
INTRODUCTORY SECTION:

Table of Contents ...................................................................................................................................................... i

FINANCIAL SECTION:

Independent Auditor�s Report ................................................................................................................................ 1

Management�s Discussion and Analysis................................................................................................................3

Basic Financial Statements:

 Government-wide Financial Statements:

  Statement of Net Position ..................................................................................................................... 15

  Statement of Activities .......................................................................................................................... 16

 Fund Financial Statements:

  Governmental Funds:

   Balance Sheet .................................................................................................................................... 20

   Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet with the Governmental
       Activities Net Position ................................................................................................................... 21

   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances ........................................... 22

   Reconciliation of the Net Change in Fund Balances Governmental
        Funds with the Change in Net Position Governmental Activities ............................................... 23

   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance � Budget and Actual:

   General Fund ............................................................................................................................... 24

   Former LMI Housing Special Revenue Fund ............................................................................. 25

   Gas Tax/Street Improvement Special Revenue Fund ................................................................. 26

  Proprietary Funds:

   Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................................. 28

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position ............................................ 29

   Statement of Cash Flows .................................................................................................................. 30

i



CITY OF TURLOCK
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

   Page
FINANCIAL SECTION: (Continued)

Fiduciary Funds:

   Statements of Fiduciary Net Position ............................................................................................... 32

   Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ............................................................................. 33

 Notes to Basic Financial Statements ........................................................................................................... 35

Supplemental Information:

Non-major Governmental Funds:

  Combining Balance Sheet ...................................................................................................................... 84

  Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
    in Fund Balances .............................................................................................................................. 90

 Non-major Enterprise Funds:

  Combining Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................... 96

  Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position .............................. 97

  Combining Statement of Cash Flows .................................................................................................... 98

 Internal Service Funds:

  Combining Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................. 100

  Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position ............................ 101

  Combining Statement of Cash Flows .................................................................................................. 102

 Fiduciary Funds:

  Statements of Changes in Assets and Liabilities � All Agency Funds ............................................... 104

ii



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT

To the Honorable Members of the City Council
City of Turlock, California

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Turlock, California as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City�s
basic financial statements as listed in the Table of Contents.

Management�s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor�s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor�s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City�s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City�s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City as of June 30, 2014, and the respective changes in the financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparisons listed as part of the basic
financial statements for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

1



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management�s Discussion
and Analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management�s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the City�s basic financial statements.  The Supplemental Information listed in the Table of Contents is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The Supplemental Information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In
our opinion, the Supplemental Information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 23, 2015, on our
consideration of the City�s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report is to
describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City�s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015

2



MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This narrative overview and analysis is provided by the management of the City of Turlock (City) for the fiscal
year 2013-14 financial statements (with comparative information for 2012-13).  We encourage our readers to
consider this information in conjunction with the information provided in the accompanying basic financial
statements and notes thereto.

FISCAL YEAR 2013-14 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Government-Wide Highlights
The City�s net position (assets in excess of liabilities) at June 30, 2014, totaled $488 million.
Governmental activities accounted for $308 million of the net position, while $180 million are in the
business-type activities.
Total City revenues, including program and general revenues, were $79 million; while total expenses
were $74 million.
Governmental program revenues were $24 million compared to governmental program expenses of $46
million.
Program revenues from business-type activities were $31 million, while expenses for business-type
activities were $27 million.

Fund Highlights
Net General Fund revenues exceeded expenditures by $257,000 as compared to the prior year when
expenditures exceeded revenues by $1.4 million.  For financial reporting purposes, the �General Fund�
includes not only the City�s General Fund, but also the Arts Commission, Special Public Safety, and
Tourism (2 funds) funds.
General Fund fund balance of $16.2 million at June 30, 2014 compared to a projected $14.4 million
when the 2013-14 budget was originally adopted.

Additional discussion regarding the financial results for fiscal year 2013-14 can be found in the �Financial
Activities� section of this document.

OVERVIEW OF THESE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City�s basic financial statements
which are broken into the following four parts:

1) Management�s Discussion and Analysis (this part),
2) The Basic Financial Statements, which include the Government-wide and the Fund financial statements,

along with the Notes to these financial statements,
3) Required Supplemental Information, and
4) Supplemental Information.

THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Government-wide Financial Statements
The Government-wide Financial Statements provide a longer-term, broader view of the City�s activities as a
whole.  These Statements are more similar to private-sector financial statements than the fund financial
statements.  The Government-wide Financial Statements are comprised of the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Activities.

The Statement of Net Position (formerly referred to as the �Statement of Net Assets) provides information about
the financial position of the City as a whole, including all its capital assets and long-term liabilities on the full
accrual basis, similar to that used by the private sector.  The difference between the City�s assets and liabilities
is reported as �net position�.  Over time, this Statement may serve as an indicator of the City�s general health
and whether its overall financial position is improving or deteriorating.

3



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

The Statement of Activities provides information about all the City�s revenues and all its expenses.  This
Statement is also prepared using the full accrual basis of accounting, with an emphasis on measuring net
revenues or expenses for each of the City�s programs.

All of the City�s activities are grouped into either Governmental or Business-type activities as explained below.
All the amounts in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities are separated into Governmental
or Business-type Activities in order to provide a summary of these two activities of the City as a whole.

Governmental activities�All of the City�s basic services are considered to be governmental activities.
These services include public safety (police and fire), parks and recreation, streets and highways,
public improvements, community development and general administration.  General City revenues
such as taxes and program-specific revenues such as developer impact fees support and finance these
services.

Business-type activities�All the City�s enterprise activities are reported here including water, sewer,
transit and building department operations.  Unlike governmental services, these services are
supported by charges paid by the users of these services.

As noted above, the Government-wide financial statements are prepared on the full accrual basis of accounting,
which means they measure the flow of all economic resources of the City as a whole.

Fund Financial Statements
The Fund Financial Statements report the City�s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements
and focus primarily on the short-term activities of the City�s General Fund and other major funds.  The Fund
Financial Statements measure only current revenues and expenditures and fund balances; they exclude capital
assets, long-term debt and other long-term amounts.

The Fund Financial Statements provide detailed information about each of the City�s most significant funds,
called �major funds�.  Major funds account for the most significant financial activities of the City and are
presented individually, while the activities of non-major funds are presented in summary with subordinate
schedules presenting the detail for each of these other funds.  The concept of major funds, and the determination
of which funds are major funds, was established by GASB Statement No. 34 and replaces the concept of
combining like funds and presenting them in total.  Since the City�s most significant fiscal activities may change
from year to year, the funds designated as �major funds� may also change from year to year.

Fund Financial Statements include governmental, enterprise, internal service and fiduciary funds as follows:

Governmental Fund Financial Statements are prepared on the modified accrual basis, which means they
measure only current financial resources and uses.  Capital assets and other long-lived assets, along with
long-term liabilities, are not presented in the Governmental Fund Financial Statements.

The City of Turlock has twenty-nine (29) governmental funds of which three (3) are considered major
funds for presentation purposes. Each major fund is presented separately in the Governmental Fund
Balance Sheet and the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balances.  The City�s three major funds are � the General Fund, Former LMI Housing Fund, and Gas
Tax/Street Improvement.  The financial information for the remaining non-major governmental funds is
combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  The basic governmental fund financial statements can be
found starting on page 19 in this report.

Enterprise and Internal Service Fund Financial Statements are prepared on the full accrual basis and include
all their assets and liabilities, current and long-term.  The City�s Enterprise Funds account for the financial
activity of the City�s water, sewer, transportation (fixed route and dial-a-ride) and building/safety services.
The Internal Service funds account for the financial activity of the City�s equipment pool, self-insurance,
information systems, and engineering services activities.  Because these activities primarily benefit the

4



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

governmental rather than business-type functions, the resulting financial activities of the Internal Service
Funds have been included within the governmental activities in the governmental-wide financial statements.
The Enterprise and Internal Service Fund Financial Statements can be found starting on page 28.

Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the government.  They are not included in the government-wide financial statements because their resources
are not available to support City programs.  With the dissolution of the Redevelopment Agency, the activities
of the Successor Agency to the former Turlock Redevelopment Agency are reported as a Private Purpose
Trust Fund in the Fiduciary Fund Section.  Additional information about the dissolution of the
Redevelopment Agency can be found in Note 13 on page 74 of the financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of
the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes can be founding starting on
page 35.

FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

Over time, the City�s net position may serve as an indicator of a governmental entity�s financial position.  The
City�s Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities presented below and on the next page focus on the
City�s net position and changes to net position for Governmental and Business-Type Activities.

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Cash and investments 59,906$ 62,016$ 66,203$ 72,884$ 126,109$ 134,900$
Other assets 35,790 34,281 18,840 15,182 54,630 49,463
Capital assets, net 228,459 226,388 223,608 205,658 452,067 432,046

Total assets 324,155 322,685 308,651 293,724 632,806 616,409

8,757 7,682 117,646 104,779 126,403 112,461
Other liabilities 7,583 10,780 10,489 11,123 18,072 21,903

Total liabilities 16,340 18,462 128,135 115,902 144,475 134,364

Net position:

228,347 225,748 113,873 112,780 342,220 338,528
Restricted 60,870 59,539 60,870 59,539
Unrestricted 18,598 18,936 66,643 65,042 85,241 83,978

Total net position 307,815$ 304,223$ 180,516$ 177,822$ 488,331$ 482,045$

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Governmental Activities
For the FYE June 30

Net investment in
  capital  assets

Business-Type Activities
For the FYE June 30

Total
For the FYE June 30

Long-term liabilities

(in thousands of dollars)

As noted above, the City�s primary investment is in its net investment in capital assets. Capital assets, which
account for approximately 70% of the City�s total net position, include all infrastructure such as the
street/roadway system; sewer, water and storm drain collection systems as well as retention basins; the
wastewater treatment plant and water wells and pump stations; streetlights and traffic signals; and parks.
Capital assets also include all vehicles, equipment and buildings used by City employees in the course of their
daily activities.  By their very nature and use, capital assets are not available for future spending and are
therefore not available assets to fund future activities.

5



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Approximately $61 million or 12% of the City�s non-capital net position is subject to external restrictions as to
their use.  The remaining $85 million is unrestricted and available to meet the City�s on-going obligations to its
citizens and creditors.  Of this amount, $18 million is related to governmental activities and $67 million to
business-type activities.

The City�s overall net position increased by $6 million during the 2013-14 fiscal year.  The City�s Gas
Tax/Street Improvement fund increased by nearly $2 million due to the receipt of grant reimbursements for
project costs that had been expended in prior years.  The Sewer fund balance grew by $2.2 million as revenues
outpaced expenditures.  The City is nearing the completion of two large capital projects which are primarily
funded with State Water Resources Control Board Revolving Fund loans.  The debt service on these loans will
begin in fiscal year 2014-15.  The City had previously implemented user fees which were designed to be
sufficient to fund debt service at the completion of the projects. More information on these loans can be found in
the notes to the financial statements.  The following table provides additional detail regarding revenues and
expenditures.

6



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

As the above table shows, $54 million of the City�s $79 million in total revenues comes from program revenue
sources.  GASB 34 defines program revenues as those derived directly from the program itself (user fees) or
from parties outside the reporting government�s taxpayers or citizenry.  Program revenues reduce the need for
the cost of the function to be financed by general government revenues.  The largest portion of the City�s
program revenues is �Charges for Services� which include user fees from the City�s water and sewer operations,
building permit-related fees, developer impact fees and special assessments.

Expenses are presented on a functional basis and represent only current year expenses.  As such, they do not
include capital outlay expenditures.  In accordance with GASB 34, capital outlay expenditures are included in
�capital assets� on the City�s Statement of Net Position.

Citywide expenses, which totaled $74 million, consisted of $47 million for governmental activities and $27
million for business-type activities.  Of the $47 million in governmental activity expenses, $26 million or 56%
relate to the provision of public safety (police and fire) services.  The next largest component was $10 million or

7



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

22% for public ways, facilities and transportation.  This component accounts for activities involved in the
maintenance and construction of City streets and roads as well as City buildings.

Governmental Activities
Governmental activity revenues totaling $48 million
are comprised of various non-dedicated tax revenues
as well as revenues received for specific purposes.
Specific purpose or �program� revenues are
categorized as follows:

o Charges for Services � Revenues for specialized
City services which are typically not demanded by
the general population � totaled $10 million as
compared to $9.4 million for 2012-13.  Included in
this revenue category are the special assessment
revenues charged by the City�s Lighting and
Landscape maintenance districts as well as charges
for specialized services provided by departments
throughout the City and fees for participation in City
offered recreation programs.

o Operating Grants & Contributions � Revenues received from other governmental agencies which are
primarily used for operational needs � totaled $6 million, compared to $6.2 million in 2012-13.
Operating grants include revenues received from the (1) U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development (HUD) and the California Department of Housing and Community Development
supporting the City�s affordable housing activities; (2) U.S. Department of Justice and California
Office of Traffic Safety supporting various police activities; (3) Gas Tax and Local Transportation
Funds used for street/road maintenance; and (4) revenues received by the City�s recreation division to
support after school enrichment programs in lower income areas of town.  Since these types of
revenues are generally received on a reimbursement basis, annual amounts will vary from year-to-year
depending on the activities in which the City is engaged.

o Capital Grants & Contributions � These are typically development impact related revenues which are
collected to finance the cost of new infrastructure as well as federal Department of Transportation
revenues � totaled $7.9 million.  The Department of Transportation revenues are used for street/road
reconstruction and other maintenance that is more extensive than pot hole patching and slurry seals.

General revenues are all other revenues not classified as program revenues and are generally received for
unrestricted uses.  General revenues include property taxes, sales tax, property tax � VLF in lieu, franchise
fees, business license fees, transient occupancy taxes and investment earnings.  The City�s governmental
activity general revenues totaled $24.5 million for fiscal 2013-14, $1.8 million more received in 2012-13.  The
detail within the revenue did have mixed results.  The majority of the increase is due to increased sales and
property tax receipts.

Sales tax revenue increased approximately 10.2%.  Staff continues to see improvements in sales tax revenues
which is one of the indicators that the economy in Turlock is improving.  The increase in property tax revenue
is reflective of growth in real estate assessed values.  While overall values are not yet back to pre-recession
levels, the City is seeing steady growth in values among all types of property uses.

General Revenues Program Revenues

Charges for
Services

21%

Operating
Grants &

Contributions
12%

Capital Grants
&

Contributions
16%

Property
Taxes

9%

Sales Taxes
26%

Property Tax -
VLF In Lieu

9%

Other Taxes
6%

Interest &
Misc Income

1%

8



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

Investment earnings declined due to smaller idle cash balances available to invest.  The interest rate
environment has not moved from its record lows.  Governmental activity revenues are primarily used to
finance governmental activities such as public safety, park maintenance, culture and recreation programs and
general government administration.

The tables to the left and below graphically depict the
typical relationship between program revenues and
expenses for Governmental Activities for the past two
years.  In total, 2013-14 expenses for Governmental
Activities exceeded program revenues by $23 million
whereas in 2012-13 expenses exceeded revenues by $29
million.

The City continues to work its way through the
challenges the current economy presents.  Employee
concessions, first implemented in fiscal year 2010-11,
continued in 2013-14.  The concessions consisted of
either sharing the cost of benefits and/or the
elimination of certain benefits.  These negotiated
concessions were necessary as the cost of employee
benefits � mainly health care and pension costs �
continue to increase.  The results of operations in
other operating funds varied during 2013-14 due to
available revenue.  More information regarding
specific funds can be found in the fund section of the
document.

Business-Type Activities
Revenues for business-type activities totaled $30.8 million and related expenses totaled $27.2 million of which
$17 million or 62 % related to the maintenance and operations of the City�s wastewater treatment plant and the
City�s storm drain collection system.  Potable water maintenance and operations accounted for $7.6 million or
28% of business-type activities expenses.  Other business-type activities include the operation of both fixed
route and dial-a-ride transit systems which provide service in Turlock as well as connecting those in need with
County-wide transportation services. The City�s Building division assists all residents and developers in their
pursuits of property development and improvements within the City limits.

9



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

THE CITY�S FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Governmental Funds
As noted earlier, the focus of the City�s governmental funds (General, Special Revenue and Capital Projects) is
to provide information related to resource (mainly cash) near-term inflows, outflows and spendable balances.
This focus does not include capital assets and long-term debt.

At June 30, 2014, the City�s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $52.4 million, a $1.8
million increase over the prior year.  The General Fund�s fund balance is $16.2 million at June 30, 2014.
Governmental fund revenues (including transfers in) were $50.6 million this year, of which General Fund
revenues totaled $31.5 million or 61%.  Governmental fund expenditures (including transfers out) totaled $49.6
million with the General Fund representing 63% of the total or $31.3 million.  The following provides additional
information for select governmental funds.

General Fund � As previously mentioned, for financial reporting purposes, the �General Fund� includes not only
the City�s General Fund, but also the Arts Commission, Special Public Safety, and Tourism (2 funds) funds.  At
June 30, 2014, the General Fund had a fund balance of $16.2 million with $7 million in the unassigned category.
As noted in footnote 8, fund balances in governmental funds can fall into one of five categories � nonspendable,
restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned.  Balances falling in the nonspendable through assigned categories
are there by virtue of (1) legal restrictions, (2) City Council action to commit resources for specific activities,
and/or (3) action taken by management which signals the City�s intended use of resources.  All other balances
are categorized as unassigned.

General Fund expenditures exceeded revenues (before transfers) by $387,400 during fiscal year 2013-14 as
compared to $2.4 million in excess expenditures for 2012-13.  After net transfers, revenues exceeded
expenditures by $256,600 for 2013-14.  General Fund department directors continued to provide services within
their approved budgets which have been status quo for the past few years due to the recession.  The bright spot
for the General Fund is on the revenue side as sales and property tax revenues exceed projections by a combined
$1.2 million.  Together these revenue sources provided 54.9% of total General Fund revenues.

The City is currently experiencing significant interest in the development of vacant parcels at the Turlock
Regional Industrial Park and anticipates that this will spur job growth as well as other ancillary economic grow
which will be reflected in future property and sales tax growth.

Former LMI Housing Fund � This fund is serving as the successor to the former Housing Set-Aside Fund and
was formed after the dissolution of the City�s Redevelopment Agency.  The purpose of this fund is to account
for housing related activities and assets the City elected to retain from the former Redevelopment Agency.  For
fiscal year 2013-14 the fund�s expenditures included $63,200 in support of a Mobile Home Rental Subsidy
program for income eligible senior citizens, and $100,000 for development costs associated with the second
phase of the Avena Bella affordable housing project.  Both these programs are enforceable obligations of the
Successor Agency to the Turlock Redevelopment Agency.

Gas Tax/Street Improvement � This fund comprises the revenues and related expenditures the City receives
from Gas Tax, Local Transportation Fund (LTF), and federal Department of Transportation (DOT) sources.  The
nearly $2 million increase in fund balance is due to the receipt of grant revenue reimbursements from DOT for
street rehabilitation projects and traffic signal projects that are primarily grant funded.  These projects typically
take 3-4 years from beginning to end.  The funding is received on a reimbursement basis meaning that the City
spends the money first in accordance with the grant documents and is then reimbursed.  Major projects
undertaken in 2013-14 include the installation of a traffic signal at Golden State Boulevard and F Street;
intersection improvements and the installation of a traffic signal at Golden State Boulevard and Dels; roadway
rehabilitation on Monte Vista Avenue in the vicinity of CSU Stanislaus; and bikepath improvements along the
Taylor Road Bike Path.

10



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

The Gas Tax and Local Transportation fund dollars are used for general street maintenance (pot hole repairs,
crack sealing, slurry seals and striping) as well as the operational costs of the City�s street lights which are not in
an assessment district, traffic signals, leaf pick-up, and street tree trimming.  Local Transportation fund dollars
are also used for bicycle and pedestrian related-improvements contiguous to the City�s street/road system.  The
Gas Tax and LTF revenues are based on taxes paid when gasoline is purchased which is a revenue source that is
not growing due to more fuel efficient vehicles on the road.  Expenditures funded by these revenue sources were
at a level consistent with the prior year.

Proprietary Funds
The City�s proprietary funds provide the same information found in the government-wide financial statements
for business-type activities only in a little more detail.  The net position for the City�s proprietary funds
(exclusive of Internal Service funds) increased $2.7 million during fiscal year 2013-14, which compares to a
$3.0 million decrease for fiscal year 2012-13.  Overall total revenues were down slightly from the prior year
while total expenses declined by over $6 million.  The reason for the decline is two-fold.  In 2012-13 the City
refunded two outstanding bond issuances in order to take advantage of historically low interest rates.  This
refunding will benefit the City in the long run, but resulted in one-time bond issuance related costs which were
expensed in 2012-13.  In addition, during 2012-13 nearly $5 million in capital projects were written off as Staff
determined that these projects were no longer viable and therefore did not meet the capitalization requirements
for capital assets.

Charges for Services (user fees) for the City�s water and wastewater systems remained relatively unchanged
during 2013-14 while operating expenses increased by $450,300 and just over $1 million, respectively, for the
water and wastewater systems.  After including transfers and non-operating revenues/expenses, both systems
realized increases in net position and met the debt service reserve requirements related to their respective
outstanding revenue bond requirements.

It should be noted that for both the water and wastewater systems, new development pays � via development
impact fees - for the construction of infrastructure in the newly developing areas of town.  The monthly user fees
pay for the on-going delivery of water and sewer services as well as for the cost of replacing infrastructure either
due to age or increasing regulatory requirements.

CAPITAL ASSETS

At June 30, 2014, the City had $452  million, net of depreciation, invested in a broad range of capital assets used
in governmental and business type activities.  This investment includes land and improvements, buildings,
machinery, equipment, vehicles, infrastructure and construction in progress.  Infrastructure assets include items
which are not moveable and are normally of use only to the City such as streets/roads, bridges, sidewalks, street
lighting and traffic signals, parks, drainage systems, sewer collection and treatment systems and water
distribution systems.  Net additions to the City�s capital asset investment (including construction in progress)
during fiscal year 2013-14 were over $32 million.  The majority of these additions related to infrastructure �
streets/roads, water, sewer and storm drain pipes, and park � improvements as well as construction of the public
safety facility.  Additional information regarding the City�s capital assets can be found in Note 6 on page 53 of
this report.

It should be noted the Successor Agency to the Turlock Redevelopment Agency capital assets � $8.8 million �
are not included in the above numbers.

11



City of Turlock
Management�s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

DEBT ADMINISTRATION

At June 30, 2014, the City had $120.6 million in debt outstanding as compared to $107.3 million for the prior
year.  During 2013-14 the City drew down $16.9 in funding from its two loans through the California State
Water Resources Control Board to finance the construction of the Harding Drain Bypass and various WQC
Treatment Plant improvements.  The Harding Drain Bypass received its Notice of Completion in April 2014.
Work continues on the WQC Treatment Plant improvements with completion anticipated in fiscal year 2014-15.

The City�s total debt service requirements for 2014-15 are approximately $8 million with the bulk of the
requirements coming from semi-annual payments for the 2012 Sewer Revenue ($3.9 million) and the 2008
Water Bonds ($2 million).  Additional information regarding each of the City�s debt issues as well as debt
service requirements is discussed in greater detail in Note 7 to the financial statements starting on page 56.

It should be noted the Successor Agency to the Turlock Redevelopment Agency debt - $41.6 million � is not
included in the above numbers.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR�S BUDGET AND RATES

Developing the 2014-15 General Fund budget presented the City Council and Staff with many of the same
challenges that the City has been dealing with for the past few years. Since General Fund revenue peaked at
$30.4 million in fiscal year 2006-07, the City has experienced annual declines in operating revenues with fiscal
year 2012-13 representing the sixth year of revenue declines.  Final 2013-14 General Fund revenues exceeded
the 2006-07 mark by just over $500,000.  Sales tax revenue for 2013-14 exceeded the previous 2006-07 high,
but property tax revenue had not yet caught up.  With an 11% increase in assessed values, Staff anticipates
property tax revenue for 2014-15 to top the previous 2006-07 high.

Budgeted 2014-15 revenues are approximately 2% higher than final revenue for 2013-14 while on-going
expenditures are budgeted at approximately 10% higher than 2013-14 actuals.  With the continuing recovery of
sales and property tax revenue, combined with the interest being shown in developing at the Turlock Regional
Industrial Park, Staff believes that the decline in the City�s General Fund revenues have hit bottom and will
continue to recover during 2014-15.

The 2014-15 expenditure budget was prepared as a �status quo� budget, thus included employee concessions
like prior years.  There were personnel costs increases budgeted based on existing MOUs and/or Schedules of
Benefits.  Even though revenues are improving, the 2014-15 budget still projects deficit spending for on-going
operations at approximately $1.1 million.  Any additional appropriation of $3.3 million is included for capital
expenditures.  More information regarding the City�s budget can be obtained by going to the Finance division
section under Administrative Services on the City website at www.ci.turlock.ca.us.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This Basic Financial Report is intended to provide citizens, taxpayers, investors, and creditors with a general
overview of the City�s finances.  Questions about this report should be directed to the City�s Finance
Department, at 156 South Broadway, Suite 110, Turlock, CA  95380.

12



CITY OF TURLOCK

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION AND
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities summarize the entire City�s financial activities and
financial position.

The Statement of Net Position reports the difference between the City�s total assets and deferred outflows of
resources and the City�s total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, including all the City�s capital assets
and all its long-term debt. The Statement of Net Position summarizes the financial position of all of the City�s
Governmental Activities in a single column, and the financial position of all of the City�s Business-type Activities
in a single column; these columns are followed by a Total column that presents the financial position of the entire
City.

The City�s Governmental Activities include the activities of its General Fund, along with all its Special Revenue
and Capital Projects Funds.  Since the City�s Internal Service Funds service these Funds, their activities are
consolidated with Governmental Activities, after eliminating inter-fund transactions and balances.  The City�s
Business-type Activities include all its Enterprise Fund activities.

The Statement of Activities reports increases and decreases in the City�s net position.  It is also prepared on the
full accrual basis, which means it includes all the City�s revenues and all its expenses, regardless of when cash
changes hands.  This differs from the �modified accrual� basis used in the Fund financial statements, which
reflect only current assets, current liabilities, available revenues and measurable expenditures.

The Statement of Activities presents the City�s expenses first, listed by program, followed by the expenses of its
business-type activities.  Program revenues�that is, revenues which are generated directly by these programs�
are then deducted from program expenses to arrive at the net expense of each governmental and business-type
program.  The City�s general revenues are then listed in the Governmental Activities or Business-type Activities
column, as appropriate, and the Change in Net Position is computed and reconciled with the Statement of Net
Position.

Both of these Statements include the financial activities of the City and the Turlock Public Financing Authority,
which is legally separate but is a component unit of the City because it is controlled by the City, which is
financially accountable for the activities of this entity.

13



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and investments (Note 3) $59,906,043 $55,485,329 $115,391,372
Restricted cash and investments and

cash and investments with fiscal agent (Note 3) 10,717,832 10,717,832
Accounts receivables, net (Note 5C) 6,743,586 18,707,052 25,450,638
Interest receivable 32,062 43,566 75,628
Internal balances (Note 4C) 358,972 (358,972)
Due from Developers (Note 5A) 247,820 157,663 405,483
Long-term loans receivable (Note 5B) 27,630,428 27,630,428
Prepaid expenses 5,120 5,120
OPEB asset (Note 10) 771,653 290,741 1,062,394
Capital assets, not being depreciated (Note 6) 55,718,306 37,921,953 93,640,259
Capital assets, being depreciated (net) (Note 6) 172,740,824 185,685,952 358,426,776

Total Assets 324,154,814 308,651,116 632,805,930

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 4,437,292 1,325,272 5,762,564
Payroll payable 1,391,341 159,758 1,551,099
Interest payable 1,332 1,275,314 1,276,646
Unearned revenue 710,847 3,583,833 4,294,680
Deposits payable 400,299 424,559 824,858
Compensated absences (Note 1I):

Due within one year 529,971 138,205 668,176
Due in more than one year 2,119,884 552,821 2,672,705

Estimated claims liability (Note 11):
Due in more than one year 4,713,193 4,713,193

Long-term debt (Note 7):
Due within one year 112,128 3,581,336 3,693,464
Due in more than one year 116,871,781 116,871,781

OPEB liability (Note 10):
Due in more than one year 1,923,848 221,849 2,145,697

Total Liabilities 16,340,135 128,134,728 144,474,863

NET POSITION (Note 8):
Net investment in capital assets 228,347,002 113,872,620 342,219,622

Restricted for:
Capital projects 13,437,815 13,437,815
Special projects and programs 47,431,894 47,431,894

Total Restricted Net Position 60,869,709 60,869,709

Unrestricted 18,597,968 66,643,768 85,241,736

Total Net Position $307,814,679 $180,516,388 $488,331,067

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

15



CITY OF TURLOCK
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Program Revenues
Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Total
Governmental Activities:

General government $3,645,812 $2,769,129 $18,510 $288,554 $3,076,193
Public safety 25,956,679 1,655,871 543,845 676,103 2,875,819
Public ways and facilities/transportation 10,144,741 2,652,271 2,962,483 6,813,005 12,427,759
Parks and recreation 3,483,246 1,562,213 645,564 78,985 2,286,762
Community development 3,108,721 1,305,649 1,756,236 13,357 3,075,242
Interest and fiscal charges 9,023

Total Governmental Activities 46,348,222 9,945,133 5,926,638 7,870,004 23,741,775

Business-type Activities:
Water 7,619,799 7,830,394 71,943 400,370 8,302,707
Sewer 16,962,467 17,815,708 2,015,399 19,831,107
Transportation 1,526,038 159,671 992,993 381,298 1,533,962
Building & safety 1,114,703 970,418 970,418

Total Business-type Activities 27,223,007 26,776,191 1,064,936 2,797,067 30,638,194

Total $73,571,229 $36,721,324 $6,991,574 $10,667,071 $54,379,969

General revenues:
Taxes:

Property taxes
Sales taxes
Property tax-VLF in Lieu
Other Tax

Total taxes
Other revenue
Interest income
Contributions from private purpose trust

Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position-Beginning

Net Position-Ending

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

16



Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

($569,619) ($569,619)
(23,080,860) (23,080,860)

2,283,018 2,283,018
(1,196,484) (1,196,484)

(33,479) (33,479)
(9,023) (9,023)

(22,606,447) (22,606,447)

$682,908 682,908
2,868,640 2,868,640

7,924 7,924
(144,285) (144,285)

3,415,187 3,415,187

(22,606,447) 3,415,187 (19,191,260)

4,228,864 4,228,864
12,240,764 12,240,764

4,522,430 4,522,430
3,049,642 3,049,642

24,041,700 24,041,700
248,855 248,855
191,386 115,808 307,194
879,261 879,261
837,073 (837,073)

26,198,275 (721,265) 25,477,010

3,591,828 2,693,922 6,285,750

304,222,851 177,822,466 482,045,317

$307,814,679 $180,516,388 $488,331,067

17



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The funds described below were determined to be Major Funds by the City in fiscal 2014.  Individual non-major
funds may be found in the Supplemental Section.

GENERAL FUND

The General Fund is used for all the general revenues of the City not specifically levied or collected for other City
funds.  Expenditure activities within the General Fund include public safety (police and fire), park maintenance,
general City administration (includes City Clerk, payroll/personnel, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
accounting), planning and the City attorney.  For financial reporting purposes, the General Fund for the City of
Turlock also includes Arts Commission, Special Public Safety, Tourism (2 funds) and Parking Citation funds.

FORMER LMI HOUSING FUND

This fund accounts for the activity of the Housing Set-Aside funds post dissolution.

GAS TAX/STREET IMPROVEMENT

The Gas Tax/Street Improvement fund accounts for the City�s Gas Tax (Highway User�s Tax) and Local
Transportation Fund revenues as well as federal/state/local grants received for street improvement purposes.
These revenue sources are used in the maintenance of the City�s street/road system including street sweeping,
pothole repairs, street light/traffic signal lighting and maintenance, and various street reconstruction projects
which are the result of wear and tear. Expenditures in this fund do not include street construction projects which
are due to development.

19



CITY OF TURLOCK
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2014

Former LMI Gas Tax/ Nonmajor Total
Housing Street Governmental Governmental

General Fund Improvement Funds Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments (Note 3) $14,271,814 $11,445 $471,041 $35,655,282 $50,409,582
Accounts receivable (Note 5C) 4,394,045 472 1,332,865 957,157 6,684,539
Interest receivable 15,302 395 13,287 28,984
Due from other funds (Note 4B) 1,812,030 1,812,030
Due from developers (Note 5A) 20,041 227,779 247,820
Loans receivable (Note 5B) 18,106 11,912,558 15,699,764 27,630,428
Prepaid expenditures 5,120 5,120

Total Assets $20,536,458 $11,924,475 $1,804,301 $52,553,269 $86,818,503

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $2,483,545 $308,985 $730,580 $3,523,110
Payroll payable 1,282,929 15,910 33,707 1,332,546
Due to other funds (Note 4B) 792,908 792,908
Unearned revenue 122,449 583,398 5,000 710,847
Deposits payable 399,799 399,799

Total Liabilities 4,288,722 908,293 1,562,195 6,759,210

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue (Note 1F and 5B) $11,912,558 15,699,764 27,612,322

FUND BALANCES

Fund balance (Note 8):
Nonspendable 43,267 227,779 271,046
Restricted 11,917 896,008 21,200,084 22,108,009
Committed 5,353,894 14,053,039 19,406,933
Assigned 2,167,045 2,167,045
Unassigned 8,683,530 (189,592) 8,493,938

Total Fund Balances 16,247,736 11,917 896,008 35,291,310 52,446,971

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances $20,536,458 $11,924,475 $1,804,301 $52,553,269 $86,818,503

          See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

20



CITY OF TURLOCK
Reconciliation of the

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS-- BALANCE SHEET
with the

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Total fund balances reported on the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet $52,446,971

Amounts reported  for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different from those reported in the Governmental Funds above because of the following:

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets used in Governmental Activities are not current assets or financial resources and
therefore are not reported in the Governmental Funds.

226,607,094
ALLOCATION OF INTERNAL SERVICE FUND NET POSITION

Internal service funds are not governmental funds.  However, they are used by management to
charge the costs of certain activities, such as insurance and central services and maintenance
to individual governmental funds. The net current assets of the Internal Service Funds are therefore
included in Governmental Activities in the following line items in the Statement of Net Position.

Cash and investments 9,496,461
Accounts receivable 59,047
Interest receivable 3,078
Net OPEB asset 482,178
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 1,852,036
Accounts payable (914,182)
Payroll payable (58,795)
Due to other funds (660,150)
Deposits payable (500)
Compensated absences (325,522)
Estimated claims liability (4,713,193)
Net OPEB liability (32,883)

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT REVENUES AND EXPENSES

Revenues which are unavailable on the Fund Balance Sheets, because they are not available currently
are taken into revenue in the Statement of Activities. 27,612,322

LONG-TERM ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The assets and liabilities below are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the Funds:

Long-term debt (112,128)
Interest payable (1,332)
Compensated absences (2,324,333)
Net OPEB liability (1,601,490)

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $307,814,679

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

21



CITY OF TURLOCK
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Former LMI Gas Tax/ Nonmajor Total
Housing Street Governmental Governmental

General Fund Improvement Funds Funds

REVENUES
Taxes and assessments $18,367,387 $3,142,598 $21,509,985
Licenses and permits 1,526,585 14,247 1,540,832
Fines, forfeitures, and penalties 238,076 238,076
Use of money and property 89,639 $1,034 82,649 173,322
Intergovernmental 4,975,978 6,768,944 2,661,304 14,406,226
Charges for current services 3,912,148 36,530 4,458,357 8,407,035
Other revenue 735,030 $23,830 5,442 693,795 1,458,097

Total Revenues 29,844,843 23,830 6,811,950 11,052,950 47,733,573

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 2,921,595 221,195 3,142,790
Public safety 23,616,332 350,111 23,966,443
Public ways and facilities/transportation 273,854 1,674,843 3,129,754 5,078,451
Parks and recreation 1,774,901 1,072,972 2,847,873
Community development 1,185,935 164,272 2,310,672 3,660,879

Capital outlay 459,605 3,387,438 4,340,864 8,187,907
Debt service:

Principal 32,168 90,239 122,407
Interest and fiscal charges 1,611 8,807 10,418

Total Expenditures 30,232,222 164,272 5,096,060 11,524,614 47,017,168

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (387,379) (140,442) 1,715,890 (471,664) 716,405

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Contributions from private purpose trust 57,479 162,520 659,262 879,261
Transfers in (Note 4A) 1,635,265 231,700 995,207 2,862,172
Transfers (out) (Note 4A) (1,048,754) (58,175) (1,510,592) (2,617,521)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 643,990 162,520 173,525 143,877 1,123,912

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 256,611 22,078 1,889,415 (327,787) 1,840,317

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) 15,991,125 (10,161) (993,407) 35,619,097 50,606,654

ENDING FUND BALANCES $16,247,736 $11,917 $896,008 $35,291,310 $52,446,971

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

22



CITY OF TURLOCK
Reconciliation of the

 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
with the

CHANGE IN NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

The schedule below reconciles the Net Change in Fund Balances reported on the Governmental Funds Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance, which measures only changes in current assets and current
liabilities on the modified accrual basis, with the Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities reported in the
Statement of Activities, which is prepared on the full accrual basis.

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS $1,840,317

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because of the following:

CAPITAL ASSETS TRANSACTIONS

Governmental Funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However,
in the Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is capitalized and allocated over
their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

The capital outlay and other capitalized expenditures are therefore added back to fund balance. 7,934,086
Depreciation expense is deducted from the fund balance
 (Depreciation expense is net of internal service fund depreciation
  of $285,770 which has already been allocated to serviced funds). (5,853,880)
Retirements are deducted from the fund balance (288,550)
Capital contributions are added to fund balance 357,950

LONG-TERM DEBT PROCEEDS AND PAYMENTS

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
 issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
in the Statement of Net Position the repayment reduces long-term liabilities.

Repayment of debt principal is added back to fund balance 122,407

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT ITEMS

The amounts below included in the Statement of Activities do not provide (or require) the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as revenue or expenditures in
governmental funds (net change):

Unavailable revenue 832,015
Interest payable 1,395
Compensated absences 38,628
Net OPEB liability (402,764)

ALLOCATION OF INTERNAL SERVICE FUND ACTIVITY

Internal Service Funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities,
such as equipment acquisition, maintenance, and insurance to individual funds.
The portion of the net revenue (expense) of these Internal Service Funds arising out
 of their transactions with governmental funds is reported with governmental activities,
because they service those activities.

Change in Net Position - All Internal Service Funds (989,776)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $3,591,828

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

23



CITY OF TURLOCK
GENERAL FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:
Taxes and assessments $17,150,000 $17,150,000 $18,367,387 $1,217,387
Licenses and permits 1,516,700 1,516,700 1,526,585 9,885
Fines and forfeitures 269,500 269,500 238,076 (31,424)
Use of money and property 110,000 110,000 89,639 (20,361)
Intergovernmental 4,871,407 4,983,212 4,975,978 (7,234)
Charges for current services 3,755,483 3,773,983 3,912,148 138,165
Other revenue 337,478 337,478 735,030 397,552

Total Revenues 28,010,568 28,140,873 29,844,843 1,703,970

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

General government 3,061,608 3,186,155 2,921,595 264,560
Public safety 23,905,642 24,103,702 23,616,332 487,370
Public ways and facilities/transportation 185,062 231,788 273,854 (42,066)
Parks and recreation 1,760,244 1,787,234 1,774,901 12,333
Community development 1,189,365 1,214,731 1,185,935 28,796

Capital outlay 847,000 638,850 459,605 179,245

Total Expenditures 30,948,921 31,162,460 30,232,222 930,238

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (2,938,353) (3,021,587) (387,379) 2,634,208

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Contributions from private purpose trust 186,328 186,328 57,479 (128,849)
Transfers in 1,774,327 1,678,304 1,635,265 (43,039)
Transfers (out) (570,571) (1,123,374) (1,048,754) 74,620

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,390,084 741,258 643,990 (97,268)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE ($1,548,269) ($2,280,329) 256,611 $2,536,940

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 15,991,125

ENDING FUND BALANCE $16,247,736

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

24



CITY OF TURLOCK
FORMER LMI HOUSING FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:
Other revenue $750 $750 $23,830 $23,080

Total Revenues 750 750 23,830 23,080

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Community development 196,200 196,200 164,272 31,928

Total Expenditures 196,200 196,200 164,272 31,928

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (195,450) (195,450) (140,442) 55,008

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Contributions from private-purpose trust 196,200 196,200 162,520 (33,680)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 196,200 196,200 162,520 (33,680)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE $750 $750 22,078 $21,328

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (10,161)

ENDING FUND BALANCE $11,917

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

25



CITY OF TURLOCK
GAS TAX / STREET IMPROVEMENT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES:
Use of money and property $750 $750 $1,034 $284
Intergovernmental 7,296,456 7,296,456 6,768,944 (527,512)
Charges for current services 5,000 5,000 36,530 31,530
Other 4,100 4,100 5,442 1,342

Total Revenues 7,306,306 7,306,306 6,811,950 (494,356)

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Public ways and facilities/transportation 1,824,741 2,005,841 1,674,843 330,998
Capital outlay 6,600,929 6,488,394 3,387,438 3,100,956
Debt service:

Principal 30,000 30,000 32,168 (2,168)
Interest and fiscal charges 4,100 4,100 1,611 2,489

Total Expenditures 8,459,770 8,528,335 5,096,060 3,432,275

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (1,153,464) (1,222,029) 1,715,890 2,937,919

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 333,241 404,809 231,700 (173,109)
Transfers out (58,175) (58,175) (58,175)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 275,066 346,634 173,525 (173,109)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE ($878,398) ($875,395) 1,889,415 $2,764,810

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (993,407)

ENDING FUND BALANCE $896,008

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

26



MAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds account for City operations financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business
enterprise. The intent of the City is that the cost of providing goods and services be financed primarily through
user charges.  The City has identified the funds below as major proprietary funds in fiscal 2014.

WATER

The Water Fund accounts for the revenues collected and expenses incurred in providing potable water to residents
throughout the City.  All activities necessary to provide this service, including administration,
operations/maintenance, capital improvements, billing/collections and any financing costs are accounted for in this
fund.

SEWER

The Sewer Fund accounts for the revenues collected and expenses incurred in conjunction with the operation and
maintenance of the City�s sewer and storm drainage systems throughout the City.  All activities necessary to
provide this service including administration, operations/maintenance, capital improvements, billing/collections
and any financing costs are accounted for in this fund.

27



CITY OF TURLOCK
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental
Nonmajor Activities-
Proprietary Internal Service

Water Sewer Funds Totals Funds

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and investments (Note 3) $27,219,675 $24,984,577 $3,281,077 $55,485,329 $9,496,461
Restricted cash and investments and

cash and investments with fiscal agent (Note 3) 7,448,754 3,269,078 10,717,832
Accounts receivable (Note 5C) 832,824 17,468,152 406,076 18,707,052 59,047
Interest receivable 29,703 12,310 1,553 43,566 3,078
Due from developers (Note 5A) 157,663 157,663

Total current assets 35,530,956 45,891,780 3,688,706 85,111,442 9,558,586

Non-current assets
OPEB asset (Note 10) 290,741 290,741 482,178
Capital assets not being depreciated (Note 6) 5,047,816 29,119,406 3,754,731 37,921,953
Capital assets being depreciated (Note 6) 40,964,269 139,406,687 5,314,996 185,685,952 1,852,036

Total non-current assets 46,302,826 168,526,093 9,069,727 223,898,646 2,334,214

Total Assets 81,833,782 214,417,873 12,758,433 309,010,088 11,892,800

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 418,724 803,398 103,150 1,325,272 914,182
Payroll payable 43,811 98,327 17,620 159,758 58,795
Interest payable 217,192 1,058,122 1,275,314
Due to other funds (Note 4B) 358,972 358,972 660,150
Compensated absences (Note 1I) 29,723 95,277 13,205 138,205 65,104
Bonds and loans payable (Note 7) 700,000 2,881,336 3,581,336
Unearned revenue 3,583,833 3,583,833
Deposits payable 424,559 424,559 500

Total current liabilities 1,834,009 4,936,460 4,076,780 10,847,249 1,698,731

Long-term liabilities
Claims liability (Note 11) 4,713,193
Compensated absences (Note 1I) 118,892 381,110 52,819 552,821 260,418
OPEB liability (Note 10) 90,115 131,734 221,849 32,883
Bonds and loans payable (Note 7) 27,939,033 88,932,748 116,871,781

Total long-term liabilities 28,057,925 89,403,973 184,553 117,646,451 5,006,494

Total Liabilities 29,891,934 94,340,433 4,261,333 128,493,700 6,705,225

NET POSITION (Note 8):

Net investment in capital assets 24,821,806 79,981,087 9,069,727 113,872,620 1,852,036
Unrestricted 27,120,042 40,096,353 (572,627) 66,643,768 3,335,539

Total Net Position $51,941,848 $120,077,440 $8,497,100 $180,516,388 $5,187,575

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

28



CITY OF TURLOCK
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental
Nonmajor Activities-
Enterprise Internal Service

Water Sewer Funds Totals Funds
OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services $7,783,316 $17,680,116 $1,117,435 $26,580,867 $10,476,087
Other income 47,078 135,592 12,654 195,324 1,186,095

Total Operating Revenues 7,830,394 17,815,708 1,130,089 26,776,191 11,662,182

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, benefits and insurance 2,228,175 4,901,800 942,229 8,072,204 12,228,654
Contractual 548,049 2,020,938 1,049,430 3,618,417 486,553
Supplies and maintenance 291,645 1,744,731 26,880 2,063,256 54,276
Utilities 1,164,131 1,712,795 26,458 2,903,384 73,600
Fleet expense 69,176 249,983 203,215 522,374 110,163
Depreciation and amortization 1,849,896 3,731,808 365,745 5,947,449 285,770
Other expenses 107,224 158,884 26,784 292,892 25,474

Total Operating Expenses 6,258,296 14,520,939 2,640,741 23,419,976 13,264,490

Operating Income (Loss) 1,572,098 3,294,769 (1,510,652) 3,356,215 (1,602,308)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Operating grants 71,943 992,993 1,064,936
Interest income (5,175) 114,068 6,915 115,808 18,064
Interest (expense) (1,361,503) (2,441,528) (3,803,031) (13,920)
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 15,966

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (1,294,735) (2,327,460) 999,908 (2,622,287) 20,110

Income (Loss) Before Contributions and Transfers 277,363 967,309 (510,744) 733,928 (1,582,198)

Capital Grants 381,298 381,298
Capital contributions - connection/impact fees 400,370 2,015,399 2,415,769
Transfers in (Note 4A) 20,358 28,498 319,813 368,669 814,684
Transfers out (Note 4A) (360,806) (812,407) (32,529) (1,205,742) (222,262)

Net Contributions and Transfers 59,922 1,231,490 668,582 1,959,994 592,422

Change in net position 337,285 2,198,799 157,838 2,693,922 (989,776)

BEGINNING NET POSITION 51,604,563 117,878,641 8,339,262 177,822,466 6,177,351

ENDING NET POSITION $51,941,848 $120,077,440 $8,497,100 $180,516,388 $5,187,575

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds

29



CITY OF TURLOCK
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Business-type Activities-Enterprise Funds Governmental
Nonmajor Activities-
Enterprise Internal Service

Water Sewer Funds Totals Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers $7,918,724 $17,863,466 $1,144,099 $26,926,289 $10,899,559
Payments to suppliers (1,997,283) (8,069,157) (1,372,894) (11,439,334) (255,999)
Payments to employees (2,113,975) (4,803,968) (906,154) (7,824,097) (12,233,666)
Other 47,078 135,592 12,654 195,324 1,186,095

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 3,854,544 5,125,933 (1,122,295) 7,858,182 (404,011)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Intergovernmental receipts - operations 71,943 543,544 615,487
Interfund receipts (payments) (163,384) (163,384) 339,940
Transfers in 20,358 28,498 319,813 368,669 814,684
Transfers out (360,806) (812,407) (32,529) (1,205,742) (222,262)

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities (268,505) (783,909) 667,444 (384,970) 932,362

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Intergovernmental receipts - capital program 1,418,658 1,418,658
Acquisition of capital assets, net (4,389,934) (19,316,381) (374,584) (24,080,899) (208,149)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 16,866
Issuance of loans 12,303,586 12,303,586
Long-term debt payment - principal (872,656) (2,067,656) (2,940,312) (405,312)
Long-term debt payment - interest (1,369,024) (2,030,488) (3,399,512) (20,222)
Connection / impact fees 400,370 2,015,399 2,415,769

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities (6,231,244) (9,095,540) 1,044,074 (14,282,710) (616,817)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest 8 121,856 6,576 128,440 19,213

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 8 121,856 6,576 128,440 19,213

Net Cash Flows (2,645,197) (4,631,660) 595,799 (6,681,058) (69,253)

Cash and investments at beginning of period 37,313,626 32,885,315 2,685,278 72,884,219 9,565,714

Cash and investments at end of period $34,668,429 $28,253,655 $3,281,077 $66,203,161 $9,496,461

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Cash Flows
from Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) $1,572,098 $3,294,769 ($1,510,652) 3,356,215 ($1,602,308)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to cash flows

from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,849,896 3,731,808 365,745 5,947,449 285,770

Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 135,408 183,350 26,664 345,422 423,472
OPEB asset 100,372 71,327 171,699 (44,877)
Accounts payable 190,614 (2,181,826) (28,629) (2,019,841) (305,466)
Payroll payable 5,384 (852) 17 4,549 1,290
Compensated absences 8,444 (62,758) (54,314) 16,812
Claims Liability (11,998) (11,998) 801,484
OPEB liability 90,115 36,558 126,673 21,763
Deposits payable (7,672) (7,672) (1,951)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities $3,854,544 $5,125,933 ($1,122,295) $7,858,182 ($404,011)

NONCASH TRANSACTIONS:

Amortization of bond discount $379 $183,157 $183,536
Retirement of capital assets ($900)

Total noncash capital and related financing activities $379 $183,157 $183,536 ($900)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

30



FIDUCIARY FUNDS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

These funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, and
other governments. The financial activities of these funds are excluded from the City-wide financial statements,
but are presented in separate Fiduciary Fund financial statements.

SUCCESSOR AGENCY TRUST FUND

The Successor Agency to the Turlock Redevelopment Agency (SA) was established as a result of the passage of
Assembly Bill 1x 26, which dissolved all redevelopment agencies in the State of California effective February 1,
2012.  By Resolution No. 2012-009 adopted on January 10, 2012, pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section
34173, the Turlock City Council declared that the City of Turlock would act in a special limited capacity as
Successor Agency for the dissolved Turlock Redevelopment Agency (RDA), effective February 1, 2012.  The SA
is responsible for day to day administration of the former RDA, including identification and payment of
enforceable and recognized obligations of the former RDA, and disbursement of available assets.  An Oversight
Board, consisting of 7 members appointed by various taxing entities within Stanislaus County as delineated in the
dissolution law, supervises the SA�s activities in the winding down of the former RDA�s projects and programs.

AGENCY FUNDS

These funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, and
other governments.

31



CITY OF TURLOCK
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

STATEMENTS OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Successor
Agency Agency

Trust Fund Fund

ASSETS

Cash and investments (Note 3) $2,240,776 $714,831
Cash and investments with fiscal agent (Note 3) 3,569,714 406,619
Accounts and interest receivable 1,474
Capital Assets (Note 13B):

Nondepreciable 1,882,435
Depreciable, net 6,938,026

Total Assets 14,630,951 $1,122,924

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 8,178
Interest payable 767,376
Long-term debt (Note 13C):

Due within one year 1,022,044
Due in more than one year 40,562,492

Due to stakeholders $1,122,924

Total Liabilities 42,360,090 $1,122,924

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

Net deficit held in trust for other governments ($27,729,139)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

32



CITY OF TURLOCK
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Successor
Agency

Trust Fund

ADDITIONS

Property taxes $2,668,754
Net investment income 22,936

Total additions 2,691,690

DEDUCTIONS

Community development 39,505
Contributions to the City of Turlock 879,261
Depreciation 146,261
Interest and fiscal charges 2,307,635

Total deductions 3,372,662

NET CHANGE IN NET POSITION (680,972)

NET POSITION (DEFICIT) HELD IN TRUST FOR
OTHER GOVERNMENTS

Beginning of year (27,048,167)

End of year ($27,729,139)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

33



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City was incorporated in 1908.  The City operates under a Council-Manager form of government and
provides the following services: police and fire, streets and highways, sanitation, water, sewer, parks &
recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning, and general administrative services.

The financial statements and accounting policies of the City conform with generally accepted accounting
principles applicable to governments.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.
Significant accounting policies are summarized below:

A. Reporting Entity

The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial activity of the City, which is the
primary government presented, along with the financial activities of the Turlock Public Financing
Authority which is controlled by and dependent on the City.  Although the City and the Authority are
separate legal entities, blended component units are in substance part of the City�s operations and are
reported as an integral part of the City�s financial statements.

Turlock Public Financing Authority

The Turlock Public Financing Authority is a separate government entity whose purpose is to assist with
the financing or refinancing of certain public capital improvements within the City.  The Authority has
the power to purchase bonds issued by any local agency at public or negotiated sale and may sell such
bonds to public or private purchasers at public or negotiated sale. The Authority is controlled by the City
and has the same governing body as the City, which also performs all accounting and administrative
functions for the Authority. The Turlock Public Financing Authority was established December 15, 1998,
pursuant to Article 1, Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of
California.  The City of Turlock authorized the formation of a Joint Powers Authority with the former
Turlock Redevelopment Agency.

B. Basis of Presentation

The City�s Basic Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.  The Government Accounting Standards Board is the
acknowledged standard setting body for establishing accounting and financial reporting standards
followed by governmental entities in the United States of America.

These Standards require that the financial statements described below be presented.

Government-wide Statements: The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display
information about the primary government, the City and its blended component unit. These statements
include the financial activities of the overall City government, except for fiduciary activities.
Eliminations have been made to minimize the double counting of internal activities.  These statements
distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the City.  Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions.
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

35



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
each segment of the business-type activities of the City and for each function of the City�s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and,
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include (a) charges paid by
the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs, (b) grants and contributions that are restricted
to meeting the operational needs of a particular program and (c) fees, grants and contributions that are
restricted to financing the acquisition or construction of capital assets.  Revenues that are not classified as
program revenues, including all taxes and franchise fees that are based on gross receipts, are presented as
general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the City's funds,
including fiduciary funds and blended component units.  Separate statements for each fund category�
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary�are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on
major individual governmental and enterprise funds, each of which is displayed in a separate column.  All
remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary fund operating revenues and expenses, such as charges for services and the related costs,
result from exchange transactions associated with the principal activity of the fund.  Exchange
transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating
revenues and expenses, such as subsidies, investment earnings and any related costs, result from
nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities.

C. Major Funds

Major funds are defined as funds that have either assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources, revenues or expenditures/expenses equal to ten percent of their fund-type
total and five percent of the grand total.  The General Fund is always a major fund.  The City may also
select other funds it believes should be presented as major funds.

The City reported the following major governmental funds in the accompanying financial statements:

General Fund - The General Fund is used for all the general revenues of the City not specifically levied
or collected for other City funds.  Expenditure activities within the General Fund include public safety
(police and fire), park maintenance, general City administration (includes City Clerk, payroll/personnel,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, accounting), planning and the City attorney.  For financial
reporting purposes, the General Fund for the City of Turlock also includes Arts Commission, Special
Public Safety,  and Tourism (2 funds).

Former LMI Housing Fund - This fund accounts for the activity of the Housing Set-Aside funds post
Redevelopment Agency dissolution.

Gas Tax/Street Improvement - The Gas Tax/Street Improvement fund accounts for the City�s Gas Tax
(Highway User�s Tax) and Local Transportation Fund revenues as well as federal/state/local grants
received for street improvement purposes. These revenue sources are used in the maintenance of the
City�s street/road system including street sweeping, pothole repairs, street light/traffic signal lighting and
maintenance, and various street reconstruction projects which are the result of wear and tear.
Expenditures in this fund do not include street construction projects which are due to development.

36



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The City reported the following enterprise funds as major funds in the accompanying financial
statements:

Water Fund - Accounts for the revenues collected and expenses incurred in providing potable water to
residents throughout the City.  All activities necessary to provide this service, including administration,
operations/maintenance, capital improvements, billing/collections and any financing costs are accounted
for in this fund.

Sewer Fund - Accounts for the revenues collected and expenses incurred in conjunction with the
operation and maintenance of the City�s sewer and storm drainage systems throughout the City.  All
activities necessary to provide this service including administration, operations/maintenance, capital
improvements, billing/collections and any financing costs are accounted for in this fund.

The City also reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds � The funds account for equipment pool, self-insurance, information technology
and engineering, all of which are provided to other departments on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Trust Fund � Trust funds account for assets held by the City as an agent for various functions.  The
Successor Agency to the Turlock Redevelopment Agency Private-Purpose Trust Fund accounts for the
accumulation of resources to be used for payments at appropriate amounts and times in the future.  This
fund accounts for winding down the affairs of the former Turlock Redevelopment Agency and makes
payments on the Recognized Obligation Payment Schedule and disposes of assets and property of the
former Redevelopment Agency for the benefit of taxing agencies.  The financial activities of this fund is
excluded from the City-wide financial statements, but is presented in separate Fiduciary Fund financial
statements.

Agency Funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for the Northwest Triangle �
Mello Roos Assessment District, and Turlock Property and Business Improvement District #2 (PBID).
The financial activities of these funds are excluded from the City-wide financial statements, but are
presented in separate Fiduciary Fund financial statements.

D. Basis of Accounting

The government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary (trust and agency funds) fund financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred,
regardless of when the related cash flows take place.  Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal
liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations.

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable and
available.  The City considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be available if the
revenues are collected within ninety days after year-end.  Expenditures are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and accumulated unpaid vacation, sick pay and other employee benefit amounts, which are
recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured.  General capital asset acquisitions are
reported as expenditures in governmental funds.  Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions
under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

37



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City gives or receives value without directly receiving or giving
equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations.  On the accrual
basis, revenue from taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied or assessed.
Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility
requirements have been satisfied.

Other revenues susceptible to accrual are sales taxes and interest revenue.  Forfeitures, licenses, other
permits and miscellaneous revenue are not susceptible to accrual because they are not measurable until
received in cash.  Grant funding received in advance of the related expenditure is accounted for as unearned
revenue.

Grant revenues are recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements are met.  Under the
terms of grant agreements, the City may fund certain programs with a combination of cost-reimbursement
grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, both restricted and unrestricted net position
may be available to finance program expenditures. The City�s policy is to first apply restricted grant
resources to such programs, followed by unrestricted resources if necessary.

E. Prepaids, Materials, Supplies and Deposits

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal years and are recorded as prepaid
items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

Materials and supplies are valued at cost on a first-in first-out basis.  Supplies in the enterprise and
internal funds consist principally of materials and supplies for utility and internal operations.  Materials
and supplies of the governmental funds consist of expendable supplies and materials held for
consumption.  The cost is recorded as an expense or expenditure in the funds at the time individual
inventory items are consumed.

Prepaids, materials, supplies and deposits in governmental funds are equally offset by nonspendable fund
balance which indicates that they do not constitute available spendable resources even though they are a
component of net current assets.

F. Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position or balance sheet will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows
of resources, represents a consumption of net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s)
and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has
only one item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting, that qualifies for reporting
in this category.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds
balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from loans receivable.  These
amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become
available.

38



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

G. Property Tax Revenue

All property taxes are collected and allocated by the County of Stanislaus to the various taxing entities.
Secured property taxes are determined annually as of January 1, and attach as an enforceable lien on real
property as of July 1. Taxes are due November 1 and February 1, and are delinquent if not paid by
December 10 and April 10, respectively.

In November 1993, the City adopted the �Teeter Plan� method of property tax distribution.  Under the
Teeter Plan, the County remits property taxes to the City based on assessments, not on collections,
according to the following schedule: 55% in December, 40% in April, and 5% at the end of the fiscal
year.  Under this plan a need for an allowance for uncollectible taxes is eliminated.

Property tax is recognized when it is available and measurable.  The City considers property tax as
available if it is received within 60 days after the fiscal year end.  Unsecured property taxes are due on
July 1, and become delinquent if not paid by August 31.

H. Revenue Recognition for Water and Sewer

All receivables are shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Service charge revenues (water,
sewer and refuse collection) are recorded as billed to customers on a cyclical basis. All utility customers
are billed monthly, in arrears. The amounts billed in July for June services are accrued as accounts
receivable as of June 30.

I.  Compensated Absences

For governmental and business-type activities, compensated absences are recorded as earned (vested) and
the related expenses and liabilities are reported in the government-wide financial statements.

In governmental funds, compensated absences are recorded as expenditures in the year paid as it is the
City�s policy to liquidate any unpaid compensated absences at June 30 from future resources, rather than
currently available financial funds.  In proprietary funds, compensated absences are expensed to the
various funds as earned (vested) and each proprietary fund�s share of the unpaid liability is recorded as a
liability of the fund.

The City accrues vacation and sick time payable based on negotiated Memoranda of Understanding
(MOU) and Schedules of Benefits with the City�s various bargaining units.  The agreements indicate the
methodology for accruing time and the maximum accrual limits.

The changes of the compensated absences during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 were as follows:

Governmental Business Type Total
Beginning Balance $2,671,671 $757,338 $3,429,009
Net Change (21,816) (66,312) (88,128)

Ending Balance $2,649,855 $691,026 $3,340,881

Current Portion $529,971 $138,205 $668,176

39



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Compensated absences are liquidated by the fund that has recorded the liability.  The long-term portion of
governmental activities compensated absences is liquidated primarily by the General Fund.

J. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2 - BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING

A. Budgetary Control and Accounting

The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the basic financial
statements:

1. The City Manager submits to the City Council a proposed budget for the fiscal year beginning
July 1. The budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.

2. The City Council reviews the proposed budget at meetings which are open to the public.  The
Council also conducts a public hearing on the proposed budget to obtain comments from
interested citizens.

3. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally adopted through a passage of a resolution.

4. The City Manager is authorized to transfer funds within departmental budgets between major
object classifications and between capital projects in the same fund. The City Council must
authorize transfers between funds, between departments, and from the fund balances reserved for
specific purposes.

5. Formal budgetary accounting is employed as a management tool for all funds, except the Agency
funds, which do not have revenues or expenditures. Annual budgets are legally adopted and
amended as required for the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, the Facility Fees Capital
Projects Fund, Enterprise Funds, and Internal Service Funds, except the Former LMI Housing
Special Revenue Fund, the Development Benefit Special Revenue Fund, the Downtown
Assessment District Special Revenue Fund and the Housing Stimulus Funds Special Revenue
Fund.  Capital Projects funds, other than the Facility Fees Capital Projects Fund, are budgeted by
project, which usually span more than one fiscal year.  All budgets are prepared on a basis
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

6. Budgeted amounts are reflected after all applicable amendments are revisions.

40



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 2 - BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING (Continued)

7. For each legally adopted operating budget, expenditures may not exceed budgeted appropriations
at the department level.  Departments can reallocate spending within an object (e.g. supplies or
utilities) with the exception of personnel or capital outlay.  The total expenditures for that object
cannot be increased without the approval of the City Manager or City Council.  Any reallocations
between objects must be approved by the City Manager.  Only the City Council can approve
increases in the total appropriation for a Department within the General Fund or a Fund, other
than the General Fund.  A �department� for legal appropriation purposes may be a single
organization (e.g. City Attorney) or an entire department having multiple divisions (e.g. Parks
and Recreation).

B. Encumbrances

Under encumbrance accounting, purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditures
of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation.  Encumbrance
accounting is employed as an extension of the formal budgetary process.  Encumbrances outstanding at
year-end are not rolled over to the next fiscal year.  Departments are required to process new
encumbrances based on the new fiscal year�s budget.  If the new fiscal year�s budget is insufficient, an
additional appropriation must be approved by the City Council prior to processing the encumbrance.
Encumbrances do not represent expenditures or liabilities.

C. Expenditures in Excess of Appropriations

 The public ways and facilities/transportation department of the General Fund incurred departmental
expenditures in excess of appropriations in the amount of $42,066. The fund had sufficient fund balance
or revenues to finance these expenditures.

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The City pools cash resources from all funds, except cash and investments with fiscal agents, in order to
facilitate the management of cash.  The balance in the pooled cash account is available to meet current
operating requirements.  Cash in excess of current requirements is invested in various interest-bearing
accounts and other investments for varying terms.

A. Policies

The City invests in individual investments and in investment pools.  Individual investments are evidenced
by specific identifiable securities instruments, or by an electronic entry registering the owner in the
records of the institution issuing the security, called the book entry system.  In order to increase security,
the City employs the Trust Department of a bank as the custodian of certain City managed investments,
regardless of their form.

Cash equivalents are considered amounts in demand deposits and short-term investments with a maturity
date within three months of the date acquired by the City and are presented as �Cash and Investments� in
the accompanying Basic Financial Statements.

41



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

California Law requires banks and savings and loan institutions to pledge government securities with a
market value of 110% of the City�s cash on deposit, or first trust deed mortgage notes with a market value
of 150% of the deposit, as collateral for these deposits.  Under California Law this collateral is held in a
separate investment pool by another institution in the City�s name and places the City ahead of general
creditors of the institution.

The City�s investments are carried at fair value, as required by generally accepted accounting principles.
The City adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at each fiscal year end, and
it includes the effects of these adjustments in income for that fiscal year.

B. Classification

Cash and investments are classified in the financial statements as shown below, based on whether or not
their use is restricted under the terms of City debt instruments or other agreements.

City cash and investments:
Cash and investments available for operations $115,391,372
Restricted cash and investments and
     cash and investments with fiscal agent 10,717,832

         Total City Cash and Investments 126,109,204

Cash and investments in Fiduciary Funds (Separate Statement):
Successor Agency to the Redevelopment

Agency Private Purpose Trust Fund:
        Cash available for operations 2,240,776
        Cash and investments with fiscal agent 3,569,714
Agency Funds:
        Cash and investments available for operations 714,831
        Cash and investments with fiscal agent 406,619

         Total Cash and Investments $133,041,144

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2014 consist of the following:

Cash on hand $5,180
Deposits with financial institutions 58,128,903
Investments 74,907,061

         Total Cash and Investments $133,041,144

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash equivalents are defined as investments with original
maturities of 90 days or less, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.  The City
considers all pooled cash and investments (consisting of cash and investments and restricted cash and
investments) held by the City as cash and cash equivalents because the pool is used essentially as a
demand deposit account from the standpoint of the funds.  The City also considers all non-pooled cash
and investments (consisting funds with fiscal agents) as cash and cash equivalents because investments
meet the criteria for cash equivalents defined above.

42



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

C. Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the City�s Investment Policy

The City�s Investment Policy and the California Government Code allow the City to invest in the following,
provided the credit ratings of the issuers are acceptable to the City; and approved percentages and maturities
are not exceeded.  The table below also identifies certain provisions of the California Government Code or
the City�s Investment Policy where it is more restrictive:

Minimum Maximum Maximum
Maximum Credit Percentage Investment

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality of Portfolio In One Issuer

U.S. Treasury Notes, Bonds and/or Bills 5 years N/A Unlimited N/A

U.S. Government Sponsored Securities 5 years N/A Unlimited
No more than

25%

Certificates of Deposit 2 years N/A 30% N/A

Bankers' Acceptances 180 days N/A 40% No more than
30%

Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 or
Higher

25% No more than
10%

State of Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A N/A Equal to maximum
limit set by LAIF

N/A

Money Market Funds N/A N/A 15% N/A

Corporate Notes 5 years AAA 5% N/A

During fiscal year 2013, the City purchased four certificates of deposit that had maturity dates of more than
two years at the time of purchase, which is not in compliance with the City�s Investment Policy.  As of June
30, 2014, those certificates of deposit had maturity dates that were less than two years.

43



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

D. Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements

The City must maintain required amounts of cash and investments with trustees or fiscal agents under the
terms of certain debt issues.  These funds are unexpended bond proceeds or are pledged reserves to be
used if the City fails to meet its obligations under these debt issues.  The California Government Code
requires these funds to be invested in accordance with City resolutions, bond indentures or State statutes.
The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments held by fiscal agents.
The table also identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements:

Minimum
Maximum Credit

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality Maximum Percentage of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Notes, Bonds and/or Bills 5 years N/A No maximum
U.S. Government Sponsored Securities 5 years N/A No maximum
State Obligations N/A A No maximum
Pre-refunded Municipal Obligations N/A AAA No maximum
Certificates of Deposit 30 days N/A No maximum
Bankers' Acceptances 30 days A-1 No maximum
Commercial Paper 270 days A-1+ No maximum
State Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A LAIF limits
Repurchase Agreements 270 days A No maximum
Guaranteed Investment Contracts N/A AA No maximum
Money Market Funds N/A Aam or Aam-G No maximum

Corporate Notes N/A
Two highest

rating categories No maximum

E. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment.  Normally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value
to changes in market interest rates.  The City generally manages its interest rate risk by holding
investments to maturity.

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the City�s investments (including investments held
by bond trustees) to market interest rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the
distribution of the City�s investments by maturity or earliest call date:

44



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

12 Months 13 to 24 More than

Investment Type or less Months 36 Months Total

Held by City:
California Local Agency Investment Fund $50,014,938 $50,014,938
Certificates of Deposit 11,309,997 $2,155,424 13,465,421

Held by Trustee:
California Local Agency Investment Fund 5,408,405 5,408,405
Money Market Mutual Funds (U.S. Securities) 5,685,274 5,685,274
Investment Agreement $333,023 333,023

          Total Investments $72,418,614 $2,155,424 $333,023 $74,907,061

The City is a participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by California
Government Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The City
reports its investment in LAIF at the fair value amount provided by LAIF, which is the same as the value
of the pool share. The balance is available for withdrawal on demand, and is based on the accounting
records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis.  Included in LAIF�s
investment portfolio are collateralized mortgage obligations, mortgage-backed securities, other asset-
backed securities, loans to certain state funds, and floating rate securities issued by federal agencies,
government-sponsored enterprises, United States Treasury Notes and Bills, and corporations. At June 30,
2014 these investments matured in an average of 232 days.

Money Market Mutual funds are available for withdrawal on demand at June 30, 2014 matured in an
average of 40 to 46 days.

F. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the
investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.  Presented below is the actual rating as of June 30, 2014 for each investment type as
provided by Standard and Poor�s investment rating system:

Investment Type AAAm Total
Money Market Mutual Funds (U.S. Securities) $5,685,274 $5,685,274

Total Rated Investments $5,685,274 5,685,274

Not rated:
California Local Agency Investment Fund 55,423,343
Certificates of Deposit 13,465,421
Investment Agreement 333,023

   Total Investments $74,907,061

45



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

G. Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City�s deposits may not be returned to
it.  As of June 30, 2014, the book value of the City�s cash with banks and petty cash was $58,134,083 and
the associated bank balances were $57,863,616.  Of the City�s bank balances of $57,863,616 as of June 30,
2014, $15,549 was exposed to custodial credit risk, because it was not FDIC insured.

NOTE 4 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

A. Transfers Between Funds

With Council approval, resources may be transferred from one City fund to another.  The City uses
interfund transfers for two main purposes.  First to apportion costs initially accounted for in one fund to
other funds that benefit from the goods and/or services acquired.  Secondly to account for shared funding
of capital improvement projects.  The City accounts for capital improvement projects in one fund and the
funds that are providing funding assistance transfer monies representing their contribution to the project
fund.

46



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 4 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transfers between funds during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 were as follows:

Amount
Fund Making Transfer Fund Receiving Transfers Transferred

General Fund Non-Major Governmental Funds $594,791 (A), (B)
Non-Major Enterprise Funds 319,813 (C)
Internal Service Funds 134,150 (D)

Gas Tax/Street Improvement Fund Non-Major Governmental Funds 28,175 (B)
Internal Service Funds 30,000 (D)

Non-Major Governmental Funds General Fund 551,982 (A)
Gas Tax/Street Improvement Fund 34,095 (B)
Non-Major Governmental Funds 227,125 (A), (B)
Water Enterprise Fund 20,358 (B)
Sewer Enterprise Fund 28,498 (B)
Internal Service Funds 648,534 (A), (D), (E), (F)

Water Enterprise Fund General Fund 352,595 (A), (E)
Non-Major Governmental Funds 8,211 (A)

Sewer Enterprise Fund General Fund 729,688 (A), (E)
Gas Tax/Street Improvement Fund 47,855 (A)
Non-Major Governmental Funds 34,864 (A), (B)

Non-Major Enterprise Funds Gas Tax/Street Improvement Fund 3,000 (A)
Non-Major Governmental Funds 29,529 (A), (B)

Internal Service Funds General Fund 1,000 (A)
Gas Tax/Street Improvement Fund 146,750 (B)
Non-Major Governmental Funds 72,512 (A)
Internal Service Funds 2,000 (D)

$4,045,525

(A) To fund operations including computer replacement
(B) To fund capital improvements
(C) 25% Fee reduction subsidy
(D) To fund the Internal Service Equipment Pool for future vehicle purchases
(E) To fund administrative expenses
(F) To fund debt service

47



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 4 - INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

B. Current Interfund Balances

Current interfund balances arise in the normal course of business and represent short-term borrowings
occurring as a result of expenditures which are paid prior to the receipt of revenues.  These balances are
expected to be repaid shortly, after the end of the fiscal year when revenues are received.  Current
amounts due to the General Fund from the funds listed below at June 30, 2014 were as follows:

Amount Due
to

General Fund
Non-major Special Revenue Funds:

CDBG $100,113
Housing Stimulus Funds 8,990
Stanislaus County Housing Consortium 478,576
Grant Funds 42,229

Non-major Capital Projects Fund:
East Tuolumne Master Plan 163,000

Non-major Enterprise Fund:
Building and Safety 358,972

Internal Service Fund:
Engineering 660,150
               Total $1,812,030

C. Internal Balances

Internal balances are presented in the entity-wide financial statements only.  They represent the net
interfund receivables and payables remaining after the elimination of all such balances within
governmental and business-type activities.

NOTE 5 � DUE FROM DEVELOPERS, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

At June 30, 2014, the City had the following amounts due from developers and loans receivable.  These
amounts are further described below the table.

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

Due from developers $247,820 $157,663 $405,483
Loans receivable 27,630,428      27,630,428

   Total $27,878,248 $157,663 $28,035,911

48



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 5 � DUE FROM DEVELOPERS, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
(Continued)

A. Due from Developers

These amounts represent funds expended by the City in the preparation of the master plan and related
planning documents required for the development of the City�s Northwest Specific Triangle Plan Area,
its Northeast Master Plan Area and its Morgan Ranch Master Plan Area.  The amounts expended by the
City are being recovered as these Plan Areas develop via a specific development impact fee.  The
Northwest Triangle receivable of $157,663 is recorded in the Sewer fund, the Northeast Master Plan
receivable of $20,041 is recorded in the General Fund and the Morgan Ranch Master Plan receivable of
$227,779 is recorded in the Facility Fees Fund.

B. Loans Receivable

Loans receivable at June 30, 2014 consist of the following:

Type of Loan/Borrower Amount
Central Valley Coalition for Affordable Housing $8,609,453
First Time Homebuyer Loans 8,530,460
EAH, Inc. 5,099,977
Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Loans 3,621,786
Cherry Tree Village Loans 1,672,867
Rehabilitation Forgivable Loans for Energy Improvements 36,200
Rental Rehabilitation Loans 41,579
Employee Computer Loans 18,106

  Net long-term notes receivable $27,630,428

Central Valley Coalition for Affordable Housing

The Central Valley Coalition for Affordable Housing (CVCAH) is a Community Housing Development
Organization (CHDO) participating in various projects in Turlock.  A CHDO is a private, nonprofit,
community-based service organization that has the capacity to develop affordable housing for the
community it serves.  The City of Turlock, under the HOME Investment Partnership (HOME) Program,
is required to reserve HOME funds for investment in housing to be developed, sponsored, or owned by
CHDOs.  The City must identify and certify qualifying nonprofit organizations as CHDOs through HUD
regulations.

CVCAH is currently participating in three types of projects within the City of Turlock.  The first is Crane
Terrace, a 44-unit, three-story, low-income senior living apartment complex.  Using 20% Set-Aside
monies, the former Redevelopment Agency loaned $4 million to this $10.5 million project under a
Development and Disposition Agreement (DDA) dated April 26, 2005.  The DDA calls for repayment of
the 55-year note to begin in year 31 from residual rental receipts.  The note carries 3% simple interest.
The total outstanding principal and interest at June 30, 2014 was $5,294,629.

49



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 5 � DUE FROM DEVELOPERS, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
(Continued)

The second type of project is the acquisition and rehabilitation of single-family residential units which
will be rented out to HUD qualifying low/moderate income families.  CVCAH currently has three of
these properties for which the City holds promissory notes totaling $1,017,529.  The notes each carry a
5% annual interest rate and are due and payable, along with all accrued, unpaid interest at maturity,
unless the underlying property is sold; at which time the note and all accrued, unpaid interest is due and
payable.  Total outstanding principal and interest at June 30, 2014 on these three properties was
$1,402,527.

The third type of project is the acquisition of multi-family properties which will be rented to HUD
qualifying, low-income families.  CVCAH currently owns three multi-family properties for which the
City holds promissory notes totaling $1,394,604.  The notes each carry annual interest rates from 3% -
5% and are due and payable, along with all accrued, unpaid interest at maturity, unless the underlying
property is sold; at which time the note and all accrued, unpaid interest is due and payable.  Total
outstanding principal and interest at June 30, 2014 on these three properties was $1,912,297.

First Time Homebuyer Loans

The First Time Homebuyer Loan program, funded using Federal and/or State of California HOME funds,
CDBG funds, and former Redevelopment Agency low-/moderate-income housing funds, provides
eligible prospective homebuyers within the City of Turlock with up to $80,000 in funding assistance
through a silent second deed of trust on their home.  The loans are interest free for the first five years and
accrue interest at 3% - 5% simple interest annually thereafter.  The loans are due and payable should the
homeowner refinance or sell the property.  Proceeds from repaid loans are used to extend new loans.  As
of June 30, 2014 the City had 176 loans outstanding.

EAH, Inc.

EAH, Inc. is a nonprofit corporation which develops and manages affordable housing projects in the
western United States.  The former Redevelopment Agency entered into two Disposition and
Development Agreements (DDA) with EAH to assist in the development and help secure financing for a
multi-family housing project on 6.7 acres of property in the area of Linwood Avenue and Hwy 99.  The
site was initially owned by the City of Turlock and will be conveyed to the developer (EAH) pursuant to
the terms of the DDA.  The proposed project is a two-phased, 140 unit, three-story, apartment complex
for low- and very low-income families with amenities that would complement the project and
surrounding neighborhood.

The DDA for Phase 1 and construction of the first 80 units on 4.3 acres contains funding of up to $5
million of former RDA low- and moderate-income funds divided into two separate funding horizons.
The first is a pre-development loan of up to $1 million to reimburse the developer for certain pre-
construction, design and engineering costs.  The second is a development cost loan of up to $4 million to
be used for construction and development of the project, excluding development fees, management fees
or other similar fees.

50



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 5 � DUE FROM DEVELOPERS, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
(Continued)

The DDA for Phase II, which is projected to construct an additional 60 units on the remaining 2.4 acres,
provides for up to $500,000 in advanced pre-development costs in the form of a loan.  The balance of the
$4 million loan is for construction and final development of the project, excluding development fees,
management fees or other similar fees.  Currently EAH has secured $800,000 in Affordable Housing
Program (AHP) funds through the Federal Home Loan Bank for Phase II.  The California Department of
Finance has concluded that the DDA for Phase II is an enforceable obligation and has issued a Letter of
Final and Conclusive Determination related to this DDA.

Both DDAs contain conditions which must be achieved in order for the developer to be eligible to receive
funding as well as conditions related to the development of the project, additional funding sources which
must be obtained, and conditions for the transfer of ownership of the property.

Each loan will be memorialized with a Promissory Note and will become a recorded deed of trust against
the property.  Each pre-development loan (Phase I and Phase II) is interest free for the earlier of: (1) two
years from the date of execution, or (2) when the construction loan closes.  Both the pre-development and
development cost loans for each phase will be rolled into a permanent loan at the completion of
construction of the phase.  The combined loans will carry a 3% annual interest rate and be repaid using
residual receipts over a 55 year period.  As of June 30, 2014, EAH had drawn down all the funds
associated with the DDA for Phase I of the project and had drawn down $99,977 in funding associated
with the DDA for Phase II.  Outstanding loans for this project total $5,099,977.

.
Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Loans

The Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Loan program, funded with either Federal Community Development
Block Grant (CDBG) or State of California HOME funds, provides eligible homeowners with funding for
health, safety and/or building code related improvements to their home.  Eligibility is established based
on the age and income requirements for U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)
funded programs.  The loans are for a maximum of 20 years and can be either fully amortizing or
deferred � depending on the age and income level of the applicant.  The fully amortizing loans carry a 5%
simple interest rate for the entire term, while the deferred loans accrue simple interest at 5% for the first
10 years and then no interest for the remaining 10 years.  All loans are secured by a recorded silent
second deed of trust on the property.  The loans are due and payable should the homeowner refinance or
sell the property.  As of June 30, 2014 the City had 54 loans outstanding.

Cherry Tree Village Loans

The City and the City�s former Redevelopment Agency assisted in the development of Cherry Tree
Village, a low-income senior housing project.  Pursuant to a Loan Agreement dated September 23, 1998,
the City using $400,000 in CDBG funds and the former Redevelopment Agency using $600,000 in
low/moderate-income housing funds loaned the project $1,000,000.  Loan proceeds were disbursed in
increments as the project was completed in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.  The loan
proceeds have been fully disbursed.  Interest accrues on the loan at an annual rate of 5% and is calculated
based on the disbursement date of loan installments.  The loan is to be repaid from residual rental income
generated by the project.  Any unpaid principal and accrued interest is due and payable at the end of forty
years.

51



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 5 � DUE FROM DEVELOPERS, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
(Continued)

Rehabilitation Forgivable Loans for Energy Improvements

Using CDBG-R funding, the City has been able to provide forgivable loans for energy improvements
made as part of the rehabilitation process for a qualified low/moderate income home owner.  The
forgivable loans can be used for structural (e.g. windows, weather stripping, insulation) and/or appliance
(e.g. HVAC, refrigerator) improvements to the property which reduce the energy usage of the home.  The
forgivable loans are for up to $10,000, carry no interest, and are forgiven equally over a five-year period
provided the home continues to be the primary residence of the qualified home owner.  At June 30, 2014
the City had eight loans outstanding.

Rental Rehabilitation Loans

The Rental Rehabilitation Loan program, funded with CDBG funds, is similar to the owner-occupied
program except it is for rental properties.  To be eligible, the property must be occupied by a qualified
low/moderate income tenant based on HUD requirements. These fully amortizing loans are for a
maximum of 20 years and carry a 6.5% simple interest rate.  The loans are due and payable should the
homeowner refinance or sell the property or have a non-qualifying tenant.  As of June 30, 2014 the City
had one loan outstanding.

Executive MBA Program Loans

During 2008-09, California State University, Stanislaus in collaboration with the City operated a 15-
month Executive MBA program.  In exchange for the use of city hall on Saturday for this program, CSUS
offered a scholarship to a city employee enrolled in the program who would be responsible for the facility
during the term of the program.  In order to facilitate this program and encourage qualified city
employees to pursue their Master�s degree, the City authorized non-interest bearing loans to qualified city
employees.  The loans are being repaid through payroll deductions.  Three city employees qualified for
the program and were approved to share the scholarship in return for sharing the facility use
responsibilities.  The loans were originally for $18,000 each and as of June 30, 2014, the loans had been
repaid.

Employee Computer Loans

All full-time City employees who have completed their probationary period are eligible to obtain an
interest free loan of up to $2,500 to purchase a computer.  All requests for loans are subject to review by
the Service Area Director and must be approved by either the City Manager or Assistant City Manager.
Repayment of these loans is handled through payroll deductions which are spread out equally over a two
year period.  Employees must repay the outstanding balance of their loans upon ending their employment
with the City.  As of June 30, 2014, 18 employees had loans totaling $18,106 due to the City.

52



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 5 � DUE FROM DEVELOPERS, LOANS RECEIVABLE AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
(Continued)

C. Accounts Receivable

The following table provides a detailed listing of the City�s accounts receivable by type as of June 30,
2014:

Due from Other Accounts
Governments Receivable Total

General Fund $2,858,933 $1,535,112 $4,394,045
Former LMI Housing Fund 472 472
Gas Tax / Street Improvement 1,328,554 4,311 1,332,865
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 920,365 36,792 957,157
Water Enterprise Fund 61,502 771,322 832,824
Sewer Enterprise Fund 15,531,633 1,936,519 17,468,152
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds 405,925 151 406,076
Internal Service funds 10 59,037 59,047

Total $21,106,922 $4,343,716 $25,450,638

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets, which include land, buildings, improvements, equipment and infrastructure assets (e.g.
roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-
type activities in the Government-Wide Financial Statements.  Capital assets are recorded at historical
cost or estimated historical cost if actual cost is not available.  Donated assets are valued at their
estimated fair value on the date donated.  City policy has set the capitalization thresholds for reporting
capital assets at the following:

General Capital Assets $5,000

Infrastructure Capital Assets $5,000

Depreciation has been provided on a straight-line basis over the following useful lives:

Years
Land Improvements and Infrastructure 25 - 60
Buildings 30 - 50
Furniture and Equipment 5 - 10
Vehicles 5 - 10

53



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)

The City defines infrastructure as the basic physical assets that allow the City to function.  The assets
include streets, sewer, parklands, and buildings.  Each major infrastructure system can be divided into
subsystems.  For example, the street system can be subdivided into pavement, curb and gutters,
sidewalks, medians, streetlights, landscaping and land.  These subsystems were not delineated in the basic
financial statements.  The appropriate operating department maintains information regarding the
subsystems.

Interest accrued during the construction of capital assets, if any, is capitalized for the business-type
activities in the proprietary funds as part of the asset cost.

A. Capital Assets Additions and Retirements

At June 30, 2014 the City�s capital assets for governmental activities consisted of the following:

Governmental activities
Balance at Balance at

June 30, 2013 Additions Retirements Transfers June 30, 2014
Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land $13,510,495 $13,510,495
  Construction in progress 38,821,796 $7,701,316 ($285,576) ($4,029,725) 42,207,811
   Total capital assets not being depreciated 52,332,291 7,701,316 (285,576) (4,029,725) 55,718,306

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Land improvements 28,043,586 247,970 28,291,556
  Buildings 28,810,551 28,810,551
  Furniture and equipment 9,384,691 501,874 (61,243) 8,025 9,833,347
  Vehicles 8,820,605 296,995 (608,569) 822,649 9,331,680
  Infrastructure 175,971,328 2,951,081 178,922,409
   Total capital assets being depreciated 251,030,761 798,869 (669,812) 4,029,725 255,189,543

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Land improvements (8,045,548) (874,978) (8,920,526)
  Buildings (8,912,379) (956,838) (9,869,217)
  Furniture and equipment (7,737,354) (337,641) 61,243 (8,013,752)
  Vehicles (7,212,280) (498,343) 604,695 (7,105,928)
  Infrastructure (45,067,446) (3,471,850) (48,539,296)
   Total accumulated depreciation (76,975,007) (6,139,650) 665,938 (82,448,719)

Net capital assets being depreciated 174,055,754 (5,340,781) (3,874) 4,029,725 172,740,824

Governmental activity capital assets, net $226,388,045 $2,360,535 ($289,450) $228,459,130

54



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)

Governmental activities depreciation expense for capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2014 was as
follows:

Governmental Activities
General government $403,409
Public safety 853,590
Public works 4,059,537
Parks and recreation 479,488
Community development 57,856
Internal service funds 285,770

Total Governmental Activities $6,139,650

At June 30, 2014 the City�s capital assets for business-type activities consisted of the following:

Business-type activities
Balance at Balance at

June 30, 2013 Additions Transfers June 30, 2014
Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land $2,859,966 $852,154 $3,712,120
  Construction in progress 35,264,400 $23,886,818 (24,941,385) 34,209,833
   Total capital assets not being depreciated 38,124,366 23,886,818 (24,089,231) 37,921,953

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Land improvements 6,522,722 6,522,722
  Buildings and improvements 5,507,916 5,507,916
  Furniture and equipment 21,171,182 194,081 917,460 22,282,723
  Vehicles 2,992,846 2,992,846
  Infrastructure 266,183,426 23,171,771 289,355,197

302,378,092 194,081 24,089,231 326,661,404

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Land improvements (1,535,172) (208,425) (1,743,597)
  Buildings and improvements (2,329,286) (150,455) (2,479,741)
  Furniture and equipment (14,796,517) (899,581) (15,696,098)
  Vehicles (1,177,511) (196,332) (1,373,843)
  Infrastructure (115,005,982) (4,676,191) (119,682,173)

(134,844,468) (6,130,984) (140,975,452)

Net capital assets being depreciated 167,533,624 (5,936,903) 24,089,231 185,685,952

Total Business-type activity capital assets, net $205,657,990 $17,949,915 $223,607,905

55



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)

Business-type activities depreciation expense for capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2014 was as
follows:

Business-Type Activities
Water $1,850,275
Sewer 3,914,964
Transportation 365,745

Total Business-Type Activities $6,130,984

NOTE 7 - LONG TERM DEBT

 The City generally incurs long-term debt to finance projects or purchase assets which will have useful
lives equal to or greater than the related debt.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Long-term debt and other financial obligations are reported as liabilities in the appropriate activities.
Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line
method.

Fund Financial Statements

The Governmental Fund Financial Statements do not include long-term debt, as this liability is not
payable in the current period.  The face amount of debt issued and any premiums received are reported as
other financing sources, while discounts are reported as other financing uses.

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements use the same principles as those used in the Government-Wide
Financial Statements

56



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 7 - LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

A. Current Year Governmental Activities Transactions and Balances

 The City�s governmental debt issues and transactions are summarized below and discussed in detail
thereafter.

Loans Payable

California Energy Commission

The City entered into a loan agreement with the California Energy Commission to provide funding for the
replacement of the incandescent lights in the City�s traffic signals with light emitting diode (LED) lights.
The replacement lights are more energy efficient and longer lasting.  The loan, totaling $265,454, carries
a 3.95% annual interest rate and requires semi-annual payments beginning in December 2005 through
December 2014.

Capital Leases

2000 Regional Sports Complex

In January 2000 the City entered into a $1,000,000 lease � lease buy back agreement with Calease Public
Funding Corporation to finance the acquisition and development of a Regional Sports Complex.  The
lease carries an annual interest rate of 5.78% and requires quarterly principal and interest lease payments
due on the first of January, April, July and October until April 2015 when the lease terminates. At June
30, 2014, the City�s capital leases were related to capitalized assets totaling $1,300,128.

2002 City Hall Addition

In March 2002 the City entered into a $2,400,000 capital lease agreement with Municipal Services
Group, Inc. to finance an addition to the current City Hall which houses the Engineering Department as
well as the administrative personnel for the City�s water and sewer operations.  The lease payments are
funded 50% by the Engineering Internal Service Fund (governmental activities) and 25% each by the
Water and Sewer Enterprise Funds (business-type activities).  The lease carried an annual interest rate of
4.69% and required semi-annual principal and interest lease payments due on the first of March and
September until March 2017 when the lease was scheduled to terminate.  The lease was fully repaid
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.

57



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 7 - LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

Debt Service Requirements

Annual debt service requirements for governmental debt are shown below:

Governmental Activities
Loans Payable Capital Leases Total

For the Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2015 $16,561 $325 $95,567 $3,477 $112,128 $3,802

B. Current Year Business-type Transactions and Balances

The City�s business-type debt issues and transactions are summarized below and discussed in detail
thereafter:

Due  Due in
Original Issue Balance Balance Within More Than

Business-type Activity Debt: Amount June 30, 2013 Additions Retirements June 30, 2014 One Year One Year
Revenue Bonds:
2012 Sewer Revenue $51,915,000 $51,915,000 $1,865,000 $50,050,000 $1,955,000 $48,095,000

Add:  Unamortized bond premium 3,693,667 183,157 3,510,510 3,510,510
2008 Water Revenue 32,365,000 29,300,000 670,000 28,630,000 700,000 27,930,000

Add:  Unamortized bond premium 9,412 379 9,033 9,033
Loans Payable:

14,932,232 9,756,474 $5,175,758 14,932,232 926,336 14,005,896

23,321,342 11,627,506 11,693,836 23,321,342 23,321,342

Total Revenue Bonds and Loans Payable 122,533,574 106,302,059 16,869,594 2,718,536 120,453,117 3,581,336 116,871,781

Capital Lease:
2002 City Hall Addition 1,200,000 405,312 405,312

Total Business-type Activity Debt $123,733,574 $106,707,371 $16,869,594 $3,123,848 $120,453,117 $3,581,336 $116,871,781

State Revolving Fund Loan - TRWQCF
Upgrade

State Revolving Fund Loan - Harding Drain By-
Pass

Revenue Bonds

2012 Sewer Revenue Bonds

On September 6, 2012, the Turlock Public Financing Authority issued $51,915,000 in Sewer Revenue
Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds of these Bonds, secured by revenue from the City�s Wastewater
Treatment operations as defined in the bond documents, were used to refund the  outstanding 1999 and
2003A Sewer Revenue Bonds. The 1999 Bonds were refunded and repaid in their entirety on September 15,
2012.  Funds to refund the 2003A Bonds were placed in escrow upon the closing of the 2012 Bond issuance
and the 2003A Bonds were called on September 15, 2013. No new project monies were included in this
bond issuance. The 2012 Bonds carry coupons ranging from 2.00% - 5.00% and mature in September 2033.

Pursuant to an Installment Purchase Agreement between the Authority and the City, the City has pledged
the net sewer system revenues (defined as total system revenues excluding certain revenues related to
deposits, and proceeds from borrowings less maintenance and operating costs) from the Sewer Enterprise
Fund operations for repayment of the 2012 bonds and the State Revolving Fund Loans.  Based on fiscal
year 2013-14 net system revenues of $8,372,135, annual principal and interest payments (totaling
$3,885,375 in 2013-14) were 215% of net system revenues.

58



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 7 - LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

2008 Water Revenue Bonds

In May 2008 the Turlock Public Financing Authority issued $32,365,000 in Water Revenue Bonds Series
2008 to finance capital improvements to the City�s potable water system, including the installation of
water meters and an automated meter reading system for all water service users within Turlock, the
construction of two water storage reservoirs, and water line installations in the Westside Industrial
Specific Plan area.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest rates ranging from 3.50% - 5.00%, have
semi-annual principal and interest payments on the first of November and May through May 2038.

Pursuant to an Installment Purchase Agreement between the Authority and the City, the City has pledged
the net water system revenues (defined as total system revenues excluding certain revenues related to
deposits, construction/developer revenues, and proceeds from borrowings less maintenance and operating
costs) from the Water Enterprise Fund operations for repayment of the bonds.  Based on fiscal year 2013-
14 net system revenues of $3,163,321, annual principal and interest payments (totaling $2,085,068) were
152% of net system revenues.

Loans Payable

State Revolving Fund Loans

The City entered into two agreements with the California State Water Resources Control Board for State
Revolving Fund project financing.  These loans are on parity with the Sewer Revenue Bonds above.  This
means that the loans have equal rights to pledged revenues as the sewer bonds.

The first agreement was executed in December 2011 in the amount of $20 million to fund the Harding
Drain Bypass project.  The agreement was amended in October 2012 to reduce the project funding to
$15,811,425.  Under the terms of the amended loan, the City was to start construction no later than May
21, 2012, and construction is expected to be completed by January 1, 2014, with project completion on
March 1, 2014. The notice of completion for the project was issued on April 22, 2014. The loan bears
annual interest of 2.2%, and annual principal and interest payments are due January 1, 2015 through
January 1, 2034.  During fiscal year 2014, the City expended $5,611,179 on the project and drew down
loan proceeds of $5,175,758.

The second agreement was executed in April 2012 in the amount of $24 million to fund the Turlock
Regional Water Quality Control Facility (TRWQCF) upgrade and expansion project.  The agreement was
amended in January 2013 to increase the project funding to $26,187,900.  Under the terms of the
TRWQCF loan, the City was to start construction no later than July 12, 2012, and construction is
expected to be completed by December 1, 2014, with project completion on March 1, 2015.  The loan
bears annual interest of 2.2%, and annual principal and interest payments are due December 1, 2015
through December 1, 2034.  During fiscal year 2014, the City expended $12,216,961 on the project and
drew down loan proceeds of $11,693,836.

59



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 7 - LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

Capital Leases

2002 City Hall Addition

In March 2002 the City entered into a $2,400,000 capital lease agreement with Municipal Services
Group, Inc. to finance an addition to the current City Hall which houses the Engineering Department as
well as the administrative personnel for the City�s water and sewer operations.  The lease payments are
funded 50% by the Engineering Internal Service Fund (governmental activities) and 25% each by the
Water and Sewer Enterprise Funds (business-type activities).  The lease carried an annual interest rate of
4.69% and required semi-annual principal and interest lease payments due on the first of March and
September until March 2017 when the lease was scheduled to terminate.  The lease was fully repaid
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.

 Debt Service Requirements

 Annual debt service requirements for business-type activities debt are shown below:

Bonds and Loans Payable
For the Year

Ending June 30 Principal Interest

2015 $3,581,336 $4,279,638
2016 4,571,904 4,761,730
2017 5,171,028 4,161,852
2018 5,367,935 3,964,847
2019 5,573,001 3,759,980

2020-2024 31,305,976 15,369,679
2025-2029 25,542,207 9,556,082
2030-2034 27,171,917 4,807,455
2035-2038 8,648,270 953,862

Total 116,933,574 $51,615,125

Add: Unamortized Bond
Premium 3,519,543

Net long-term debt $120,453,117

Business-Type Activities

C. Debt With No City Commitment

The City of Turlock has no legal liability with respect to the payment of any indebtedness of the
Community Financing District No. 1 Monte Vista Crossings.  The City acts solely as an agent for the
bondholders in collecting and forwarding the special assessment.  Accordingly, no liability for these
bonds has been recorded in the City�s basic financial statements.  The principal amount of outstanding
debt of the above District was $3,040,000 at June 30, 2014.

60



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 8 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES

Net Position is measured on the full accrual basis while Fund Balance is measured on the modified
accrual basis, as explained in Note 1D.

A. Net Position

Net Position is the excess of all assets and deferred outflows of resources over all liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources.  Net Position is divided into three captions.  These captions apply only to Net
Position, which is determined only for proprietary funds and at the Government-wide level, and are
described below:

Net Investment in Capital Assets describes the portion of Net Position which is represented by the current
net book value of the City�s capital assets, less the outstanding balance of any debt issued to finance these
assets.

Restricted describes the portion of Net Position which is restricted as to use by the terms and conditions of
agreements with outside parties, governmental regulations, laws, or other restrictions which the City cannot
unilaterally alter.

Unrestricted describes the portion of Net Position that does not meet the definition of �net investment in
capital assets� or �restricted net position.�

B. Fund Balances

Governmental fund balances represent the net current assets of each fund.  Net current assets generally
represent a fund�s cash, receivables and deferred outflows of resources, less its liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources.  Portions of a fund�s balance may be restricted, committed or assigned for future
expenditure.

The City�s fund balances are classified based on spending constraints imposed on the use of resources.
For programs with multiple funding sources, the City prioritizes and expends funds in the following
order: Restricted, Committed, Assigned, and Unassigned.  Each category in the following hierarchy is
ranked according to the degree of spending constraint:

Nonspendable represents balances set aside to indicate items do not represent available, spendable
resources even though they are a component of assets. Assets not expected to be converted to cash, such
as prepaids, notes receivable, and property held for resale are included.  However, if proceeds realized
from the sale or collection of nonspendable assets are restricted, committed or assigned, then
nonspendable amounts are required to be presented as a component of the applicable category.

Restricted fund balances have external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, laws,
regulations, or enabling legislation which requires the resources to be used only for a specific purpose.
Encumbrances and nonspendable amounts subject to restrictions are included along with spendable
resources.

Committed fund balances have constraints imposed by resolution of the City Council which may be
altered only by formal action of the City Council.  Encumbrances and nonspendable amounts subject to
council commitments are included along with spendable resources.

61



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 8 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES (Continued)

Assigned fund balances are amounts constrained by the City�s intent to be used for a specific purpose, but
are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by the City Council or its designee and may be
changed at the discretion of the City Council or its designee, the City Manager. This category includes:
encumbrances; nonspendables, when it is the City�s intent to use proceeds or collections for a specific
purpose; and residual fund balances, if any, of Special Revenue and Capital Projects which have not been
restricted or committed.

Unassigned fund balance represents residual amounts that have not been restricted, committed, or
assigned. This includes the residual General Fund balance and residual fund deficits, if any, of other
governmental funds.

 Former Gas Tax/ Other
General LMI Housing Street Governmental

 Fund Balance Classifications Fund Fund Improvement Funds Total

 Nonspendable:
 Items not in spendable form:

 Prepaid expenditures $5,120 $5,120
 Loans receivable 18,106 $227,779 245,885
 Due from developers 20,041 20,041

         Total Nonspendable
 Fund Balances 43,267 227,779 271,046

 Restricted for:
 Low and moderate income housing $11,917 745,942 757,859
 Capital expenditures $896,008 8,109,904 9,005,912
 Resource conservation 643,643 643,643
 Assessment districts 11,308,313 11,308,313
 Public safety 312,793 312,793
 Development impact fees 79,489 79,489

         Total Restricted Fund Balances 11,917 896,008 21,200,084 22,108,009

 Committed to:
 Public safety 911,313 85,935 997,248
 Parks and recreation 23,399 23,399
 Resource conservation 251,594 251,594
 Tourism 85,184 85,184
 Future deficit spending 1,030,256 1,030,256
 Capital expenditures 3,327,141 13,692,111 17,019,252

         Total Committed Fund Balances 5,353,894 14,053,039 19,406,933

 Assigned to:
 Compensated absences 2,167,045 2,167,045

         Total Assigned Fund Balances 2,167,045 2,167,045

 Unassigned:
 General Fund 8,683,530 8,683,530
 Other governmental fund deficits (189,592) (189,592)

         Total Unassigned Fund Balances 8,683,530 (189,592) 8,493,938

         Total Fund Balances $16,247,736 $11,917 $896,008 $35,291,310 $52,446,971

Special Revenue

62



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 8 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES (Continued)

C.  Emergency/Contingency Reserve

The City established a General Fund Emergency/Contingency Reserve with Resolution 2011-123.  As of
June 30, 2014, the Emergency/Contingency Reserve, which is reported within the unassigned fund
balance of the General Fund, had a balance of $6,500,000.

D. Fund Balance/Net Position Deficits

The following funds had deficit fund balances or net position as of June 30, 2014.  The deficits will be
eliminated by future revenues.

Non-major Governmental Funds:
Housing Stimulus Funds Special Revenue Fund $26,592
East Tuolumne Master Plan Capital Projects Fund 163,000

Non-major Enterprise Fund:
Building and Safety 572,627

63



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 9 - RETIREMENT PLAN

Plan Description - The City contributes to the California Public Employees Retirement System (PERS).
The miscellaneous employees of the City are part of an agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension
plan.  The safety employees are part of a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan.
PERS provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to
plan members and beneficiaries.  PERS acts as a common investment and administrative agent for
participating public entities within the State of California.  Benefit provisions and all other requirements
are established by State statute and City ordinance.  Funding contributions for both Plans are determined
annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30 by CALPERS; the City must contribute these amounts.  The
Plans� provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2014, are summarized as follows:

Miscellaneous

Hire date
Prior to

January 1, 2013
On or after

January 1, 2013
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 - 55 52 - 67
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 2.0% to 2.7% 1.0% to 2.5%
Required employee contribution rates 8% 6.25%
Required employer contribution rates 20.939% 20.939%

Safety - Fire

Hire date
Prior to

January 1, 2013
On or after

January 1, 2013
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 50 - 57
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 3.0% 2.0% to 2.7%
Required employee contribution rates 9% 11.50%
Required employer contribution rates 30.802% 11.50%

Safety - Police

Hire date
Prior to

January 1, 2013
On or after

January 1, 2013
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years service 5 years service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 50 - 57
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible compensation 3.0% 2.0% to 2.7%
Required employee contribution rates 9% 11.50%
Required employer contribution rates 32.148% 11.50%

64



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 9 - RETIREMENT PLAN (Continued)

CALPERS determines contribution requirements using a modification of the Entry Age Normal Cost
Method. Under this method, the City�s total normal benefit cost for each employee from date of hire to
date of retirement is expressed as a level percentage of the related total payroll cost.  Normal benefit cost
under this method is the level amount the City must pay annually to fund an employee�s projected
retirement benefit. This level percentage of payroll method is used to amortize any unfunded actuarial
liabilities.  The actuarial assumptions used to compute contribution requirements are also used to
compute the actuarial accrued liabilities.  The City uses the actuarially determined percentages of payroll
to calculate and pay contributions to CALPERS. This results in no net pension obligations or unpaid
contributions. Annual Pension Costs, representing the payment of all contributions required by
CALPERS, for the last three fiscal years were as follows:

CALPERS uses the market related value method of valuing the Plan�s assets. For the most recent
actuarial report, as of June 30, 2013, an investment rate of return of 7.5% is assumed, including inflation
at 2.75%. Annual salary increases are assumed to vary by duration of service.  Changes in liability due to
plan amendments, changes in actuarial assumptions, or changes in actuarial methods are amortized as a
level percentage of payroll on a closed basis over twenty years. Investment gains and losses are
accumulated as they are realized and is amortized annually over a rolling thirty year period.

As required by State law, effective July 1, 2005, the City�s Police and Fire Safety Plans were terminated,
and the employees in those plans were required by CALPERS to join new State-wide pools.  One of the
conditions of entry to these pools was that the City true-up any unfunded liabilities in the former Plans,
either by paying cash or by increasing its future contribution rates through a Side Fund offered by
CALPERS.  The estimated balances of the Police Safety Plan Side Fund and the Fire Safety Plan Side
Fund were $3,739,241 and $1,897,527, respectively, as of June 30, 2014.  For the Police Safety Plan, the
City will satisfy its Plan�s unfunded liability by contributing to the Side Fund through an addition to its
normal contribution rates over the next 10 years. For the Fire Safety Plan, the City will satisfy its Plan�s
unfunded liability by contributing to the Side Fund through an addition to its normal contribution rates
over the next 11 years.

The schedule of funding progress presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value
of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits.
The Plans� actuarial value (which differs from market value) and funding progress over the most recent
three years available are set forth below at their actuarial valuation date of June 30 for the Miscellaneous
Plan and the Safety State-wide pools:

65



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 9 - RETIREMENT PLAN (Continued)

Miscellaneous Plan:
Actuarial

Valuation
Date June 30

Entry Age
Accrued Liability Value of Assets

Unfunded
(Overfunded)

Liability
Funded
Ratio

Annual Covered
Payroll

Unfunded
(Overfunded)
Liability as %

of Payroll
2011 $92,422,591 $70,352,214 $22,070,377 76.1% $13,048,348 169.1%
2012 98,144,895         74,608,606       23,536,289       76.0% 12,990,688      181.2%
2013 103,740,020       71,036,049       32,703,971       68.5% 12,664,356      258.2%

State-wide 3% at 50 Pool and Safety Pool:

Actuarial

Valuation
Date June 30

Entry Age
Accrued Liability Value of  Assets

Unfunded
(Overfunded)

Liability
Funded
Ratio

Annual Covered
Payroll

Unfunded
(Overfunded)
Liability as %

of Payroll
2011 (A) $10,951,745,049 $9,135,654,246 $1,816,090,803 83.4% $949,833,090 191.2%
2012 (A) 11,724,021,480   9,854,787,710    1,869,233,770   84.1% 947,734,809        197.2%
2013 (B) 16,086,316,273   12,092,373,658   3,993,942,615   75.2% 1,263,625,356     316.1%

(A) Actuarial valuation information is for the 3% @ 50 Cost Sharing Risk Pool.
(B) Effective with the 2013 actuarial valuations, CalPERS combined all Safety Plans into one Safety Risk Pool.

Audited annual financial statements and ten-year trend information are available from CALPERS at P.O.
Box 942709, Sacramento, CA 94229-2709.  CALPERS usually reports information for each fiscal year
seventeen months after the end of that fiscal year.

NOTE 10 � POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

A. Defined Benefit Plans

Plan Description � The City has four post-employment health care plans in place pursuant to negotiated
Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) and Schedules of Benefit (Schedule) with its employee bargaining
units.  The City�s funding obligation for each plan is defined within the respective MOU or Schedule and
is a specified percentage of payroll.  The four plans and the City�s funding obligation for each plan are as
follows:

66



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 10 � POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued)

Plan Covered Employee Group Employer

Management/Confidential

Employees covered by the
Management and/or Confidential
Employees Schedule of Benefits 2.5% of base salary

Miscellaneous
Employees covered by Turlock City
Employees Association MOU 2% of base salary

Police

Employees covered by Turlock
Associated Police Officers MOU and
Turlock Management Association -
Public Safety MOU

3% of salary plus 3%
of benefits

Police Management

Employees covered by Turlock
Management Association - Public
Safety MOU 3% of base salary

Fire
Employees covered by Turlock
Firefighters Local #2434 MOU

4% of salary plus 4%
of benefits

The administration of benefits for each plan rests with the individual plan administrators.  The City, by
agreement either through the MOU or Schedule, administers the benefits for the Management/Confidential
and Miscellaneous plans.  The respective bargaining unit representatives administer the benefits for the
Police and Fire plans.

In general, employees are required to retire from the City and be members of their respective covered
group for 10-15 years to be eligible to receive a benefit from their respective plan.  The benefit can only
be used to purchase post-employment health insurance.  The retiree has the option to continue on the
City�s self-insured health plan (and pay the 100% of the premium for continued participation), to become
a member of a non-City group plan, or to purchase an individual health insurance policy.  The benefit can
then be used to provide assistance with paying the monthly premium.  In no case does the retiree receive
a benefit greater than the monthly health insurance premium.  For retirees who choose to remain on the
City�s health plan, this eligibility terminates when the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare benefits,
reaches age 65, is deceased, or chooses to voluntarily leave the plan, whichever comes first.  Spousal
eligibility requirements vary with each employment plan.  The City currently has 33 retirees who have
chosen to remain on the City�s health plan post employment.  The health insurance premium assistance
described in this paragraph is referred to as the �offset benefit� below.

Funding Policy � Funding varies with each Plan.  For Management/Confidential and Miscellaneous plans
the City pays the expenses for the plans on a pay-as-you-go basis and the retirees that participate in the
plans pay the premiums on a monthly basis.

67



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 10 � POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued)

For the Police and Fire plans, the City remits the contributions as required by the respective MOU to each
plan following each pay period.  These plans have established irrevocable trusts for their respective plan
assets.  As noted above, the plans� trustees are responsible for the development of benefit levels that can
be sustained from the contributions received as well as the general plan administration.  The City does not
have any responsibility for nor involvement in these activities.  Under the terms of the Police and Fire
MOUs, the City is obligated to make current year contributions to the respective trusts based on the 3%
and 4% of personnel costs for Police and Fire, respectively.  Management believes the City has no
obligation to make any additional contributions to the trusts beyond the above amounts, and therefore
there is no unfunded actuarial accrued liability the City is obligated to fund.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation � The City�s annual post-employment health benefit cost
is calculated based on the annual required contribution (ARC).  The ARC represents a level of funding
that, if paid on an on-going basis, is projected to cover the normal cost each year and amortize any
unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.

The ARC for the Police and Fire offset plans are based on the contributions required under each MOU
and the amounts contributed for the 2013-14 fiscal year.

The ARC amounts reported for the healthcare plans are based on actuarial valuations dated July 1, 2013
using the attained age normal actuarial cost method.  This is a projected benefit cost method, which takes
into account those benefits that are expected to be earned in the future as well as those already accrued.
The actuarial assumptions included (a) 4.50% investment rate of return and (b) a healthcare trend of
declining annual increases ranging from 8.0% in 2014 to 4.5% for years starting 2019. The actuarial
methods and assumptions used include techniques that smooth the effects of short-term volatility in
actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.  Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term
perspective and actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of events far into the future. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to revision
at least biannually as results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the
future.  The City�s OPEB unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of
projected payroll, on a closed basis, using a 30 year amortization period with 24 years remaining.

The following table presents the components of the City�s annual OPEB cost, amounts actually
contributed for the 2013-14 fiscal year and changes in the City�s Net OPEB Obligation for the year.  The
table is broken out between the offset benefit and the City�s health care plan.

68



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 10 � POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued)

OFFSET PLAN Police Fire Total
Annual required contribution $266,198 $168,557 $434,755
Interest on net OPEB obligation
Adjustments

Annual OPEB cost (expense) 266,198 168,557 434,755
Contributions to irrevocable trust (266,198) (168,557) (434,755)

Increase (decrease) in NOO
Net OPEB obligation (asset) - beginning

Net OPEB obligation (asset) - ending

Management/
HEALTH CARE PLAN Confidential Miscellaneous Police Fire Total

Annual required contribution $67,558 $566,864 $234,290 $181,358 $1,050,070
Interest on net OPEB obligation (39,632) 60,645 12,795 (15,571) 18,237
Adjustments 58,141 (88,968) (18,771) 22,843 (26,755)

Annual OPEB cost (expense) 86,067 538,541 228,314 188,630 1,041,552
Benefits payments (net of recoveries) (156,596) (284,061) (203,980) (205,347) (849,984)
Retiree contributions 70,546 120,150 114,725 181,033 486,454

Increase (decrease) in NOO 17 374,630 139,059 164,316 678,022
Net OPEB obligation (asset) - beginning (880,703) 1,347,667 284,341 (346,024) 405,281

Net OPEB obligation (asset) - ending ($880,686) $1,722,297 $423,400 ($181,708) $1,083,303

69



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 10 � POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued)

The City�s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plans, and the net
OPEB obligation for the last three fiscal years are as follows:

Annual Percent Net OPEB
OFFSET PLAN OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation (Asset)

Police
     2011-12 $297,550 100.00% $0
     2012-13 283,603 100.00% 0
     2013-14 266,198 100.00% 0
Fire
     2011-12 $193,227 100.00% $0
     2012-13 184,743 100.00% 0
     2013-14 168,557 100.00% 0

Annual Percent Net OPEB
HEALTH CARE PLAN OPEB Cost Contributed Obligation (Asset)

Management/Confidential
     2011-12 $120,179 266.48% ($586,370)
     2012-13 124,599 336.22% (880,703)
     2013-14 86,067 99.98% (880,686)
Miscellaneous
     2011-12 $580,752 56.93% $1,202,616
     2012-13 574,597 74.76% 1,347,667
     2013-14 538,541 30.44% 1,722,297
Police
     2011-12 $251,703 64.27% $182,238
     2012-13 249,824 59.13% 284,341
     2013-14 228,314 39.09% 423,400
Fire
     2011-12 $200,787 194.24% ($194,244)
     2012-13 204,478 174.22% (346,024)
     2013-14 188,630 12.89% (181,708)

70



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 10 � POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS (Continued)

B. Defined Contribution Plans

Plan Description � The City has two post-employment health care defined contribution plans in place
pursuant to negotiated Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) and Schedules of Benefit (Schedule) with
its employee bargaining units.  The City�s funding obligation for each plan is defined within the
respective MOU or Schedule and is a specified percentage of payroll.  The plans and the City�s funding
obligation for each plan are as follows:

Funding Obligation
Plan Covered Employee Group Employer Employee

Management/Confidential

Employees covered by
the Management and/or
Confidential Employees
Schedule of Benefits 2.5% of base salary $0

Miscellaneous

Employees covered by
Turlock City Employees
Association MOU 2% of base salary 0.5% of gross salary

The administration of benefits for each plan rests with the individual plan administrators.   The
administrator for each plan is ICMA.

There are no vesting requirements to be eligible to use these funds post-employment.  The benefit can
only be used to purchase post-employment health insurance.  The retiree has the option to continue on the
City�s self-insured health plan (and pay the 100% of the premium for continued participation), to become
a member of a non-City group plan, or to purchase an individual health insurance policy.  The benefit can
then be used to provide assistance with paying the monthly premium, as discussed in Note 10A above.

Contributions to each plan during fiscal year 2013-14 were as follows:

Contributions
Plan Employer Employee

Management/Confidential $97,441 $0
Miscellaneous 159,806 39,958

71



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The City maintains the Insurance Internal Service Fund to account for and finance its risks of loss. Under
this program, the City is self-insured for workers� compensation and employee health care.

The City uses a reinsurance agreement to reduce its exposure to large losses under the workers�
compensation program.  Reinsurance permits recovery of a portion of losses from reinsurers, although it
does not discharge the primary liability of the City as direct insurer of the risks reinsured.  The City does
not report reinsured risks as liabilities unless it is probable that those risks will not be covered by
reinsurers.  Premiums paid to reinsurers during the year ended June 30, 2014 were $98,052, and the
City�s deductible under the policy is $1 million for police or fire claims and for all other claims, with
coverage up to the statutory limit.

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City participates in the Central San
Joaquin Valley Risk Management Authority (CSJVRMA), a public entity risk pool currently operating as
a common risk management and insurance program for 58 cities.  The purpose of CSJVRMA is to spread
the adverse effect of losses among the members and to purchase excess insurance as a group, thereby
reducing its expense. The City participates in the following pooled coverages through CSJVRMA:

Type of Coverage (Deductible) Coverage Limits
Liability ($100,000) $29,000,000

Various sublimits
Property ($2,500 to $50,000) to $50,000,000
Automobile - for vehicles with values more than $25,000 ($500) 10,000
Automobile - for vehicles with values less than $25,000 ($500) 25,000

The City contributes its pro rata share of anticipated losses to a pool administered by CSJVRMA.  Should
actual losses among participants be greater than the anticipated losses, the City will be assessed its pro rata
share of that deficiency. Conversely, if the actual losses are less than anticipated, the City will be refunded
its pro rata share of the excess. The City paid CSJVRMA premiums of $610,782 and paid $159,484 in
fiscal year 2013 retrospective adjustments during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. Settled claims have
not exceeded commercial excess liability coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

In addition to the coverage through CSJVRMA, the City has purchased the following commercial policy
coverage for vehicles and equipment up to the value of the vehicles and equipment as provided to the
insurance company:

Type of Coverage (Deductible)
Vehicles with values of $25,000 to $100,000 ($10,000)
Vehicles with values of $100,000 to $200,000 ($25,000)
Vehicles with values over $200,000 ($50,000)
Equipment with values of less than $25,000 ($2,500)
Equipment with values over $25,000 ($10,000)

72



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 11 - RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

All unpaid claims that were probable liabilities that occurred prior to the year-end and that were estimated
based on actuarial studies or historical data were recorded in accordance with GASB No. 10.

For the Year
Ended June 30,

Claims
Payable
July 1

Fiscal Year
Claims and
Changes in
Estimates

Claims
Payments

Claims
Payable
June 30

2012 $2,764,290 $9,032,802 ($8,363,988) $3,433,104
2013 3,433,104 6,170,520 (5,691,915)     3,911,709
2014 3,911,709 5,946,352 (5,144,868)     4,713,193

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. Litigation

As of June 30, 2014, the City is a party to various lawsuits.  There are certain personal injury lawsuits
which have been denied by the City Council.  The outcome and eventual liability to the City, if any, in
these cases is not known at this time.  After reviewing these lawsuits with legal counsel, management
estimates that the potential claims against the City, not covered by insurance, resulting from such
litigation would not materially affect the financial statements of the City.

B. Federal and State Grant Programs

The City participates in several Federal and State grant programs.  These programs are subject to audit by
the City�s independent accountants in accordance with the provisions of the federal Single Audit Act as
amended and applicable State requirements.  No cost disallowances have been proposed as a result of
audits completed to date; however, these programs are still subject to further examination by the grantors
and the amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be
determined at this time.  The City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

C. Construction and Other Commitments

The City had the following outstanding significant commitments at June 30, 2014:

Projects Amount

Regional Water Quality Control Facility Improvements $1,110,759
Monte Vista Rehabilitation 130,918
Traffic Signal at Monte Vista and Colorado 502,954
PCE Remediation and Groundwater Monitoring 140,372
Other contracts 259,651

73



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 13 � REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DISSOLUTION AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES

A. REDEVELOPMENT DISSOLUTION

On December 29, 2011, the California Supreme Court upheld Assembly Bill x1 26 (the Bill) that
provides for the dissolution of all redevelopment agencies in the State of California.  This action
impacted the reporting entity of the City of Turlock that previously had reported a redevelopment agency
within the reporting entity of the City as a blended component unit.

The Bill provides that upon dissolution of a redevelopment agency, either the entity creating the
redevelopment agency or another unit of local government will agree to serve as the �successor agency�
to hold the assets until they are distributed to other units of state and/or local government.  By Resolution
No. 2012-009 adopted on January 10, 2012, pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 34173, the
Turlock City Council declared that the City of Turlock would act in a special limited capacity as
Successor Agency for the dissolved Turlock Redevelopment Agency (RDA), effective February 1, 2012.

After enactment of the law, which occurred on June 28, 2011, redevelopment agencies in California could
not enter into new projects, obligation or commitments.  Subject to the control of a newly established
oversight board, remaining assets can only be used to pay enforceable obligations in existence at the date
of dissolution (including the completion of any unfinished projects that were subject to legally
enforceable contractual commitments).

The Bill directs the California State Controller (SCO) to review the proprietary of any transfers of assets
between redevelopment agencies and other public bodies that occurred after January 1, 2011.  If the
public body that received such transfers is not contractually committed to a third party for the expenditure
or encumbrance of those assets, the SCO is required to order the available assets to be transferred to the
public body designated as the successor agency by the Bill.

In accordance with the timeline set forth in the Bill (as modified by the CA Supreme Court on December
29, 2011) all redevelopment agencies in California were dissolved and ceased to operate as legal entities
on February 1, 2012.  Prior to that date, the final seven months of activity of the RDA continued to be
reported in the governmental funds of the City.  After the date of dissolution, the assets and activities of
the dissolved RDA are reported in a fiduciary fund (private-purpose trust fund) in the City�s financial
statements.  Included in prior year RDA financial statements was the Downtown Improvement Project
Fund.  This fund was originally established to account for the construction of infrastructure
improvements in the City�s downtown core.  This project was funded with the proceeds of the 1999
Revenue Bond along with sewer, water and street funds.  The residual monies in this fund after the
completion of the project represented excess funds contributed by the sewer, water and street funds.
Management decided to leave these residual funds in this Fund to provide a source of funds for future
repairs.  This Fund is presented as a non-major fund in the governmental fund combining statements.

The activities of the Successor Agency are reported in the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency
Private-Purpose Trust Fund as the activities are under the control of the Oversight Board.  The City
provides administrative services to the Successor Agency to wind down the affairs of the former
Redevelopment Agency.

74



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 13 � REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DISSOLUTION AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

AB1484 required the Successor Agency to complete two due diligence reviews � one for the low and
moderate income housing assets of the Successor Agency (Housing DDR), and a second for all other
balances of the Successor Agency (Non-housing DDR). The due diligence reviews are to calculate the
balance of unencumbered balances as of June 30, 2012 available to be remitted to the County for
disbursement to taxing entities.  The Successor Agency submitted both due diligence reviews to the State
Department of Finance for review and approval.  The Department of Finance did not initially approve the
Housing DDR, which indicated that the Successor Agency had no funds available for distribution, and the
State made adjustments to the Housing DDR and instead made a demand for the return of funds totaling
$1,001,062, which were held by the City�s Former LMI Housing Fund.  The City remitted that amount to
the County in December 2012. The Department of Finance did not initially approve the Non-housing
DDR, which indicated that the Successor Agency had no funds available for distribution, and although
the State made adjustments to the Non-housing DDR, the adjusted balance still indicated that there were
no funds available for distribution. The Successor Agency received its Finding of Completion in April
2013 which means it can now utilize bond proceeds for projects consistent with the original bond
covenants. During 2013/14 the Successor Agency funded $879,261 for project costs deemed enforceable
obligations.

Cash and investments of the Successor Agency as of June 30, 2014 are discussed in Note 3.  Information
presented in the following footnotes represents other assets and liabilities of the Successor Agency as of
June 30, 2014.

B. CAPITAL ASSETS

All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not
available.  Contributed capital assets are valued at their estimated fair market value on the date
contributed. The Successor Agency�s policy is to capitalize all assets with costs exceeding $5,000 and
with useful lives exceeding five years.

Capital assets at June 30, 2014 were comprised of:

Balance at Balance at
June 30, 2013 Additions June 30, 2014

Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land $1,882,435 $1,882,435
   Total capital assets not being depreciated 1,882,435 1,882,435

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Land improvements 8,647,404 8,647,404
  Furniture and equipment 40,361 40,361
  Infrastructure 62,624 62,624
   Total capital assets being depreciated 8,750,389 8,750,389

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Land improvements (1,597,723) ($144,174) (1,741,897)
  Furniture and equipment (40,361) (40,361)
  Infrastructure (28,018) (2,087) (30,105)
   Total accumulated depreciation (1,666,102) (146,261) (1,812,363)

Net capital assets being depreciated 7,084,287 (146,261) 6,938,026

Governmental activity capital assets, net $8,966,722 ($146,261) $8,820,461

75



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 13 � REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DISSOLUTION AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

C. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

1. Current Year Transactions and Balances

The following bonds are obligations of the Authority payable from and secured by loan payments
made by the former Turlock Redevelopment Agency.  The bonds are secured by the tax
increment revenues of the former RDA and have been transferred to the Successor Agency for
the former Turlock Redevelopment Agency.  With the dissolution of the Redevelopment Agency
discussed above, Tax Increment is no longer distributed, and instead the Successor Agency
receives payments from the County�s Redevelopment Property Tax Trust Fund (RPTTF) that are
to be used to fund debt service on the Bonds, with no distinction between housing and non-
housing revenues.  In addition, under the provisions of the laws dissolving the Redevelopment
Agency, the Successor Agency only receives the funds necessary to fulfill its approved
enforceable obligations.  The outstanding balances as of June 30, 2014 are as follows:

2. 1999 Revenue Bonds

In March 1999 the Turlock Public Finance Authority (Authority) authorized the issuance of
$4,970,000 in revenue bonds the proceeds of which were loaned to the former City of Turlock
Redevelopment Agency (Agency) to be used to finance the rehabilitation of the City�s
downtown.  Agency tax increment revenue is pledged for repayment of these bonds  The bonds,
which carry coupon interest rates ranging from 3.5% - 5.55%, have semi-annual principal and
interest payments on the first of March and September through September 2024.

3. 2006 Tax Revenue Allocation Bonds

In August 2006 the Turlock Public Finance Authority (Authority) authorized the issuance of
$25,440,000 in Tax Allocation Revenue Bonds the proceeds of which were loaned to the former
City of Turlock Redevelopment Agency (Agency) to be used to finance various infrastructure
projects to be constructed within the Agency�s project area boundaries.  Agency tax increment
revenue is pledged for repayment of these bonds.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest rates
ranging from 4.0% - 5.0%, have semi-annual principal and interest payments on the first of
March and September through September 2036.

76



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 13 � REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DISSOLUTION AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

4. 2011 Tax Revenue Allocation Bonds

In February 2011, the Turlock Public Financing Authority (Authority) authorized the issuance of
$15,300,000 in Tax Allocation Revenue Bonds and loaned the proceeds to the former Agency to
be used to provide financing assistance for the construction of a new public safety facility in the
City�s downtown area.  As with the bond issuances noted above, the Agency�s tax increment
revenue is pledged for repayment of these bonds.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest rates
ranging from 2.5% - 7.55%, have semi-annual principal and interest payments on the first of
March and September through September 2039.

5. Economic Development Bank Loan

In an effort to spur economic development through infrastructure assistance, the Stanislaus
County Economic Development Bank provides County cities funding assistance for qualifying
projects.  The City entered into a loan agreement with the County for the construction of a new
traffic signal at West Main Street and Fransil Lane.  The agreement is for $889,305 and as of
June 30, 2011 the City had drawn down the entire amount.  In accordance with loan agreement,
repayment of equal installments will begin 3 years after the project is complete and continue for
seven years. The project was completed in September 2011 and repayment began in January
2014.

6. Bond Issuance Costs, Original Issue Discounts and Premiums and Deferred Charge on
Refunding

For private-purpose trust fund types, bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized
over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of
the applicable bond premium or discount.  Any differences between proprietary refunded debt
and the debt issued to refund it is amortized over the remaining life of either the refunded debt or
the refunding debt, whichever is shorter.

The deferred charge on refunding was previously reported as a component of the long-term debt
balance.  Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 65 requires that the
balance of the deferred charge on refunding be reported as an asset or liability, as applicable.
Another provision of GASB Statement No. 65 requires that bond issuance costs, other than
prepaid insurance, be expensed in the year incurred.

77



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 13 � REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DISSOLUTION AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

7. Debt Service Requirements

Debt service requirements are shown below for all long-term debt:

Successor Agency
2006 Tax Allocation 2011 Tax Allocation Economic Development

1999 Revenue  Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Bank Loan Payable Total
For the Year

Ending June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Principal Interest

2015 $185,000 $143,441 $450,000 $1,087,141 $260,000 $1,063,619 $127,044 $1,022,044 $2,294,201
2016 195,000 133,466 470,000 1,066,441 270,000 1,051,681 127,044 1,062,044 2,251,588
2017 210,000 122,624 490,000 1,046,066 280,000 1,038,269 127,044 1,107,044 2,206,959
2018 220,000 110,907 510,000 1,026,066 295,000 1,023,340 127,044 1,152,044 2,160,313
2019 230,000 98,645 530,000 1,005,266 310,000 1,006,500 127,044 1,197,044 2,110,411

2020-2024 1,375,000 282,720 2,995,000 4,664,571 1,740,000 4,712,795 127,041 6,237,041 9,660,086
2025-2029 320,000 8,720 5,200,000 3,752,050 1,380,000 4,169,086 6,900,000 7,929,856
2030-2034 7,045,000 2,198,625 1,785,000 3,611,800 8,830,000 5,810,425
2035-2039 5,135,000 393,375 7,840,000 2,317,500 12,975,000 2,710,875

2040 850,000 31,875 850,000 31,875

Total $2,735,000 $900,523 $22,825,000 $16,239,601 $15,010,000 $20,026,465 $762,261 41,332,261 $37,166,589

Add: Unamortized Bond
Premium 342,541

Less: Unamortized Bond
 (Discount) (90,266)

Net long-term debt $41,584,536

D. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

1. State Approval of Enforceable Obligations

The Successor Agency prepares a Recognized Obligation Payment Schedule (ROPS) semi-
annually that contains all proposed expenditures for the subsequent six-month period. The ROPS
is subject to the review and approval of the Oversight Board as well as the State Department of
Finance.  Although the State Department of Finance may not question items included on the
ROPS in one period, they may question the same items in a future period and disallow associated
activities.  The amount, if any, of current obligations that may be denied by the State Department
of Finance cannot be determined at this time.  The City expects such amounts, if any, to be
immaterial.

78



CITY OF TURLOCK
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 13 � REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DISSOLUTION AND SUCCESSOR AGENCY ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

2. State Asset Transfer Review

The activities of the former Redevelopment Agency and the Successor Agency are subject to
further examination by the State of California and the amount, if any, of expenditures which may
be disallowed by the State cannot be determined at this time.  In addition, the State Controller�s
Office conducted a review of the propriety of asset transfers between the former Redevelopment
Agency or the Successor Agency and any public agency that occurred on or after January 1,
2011. The City received the results of the review in February 2015 which indicate assets of
$402,582, comprised of salaries for two City employees paid with the former Redevelopment
Agency�s cash of $75,327 and the purchase of 301 Star Avenue from the City in the amount of
$327,255, should be returned to the Successor Agency. However, the City disputes the finding
and management is determining how to respond to the matter, and the amount if any, of assets
that may be required to be returned to the Successor Agency cannot be determined at this time.
The City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

79



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The following provides a brief narrative for some the City�s more substantial non-major governmental funds.

Integrated Waste Management (AB939)
This fund is used to account for revenues received from recycling-related efforts. These revenues are used to fund
recycling education programs as well as the City�s �Take-Pride-In-Turlock� community cleanup.

Development Impact Fees
Various development impact fee programs are accounted for in this fund. These revenues are collected for and
expended on infrastructure improvements designed to mitigate the effects of development throughout the City.
These fees are separate, and in most cases, in addition to the impact fees described in the Facility Fee Fund. Not
included in this fund are impact fees collected for sewer and/or water infrastructure improvements.

Equipment Replacement
The Equipment Replacement fund accounts for monies set aside to fund the replacement of existing equipment
(including computer related equipment) used by various City departments.

Lighting & Landscaping Assessment Districts
This fund accounts for the expenditure of revenues collected under either the Landscaping and Lighting Act of
1972 or the Benefit Assessment Act of 1982. These Acts provide a funding mechanism for the maintenance costs
associated with various lighting, landscaping and street improvements within the assessment districts formed
under the respective Act.

CDBG, State HOME Program, and Housing Stimulus Funds
This group of funds, when combined with the Stanislaus County Housing Consortium (see major funds), accounts
for the various federal funding sources the City receives on an annual basis to assist in the preservation and
production of affordable housing within the City.

Stanislaus County Housing Consortium
When combined with the CDBG, State HOME programs and Housing Stimulus Funds (see non-major funds),
accounts for the various federal funding sources the City receives on an annual basis to assist in the preservation
and production of affordable housing within the City. The Consortium specifically is a collaboration of six cities
in Stanislaus County and the County who together use Federal HOME monies to provide assistance for affordable
housing within the County and the participating City jurisdictions.

North Turlock Master Plan
The North Turlock Master Plan fund accounts for the collection and expenditure of development impact fees
collected specifically within the master plan boundaries. Fees are collected to fund the cost of infrastructure �
transportation, sewer and storm drainage � improvements necessary due to development within the master plan
area.

Airport
This fund accounts for grant revenues received from the State and Federal governments which are being
expended to fund capital improvements at the Turlock Municipal Airport. The day-to-day operations of the
airport and the capital improvement projects are under the control of the Turlock. Regional Aviation Association
under a Facilities Management Agreement with the City of Turlock.

81



NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (Continued)

Facility Fees
The Facility Fees fund accounts for the revenue and related expenditures as outlined in the City�s Capital
Facilities Fee Improvement Program.  These fees, which are charged to new developments, are designed to
finance the roadway, police, fire and general government infrastructure, facilities and equipment needs
throughout town which are the result of development within town.

82



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2014

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Integrated
Asset Waste Mgmt Bicycle Sports

Forfeitures (AB939) Safety Facilities

ASSETS

Cash and investments $15,985 $895,903 $72,304 $48,757
Accounts receivables 18,510 $152 3,135
Interest receivable 402
Due from developers
Loans receivable

Total Assets $15,985 $914,815 $72,456 $51,892

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $2,500 $18,970 $6 $14,454
Payroll payable 608 9,039
Due to other funds
Unearned revenue 5,000

Total Liabilities 2,500 19,578 6 28,493

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue

FUND BALANCE

Fund balance:
Nonspendable
Restricted 643,643
Committed 13,485 251,594 72,450 23,399
Unassigned

Total Fund Balances (Deficit) 13,485 895,237 72,450 23,399

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $15,985 $914,815 $72,456 $51,892

84



SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Lighting &
Development NW Triangle Landscaping Downtown

Animal Fees Impact Equipment Plan Development Assessment Assessment
Forfeiture Fees Replacement Fee Benefit Districts District

$5,650 $3,954,064 $3,138,993 $912,745 $626,366 $11,262,368 $55,088
29,150 28,609

1,704 385 278 4,878

$5,650 $3,955,768 $3,168,143 $913,130 $626,644 $11,295,855 $55,088

$2,475 $8,411 $63,295 $25,657
16,973

2,475 8,411 63,295 42,630

3,175 11,253,225 $55,088
3,947,357 3,104,848 $913,130 $626,644

3,175 3,947,357 3,104,848 913,130 626,644 11,253,225 55,088

$5,650 $3,955,768 $3,168,143 $913,130 $626,644 $11,295,855 $55,088

(Continued)

85



CITY OF TURLOCK
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2014

Stanislaus
Northeast State Housing County
Turlock HOME Stimulus Housing
CFD #2 CDBG Funds Funds Consortium

ASSETS

Cash and investments $75,521 $635,143
Accounts receivables 3,968 $125,266 94,880 $583 $534,960
Interest receivable
Due from developers
Loans receivable 6,152,705 3,948,717 174,581 5,423,761

Total Assets $79,489 $6,277,971 $4,678,740 $175,164 $5,958,721

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $17,406 $18,185 $41,125
Payroll payable 5,160 1,927
Due to other funds 100,113 8,990 478,576
Unearned revenue

Total Liabilities 122,679 27,175 521,628

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 6,152,705 $3,948,717 174,581 5,423,761

FUND BALANCE

Fund balance:
Nonspendable
Restricted $79,489 2,587 730,023 13,332
Committed
Unassigned (26,592)

Total Fund Balances (Deficit) 79,489 2,587 730,023 (26,592) 13,332

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $79,489 $6,277,971 $4,678,740 $175,164 $5,958,721

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

86



SPECIAL
REVENUE

FUNDS CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Turlock
Street Downtown North North East Regional

Grant Capital Light Improvement Turlock Turlock Industrial
Funds Improvement Installation Project Master Plan Master Plan Park

$289,175 $431,746 $152,457 $246,285 $2,313,180 $1,509,020 $369,614
117,944

193 68 1,027 635

$407,119 $431,939 $152,525 $246,285 $2,314,207 $1,509,655 $369,614

$55,272 $676

42,229

97,501 676

309,618
431,263 $152,525 $246,285 $2,314,207 $1,509,655 $369,614

309,618 431,263 152,525 246,285 2,314,207 1,509,655 369,614

$407,119 $431,939 $152,525 $246,285 $2,314,207 $1,509,655 $369,614

(Continued)

87



CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Total
East Nonmajor

Tuolumne Facility Governmental
Master Plan Airport Fees Funds

ASSETS

Cash and investments $76,583 $8,568,335 $35,655,282
Accounts receivables 957,157
Interest receivable 3,717 13,287
Due from developers 227,779 227,779
Loans receivable 15,699,764

Total Assets $76,583 $8,799,831 $52,553,269

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable $462,148 $730,580
Payroll payable 33,707
Due to other funds $163,000 792,908
Unearned revenue 5,000

Total Liabilities 163,000 462,148 1,562,195

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue 15,699,764

Fund Balance

Fund balance:
Nonspendable 227,779 227,779
Restricted 8,109,904 21,200,084
Committed $76,583 14,053,039
Unassigned (163,000) (189,592)

Total Fund Balances (Deficit) (163,000) 76,583 8,337,683 35,291,310

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $76,583 $8,799,831 $52,553,269

(Concluded)

CITY OF TURLOCK
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2014

88



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Integrated
Asset Waste Mgmt Bicycle Sports

Forfeitures (AB939) Safety Facilities

REVENUES
Taxes and assessments
Licenses and permits $10,810
Use of money and property $1,813
Intergovernmental $11,719 18,510
Charges for current services 75,401 $273,608
Other 548 2,131

Total Revenues 11,719 96,272 10,810 275,739

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 96,114
Public safety 5,284 320
Public ways and facilities/transportation
Parks and recreation 564,768
Community development

Capital outlay
Debt service:

Principal
Interest and fiscal charges

Total Expenditures 5,284 96,114 320 564,768

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 6,435 158 10,490 (289,029)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 280,923
Transfers (out) (10,000) (10,578)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (10,000) 270,345

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (3,565) 158 10,490 (18,684)

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) 17,050 895,079 61,960 42,083

ENDING FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) $13,485 $895,237 $72,450 $23,399

90



SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Lighting &
Development NW Triangle Landscaping Downtown

Animal Fees Impact Equipment Plan Development Assessment Assessment
Forfeiture Fees Replacement Fee Benefit Districts District

$103,359 $2,552,777

$11,083 $1,619 $1,249 29,980

$18,800 104,732 328,340 328,459 4,260
126 5,889 647

18,926 115,815 437,588 330,078 1,249 2,587,664

95,750
29,815 43,082

194,476 9,189 119 1,905,871
2,180

199,318
259,683

90,239
8,807

29,815 553,205 349,519 119 1,905,871

(10,889) (437,390) 88,069 329,959 1,249 681,793

201,868 436,600
(12,526) (428,534) (30,000) (75,205)

189,342 8,066 (30,000) (75,205)

(10,889) (248,048) 96,135 299,959 1,249 606,588

14,064 4,195,405 3,008,713 613,171 625,395 10,646,637 $55,088

$3,175 $3,947,357 $3,104,848 $913,130 $626,644 $11,253,225 $55,088

(Continued)

91



CITY OF TURLOCK
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Northeast State Housing Stanislaus
Turlock HOME Stimulus Housing
CFD #2 CDBG Funds Funds Consortium

REVENUES
Taxes and assessments $486,462
Licenses and permits
Use of money and property 1,823
Intergovernmental $615,693 $94,880 $991,462
Charges for current services
Other 239,249 34,559 $197,756 137,315

Total Revenues 488,285 854,942 129,439 197,756 1,128,777

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 14,843
Public safety
Public ways and facilities/transportation
Parks and recreation
Community development 666,228 94,880 206,239 1,143,737

Capital outlay
Debt service:

Principal
Interest and fiscal charges

Total Expenditures 14,843 666,228 94,880 206,239 1,143,737

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 473,442 188,714 34,559 (8,483) (14,960)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 28,175
Transfers (out) (473,435) (210,339) (3,547) (2,333)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (473,435) (210,339) (3,547) 25,842

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 7 (21,625) 34,559 (12,030) 10,882

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) 79,482 24,212 695,464 (14,562) 2,450

ENDING FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) $79,489 $2,587 $730,023 ($26,592) $13,332

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

92



SPECIAL
REVENUE

FUNDS CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Turlock
Street Downtown North North East Regional

Grant Capital Light Improvement Turlock Turlock Industrial
Funds Improvement Installation Project Master Plan Master Plan Park

$3,437
$75 904 $294 $6,585 $2,235

919,040
9,855 6,901 1,580,526 $12,513

74,326

1,003,296 11,242 294 6,585 1,582,761 12,513

271,373
117,007 2,777 $4,177 359 884,488

506,024
270

80,098 8,616

857,495 125,623 2,777 4,447 359 884,488

145,801 (114,381) (2,483) (4,447) 6,226 698,273 12,513

12,526 35,115
(35,000) (60,000) (35,000)

12,526 35,115 (35,000) (60,000) (35,000)

158,327 (79,266) (2,483) (4,447) (28,774) 638,273 (22,487)

151,291 510,529 155,008 250,732 2,342,981 871,382 392,101

$309,618 $431,263 $152,525 $246,285 $2,314,207 $1,509,655 $369,614

(Continued)

93



CITY OF TURLOCK
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

East Total
Tuolumne Facility Nonmajor

Master Plan Airport Fees Funds

REVENUES
Taxes and assessments $3,142,598
Licenses and permits 14,247
Use of money and property $24,989 82,649
Intergovernmental $10,000 2,661,304
Charges for current services 1,714,962 4,458,357
Other 1,249 693,795

Total Revenues 10,000 1,741,200 11,052,950

Current:
General government 14,488 221,195
Public safety 237 350,111
Public ways and facilities/transportation 4,263 7,028 3,129,754
Parks and recreation 1,072,972
Community development 2,310,672

Capital outlay 3,992,467 4,340,864
Debt service:

Principal 90,239
Interest and fiscal charges 8,807

Total Expenditures 4,263 4,014,220 11,524,614

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 5,737 (2,273,020) (471,664)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Contributions from private purpose trust 659,262 659,262
Transfers in 995,207
Transfers (out) ($5,000) (15,000) (104,095) (1,510,592)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (5,000) (15,000) 555,167 143,877

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (5,000) (9,263) (1,717,853) (327,787)

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) (158,000) 85,846 10,055,536 35,619,097

ENDING FUND BALANCES (DEFICITS) ($163,000) $76,583 $8,337,683 $35,291,310

(Concluded)

94



NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Transportation
The Transportation fund accounts for the activities of the City�s fixed-route (BLST) and Dial-a-Ride bus systems
which are in part funded with Local Transportation and Federal Transportation funds.

Building & Safety
This fund accounts for the activities of the City�s Building Division. These activities include the issuance of
building permits, checking building plans submitted for compliance with applicable State and local codes (plan
check), performing building inspection for construction projects in town and providing assistance as needed to
citizens with building-related questions/issues.

95



CITY OF TURLOCK
COMBINING NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Total Nonmajor
Building & Enterprise

Transportation Safety Funds

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and investments $3,281,077 $3,281,077
Accounts receivable 406,076 406,076
Interest receivable 1,553 1,553

Total current assets 3,688,706 3,688,706

Non-current assets
Capital assets not being depreciated 3,754,731 3,754,731
Capital assets being depreciated 5,314,996 5,314,996

Total non-current assets 9,069,727 9,069,727

Total Assets 12,758,433 12,758,433

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 65,921 $37,229 103,150
Payroll payable 2,020 15,600 17,620
Due to other funds 358,972 358,972
Compensated absences 3,393 9,812 13,205
Unearned revenue 3,583,833 3,583,833

Total current liabilities 3,655,167 421,613 4,076,780

Long-term liabilities
Compensated absences 13,571 39,248 52,819
OPEB liability 19,968 111,766 131,734

Total long-term liabilities 33,539 151,014 184,553

Total Liabilities 3,688,706 572,627 4,261,333

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 9,069,727 9,069,727
Unrestricted (572,627) (572,627)

Total Net Position $9,069,727 ($572,627) $8,497,100

96



CITY OF TURLOCK
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Total Nonmajor
Building & Enterprise

Transportation Safety Funds
OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services $150,150 $967,285 $1,117,435
Other income 9,521 3,133 12,654

Total Operating Revenues 159,671 970,418 1,130,089

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, benefits and insurance 113,283 828,946 942,229
Contractual 802,296 247,134 1,049,430
Supplies and maintenance 23,156 3,724 26,880
Utilities 15,273 11,185 26,458
Fleet expense 196,681 6,534 203,215
Depreciation and amortization 365,745 365,745
Other expenses 9,604 17,180 26,784

Total Operating Expenses 1,526,038 1,114,703 2,640,741

Operating Income (Loss) (1,366,367) (144,285) (1,510,652)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Operating grants 992,993 992,993
Interest income 6,915 6,915

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 999,908 999,908

Income (Loss) Before Capital Grants and Transfers (366,459) (144,285) (510,744)

Capital grants 381,298 381,298
Transfers in 319,813 319,813
Transfers out (6,000) (26,529) (32,529)

Net Capital Grants and Transfers 375,298 293,284 668,582

Change in net position 8,839 148,999 157,838

BEGINNING NET POSITION (DEFICIT) 9,060,888 (721,626) 8,339,262

ENDING NET POSITION (DEFICIT) $9,069,727 ($572,627) $8,497,100

97



CITY OF TURLOCK
COMBINING NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Total Nonmajor
Building & Enterprise

Transportation Safety Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers $174,330 $969,769 $1,144,099
Payments to suppliers (1,052,611) (320,283) (1,372,894)
Payments to employees (110,005) (796,149) (906,154)
Other 9,521 3,133 12,654

Cash Flows from Operating Activities (978,765) (143,530) (1,122,295)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Intergovernmental receipts - operations 543,544 543,544
Interfund receipts (payments) (163,384) (163,384)
Transfers in 319,813 319,813
Transfers out (6,000) (26,529) (32,529)

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 537,544 129,900 667,444

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Intergovernmental receipts - capital program 1,418,658 1,418,658
Acquisition of capital assets, net (374,584) (374,584)

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 1,044,074 1,044,074

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest 6,576 6,576

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 6,576 6,576

Net Cash Flows 609,429 (13,630) 595,799

Cash and investments at beginning of period 2,671,648 13,630 2,685,278

Cash and investments at end of period $3,281,077 $3,281,077

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Cash Flows
from Operating Activities:

Operating income (loss) ($1,366,367) ($144,285) ($1,510,652)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to cash flows

from operating activities:
Depreciation 365,745 365,745

Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables 24,180 2,484 26,664
Accounts payable and other accrued expenses (5,601) (23,028) (28,629)
Payroll payable (4) 21 17
Claims Liability (500) (11,498) (11,998)
OPEB liability 3,782 32,776 36,558

Cash Flows from Operating Activities ($978,765) ($143,530) ($1,122,295)

98



INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

Internal Service Funds are used to finance and account for services or activities performed by one City
department for the benefit of other City departments on a cost reimbursement basis.

The concept of major funds introduced by GASB 34 does not apply to Internal Service Funds because, in general,
they do not do business with outside parties. GASB 34 requires that for the Statement of Activities, the net
revenues or expenses of each internal service fund be eliminated by netting them against the operations of the
City department(s) which benefit(s) from the services the internal service fund provides. The balance sheet items
are consolidated with the Governmental Funds in the Statement of Net Position.

The activities of Internal Service funds continue to be presented separately in the Fund Financial Statements.

Equipment Pool
This fund accounts for repair and maintenance activities for all City vehicles and large equipment as well as
monies set aside for the replacement of vehicles used by City departments.

Self Insurance
The Self Insurance fund accounts for the activities of the City�s risk management and workers� compensation,
property/liability and health (medical, dental and vision) insurance programs.

Information Technology
This fund accounts for the costs incurred to maintain and enhance the City�s information technology systems.

Engineering
The Engineering fund accounts for the cost of in-house Engineering services provided both to City departments
involved in capital projects as well as to the development community external to City operations. The cost of
services to the development community is recovered through various permitting processes.

99



CITY OF TURLOCK
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Equipment Self Information
Pool Insurance Technology Engineering Total

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and investments $2,547,643 $6,806,072 $142,746 $9,496,461
Accounts receivable 13,398 45,649 59,047
Interest receivable 224 2,854 3,078

Total Current Assets 2,561,265 6,854,575 142,746 9,558,586

Noncurrent Assets:
OPEB asset 182,001 $300,177 482,178
Capital assets (net of

accumulated depreciation) 756,315 1,095,721 1,852,036

Total Non-Current Assets 938,316 1,395,898 2,334,214

Total Assets 3,499,581 6,854,575 142,746 1,395,898 11,892,800

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable 23,826 880,225 6,186 3,945 914,182
Payroll payable 8,741 13,671 36,383 58,795
Due to other funds 660,150 660,150
Compensated absences 8,042 15,418 41,644 65,104
Deposits payable 500 500

Total Current Liabilities 40,609 880,225 35,275 742,622 1,698,731

Long-term Liabilities:
Estimated claims liability 4,713,193 4,713,193
Compensated absences 32,168 61,673 166,577 260,418
OPEB liability 32,883 32,883

Total Long-Term Liabilities 32,168 4,713,193 94,556 166,577 5,006,494

Total Liabilities 72,777 5,593,418 129,831 909,199 6,705,225

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 756,315 1,095,721 1,852,036
Unrestricted 2,670,489 1,261,157 12,915 (609,022) 3,335,539

Total Net Position $3,426,804 $1,261,157 $12,915 $486,699 $5,187,575

100



CITY OF TURLOCK
INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Equipment Self Information
Pool Insurance Technology Engineering Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $708,227 $7,556,926 $620,900 $1,590,034 $10,476,087
Refunds & other income 103,889 950,133 9,905 122,168 1,186,095

Total Operating Revenues 812,116 8,507,059 630,805 1,712,202 11,662,182

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, benefits and insurance 409,417 9,512,475 623,697 1,683,065 12,228,654
Contractual 23,684 29,242 64,272 369,355 486,553
Supplies and maintenance 25,743 1,488 27,045 54,276
Utilities 28,008 20,684 24,908 73,600
Fleet expense 93,060 389 16,714 110,163
Depreciation and amortization 221,600 64,170 285,770
Other expenses 6,248 1,457 6,636 11,133 25,474

Total Operating Expenses 807,760 9,543,174 717,166 2,196,390 13,264,490

Total Operating Income (Loss) 4,356 (1,036,115) (86,361) (484,188) (1,602,308)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income 945 17,119 18,064
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 15,950 16 15,966
Interest (expense) (13,920) (13,920)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 16,895 17,119 (13,904) 20,110

Income (Loss) Before Transfers 21,251 (1,018,996) (86,361) (498,092) (1,582,198)

Transfers in 201,150 613,534 814,684
Transfers (out) (149,653) (9,791) (62,818) (222,262)

Change in Net Position 72,748 (1,018,996) (96,152) 52,624 (989,776)

BEGINNING NET POSITION 3,354,056 2,280,153 109,067 434,075 6,177,351

ENDING NET POSITION $3,426,804 $1,261,157 $12,915 $486,699 $5,187,575

101



CITY OF TURLOCK

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Equipment Self Information
Pool Insurance Technology Engineering Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers $734,734 $7,952,118 $620,900 $1,591,807 $10,899,559
Payments to suppliers (154,824) 468,501 (99,754) (469,922) (255,999)
Payments to employees (398,804) (9,512,475) (596,560) (1,725,827) (12,233,666)
Other 103,889 950,133 9,905 122,168 1,186,095

Cash Flows from (used by) Operating Activities 284,995 (141,723) (65,509) (481,774) (404,011)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interfund receipts 339,940 339,940
Operating transfers in 201,150 613,534 814,684
Operating transfers (out) (149,653) (9,791) (62,818) (222,262)

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 51,497 (9,791) 890,656 932,362

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of capital assets (208,149) (208,149)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 16,850 16 16,866
Payments on capital leases (405,312) (405,312)
Interest paid on capital lease obligations (20,222) (20,222)

Cash Flows from (used by) Capital and Related
Financing Activities (191,299) (425,518) (616,817)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest earnings 919 18,294 19,213

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 919 18,294 19,213

Net Cash Flows 146,112 (123,429) (75,300) (16,636) (69,253)

Cash and investments at beginning of period 2,401,531 6,929,501 218,046 16,636 9,565,714

Cash and investments at end of period $2,547,643 $6,806,072 $142,746 $9,496,461

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash flows
from operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $4,356 ($1,036,115) ($86,361) ($484,188) ($1,602,308)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash flows

from operating activities:
Depreciation 221,600 64,170 285,770

Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 26,507 395,192 1,773 423,472
OPEB asset 12,851 (57,728) (44,877)
Accounts payable 21,919 (302,284) (6,285) (18,816) (305,466)
Payroll payable (82) (34) 1,406 1,290
Deposits payable (1,951) (1,951)
Compensated absences (2,156) 5,408 13,560 16,812
Claims liability 801,484 801,484
OPEB liability 21,763 21,763

Cash Flows from (used by) Operating Activities $284,995 ($141,723) ($65,509) ($481,774) ($404,011)

NONCASH TRANSACTIONS
Retirement of capital assets ($900) ($900)

102



AGENCY FUNDS

Agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations and
other governments. The financial activities of these funds are excluded from the Government-wide Financial
Statements, but are presented in a separate Fiduciary Fund Financial Statement. For the City of Turlock, the
following agent activities are accounted for within the Agency Funds:

Turlock Community Facilities District (CFD) #1 � Mello Roos Assessment District � This district was
established as a funding mechanism to partially pay for the infrastructure improvements installed in the Monte
Vista Crossings shopping area. These improvements were in part funded with the proceeds of a bond issuance
which is being retired through annual assessments to the owners of the parcels within the District�s boundaries.

Turlock Downtown Property and Business Improvement District (PBID) #2 � This is a successor District to
one originally established to fund maintenance efforts in downtown Turlock. The current district was established
in June 2003 via a vote of the affected property owners. The District has a ten year life and through annual
assessments funds prescribed maintenance efforts within the District�s boundaries as well as promotional
activities for the downtown area.

103



CITY OF TURLOCK
AGENCY FUNDS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Balance Balance
Northwest Triangle - Mello Roos Assessments June 30, 2013 Additions Deductions June 30, 2014

Assets

    Cash and investments $696,387 $437,448 $419,004 $714,831
    Cash and investments with fiscal agents 418,493 11,874 406,619
    Accounts and interest receivable 7,559 1,474 7,559 1,474

Total Assets $1,122,439 $438,922 $438,437 $1,122,924

Liabilities

    Due to others $1,122,439 $438,922 $438,437 $1,122,924

Total Liabilities $1,122,439 $438,922 $438,437 $1,122,924

Property & Business Improvement District #2

Assets

    Cash and investments $83 $151,152 $151,235
    Accounts and interest receivable 3,296 3,296

Total Assets $3,379 $151,152 $154,531

Liabilities

    Due to others $3,379 $151,152 $154,531

Total Liabilities $3,379 $151,152 $154,531

Total - All Agency Funds

Assets

    Cash and investments $696,470 $588,600 $570,239 $714,831
    Cash and investments with fiscal agents 418,493 11,874 406,619
    Accounts and interest receivable 10,855 1,474 10,855 1,474

Total Assets $1,125,818 $590,074 $592,968 $1,122,924

Liabilities

    Due to stakeholders $1,125,818 $590,074 $592,968 $1,122,924

Total Liabilities $1,125,818 $590,074 $592,968 $1,122,924

104



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY

COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014

Table of Contents
Page

Independent Auditor�s Report ..................................................................................................................... 1

Component Unit Financial Statements:

Authority-wide Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................................ 4

Statement of Activities .................................................................................................................... 5

Governmental Fund Financial Statements:

Balance Sheet ................................................................................................................................... 8

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the
 Authority-wide Statement of Net Position .................................................................................. 9

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances ........................................ 10

Reconciliation of the Governmental Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances to the Authority-wide
    Statement of Activities ........................................................................................................ 11

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position .............................................................................................................. 12

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position .................................................. 13

Statement of Cash Flows ............................................................................................................... 14

Notes to Component Unit Financial Statements .................................................................................. 15



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT

To the Honorable Members of the Board of Directors of the
Turlock Public Financing Authority, California

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities and each major fund of the Turlock Public Financing Authority (Authority) as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Authority�s basic component unit financial statements as listed in the Table of Contents.

Management�s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor�s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor�s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Authority�s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority�s
internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

1



Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities and each major fund
of the Authority as of June 30, 2014, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof listed as part of the basic financial statements for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

As discussed in Note 1, the component unit financial statements present only the Authority and are not
intended to present fairly the financial position and the results of operations of the City of Turlock in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Authority has not presented the Management�s Discussion and Analysis that governmental
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such missing information, although not part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context.  Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected
by this missing information.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 23, 2015,
on our consideration of the City�s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose
of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City�s internal control over financial reporting and
compliance.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015

2



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
AND STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities purpose are to summarize the Authority�s
entire financial activities and financial position.  They are prepared on the same basis as is used by most
businesses, which means they include all the Authority�s assets, all its deferred inflows/outflows of
resources and all its liabilities, as well as all its revenues and expenses.

The Statement of Net Position reports the difference between the Authority�s total assets and deferred
outflows of resources and the Authority�s total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, including all
the Authority�s long-term debt.  The Statement of Net Position summarizes the financial position of all
the Authority�s activities in a single column.

The Statement of Activities reports increases and decreases in the Authority�s net position.  It is also
prepared on the full accrual basis, which means it includes all the Authority�s revenues and all its
expenses, regardless of when cash changes hands.

3



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2014

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and investments with fiscal agent (Note 2) $3,569,714 $2,041,965 $5,611,679
Interest receivable 767,377 799,215 1,566,592
Leases receivable (Note 3) 37,252,561 80,157,578 117,410,139

Total Assets 41,589,652 82,998,758 124,588,410

LIABILITIES
Interest payable 767,377 799,215 1,566,592
Long-term debt (Note 4):

Due within one year 895,000 2,655,000 3,550,000
Due in more than one year 39,927,275 79,544,543 119,471,818

Total Liabilities 41,589,652 82,998,758 124,588,410

NET POSITION (Note 5):
Restricted for:

Capital projects

Total Net Position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

4



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Program
Revenues

Charges for Governmental Business-type
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Activities Activities Total
Governmental Activities:

Interest and fiscal charges $2,307,636 $2,299,339 ($8,297) ($8,297)

Total Governmental Activities 2,307,636 2,299,339 (8,297) (8,297)

Business-type Activities:
Sewer 1,826,372 1,826,372
Water 1,354,163 1,464,809 110,646 110,646

Total Business-type Activities 3,180,535 3,291,181 110,646 110,646

Total $5,488,171 $5,590,520 (8,297) 110,646 102,349

General revenues:
Interest income 8,297 (110,646) (102,349)

Transfers to Turlock Successor Agency (Note 4D) (92) (92)

Total general revenues and transfers 8,205 (110,646) (102,441)

Change in Net Position (92) (92)

Net Position-Beginning 92 92

Net Position-Ending

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

5



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Major funds are defined generally as having significant activities or balances in the current year.  All of the
Authority�s funds are major funds.

7



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2014

2006 2011
1999 Tax Allocation Tax Allocation

Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments with fiscal agent (Note 2) $381,605 $1,858,797 $1,329,312 $3,569,714
Leases receivable (Note 3) 2,353,395 21,308,744 13,590,422 37,252,561

Total Assets $2,735,000 $23,167,541 $14,919,734 $40,822,275

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Unavailable revenue (Notes 3 and 1C) $2,353,395 $21,308,744 $13,590,422 $37,252,561

FUND BALANCES

Fund balance (Note 5):
Restricted:

Debt service 381,605 1,858,797 1,329,312 3,569,714

Total Fund Balances 381,605 1,858,797 1,329,312 3,569,714

Total Deferred Inflows of
Resources and Fund Balances $2,735,000 $23,167,541 $14,919,734 $40,822,275

           See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

8



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
Reconciliation of the

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS-- BALANCE SHEET
with the

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

Total fund balances reported on the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet $3,569,714

Amounts reported  for Governmental Activities in the Statement of Net Position
are different from those reported in the Governmental Funds above because of the following:

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT REVENUES AND EXPENSES

Revenues which are unavailable on the Fund Balance Sheets, because they are not available currently
are taken into revenue in the Statement of Activities. 37,252,561

LONG-TERM ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The assets and liabilities below are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the Funds:

Interest receivable 767,377
Long-term debt (40,822,275)
Interest payable (767,377)

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

9



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

2006 2011
1999 Tax Allocation Tax Allocation

Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Revenue Bonds Total

REVENUES
Lease revenue $322,628 $1,527,066 $1,068,649 $2,918,343
Use of money and property 17,240 162 442 17,844

Total Revenues 339,868 1,527,228 1,069,091 2,936,187

EXPENDITURES
Debt service:

Principal 180,000 430,000 610,000
Interest and fiscal charges 153,023 1,106,941 1,069,144 2,329,108

Total Expenditures 333,023 1,536,941 1,069,144 2,939,108

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 6,845 (9,713) (53) (2,921)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers to Turlock Successor Agency (Note 4D) (77) (15) (92)

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 6,845 (9,790) (68) (3,013)

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 374,760 1,868,587 1,329,380 3,572,727

ENDING FUND BALANCES $381,605 $1,858,797 $1,329,312 $3,569,714

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

10



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
Reconciliation of the

 NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
with the

CHANGE IN NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

The schedule below reconciles the Net Change in Fund Balances reported on the Governmental Funds Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance, which measures only changes in current assets and current
liabilities on the modified accrual basis, with the Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities reported in the
Statement of Activities, which is prepared on the full accrual basis.

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS ($3,013)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because of the following:

LONG-TERM DEBT PROCEEDS AND PAYMENTS

Bond proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but
 issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but
in the Statement of Net Position the repayment reduces long-term liabilities.

Repayment of debt principal is added back to fund balance 610,000
Amortization of bond premium/discount is added back to fund balance 11,925

ACCRUAL OF NON-CURRENT ITEMS

The amounts below included in the Statement of Activities do not provide (or require) the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as revenue or expenditures in
governmental funds (net change):

Interest receivable (9,547)
Unavailable revenue (619,004)
Interest payable 9,547

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES ($92)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

11



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014

2012 2008
Sewer Bonds Water Bonds Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments with fiscal agent (Note 2) $1 $2,041,964 $2,041,965
Interest receivable 582,023 217,192 799,215
Leases receivable (Note 3) 53,560,509 26,597,069 80,157,578

Total Assets 54,142,533 28,856,225 82,998,758

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Interest payable 582,023 217,192 799,215
Bonds payable (Note 4) 1,955,000 700,000 2,655,000

Total current liabilities 2,537,023 917,192 3,454,215

Long-term liabilities :
Bonds payable (Note 4) 51,605,510 27,939,033 79,544,543

Total Liabilities 54,142,533 28,856,225 82,998,758

NET POSITION (Note 5):

Restricted

Total Net Position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

12



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

2012 2008
Sewer Bonds Water Bonds Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Lease revenue $1,826,372 $1,464,809 $3,291,181

Total Operating Revenues 1,826,372 1,464,809 3,291,181

Operating Income (Loss) 1,826,372 1,464,809 3,291,181

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income (110,646) (110,646)
Interest (expense) (1,826,372) (1,354,163) (3,180,535)

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (1,826,372) (1,464,809) (3,291,181)

Change in net position

BEGINNING NET POSITION

ENDING NET POSITION

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

13



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

2012 2008
Sewer Bonds Water Bonds Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers $3,885,376 $2,033,279 $5,918,655

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 3,885,376 2,033,279 5,918,655

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long-term debt payment - principal (1,865,000) (670,000) (2,535,000)
Long-term debt payment - interest (2,020,375) (1,358,912) (3,379,287)

Cash Flows from Noncapital and
Related Financing Activities (3,885,375) (2,028,912) (5,914,287)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest (110,646) (110,646)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities (110,646) (110,646)

Net Cash Flows 1 (106,279) (106,278)

Cash and investments at beginning of period 2,148,243 2,148,243

Cash and investments at end of period $1 $2,041,964 $2,041,965

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Cash Flows
from Operating Activities:

Operating income $1,826,372 $1,464,809 $3,291,181
Change in assets and liabilities:

Interest receivable 10,846 4,370 15,216
Leases receivable 2,048,158 564,100 2,612,258

Cash Flows from Operating Activities $3,885,376 $2,033,279 $5,918,655

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

14



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Organization and Purpose

The Turlock Public Financing Authority is a separate government entity whose purpose is to assist
with the financing or refinancing of certain public capital improvements within the City.  The
Authority has the power to purchase bonds issued by any local agency at public or negotiated sale
and may sell such bonds to public or private purchasers at public or negotiated sale. The Authority is
controlled by the City and has the same governing body as the City, which also performs all
accounting and administrative functions for the Authority. The Turlock Public Financing Authority
was created on December 15, 1998, pursuant to Article 1, Chapter 5, of Division 7 of Title 1 of the
Government Code of the State of California as a Joint Powers Authority between the City and the
former Turlock Redevelopment Agency.

The Turlock Redevelopment Agency was dissolved and its assets turned over to and liabilities
assumed by Successor Agencies effective January 31, 2012, including the liabilities payable to the
Authority.

 The Authority is an integral part of the City and the accompanying financial statements are included
as a component of the basic financial statements prepared by the City and the Successor Agency for
the Turlock Redevelopment Agency.  A component unit is a separate governmental unit, agency, or
nonprofit corporation which, when combined with all other component units, constitutes the
reporting entity as defined in the City�s basic financial statements.

B. Basis of Presentation

The Authority�s Basic Component Unit Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board is the acknowledged standard setting body for establishing accounting
and financial reporting standards followed by governmental entities in the U.S.A.

These Standards require that the financial statements described below be presented.

Authority-wide Statements: The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities include
the financial activities of the overall Authority government.  Eliminations have been made to
minimize the double counting of internal activities.

The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for each function of the Authority�s governmental and business-type activities. Direct expenses are
those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly
identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include (a) charges paid by the recipients of
goods or services offered by the programs, (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting
the operational needs of a particular program and (c) fees, grants and contributions that are restricted
to financing the acquisition or construction of capital assets.  Revenues that are not classified as
program revenues, including interest income, are presented as general revenues.

15



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the
Authority's funds.  Separate Statements for each fund category-governmental and proprietary are
presented.  The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major individual governmental and
enterprise funds, each of which is displayed in a separate column.  The Authority considers all its
funds to be major funds.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements - Governmental Fund Financial Statements include a
Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances for all
major governmental funds. An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile and explain the
differences in fund balance as presented in these statements to the net position presented in the
Authority-Wide financial statements.

All governmental funds are accounted for on the �current financial resources� measurement focus
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets, current deferred
outflows/inflows of resources and current liabilities are included on the Balance Sheets. The
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances presents increases (revenues
and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in net current
assets.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in
which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the current period.
Accordingly, revenues are recorded when received in cash, except that revenues subject to accrual
(generally ninety days after the fiscal year-end) are recognized when due.  The primary revenue
sources which have been treated as susceptible to accrual by the Authority are leases and earnings
on investments.  Expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the related fund
liability is incurred also generally ninety days after the fiscal year end.

Reconciliations of the Fund Financial Statements to the Authority-Wide Financial Statements are
provided to explain the differences between the two approaches.

Proprietary Fund Financial Statements - Proprietary fund financial statements include a Statement
of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position, and a
Statement of Cash Flows.  Proprietary funds are accounted for using the "economic resources"
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities
(whether current or noncurrent) are included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases
(expenses) in total net position.

Operating revenues in the proprietary funds are those revenues that are generated from the primary
operations of the fund. All other revenues are reported as non-operating revenues. Operating
expenses are those expenses that are essential to the primary operations of the fund. All other
expenses are reported as non-operating expenses.

16



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

C. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element,
deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element,
deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that applies
to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.
The Authority has only one item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting,
that qualifies for reporting in this category.  Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported
only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues
from one source: leases receivable.  These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of
resources in the period that the amounts become available.

D. Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2 - INVESTMENTS HELD BY FISCAL AGENT

 The Authority invests in individual investments and in investment pools.  Individual investments are
evidenced by specific identifiable pieces of paper called securities instruments, or by an electronic
entry registering the owner in the records of the institution issuing the security, called the book entry
system.

 The Authority�s investments are carried at fair value, as required by generally accepted accounting
principles.  The Authority adjusts the carrying value of its investments to reflect their fair value at
each fiscal year end, and it includes the effects of these adjustments in income for that fiscal year.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain
investments and for External Investment Pools, highly liquid market investments with maturities of
one year or less at time of purchase are stated at amortized cost. All other investments are stated at
fair value. Market value is used as fair value for those securities for which market quotations are
readily available.

17



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 2 - INVESTMENTS HELD BY FISCAL AGENT (Continued)

A. Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements

 In accordance with the Lease Revenue Bond Indentures of Trust, a Trustee holds the portion of
Bond proceeds established as reserves for debt service on these Bonds.  The California Government
Code requires these funds to be invested in accordance with bond indentures or State statutes. The
table below identifies the investment types and their minimum credit ratings that are authorized for
investments held by trustee and certain provisions of these debt agreements.  The bond indentures
contain no limitations for the maximum investment in any one issuer or the maximum percentage of
the portfolio that may be invested in any one investment type.

Minimum
Maximum Credit

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality Maximum Percentage of Portfolio

U.S. Treasury Notes, Bonds and/or Bills 5 years N/A No maximum
U.S. Government Sponsored Securities 5 years N/A No maximum
State Obligations N/A A No maximum
Pre-refunded Municipal Obligations N/A AAA No maximum
Certificates of Deposit 30 days N/A No maximum
Bankers' Acceptances 30 days A-1 No maximum
Commercial Paper 270 days A-1+ No maximum
State Local Agency Investment Fund N/A N/A LAIF limits
Repurchase Agreements 270 days A No maximum
Guaranteed Investment Contracts N/A AA No maximum
Money Market Funds N/A Aam or Aam-G No maximum

Corporate Notes N/A
Two highest

rating categories No maximum

B. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of
an investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its
fair value to changes in market interest rates.

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Authority�s investments to market interest
rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the Authority�s
investments by maturity:

12 Months More than

Investment Type or less 36 Months Total

Held by Fiscal Agent:
Money Market Mutual Funds (U.S. Securities) $5,278,656 $5,278,656
Investment Agreement $333,023 333,023

$5,278,656 $333,023 $5,611,679

18



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 2 - INVESTMENTS HELD BY FISCAL AGENT (Continued)

C. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the
investment.  This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical
rating organization.  The actual rating as of June 30, 2014 for the Money Market Mutual Funds was
AAAm as provided by Standard & Poor�s investment rating system.  Money market mutual funds
are available for withdrawal on demand and at June 30, 2014, have an average maturity of 40 to 46
days.

Significant investments in the securities of any individual issuers, other than U.S. Treasury
Securities and Mutual Funds, are set forth below:

Issuer Investment Type Amount

NationsBank Investment Agreement $333,023

NOTE 3 � LEASES RECEIVABLE FROM THE CITY OF TURLOCK

The Authority has recorded leases receivable in the amount of $117,410,139 pursuant to the lease
agreements between the Authority and the City and Successor Agency in relation to the bonded
indebtedness.  The leases receivable along with investments held by fiscal agents secure the repayment
of the different debt issues.  The lease revenue is equal to the Authority�s debt service requirements
and is used for that purpose.

In the Fund Financial Statements a corresponding amount is recorded as unavailable revenue since the
assets are not current financial resources.  In the Authority-wide Financial Statements the assets are
offset by long-term debt with any remaining amounts being reflected in net position.

19



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 4 � LONG TERM DEBT

A. Current Year Activity

Following is a summary of the Authority�s long-term debt transactions during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2014:

Due in
Original Issue Balance Balance Current More Than

Amount June 30, 2013 Retirements June 30, 2014 Portion One Year
Governmental Activity Debt:

1999 Revenue Bonds $4,970,000 $2,915,000 ($180,000) $2,735,000 $185,000 $2,550,000
2006 Tax Allocation Revenue Bonds 25,440,000 23,255,000 (430,000) 22,825,000 450,000 22,375,000

Add:  Unamortized bond premium 357,994 (15,453) 342,541 342,541
2011 Tax Allocation Revenue Bonds 15,300,000 15,010,000 15,010,000 260,000 14,750,000

Less:  Unamortized bond discount (93,794) 3,528 (90,266) (90,266)

Total Governmental Activities 45,710,000 41,444,200 (621,925) 40,822,275 895,000 39,927,275

Business-type Activities Debt:
Revenue Bonds:
2012 Sewer 51,915,000 51,915,000 (1,865,000) 50,050,000 1,955,000 48,095,000

Add:  Unamortized bond premium 3,693,667 (183,157) 3,510,510 3,510,510
2008 Water 32,365,000 29,300,000 (670,000) 28,630,000 700,000 27,930,000

Less:  Unamortized bond premium 9,412 (379) 9,033 9,033

Total Business Type Activities 84,280,000 84,918,079 (2,718,536) 82,199,543 2,655,000 79,544,543

Total Long-Term Debt $129,990,000 $126,362,279 ($3,340,461) $123,021,818 $3,550,000 $119,471,818

B. 1999 Revenue Bonds

In March 1999 the Authority authorized the issuance of $4,970,000 in revenue bonds the proceeds
of which were loaned to the former City of Turlock Redevelopment Agency (Agency) to be used to
finance the rehabilitation of the City�s downtown.  Agency tax increment revenue is pledged for
repayment of these bonds.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest rates ranging from 3.5% -
5.55%, have semi-annual principal and interest payments on the first of March and September
through September 2024.  The annual debt service requirements are as follows:

For the Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2015 $185,000 $143,441 $328,441
2016 195,000 133,466 328,466
2017 210,000 122,624 332,624
2018 220,000 110,907 330,907
2019 230,000 98,645 328,645

2020-2024 1,375,000 282,720 1,657,720
2025 320,000 8,720 328,720

Total $2,735,000 $900,523 $3,635,523

20



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 4 � LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

C. 2006 Tax Allocation Revenue Bonds

In August 2006 the Authority authorized the issuance of $25,440,000 in Tax Allocation Revenue
Bonds the proceeds of which were loaned to the former Agency to be used to finance various
infrastructure projects to be constructed within the Agency�s project area boundaries.  Agency tax
increment revenue is pledged for repayment of these bonds.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest
rates ranging from 4.0% - 5.0%, have semi-annual principal and interest payments on the first of
March and September through September 2036. The annual debt service requirements are as
follows:

For the Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2015 $450,000 $1,087,141 $1,537,141
2016 470,000 1,066,441 1,536,441
2017 490,000 1,046,066 1,536,066
2018 510,000 1,026,066 1,536,066
2019 530,000 1,005,266 1,535,266

2020-2024 2,995,000 4,664,571 7,659,571
2025-2029 5,200,000 3,752,050 8,952,050
2030-2034 7,045,000 2,198,625 9,243,625
2035-2037 5,135,000 393,375 5,528,375

Total $22,825,000 $16,239,601 $39,064,601

D. 2011 Tax Allocation Revenue Bonds

In February 2011, the Authority authorized the issuance of $15,300,000 in Tax Allocation Revenue
Bonds and loaned the proceeds to the former Agency to be used to provide financing assistance for
the construction of a new public safety facility in the City�s downtown area.  The Authority
transferred proceeds of $92 to the Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency during fiscal
year 2014.  As with the bond issuances noted above, the Agency�s tax increment revenue is pledged
for repayment of these bonds.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest rates ranging from 2.5% -
7.55%, have semi-annual principal and interest payments on the first of March and September
through September 2039. The annual debt service requirements are as follows:

For the Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2015 $260,000 $1,063,619 $1,323,619
2016 270,000 1,051,681 1,321,681
2017 280,000 1,038,269 1,318,269
2018 295,000 1,023,340 1,318,340
2019 310,000 1,006,500 1,316,500

2020-2024 1,740,000 4,712,795 6,452,795
2025-2029 1,380,000 4,169,086 5,549,086
2030-2034 1,785,000 3,611,800 5,396,800
2035-2039 7,840,000 2,317,500 10,157,500

2040 850,000 31,875 881,875

Total $15,010,000 $20,026,465 $35,036,465

21



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 4 � LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

E. 2012 Sewer Revenue Bonds

On September 6, 2012, the Authority issued $51,915,000 in Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2012.
The proceeds of these Bonds, secured by revenue from the City�s Wastewater Treatment operations
as defined in the bond documents, are being used to refund the Authority�s outstanding 1999 and
2003A Sewer Revenue Bonds. The 1999 Sewer Revenue Bonds were refunded in their entirety on
September 15, 2012, their next payment date. Funds to refund the 2003A Sewer Revenue Bonds
were placed in escrow upon the closing of the 2012 Bond issuance and then the 2003A Bonds were
refunded on September 15, 2013. No new project monies were included in this bond issuance. The
2012 Bonds carry coupons ranging from 2.00% - 5.00% and mature in September 2033. The annual
debt service requirements are as follows:

For the Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2015 $1,955,000 $1,972,400 $3,927,400
2016 2,010,000 1,912,925 3,922,925
2017 2,080,000 1,841,175 3,921,175
2018 2,165,000 1,756,275 3,921,275
2019 2,255,000 1,667,875 3,922,875

2020-2024 12,760,000 6,865,075 19,625,075
2025-2029 13,690,000 3,855,514 17,545,514
2030-2034 13,135,000 1,293,500 14,428,500

Total $50,050,000 $21,164,739 $71,214,739

F. 2008 Water Revenue Bonds

In May 2008 the Authority issued $32,365,000 in Water Revenue Bonds Series 2008 to finance
capital improvements to the City�s potable water system, including the installation of water meters
and an automated meter reading system for all water service users within Turlock, the construction
of two water storage reservoirs, and water line installations in the Westside Industrial Specific Plan
area.  The bonds, which carry coupon interest rates ranging from 3.50% - 5.00%, have semi-annual
principal and interest payments on the first of November and May through May 2038. The annual
debt service requirements are as follows:

For the Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total

2015 $700,000 $1,332,112 $2,032,112
2016 725,000 1,304,113 2,029,113
2017 755,000 1,275,112 2,030,112
2018 785,000 1,244,913 2,029,913
2019 815,000 1,213,512 2,028,512

2020-2024 4,635,000 5,507,612 10,142,612
2025-2029 5,765,000 4,387,114 10,152,114
2030-2034 7,250,000 2,900,212 10,150,212
2035-2038 7,200,000 922,000 8,122,000

Total $28,630,000 $20,086,700 $48,716,700

22



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 4 � LONG TERM DEBT (Continued)

G. Bond Issuance Costs, Original Issue Discounts and Premiums and Deferred Charge on
Refunding

For proprietary fund types, bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of
the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond
premium or discount. Any differences between proprietary refunded debt and the debt issued to
refund it is amortized over the remaining life of either the refunded debt or the refunding debt,
whichever is shorter.)

The deferred charge on refunding was previously reported as a component of the long-term debt
balance. With the implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement
No. 65, the balance of deferred charge on refunding is to be reported as an asset or liability, as
applicable.  Another provision of GASB Statement No. 65 requires that bond issuance costs, other
than prepaid insurance, be expensed in the year incurred.

NOTE 5 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES

A. Net Position

Net Position is measured on the full accrual basis while Fund Balance is measured on the modified
accrual basis.

Net Position is the excess of all assets and deferred outflows of resources over all liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources.  Net Position is divided into two captions.  These captions apply only
to Net Position, which is determined only for proprietary funds and at the Authority-wide level, and
are described below:

Restricted for Debt Service � This amount represents funds required by bond covenants to be
held by the Authority�s third party trustee for future debt service payments.

Restricted for Capital Projects � This amount represents the unexpended portion of debt which
was issued to finance capital improvement projects.

B. Fund Balances

Governmental fund balances represent the net current assets of each fund.  Net current assets
generally represent a fund�s cash, receivables and deferred outflows of resources, less its liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources.

The Authority�s fund balances are classified based on spending constraints imposed on the use of
resources.  For programs with multiple funding sources, the Authority prioritizes and expends funds
in the following order: Restricted, Committed, Assigned, and Unassigned.  Each category in the
following hierarchy is ranked according to the degree of spending constraint:

23



TURLOCK PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO BASIC COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 5 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES (Continued)

Nonspendable represents balances set aside to indicate items do not represent available, spendable
resources even though they are a component of assets.  Assets not expected to be converted to cash,
such as prepaids, notes receivable, and property held for resale are included.  However, if proceeds
realized from the sale or collection of nonspendable assets are restricted, committed or assigned,
then nonspendable amounts are required to be presented as a component of the applicable category.
As of June 30, 2014 the Authority did not have any nonspendable fund balances.

Restricted fund balances have external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors,
laws, regulations, or enabling legislation which requires the resources to be used only for a specific
purpose. Encumbrances and nonspendable amounts subject to restrictions are included along with
spendable resources.

Committed fund balances have constraints imposed by resolution of the Board of Directors which
may be altered only by formal action of the Board of Directors.  Encumbrances and nonspendable
amounts subject to Board of Director commitments are included along with spendable resources.  As
of June 30, 2014 the Authority did not have any committed fund balances.

Assigned fund balances are amounts constrained by the Authority�s intent to be used for a specific
purpose, but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by the Board of Directors or its
designee and may be changed at the discretion of the Board of Directors or its designee, the City
Manager. This category includes: encumbrances; nonspendables, when it is the Board of Director�s
intent to use proceeds or collections for a specific purpose; and residual fund balances, if any, of
Special Revenue and Capital Projects which have not been restricted or committed.  As of June 30,
2014 the Authority did not have any assigned fund balances.

Unassigned fund balance represents residual amounts that have not been restricted, committed, or
assigned. As of June 30, 2014 the Authority did not have any unassigned fund balances.

24



CITY OF TURLOCK

TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

Table of Contents

     Page

Independent Auditor�s Report ................................................................................................................. 1

Fund Financial Statements

 Streets Special Revenue Fund

 Balance Sheet .................................................................................................................... 3

 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
   Changes in Fund Balance ............................................................................................... 4

 Statement of Revenues Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance �
   Budget and Actual .......................................................................................................... 5

 Transportation Enterprise Fund

 Statements of Net Position ............................................................................................... 6

 Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
   Changes in Fund Net Position ........................................................................................ 7

 Statements of Cash Flows ................................................................................................. 8

 Notes to Financial Statements ........................................................................................................ 9

Independent Auditor�s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
and on Compliance with the Transportation Development Act and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards ....................................................................................................... 19

Independent Auditor�s Report on Compliance with Requirements that Could have a
  Direct and Material Effect on TDA Program Funds and on Internal Control over
  Compliance in Accordance with Section 6666 and 6667 of the Rules and Regulations
  of the California Administrative Code in the Transportation Development Act
  Statutes and Administrative Code for 1987 and the Allocation Instructions and
  Resolutions of the Stanislaus Council of Governments ..................................................................... 21

Independent Auditor�s Report on Compliance with Requirements that Could have a
  Direct and Material Effect on TDA Funds and on Internal Control Over Compliance
  In Accordance with Rules and Regulations of the Public Transportation Modernization,
  Improvement and Service Enhancement Account (PTMISEA) ...................................................... 23



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT

To the Honorable Members of the City Council,
of the City of Turlock
Turlock, California

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Transportation Development Act Funds
(TDA Funds) which are included in the Streets Special Revenue Fund and the Transportation Enterprise
Fund of the City of Turlock (City), California, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the TDA Funds� basic financial
statements as listed in the Table of Contents.

Management�s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor�s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor�s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the TDA Funds� preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the TDA Funds�
internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.



Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the TDA Funds as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the respective changes
in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, for the years then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the TDA Funds and are not intended to present
fairly the financial positions and results of operation of the City of Turlock in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 23,
2015, on our consideration of the TDA Funds� internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the TDA Funds� internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT PROGRAM

GOVERNMENTAL FUND - STREETS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
BALANCE SHEET

JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

2014 2013
ASSETS

Cash and investments (Note 2) $387,386 $58,516
Accounts receivable 319,134 307,078

Total Assets $706,520 $365,594

LIABILITIES
Accounts and salaries payable $123,122 $66,914
Unearned revenue (Note 4) 583,398 298,680

Total Liabilities 706,520 365,594

FUND BALANCES (Note 5)
Unassigned

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $706,520 $365,594

See accompanying notes to financial statements



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT PROGRAM

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GOVERNMENTAL FUND - STREETS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

2014 2013

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $611,851 $894,841
Charges for services 26,232 28,998
Interest income and other revenues 235 417

Total Revenues 638,318 924,256

EXPENDITURES:
Public ways and facilities / transportation 607,539 509,754
Capital outlay 53,685 65,164

Total Expenditures 661,224 574,918

Excess of Revenues over Expenditures (22,906) 349,338

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in from Transportation Enterprise Fund 3,000 3,000
Transfers in from other City funds 53,685
Transfers out to other City funds (33,779) (189,675)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 22,906 (186,675)

Net Change in Fund Balance 162,663

Fund Balance (Deficit), Beginning of Year (162,663)

Fund Balance, End of Year

See accompanying notes to financial statements



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT PROGRAM

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GOVERNMENTAL FUND - STREETS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Variance with
Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUES:
Intergovernmental revenues $630,000 $630,000 $611,851 ($18,149)
Charges for services 26,232 26,232
Interest income and other revenues 750 750 235 (515)

Total Revenues 630,750 630,750 638,318 7,568

EXPENDITURES:
Public ways and facilities / transportation 626,050 771,544 607,539 164,005
Capital outlay 80,000 80,000 53,685 26,315

Total Expenditures 706,050 851,544 661,224 190,320

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenditures (75,300) (220,794) (22,906) 197,888

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES):
Transfers in from Transportation Enterprise Fund 3,000 3,000 3,000
Transfers in from other City funds 53,700 53,685 (15)
Transfers out to other City funds (34,100) (34,100) (33,779) 321

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (31,100) 22,600 22,906 306

Net Change in Fund Balance ($106,400) ($198,194) $198,194

Fund Balance, Beginning of Year

Fund Balance, End of Year

See accompanying notes to financial statements



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION ENTERPRISE FUND

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

2014 2013

Current assets:
Cash and investments $3,281,077 $2,671,648
Accounts receivable, grants 406,076 972,005
Interest receivable 1,553 1,214

Total current assets 3,688,706 3,644,867

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets (Note 3):

Nondepreciable 3,754,731 3,380,147
Depreciable, net 5,314,996 5,680,741

Total noncurrent assets 9,069,727 9,060,888

Total Assets 12,758,433 12,705,755

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accruals 65,921 71,522
Salaries payable 2,020 2,024
Unearned revenue (Note 4) 3,583,833 3,537,671
Compensated absences - due in one year 3,393 3,493

Total current liabilities 3,655,167 3,614,710

Long-term liabilities
Compensated absences 13,571 13,971
Net OPEB obligation 19,968 16,186

Total long-term liabilities 33,539 30,157

Total Liabilities 3,688,706 3,644,867

NET POSITION (Note 5)

Net investment in capital assets 9,069,727 9,060,888

Total Net Position $9,069,727 $9,060,888

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements

ASSETS

LIABILITIES



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION ENTERPRISE FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

2014 2013

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $150,150 $151,293
Other income 9,521 61,337

Total operating revenues 159,671 212,630

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries, benefits and insurance 113,283 129,205
Contractual 802,296 764,593
Supplies and maintenance 23,156 30,696
Utilities 15,273 15,729
Fleet expense 196,681 181,425
Depreciation 365,745 297,096
Other expenses 9,604 16,375

Total operating expenses 1,526,038 1,435,119

Operating loss (1,366,367) (1,222,489)

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Operating grants 992,993 923,904
Investment income 6,915 7,044

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 999,908 930,948

LOSS BEFORE CAPITAL GRANTS AND TRANSFERS (366,459) (291,541)

Capital grants 381,298 1,753,270
Transfers out to the Streets Special Revenue Fund (3,000) (3,000)
Transfers out to other City funds (3,000) (3,000)

Change in net position 8,839 1,455,729

BEGINNING NET POSITION 9,060,888 7,605,159

ENDING NET POSITION $9,069,727 $9,060,888

See accompanying notes to financial statements



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION ENTERPRISE FUND

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2014 AND 2013

2014 2013
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers $183,851 $212,630
Payments to suppliers (1,052,611) (1,168,770)
Payments to employees (110,005) (135,502)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities (978,765) (1,091,642)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers out (6,000) (6,000)
Intergovernmental receipts - operations 543,543 499,686

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 537,543 493,686

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Intergovernmental receipts - capital program 1,418,659 1,406,165
Purchases of capital assets (374,584) (1,752,825)

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 1,044,075 (346,660)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income 6,576 8,554

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 6,576 8,554

Net Cash Flows 609,429 (936,062)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and investments at beginning of period 2,671,648 3,607,710

Cash and investments at end of period $3,281,077 $2,671,648

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO CASH FLOWS
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating loss ($1,366,367) ($1,222,489)
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to cash flows

from operating activities:
Depreciation 365,745 297,096

Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable for operations 24,180
Accounts payable (5,601) (159,952)
Salaries payable (4) (1,427)
Compensated absences (500) (3,561)
Net OPEB obligation 3,782 (1,309)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities ($978,765) ($1,091,642)

See accompanying notes to financial statements



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. The Reporting Entity

The financial statements of the Transportation Development Act Funds (TDA Funds) are
intended to present the financial position and changes in financial position and cash flows for
only those transactions attributable to the Streets Special Revenue Fund and the Transportation
Enterprise Fund (TDA Funds) administered and disbursed by the City of Turlock, California
(City).

The accounting policies of the TDA Funds of the City are in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) applicable to
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted
standard-setting body for establishing accounting principles. The following is a summary of the
more significant accounting policies.

B. Fund Accounting

The operations of the TDA Funds are accounted for in separate sets of self-balancing accounts
that comprise their assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, fund balance or net position, revenues and expenditures or expenses. Governmental
resources are allocated to and for individual funds based upon the purpose for which they are to
be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. The TDA Funds are
presented in the accompanying financial statements as follows:

Governmental Fund Type

Streets Special Revenue Fund - The Streets Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the
City�s share of the Transportation Development Act (TDA) allocations that are legally restricted
for street maintenance and capital improvements. In addition, this fund accounts for the
Proposition 1B funds whose use is generally restricted to pavement maintenance, rehabilitation
and/or reconstruction.

Proprietary Fund Type

Transportation Enterprise Fund - The Transportation Enterprise Fund is used to account for the
operation and management of the City�s transit operations. TDA and Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) allocations for transit operations are accounted for in this fund along with
Proposition 1B funds designated for transit programs.



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

C. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

Streets Special Revenue Fund

The Streets Special Revenue Fund�s financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement
of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance. The Special Revenue Fund is accounted
for on a spending or �current financial resources� measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets and deferred outflows of resources, and
current liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, are included on the Balance Sheet.  The
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance presents increases (revenues
and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing uses) in fund
balances. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the
accounting period in which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures
of the current period.  Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. The City�s accrual period is generally
90 days after fiscal year end. Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual
basis of accounting when the related fund liability is incurred.

The Streets Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the City�s share of the Transportation
Development Act (TDA) allocations that are legally restricted for street maintenance and capital
improvements.  In addition, the fund accounts for the Proposition 1B funds whose use is
generally restricted to pavement maintenance, rehabilitation and/or reconstruction.

 Transportation Enterprise Fund

The Transportation Enterprise Fund financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, a
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows.

The Transportation Enterprise Fund is accounted for using the �economic resources�
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all assets, deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, (whether current or noncurrent) are
included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in
Fund Net Position presents increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net position.
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period in which they are
earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is incurred.

The Transportation Enterprise Fund is used to account for the operation and management of the
City�s transit operations.  TDA and Federal Transit Administration (FTA) allocations for transit
operations and capital projects are accounted for in this fund, along with Proposition 1B funds
designated for transit programs.

Operating revenues in the Transportation Enterprise Fund include fare revenues and other
revenues generated from the primary operations of the fund, excluding grants. All other revenues,
including operating grants, are reported as nonoperating revenues.  Operating expenses are those
expenses that are essential to the primary operations of the fund. All other expenses are reported
as nonoperating expenses.



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

D. Deferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position or balance sheet will sometimes report a
separate section for deferred outflows of resources.  This separate financial statement element,
deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position or fund balance that
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position or balance sheet will sometimes report
a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element,
deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position or fund balance that
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue)
until that time.

E. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTE 2 � CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The TDA Funds participate in the City�s cash and investment pool.  The City pools surplus cash
from all sources and all funds, except cash with fiscal agents, so that it can be invested at the
maximum yield, consistent with safety and liquidity.  Investment income is allocated among
funds on the basis of the average month-end cash and investment balances in these funds.  As of
June 30, 2014 and June 30, 2013, the TDA Funds had cash and investment balances of
$3,668,463 and $2,730,164, respectively.

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the City�s Investment Policy

The City�s Investment Policy and the California Government Code permit the following
investments, provided the credit ratings of the issuers are acceptable and approved percentages and
maturities are not exceeded.  The table below also identifies certain provisions of the California
Government Code, or the Investment Policy if more restrictive, that address interest rate risk, credit
risk and concentration of credit risk.



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 2 � CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued)

 The City�s investment policy authorizes the following investments:

Minimum Maximum Maximum
Maximum Credit Percentage Investment

Authorized Investment Type Maturity Quality of Portfolio In One Issuer

U.S. Treasury Notes, Bonds and/or Bills 5 years N/A Unlimited N/A

U.S. Government Sponsored Securities 5 years N/A Unlimited
No more than

25%

Certificates of Deposit 2 years N/A 30% N/A

Bankers' Acceptances 180 days N/A 40% No more than
30%

Commercial Paper 270 days A-1 or
Higher

25%
No more than

10%
State of Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A N/A Equal to maximum

limit set by LAIF
N/A

Money Market Funds N/A N/A 15% N/A

Corporate Notes 5 years AAA 5% N/A

For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash equivalents are defined as investments with
original maturities of 90 days or less, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.
The City considers all pooled cash and investments (consisting of cash and investments and
restricted cash and investments) held by the City as cash and cash equivalents because the pool is
used essentially as a demand deposit account from the standpoint of the funds.  The City also
considers all non-pooled cash and investments (consisting funds with fiscal agents) as cash and
cash equivalents, because investments meet the criteria for cash equivalents defined above.

NOTE 3 � CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets acquired by the Streets Fund are recorded as expenditures in the special revenue
fund and capitalized at cost and recorded as part of the City�s Statement of Net Position in the
government-wide financial statements. The costs of infrastructure (roads, curbs, gutters, streets,
bridges, sidewalks, drainage systems, right-of-ways, and land related to such assets) are recorded
as expenditures in the special revenue fund and are also capitalized and recorded in the City�s
Statement of Net Position in the government-wide financial statements. These infrastructure
assets become the property of the City and are maintained by the City.

Capital assets acquired by the Transportation Enterprise Fund are recorded at cost in the
Transportation Enterprise Fund and are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives. Operating expenses include depreciation on all depreciable capital assets. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to expense when the services are rendered.



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 3 � CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued)

City policy has set the capitalization thresholds for reporting capital assets at the following:

General Capital Assets $5,000

Infrastructure Capital Assets $5,000

Depreciation has been provided on a straight-line basis over the following useful lives:

Years
Land Improvements and Infrastructure 25 - 60
Buildings 30 - 50
Furniture and Equipment 5 - 10
Vehicles 5 - 10

Transportation Enterprise Fund

The following is a summary of capital assets for the Transportation Enterprise fund:

Balance at Balance at
June 30, 2013 Additions June 30, 2014

Capital assets not being depreciated:
  Land $1,823,738 $1,823,738
  Construction in progress 1,556,409 $374,584 1,930,993
   Total capital assets not being depreciated 3,380,147 374,584 3,754,731

Capital assets being depreciated:
  Land improvements 2,070,214 2,070,214
  Buildings 1,904,615 1,904,615
  Furniture and equipment 446,687 446,687
  Vehicles 2,772,017 2,772,017
   Total capital assets being depreciated 7,193,533 7,193,533

Less accumulated depreciation for:
  Land improvements (3,249) (69,008) (72,257)
  Buildings (304,113) (63,487) (367,600)
  Furniture and equipment (182,506) (48,450) (230,956)
  Vehicles (1,022,924) (184,800) (1,207,724)
   Total accumulated depreciation (1,512,792) (365,745) (1,878,537)

Net capital assets being depreciated 5,680,741 (365,745) 5,314,996

Capital assets, net $9,060,888 $8,839 $9,069,727



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 4 - UNEARNED REVENUE � CAPITAL PROGRAMS

 The TDA Funds received grants from the State of California Department of Transportation for
projects financed with Public Transportation Modernization, Improvement, and Service
Enhancement Account (Proposition 1B), and had received Local Transportation Fund and State
Transit Assistance funds in advance of costs being incurred.  As of June 30, 2014 and 2013,
unearned revenue related to those programs is as follows:

2014 2013
Streets Special Revenue Fund:

State Transit Assistance and Local Transportation Fund $583,398 $298,680

Transportation Enterprise Fund:
Proposition 1B $1,899,784 $1,353,065
State Transit Assistance and Local Transportation Fund 1,684,049 2,184,606

Total Transit Enterprise Fund $3,583,833 $3,537,671

NOTE 5 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES

A. Net Position

 Net Position is the excess of all assets and deferred outflows of resources over all liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources. Net Position is divided into three captions.  These captions apply
only to Net Position, which is determined only for proprietary funds and at the Government-wide
level, and are described below:

Net Investment in Capital Assets describes the portion of Net Position which is represented by the
current net book value of the capital assets, less the outstanding balance of any debt issued to
finance these assets.

Restricted describes the portion of Net Position which is restricted as to use by the terms and
conditions of agreements with outside parties, governmental regulations, laws, or other restrictions
which the City cannot unilaterally alter.

B. Fund Balances

Governmental fund balances represent the net current assets of each fund.  Net current assets
generally represent a fund�s cash, receivables and deferred outflows of resources, less its
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources.

The City�s fund balances are classified based on spending constraints imposed on the use of
resources.  The use of the funds accounted for in these Statements is restricted by law; therefore
these funds will never have committed or assigned balances.  Each category in the following
hierarchy is ranked according to the degree of spending constraint:



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 5 � NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCES (Continued)

Nonspendable represents balances set aside to indicate items do not represent available,
spendable resources even though they are a component of assets.  Assets not expected to be
converted to cash, such as prepaids, notes receivable, and property held for resale are included.
However, if proceeds realized from the sale or collection of nonspendable assets are restricted,
committed or assigned, then nonspendable amounts are required to be presented as a component
of the applicable category.

Restricted fund balances have external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors,
laws, regulations, or enabling legislation which requires the resources to be used only for a
specific purpose. Encumbrances and nonspendable amounts subject to restrictions are included
along with spendable resources.

Committed fund balances have constraints imposed by resolution of the City Council which may
be altered only by formal action of the City Council.  Encumbrances and nonspendable amounts
subject to council commitments are included along with spendable resources.

Assigned fund balances are amounts constrained by the City�s intent to be used for a specific
purpose, but are neither restricted nor committed. Intent is expressed by the City Council or its
designee and may be changed at the discretion of the City Council or its designee, the City
Manager. This category includes: encumbrances; nonspendables, when it is the City�s intent to
use proceeds or collections for a specific purpose; and residual fund balances, if any, of Special
Revenue and Capital Projects which have not been restricted or committed.

Unassigned fund balance represents residual amounts that have not been restricted, committed, or
assigned. This includes the residual General Fund balance and residual fund deficits, if any, of
other governmental funds.

NOTE 6 � TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT

The State of California established the TDA to provide funds for public transportation. The funds
are administered by the Stanislaus Council of Governments (StanCOG). TDA created a Local
Transportation Fund (LTF) in each county for the transportation purposes specified in the
Transportation Development Act Statutes and Administrative Code. Revenues of the LTF are
derived from a 1/4 of one percent sales tax rate levied in each county.



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 7 � PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION MODERNIZATION IMPROVEMENT AND SERVICE
ENHANCEMENT ACCOUNT (PTMISEA)

In November 2006, California Voters passed a bond measure enacting the Highway Safety,
Traffic Reduction, Air Quality and Port Security Bond Act of 2006. Of the $19.925 billion of
State general obligation bonds authorized, $4 billion was set aside by the State as instructed by
the statute as the Public Transportation Modernization Improvement and Service Enhancement
Account (PTMISEA). These funds are available to the California Department of Transportation
for intercity rail projects and to transit operators in California for rehabilitation, safety or
modernization improvements, capital service enhancements or expansions, new capital projects,
bus rapid transit improvements or for rolling stock procurement, rehabilitation or replacement.

Since fiscal year 2007-08, the City has received funding for the following projects: (1) the
construction of a Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) fueling station; (2) the purchase of a new CNG
bus for the City�s fixed route transit system; (3) the purchase of bus LED designation signs and
brochure holders; (4) the acquisition of property for the development of a transit transfer hub, (5)
the transit transfer center phase II, (6) a CNG slow fill compressor, (7) an electronic farebox
system and (8) a paratransit bus purchase.

In fiscal years 2008 through 2014, the Program received a total of $4,579,716 from Proposition
1B funds and expended $2,709,692, including the expenditure of interest on the unspent funds.
For fiscal year 2014, the Program received Proposition 1B funds totaling $900,000 and expended
$355,777, including the expenditure of interest on unspent funds.  Unspent grant receipts have
been reported as unearned revenue in the accompanying financial statements and the schedule
below delineates the funds received and the expenditure of these funds along with the interest
earned on the unexpended funds.

Expended
Grant through Transfers to Unearned

Project Name Amount Interest June 30, 2014 Other Projects Revenue
Bus LED Designation Signs and

Brochure Holders $12,975 $163 ($13,138)
Construction of Timed Fill Compressed

Natural Gas (CNG) Bus Fueling Station 315,495    6,889   (279,853) ($42,531)
Compressed Natural Gas Transit Bus (35-foot) 495,495    14,112 (507,333) (2,274)
Transit Transfer Center 1,265,574 5,539   (1,549,015)    277,902
Transit Transfer Center Phase II 532,437    1,312   (22,104)         275,148      $786,793
CNG Slow Fill Compressor 350,000    382      (338,249)       12,133
Electronic Farebox System 200,000    333      200,333
Dispatch Office 130,000    183      (130,183)
Operations and Bus Storage 377,740    322      (378,062)
Paratransit Bus Purchase 900,000    525      900,525

Total $4,579,716 $29,760 ($2,709,692) $1,899,784



CITY OF TURLOCK
TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT FUNDS

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

NOTE 8 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The funds are exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of; damage to, and destruction
of assets, and natural disaster. The TDA Funds participate in the Central San Joaquin Valley Risk
Management Authority (CSJVRMA), as a part of the City. The purpose of CSJVRMA is to
spread the adverse effect of losses among the members and to purchase excess insurance as a
group, thereby reducing its expense. The funds, through cost allocation from the City, contribute
their pro rata share of anticipated losses to pools administered by CSJVRMA.  More information
regarding the City�s risk management program can be found in the basic financial statements of
the City of Turlock.

NOTE 9 - OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Personnel costs accounted for under TDA and FTA funding include costs associated with the
City�s compensated absences and retiree healthcare benefit plans. The costs attributed to TDA
and FTA funding are part of the City-wide plans and are allocated to TDA and FTA funds in the
same manner as they are allocated to other City funds which have personnel expenditures. More
information regarding these plans can be found in the basic financial statements for the City of
Turlock.

NOTE 10 - MAJOR CONTRACTOR

On October 25, 2011, the City renewed its contract agreement with First Transit Inc. to operate
and maintain the DART and BLAST programs.  The term is from December 1, 2011, to
November 30, 2014, with an option to extend for an additional three years.  First Transit Inc. is
paid monthly based on a fixed fee plus a fee calculated at a fixed rate per vehicle multiplied by
the number of service hours.  Expenses incurred under this contract amounted to $546,420 for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.

NOTE 11 � CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The City receives Federal Transit Administration (FTA) monies for the purchase of buses,
construction of related maintenance facilities, and for partial funding of its transit operations.
State and federal grants received by the City for specific purposes are subject to review and audit
by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to request for reimbursement for expenditures
disallowed under the terms of the grants. The amount, if any, of expenditures that may be
disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time, although the City expects
such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

AND ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Honorable Members of the City Council
  of the City of Turlock
  Turlock, California

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the Transportation Development Act
Funds (TDA Funds) of the City of Turlock (City), California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and
the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 23, 2015.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered TDA Funds� internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of TDA Funds� internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of TDA Funds� internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the TDA Funds�
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been
identified.



Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the TDA Funds� financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. Our procedures included the applicable audit procedures
contained in §6666 and §6667 of Title 21 of California Code of Regulations and tests of compliance with the
applicable provisions of the Transportation Development Act and the allocation instructions and resolutions of
the Stanislaus Council of Governments. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We have also issued a separate Memorandum on Internal Control dated March 23, 2015, which is an integral
part of our audit and should be read in conjunction with this report.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the TDA Funds� internal control
or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the TDA Funds� internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is
not suitable for any other purpose.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT ON
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS THAT COULD HAVE A DIRECT AND

MATERIAL EFFECT ON TDA PROGRAM FUNDS AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 6666 AND 6667 OF THE RULES AND

REGULATIONS OF THE CALIFORNIA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
IN THE TRANSPORTATION DEVELOPMENT ACT STATUTES AND ADMINISTRATIVE
CODE FOR 1987 AND THE ALLOCATION INSTRUCTIONS AND RESOLUTIONS OF THE

STANISLAUS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council
of the City of Turlock
Turlock, California

Report on Compliance for TDA Funds

We have audited the City of Turlock, California�s (City) Streets Special Revenue Fund and the Transportation
Enterprise Fund (TDA Funds) compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in Section 6666
and 6667 of the Rules and Regulations of the California Administrative Code in the Transportation
Development Act Statutes and Administrative Code for 1987 (the Act) and the allocation instructions and
resolutions of the Stanislaus Council of Governments (StanCOG) that could have a direct and material effect on
the TDA Funds for the year ended June 30, 2014.

Management�s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable to its TDA Funds.

Auditor�s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the TDA Funds based on our audit of the types of
compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the
Act and the allocation instructions and resolutions of the StanCOG.  Those standards, the Act, and the allocation
instructions and resolutions of the StanCOG require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on the TDA Funds occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence about the City�s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the TDA Fund.
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City�s compliance.

Opinion on TDA Funds

In our opinion, the TDA Funds complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the TDA Funds for the year ended June 30,
2014.



Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we
considered the TDA Funds� internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a
direct and material effect on the TDA Funds to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for the TDA Funds and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Act and the allocation instructions and resolutions of
the StanCOG, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the TDA Funds� internal control
over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of the TDA
Funds on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of the TDA Funds will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of the TDA Funds that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist
that have not been identified.

We have also issued a separate Memorandum on Internal Control dated March 23, 2015, which is an integral
part of our audit and should be read in conjunction with this report.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Act and the
allocation instructions and resolutions of the StanCOG. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT ON
COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS THAT COULD HAVE A DIRECT AND
MATERIAL EFFECT ON TDA FUNDS AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER

COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE
PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION MODERNIZATION,
IMPROVEMENT AND SERVICE ENHANCEMENT

ACCOUNT (PTMISEA)

To the Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council
of the City of Turlock
Turlock, California

Report on Compliance for PTMISEA Projects

We have audited the revenues and expenses of the City of Turlock, California�s (City) Public Transportation
Modernization, Improvement and Service Enhancement Account Projects, as disclosed in Note 7 to the
accompanying financial statements, a program of the Transportation Enterprise Fund, (the Projects) compliance
with the rules and regulations of the Public Transportation Modernization, Improvement and Service
Enhancement Account (PTMISEA) that could have a direct and material effect on the Projects for the year
ended June 30, 2014.

Management�s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable to the Projects.

Auditor�s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the Projects based on our audit of the types of
compliance requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the
PTMISEA.  Those standards and the PTMISEA require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could
have a direct and material effect on the Projects occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
about the City�s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the Projects. However,
our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City�s compliance.

Opinion on the PTMISEA Projects

In our opinion, the Projects complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the Projects for the year ended June 30, 2014.



Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we
considered the Projects� internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct
and material effect on the Projects to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for the Projects and to test and report on internal control
over compliance in accordance with the PTMISEA, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Projects� internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of the
Projects on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of the Projects will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of the
Projects that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist
that have not been identified.

We have also issued a separate Memorandum on Internal Control dated March 23, 2015, which is an integral
part of our audit and should be read in conjunction with this report.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the PTMISEA and
Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015



CITY OF TURLOCK

SINGLE AUDIT REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
 SINGLE AUDIT REPORT

For The Year End June 30, 2014

 TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

 Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ............................................................................. 1

 Section I - Summary of Auditor�s Results .......................................................................... 1

 Section II � Financial Statement Findings .......................................................................... 2

 Section III � Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs ............................................ 2

Section IV - Status of Prior Year Findings
 and Questioned Costs ................................................................................................... 4

 Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ........................................................................... 6

 Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................. 7

Independent Auditor�s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
 Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ....................... 9

Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program;
Report on Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on The
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required By OMB Circular A-133  ........... 11



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



CITY OF TURLOCK
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

For The Year Ended June 30, 2014

SECTION I�SUMMARY OF AUDITOR�S RESULTS

Financial Statements

Type of auditor�s report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? X Yes No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X Yes
None
Reported

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes X No

Federal Awards

Type of auditor�s report issued on compliance for major
programs: Unmodified

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified? X Yes
None
Reported

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported
in accordance with section 510(a) of OMB Circular A-133? X Yes No

Identification of major programs:

CFDA#(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster

14.228  Department of Housing and Urban Development � Community Development
Block Grants

66.458  Environmental Protection Agency � Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State
Revolving Funds

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:             $334,549

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?   Yes  X No

1



SECTION II � FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

Our audit did disclose significant deficiencies and material weaknesses, but no instances of noncompliance
material to the basic financial statements.  We have also issued a separate Memorandum on Internal
Control dated March 23, 2015 which is an integral part of our audits and should be read in conjunction
with this report.

SECTION III � FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

Our audit disclosed the following findings and questioned costs required to be reported in accordance with
section 510(a) of OMB Circular A-133.

Finding: SA2014-001 Reporting Review Process

CFDA Number: 66.458
CFDA Title: Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds
Name of Federal Agency: Environmental Protection Agency
Name of Pass-through Entity: California State Water Resources Control Board

Criteria:  Sections 2.9 of the Headworks Treatment Plant and Harding Drain Bypass Project Loan
Agreements require the City to file quarterly project status reports.  The quarterly reports should be
reviewed for accuracy and approved by a second person prior to submission to the State Water Resources
Control Board.

Condition:  We selected two quarterly progress reports for each project for testing to ensure they were
filed timely and agree with the supporting documentation and noted that the financial information
included in the fourth quarter 2013 progress report for the Headworks Treatment Plant project (11-836-
550) did not agree to the supporting documentation.  The total accepted pay requests in the amount of
$15,498,785 included on the report, while the referenced progress payment number 13 was $15,673,713,
a difference of $174,928.

Cause:  City Staff indicated there was an input error on the progress report.

Effect:  Progress reports submitted to the State Water Resources Control Board do not appear to be
reviewed for accuracy and approved by a person other than the preparer.

Recommendation:  Although the quarterly progress reports are not used for grant funding purposes, they
do provide the grantor with the status of the project and should be accurate.  The City should develop
procedures that include the review and approval of the reports to ensure that they are complete and
accurate.

View of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions:

Name of contact person: Stephen Fremming, Associate Civil Engineer, (209) 668-5599 ext. 4417

Corrective action: The referenced report is prepared with the assistance of the City's consulting
engineering firm and reviewed by a City Staff Engineer.  City Staff will be more
diligent in their review of documents prepared by consultants to ensure any
errors are caught and corrected before the report is sent to the State.

2



SECTION III � FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (Continued)
.
Finding: SA2014-002 Subrecipient Monitoring and Audit Finding Compliance

CFDA Number: 14.228
CFDA Title: Community Development Block Grant Program
Name of Federal Agency: Department of Housing and Urban Development

Criteria: 24 CFR 570.501 (b) states "the recipient is responsible for ensuring that CDBG funds are used
in accordance with all program requirements. The use of designated agencies, subrecipients, or
contractors does not relieve the recipient of this responsibility." In addition, regulations at 24 CFR
85.40(a) provide that grantees are responsible for managing the day-to-day operations of subrecipient
activities. Grantees must monitor these activities to ensure compliance with applicable Federal
requirements and achievement of program goals.

Implicit in these regulations is the requirement for recipients to establish the necessary controls to ensure
performance, including adequate policies and procedures for monitoring of subrecipients.

Condition:  We selected three subrecipient files for testing of the City�s monitoring of its subrecipients
and noted the City had performed a site visit for only one.  Monitoring of the other two did not extend
beyond a review of the drawdown requests.  In addition, we noted that the City received a Monitoring
Visitation Letter on September 25, 2014 from the grantor noting findings for the lack of monitoring
subrecipients and the failure to establish written administrative procedures that ensure sufficient oversight
of subrecipient performance.  In the City�s response to the findings they stated that a sub-recipient
monitoring plan would go before City Council by January 27, 2015. However, per conversation with City
Housing staff, a plan will not be ready until June 30, 2015.

Effect:  The City is not in compliance with the subrecipient monitoring requirements of 24 CFR 570.501
(b) and 24 CFR 85.40 (a) and has not established written administrative procedures for subrecipient
monitoring as required by the grantor.

Cause:  The City was not aware of the requirements of 24 CFR 570.501 (b) and 24 CFR 85.40 (a).

Recommendation:  The City should develop written policies and procedures for monitoring
subrecipients, and should implement monitoring of subrecipients as soon as possible.

View of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions:

Name of contact person: Maria Ramos, Community Housing Program Supervisor, (209) 668-5599,
ext. 2236

Corrective action: The monitoring policies and procedures are expected to be completed
prior to the June 2015.  City staff anticipates that this item will go to the
City Council for approval by the first meeting in May 2015.

3



SECTION IV - STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS �
Prepared by Management

Financial Statement Prior Year Findings

There were financial statement findings in the prior year, the current status of which we have
communicated in a separate Memorandum on Internal Control dated March 23, 2015, which is an integral
part of our audits and should be read in conjunction with this report.

Federal Award Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs

Finding: SA2013-01 Timely Report Submission

CFDA Number: 66.458
CFDA Title: Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds
Name of Federal Agency: Environmental Protection Agency
Name of Pass-through Entity: California State Water Resources Control Board

Criteria: Reporting requirements of the grant agreement require the City to submit Federal Disadvantaged
Business Enterprise (DBE) reports semiannually within ten calendar days following April 1 and October 1.

Condition:  The DBE report for the period April 1, 2013 through September 30, 2013 was due within 10
calendar days following October 1st.  The City did not submit the report until October 18, 2013.
Additionally, the report for period ending March 30, 2013 was not submitted as of March 5, 2014.

Effect:  The City is not in compliance with the reporting requirements of the loan agreement.

Cause:  The Grant Manager stated that the City only files the report when asked by the State to file the
report.

Recommendation:  The City should either develop procedures to comply with the reporting
requirements of the loan agreement or obtain documentation from the State that indicates the late filing is
acceptable.

View of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions:

Name of contact person: Stephen Fremming, Associate Civil Engineer, (209) 668-5599 ext. 4417

Current status: Implemented - The engineer in charge of these projects now calendars the
due dates for the reports, allowing him sufficient time to prepare and
submit the report to meet the reporting requirements.

4



SECTION IV - STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (Continued) �
Prepared by Management

Finding: SA2013-02 Timely Report Submission

CFDA Number: 14.239
CFDA Title: Home Investment Partnerships Program
Name of Federal Agency: Department of Housing and Urban Development

Criteria:  Agency Program Requirements stipulate that the HUD 60002, Section 3 Summary Report,
Economic Opportunities for Low and Very Low-Income Persons (OMB No. 2529-0043) should state that
for each grant over $200,000 that involves housing rehabilitation, housing construction, or other public
construction, the prime recipient must submit Form HUD 60002 (24 CFR sections 135.3(a) and 135.90).

Condition:  The City has not completed the annual Section 3 Summary Report for the HOME program
for fiscal year 2012-13 as of March 5, 2014.

Effect:  The City is not in compliance with the reporting requirements of the Agency Program
Requirements.

Cause: Due to the fact that the rehabilitation projects were relatively new and run through the City�s sub-
recipient, Stanislaus County, the City was under the impression that the County was performing the
required reporting.

Recommendation: The City should submit all required reports and look to reconcile with the grantor to
see if any further actions are required for failure to report for the prior periods.

View of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions:

Name of contact person: Maryn Pitt, Assistant to the City Manager for Housing and Economic
Development (209) 668- 5540 ext. 2227

Current status: The 2013-14 report was prepared on a timely basis, but it has not been uploaded
to HUD because the HUD site which accepts the report is currently disabled due
to technical issues.  The report is available in the City's Housing Program
Services office for review awaiting uploading to HUD.

5



CITY OF TURLOCK

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2014

Federal or
Federal Pass-Through

Federal Grantor/ CFDA Identifying Federal
Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures

Department of Housing and Urban Development Direct Programs:

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program
B-11-MC-06-0039
B-12-MC-06-0039

Program expenditures 14.228 $539,860
Subgrants 14.228 75,833
Program income 14.228 260,873

Program Subtotal 876,566

HOME Investment Partnerships Program
M-11-DC-06-0240
M-12-DC-06-0240

Program expenditures 14.239 450,984
Subgrants 14.239 540,479
Program income 14.239 126,432

Program Subtotal 1,117,895

Department of Housing and Urban Development Pass-Through from:
California State University, Fresno Foundation

Smart Valley Places Grant 14.703 SC360080-11-05 41,863

Total Department of Housing and Urban Development 2,036,324

U.S. Department of Justice Direct Programs:
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program 16.738 2012-DJ-BX-110 23,097

Department of Transportation Direct Programs:
Federal Transit Formula Grants 20.507 69080138 405,925

Department of Transportation Pass-Through from:
California Department of Transportation

Highway Planning and Construction (Federal-Aid Highway Program)
Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program (CMAQ) 20.205 CML-5165 1,740,165
Surface Transportation Program (STP) 20.205 RSTP-5165 1,004,767

Program Subtotal 2,744,932

State and Community Highway Safety
Distracted Driver 20.600 2013-DD1320 4,120

Total Department of Transportation 3,154,977

Environmental Protection Agency Pass-Through from:
California State Water Resources Control Board

Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds
Harding Drain Bypass Project Loan 66.458 11-833-550 5,175,758
Headworks Treatment Plant Loan 66.458 11-836-550 761,489

Total Environmental Protection Agency 5,937,247

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards $11,151,645

See Accompanying Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

6



CITY OF TURLOCK

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For The Year Ended June 30, 2014

NOTE 1-REPORTING ENTITY

The Schedule of Expenditure of Federal Awards (the Schedule) includes expenditures of federal awards for
the City of Turlock, California and its component units as disclosed in the notes to the Basic Financial
Statements.

NOTE 2-BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts
and reported in the financial statements, regardless of the measurement focus applied.  All governmental
funds and agency funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. All proprietary
funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Expenditures of Federal Awards reported on
the Schedule are recognized when incurred.

OMB Circular A-133 requires that certain adjustments be made to expenditures recognized when incurred.
The adjustments applicable to the City are summarized below:

Expenditure of Long-Term Debt Proceeds � In this fiscal year, the City received proceeds from long-
term debt funded by the federal government passed through the California State Water Resources
Control Board.  In accordance with OMB Circular A-122, section .20(d) the City included current
year expenditures of such proceeds on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards for program
66.458.

NOTE 3-DIRECT AND INDIRECT (PASS-THROUGH) FEDERAL AWARDS

Federal awards may be granted directly to the City by a federal granting agency or may be granted to other
government agencies which pass-through federal awards to the City.  The Schedule includes both of these
types of Federal award programs when they occur.

NOTE 4 � PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

The prior year Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards included expenditures in excess of eligible
costs for the following projects:

Federal or
Federal Pass-Through

Federal Grantor/ CFDA Identifying Federal
Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures

Department of Housing and Urban Development Pass-Through from:
California Department of Housing and Community Development

Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) 14.264 09-NSP1-6268 $4,829

Department of Transportation Pass-Through from:
California Department of Transportation

Transportation Enhancement Act (TEA) 20.205 RPSTPLE-5165 24,273

This adjustment does not affect the current year Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, and is
being included only as an informational item.

7



This Page Left Intentionally Blank



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR�S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Honorable Members of the City Council
City of Turlock, California

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the basic financial statements of the City of
Turlock as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, and
have issued our report thereon dated March 23, 2015.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered City's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City�s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of City�s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified. However, we identified certain deficiencies that we consider to be material weaknesses and
significant deficiencies.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the City�s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. We identified certain deficiencies in internal control, we consider to be material weaknesses
as listed on the Schedule of Material Weaknesses and Current Year Status of Prior Year Schedule of
Material Weaknesses included as part of our separately issued Memorandum on Internal Control dated
March 23, 2015 which is an integral part of our audits and should be read in conjunction with this report.

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with
governance. We identified certain deficiencies in internal control, we consider to be significant
deficiencies as listed on the Schedule of Significant Deficiencies and Current Year Status of Prior Year
Schedule of Significant Deficiencies included as part of our separately issued Memorandum on Internal
Control dated March 23, 2015 which is an integral part of our audits and should be read in conjunction
with this report.

9



Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The
results of our tests disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported
under Government Auditing Standards and are listed as findings 2014-04 and 2014-05 in our separately
issued Memorandum on Internal Control dated March 23, 2015 which is an integral part of our audits and
should be read in conjunction with this report.

City�s Response to Findings

City�s response to the findings identified in our audit are described in our separately issued Memorandum
on Internal Control dated March 23, 2015 which is an integral part of our audits and should be read in
conjunction with this report.  City�s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City�s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City�s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015

10



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM;

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE;
AND REPORT ON THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF
FEDERAL AWARDS REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133

To the Honorable Members of the City Council
City of Turlock, California

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited City of Turlock's compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in
the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of
the City's major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2014. The City's major federal programs are
identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs.

Management�s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grants applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor�s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City�s major federal programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City�s compliance
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City�s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the
year ended June 30, 2014.

11



Other Matters

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are required to be
reported in accordance with OMB Circular A-133 and which are described in the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs as items SA2014-001 and SA2014-002. Our opinion on each major
federal program is not modified with respect to these matters.

City�s Response to Findings

The City�s response to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit are described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  The City�s response was not subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the
response.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit of
compliance, we considered the City�s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City�s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, we
identified certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance, as described in the accompanying
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as item SA2014-002, that we consider to be a significant
deficiency.

12



The City�s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit are described
in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City�s response was not subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the
response.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
OMB Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by OMB Circular A-133

We have audited the basic financial statements of the City as of and for the year ended June 30, 2014, and
have issued our report thereon dated March 23, 2015, which contained an unmodified opinion on those
financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis as required by OMB Circular A-133 and is not a required part of the
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Pleasant Hill, California
March 23, 2015

13



This Page Left Intentionally Blank











SECTION 2. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 1, is hereby added to read as follows: 
 

Chapter 9-1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Sections: 

Article 1. Establishment of General Provisions 
 

9-1-101 Title of provisions 

9-1-102 Adoption 

9-1-103 Purpose 

9-1-104 Applicability to private and public propert 

9-1-105 Minimum requirement 

 9-1-106 Rules for interpretation of language. 

9-1-107 Applicability and effect of prior permits. 

9-1-108 Conflict with other regulations. 

9-1-109 Relation to private agreements or restrictions. 

9-1-110 Applicability of land use and development regulations. 

9-1-111 Rules for interpretation. 

9-1-112 Application of zoning regulations during local emergency. 

9-1-113 Severability. 

 

Article 2. Establishment of Definitions 
 

9-1-201 Semantic rules of construction. 
 
9-1-202 Definitions. 
 

Article 1. Establishment of General Provisions 
 

9-1-101 Title of provisions. 
This chapter of the Turlock Municipal Code may be known and cited as the “Turlock Zoning 
Regulations” or “Zoning Regulations.” 
 
9-1-102 Adoption. 
There is hereby adopted, as provided herein, Zoning Regulations for the City. The Regulations 
are intended to be a precise and detailed plan for the use of land based on the General Plan of 
the City and to be consistent with the General Plan of the City. 
 
9-1-103 Purpose.  
The purpose of the Zoning Regulations is to promote the public health, safety, comfort, 
convenience, and general welfare of the people of Turlock. Specifically, these Zoning 
Regulations intend to achieve the following purposes: 
 



(a) To implement the policies of the Turlock General Plan; 
 
(b) To advance Turlock’s position as a regional center of commerce, industry and housing; 
 
(c) To promote and provide for the orderly growth and productivity of Turlock’s economy; 
 
(d) To protect agricultural, residential, commercial, industrial, public and institutional areas and 
environmentally sensitive areas from the intrusion of incompatible land uses; 
 
(e) To provide for desirable, appropriately located living areas in a variety of dwelling types and 
at a wide range of population densities, with adequate provisions for sunlight, fresh air, privacy, 
usable open space, and safety; 
 
(f) To encourage the provision of affordable housing, particularly to lower income households; 
 
(g) To achieve excellence in site and building design in all future and existing developments; 
 
(h) To provide adequate off-street parking and loading facilities, and to promote a safe, effective 
traffic circulation system; 
 
(i) To ensure that service demands of new development do not exceed the capacities of existing 
streets, utilities, or public services; 
 
(j) To assure equality among individuals in the use and enjoyment of their property; 
 
(k) To guide and encourage the renewal of areas experiencing blight, deterioration and 
obsolescence, while protecting and preserving Turlock’s cultural heritage; 
 
(l) To stabilize expectations regarding development entitlements and uses, thereby providing a 
basis for rational private and public land use decisions; 
 
(m) To minimize the process necessary to obtain rights to develop and use property; 
 
(n) To provide opportunities for businesses to be located for efficient operation in a mutually 
beneficial relationship to each other and to shared services; 
 
(o) To prevent any substantial risk to public health, safety and welfare from the use of a land or 
location of a building, or to be a nuisance to or adversely affect adjacent properties or uses. 
 
9-1-104 Applicability to private and public property. 
Zoning Regulations shall apply to all land within the City of Turlock, including land owned by the 
City of Turlock and other local, state, or federal agencies, where applicable. Application of 
regulations to specific lots shall be governed by the zoning map. 
 
9-1-105 Minimum requirements. 
The Zoning Regulations shall be deemed the minimum requirements to promote and preserve 
the public health, safety, and general welfare of the people, unless otherwise noted. 
 
9-1-106 Rules for interpretation of language. 
The following rules of construction shall apply: 
 



(a) Unless the context clearly indicates the contrary, the following conjunctions shall be 
interpreted as follows: 
 

(1) “And” indicates that all connected words or provisions shall apply. 
 
(2) “Or” indicates that the connected words or provisions may apply singularly or in any 
combination. 
 
(3) “Either...or” indicates that the connected words or provisions shall apply singly but not in 
combination. 
 
(4) “Shall,” “must” and “will” signify requirements to be met without exception under all 
relevant circumstances. 
 
(5) “Should” signifies the City’s desire and expectation that the principle will be met in most 
cases, but recognizes that some circumstances may make implementation impossible or 
unwise. The applicant may be required to demonstrate to the City the reason for not 
implementing principles with this wording. 
 
(6) “May” signifies that the principle establishes guidance for actions that are at the 
discretion of the applicant or public agency. 
 

(b) In case of conflict between the text and a diagram, the text shall control. 
 
(c) All references to departments, commissions, boards, or other public agencies are to those of 
the City of Turlock, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
(d) All references to public officials are to those of the City of Turlock and include designated 
deputies of such officials, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
(e) All references to days are to calendar days unless otherwise indicated. If a deadline falls on 
a weekend, a holiday, or some other day when Turlock City Hall is not open for normal 
business, it shall be extended to the next full working day. 
 
(f) Article, division and section headings contained herein shall not be deemed to govern, limit, 
modify or in any manner affect the scope, meaning or intent of any section hereof. 
 
(g) The words “activities” and “facilities” include any part thereof. 
 
9-1-107 Applicability and effect of prior permits. 
(a) The provisions of this  title shall apply to the erection or alteration of any building or 
structure, or to the use of any parcel of land, as of the effective date of the ordinance codified in 
this title and any subsequently adopted ordinance amending this  title, unless a building permit 
has been lawfully issued by the City for the construction of a project. In that case, the project 
may be completed under the provisions of this  title as they existed at the time of issuance of the 
building permit; provided, that construction under the permit commences within the time 
frame(s) specified in TMC 9-5-106 and the permit remains effective and valid under the terms of 
issuance. For the purpose of this subsection, a foundation permit shall be treated as equivalent 
to a building permit but a grading, demolition, electrical, mechanical or plumbing permit shall not 
be considered or treated as a building permit. 
 



(b) No official or employee of the city authorized to issue permits or licenses shall issue such 
permits or licenses which are not in conformity with the provisions of this  title where such 
conformity is required by law. Any permit or license issued in conflict with the provisions of this 
chapter shall be null and void. 
 
(c) Whenever any building or sign permit, conditional use permit, variance, minor administrative 
permit, minor discretionary permit or other such permit approval has been issued prior to the 
effective date of the Zoning Regulations or any amendment thereto and the uses or 
improvements for which the permit was issued would not conform to the regulations or 
amendments, the uses or improvements may, nevertheless, be utilized or developed to the 
extent authorized by the issued permit, provided the permit has not expired under the terms of 
its issuance. The uses and improvements shall be deemed legally nonconforming and shall be 
subject to the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 2 of this  title governing nonconformities. 
 
9-1-108 Conflict with other regulations. 
Where conflict occurs between the provisions of this title and any other City Codes, ordinances, 
resolutions, guidelines, or regulations, the more restrictive provision shall apply unless 
otherwise specified. 
 
9-1-109 Relation to private agreements or restrictions. 
This chapter shall not be construed to imply that the City enforces, regulates, interferes with or 
annuls any easement, covenant, deed restriction, or other agreement between parties except in 
those instances where the City is a party to the agreement. 
 
9-1-110 Applicability of land use and development regulations. 
(a) Zoning designation system. The districts set forth in this  title and the boundaries of such 
districts are shown upon the map adopted by the council, such map being designated as the 
“Zoning Map.” Such map is made a part of this  title by reference as if the information set forth 
thereon were fully described in this  title. The Council may from time to time republish all or any 
part of the zoning map to incorporate amendments thereto. Land use and development 
regulations applicable to specific sites, shown on the zoning map by zoning designation, shall 
consist of classes of letters and/or numerical designators as follows: 
 

(1) A base land use designator indicating the principal land uses permitted or conditionally 
permitted in each district, shall be a component of all zoning designations. In mixed-use 
districts where a conflict arises between standards of more than one district, the 
Development Services Director shall determine which standards apply. 
 
(2) Overlay district designators shall be included in a zoning designation if the provisions of 
one or more overlay districts are applicable to a site. When a conflict arises between overlay 
district standards and base district standards, the overlay district standards shall apply. 
 

(b) Establishment of land use development standards. The Zoning Regulations shall set 
forth development standards for each zone district including, but not limited to, controlling the 
uses of land, the density of population, the uses and locations of structures, the height and bulk 
of structures, the open spaces about structures, the external appearance of certain uses and 
structures, the areas and dimensions of sites, and requiring the provisions of off street parking, 
off street loading facilities and landscaping. 
 
(c) Use of property and land in established districts. Except as otherwise provided in this 
chapter: 



 
(1) Land, structures, and premises in any district shall be used only for the purposes set 
forth as permitted in that district, in accordance with the regulations established by the 
provisions of this title for that district, and in accordance with the conditions and 
requirements which may have been established for that district in connection with the 
authorization of any variance or the granting of any permit. 
 
(2) No structure shall be erected, reconstructed, relocated, or structurally altered to have a 
greater height, bulk or a higher proportion of parcel coverage than is permissible under the 
limitations set for the district in which the building is located. If the building is already greater 
than the maximum permitted, it shall not be further increased. 
 
(3) Open space, off-street parking space, or loading space shall be provided in accordance 
with the regulations, conditions and requirements established for that district. 
 

9-1-111 Rules for interpretation. 
(a) Zoning regulations. Where uncertainty exists regarding the interpretation of any provisions 
of this title or its application to a specific site, the Community Development Director shall 
determine the intent of the provision. 
 
(b) Zoning map. Where uncertainty exists regarding the boundary of a zoning district, the 
following rules shall apply: 
 

(1) Where boundaries are indicated as following streets or other rights-of-way, the center 
lines of such streets or rights-of-way shall be construed to be such boundaries. 
 
(2) Where boundaries are indicated as approximately following parcel lines, such parcel 
lines shall be construed to be such boundaries. 
 
(3) In the event uncertainty exists or in the case where a district boundary divides a parcel, 
the Planning Commission, upon a written application or upon its own motion, shall 
determine the exact location of such boundaries. 
 

(c) Record of interpretation. The Community Development Director shall keep a record of 
interpretations made pursuant to this title which shall be made available to the public for review. 
 
(d) Appeals. An interpretation of the zoning regulations or zoning map by the Community 
Development Director may be appealed to the Planning Commission. 
 
9-1-112 Application of zoning regulations during local emergency. 
The Turlock City Council may authorize deviations from any provision of this title during a 
proclaimed local emergency in accordance with Title 4 of the Turlock Municipal Code. 
 
9-1-113 Severability. 
If any section, subsection, sentence, or phrase of this title is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining portions of this title shall not 
be affected. It is expressly declared that this title and each section, subsection, sentence, and 
phrase would have been adopted regardless of the fact that one or more other portions of this 
title would be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 

Article 2. Establishment of Definitions 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock04/Turlock04.html#4


 
9-1-201 Semantic rules of construction. 
For the purposes of this title, the following rules shall apply unless inconsistent with the plain 
meaning in the context of the provisions of this title. 
 
(a) Words used in the present tense include the future tense. 
 
(b) Words used in the singular include the plural, and words used in the plural include the 
singular. 
 
(c) The word “used” includes the words “arranged for, designed for, occupied, or intended to be 
occupied for.” 
 
Where a definition is not given or where a question of interpretation is raised, the definition shall 
be the common usage of the word within the context of its use, or as clarified by the Planning 
Commission. 
 
9-1-202 Definitions. 
“Abandoned” shall mean to cease or suspend from developing or maintaining a building or use 
for a stated period of time. 
 
“Abandoned activity” shall mean a business or activity with no reported sales or activity for a 
period of at least one-hundred eighty (180) days. Exceptions are temporary closures for repairs, 
alterations or other similar situations. 
 
“Abut” or “adjoin” shall mean two (2) or more parcels sharing a common boundary of at least 
one (1) point. 
 
“Access” or “access way” shall mean the place, means or way by which pedestrians and 
vehicles shall have safe, adequate and usable ingress and egress to a property or use. 
 
“Accessory buildings and uses” shall mean buildings and uses, both permanent and 
temporary, which are: 
 
(a) Subordinate to and serve a principal building or principal use; 
 
(b) Subordinate in area, extent, or purpose to the principal building or principal use; 
 
(c) Contribute to the comfort, convenience, or necessity of occupants of the principal building or 
principal use; 
 
(d) Located on the same lot as the principal building or use; and 
 
(e) Accessory uses in commercial and industrial businesses shall be limited to twenty (20%) 
percent of the total floor area. 



 
“Acreage, gross” shall mean the entire area of a site calculated to the centerline of planned 
bounding streets and to the edge of the right-of-way of existing or dedicated streets. 
 

 
“Acreage, net” shall mean the area of a parcel of land measured to the property lines less 
streets and/or alleys or those areas proposed or required to be dedicated as streets and/or 
alleys. 
 
“Action” shall mean the decision made by the review authority on a land use application, 
including applicable findings, environmental determination and conditions of approval. 
 
“Adjacent” shall mean situated “next to” and shall include both abutting property and real 
property located across alleys, streets or other public right-of-way. 
 
“Adult use” shall mean a business or location where the main emphasis is on the sale or 
promotion of sexually explicit materials or activities. See TMC 9-2-102, Adult entertainment 
facilities, for further definitions and reference. 
 
“Affordable housing” shall mean housing for which the housing payment is not more than 
thirty (30%) percent of household gross income for a specified housing group. 
 
“Agent of owner” shall mean a person authorized to act for the property owner. 

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-102


 
“Agriculture” or “agricultural use” shall include a range of activities involved in the 
production of food such as the tilling of the soil, the raising of crops, horticulture, viticulture, 
dairying and livestock farming, including all uses customarily incidental thereto; but excluding 
slaughter houses, fertilizer yards, transport businesses for agricultural hauling, bone yards or 
rendering plants for the reduction of animal matter, the cultivation of marijuana, or any other 
industrial use which is similarly objectionable because of noise, odor, smoke, dust, or fumes.  
 
“Airports and landing strips” shall mean runways and related facilities for aircraft, including 
rotary-winged and ultra-light aircraft, take-off and landing. 
 
“Alley” shall mean a public or private right-of-way permanently reserved primarily for vehicular 
service access to the rear or sides of properties otherwise abutting on a street and affording 
only secondary means of access to abutting property. 
 
“Alteration” shall mean any change, addition, or modification in construction or occupancy of 
an existing structure. 
 
“Amendment” shall mean a change in the wording, context or substance of any provision in 
TMC Title 9; or an addition, deletion, or a change in the zone boundaries or classification upon 
the Zoning Map. 
 
Amusement center or arcade. See TMC 4-11-101 et seq. 

 
“Animal boarding” shall mean the provision of shelter and care for small animals on a 
commercial basis. This classification includes activities such as feeding, exercising, grooming, 
and incidental medical care. 

 
“Animal grooming” shall mean the provision of bathing and trimming services for small 
animals on a commercial basis during regular business hours. 

 
“Animal hospitals” shall mean establishments where small animals receive medical and 
surgical treatment. This classification includes only facilities that are entirely enclosed, 
soundproofed, and air conditioned. Grooming and temporary (thirty (30) days or less) boarding 
of animals is included if incidental to the hospital use. 

 
“Animals, retail sales” shall mean retail sales and boarding of small animals, provided such 
activities take place within an entirely enclosed building. This classification includes grooming if 
incidental to the retail use. 
 
“Annexation” shall mean the process of adding territory to the incorporated area of the City 
and simultaneously detaching said territory from Stanislaus County and certain service districts. 
 
“Antenna” shall mean a device for transmitting or receiving radio, television, or any other 
transmitted signal. 
 
“Antique store” shall mean a business whose primary purpose is the sale of objects having 
special value because of their age, especially a domestic item or piece of furniture or handicraft 
esteemed for its artistry, beauty, or period of origin. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock04/Turlock0411.html#4-11-101


“Apartment” shall mean a room or group of rooms in a building rented or leased to a tenant 
and constituting five (5) or more dwelling units. For the purpose of this definition, “building” shall 
mean one (1) or more buildings on one (1) or more contiguous lots or parcels under common 
ownership, and the total contiguous number of dwelling units in all of such buildings shall be 
used to determine the number of dwelling units subject to the requirements of TMC Title 9. (See 
also “dwelling unit, multi-family.”) 
 
“Artist studio” shall mean a place where fine art is created and occasionally displayed, and 
affords the artists a live-work opportunity typically in the downtown area. “Fine art” is art 
concerned with the creation of beautiful objects such as painting and sculpture. 
 
“Attached” shall mean the physical connection of two (2) structures as defined by the 
California Building Code. A building or structure shall be defined as “attached” when there is 
less than six (6’) feet between that building or structure and any other building on the same 
property. 
 
“Auto repair, major” shall mean a place providing a full range of vehicle repair and 
maintenance services which include outside storage, the use of hazardous liquids, open flame 
or welding operations. Hazardous liquids include Class I, II or III-A liquids as defined by the 
California Building Code. 
 
“Auto repair, minor” shall mean a place providing vehicle repair and maintenance limited to 
exchange of parts and maintenance which does not include the activities as defined under “Auto 
repair, major.” Any activity combining minor and major automobile repair shall be defined as 
major automobile repair. 
 
“Auto sales and service” shall mean sale and rental of automobiles, motorcycles, trucks and 
recreational vehicles, including storage and incidental maintenance. 
 
“Automobile service station” shall mean an area which provides for the servicing or fueling of 
motor vehicles, including tube and tire repairs, battery charging, storage of merchandise and 
supplies related to the servicing of motor vehicles, sale of gasoline and other fuel and lubricants, 
motor vehicle washing, grease racks, and motor vehicle repairs, excluding major auto repair and 
other similar activities. This definition includes a convenience gas mart with two (2) or more 
service islands. 
 
“Automobile storage” shall mean lots for the storage of parking tow-away, impound yards, 
and storage lots for automobiles, light duty trucks, buses, and recreational vehicles, but 
excluding commercial vehicles. 
 
“Automobile washing” shall mean washing, waxing, detailing, or cleaning of automobiles or 
similar light vehicles including the use of mechanical automobile washers. 
 
“Awning” shall mean a roof-like cover that is attached to and projects from the wall of a 
building for the purpose of shielding from the elements. 
 
“Balcony” shall mean an open area located either recessed or projected out from the walls of a 
building. Balconies are thirty (30") inches or more above grade and are open to one (1) or more 
sides except for a railing or parapet not more than forty-two (42") inches high. An exterior 
corridor is not a balcony. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9


“Bar” shall mean any premises wherein alcoholic beverages are sold at retail for consumption 
on the premises and where minors are excluded therefrom by law. A bar shall include any 
premises wherein food products, including salads, sandwiches, desserts, and similar short order 
items and snacks, are sold or served incidentally to the sale or service of alcoholic beverages. It 
shall not mean a bona fide “restaurant” wherein alcoholic beverages are sold incidentally to the 
public in conjunction with the sale of food for consumption on the premises. 
 
“Basement” shall mean that portion of a building that is partly or completely below grade. A 
basement shall be counted as a story for purposes of height measurement where any portion of 
a basement has more than one-half (1/2) of its height above grade. 
 
“Berm” shall mean a mound or embankment of earth. 
 
“Block” shall mean a section of land surrounded by public streets, highways, freeways, railroad 
rights-of-way, flood control channels, creeks, washes, rivers or unsubdivided acreage or any 
combination thereof. 
 
“Block face” shall mean the properties abutting on one (1) side of a street and lying between 
the two (2) nearest intersecting streets, or nearest intersecting or intercepting street and railroad 
right-of-way, unsubdivided land or City boundary. 

 
“Buffer area” shall mean a landscaped area intended to separate and partially obstruct the 
view of two (2) adjacent land uses or properties from one another. 

 
“Building” shall mean any structure used or intended for supporting or sheltering any use. 
 



Building, accessory. See “Accessory building.” 
 
“Building and Safety Division” shall mean that agency or department designated by the City 
to process building permits and the related plan check/inspection services. 
 
Building coverage. See “Lot coverage.” 
 
“Building height” shall mean the vertical distance from the finished grade to the highest point 
of the building as measured to the rooftop for flat roofs; to the deck line for mansard roofs; and 
to the top ridge line for gable, hip, and gambrel roofs, exclusive of chimneys and ventilators. 
 

“Building materials & services” shall mean a commercial use that provides materials, such as 
concrete, lumber, stone, sand, clay, insulation, plumbing and the like, which are used for 
construction purposes. 
 
“Building, principal” shall mean a building in which the primary use of the lot on which the 
building is located is conducted. 
 
“Cargo container” shall mean a pre-manufactured metal shipping container or standardized, 
reusable vessel, designed without axle or wheels, that was originally designed and fabricated 
for, or used in, the packing, shipping, movement or transport of freight, articles, goods, or 
commodities from one location to another and that is delivered to a site as a fully assembled 
unit. The term "cargo container" shall not include a storage shed that is assembled at the site or 
a trailer with wheels used in the transport of freight. This term shall only apply to those 
containers that are accessory to the primary use of the property for the storage of directly 
related nonflammable, noncombustible, nonhazardous materials and supplies. If the container is 
proposed to be stored on the site for resale or rental, or to be used as a building material in the 
construction of a building or structure, the district regulations applicable to those uses shall 
apply. 
 
“Catering services” shall mean a business establishment cooking and delivering food to an 
outside location such as a hotel, banquets, weddings, conventions and the like.  This does not 
include mobile food vendors. 
 



“Clubs and lodges” shall mean meeting, recreational, or social facilities of a private or 
nonprofit organization primarily for use by members or guests. This classification includes union 
halls, social clubs and youth centers. 
 
“Commercial recreation and entertainment” shall include theaters, sports stadiums and 
arenas, amusement parks, bowling alleys, billiard parlors, ice/roller skating rinks, miniature golf 
courses, golf driving ranges, model courses, shooting galleries, pinball arcades or electronic 
game centers having two (2) or more coin-operated game machines, card rooms, and facilities 
used exclusively for bingo games. Commercial recreation and entertainment does not include 
adult entertainment facilities. 
 
“Commissary” shall mean a food facility that services mobile food facilities, mobile support 
units, or vending machines where all of the following occur: (a) food, containers, or supplies are 
stored; (b) food is prepared or prepackaged for sale or service at other locations; (c) utensils are 
cleaned; (d) liquid and solid wastes are disposed, or potable water is obtained, pursuant to 
California Health and Safety Code Section 113751. 

 
“Community garden” shall mean a site where any kind of plant, except marijuana, is grown, 
and several individuals or households cultivate the site. Community gardens typically provide a 
service to gardeners that do not live in the immediate neighborhood resulting in the generation 
of vehicular traffic that is not normally associated with residential uses. The site may be divided 
into individual allotments, or gardeners may work together to cultivate the entire property. The 
land may be publicly or privately owned. The plants are grown for personal use by the 
gardeners, or for donation. No on-site sales or distribution to the public are permitted. 
 
“Conditional use” shall mean uses which may be allowed subject to specific findings, 
conditions and approval of a conditional use permit by the Planning Commission. 
 
“Condominium” shall mean a development consisting of an undivided interest in common for a 
portion of a parcel coupled with a separate interest in airspace in a residential building on a 
parcel. 
 
“Condominium, commercial” shall mean individually owned unit in a building or development 
with commercial occupants. Each unit may be financed or sold separately by the owner, but the 
care and expense of maintaining common areas are shared. 
 
“Construction, commencement of” shall mean construction shall be determined to start when 
all of the following have been completed by the developer: 
 
(a) Filing of full sets of building plans with the Building Inspector and issuance of a building 
permit including electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits. 
 
(b) Performance of all conditions of approval specifying “prior to the issuance of a building 
permit” as found in any applicable approval statements and/or resolutions adopted by the City 
Council, Planning Commission, or Development Services Director. 
 
(c) Payment of all required fees, including building permit fees, and the posting and acceptance 
of all public improvement securities, if applicable. 
 
(d) Compliance with environmental review procedures of the City. 
 



“Construction, completion of” shall mean construction shall be complete when the final 
required building inspection has been completed and/or a “certificate of occupancy” (as defined 
by the  California Building Code) is issued by the Building Inspector. 
 
“Convalescent hospital” shall mean a facility providing long-term nursing, dietary and other 
medical services to convalescents or invalids but not providing surgery or primary treatment 
such as are customarily provided in a hospital. “Convalescent hospital” includes nursing home 
and rest home, but does not include general or specialized hospital or residential care facility. 
 
“Convenience gas mart” shall mean a retail establishment offering for sale prepackaged food 
products, household items, and other goods commonly associated with the same. Activities may 
include the sale and/or dispensing of gasoline and other petroleum products. 
 
“Conversion” shall mean changing the original purpose of a building to a different use. 
 
“Crop production” shall mean the growing of fruit and nut trees, vine crops, and horticultural 
stock for production of food or fiber for human consumption, excluding marijuana, and shall not 
include the on-site sale or public distribution of such goods. Agricultural operations shall be 
conducted under the direction of the property owner. The vehicular traffic associated with crop 
production shall not exceed levels normally associated with residential uses. 
 
“Cultural institutions” shall mean institutions displaying, preserving or demonstrating 
intellectual and artistic objects or activities. This classification generally includes libraries, 
museums, and art galleries where displayed objects are not intended for sale. 
 
“Dance studio” shall mean an indoor facility where students are taught various forms of dance. 
 
“Day care center” shall mean any child day care facility, as defined in Section 1596.76 of the 
California Health and Safety Code, other than a family day care home, and includes infant 
centers, preschools, extended day care facilities, and school-age child care centers. 
 
(a) “Child day care facility” shall mean a facility, as defined in Section 1596.750 of the 
California Health and Safety Code, that provides nonmedical care to children under eighteen 
(18) years of age in need of personal services, supervision, or assistance essential for 
sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individual on less than a 24-
hour basis. “Child day care facility” includes day care centers, employer-sponsored child care 
centers, and family day care homes. 
 
(b) “Large family day care” shall mean a home, as defined in Section 1596.78(b) of the 
California Health and Safety Code, that provides family day care for seven (7) to fourteen (14) 
children for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours per day, inclusive, including children 
under the age of ten (10) years who reside at the home, as set forth in Section 1597.465 of the 
California Health and Safety Code and as defined in State regulations. 
 
(c) “Small family day care” shall mean a home, as defined in Section 1596.78(c) of the 
California Health and Safety Code, that provides family day care for eight (8) or fewer children 
for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours per day, including children under the age of ten 
(10) years who reside at the home as set forth in Section 1597.44 of the California Health and 
Safety Code and as defined in State regulations. 
 



“Deck” shall mean a platform less than thirty (30") inches above the grade, either freestanding 
or attached to a building. 
 
“Density” shall mean the ratio between dwelling units and land, expressed as the number of 
dwelling units per gross acre, or as square feet of land required per dwelling unit. 
 
“Density bonus” shall mean an increase of dwelling units over the otherwise maximum 
allowable residential density. 
 
“Density, gross” shall mean the number of dwelling units per acre of developable residential 
land including public and private streets, but excluding greenways and easements for drainage 
or power transmission lines. 
 
“Density, net” shall mean the number of dwelling units per acre of developable residential land 
exclusive of public and private streets, greenways, drainage, power-transmission line 
easements, or other public and/or semipublic uses. 
 
“Development” shall mean: 
 
(a) The division of a parcel of land into two (2) or more parcels; 
 
(b) The construction, reconstruction, conversion, structural alteration, relocation or enlargement 
of any structure, including any facility of any private, public, or municipal utility; 
 
(c) Any mining, excavation, landfill, or land disturbance; 
 
(d) Any use or extension of the use of land; 
 
(e) Any subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act; and 
 
(f) Any other division of land, including lot splits, except where the land division is brought about 
in connection with the purchase of the land by a public agency for public recreational use. 
 
“Development agreement” shall mean an agreement entered into between the City of Turlock 
and a contracting party which relates to a specific real property, subject to the terms of the 
agreement, pursuant to the provisions of this chapter and Article 2.5, Chapter 4, Division 1 of 
Title 7 of the California Government Code. 
 
“Development Services Director” shall mean the Director of the Development Services 
Department of the City of Turlock, or designee. “Development Services Director” shall also 
include the term “Director.” 
 
“Director” shall mean the City of Turlock Development Services Department Director or 
designee. 
 
“Discount club” shall mean a discount store or warehouse where shoppers pay a membership 
fee in order to take advantage of discounted prices on a wide variety of items such as food, 
clothing, tires, and appliances; many items are sold in large quantities or bulk. 
 
“Discount store” shall mean stores with off-street parking that usually offer a variety of 
customer services, centralized cashing, and a wide range of products. They usually maintain 



long store hours seven (7) days a week. The stores are often the only ones on the site, but they 
can also be found in mutual operation with a related or unrelated garden center or service 
station. Discount stores are also sometimes found as separate parcels within a retail complex 
with their own dedicated parking. 
 
“Discount superstore” shall mean a store that is similar to a “discount store” described above, 
with the exception that they also contain a full service grocery department under the same roof 
that shares entrances and exits with the discount store area. Such retail stores exceed one 
hundred thousand (100,000) square feet of gross floor area and devote at least five (5%) 
percent of the total sales floor area to the sale of nontaxable merchandise. “Sales floor area” 
means only interior building space devoted to the sale of merchandise, and does not include 
restrooms, office space, storage space, automobile service areas, or open-air garden sales 
space. “Nontaxable merchandise” means products, commodities, or items the sale of which is 
not subject to California State sales tax. These stores usually offer a variety of customer 
services, centralized cashing, and a wide range of products. They usually maintain long store 
hours seven (7) days a week. The stores are often the only ones on the site, but they can also 
be found in mutual operation with a related or unrelated garden center or service station. 
Discount superstores are also sometimes found as separate parcels within a retail complex with 
their own dedicated parking. 
 
“Distance between structures” shall mean the minimum distance measured between two (2) 
structures. 
 
“Drive-in facility” shall mean any place or premises designed or used for the sale, dispensing 
or serving of food, refreshments, money, gasoline, or other goods and services to customers 
while sitting in their vehicles. Vehicles are parked in individual parking stalls while awaiting 
service. 
 
“Drive-through facility” shall mean any place or premise designed or used for the sale, 
dispensing or serving of food, pharmaceuticals, and other goods and services to customers 
while sitting in their vehicles at a drive-up window. Vehicles typically queue in a drive-through 
lane while awaiting service at a drive-up window. 
 
“Driveway” shall mean a private roadway for the exclusive use of the occupants of a property 
and their guests which provides vehicular access from a public street to required off-street 
parking spaces, garages, or recreational vehicle storage. 
 
Dwelling. 
 
(a) “Multi-family” shall mean a residential building containing two (2) or more dwelling units on 
one (1) lot. Multifamily dwellings shall include dwellings that are constructed for the purposes of 
providing supportive and transitional housing. 
 

(b) “Second” shall mean an additional dwelling unit located on a lot zoned for single- or multi-
family residential uses having sleeping, kitchen and sanitation facilities and being attached to or 

detached from an existing single-family dwelling located on the same lot. The definition of a 
“kitchen” is described in this section. (See also TMC 9-2-119, Second dwelling units.) 
 
(c) “Single-family” shall mean a residential building containing one (1) dwelling unit on one (1) 
lot. All rooms within the single-family attached dwelling shall be interconnected. “Single-family 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-119


dwelling” shall include a dwelling that is constructed for the purposes of providing supportive 
and transitional housing. 
 
“Dwelling unit” shall mean one (1) or more rooms, including bathroom(s) and a kitchen, 
designed for or used by one (1) family for living or sleeping purposes. The defining feature of a 
“kitchen” is the presence of a major cooking appliance such as a cook top and/or oven intended 
for the preparation of food for one (1) family. Other features typically found in a kitchen are a 
sink and counter space large enough for food preparation and cleaning, refrigeration facilities, 
and storage area. 
 
“Easement” shall mean a grant of one (1) or more property rights by the property owner for use 
by the public, a corporation or another person or entity. 
 
“Emergency services provider” shall mean a public or private agency which provides fire, 
ambulance, police or similar emergency  services for the protection of life or property. 
 
“Emergency shelter” shall mean housing with minimal supportive services for homeless 
persons that is limited to occupancy of six (6) months or less by a homeless person. No 
individual or household may be denied emergency shelter because of an inability to pay. 
 
“Employee housing” shall be as defined in Section 17008 of the California Health and Safety 
Code and shall include farm worker housing. In nonagricultural residential zones, 
accommodations for six (6) or fewer employees shall be deemed a single-family structure 
pursuant to Section 17021.5 of the California Health and Safety Code. In agricultural zones, 
accommodations of no more than thirty-six (36) beds in a group quarters or twelve (12) units or 
spaces designed for use by a single family or households shall be deemed a permitted 
agricultural land use pursuant to Section 17021.6 of the California Health and Safety Code. 
 
“Entertainment, live” shall mean a musical, theater, dance, cabaret, or comedy act performed 
by one (1) or more persons. Any form of dancing by patrons or guests at a restaurant or bar is 
live entertainment. 
 
“Equipment sales, services and rentals” shall mean sales, services and rental of 
construction or agricultural equipment. 
 
“Family” shall be defined by the maximum number of individuals permitted in a given 
residential space per the standards of the Uniform Housing Code and/or the California Building 
Code as applicable. 
 
“Fence” shall mean an artificially constructed barrier of any material or combination of materials 
erected to enclose or screen areas of land. 
 
“Financial services” shall mean walk-in and drive-through banking facilities that conduct 
financial transactions for walk-in customers as well as motorists conducting transactions from 
their vehicle.  Banking facilities may or may not have drive-up lanes with or without automatic 
teller machines (ATMs). 
 
“Floor area, gross” shall mean the total enclosed floor area of all stories of a building, 
measured to the outside structural members and exterior walls, including halls, stairways, 
basements, service and mechanical equipment rooms, mezzanines, interior balconies, attached 
garages, and other similar spaces. 



 
“Floor area, net” shall mean the total enclosed floor area of all stories of a building, excluding 
corridors, hall, stairways, mezzanines, interior balconies, elevators, restrooms, closets, vaults, 
garages, and other similar space used by all occupants of a building rather than by an individual 
occupant. 
 
“Floor area ratio (FAR)” shall mean the area resulting from dividing the gross floor area of all 
buildings on one (1) lot by the gross land area of that lot. 
 
“Food and beverage sales” shall mean the retail sales of food and beverages for off-site 
preparation and consumption. Typical uses include grocery stores, liquor stores and 
delicatessens. Establishments at which twenty (20%) percent or more of the transactions are 
sales of prepared food for on-site or take-out consumption shall be classified as catering 
services or restaurants. 
 
“Friable” shall mean the addition of soil amendments and returning the soil to an easily 
crumbled or loosely compacted condition whereby the root structure of newly planted 
landscaping material will be allowed to spread unimpeded. 
 
“Frontage” shall mean the property line, or lines, of a building site which abut a local street. 
(See also “Lot line, front.”) 
 
“Garage” shall mean an accessory building, or portion of a building, used for the parking or 
temporary storage of automobiles or motorcycles for the occupants of the premises. A garage 
(except an off-street parking structure) shall be enclosed on all sides and possess a fully closing 
door at the point of vehicular access. 
 
“General Plan” shall mean the Turlock General Plan and all elements thereof. 
 
“Grade” shall mean the average of the finished ground level at the center of all walls of a 
building. In case walls are parallel to and within five (5') feet of a sidewalk, the ground level shall 
be measured at the sidewalk. For fences, the grade shall be determined by the finished ground 
level of the primary building(s) on the property and may be the higher of the two adjoining 
properties.  
 
“Group quarters” shall mean shared living quarters without separate kitchen or bathroom 
facilities for each room or unit. This classification includes boardinghouses, dormitories, 
fraternities, sororities, employee housing, and private residential clubs. Group quarters are not 
the same as group homes. 
 
(a) “Large” shall mean the provision of shared living quarters for seven (7) to twelve (12) 
people. 
 
(b) “Small” shall mean the provision of shared living quarters for six (6) or less people. 
 
“Guest house” shall mean living quarters within an accessory building on a residential lot for 
use by temporary guests of the occupants of the premises. It shall have no kitchen or cooking 
facilities and shall not be rented or otherwise used as a separate independent dwelling. 
 
“Health/recreation facility” shall mean an indoor facility including such uses as a gymnasium, 
game courts, exercise equipment and classes, locker rooms, pool, jacuzzi and/or spa, and pro 



shop.  Exercise / fitness studios such as yoga studios, pilates studios, martial arts studios and 
the like are also included. 
 
“Home occupation” shall mean any occupation, profession, activity, or use conducted entirely 
within a dwelling, accessory building or swimming pool, and carried on by the inhabitants 
thereof, which use is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the dwelling for residential 
purposes, and does not change the character thereof or adversely affect the uses permitted in 
the residential zone district of which it is part. 
 
“Hospital” shall mean an institution providing health services primarily for human in-patient 
medical or surgical care for the sick or injured and includes related facilities such as 
laboratories, out-patient surgical centers and departments, training facilities, central services 
facilities, and administrative offices that are an integral part of the hospital facility. 
 
“Hotel” shall mean a commercial land use providing shelter on a short-term basis in a building 
or portion thereof in which access is provided through a common entrance, lobby or hallway and 
which contains six (6) or more guest rooms. 
 
“Housing for the elderly” shall mean a building or group of buildings containing dwellings 
where the occupancy of the dwellings is restricted to persons sixty (60) years of age or older or 
couples where either the husband or wife is sixty (60) years of age or older. This does not 
include a development that contains convalescent or nursing facilities. 
 
Industry. 
 
(a) General. The manufacturing of products, primarily from extracted or raw materials, or bulk 
storage and handling of such products and materials. Uses in this classification typically involve 
a high incidence of truck or rail traffic, and/or outdoor storage of products, materials, equipment, 
or bulk fuel. This classification includes food processing and packaging, unlimited laundries, 
auto dismantling, stonework and concrete products manufacturing and power generation. 
General industry does not include the term “chemical manufacturing/processing.” 
 
(b) Limited. Manufacturing of finished parts or products from previously prepared materials, 
warehousing, distribution, wholesaling, shipping and cooling within an enclosed building. This 
classification includes processing, fabrication, assembly, treatment, and packaging, but 
excludes basic industrial processing from raw materials or food processing. 
 
“Itinerant vendor” shall mean any person who has no established place of business within the 
boundaries of the City of Turlock and who is engaged in transient business traveling from place 
to place for the purpose of selling any goods, wares, merchandise or services or for the purpose 
of taking orders for the sale of any goods, wares, merchandise or services to be delivered or 
performed at some future time and date. See TMC 5-17-02, itinerant vendors, for further 
reference. 
 
“Junk yard” or “salvage yard” shall mean a site or portion of a site on which waste, discarded 
or salvaged materials are bought, sold, exchanged, stored, baled, cleaned, packed, 
disassembled or handled, excepting a “vehicle dismantling and wrecking establishment” as 
defined in this section. 
 
“Kennel” shall mean a place where four (4) or more dogs of five (5) months of age or older, or 
four (4) or more cats of four (4) months of age or older, are kept. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock0517.html#5-17-02


 
“Landscaping” shall mean an area devoted to, or developed and maintained with, native or 
exotic plantings, lawn, ground cover, gardens, trees, shrubs, and other plant materials, 
decorative treatments such as outdoor landscape surfaces of rock, stone, brick, block, or similar 
decorative material (excluding driveways, parking, loading or storage areas), and sculpture 
elements. Plants on rooftops, porches, or in boxes attached to buildings are not considered 
landscaping. 
 
Laundries. 
 
(a) “Limited” shall mean an establishment to dry clean and/or wash and dry clothes and other 
fabrics brought in and carried away by the customer. This may include self-service or coin-
operated facilities. 
 
(b) “Unlimited” shall mean an establishment where larger quantities of clothes and other 
fabrics are washed and/or ironed but are collected and delivered primarily by laundry 
employees, including dry cleaning establishments. Unlimited laundry does not include the term 
“limited laundry.” 
 
“Livestock” shall mean animals customarily raised or kept on farms to include horses, cows, 
bulls, calves, oxen, sheep, goats, and other bovine or hoofed animals including pigs, hogs, and 
swine. 
 
“Loading space” shall mean a designated parking area for the loading and unloading of goods 
and materials from a commercial vehicle. See Article 2 of Chapter 9-2 TMC, Off-Street Parking 
and Loading Regulations, for further reference. 
 
“Lot” shall mean a parcel, tract or area of land established by plat, subdivision, or as otherwise 
permitted by law, to be used, developed or built upon. See diagram below. The classification of 
lots are: 
 
(a) “Corner” shall mean a lot located at the intersection of two (2) or more streets. 
 
(b) “Flag” shall mean a lot having access or an easement to a public or private street by a 
narrow, private right-of-way. 
 
(c) “Interior” shall mean a lot abutting only one (1) street. 
 
(d) “Key” shall mean a lot with a side line that abuts the rear line of any one (1) or more 
adjoining lots. 
 
(e) “Reverse corner” shall mean a corner lot, the rear of which abuts the side of another. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2


(f) “Through” shall mean a lot having frontage on two (2) generally parallel streets, with only 
one (1) primary access. 

 
“Lot area” shall mean the horizontal area within the lot lines of a lot. 
 
“Lot coverage” shall mean that portion of a lot occupied by any building or structure, excepting 
uncovered paved areas, walks, and swimming pools or spas. 
 
“Lot depth” shall mean the horizontal distance from the midpoint of the front lot line to the 
midpoint of the rear lot line, or to the most distant point on any other lot line where there is no 
rear lot line. 
 
“Lot frontage” shall mean the portion of the lot contiguous to the street. 
 
“Lot line” shall mean a line dividing one (1) lot from another lot or from a street or alley. The 
classifications of lot lines are: 
 
(a) “Front” shall mean, on an interior lot, the lot line separating the parcel from the street. On a 
through lot, both lot lines abutting a street frontage providing the primary access to the lot are 
considered front lot lines. On a through lot that is also a corner lot, the property owner may 
designate the corner lot line. On a flag lot, the interior lot line most parallel to and nearest the 
street from which access is obtained. On a corner lot, the owner may designate on which street 
the lot fronts so long as the minimum property development standards are met for the zone 
district in which the lot is located. If such designation is made, then that line is the street line 
separating the designated street from the lot. If no such designation is made, the line is the 
street line separating the narrowest street frontage of the lot from the street. Once the choice of 



frontage has been made, it cannot be changed, unless and until all requirements for yard space 
are complied with. 
 
(b) “Interior” shall mean any lot line not abutting a street. 
 
(c) “Rear” shall mean the lot line not intersecting a front lot line that is most distant from and 
most closely parallel to the front lot line. A lot bounded by only three (3) lot lines will not have a 
rear lot line. 
 
(d) “Side” shall mean any lot line not a front or rear lot line.  
 
(e) “Zero” shall mean the location of a building on a lot in such a manner that one (1) or more 
of the building’s sides rests directly upon a lot line. 
 

“Lot width” shall mean the horizontal distance between the side lot lines, measured at right 
angles to the lot depth at a point midway between the front and rear property lines. 
 
Maintenance and repair service. 
 
(a) “Major” shall mean facilities providing equipment maintenance and repair services and 
material storage areas. This classification includes corporation yards, equipment service 
centers, and the like, and excludes maintenance and repair of vehicles. 
 
(b) “Minor” shall mean establishments providing appliance repair, office machine repair, or 
building maintenance services. This classification excludes maintenance and repair of vehicles 
and outside storage. 
 



“Manufactured housing” shall mean single-family detached housing that is built to the 
National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974, and shall 
include structures known as manufactured homes, but which is not constructed with a 
permanent hitch for relocation. A manufactured home shall not be deemed to include a mobile 
home as defined in this section. (See also “Mobile home.”) 
 
“Mini-storage/warehouse facilities” shall mean a building or group of buildings in a 
controlled-access and fenced compound that contains varying sizes of individual, 
compartmentalized, and controlled-access stalls or lockers for the unused storage of goods or 
wares and may include outdoor storage. 
 
“Mixed use” shall mean a building, structure or premises occupied by or used by two (2) or 
more principal types of use, any of which is permitted in a district independent of other uses. 
 
“Mobile food facility” shall mean any vehicle used in conjunction with a commissary or other 
permanent food facility upon which food is sold or distributed at retail pursuant to California 
Health and Safety Code Section 113831 that is permitted pursuant to TMC9-2-124. “Mobile food 
facility” does not include the following: (a) a “street vendor” as defined in Chapter 5-17 TMC; (b) 
an “itinerant vendor” as defined in Chapter 5-17 TMC unless the vendor remains on private 
property for a period of thirty (30) minutes or more during any twenty-four (24) hour period; or 
(c) a “transporter” used to transport packaged food from a food facility, or other approved source 
to the consumer. 
 
“Mobile home” shall mean a transportable, factory-built structure, built upon a chassis for 
future movement and built prior to the Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety 
Standards Act of 1974. The structure must be designed for use as a residential dwelling, with or 
without a permanent foundation, when connected to the required utilities, and intended for 
occupancy by one (1) family. A transportable travel trailer less than thirty-two (32') feet in length 
and less than eight (8') feet in width shall not normally be considered a mobile home. (See also 
“Manufactured housing.”) 
 
“Mobile home development” shall mean an area or tract of land where one (1) or more 
spaces for the occupancy by a mobile home are provided. “Mobile home park” does not include 
recreational vehicle park. 
 
“Motel” shall mean a commercial land use providing shelter, on a short-term basis, in one (1) or 
more buildings on the same lot. The buildings contain guest rooms or dwelling units or both, 
which are usually individually and independently accessible from outside the building. “Motel” 
includes motor lodge, tourist court, motor hotel or any other designation intended to identify the 
premises as providing for rental or overnight accommodation primarily to motorists. 
 
“Museum” shall mean a building, place, or institution devoted to the acquisition, conservation, 
study, exhibition and educational interpretation of objects having scientific, historical, or artistic 
value. 
 
“Neighborhood store” shall mean a local retail establishment selling food products and 
household items which may be located in a residential neighborhood and does not exceed two 
thousand five hundred (2,500) square feet. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-125
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock0517.html#5-17
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock0517.html#5-17


“Nonconforming, illegal” shall mean a structure, lot, or use which did not conform to 
applicable laws when constructed or initiated, and does not conform to the provisions of this 
development Code. 
 
“Nonconforming lot” shall mean a lot that does not meet the area, width or depth standards 
for the district in which the lot is located which lawfully existed prior to the adoption, revision, or 
amendment of this Code, but which fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to 
conform to the use district in which it is located. 
 
“Nonconforming structure” shall mean any building or structure that does not meet the 
limitations on building size, height, and location on a lot, for the district in which such building is 
located, for the use to which such building is being put. (See also Article 4 of Chapter 9-2 TMC, 
nonconforming  structures and uses.) 
 
“Nonconforming use” shall mean a lawful use of land that does not comply with the use 
regulations for its zoning district but which complied with applicable regulations at the time the 
use was established. 
 
“Nuisance” shall mean anything that interferes with the use or enjoyment of property, 
endangers personal health or safety or is offensive to the senses. 
 
“Nursery” shall mean an establishment in which all merchandise other than plants is kept 
within an enclosed building or a fully screened enclosure, and fertilizer of any type is stored and 
sold in package form only. 
 
Office. 
 
(a) “Medical & dental” shall mean a facility where physicians and staff provide diagnostic and 
outpatient care, but does not provide prolonged in-house medical and surgical care.  The facility 
may include, lab facilities, supporting pharmacies, diagnostic and treatment rooms. 
 
(b) “Business & professional” shall mean a place of business where professional and clerical 
activities are performed.  The building may contain a single tenant or multiple tenants. 
 
“Open space, common” shall mean open space within or related to a development, not in 
individually owned lots or dedicated for public use, but which is designed and intended for the 
common use or enjoyment of the residents of the development. 
 
“Open space, usable” shall mean any reasonably accessible portion of a lot, including decks, 
swimming pools, balconies, and the like, which is landscaped and/or developed for recreational 
use or outdoor activities. Usable open space shall not include parking areas, driveways, any 
part of an existing or future road or right-of-way, service areas, and slopes over ten (10%) 
percent, and shall not have any horizontal dimension less than ten (10') feet, except decks or 
balconies, which shall have a minimum dimension of six (6') feet to qualify as usable open 
space. Decks or paved walkways shall not be counted as usable open space where they are 
used principally as a passageway and entrance to a dwelling(s). Where decks are private in 
nature or are for the general use of tenants residing on the property and do not serve as a 
passageway, such decks may be counted as usable open space when otherwise conforming to 
the requirements of this  title. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2


“Outdoor storage” shall mean the keeping, in an unroofed area, of any goods, junk, material, 
merchandise, or vehicles in the same place for more than twenty-four (24) hours. 
 
“Overlay zone” shall mean a set of zoning requirements that is described in the text of the 
zoning regulations of this Code, is mapped and is imposed in addition to those requirements of 
the underlying district. 
 
“Park and recreation facilities” shall mean noncommercial parks, playgrounds, recreation 
facilities, and open spaces. 
 
“Parking, off-street facilities” shall mean a site or a portion of a site devoted to the off-street 
parking of motor vehicles, including parking spaces, aisles, access drives, and landscaped 
areas. 
 
“Parking, off-street loading facilities” shall mean a site or a portion of a site, including 
loading berths, aisles, access drives, and landscaped areas, devoted to the loading or 
unloading of people or materials from motor vehicles or trailers. 
 
“Permitted use” shall mean any use allowed in a land use zoning district and subject to the 
provisions applicable to that district. 
 
“Personal services” shall mean a commercial land use providing recurrently needed services 
of a personal nature. Personal services generally include barber and beauty shops, tanning 
salons, seamstresses, tailors, shoe repair shops, dry cleaning (except bulk processing plants), 
photocopying, postal and mailing service shops, and self-service laundries. 
 
“Plan line” shall mean official established right-of-way lines for future streets or for the 
extension or widening of existing streets within which the construction of structures is generally 
prohibited. 
 
“Planned development” shall mean a type of development characterized by comprehensive 
planning for the project as a whole, clustering of structures to preserve usable open space and 
other natural features, and a mixture of housing types within prescribed densities. 
 
“Planning Commission” shall mean the City of Turlock Planning Commission. 
 
“Porch” shall mean a covered platform, usually having a separate roof, at an entrance to a 
dwelling, or an open or enclosed gallery or room, which is not heated or cooled, that is attached 
to the outside of the building. 
 
“Preexisting” shall mean in existence prior to the effective date of the zoning regulations 
codified in this Code. 
 
“Premises” shall mean a lot, parcel, tract or plot of land, together with the buildings and 
structures located thereon. 
 
“Principal building” shall mean a building in which the primary use of the lot on which the 
building is located is conducted. 
 
“Principal use” shall mean the primary or predominant use of any lot, building or structure. 
 



Printing and publishing. 
 
(a) “Limited” shall mean the preparation of camera-ready artwork and text, photocopying, 
printing and binding in a building not exceeding two thousand (2,000) square feet. 
 
(b) “Unlimited” shall mean the preparation of camera-ready artwork and text, photocopying, 
printing and binding in a building exceeding two thousand (2,000) square feet. 
 
“Project” shall mean any proposal for new or changed uses of land, or for new construction, 
alteration, or enlargement of any structure, that is subject to the provisions of this  title. 
 
Property line. See “Lot line.” 
 
“Public buildings and facilities” shall mean a class of uses generally open to the public and 
maintained and supported by public and nonprofit agencies or organizations and which are of a 
recreational, educational, religious or cultural nature. 
 
“Rebuild” shall mean to undertake construction within and/or on an existing building which has 
a valid construction permit with a construction value greater than fifty (50%) percent of the 
replacement cost of the existing building being rebuilt. The permit value is valid for a twelve (12) 
month period beginning on the date of permit issuance. 
 
“Recreational vehicle” shall mean a vehicular unit not exceeding forty (40') feet in overall 
length, eight (8') feet in width, or thirteen and one-half (13 1/2') feet in overall height, primarily 
designated as a temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use; it either has 
its own motive power or is designed to be mounted on or drawn by an automotive vehicle. The 
term “recreational vehicle” shall include motor homes, travel trailers, pick-up campers, camping 
trailers, converted trucks or buses, boats and boat trailers and all-terrain vehicles. See TMC 9-
2-114, Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 
 
“Recycling center” shall mean a facility that is not a junkyard and in which recoverable 
resources, such as newspapers, plastic, glassware, and metal cans, are collected, stored, 
flattened, crushed, or bundled within a completely enclosed building for transfer to another 
facility for processing into raw materials or other recycled materials. 
 
“Recycling collection center” shall mean an incidental use and operation that serves as a 
neighborhood drop-off and collection point for temporary storage of recoverable and recycled 
materials. No processing of such items would be carried out and the facility would generally be 
located in a shopping center parking lot or in other public/quasi-public areas, such as churches 
and schools. 
 
“Recycling processing facility” shall mean a facility that is not a junkyard and in which 
recoverable resources, such as newspapers, magazines, books, cardboard, and other 
previously used paper products; plastic materials; glass; metal cans; and other similar products, 
are recycled, reprocessed, and treated to return such products to a condition in which they may 
again be used for production. 
 
“Rental storage facility” shall mean a facility consisting of individual, compartmentalized stalls 
located entirely within an enclosed building or group of buildings with controlled access. Stalls 
are rented or leased for the storage of customers’ goods, wares or archival files, and which may 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114


include an on-site manager’s quarters, but excludes any outside storage, warehousing storage 
or wholesale distribution. 
 
“Research and development services” shall mean establishments primarily engaged in 
industrial or scientific research, including limited product testing. 
 
Residential care facility. 
 
(a) “Large” shall mean any family home, group care facility or similar facility providing twenty-
four (24) hour nonmedical services, supervision or assistance for seven (7) or more people 
essential for sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individual. “Large 
residential care facility” includes shelters, board and care facilities, halfway houses, and like 
uses, but does not include any facility not specifically preempted from the State of California 
Welfare and Institutions Code and the State of California Health and Safety Code. 
 
(b) “Small” shall mean any family home, group care facility or similar facility providing twenty-
four (24) hour nonmedical services, supervision or assistance for six (6) or fewer people 
essential for sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individual. “Small 
residential care facility” includes any facility not specifically preempted from the State of 
California Welfare and Institutions Code and the State of California Health and Safety Code. 
 
“Restaurant” shall mean a business establishment whose principal business is the selling of 
meals to guests for consumption on the premises and which has suitable kitchen facilities 
connected therewith, containing conveniences for cooking an assortment of foods. The food is 
served in individual servings and the guest generally consumes these foods while seated at 
tables or counters located within the building or a specially designed outdoor dining area.  
 
 
“Restaurant, drive-in” shall mean a business establishment that delivers prepared food, frozen 
desserts, and/or beverages in a ready-to-consume state to customers while sitting in motor 
vehicles, regardless of whether or not it also serves prepared foods and/or beverages to 
customers who are not in motor vehicles, for consumption either on or off the premises. 
Vehicles are located in parking stalls in a drive-in facility. 
 
“Restaurant, fast food” shall mean a business establishment whose principal business is the 
quick selling of foods, frozen desserts, or beverages in ready-to-consume individual servings for 
consumption either on or off premises. This facility offers quick service, which is accomplished 
through a limited menu of items already prepared and held for service, or which are prepared 
quickly. Orders are not generally taken at the customer’s table, and food is generally served in 
disposable wrapping or containers. A fast food restaurant may or may not include a drive-
through facility. 
 
“Retail sales” shall mean the retail sales of merchandise not specifically listed under another 
use classification. This classification includes department stores, clothing stores, furniture 
stores, and businesses retailing goods such as the following: toys, hobby materials, handcrafted 
items, jewelry, cameras, photographic supplies, electronic equipment, audio and video sales 
and rentals, sporting goods, kitchen utensils, hardware, appliances, antiques, art supplies and 
services, paint and wallpaper, carpeting and floor covering, office supplies, bicycles, new 
automotive parts and accessories (excluding service and installation), and the like. See also 
“Discount store” as defined by this section. 
 



“Right-of-way” shall mean a strip of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a street, 
crosswalk, railroad, electric transmission line, oil or gas pipeline, water main, sanitary or storm 
sewer main, shade trees, or other special uses. 
 
“Roadside stand” shall mean a temporary structure designed or used for the display or sale of 
produce grown or raised on the same premises that the structure is placed. 
 
“Salvage and wrecking yards” shall mean the use of a lot, or contiguous lots, or any portion 
thereof, for the storage of junk, including scrap materials, and/or for the dismantling or wrecking 
of salvaged equipment including, but not limited to, building materials, heavy machinery, and 
vehicles. 
 
“Satellite dish antenna” shall mean an apparatus designed to receive or transmit 
communications to and from a satellite. 
 
“School” shall mean an institution of learning for minors, whether public or private, which offers 
instruction in those courses of study required by the California Education Code or which is 
maintained pursuant to standards set by the State Board of Education. This definition includes a 
nursery school, kindergarten, elementary school, junior high school, senior high school or any 
special institution of education, but it does not include a vocational or professional institution of 
higher education, including a community or junior college, college or university. 
 
“Screening” shall mean the method by which a view of one (1) site from another adjacent site 
is shielded, concealed, or hidden. Screening techniques include fences, walls, hedges, berms, 
or other features. 
 
“Secondhand store” shall mean any premises used for the sale or handling of used goods. 
“Secondhand store” includes establishments for the sale or trade of used clothing, furniture and 
appliances. “Secondhand store” does not include establishments selling used jewelry, old coins, 
stamps, or antiques. 
 
“Setback” shall mean the minimum horizontal distance between the lot or property line and the 
nearest front, side, street side, or rear line of the building or structure (as the case may be), 
including balconies, terraces, or any covered building projection thereof, excluding steps. 
 
“Shopping center” shall mean a grouping of retail businesses and service uses, located within 
a building or a group of buildings, oriented or arranged on one (1) or more parcels, sharing 
common parking and vehicle and pedestrian circulation amenities. 
 
“Sign” shall mean a structure or device designed for the purpose of conveying information or 
attracting the attention of the public. See Article 5 of Chapter 9-2 TMC, Signs, for further 
reference. 
 
“Site plan” shall mean a plan, to scale, showing all of the existing and proposed buildings and 
structures for a lot, and may require building elevations, floor plans, landscaping, and/or fencing 
details depending upon the nature of the proposed development. 
 
“Specific plan” shall mean a plan consisting of text, maps, and other documents and exhibits 
regulating development within a defined area of the City, consistent with the General Plan and 
the provisions of Government Code Section 65450 et seq. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2


“Speculative building” shall mean a permanent structure for which the specified use or uses 
are not known at the time application is made for building construction permits. 
 
“Stacking line” shall mean an area for temporary waiting of motor vehicles while obtaining a 
service or other activity. 
 
“Story” shall mean that portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the 
surface of the next floor above it, or if there be no floor above it, the space between such floor 
and the ceiling above it. A basement shall be counted as a story if its ceiling is over six (6') feet 
above the average level of the finished grade adjoining the exterior walls of such story, or if it is 
used for business or dwelling purposes. 
 
“Street” shall mean a public or private right-of-way, usually for vehicular travel, which provides 
a primary means of access to abutting property. The term shall include, but not be limited to, 
avenue, drive, circle, road, parkway, boulevard, highway, throughway, or any similar term. 
 
“Structural alteration” shall mean any change in the supporting members of a building or 
structure such as bearing walls, columns, beams, girders, or rafters. 
 
“Structure” shall mean anything constructed or erected which requires location on the ground, 
including, but not limited to, a building or a swimming pool, but not including fences or walls 
eighty-four (84") inches or less in height.  
 
“Supportive housing” shall mean housing with no limit on length of stay, that is occupied by 
the target population, and that is linked to onsite or offsite services that assist the supportive 
housing resident in retaining the housing, improving his or her health status, and maximizing his 
or her ability to live and, when possible, work in the community, as defined in California Health 
and Safety Code 50675.14. 
 
“Swimming pools, hot tubs, and spas” shall mean an accessory structure intended for 
swimming or recreational bathing that contains water over eighteen (18") inches deep. This 
includes in-ground, above-ground and on-ground swimming pools, hot tubs and spas. 
 
“Temporary use” shall mean any use conducted on an intermittent or one-time basis for a 
specified period, not intended to become permanent. Such use shall not necessarily be listed as 
a permitted use in a zoning district in which it is located. 
 
“Transfer station” shall mean a facility where waste and refuse materials are collected, 
unloaded, pumped, packaged, temporarily stored, and loaded for transfer to a landfill or 
processing facility designated to ultimately receive such materials. 
 
“Transitional housing” shall mean buildings configured as rental housing developments, but 
operated under program requirements that call for the termination of assistance and 
recirculation of the assisted unit to another eligible program recipient at some predetermined 
future point in time, which shall be no less than six (6) months, as defined in California Health 
and Safety Code Section 50675.2. 
 
“Truck terminal” shall mean a facility for the loading and/or unloading of fuel, food products, 
materials or freight merchandise on trucks. Truck terminals may include related fueling facilities, 
traffic routing offices, temporary truck storage areas,  
restaurants, wash racks, minor repair facilities and related business offices and motels. 



 
“Truck yard” shall mean a facility used exclusively for breaking down and assembling tractor-
trailer transport vehicles, or for the parking of heavy vehicles for short periods of time. “Truck 
yard” does not include facilities for the loading and unloading of shipments to or from an 
individual business. 
 
“Turlock General Plan” shall mean the long-range and comprehensive plan for orderly growth 
and development of Turlock, including text, maps and amendments, adopted by the Turlock City 
Council in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Also referred to as the “General 
Plan.” 
 
“Use” shall mean the purpose for which land or a building is occupied, arranged, designed or 
intended, or for which either land or building is or may be occupied or maintained. “Use” also 
means the activity conducted on the land or in the building. 
 
Utilities. 
 
(a) “Major” shall mean generating plants, electrical substations, above-ground electrical 
transmission lines, switching buildings, refuse collection, processing, recycling or disposal 
facilities, water reservoirs, flood control or drainage facilities, water or wastewater treatment 
plants, transportation or communication facilities, and similar facilities of public agencies or 
public utilities. A structure that may have a significant effect on surrounding uses shall be 
regulated under this classification. 
 
(b) “Minor” shall mean utility facilities that are necessary to support legally established uses 
and involve only minor structures such as electrical distribution lines and underground water 
and sewer lines. 
 
“Variance” shall mean a permit which grants a property owner relief from development 
standards to the zoning regulations of this Code when, because of a particular physical or 
topographical condition of the property, compliance would result in undue hardship on the owner 
(as distinguished from a mere inconvenience or desire to make more money). 
 
“Vehicle, abandoned” shall mean any dismantled or partially dismantled vehicle which 
requires major repairs to render it operable and which has remained within a public street in 
excess of seventy-two (72) hours. 
 
“Vehicle, disassembled” shall mean a vehicle without hoods, doors, fenders, or body panels, 
headlights, trunk lid, tires, wheels, windows, engine or transmission when such items are 
normally part of a vehicle. 
 
“Vehicle, dismantling and wrecking” shall mean a facility or business that involves the 
dismantling or wrecking of used motor vehicles or trailers, which may or may not include the 
sale of reclaimed parts. 
 
“Vehicle, inoperable” shall mean any vehicle rendered inoperable or lacking valid registration. 
 
“Vocational school” shall mean a commercial land use that involves the instruction to students 
of special skills, knowledge, or techniques that are generally related to furthering a specific 
vocation or professional occupation. Vocational schools would include trade schools, business 
schools, cosmetology schools, and schools for self-improvement. 



 
 
“Warehouse, limited” shall mean a building primarily devoted to the storage of materials, but 
may also include office and maintenance areas, and not usually accessible to the general public 
and shall have a limited number of truck trips per day.  
 
“Warehouse, wholesale distribution” shall mean a building or group of buildings used for 
storage and distribution of wholesale goods without direct public access. 
 
“Xeriscape” shall mean landscaping design utilizing plants which flourish and are adapted for 
dry, hot climates. 
 
“Yard” shall mean an open space on the same site as a structure, unoccupied and 
unobstructed by structures or parking from the ground upward except as otherwise provided for 
in this  title for landscaping and accessory structures, that includes a front yard, side yard, street 
side yard, or rear yard. The classifications of yards are: 
 
(a) “Front” shall mean the area between the front lot line and the required front setback line 
extending across the entire width of the lot. 
 
(b) “Rear” shall mean the area between the rear lot line and the principal building which 
extends across the full width of the lot and measured perpendicular to the building at its closest 
point to the rear lot line. 
 
(c) “Side” shall mean the area between the front yard and the rear yard between the principal 
building and the side lot line, measured perpendicular from the side lot line to the closest point 
of the principal building. 
 
(d) “Street side” shall mean a side yard on the street side of a corner lot which is not a front 
yard, measured perpendicular from the street side lot line to the closest point of the principal 
building. A corner lot abutting two (2) streets may not have more than one (1) street side yard. 

 
“Zone” or “zoning district” shall mean a section of the City described in the text of the zoning 
regulations of this Code and delineated on the zoning maps of the City. The text sets forth the 
requirements for the use of the land as well as improvements and development standards. 



SECTION 3. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 2, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 

Chapter 9-2 
REGULATIONS APPLYING TO ALL DISTRICTS 

Sections: 

Article 1. Special Provisions Applying to All or Several Districts 

9-2-101 Accessory buildings or structures. 

9-2-102 Adult entertainment facilities. 

9-2-103 Affordable housing density bonus. 

9-2-104 Automobile service stations, repair and washing. 

9-2-105 Building projections into yards. 

9-2-106 Development on existing lots of record. 

9-2-107 Development on lots divided by district boundaries. 

9-2-108 Exceptions to height limits. 

9-2-109 Landscaping and irrigation. 

9-2-110 Family day care home. 

9-2-111 Mobile home development. 

9-2-112 Outdoor storage. 

9-2-113 Planned developments. 

9-2-114 Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 

9-2-115 Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations. 

9-2-116 Recycling facilities. 

9-2-117 Salvage and wrecking operations. 

9-2-118 Screening of mechanical equipment. 

9-2-119 Second dwelling units. 

9-2-120 Underground utilities. 



9-2-121 Neighborhood stores. 

9-2-122 Rental storage facility. 

9-2-123 Equipment sales, service and rentals. 

9-2-124 Mobile food facilities. 

9-2-125 Cargo containers. 

9-2-126 Electrified fences. 

9-2-127 Drive-through facilities. 

 

Article 2. Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations 

9-2-201 Specific purposes. 

9-2-202 Application of provisions to uses. 

9-2-203 Off-street parking required: Availability and maintenance. 

9-2-204 Off-street parking:  Reconstructed buildings. 

9-2-205 Off-street parking for existing buildings and uses. 

9-2-206 Off-street parking: Location. 

9-2-207 Parking in the R District. 

9-2-208 Border barricades, screening, and landscaping. 

9-2-209 Off-street parking: Spaces required. 

9-2-210 Parking spaces for people with disabilities. 

9-2-211 Bicycle parking. 

9-2-212 Off-street parking districts. 

9-2-213 Parking configuration and aisle dimensions. 

9-2-214 Parking lot design standards. 

9-2-215 Driveway and corner visibility. 

9-2-216 Parking lot landscaping. 

9-2-217 Parking access from street. 



9-2-218 Location and design of off-street loading spaces. 

9-2-219 Parking area plan required. 

 

Article 3. Noise Standards 

9-2-301 Specific Purposes. 

9-2-302 Definitions. 

9-2-203 General noise regulations. 

9-2-304 Preliminary action. 

9-2-305 Factors of determination. 

9-2-306 Noise measurement procedure. 

9-2-307 Noise Limits. 

9-2-308 Maximum permissible sound levels by receiving land uses. 

9-2-309 Prohibited Acts. 

9-2-310 Emergency exemptions. 

9-2-311 Miscellaneous exemptions. 

9-2-312 Federal and State preempted activities. 

9-2-313 Special variances. 

9-2-314 Variance from time to comply. 

9-2-315 Appeals. 

 

Article 4. Nonconforming Structures and Uses 

9-2-401 Specific purposes. 

9-2-402 Nonconforming Uses. 

9-2-403 Nonconforming Structures. 

9-2-404 Loss of Nonconforming Status. 

9-2-405 Discontinuance. 



9-2-406 Replacement and repairs due to damage. 

9-2-407 Repairs and maintenance. 

9-2-408 Exceptions to provisions. 

 

Article 5. Signs 

9-2-501 Purpose. 

9-2-502 Interpretation. 

9-2-503 Definitions. 

9-2-504 Permits required. 

9-2-505 Sign classifications. 

9-2-506 Sign standards.  

9-2-507  Nonconforming signage. 

9-2-508 Unsafe and unlawful signs. 

9-2-509 Compliance with chapter provisions: Nuisances: Abatement 

9-2-510 Noncompliancel. 

9-2-512 Appeals by persons aggrieved. 

 

Article 6. Wireless Communication Facilities 

9-2-601 Purpose. 

9-2-602 Definitions. 

9-2-603 Compliance with applicable codes. 

9-2-604 Permits required. 

9-2-605 Application requirements. 

9-2-606 Height. 

9-2-607 Location. 

9-2-608 Residential (R) Districts. 



9-2-609 Visual compatibility and screening. 

9-2-610 Discontinuance of use. 

 

Article 1. Special Provisions Applying to All or Several Districts 

9-2-101 Accessory buildings or structures. 
Accessory buildings or structures include both those that are permanent and temporary.  The 
purpose of the specific limitations as to the height, number or size of accessory buildings and 
structures contained within this section are intended to ensure adequate light, air, and privacy 
for residential properties and compatibility with permitted structures. Second dwelling units (as 
defined in TMC 9-1-202) are not defined as accessory buildings and structures. 
 
(a) Building permit required. A building permit from the Turlock Building and Safety Division is 
required for all accessory buildings and structures that are 120 square feet in size or larger. 
 
(b) Accessory buildings and structures in Agricultural (A) and residential (R) districts.  
Accessory buildings and structures may be erected upon lots in the A and R districts subject to 
the following conditions when the use thereof is clearly incidental and secondary to the primary 
use of the property: 
 

(1) Maximum height. The height of an accessory building or structure may not exceed 
fifteen (15’) feet in overall height measured from the existing or finished grade, whichever is 
lower, to the highest portion of the structure.  

 
(2)  Lot coverage. The combined maximum square footage of all detached accessory 
structures exceeding seven (7’) in height shall not exceed 1,000 square feet.  
 
(3) Attached accessory buildings and structures. When an accessory structure is not 
“detached” as defined in following subsection, it shall be considered an attached accessory 
building or structure. When the accessory building or structure is attached to the primary 
building on the property, it shall:  

 
(i) be made structurally a part of the main building (see TMC 9-1-202 defining “attached 
(ii) share compatible architecture, materials, and surface textures with the primary 
building; and 

 
(iii) comply in all other respects with the development standards and requirements of this 
title applicable to the primary building. 

 
(4) Detached accessory buildings and structures.  An accessory building or structure is 
defined as “detached” when any portion of the accessory building or structure is located a 
minimum of six (6’) feet from any dwelling unit or the main building on the same lot. When 
the accessory building or structure is detached from the primary dwelling or main building on 
the property, it shall comply with the following standards: 
 

 Yard setback measurement. Yard setbacks shall be measured from that portion of the 
building or structure that is closest to a property line.  

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202


 
(ii) Accessory structures greater than seven (7’) feet in height, measured from the 
tallest point of the building or structure.  
 

(aa) Yard setbacks except Residential Estate (R-E) district. The accessory 
building or structure shall be located a minimum of, except when located in the R-E 
district: 
 

1. Rear yard: 5 feet from the property line 

2. Interior side yard: 5 feet from the property line 

3. Corner side yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

4. Front yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

(bb) Yard setbacks in R-E district. In the R-E district, the accessory building or 
structure shall be located a minimum of: 
 

1. Rear yard: 10 feet from the property line 

2. Interior side yard: 10 feet from the property line 

3. Corner side yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

4. Front yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

(cc) Design standards. The accessory building or structure shall be constructed of 
compatible architecture, materials, and surface textures with the primary building. 
 
(dd) Rear yard exception for public alleys.  When a detached accessory structure 
taller than seven (7’) feet abuts a twenty (20’) foot public alley, the rear yard may be 
reduced to zero (0’) feet for a length not to exceed one-third (⅓) of the width of the 
parcel. 
 

(iii) Accessory structures seven (7’) feet in height or less, measured from the 
tallest point of the building or structure.  An accessory building or structure seven (7’) 
feet in height or less shall not be subject to the setback and design standards contained 
in subsection (ii) above when:   
 

(aa) located behind the front yard setback for the applicable zoning district; and 
 
(bb) screened by a solid, visually impenetrable fence or wall at least seven (7’) feet in 
height from all adjoining properties and the public right-of-way. 
 

(iv) Front yard exception for entry features.  Entry features, such as arbors, arches, 
trellises, or the like may be permitted in the front yard setback when: 
 

(aa) The entry feature is not attached to the primary building; and 



(bb) The entry feature is covering a walkway emphasizing the entry to the 

front door of a residence; and 

(cc) The entry feature is not constructed of solid materials and shall not 

constitute a safety/visibility hazard to pedestrians or vehicles; and 

(dd) The entry features do not exceed an overall height of eight (8’) feet or a width of 

seven (7’) feet; and   

(ee) The total of all entry features does not cover more than twenty-five (25) square 

feet in area. 

(5) Swimming pools, hot tubs, and spas. Swimming pools, hot tubs and spas may not be 
located within the front or corner side yards. Any swimming pool, hot tub or spas greater 
than seven (7’) in height shall be subject to the requirements and conditions in subsection 
(4) above.   
 
(6)  Exceptions to accessory building and structure requirements.  
 

(i) Residential (R) districts. In R districts, an exception to the requirements of this 
section may be permitted upon approval of a conditional use permit by the Planning 
Commission issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Condition Use Permits and 
Variances).  
 
(ii) Agricultural (A) district. In the A district, an exception to the requirements of this 
section may be permitted upon approval of a minor discretionary permit issued in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits).   
 

(c)  Nonresidential accessory structures in commercial, industrial, and P-S districts. 
Accessory structures shall comply with all regulations applicable to the principal building or 
structure on a site.  Off-site accessory uses shall be allowed only upon approval of a minor 
administrative approval. 
 

(1) Roof-mounted antennas. Satellite dish antennas shall be located on the roof of a 
structure whenever possible, providing the dish is not visible from public roadways or can be 
adequately screened from view of public roadways. 
 
(2) Ground-mounted antennas. If it is determined that installation of a satellite dish 
antenna is not feasible for location on a roof, a ground-mounted antenna shall be permitted 
when all of the following conditions are met: 
 

(i) The antenna shall be located directly adjacent to the building. 
 
(ii) The antenna shall be located in the rear or interior side yard areas; and 
 
(iii) The antenna shall be screened from view from the front of the building and public 
roadways. 
 

(3) Location prohibited. No satellite dish antennas shall occupy a required parking space 
or adversely impact any vehicle circulation. 



 
(4) Maximum height. The maximum overall height for any satellite dish antenna shall be 
twenty (20’) feet.  The overall height shall be determined by measuring from ground or roof 
level immediately under the antenna to the highest point of the antenna or any 
appurtenance attached thereto. 
 
(5) Permit required. A Minor Administrative Approval issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits), shall be for all satellite dish 
antennas greater than three (3’) feet in height in any C, I or PS district. 
 

9-2-102 Adult entertainment facilities. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this  section  is to regulate adult businesses which, unless closely 
regulated, may have serious secondary effects on the community. These secondary effects 
include, but are not limited to, the following: depreciation of property values, deterioration of 
neighborhoods, increases in vacancy rates in residential and commercial areas, increases in 
incidence of criminal activity, increases in litter, noise, and the interference with residential 
property owners enjoyment of their property in the vicinity of such businesses. 
 
It is the Council’s intent to prevent community-wide adverse impacts which can be brought 
about by the concentration of adult businesses in close proximity to each other or in proximity to 
incompatible uses such as schools, churches, parks, public facilities and buildings and 
residentially zoned uses. The Council finds that it has been demonstrated in various 
communities that the concentration of adult businesses causes adverse impacts described 
above and can cause businesses and residents to move elsewhere. It is, therefore, the further 
purpose of this  section  to establish reasonable and uniform regulations to prevent the 
concentration of adult businesses or their close proximity to incompatible uses, while permitting 
the location of adult businesses in certain areas. 
 
(b) Definitions. 
 

(1) “Adult businesses” shall include the following: 
 
(i) Any business conducted for the entertainment of adults, engaged in the selling, 
renting, or displaying of publications depicting the specified anatomical areas or 
specified sexual activities described herein or other material of a sexually explicit nature. 
Included in the definition is any business, that as substantial or significant course of 
conduct, sells, offers for sale, rents, exhibits, shows or displays publications depicting 
the anatomical areas or specified sexual activities described herein or other material of a 
sexually explicit nature. Also included in this definition is any business selling, renting, or 
displaying sexually oriented devices intended for use in the specified sexual activities. 
 
(ii) A particular business at a particular location that sells, offers for sale, rents, exhibits, 
shows or displays specified anatomical areas or specified sexual activities in the form of 
a book, magazine, newspaper, pamphlet, film video or any other form or medium, or 
sexually oriented devices intended for use in the specified sexual activities, which 
receives twenty-five (25%) percent or more of the gross revenue from, or devotes 
twenty-five (25%) percent or more of the stock on hand or twenty-five (25%) percent or 
more of the gross floor area to such activity, is presumed to be engaging in “substantial 
or significant” conduct with respect to such activity. 
 



(iii) Any business wherein the selling of any food or beverage served by employees 
engaged in partial or total nudity or exposed specified anatomical areas. 
 
(iv) Any business conducted for the entertainment of adults wherein an employee, patron 
or any other person engages in or are shown specified sexual activities or exhibit or 
engage in partial or total nudity or otherwise expose specified anatomical areas. 
 
(v) Any business, which as a substantial or significant portion of its business, provides 
live, filmed or televised entertainment wherein specified anatomical areas of the human 
anatomy are exposed. 
 

(2) “Specified anatomical areas” include any of the following, whether actual or simulated: 
 

(i) Less than completely and opaquely covered: (1) human genitals or pubic region, (2) 
buttock, and (3) female breast below a point immediately above the top of the areola; or 
 
(ii) Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and opaquely 
covered. 
 

(3) “Specified sexual activities” means and includes any of the following: 
 

(i) The fondling or sexual touching of human genitals, pubic regions, buttocks, anus, or 
female breasts; or 
 
(ii) Sex acts, normal or deviant, actual or simulated, including intercourse, oral 
copulation, or sodomy; or 
 
(iii) Masturbation, actual or simulated; or 
 
(iv) Excretory functions as part of, or in connection with, any of the activities set forth 
above. 
 

(c) Location and Site requirements. 
 

(1) Adult businesses shall not be located within five hundred (500') feet of the following 
whether or not located within the city: 
 

(i) Any real property located in a residential, commercial or industrial district, including 
the Agricultural (A), Residential Estate (R-E), Low Density Residential (R-L), Medium 
Density Residential (R-M), High Density Residential (R-H), Community Office (C-O), 
Planned Development (PD), Community Commercial (C-C), Heavy Commercial/Light 
Industrial (C-H), zoning districts; and 
 
(ii) Any public or private school; and 
 
(iii) Any church, chapel, or other publicly recognized place of worship; and 
 
(iv) Any park or building used by the public and owned by a public entity; and 
 
(v) Any residence in any zoning district; and 
 



(vi) Any parcel of land owned by a school district, church, chapel, or public entity. 
 

(2) Adult businesses shall not be located within one thousand (1,000') feet of any other adult 
business. 
 
(3) Adult businesses may be located in the I (Industrial) zoning district; and 
 
(4) The distances specified in this section shall be measured in a straight line, without 
regard to intervening structures, or geological features from the nearest point of the property 
line in which the proposed adult business is to be established to the nearest property line of 
a use or zoning district listed above. 
 

(d) Development and performance standards. 
 

(1) The following development standards shall apply to all adult businesses: 
 

(i) No adult business shall be located in any temporary or portable structure. 
 
(ii) Trash dumpsters shall be enclosed by a screening enclosure so as not to be 
accessible to the public. 
 
(iii) Off-street parking shall be as specified in Article 2 of this chapter. 
 
(iv) The entire exterior grounds, including the parking lot and landscaped areas, shall be 
lighted in such a manner that all areas are clearly visible at all times. 
 
(v) Any signage shall conform to the requirements of Article 5 of this chapter, and shall 
not contain sexually oriented photographs, silhouettes, or other pictorial representations. 
 
(vi) All entrances to an adult business shall be clearly and legibly posted by a notice 
indicating that minors are prohibited from entering the premises. 
 
(vii) No residential structure or any other nonconforming structure shall be converted for 
use as an adult business. 
 
(viii) No residence, apartment, living quarters or mobile home shall be located on the 
parcel where an adult business is located. 
 

(2) The following performance standards shall apply to all adult businesses: 
 

(i) California Code of Regulations, Title 4, Article 22, Sections 143.2, 143.3 and 143.4 or 
its successors are hereby adopted and shall regulate the attire and conduct of 
employees and entertainers; including visual displays. 
 
(ii) The adult business shall not conduct or sponsor any special events, promotions, 
festivals, concerts, or similar activities which would create a demand for parking spaces 
beyond the number of spaces required for the business. 
 
(iii) The traffic generated by the adult business shall not overload the capacity of the 
surrounding street system and shall not create a hazard to public safety, as determined 
by the City of Turlock Police Department. . 



 
(iv) No adult business shall be operated in any manner that permits the observation of 
any persons or material depicting, describing or related to “specified sexual activities” or 
“specified anatomical areas”, inside the premises, from any public way or from any 
location outside the building or area of such establishment. This provision shall apply to 
any display, decoration, sign, show window or other opening. 
 
(v) No loudspeakers or sound equipment shall be used by an adult business for the 
amplification of sound to a level audible beyond the walls of the building in which the 
business is located. 
 
(vi) All exterior areas of the adult business, including buildings, landscaping, and parking 
areas shall be kept free of trash and debris and maintained in a clean and orderly 
manner at all times. 
 
(vii) Hours of operation shall be from 6:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. 
 
(viii) Each adult business shall conform to all applicable laws and regulations, including 
obtaining a City business license. 
 

(e) Adult business permit; required. No adult business shall commence operation until an 
application for a Minor Discretionary Permit (Adult Business Permit) is approved by the 
Development Services Director or designee following the procedures set out in the following 
sections, and those contained in Section 9-5-307 through Section 9-5-315, of the Turlock 
Municipal Code. 
 
(f) Adult business permit application: Contents.  An application for an adult business permit 
shall include the following: 
 

(1) Name, permanent address and telephone number of applicant. 
 
(2) The name, business address and telephone number for the applicant. If the applicant is 
a corporation, the name shall be exactly as set forth in its Articles of Incorporation, and the 
applicant shall show the name and residence address of each of the officers, directors, and 
each stockholder owning twenty-five (25%) percent or more of the stock of the corporation. 
If the applicant is a partnership, the application shall show the name and residence address 
of each of the members, including limited partners. 
 
(3) Name(s) and address(es) of the property owner(s). 
 
(4) Assessor’s parcel number(s). 
 
(5) Legal description of the property. 
 
(6) A site development plan drawn at the scale specified by the Community Development 
Director, which includes the following information: 
 

(i) Location of all existing buildings, structures, and improvements on the property; 
 
(ii) Location of all proposed buildings, structures, and improvements on the property; 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-307


(iii) Existing and proposed streets and highways bordering and within the boundaries of 
the property; 
 
(iv) Location of existing and proposed parking areas; 
 
(v) Proposed landscaping; 
 
(vi) North arrow; 
 
(vii) Scale. 
 

(7) Elevations and floor plans of proposed buildings or structures including any existing or 
proposed signs related to the adult business drawn to scale. 
 
(8) A narrative description of the proposed use or development including: 
 

(i) Description of the nature of the proposed use or development and an explanation of 
how the proposed business will satisfy the applicable requirements set forth in this 
chapter. 
 

(9) A letter of consent signed and notarized from all property owners. 
 
(10) A vicinity map showing specific land uses (houses, churches, public buildings, parcel 
lines, parcel sizes, etc.) for a 1,500 foot radius of the subject site. 
 
(11) The fee prescribed by the City Council of the City of Turlock by ordinance or resolution 
for processing the application. 
 

(g) Adult business permit application: Review and approval. 
 

(1) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
shall take action within sixty (60) days. 
 
(2) For purposes of application processing, any application for a permit pursuant to this 
chapter is considered to be a ministerial permit and, as such, is not subject to the time 
frames specified in Section 65950 et seq. of the California Government Code, or the 
California Environmental Quality Act. 
 
(3) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
shall transmit the relevant parts of the permit application to all affected City departments and 
outside agencies for review, comments, and condition requirements. 
 
(4) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this  section, the Development 
Services Director shall approve the permit only if it makes the following findings: 
 

(i) The adult business is consistent with the location, requirements and development and 
performance standards contained in this chapter; and 
 
(ii) The adult business is located in a zoning district which lists adult businesses as a 
permitted use; and 
 



(iii) The zoning district classification for the property is consistent with the applicable 
General Plan or Specific Plan designation for the property; and 
 
(iv) The adult business structure does not contain any apartments or other living 
quarters. 
 

(5) A permittee shall not transfer ownership or control of an adult business permit to any 
other person or entity. All changes in ownership shall require a new permit application and 
approval. 
 
(6) Permit issuance or non-issuance of application may be appealed pursuant to Title 1, 
Chapter 4, of the Turlock Municipal Code. 
 
(7) Approval of the Minor Discretionary Permit (Adult Business Permit) does not relieve the 
permittee from the requirement to obtain any other permits, or approvals, necessary to 
insure operation of the use in conformance with the requirements of the Turlock Municipal 
Code. 
 

(h) Adult business permit; transfer. 
 

(1) A permittee shall not operate an adult business under the authority of an adult business 
permit at any place other than the address of the adult business stated in the application for 
the permit. 
 
(2) A permittee shall not transfer ownership or control of an adult business or transfer an 
adult business permit to another person unless and until the transferee obtains an 
amendment to the permit from the Development Services Director, stating that the 
transferee is now the permittee. Such an amendment may be obtained only if the transferee 
files an application with the Development Services Director, , in accordance with the 
requirements of this section, accompanies the application with a transfer fee in an amount 
set by resolution of the City Council, and the Development Services Director determines that 
the transferee would be entitled to the issuance of an original permit. 
 
(3) No permit may be transferred when the Development Services Director has notified the 
permittee that the permit has been or may be suspended or revoked. 
 
(4) Any attempt to transfer a permit either directly or indirectly in violation of this section is 
hereby declared void, and the permit shall be deemed revoked. 
 

(i) Suspension or revocation of adult business permits. An adult business permit may be 
suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures and standards of this section. 
 

(1) On determining that grounds for permit revocation exist, the Police Chief shall furnish 
written notice of the proposed suspension or revocation to the permittee. Such notice shall 
set forth the time and place of a hearing, and the ground or grounds upon which the hearing 
is based, the pertinent Code sections, and a brief statement of the factual matters in support 
thereof. The notice shall be mailed, postage prepaid, addressed to the last known address 
of the permittee, or shall be delivered to the permittee personally, at least ten (10) days prior 
to the hearing date. Hearings shall be conducted in accordance with procedures established 
by the Police Chief, but at a minimum shall include the following: 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(i) All parties involved shall have a right to offer testimonial, documentary, and tangible 
evidence bearing on the issues; may be represented by counsel; and shall have the right 
to confront and cross-examine witnesses. Any relevant evidence may be admitted that is 
the sort of evidence upon which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the 
conduct of serious affairs. Any hearing under this section may be continued for a 
reasonable time for the convenience of a party or a witness. 
 

(2) A permittee may be subject to suspension or revocation of the permit, or be subject to 
other appropriate disciplinary action, for any of the following causes arising from the acts or 
omissions of the permittee, or an employee, agent, partner, director, stockholder, or 
manager of an adult business: 
 

(i) If the building, structure, equipment, or location used by the adult business fails to 
comply with all applicable building, fire, electrical, plumbing, health, and zoning 
requirements of the Turlock Municipal Code, all applicable State and federal 
requirements of a similar nature which are customarily enforced by the City, and all 
provisions of these regulations and this Code relating to adult businesses, including the 
Adult Business Development and Performance Standards contained in this section. 
 
(ii) The permittee has knowingly made any false, misleading or fraudulent statement of 
material facts in the application for a permit, or in any report or record required to be filed 
with the City. 
 
(iii) The permittee, employee, agent, partner, director, stockholder, or manager of an 
adult business has knowingly allowed or permitted, and has failed to make a reasonable 
effort to prevent the occurrence of any of the following on the premises of the adult 
business: 
 

(aa) any act of unlawful sexual intercourse, sodomy, oral copulation, or masturbation. 
 
(ab) use of the establishment as a place where unlawful solicitations for sexual 
intercourse, sodomy, oral copulation, or masturbation occur. 
 
(ac) any conduct constituting a criminal offense which requires registration under 
Section 290 of the California Penal Code. 
 
(ad) the occurrence of acts of lewdness, assignation, or prostitution, including any 
conduct constituting violations of Sections 315, 316, or 318 or Subdivision b of 
Section 647 of the California Penal Code. 
 
(ae) any act constituting a violation of provisions in the California Penal Code relating 
to obscene matter or distribution of harmful matter to minors, including but not limited 
to Sections 311 through 313.4. 
 
(af) any conduct prohibited by this chapter. 
 

(iv) Failure to abide by any disciplinary action previously imposed by an appropriate City 
official. 
 



(3) After holding the hearing in accordance with the provisions of this section, if the Police 
Chief finds and determines that there are grounds for disciplinary action, based upon the 
severity of the violation, the Police Chief shall impose one (1) of the following: 
 

(i) A warning; 
 
(ii) Suspension of the permit for a specified period not to exceed six (6) months; 
 
(iii) Revocation of the permit. 
 

(j) Appeal. The decision of the Police Chief may be appealed as provided by Title 1, Chapter 4 
of this Code. 
 
9-2-103 Affordable housing density bonus.  
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the affordable housing density bonus is to: 
 

(1) Establish procedures and criteria for use in the consideration of density bonuses for 
lower income housing developments as defined in Section 65915 of the California 
Government Code; 
 
(2) Establish procedures for requesting developer incentives or concessions for the 
production of housing units and child care facilities as prescribed in Section 65915 of the 
California Government Code; and 
 
(3) Provide a significant contribution to the economic feasibility of lower income housing in 
proposed housing developments. 
 

(b) General provisions. The criteria and procedures set forth in Section 65915 of the California 
Government Code shall be applied to requests for density bonuses for affordable housing 
unless amended in this section. 
 
(c) Application procedures. The application for a density bonus, incentive or concession shall 
be submitted with the first application for approval of a housing development and shall be 
processed concurrently with any other planning permit required for the housing development. 
The application shall be submitted on form and contain such information and support data as 
prescribed by the Community Development Director. The application shall contain sufficient 
information to make the required determinations and findings defined in Section 65915 of the 
Government Code. 
 
(d) Fees. The City Council shall set the amount of the fees for the application required and 
authorized by this section. 
 
9-2-104 Automobile service stations, repair and washing. 
The following supplementary development regulations shall apply to the automobile service 
station, automobile repair, and automobile washing use classifications: 
 
(a) Lot size. 
 

(1) The minimum lot frontage along a public street shall be one hundred twenty five (125') 
feet. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(2) The minimum lot depth shall be one hundred (100') feet. 
 

(b) Curb cuts. 
 

(1) The minimum width of any curb cut shall be twenty five (25') feet. 
 
(2) The maximum width of any curb cut shall be thirty five (35') feet. 
 
(3) The total aggregate amount of curb cuts shall not exceed forty (40%) percent of the lot 
frontage. 
 

(c) Landscaping. 
 

(1) All service stations shall provide minimum landscaping as required by this chapter (also 
see Section 9-2-109) and the following: 
 

(i) There shall be a minimum planter with a net width of five (5') feet along all street 
frontages except at driveway openings. All planting areas shall have an “in place” 
irrigation system and shall be protected with six (6") inch wide concrete curbs. 
 
(ii) Landscaping along street frontages shall provide screening to a height of three (3') 
feet. 
 

(d) Service lanes. 
 

(1) The outside service lane or the lane closest to the street line shall have a minimum width 
of fifteen (15') feet as measured from the face of the planter to the face of the pump island. 
 
(2) Service lanes between two (2) pump islands shall have a minimum width of twenty (20') 
feet as measured from the inside face of the first pump island to the face of the second 
pump island. 
 
(3) The service lane between the pump island and the building shall have a minimum width 
of fifteen (15') feet as measured from the face of the pump island to the face of the building 
sidewalk. 
 

(e) Activities. 
 

(1) Unless otherwise permitted in the district in which the automobile service station is 
located, automobile service stations shall be limited to the sale of motor vehicle fuels and 
lubricants, tires, batteries, accessory items and minor motor vehicle repair. 
 
(2) All servicing shall be conducted in an enclosed building except that the following is 
permitted outside an enclosed building: pumping motor vehicle fluids, checking and 
supplementing various fluids, and mechanical inspection and adjustments not involving any 
disassembly. 
 
(3) Any automobile washing, drying or vacuuming done by mechanical means shall not be 
located any closer than one hundred (100') feet  from an R District without a Minor 
Discretionary Permit obtained as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 



 
(4) All automobile service stations, repair and washing shall comply with the noise standards 
contained in Article 3 of this chapter: Noise Standards. 
 

(f) Outdoor storage. The outside storage or display of merchandise or equipment shall be 
prohibited, except that the following shall be permitted: 
 

(1) Tire display. One (1) display rack per automobile service station. A maximum of twelve 
(12) tires may be displayed on a service station site. 
 
(2) Wiper display. Two (2) such wiper racks per automobile service station. 
 
(3) Lubricant display. One (1) lubricant display per pump island. 
 
(4) Vending machines. Three (3) per automobile service station. 
 

(g) Signs. All signing and outside advertising shall be in accordance with Article 5 of this 
chapter (Signs), provided that automobile service stations and convenience gas markets shall 
be permitted to display the following additional signs: 
 

(1) Price signs. A maximum of one (1) double-faced price sign per street frontage, of not 
more than twenty-five (25) square feet per face, and having a maximum height of six (6') 
feet. Such signs may only be used to indicate the actual current price of fuel. 
 
(2) Pump-topper signs. A single or double-faced sign of not more than twelve (12") inches 
by twenty (20") inches, constructed of motionless materials and mounted to the top of a fuel 
pump and used for identifying products or services available on the premises. No more than 
one (1) pump-topper sign per pump shall be allowed. 
 
(3) Island canopy sign. A sign, affixed to a canopy or other rigid roof structure directly 
above a pump island, the area of which shall not exceed fifteen (15) square feet per face. 
Island canopy signs shall be limited to one (1) such sign per automobile service station. 
 

9-2-105 Building projections into yards. 
Buildings, except accessory buildings or structures, may project into the required yards as 
follows: 
 
(a) Fireplaces or chimneys. Two and one-half (2.5') feet. 
 
(b) Terraces, platforms, decks and subterranean garages. Six (6') feet into a front or rear 
yard and two (2') feet into a side yard. The length of any projection exceeding twenty-five (25%) 
percent of the building length for that area may be allowed only upon approval of a minor 
exception as defined in Chapter 5 of this TMC 9-5-400ART. 
 
(c) Cornices, eaves, awnings and ornamental features. Two and one-half (2.5') feet. 
 
(d) Balconies and protruding windows. Five (5') feet into a front or rear yard and two (2') feet 
into a side yard, when constructed at least two (2’) feet above grade.  
 
(e) Stairs. Two and one-half (2.5') feet into a side yard and three (3') feet into a rear yard. 
 



(f) Minimum setback and other limitations. Building projections shall not encroach any closer 
than five (5') feet to a rear or front property line. At no time shall any portion of a building be 
allowed to project or extend into or over any required easement area. 
 
9-2-106 Development on existing lots of record. 
(a) Any lot or parcel of land under one (1) ownership and of record on the date of adoption of 
this  title that has a width, depth, or area less than required for the district in which it is located, 
where no adjoining land is owned by the same person, may be developed subject to the same 
property development regulations as a standard lot. 
 
(b) Any lot or parcel of land legally created after the date of adoption of this  title that has a width 
or area less than required for the district in which it is located may be developed subject to the 
same property development standards as a standard lot. 
 
(c) No substandard lot as set forth above shall be further reduced in area or width. 
 
9-2-107 Development on lots divided by district boundaries. 
Where a district boundary line divides a single parcel, the regulations applicable to each district 
shall be applied to the area of the parcel within that district. Uses and development regulations 
permitted in one (1) district may be extended into the portion of the parcel in the other district if 
authorized by an approved Minor Discretionary Permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
9-2-108 Exceptions to height limits. 
(a) In any R District. 
 

(1) Spires, cupolas, chimneys, radio and television antennas, and similar accessory 
structures shall be subject to setback regulations for the zoning district in which they are 
located. When such structure complies with the other development regulations stated for the 
zoning district and which do not exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of the district height limit 
or fifty (50') feet, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon obtaining an approved minor 
administrative approval (MAA) as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(2) Towers, water tanks, flagpoles and other necessary mechanical appurtenances covering 
not more than ten (10%) percent of the ground area covered by the structure to which they 
are accessory may be permitted provided they do not exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of 
the district height limit or fifty (50') feet, whichever is greater, upon obtaining an approved 
minor administrative approval (MAA) as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative 
and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(3) Any structure in an R District exceeding twenty-five (25%) percent of the district height 
limit or fifty (50') feet, whichever is greater, may be permitted only upon approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit by the Planning Commission. 
 

(b) In any C or I district. 
 

(1) A structure may exceed the district height limit by twenty-five (25%) percent subject to 
approval of a minor discretionary permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). Any approval of such permit is subject to 



finding that adjoining properties will not be adversely affected by blockage of light, air or the 
intrusion on privacy. 
 
(2) Any structure in a C or I district exceeding twenty-five (25%) percent of the district height 
limit may be permitted upon approval of a conditional use permit by the Planning 
Commission as set forth in TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits). 
 
 

9-2-109 Landscaping and irrigation. 
 
The following City of Turlock landscape and irrigation ordinance shall be used in conjunction 
with the “State of California Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance” enacted pursuant to 
California Code of Regulations Title 23, Waters Division 2, Department of Water Resources 
Chapter 2.7, “Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance”.  The City shall implement the 
ordinance and shall maintain an adapted version of the State ordinance for public distribution. 
 
(a) Purpose and intent. The purpose and intent of this section is to establish landscaping 
regulations that are intended to: 
 

(1) Enhance the aesthetic appearance of development in all areas of the City by providing 
standards relating to quality, quantity and functional aspects of landscaping and landscape 
screening. 
 
(2) Increase compatibility between residential and abutting commercial and industrial uses. 
 
(3) Reduce the heat and glare generated by development. 
 
(4) Establish a water conservation plan to reduce water consumption in the landscape 
environment using conservation principles. 
 
(5) Protect public health, safety, and welfare by minimizing the impact of all forms of physical 
and visual pollution, controlling soil erosion, screening incompatible land uses, preserving 
the integrity of neighborhoods, and enhancing pedestrian and vehicular traffic and safety. 

 
(b) Applicability. All development in the City shall comply with the provisions of this section 
which establishes the criteria for the preparation of landscape and irrigation plans required by 
this ordinance. All required landscaping shall be installed by the developer and approved by the 
Planning Division prior to the occupancy of any building, unless other arrangements are agreed 
to by the Director. 
 

  
1) Applicable projects. The following shall be subject to the provisions of this section: 

 

i) new construction and rehabilitated landscapes for public agency projects and 
private development projects requiring a discretionary land use permit, such as, 
but not limited to, minor administrative approvals, minor discretionary permits, 
design review, conditional use permits or a planned development; 
 

ii) new construction and rehabilitated landscapes for public agency projects and 
private development projects with a landscape area equal to or greater than 
2,500 square feet requiring a building and/or grading permit; 



 

iii) new construction and rehabilitated landscapes which are developer-installed in 
single-family and multi-family projects with a landscape area equal to or greater 
than 2,500 square feet requiring a building and/or grading permit; 

 

iv) new construction landscapes which are homeowner-provided and/or 
homeowner-hired in single-family and multi-family residential projects with a total 
project landscape area equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet requiring a 
building and/or grading permit; or 

 

v) any other projects that are determined to be applicable projects pursuant to the 
State of California Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance .(California Code 
of RegulationsTitle 23. WatersDivision 2. Department of Water Resources 
Chapter 2.7. Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance), as may be amended 
from time to time. 
 

2) Exempt projects.This ordinance does not apply to: 
 

i) Interior remodels, tenant improvements and demolitions; 
 

ii) Changes of use to any existing building; and 
 

iii) Routine maintenance of existing landscaping. 
 
(c) Statutory authority in case of conflicting provisions. Nothing in this section shall be 
deemed to affect, annul or abrogate any other laws or ordinances pertaining or applicable to the 
properties and areas affected by this  section. 
 
(d) Water conservation definition. "Water conservation" shall mean a combination of 
landscape features and techniques that in the aggregate reduce the demand for and 
consumption of water, including appropriate low water using plants, nonliving groundcover, a 
low percentage of turf coverage, permeable paving and water conserving irrigation techniques 
and systems. 
 

(e) Process. The Development Services Director shall establish a format for plans and any 

other procedural guidelines for submittal as deemed necessary. 

(1) Plans required. Plans for the development of required landscaping shall be submitted to 
the Engineering Services Division for review and approval prior to the issuance of any 
building permit. (The plan shall be prepared by a person authorized by the State of 
California to sign and stamp landscape design drawings or the contractor completing the 
work.) Where special conditions of design warrant, modifications may be submitted for 
consideration. 
 
(2) Plan review and approval. The Development Services Department shall review each 
project and proposed landscape plan for compliance with the landscape and water 
conservation requirements. 
 



(3) Alternative means of compliance. The Development Services Director may allow 
alternative means of complying with the requirements in this section provided the alternative 
achieves results comparable to those achieved through strict application of the provisions of 
this section. 

 

(f) Development standards. 

(1) Required. In the following designated districts, not less than the stipulated percent of 

gross site area shall be landscaped in accordance with this section: 

Landscape Area Requirements 

Zone District Required Landscaping (% of site) 

R-L/R-L4.5 30 

R-M 30 (a)(d) 

R-H 30 (a)(d) 

C-O 15(c) (d) 

C-C 10 (c) (d) 

C-H 7.5 (c) (d) 

C-T 7.5 (b) (c) (d) 

I-BP 7.5 (b)(c)(d) 

I 5 (c)(d) 

 

(a) In multiple-family developments of twelve (12) or more dwelling units, ten (10%) percent of 
the total building site shall be set aside and landscaped for the purposes of common 
recreational open space. Such ten (10%) percent may be included in the general landscaping 
requirements. 

(b) This requirement may be waived by the Development Services Director for remodeling, 
alterations, or renovations to existing buildings and developments on parcels or building sites 
where an existing building occupies a substantial portion of the site and there are no front yard 
or corner street side yard setback areas. 

(c) In commercial and industrial districts, where a lot larger than 10,000 square feet is to be 
developed in phases, the Development Services Director may determine that only the 
developed portion of the site need be landscaped. Provision shall be made, however, to insure 
that the landscape requirement can still be met upon full development of the site. This exception 
shall not apply to any setback along a public street which shall be landscaped upon the initial 



development of the site. Unlandscaped areas shall be continuously maintained free of weeds, 
litter and debris, and shall not become a source of nuisance to adjoining property. 

(d) A required “landscape strip” (per the City General Plan “Typical Street Elements and 
Widths”), abutting the front or corner side yard may be counted toward the landscaping 
requirement when maintained by the private property owner.  Commercial districts shall 
maintain a minimum landscaped building setback of ten (10’) feet from the back of the public 
sidewalk when the lot is adjacent to a public street, except as otherwise provided in an 
applicable specific or master plan. 
 

(2) Determination of landscaped areas. In determining landscaped areas, landscaped 
areas in the setback, private patios and all other areas not occupied by buildings, parking 
lots, vehicle storage areas, and driveways shall be included. Areas occupied by clubhouses, 
recreation buildings, pools, saunas, inter walkways, and similar amenities may be included 
as landscaped areas. In industrial zoning districts, areas planted along a public right-of-way 
shall qualify as one and one-half (1.5) times the area toward the overall required 
landscaping area. Planned landscaping areas within the public right-of-way may be included 
in the landscaped area provided the landscaped area is maintained as part of the property 
and abuts landscaped area located on the property. 
 
(3) Landscape materials and placement. All landscape areas shall demonstrate a 
recognizable pattern or theme for the overall development. To accomplish this, new 
landscaping and landscape areas shall conform to the following: 

(i) Plant materials shall be selected for maintenance efficiency, drought tolerance and 
adaptability and relationship to Turlock’s environment and climate. Trees and shrubs in 
reasonable numbers shall be used in the landscape design; ground cover alone shall not 
be acceptable. No one (1) species of plant shall exceed twenty (20) percent of the plant 
material. Landscaped areas shall incorporate a minimum of two (2) of the following 
plantings: (1) grasses and ground covers, (2) shrubs, and (3) trees. 

(ii) In all C and I Districts, plant materials shall be sized and spaced to achieve 
immediate effect and shall normally not be less than twenty-four (24") inch box for 
parking lot shade trees, fifteen (15) gallon container for trees, five (5) gallon container for 
shrubs, and a one (1) gallon container for mass planting. Non-turf areas, such as shrub 
beds, shall be top dressed with a bark chip mulch or approved alternative. 

(iii) Turf shall be limited to twenty-five (25) percent of the total landscaped area in all C 
and I Districts. In residential districts turf shall not exceed fifty (50%) percent of the total 
landscaped area. 

(aa) "Permeable paving" shall mean a paving material that permits water 
penetration to a soil depth of eighteen (18") inches or more, including non-porous 
surface material poured or laid in sections not exceeding one (1) square foot in area 
and collectively comprising less than two-thirds of the total surface area of the lot and 
loosely laid materials such as crushed stone or gravel. 

(ab) "Hardscape" shall mean areas covered with non-permeable paving, including 
buildings and other structures, parking lots, driveways, and walkways. 

(4) Landscape irrigation. Provisions shall be made for a permanent "in place" irrigation 
system to all landscaped areas required herein, including street tree wells. All new irrigation 
systems shall use Xeriscape principles including such techniques and materials as low 



precipitation sprinkler heads, bubblers, drip irrigation systems, timing devices and moisture 
sensors. All irrigation systems must be designed to minimize overspray onto impervious 
surfaces, such as building, sidewalks, parking areas, etc., through the use of such 
techniques as low-trajectory spray nozzles or underground low volume applicators. All 
irrigation system controllers shall be set in compliance with the day and hour watering 
requirements of the City of Turlock and shall be designed to minimize water use by installing 
automatic systems such as multi-start controllers and soil moisture sensors. 

(5) Site preparation and installation. 

(i) Prior to the planting of any materials, the compacted soils surrounding a building site 
will be returned to a friable condition. Friable condition shall mean returning the soil to an 
easily crumbled or loosely compacted condition down to a minimum depth per planting 
material requirements, whereby the root structure of newly planted material will be 
allowed to spread unimpeded. The soil must be returned to a friable condition to a 
minimum depth as required for the planting material. 

(ii) Trees should be adequate in trunk diameter to support the top area of the tree. Trees 
planted in landscaped less than ten (10’) feet in diameter shall be planted using a deep 
root planter in accordance with the adopted Turlock Standards, Specifications and 
Drawings. Trees, shrubs, and vines should have body and fullness that is typical of the 
species. 

(iii) All ground cover should be healthy, densely foliated, and well rooted cuttings, or one-
gallon container plants. 

(iv) The spacing of trees and shrubs should be appropriate to the species used. The 
plant materials should be spaced so that they do not interfere with the adequate lighting 
of the premises or restrict access to emergency apparatus such as fire hydrants or fire 
alarm boxes. Proper spacing should also insure unobstructed access for vehicles and 
pedestrians in addition to providing clear vision of the intersections from approaching 
vehicles. Plant material should conform to the following spacing standards: 

(aa) A minimum of twenty-five (25') feet from the property corner at a street 
intersection to the center of the first tree or large shrub. 

(ab) A minimum of fifteen (15') feet between center of trees and large shrubs to light 
standards. 

(ac) A minimum of fifteen (15') feet between center of trees or large shrubs and fire 
hydrants. 

(ad) A minimum of fifteen (15') feet from the intersection of a driveway with a street 
right-of-way to the center of any tree having a diameter larger than eighteen (18") 
inches at maturity or large shrub. 

(6) Protective barrier. All planting areas abutting a paved or concrete surface shall be 
protected with raised concrete curbs. All planting areas abutting undeveloped areas shall be 
protected by either a raised concrete or timber barrier. 

(7) Maintenance. Required planting areas shall be permanently maintained. As used in this 
section, "maintained" includes: watering, weeding, pruning, insect control, and replacement 



of plant materials and irrigation equipment as needed to preserve the health and 
appearance of plant materials. 

(8) Parking lot landscaping. Parking lots and parking structures shall be landscaped in 

accordance with TMC 9-2-200 ART. 

(9) Landscaping in rights-of-way. All land area within the public right-of-way adjoining all 
sides of any parcel or building site that is not otherwise covered with a building, structure, 
paving, or similar impervious surface shall be landscaped and maintained in conjunction 
with the landscaping installed on the adjoining property as regulated in this  section. 
Landscaping within the right-of-way shall not be used when determining the required 
percentage of landscaping as required in this article. 

(i) Design. The design of the landscaping of the public right-of-way shall be included in 
the landscape plan and meet the requirements set forth in this section. Adequate space 
shall be provided in the landscape area to allow free, unrestricted growth and 
development of the landscaping and street trees. 

(ii) Street trees. Street trees shall be planted in accordance with the Theme Street List 
or as otherwise set forth in Article 5 of Chapter 7-7 of this Code relating to street trees 
and in accordance with the street tree planting standards as established by the City 
Engineer. 

(10) Driveway and corner visibility. All landscaping material shall be maintained in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 9-2-215: Driveway and corner visibility. 

(11) Landscaping along walls. All solid walls over three (3') feet in height that are adjacent 
to public streets or right-of-ways shall comply with one (1) of the following: 

(i) Be fully landscaped with vines and/or other plant materials to prevent the placement 
of graffiti. All landscaping shall include the installation of a permanent irrigation system. 

(ii) If not landscaped, shall be constructed of split-face concrete, brick or some other type 
of material that will discourage the placement of graffiti. 

(12) Landscape screening of R properties. Where a commercial or industrial site adjoins 
an R District, screening which is at least seventy-five (75%) percent opaque shall be 
provided. Where fences are required, such fencing shall be landscaped as appropriate. 

(13) Landscape screening of above-ground equipment. An average three (3’) foot high 
continuous screen shall be provide for all above-ground equipment and utilities greater than 
two (2’) feet in height. 

(14) Model homes. To promote landscape water conservation through education, all single 
family residential developments with more than two (2) model homes to be constructed by a 
developer, shall provide for landscaping the models entirely with water saving landscaping 
and irrigation in accordance with the following requirements: 

(i) Plant Materials. Each "water saving" model home to be landscaped shall contain 
exclusively low water use plant materials as identified on a suggested planting list 
available from the Development  Services Department or approved by the Development 
Services Director. 



(ii) Irrigation System. Each "water saving" model home shall contain exclusively an 
irrigation system that provides a high efficiency in water application according to site 
conditions. (Drip or trickle may not be used in turf areas). 

(iii) Signs. Each development with "water saving" model homes shall provide the 
following information to potential buyers: 

(aa) Front Yard Sign. A four (4) square foot sign shall be located in the front yard of 
each "water saving" model such that it is clearly visible to buyers. The sign shall 
indicate that the model features a water saving landscape and irrigation design. 

(ab) Interior Display. A drawing, or combination of drawings, shall be displayed 
inside each "water saving" model or the sales office which provides a schematic of 
the landscape. These drawings shall include a key identifying the common name of 
the plants used in the "water saving" model yards. A brochure with the same 
information may be distributed with the sales information to potential buyers to satisfy 
this requirement. 

(iv) Literature. Additional literature describing water conserving landscaping and 
irrigation shall also be made available to the potential buyer and displayed. 

 (15) Landscaping along Highway 99. Wherever property abuts Highway 99, a minimum 
ten-(10) foot-deep landscaped bed shall be installed.  In cases where the property is part of 
an approved Master or Specific Plan, the Plan document takes precedence over the 
standards contained in this landscape ordinance. In all cases, the landscaped bed shall 
include a combination of trees, shrubs, and groundcover.  
 

9-2-110 Family day care home. 
(a) Small family day care home. No permit is required to operate a small family day care home 
and the use shall be considered an accessory use to a residence. 
 
(b) Large family day care home. A permit shall be issued by the Development Services 
Director or his/her designee to operate a large family day care home upon the issuance of a 
minor administrative approval, as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits), upon finding that: 
 

(1) Residency. The site is the principal residence of the operator and the day care is clearly 
incidental and secondary to the use of the property for residential purposes. 
 
(2) General Plan and zoning compliance. The property complies with all applicable 
General Plan policies and zoning regulations established in the Turlock Municipal Code 
(TMC). 
 
(3) Spacing and concentration. The property is located at least three hundred (300') feet 
from any other State licensed large family day care home on the same street, or a street that 
is aligned and connected with that street unless bisected by an arterial street or expressway. 
 
(4) Traffic control. The family day care home would not adversely affect traffic and 
circulation of the neighborhood, including but not limited to blocking driveways or requiring 
double parking to load and unload guests. 
 



(5) Building modifications. The residential character and appearance of the dwelling does 
not have to be altered in any way to accommodate the family day care use. 
 
(6) Outdoor play areas. All outdoor play areas are clearly delineated through the use of 
fences, landscaping or other materials constructed in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations. 
 
(7) Operator agrees to the following additional conditions of approval: 
 

(i) Fire clearance. Prior to commencing the use, the operator shall obtain certification by 
the Turlock Fire Department that the facility complies with the standards established by 
the State Fire Marshal as set forth in Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
(ii) Signage. The operator agrees not to erect any off- or on-premises signs for the 
family day care home except as set forth in TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 
 
(iii) Noise control. The family day care home shall be operated in compliance with the 
City of Turlock noise regulations, TMC 9-2-300ART (Noise Standards). 
 
(iv) Outdoor play areas. The operator agrees to keep all activities related to the 
operation of the family day care on site at all times. 
 
(v) Access to inspect. The property owner and/or operator shall allow the City to enter 
the property to determine compliance with the conditions of the Large Family Daycare 
permit during normal operating hours of the family day care home. 
 
(vi) Compliance with laws and regulations. The day care operator acknowledges and 
agrees to comply with all applicable State, Federal and local laws and regulations. The 
operator shall provide evidence of compliance with State Department of Social Services 
requirements by providing a copy of the approved family day care license to the City 
prior to commencing operation of the family day care home. Upon revocation or denial of 
the State license, the permit issued pursuant to this section shall be automatically 
terminated. 
 

(c) Conditional use permit. When the findings set forth in this section for the issuance of a  
Large Family Daycare permit cannot be made, an application for a conditional use permit may 
be made as set forth in TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances), subject to 
the conditions of approval listed in this section and any other conditions established by the 
Planning Commission and/or City Council. 
 
(d) Use of residential garage. Family day care operations are not permitted in the garage area 
of a residence, except when the garage has been properly converted to habitable space through 
the issuance of a building permit and the space has met all applicable laws and regulations. 
Prior to finalizing the building permit, the property owner shall record a restrictive use covenant 
stating that the converted garage shall be returned to its original state upon the cessation of the 
family day care use and/or the sale of the dwelling unit. 
 
9-2-111 Mobile home development. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish the basis for evaluating the adequacy of 
a mobile home park in residential areas. Provisions are intentionally general with the intent of 
allowing flexibility and further detailed evaluation on a case-by-case basis. 



 
(b) Permit required. Mobile home parks shall be deemed permitted land uses in all land 
planned and zoned for residential land uses as designated by the Turlock General Plan, except 
that a conditional use permit must first be obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(c) General requirements. 
 

(1) A mobile home park shall not be less than one (1) acre in size. 
 
(2) A mobile home park development shall meet or exceed the minimum standards set forth 
in the zoning district in which it is located. This includes, but is not limited to, density 
consistent with the Turlock General Plan, yards, distance between structures, height, usable 
open space, fences and walls, off-street parking and loading, signs, outdoor facilities, refuse 
storage areas, performance standards, nonconforming uses, and recreational vehicle 
storage, except that such standards may be changed to allow for unique site design 
requirements for mobile home parks. 
 

9-2-112 Outdoor storage. 
(a) Vacant lots. No outdoor storage shall occur on any vacant parcel. No vehicles may be 
stored or displayed for sale on any vacant lot or at any vacant business location. Building 
materials for use on the same premises may be stored on the parcel during the time that a valid 
building permit is in effect for construction. 
 
(b) Residential districts. There shall be no visible storage of motor vehicles, trailers, airplanes, 
boats, or their composite parts unless in accordance with Section 9-2-114: Permitted locations 
of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. Loose rubbish, garbage, junk, or other 
receptacles; tents; or building or manufacturing materials in any portion of a residential lot shall 
not be permitted. 
 
(c) Commercial districts. Unless otherwise permitted in this section, outdoor storage and 
display of merchandise, materials, or equipment, or the conduct of business outdoors, is 
prohibited unless authorized by a minor discretionary permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-
5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). Unless specifically 
authorized, outdoor facilities shall not be located within the public right-of-way. 
 
(d) Permitted exceptions. Outdoor storage or display of the following merchandise, materials, 
or equipment, or the conduct of business outdoors, is permitted subject to the following 
standards and conditions: 
 

(1) Automobiles, boats, recreational vehicles and motorcycles. Outdoor storage and 
display shall be limited to vehicles or equipment offered for sale or rent only, excepting such 
vehicles in R Districts in accordance with Section 9-2-114: Permitted locations of mobile 
homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 
 

(e) Screening. A solid fence or wall shall be required for all uses requiring a screen. The height 
of merchandise, materials, and equipment stored or displayed shall not exceed the height of the 
screening fence or wall. The Development Services Director may require additional screening in 
highly visible areas and may impose reasonable restrictions on the type of storage or display or 
the location of outdoor storage and display areas to avoid adverse visual effects. All solid walls 
or fencing shall be landscaped in accordance with Section 9-2-109: Landscaping and irrigation. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


 
9-2-113 Planned developments. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the planned development standards and procedures is: 
 

(1) To ensure orderly and thorough planning and review procedures that will result in quality 
urban design; 
 
(2) To encourage variety and avoid monotony in developments by allowing greater freedom 
and flexibility with the use of alternative development standards; 
 
(3) To provide a mechanism whereby the City may authorize desirable developments 
consistent with the Turlock General Plan; 
 
(4) To encourage allocation and improvement of common open space in residential areas, 
and provide for maintenance of the open space at the expense of those who will directly 
benefit from it; 
 
(5) To encourage the preservation of serviceable existing structures of historic value or 
artistic merit by providing the opportunity to use them imaginatively for purposes other than 
that for which they were originally intended; and 
 
(6) To encourage the assembly of properties that might otherwise be developed in unrelated 
increments to the detriment of surrounding neighborhoods. 
 

(b) Applicability. No uses or structures shall be permitted except the uses and structures 
approved under the planned development. Specifically, building elevations and detailed site 
plans including, but not limited to, the location of all proposed buildings, open space, 
landscaping, and parking areas shall be submitted with the application. 
 
(c) Permit required. All planned developments shall be required to rezone the property to the 
appropriate Planned Development (PD) designation as provided in TMC 9-5-101 et seq. 
 
(d) Conditions of approval. In granting any planned development district, the City of Turlock 
may impose conditions deemed necessary or desirable to maintain neighborhood compatibility 
and to protect the public health, safety, and welfare. The conditions of approval shall be 
imposed by resolution of the City Council upon a recommendation by the Planning Commission 
in conjunction with the planned development approval. 
 
(e) Development regulations. Property development regulations applicable to each district 
shall govern as baseline regulations. Development may vary from the baseline provided all of 
the following findings can be made: 
 

(1) Building and site designs are consistent with the Turlock General Plan and any other 
applicable plans and policies adopted by the Turlock City Council; 
 
(2) The proposed changes are compensated for or mitigated by higher building or site 
development standards elsewhere on the site; and 
 
(3) The proposed changes will not adversely affect adjoining properties. 
 



(f) Development schedules (P-D). An application for a planned development district shall be 
accompanied by a development schedule indicating the anticipated date when construction of 
the project can be expected to begin, the anticipated rate of development, and the completion 
date. For good cause shown by the applicant, the Planning Commission may extend the time 
limits imposed by the development schedule. 
 
(g) Expiration. Upon expiration of the approved development schedule for any planned 
development or one (1) year from the date of enactment if no schedule has been approved, the 
development rights and planned development zoning designation for the property shall be 
deemed expired and the designation shall automatically be rezoned to its underlying base 
zoning district. 
 

(1) A planned development is valid as long as: 
 

(i) The use has commenced; or 
 
(ii) A building or construction permit has been issued by the Building Official or City 
Engineer and construction has started and diligently pursued toward completion of the 
project; or 
 
(iii) Other equivalent permit activity has occurred which, in the opinion of the 
Development Services Director, demonstrates a good-faith effort to initiate construction 
or operation of the approved use. 
 

(h) Amendments to planned developments. Amendments to an approved planned 
development shall be authorized as follows: 
 

(1) Amendments involving minor site plan modifications, no expansions, and/or no changes 
in use shall be reviewed by the Development Services Director. 
 
(2) Amendments involving major site modifications, expansions of up to twenty-five (25%) 
percent of gross land area or floor area, changes in use resulting in equal or lesser intensity 
than previously approved, time extensions, and/or a change in conditions from a conditional 
use permit approved by the Planning Commission  pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(3) Amendments involving expansions that are greater than twenty-five (25%) percent of 
gross land area or floor area, changes in use resulting in greater intensity than previously 
approved, and changes that will result in a significant impact upon adjacent properties shall 
be reviewed by the City Council, upon a recommendation of a conditional use permit by the 
Planning Commission, pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and 
Variances). 
 

9-2-114  Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 
(a) For the purposes of this section, unless otherwise apparent from the context, the following 
words and phrases are defined as follows: 
 

(1) “Utility trailer” shall mean and include a vehicle without motive power, not exceeding 
twenty (20') feet in length, eight (8') feet in width, and thirteen and one-half (13-1/2') feet in 
overall height, designed so that it can be drawn behind a motor vehicle in accordance with 
the California Vehicle Code. A private utility trailer, as defined herein, is considered 



incidental to the owners residential use of a property. It is not intended to mean truck trailers 
that would be a single or double trailer to be pulled behind a commercial vehicle or similar 
tractor-truck vehicle. 
 
(2) “Boat” shall mean a vehicle for traveling in or on water, not exceeding forty (40') feet in 
body length, eight (8') feet in width, or thirteen and one half (13-1/2') feet in overall height. 
The height shall include the trailer if the boat is mounted on a trailer. A vehicle meeting this 
definition, except for size, shall not be deemed to be incidental to a dwelling unit and not 
permitted to park in residential areas except as allowed herein. 
 

(b) Mobile homes - permitted locations. A mobile home is permitted to be placed, kept, 
maintained or occupied, within the City in the following areas or locations: 
 

(1) Within all residential areas of the City: only within a recognized mobile home 
development. 
 
(2) Within all nonresidential areas of the City: only within a mobile home park or trailer park, 
except for accessory storage, sale, or business uses as permitted in such zone. 
 

(c) Recreational vehicles, utility trailers, boats and boat trailers - permitted locations. A 
recreational vehicle, utility trailer, or boat and boat trailer is permitted to be placed, kept, and 
maintained, within the City in the following areas or locations: 
 

(1) In all residential zones. 
 

(i) Parking is permitted inside any enclosed accessory structure or carport, which 
structure otherwise conforms to the zoning requirements of the particular R zone where 
located. 
 
(ii) Parking shall take place upon a paved driveway or pad designed and installed for 
such intended use that complies with the requirements, restrictions, and conditions 
constructed in accordance with TMC 9-2-207: Parking in the R District. 
 
(iii) Parking is permitted outside in the interior side yard or rear yard provided it is not 
closer than four (4') feet to any parcel line or lot line and does not block the only window 
that can be opened or door of a room used for human habitation. Recreational vehicles, 
utility trailers, boats, boat trailers, and campers under seven (7’) feet in height are not 
subject to this limitation when they are not located in the front yard and are screened by 
a solid fence seven (7’) feet in height. 
 
(iv) Parking is permitted outside within the front yard when the following conditions exist: 
 

(aa) Space is not available in the rear yard or side yard, or there is no reasonable 
access to either the side yard or rear yard (a corner lot is always deemed to have 
reasonable access to the rear yard and a fence is not necessarily deemed to prevent 
reasonable access); or 
 
(ab) Interior parking is not possible anywhere on the property. 
 
(ac) In such cases, the following regulations shall govern the front yard parking of 
such a vehicular unit: 



1. No part of the unit shall impede safe pedestrian circulation on the public 
sidewalk or public thoroughfare (right-of-way) or block corner visibility for 
pedestrians or motorists; and 
2. The unit shall be owned by the resident on whose property the unit is parked 
for storage; and 
 
3. The unit shall be no closer than two and one-half (2.5') feet to any parcel line 
or lot line. 
 

(2) In all nonresidential areas. 
 

(i) Only within an existing mobile home or travel trailer park development, except for 
commercial storage, sale, or business uses, as permitted in such nonresidential zone. 
 

(d) Recreational vehicles, boat and boat trailers - temporary occupancy, uses or 
parking. The temporary occupancy, use, or parking of any recreational vehicle, boat and boat 
trailer beyond that described above shall only be permitted in the City as described below: 
 

(1) Temporary overnight sleeping is permitted within a recreational vehicle on property in a 
residential area for a maximum of fourteen (14) days in any one (1) calendar year provided, 
however, cooking shall not be permitted at any time. Any temporary occupancy of a utility 
trailer is prohibited at all times. 
 
(2) Any temporary connections to electrical utilities or water service for such units is 
permitted only for charging batteries and water tanks for a period not to exceed forty-eight 
(48) hours or other incidental or temporary uses as permitted herein. Any permanent 
connections to sewer lines, water lines, or electricity is prohibited. 
 
(3) The temporary parking for such a unit anywhere on the premises is permitted during 
active loading or unloading, including the temporary use of electricity or propane fuel, when 
it is necessary to prepare such a unit for a temporary recreational use, but not to exceed 
forty-eight (48) hours. 
 

(e) Owner permission required. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (c), herein, it 
shall be unlawful for any person to place, keep, maintain, or occupy, or permit to be placed, 
kept, maintained, or occupied, any mobile home, recreational vehicle, utility trailer, boat or boat 
trailer, or camper upon any lot, piece, parcel of land or upon any street, highway or other public 
right-of-way without the permission of the private property owner or prior written permission of 
the public entity. 
 
(f) Occupancy on public streets, alleys, or rights of way prohibited. It shall be unlawful for 
any person to occupy, or permit to be occupied for dwelling purposes any mobile home, 
recreational vehicle, travel trailer, camp car, or camper upon any street, highway or other public 
right-of-way without the prior written permission of the Chief of Police, or his or her designee. 
 
9-2-115 Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the recycling and solid waste disposal regulations is to: 
 

(1) Ensure the provision of adequate locations, compatible with surrounding land uses, for 
the collection, separation, processing and shipping of recyclable materials including 
newspapers, plastic, glass and aluminum; 



 
(2) Regulate the location of recycling and trash containers and enclosures in order to 
provide adequate, convenient space for the collection, storage, and loading of recycled 
materials at multifamily residential, commercial, and industrial land use sites; 
 
(3) Increase the recycling of reusable materials consistent with statewide goals to reduce 
solid waste disposal; and 
 
(4) Decrease the impact of the consumption of renewable and nonrenewable resources on 
the environment. 
 

(b) Applicability. 
 

Applicability of Recycling and Solid Waste Disposal Regulations 

Zoning District Applicability 

R 4 or more dwelling units 

C All development (a) 

I All development 

PS All development 

(a) For residential development in C Districts, applies only to 4 or more multifamily dwellings 

 
(c) New development regulations. 
 

(1) Materials, construction, design and location. 
 

(i) The enclosure shall comply with the City of Turlock Standards and Specifications for 
construction and materials. 
 
(ii) Each recycling and trash enclosure shall be designed to allow walk-in access without 
having to open the main enclosure gate. 
 
(iii) The property owner shall supply and maintain adequate bins and containers for 
recycling and waste disposal. 
 
(iv) Whenever feasible, the recycling collection area and the trash collection area shall 
be adjacent to one another and in one (1) enclosure. 
 

(2) Landscaping. A two (2') foot perimeter surrounding each recycling and trash enclosure, 
exclusive of access to the enclosure, shall be planted with landscaping and vines to 
discourage graffiti. 

 



(3) Setbacks. No recycling or trash enclosures shall be located in any front or corner side 
yard. 
 
(4) Deviation from standards. The Development Services Director may permit deviations 
from these standards, when the application of these standards prevents development of the 
parcel, upon approval of a minor administrative approval in accordance with TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 

(d) Existing development guidelines. The following guidelines shall apply to all existing 
development in R, C, I and PS Districts. 
 

(1) Existing trash enclosures. If existing development has an existing trash enclosure, any 
recycling containers shall be located inside the trash enclosure. If it is not possible to locate 
the required recycling containers in the trash enclosure, the recycling containers shall be 
located adjacent to the trash enclosure and shall be appropriately screened. 
 
(2) No existing trash enclosures. If the existing development does not have an existing 
trash enclosure, any recycling containers shall be located adjacent to the existing trash 
facilities and shall be appropriately screened in accordance with Subsection (c)(1), above. 
 
(3) Waiver of parking, landscaping areas or open space requirement. In order to meet 
any recycling and trash enclosure requirements, an existing development may use one (1) 
parking space, landscaping area or open space for the location of the recycling containers if 
the Development Services Director can find that the loss of parking, landscaping area or 
open space will not have any adverse effect on the need for such areas or the aesthetics of 
the existing development. Such a waiver shall be granted upon approval of a minor 
administrative approval in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(4) Setbacks. No recycling or trash enclosures shall be located in any front or corner side 
yard. 
 

(e) Exceptions. The Development Services Director may grant exceptions to this section when 
the Director finds that existing conditions prevent its practical application upon approval of a 
minor administrative approval in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
9-2-116 Recycling facilities. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the recycling facilities standards and regulations is to establish 
regulations governing recycling, consistent with the requirements of the California Beverage 
Container Recycling and Litter Reduction Act of 1986 and its amendments. 
 
(b) Definitions. 
 

(1) Bulk reverse vending machine shall mean a reverse vending machine designed to 
accept more than one (1) container at a time and to compute the refund or credit due on the 
basis of weight. 
 
(2) Collection facility, large shall mean a center for the acceptance by donation, redemption, 
or purchase of recyclable materials from the public occupying more than five hundred (500) 



square feet and may include permanent structures as well as mobile units, bulk reverse 
vending machines, and Kiosk-type units. 
 
(3) Collection facility, small shall mean a center for the acceptance by donation, redemption, 
or purchase of recyclable materials from the public occupying less than five hundred (500) 
square feet which may include: 
 

(i) A mobile unit; 
 
(ii) Bulk reverse vending machines or a grouping of reverse vending machines 
occupying more than fifty (50) square feet; 
 
(iii) Kiosk-type units that may include permanent structures; or 
 
(iv) Unattended containers placed for the donation of recyclable materials. 
 

(4) Processing facility shall mean a building or enclosed space used for the collection and 
processing of recyclable materials. Processing means the preparation of material for 
efficient shipment, or to an end-user’s specifications, by such means as baling, briquetting, 
compacting, flattening, grinding, crushing, mechanical sorting, shredding, cleaning, or 
remanufacturing. 
 
(5) Processing facility, heavy shall mean a processing facility other than a light- processing 
facility. 
 
(6) Processing facility, light shall mean a processing facility occupying less than 50,000 
square feet and including equipment for bailing, briquetting, crushing, compacting, grinding, 
shredding or sorting of source-separated recyclable materials, except ferrous metals other 
than food and beverage containers, and repairing of reusable materials. 
 
(7) Recyclable material shall mean material including, but not limited to metals, glass, plastic 
and paper which are intended for reuse, remanufacture, or reconstitution for the purpose of 
using the altered form. Recyclable material does not include refuse or hazardous materials, 
but may include used motor oil collected and transported in accordance with Section 
25250.11   of the California Health and Safety Code. 
 
(8) Recycling facility shall mean a center for the collection and/or processing of recyclable 
materials. A certified recycling facility or certified processor means a recycling facility 
certified by the California Department of Conservation as meeting the requirements of the 
California Beverage Container Recycling and Litter Reduction Act of 1986. On-site storage 
containers or processing facilities used solely for the recycling of material generated by 
residential property, business or manufacturer are not recycling centers for the purposes of 
this section. 
 
(9) Reverse vending machine shall mean an automated mechanical device that accepts at 
least one (1) or more types of empty beverage containers including aluminum cans, glass 
and plastic bottles, and issues a cash refund or a redeemable credit slip. A reverse vending 
machine may sort and process containers mechanically, provided that the entire process is 
enclosed within the machine. 
 



(10) Single-fee revenue vending machine shall mean a reverse vending machine designed 
to accept individual containers one (1) at a time. 
 

(c) Permits required. No person shall permit the placement, construction, or operation of any 
recycling facility without first obtaining a permit as follows: 
 

Recycling Facility Permit Requirements 

Type of Facility Districts Permitted Permit Required 

Bulk reverse vending machine 

and small collection 

Large collection 

Light processing 

Heavy processing 

All C, I and PS 

CH and I 

I 

I 

Zoning Clearance 

Minor Discretionary Permit 

Minor Discretionary Permit 

Conditional Use Permit 

 
(d) Permits for multiple sites. The Development Services Director may grant a single Site Plan 
Permit in accordance the procedures for a minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-
5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits) to allow more than one (1) 
bulk reverse vending machine or small collection facility located on different sites under the 
following conditions: 
 

(1) The operator of each of the proposed facilities is the same; 
 
(2) The proposed facilities are determined by the Director to be similar in nature, size and 
intensity of activity; and 
 
(3) All the applicable criteria and standards set forth in this section are met for each 
proposed facility. 
 

(e) Design criteria and standards. 
 

(1) Reverse vending machines. 
 

(i) No machine shall obstruct pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 
(ii) No required parking space shall be occupied. 
 
(iii) Each machine shall be clearly marked to identify the type of material to be deposited, 
operating instructions, and the identity and phone number of the operator or responsible 
person to call if the machine is inoperative. 
 
(iv) The maximum sign area is four (4) square feet per machine, exclusive of operating 
instructions. 
 
(v) Adequate nighttime lighting shall be provided. 
 



(vi) No machine located within three hundred (300') feet of an R District shall be visible 
from residences or public right-of-way located in an R District. 
 

(2) Small collection facilities. 
 

(i) Small collection facilities shall be no larger than five hundred (500) square feet, shall 
be set back at least ten (10') feet from a front or side property line, and shall not obstruct 
pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 
(ii) No power-driven processing equipment shall be used except for reverse vending 
machines. 
 
(iii) All containers shall be constructed and maintained with durable waterproof and 
rustproof material, covered when the site is not attended, secured from unauthorized 
entry or removal of material, and of a capacity sufficient to accommodate materials 
collected. 
 
(iv) All recyclable material shall be stored in containers or in a mobile unit vehicle. 
 
(v) Attended facilities located within one hundred (100') feet of the boundary of an R 
District shall operate only between 9:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. 
 
(vi) Containers shall be clearly marked to identify the type of material that may be 
deposited. The facility shall be clearly marked identifying the name and telephone 
number of the facility operator, the hours of operation, and a notice stating that no 
material shall be left outside the recycling containers. 
 
(vii) The maximum sign area shall be sixteen (16) square feet exclusive of informational 
requirements and operational instruction. Directional sign bearing no advertising 
message may be installed with the approval of the Development Services Director if 
necessary to facilitate traffic circulation, or if the facility is not visible from the public right-
of-way. 
 
(viii) No additional parking spaces will be required for customers of a small collection 
facility located at the established site of a host use. One (1) space will be provided for 
the attendant, if needed. 
 
(ix) No required parking spaces shall be occupied by the facility. 
 

(3) Large collection facilities. 
 

(i) A large collection facility shall be located at least three hundred (300') feet from an R 
District. 
 
(ii) Each facility shall be in an enclosed building or within an area enclosed by a solid 
masonry wall at least eight (8') feet in height with landscaping. 
 
(iii) Six (6) parking spaces shall be for customers and one (1) parking space shall be 
provided for each commercial vehicle operated by the recycling facility. 
 



(iv) Power-driven processing, including aluminum foil and can compacting, bailing, 
plastic shredding, or other light-processing activities necessary for efficient temporary 
storage and shipment of material may be allowed if noise mitigation and other conditions 
are met. 
 

(4) Processing facilities (light- and heavy-processing). 
 

(i) Processors will operate in a wholly enclosed building except for incidental storage, or 
within an area enclosed on all sides by an opaque fence or wall not less than eight (8') 
feet in height and landscaped on all street frontages and shall be located at least five 
hundred (500') feet from an R District except that such facilities may be located closer 
provided a Conditional Use Permit is obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(ii) Power-driven processing shall be permitted provided all noise-level requirements are 
met in accordance with TMC 9-2-300ART (Noise Standards). Light-processing facilities 
are limited to baling, briquetting, crushing, compacting, grinding, shredding and sorting 
of source-separated recyclable materials and repairing of reusable materials. 
 

(5) All collection and processing facilities. 
 

(i) No facility shall occupy a required front or corner side yard, and all regulations 
applicable to the principal structure on the site shall apply to collection and processing 
facilities except as provided in this section. 
 
(ii) Facilities shall be designed to be compatible with the architectural character of 
adjacent structures. 
 
(iii) A large collector or processing facility may accept used motor oil for recycling from 
the generator in accordance with Section 25250.11 of the California Health and Safety 
Code. 
 
(iv) All exterior storage of material shall be in sturdy containers or enclosures that are 
covered, secured, and maintained in good condition. Storage containers for flammable 
material shall be constructed of non-flammable material. Any outdoor storage containers 
or materials shall not exceed the height of any screening fence or wall within seventy-
five (75') feet of such fence or wall. 
 
(v) All facilities shall be administered by on-site personnel during hours the facility is 
open. If a processing facility is located within five hundred (500') feet of an R District, it 
shall not be in operation between 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. unless such operating hours 
are extended by a conditional use permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(vi) Any containers provided for after-hours donation of recyclable materials shall be of 
sturdy, rustproof construction; shall have sufficient capacity to accommodate materials 
collected; and shall be secure from unauthorized entry or removal of materials. 
 
(vii) Containers shall be clearly marked to identify the type of material that may be 
deposited. There shall be displayed a notice stating that no material shall be left outside 



the recycling containers. All materials shall be kept in the containers to prevent creating 
a litter nuisance at the site or on any adjacent properties. 
 
(viii) Sign requirements shall be those provided for in the zoning district in which the 
facility is located. In addition, each facility shall be clearly marked with the name and 
phone number of the facility operator and the hours of operation. 
 

9-2-117 Salvage and wrecking operations. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the salvage and wrecking operations standards and regulations is 
to provide opportunities for locating salvage and wrecking operations in industrial areas so as 
not to have an adverse impact on adjacent land uses or groundwater supplies. 
 
(b) Design criteria and standards. 
 

(1) Salvage and wrecking operations shall not be located any closer than five hundred (500') 
feet from any A, R, C (except CH) or PS District or any such land so designated in the 
Turlock Area General Plan. 
 
(2) Salvage and wrecking operations shall be conducted wholly within an area enclosed by a 
solid masonry wall at least eight (8') feet in height unless located on an industrial zoned 
property that abuts industrial zoned properties on all sides. 
 
(3) Any outdoor storage shall not exceed the height of the solid masonry wall within seventy-
five (75') feet of such wall. 
 
(4) No hazardous substances or hazardous wastes, as defined in 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 
(14), shall be released on, under or about the site and no material shall be discharged on, 
under or about the site that could affect the quality of the ground or surface waters within the 
meaning of the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act, as amended, Water Code 
Section 13000, et seq. For the purpose of this section, "release" shall have the meaning 
provided for in 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 (22). 
 

9-2-118 Screening of mechanical equipment. 
Exterior mechanical equipment, except solar collectors affixed to the roof and residential utility 
meters, shall be screened from public view on all sides. Equipment to be screened includes, but 
is not limited to, heating, air conditioning, refrigeration equipment, plumbing lines, duct work, 
and transformers. Satellite dish antennas and microwave equipment shall be screened in 
accordance with TMC 9-2-101: Accessory buildings or structures. 
 
9-2-119 Second dwelling units. 
A second dwelling unit on a single or multi-family residential zoned lot may be permitted subject 
to first securing a ministerial approval from the Development Services Director or his/her 
designee in each case and when the following conditions are met: 
 
(a) The lot must contain an existing single-family dwelling. 
 
(b) One (1) additional off-street parking space meeting City standards shall be required. Off-
street parking spaces for a second dwelling unit may be provided with tandem parking. 
 
(c) The second dwelling unit shall conform to all height, setback, lot coverage, architectural 
review, site plan review, density, fees, charges, and other zoning requirements applicable. 



 
(d) The second dwelling unit may be occupied by a renter, but shall not be independently sold. 
 
(e) An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety Code, and a 
manufactured home, as defined in Section 18007 of the Health and Safety Code, are permitted 
as a second dwelling unit pursuant to compliance with the provisions of this section. 
 
(f) The second dwelling unit is subject to architectural review to ensure compatibility with the 
main dwelling unit and surrounding dwelling units in terms of scale, height, and exterior design 
and treatment as provided in the design guidelines. More specifically, the second dwelling unit 
shall incorporate compatible architectural characteristics including roof pitch and style, window 
and door detailing, exterior materials, textures, colors, and finishes. 
 

 9-2-120 Underground utilities. 

All electrical, gas, telephone, cable television, and similar distribution lines, including existing 
distribution lines, providing immediate service to a development site shall be installed 
underground within the site, except: 
 
(a) Above ground installation shall be allowed in Agriculture Districts; or 
 
(b) The Development Services Director may waive the undergrounding requirement if it can be 
demonstrated to the Director that site conditions make underground placement impractical. 
 
9-2-121 Neighborhood stores. 
Development standards for neighborhood stores in residential districts shall be as follows: 
 
(a) Neighborhood stores shall be located on corner lots only. No store shall be located within 
1,000 feet of another commercial facility. 
 
(b) On-site parking shall be provided at a minimum of one (1) space per three hundred (300) 
square feet of gross floor area with a maximum of one (1) space per two hundred (200) square 
feet of gross floor area. Parking shall not face directly onto adjoining streets or right-of-ways. 
Any existing alleyway may be utilized for access. 
 
(c) On-site loading and unloading shall be provided in accordance with Section 9-2-218: 
Location and design of off-street loading spaces. Parking area driveways may be utilized where 
they meet the standards of Article 2 of this chapter. 
 
(d) The maximum sign area allowed is one-half (1/2) square foot of sign area per one (1) lineal 
foot of building frontage. Freestanding signs shall not be permitted. Signs shall be designed in 
accordance with the sign design guidelines contained in Article 3 of this chapter. 
 
(e) Neighborhood stores shall be separated from adjoining residential uses by a solid masonry 
wall. All masonry walls shall comply with all height and location standards for fencing in the 
applicable residential district. 
 
(f) A minimum of ten (10%) percent of lot area shall be provided in landscaping. All landscaping 
shall comply with the standards in Section 9-2-109. 
 
9-2-122 Rental storage facility. 
A rental storage facility is subject to the following development standards: 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


 
(a) A minimum fifteen (15') feet wide landscape strip shall be installed along any street frontage. 
All landscaping and irrigation system shall be installed in accordance with TMC 9-2-109: 
Landscaping and irrigation. 
 
(b) The site shall be entirely paved, except for structures and landscaping. 
 
(c) The elevation of any structure facing a street or fully visible to the public shall include 
architectural treatment such as stucco, brick, or wood finish, and articulated walls and rooflines. 
 
(d) Structures located on a property line adjacent to residential property shall not exceed a 
height of eight (8') feet. Otherwise the setback and height standards apply as set forth in TMC 
9-3-300ART and TMC 9-3-400ART. 
 
(e) The floor area ratio requirement of TMC 9-3-300ART and TMC 9-3-400ART does not apply 
but is determined by setback, aisle width, parking and landscaping requirements. 
 
(f) One (1) residential unit may be provided for a caretaker that is responsible for security, 
maintenance or management of the facility. The residential unit shall be a permanent structure 
that is architecturally compatible with the storage facility and must be clearly accessory to the 
storage facility. 
 
(g) A minimum seven (7) on-site parking spaces shall be provided adjacent to the office. Two (2) 
additional parking spaces shall be provide for the caretaker. 
 
(h) A minimum six (6') foot high decorative fence or wall shall be installed around the perimeter 
of the site. A minimum seven (7') foot high decorative solid wall shall be provided along property 
lines adjacent to properties zoned for residential use. 
 
(i) All security gates that are automated shall be provided with equipment that can be activated 
by the Fire Department Opticom system. The driveway serving a security gate shall be designed 
to allow vehicles to turn around without backing out into the street. 
 
(j) The drive aisle throughout the complex with shall be a minimum twenty (20') feet to provide 
safe and unobstructed circulation. 
 
(k) No flammable or otherwise hazardous materials shall be stored on the site. 
 
(l) Security lighting shall be provided for the exterior of the buildings, parking areas, driveways, 
and aisles. Lighting shall be located or shielded so as to not produce glare on adjacent 
properties. 
 
(m) Only freestanding monument signs are permitted and shall be of a low profile design not to 
exceed four (4') feet in height, externally illuminated, and incorporate the design, materials, 
textures, and colors used in the building. All building signage shall be composed of individual 
pan channel letters or equivalent. Exposed raceways, cabinet signs, and changeable copy are 
prohibited. All other applicable sign standards apply in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART 
(Signs). 
 
(n) A minimum of one (1) trash receptacle shall be provided on the site. The trash receptacle 
shall be located and enclosed consistent with city standards. 



 
(o) All storage shall be located within a fully enclosed structure except for recreation vehicles. 
Recreation vehicles shall be screened from public view and shall not be stored adjacent to 
residential properties. 
 
(p) No business activity shall be conducted other than the rental of storage spaces for inactive 
storage use. 
 
9-2-123 Equipment sales, service and rentals. 
(a) Equipment sales, service and rentals defined. Equipment Sales, Service and Rentals 
shall mean the sales, services and rental of construction or agricultural equipment only. It shall 
not pertain to the outdoor storage of vehicles, boats, and other large items not normally stored 
indoors that may be for sale or rent. 
 
(b) Permits required. Unless located on a property previously authorized for such use, no 
equipment sales, service and rental facility shall operate without first obtaining a minor 
discretionary permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits) and with the provisions of the this section. 
 
(c) Conditions and restrictions pertaining to equipment sales, service and rentals. An 
equipment sales, service and rental facility is subject to the following development standards: 
 

(1) The entire length of all street frontages, including along State Highway 99, shall be 
landscaped. Except where previously approved and developed, such landscape planters 
shall be a minimum of ten (10') feet in width. Under no circumstance shall any required 
landscape planter along State Highway 99 be less than ten (10') feet in width on average. 
 
(2) All landscaping and irrigation systems shall be designed and installed in accordance with 
the TMC 9-2-109. 
 
(3) An average four (4') foot high compact, dense evergreen landscape hedge screen shall 
be installed along all street frontages, including along State Highway 99. 
 
(4) Street trees shall be installed at forty (40') feet intervals, except that along State Highway 
99 required street trees may be dispersed into distinct groups to afford views into the site 
from the public right-of-way. 
 
(5) Landscaping shall be installed in accordance with the Northwest Triangle Specific Plan, 
Beautification Master Plan and all other applicable plans, policies, and ordinances of the 
City of Turlock. 
 
(6) A minimum six (6') foot high decorative fence (wrought iron or approved alternate) shall 
be installed along the primary street frontage. On a previously developed site, chain link 
fencing may be acceptable if appropriately landscaped. A minimum seven (7') foot high 
decorative solid wall shall be provided along property lines adjacent to properties zoned for 
residential use. 
 
(7) All chain link fencing shall include privacy slats or be landscaped with vines. 
 
(8) All equipment shall be arranged in a structured and orderly manner on the site, and shall 
not encroach into any required setback or landscape area. 



 
(9) Boom lifts, scissor lifts, loaders, backhoes and similar extendable equipment shall not be 
stored in an upright or extended position to exceed twenty (20') feet in height. 
 
(10) At the discretion of the Development Services Director, heavy equipment and heavy 
vehicles may be stored on unpaved areas. However, all such areas shall be adequately 
covered with gravel, crushed base rock or approved equivalent to create an all-weather 
driving surface and to eliminate dust and mud. Notwithstanding this provision, the site shall 
be entirely paved, except for structures and landscaping. 
 
(11) Customer and employee parking areas, including drive aisles, shall be paved. 
 
(12) Adequate customer and employee parking shall be provided pursuant to TMC 9-2-
200ART. The number of parking spaces shall be determined by the floor area of on-site 
structures or as determined by the Development Services Director pursuant to TMC 9-2-
200ART. 
 
(13) A paved drive aisle shall be provided throughout the facility with a minimum width of 
twenty (20') feet to provide safe and unobstructed circulation and reduce entrained dust. 
 
(14) Exterior security lighting shall be provided. Lighting shall be installed and maintained so 
that it will not cast direct light or glare on adjacent properties or public rights-of-way. 
 
(15) All freestanding signs shall incorporate the design, materials, textures, and colors used 
in the building. Except for freeway-oriented signage permitted under TMC 9-2-506(j)(4), all 
freestanding signs shall be of a low profile monument design not to exceed four (4') feet in 
height. All building signage shall be composed of individual pan channel letters or 
equivalent. Cabinet signs, and changeable copy are prohibited. All other applicable sign 
standards apply in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART. 
 
(16) Freeway-oriented signage permitted under TMC 9-2-506(j)(4) shall be designed to 
incorporate the design, materials, textures, and colors used in the building. Pole signs, as 
defined by TMC 9-2-503, composed of an unadorned, plain metal pole and/or a sign cabinet 
are prohibited. However, the Development Services Director may approve a freeway-
oriented pole sign where the pole or poles incorporate the design, materials, textures of the 
main building and the cabinet has a translucent background with opaque lettering. 
Changeable copy is prohibited on any freeway-oriented sign. 
 
(17) A minimum of one (1) trash receptacle shall be provided on the site. The trash 
receptacle shall be located and enclosed consistent with city standards. 
 
(18) No business activity shall be conducted other than the sales, service or rental of 
construction or agricultural equipment unless such business activity is clearly incidental to 
the primary authorized use. 
 

9-2-124 Mobile food facilities. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow mobile food facilities to operate within the 
City through an expedited permitting process that ensures that such uses are operated in a 
manner that is safe and secure, and will not create adverse impacts to either the property on 
which they are located or to the immediate neighborhood. 
 



(b) Mobile food facility permit required. Any person must obtain a mobile food facility permit 
prior to operating a mobile food facility on private property within the City. The approval shall be 
specific to a location and shall not be transferable to other locations or operators. Operation of a 
mobile food facility shall not be permitted on public property under this section. An application 
for a permit shall be submitted for approval of a mobile food facility permit not less than fifteen 
(15) days before the use is intended to begin. The application shall be on a form prescribed for 
that purpose, and shall include the written consent of the owner of the property on which the use 
is to be located and, if different, the business owner providing restroom facilities within two 
hundred (200') feet as prescribed by the California Health and Safety Code 114250. 
 
(c) Mobile food facility permit application: Review and approval. 

(1) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
shall take action within fifteen (15) days. 
 
(2) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Community Development 
Director or designee shall refer the permit application to City departments and any other 
agencies deemed appropriate by the Development Services Director. 
 
(3) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this section, the Development 
Services Director shall approve the permit only if it makes the following findings and subject 
to the limitations and conditions of this section: 
 

(i) The proposed location is on an improved property that is entirely paved and shall not 
interfere with the operation of any approved uses on the site; 
 
(ii) The site is adequate to support the operation of the mobile food facility and the 
mobile food facility will not adversely affect adjacent structures and uses, or the 
surrounding neighborhood; 
 
(iii) The proposed use will not adversely affect the circulation and flow of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic in the immediate area; 
 
(iv) The proposed use will not create a demand for additional parking which cannot be 
met safely and efficiently in existing parking areas; 
 
(v) The proposed use will not conflict with the terms or intent of any planned unit 
development permit or conditional use permit currently in effect on the property; 
 
(vi) The proposed use and location complies with all applicable requirements of the 
Turlock Municipal Code, the California building and fire codes, and any other applicable 
local, regional, State or Federal laws or regulations; and 
 
(vii) The proposed use will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the 
public welfare of the community. 
 

(d) Limitations of use by zoning district. A mobile food facility may be permitted to operate on 
any property zoned for commercial or industrial uses, except the CO Commercial Office District 
defined under Article 3 of Chapter 9-3 TMC. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock093.html#9-3


(e) Limitation on number and concentration of mobile food facilities. On properties of less 
than one (1) acre in size, no more than one (1) mobile food facility shall be permitted at one (1) 
time. 
 
(f) Mobile food facility permit and renewals. The mobile food facility permit shall expire on 
December 31 each calendar year. Applications received after October 1st of each calendar year 
shall be given a renewal date that ends on December 31 of the following year. Each renewal 
shall be subject to the findings and conditions outlined in this section. There shall be no limit on 
the number of renewals that may be granted. 
 
(g) Conditions. In authorizing an application for a mobile food facility permit, the Development 
Services Director shall include as conditions of approval, the following minimum provisions: 
 

(1) The use shall be conducted entirely upon private property and not within any public right-
of-way; 
 
(2) The use shall conform to all applicable building, electrical, fire, plumbing, engineering, 
solid waste, wastewater, water quality, and environmental regulations and laws; 
 
(3) No permanent structures may be constructed on the site to support the operation of the 
mobile food facility; 
 
(4) No signs, balloons, or flags may be displayed on or off the site to promote the mobile 
food facility except those permanently affixed to the mobile food vehicle/trailer; 
 
(5) No outdoor music, live or amplified, is permitted; 
 
(6) Temporary canopies or tents less than one hundred twenty (120) square feet may be 
erected but must be removed at the end of each business day; 
 
(7) No more than two (2) small tables seating up to a total of ten (10) people may be 
permitted and must be removed at the end of each business day; 
 
(8) Vehicle and temporary canopies or tents shall not be located closer than twenty (20') feet 
to a building or structure; 
 
(9) Vehicle and any temporary canopies or tents shall not be located on the same parcel, or 
closer than one hundred (100') feet from the lot line of an adjacent parcel, on which a 
flammable, combustible, or liquid petroleum gas dispensing or storage container is located; 
 
(10) Provisions for fire protection and fire vehicle access shall be made as prescribed by the 
Fire Marshal; 
 
(11) The site shall be continuously maintained free of weeds, litter and debris; 
 
(12) Within three (3) days after ceasing operation of the mobile food facility at any location, 
the site shall be completely cleaned; all trash, debris, signs, sign supports, and temporary 
electrical service will be removed; 
 
(13) The mobile food facility operator shall obtain and maintain a valid Turlock business 
license at all times; 



 
(14) An agreement for the use of properly operating restroom facilities within two hundred 
(200') feet of the vehicle’s location shall be maintained at all times; and 
 
(15) Any additional limitations or conditions as required by the Community Development 
Director as conditions of approval. 
 

(h) Fee. A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering 
the mobile food facility permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, and 
may be amended from time to time. 
 
(i) Suspension or revocation of mobile food facility permit. Any mobile food facility permit 
may be suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures and standards of Article 11 of 
Chapter 9-5 TMC. The permit shall be automatically suspended and may be revoked when the 
permit issued by the Stanislaus County Environmental Resources Department is suspended or 
revoked for any reason. 
 
(j) Appeal. The decision of the Development Services Director may be appealed as provided by 
Chapter 1-4 TMC. 
 
9-2-125 Cargo containers. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow cargo containers to be placed on private 
property in a manner that is safe and secure, will not create adverse impacts to either the 
property on which they are located or to the immediate neighborhood, will achieve community 
architectural and design standards, and will not become a nuisance to the community. 
 
(b) Permit requirements and exceptions. 
 

(1) Temporary use.  
 

(i)  No cargo container permit shall be required when the cargo container is used during 
construction and a valid building permit is active for the property provided that all 
applicable conditions in Section 9-2-125(d)(1) subsections (i) through (iv) are met.    
 
(ii) No cargo container permit shall be required to place a cargo container on private 
property for a period of three (3) months or less provided that all applicable conditions of 
approval applicable to the zoning district listed in Section 9-2-125(d)are met. For 
residential uses only, such cargo containers are not required to be screened and may be 
placed in the front yard on a paved driveway so long as the cargo container does not 
encroach into the landscaped area, onto sidewalks, or into public rights-of-way, and 
there is sufficient room to open the garage door to allow access and egress in case of 
emergency. 
 
(iii) A temporary use of land permit shall be obtained pursuant to Article 5 of Chapter 9-5 
TMC (Temporary Uses of Land) for a period of greater than three (3) months but no 
more than one (1) year provided that all of the conditions of approval applicable to the 
zoning district listed in Section 9-2-125(d) are met, with the exception that cargo 
containers screened from public view from the public right-of-way or an adjacent 
property shall not be required to meet the design requirements of Section 9-2-
125(d)(1)(xi). 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock014.html#1-4


(iv) The cargo container must be removed immediately upon completion of the 
temporary term or upon expiration or finalization of the building permit. 

 
(2) Permanent use. 

 
(i) A cargo container permit shall be required prior to placing a cargo container on private 
property for more than one (1) year. The approval shall be specific to a location and shall 
not be transferrable to other locations or property. An application for a permit shall be 
submitted for approval of a cargo container permit not less than thirty (30) days before 
the use is intended to begin. The application shall be on a form prescribed for that 
purpose by the Development Services Director, and shall include the written and 
notarized consent of the owner of the property on which the use is to be located. 
 
(ii) Residential districts. The cargo container permit shall be issued in accordance with 
the criteria and procedures for a minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits) and shall meet all 
applicable standards and conditions in subsection (d).    

(iii) Commercial, industrial, public, and Downtown overlay districts. The cargo 
container permit shall be issued in accordance with the criteria and procedures for a 
Minor Discretionary Permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits)  and shall meet all applicable standards and conditions in 
subsection (d). 

(3) Exceptions. Exceptions to the standards in this section may be granted by the Planning 
Commission upon approval of a conditional use permit pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 

(4) Public right-of-way restriction. No cargo container may be placed in the public right-of-
way unless approved through the issuance of an encroachment permit by both the 
Engineering Division and the Fire Department. 

(5) Limitations of use by zoning district. Cargo containers may only be stored for resale 
or rental purposes in the Industrial (I) zoning district in accordance with all permitting 
requirements and standards of TMC 9-3-400ART, and are subject to the standards specified 
in this section and TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor Storage). 

(c) Cargo container permit application: Review and approval.  

(1) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
or designee shall take action within twenty (21) working days. A notice shall be sent to the 
applicant if the application is deemed incomplete. If no response is provided by the applicant 
within six (6) months of receiving an incomplete notice, the application shall be expired and 
the applicant will be required to submit a new application and fee. 

(2) For purposes of application processing, any application for a cargo container permit is 
considered to be a ministerial permit and, as such, is not subject to the time frames specified 
in Section 65950 et seq. of the California Government Code, or the California Environmental 
Quality Act. 



(3) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
or designee shall refer the permit application to City departments and any other agencies 
deemed appropriate by the Development Services Director. 

(4) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this section, the Development 
Services Director or designee shall approve the permit only if the following findings are 
made and subject to the limitations and conditions of this section: 

(i) The proposal is consistent with the General Plan, the Zoning Ordinance, the Design 
Guidelines, and any other applicable plans or standards applicable to the property; and 

(ii) The proposal meets all of the applicable design standards and provisions of this 
section; and  

(iii) The proposal is in harmony with the existing or proposed development in the general 
area or neighborhood and will be compatible with adjacent structures and uses, 
including those on adjoining properties; and  

(iv) That the site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate 
such uses, all yards, open spaces, walls, fences, parking, loading, landscaping and 
other features required by the Turlock Municipal Code or the Planning Commission to 
make sure such use is compatible with the land and uses in the vicinity; and 

(v) Any structural element contained within the proposal is of high quality design 
consistent with the intent of the City Design Element of the Turlock General Plan and the 
exterior design, appearance, materials, and colors will not cause the nature of the 
neighborhood to materially depreciate; and  

(vi) The proposal will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the public 
safety, health, and welfare of the neighborhood and community. 

(d) Conditions of approval. 

(1) Conditions applicable in all zoning districts. In authorizing any permit for a cargo 
container, the Development Services Director shall include as conditions of approval, the 
following minimum provisions: 

(i) Accessory use. A cargo container may be erected on a property when the use 
thereof is clearly incidental and secondary to the primary use of the property: For 
purposes of this section, a cargo container shall not be issued for a property where there 
is no approved and constructed primary building. 
 
(ii) Height. Cargo container(s) shall not be stacked and shall not be greater than ten (10) 
feet in height including the foundation system, as measured from the property grade. 
 
(iii) Setbacks. Cargo container(s) shall meet all applicable setback requirements and are 
not permitted in front yard setback area unless provided otherwise in TMC 9-2-125(d)(2). 
 
(iv) Location. The proposed location shall not interfere with other uses, clear vision 
triangle, pedestrian/vehicular visibility, required parking, landscaping, or circulation on 
the property, or create any other safety problem. The cargo container(s) shall not be 
placed in a “fire lane” or other fire access lanes. The cargo container(s) must be 
accessible by a paved drive aisle. 



 
(v) Contents. No hazardous materials, or combustible or flammable liquids may be 
stored in the container.  
 
(vi) Screening. Cargo container(s) shall be screened from view from the public right-of-
way and from view of adjacent residential uses or districts using methods such as, but 
not limited to, line of sight behind buildings or walls with landscaping and construction of 
walls with vines.  
 
(vii) Number and size: Cargo containers shall be allowed pursuant to the number and 
size limitations and allowances listed below: 
 

(aa) Residential (R-E, R-L, R-M, R-H) districts. The number shall be limited to one 
(1) container no greater than 120 square feet in area and the dimension may not 
exceed fifteen (15’) in length. 
 
(ab) Commercial (C-C, C-H, C-T, TC overlay district), industrial (I,  I-BP, IR overlay 
district), and Public/Semi-Public (P-S) zones when adjacent to a residential use or a 
Residential (R-E, R-L, R-M, R-H) zone; the Office Residential (OR) and Downtown 
Core Transition (DCT) overlay districts; and the Commercial Office (C-O) zone. The 
number shall be limited to one (1) container no greater than ten (10%) percent of the 
total gross floor area of the existing buildings or 120 square feet in area, whichever is 
less, and may not exceed fifteen (15’) feet in length. 
 
(ac) Community Commercial (C-C), Heavy Commercial (C-H), and Commercial 
Thoroughfare (C-T) districts; and the Downtown Core (DC) and Transitional 
Commercial (TC) overlay districts. If not otherwise restricted, the number shall be 
limited to one (1) container no greater than five (5%) percent of the total gross floor 
area of the existing buildings or 320 square feet in area, whichever is less, and may 
not exceed forty (40’) feet in length. 
 
(ad) Industrial (I), Industrial Business Park (I-BP), and Public & Semi-public (P-S) 
districts, and the Industrial Residential (IR) Downtown overlay district, less than one 
(1) acre in size. If not otherwise restricted, the number shall be limited to one (1) 
container no greater than five (5%) percent of the total gross floor area of the existing 
buildings or 320 square feet in size, whichever is less, and may not exceed forty (40’) 
feet in length. 
 
(ae) Industrial (I), Industrial Business (I-BP) park, and Public & Semi-public (P-S) 
districts, and the Industrial Residential (IR) Downtown overlay district, one (1) acre or 
more in size. If not otherwise restricted, the total floor area of cargo containers may 
not exceed five (5%) percent of the total gross floor area of existing buildings on the 
same property and must meet the floor area limitation of the applicable zoning 
district. 
 

(viii) Signs. No advertising or directional signs shall be mounted, painted, or displayed 
on the container except that temporary containers may display the rental or leasing 
company name and/or logo permanently affixed or painted on the container. 
 



(ix) Building permit. A building permit shall be required for any cargo container greater 
than 120 square feet in size unless otherwise determined by the Chief Building Official. 
Doors shall not be modified to restrict persons from freely exiting the cargo container. 
 
(x) Foundation system. The foundation system shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Chief Building Official. Cargo container(s) may be placed on a paved surface upon 
approval of the Chief Building Official. In industrial districts, when containers are the item 
being stored, cargo container(s) may be placed on a paved or all-weather surface upon 
approval of the Chief Building Official.  
 
(xi) Design. All applicable development standards and design guidelines for the zoning 
district shall apply. When not located within the public view from the public right-of-way 
or an adjacent property, the cargo container may be painted to match the primary 
building to achieve architectural compatibility. 

(xii) Property owner written consent required. A tenant shall obtain the prior written 
and notarized consent of the property owner before placing a cargo container on any 
property. 

(2) Exceptions to setback requirements. Exceptions to the setback requirements may be 
granted by the Development Services Director upon the issuance of the minor exception 
pursuant to TMC 9-5-400ART and upon providing a notification to adjoining properties of not 
less than ten (10) calendar days. Any comments received during this notification process 
shall be considered in making the findings for approval for the Minor Exception.  

(e) Fee. A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering 
the permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, and may be amended 
from time to time. 

(f) Suspension or revocation of cargo container permit. A cargo container permit may be 
suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures and standards of TMC 9-5-1100ART 
(Enforcement).  

(g) Appeal. The decision of the Development Services Director may be appealed as provided 
by Chapter 1-4 TMC. 
 
9-2-126 Electrified fences. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow electrified fences to be placed on private 
property in a manner that is safe and secure, will not create adverse impacts to either the 
property on which they are located or to the immediate neighborhood, will be compatible with 
community design standards, and will not become a nuisance to the community. 
 
(b) Permit required. Electrified fences are allowed in IBP (Industrial Business Park) and I 
(Industrial) districts upon the approval of a minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-
5-300 (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), subject to the standards and 
conditions contained in this section. 

(c) Location. The fence shall be located at least fifty (50’) feet from a residence, school, day 
care facility, or park land, or any property zoned for such uses.  



(d) Perimeter fence required. The electrified fence may not be used as a perimeter fence. A 
non-electrified fence shall completely surround the electrified fence. The electrified fence shall 
be set back at least twelve (12”) inches from a non-electrical perimeter fence. 

(e) Setbacks. The fence shall not be located within required setback areas (front, side, or rear).  

(f) Height. The maximum height shall be ten (10’) feet. 

(g) Construction. The fence shall be constructed of horizontal wires with minimal vertical 
support to minimize visual impact. 

(h) Energy source. The energy source shall not exceed 12 volts. 

(i) Warning signs. Warning signs, a minimum of 36 square inches in size, shall be mounted 
every fifty (50’) feet, with a minimum of one (1) per side, no higher than five (5’) feet from the 
ground, or in accordance with the California Building Code, whichever is more stringent. 

(j) Compliance with all laws and regulations. The electrified fence shall meet all California 
Building Code, California Fire Code, Fire Department, and Police Department requirements, as 
well as all applicable federal, State, and local laws throughout the construction, installation and 
operation of the electrified fence. 

(k) Hold harmless agreement. The applicant and property owner shall enter into an 
agreement holding the City of Turlock harmless from all legal actions that relate directly or 
indirectly to the electrified fence. The agreement shall be recorded with the property and shall 
release the City of Turlock from any and all liability. 

(l) Ongoing maintenance required. The area around the electrified fence shall be kept clear 
of all vegetation and litter to avoid fires.  

9-2-127 Drive-through facilities. 
In addition to any other permitting requirements contained in this title, any use that includes a 
drive-through facility shall also meet all of the following development standards: 
 
(a) No more than two (2) lanes are permitted per drive-through facility.   

(b) Lane(s) shall be located at least 100 feet from a residential district. 

(c) Lane(s) shall be oriented to reduce light and glare onto adjacent residences and public 
rights-of-way. 

(d) Lane(s) shall be screened with a decorative masonry wall landscaped with vines, 
landscaped berm, or a landscaped hedge, or any combination thereof, at least three (3’) feet in 
height to minimize visibility to the public right-of-way. 

(e) No more than two (2) menu boards are permitted per lane. 

(f) Lane(s) shall provide a minimum stacking distance of at least four (4) vehicles between the 
entrance to the lane and the menu board closest to the pick-up window, and between the 
closest menu board to the pick-up window and the pick-up window. When no menu board is 
used, the lane(s) shall provide a minimum stacking distance for six (6) vehicles between the 
entrance to the lane and the pick-up window.  



(g) Lane(s) shall be designed to avoid stacking in a driveway or parking lot drive aisle that 
directly connects to a public street. 

 
Article 2. Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations 

 
9-2-201 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in Chapter 9-1-100 et. seq., the specific purposes of 
the off-street parking and loading regulations are to: 
 
(a) Ensure that off-street parking and loading facilities are provided for new land uses, and for 
major alterations and enlargements of existing uses in relation to the need for these facilities 
created by each use; and 
 
(b) Ensure that off-street parking and loading facilities are designed in a manner that will ensure 
efficiency, protect the public safety, and insulate surrounding land uses from adverse impacts. 
 
9-2-202 Application of provisions to uses. 
The provisions of this article shall apply to all uses set forth in this article even though the use 
may be a nonconforming use and even though a variance may have been granted for the 
establishment of such nonconforming use. 
 
9-2-203 Off-street parking required: Availability and maintenance. 
Every building erected shall be provided with parking spaces as required by the provisions of 
this article. Such parking spaces shall be made permanently available and shall be permanently 
maintained for parking purposes. A paved driveway, driveway approach, and/or drive aisle shall 
be provided to connect parking spaces to the public street. Such driveways shall comply with 
the development standards contained in Section 9-2-207. 
 
9-2-204 Off-street parking: Reconstructed buildings. 
Every building reconstructed, remodeled, or structurally altered shall be provided with parking 
spaces to compensate for the additional parking demand, if any, created by such remodeling, 
reconstruction or structural alteration. 
 
9-2-205 Off-street parking for existing buildings and uses. 
Off-street parking spaces which are maintained in connection with existing buildings, structures, 
and uses, and under the same ownership, shall be maintained as long as such buildings, 
structures, and uses remain, unless an equivalent number of such spaces is provided in 
accordance with the requirements of this article. The provisions of this  article shall not require 
the maintenance of more parking spaces than are required for new buildings or structures 
similar in use and purpose to such existing buildings or structures. 
 
9-2-206 Off-street parking: Location. 
All required parking spaces shall be located on the same lot as the primary structure or located 
within a radius of five hundred (500') feet from the property. These parking spaces shall be 
maintained during the life of the building or until equivalent parking is provided by other means. 
Should it be necessary to replace the required parking area; the owner, lessee, or assignee 
shall provide and maintain other parking facilities sufficient to comply with the requirements of 
this article. 
 
9-2-207 Parking in the R Districts. 



All parking areas in R Districts shall be subject to the same restrictions for accessory buildings 
according to the applicable zoning district. In addition, all parking areas in R Districts shall be 
subject to the following additional provisions: 
 
(a) Paved driveway and parking space required.  All parking spaces and driveways shall be 
paved. All vehicles, trailers and campers shall park on a paved driveway or parking space. 
When a covered garage or carport will not be provided for the required parking spaces of a 
residential structure, the required spaces shall be paved and located so that an enclosed 
structure could be constructed at a future date.  
 
(b)  Parking incidental to residential use. Required parking areas shall be incidental and 
accessory to a use permitted in the district in which the property is located. Parking areas 
incidental to and accessory to a commercial or industrial use located in an adjacent C or I 
District may be allowed subject to obtaining an approved conditional use permit from the 
Planning Commission. 
 
(c) Use of parking space. All parking areas shall be used solely for the parking of private 
passenger vehicles except as provided in Section 9-2-114. 
 
(d) Front yard setback restriction. No required parking shall take place in the front yard 
setback area of any residence.  
 
(e) Driveways. Driveways shall comply with the following design standards and permitting 
requirements: 
 

(1) Driveway width. Driveways may range from a minimum of ten (10’) feet (for single 
vehicles) to a maximum of thirty (30’) feet (for three vehicles) in width. The width shall be 
determined based on the number of garage door openings (or the equivalent in covered or 
open parking areas).  

(2) Additional driveway storage areas. Driveways may be widened up to ten (10’) feet) for 
the purposes identified in Section 9-2-114 provided the additional storage areas meet the 
standards and conditions contained in that section. 

(3) Ribbon driveways. Ribbon driveways, planted with turf or decomposed granite between 
the concrete strips, are permitted subject to the City’s Standard Specifications and 
Drawings. 

 (4) Circular driveways. Circular driveways with a secondary driveway approach may be 
permitted for lots with more than sixty-five (65’) feet of lot frontage. That portion of the 
circular driveway that does not lead to the required parking space(s) shall be no greater than 
ten (10’) feet in width. To determine the width and outer edge for a ribbon driveway, the 
width and outer edge shall be determined using the center line of the ribbon driveway. The 
closest edge of the circular driveway shall be no closer than two and one-half (2.5’) feet to a 
side property line. The curve radius of the driveway shall be no less than twenty-five (25’) 
feet. At least twenty-two (22’) feet of frontage shall be provided between the inner edges of 
the two driveway approaches, measured at the curb.   

(5) Lot frontage restrictions. All driveways shall be constructed with a driveway approach 
approved by the Engineering Division. Driveway approach(es) shall not utilize more than 
forty (40%) percent of the lot frontage.  
 



(6) Front yard coverage. The total paved area for all driveways and other vehicle storage 
areas shall not utilize more than fifty-five (55%) percent of the area of the front yard area. 
The front yard area shall be calculated as the area between the property line and the 
required front yard setback and the two side property lines.  

(f) Land use permit required. Prior to constructing a circular driveway or widening a driveway 
pursuant to subsection (3), the property owner shall obtain approval of a minor administrative 
approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Discretionary Permits). 
 
9-2-208 Border barricades, screening, and landscaping. 
(a) When a fence does not separate a parking area or drive aisle from any street or alley, a 
concrete curb or barrier not less than six (6") inches in height shall be located not less than two 
(2') feet from the street or alley line. The curb or barrier shall be securely installed and 
maintained. 
 
(b) Every parking area abutting property located in the R District shall be separated from such 
property by a solid wall, view-obstructing fence, or compact evergreen hedge six (6') feet in 
height. 
 
(c) Any parking areas or drive aisles visible from a public street shall be screened with 
landscaping to a height of three (3') feet. 
 
(d) Any lights used to illuminate any parking area or car sales area shall be arranged to reflect 
light away from any premises on which a dwelling is located. 
 
9-2-209 Off-street parking: Spaces required. 
(a) Uses enumerated. Except as otherwise provided in this article, the number of off-street 
parking spaces required shall be as follows: 
 

Off-Street Parking Space Requirements 

Use Space Requirement 

Assembly places including 

churches, clubs and lodges 

1 space per 50 square feet of assembly area 

Business, professional and 

financial offices 

1 space per 250 square feet of gross floor area 

Cafes, restaurants and other 

eating establishments 

1 space per 3 seats or 1 space per 100 square feet of 

gross floor area when the number of seats is not known 

Convalescent, nursing and group 

homes 

1 space per 400 square feet of gross floor area 

Industrial, manufacturing and 

warehousing 

1 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area 



Medical offices 1 space per 200 square feet of gross floor area 

Motels, hotels 1 space per sleeping unit 

Public facilities 1 space per 400 square feet of gross floor area 

Recreational and health facilities 1 space per 100 square feet of gross floor area 

Residential: 
 

Single-family 2 spaces per dwelling unit 

Multifamily 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit plus 1 guest space per 4 

dwelling units 

Retail commercial uses 1 space per 300 square feet of gross floor area 

Schools and classrooms 1 space per 200 square feet of gross floor area 

 
(b) Alternative methods for determining parking space requirements. For developments 
with a known occupant and use, the Development Services Director may utilize alternative 
methods, such as the Institute of Transportation Engineers Parking Generation manual, parking 
surveys conducted at similar locations by the occupant, parking ratios used by other 
jurisdictions, and other studies, to establish the number of off-street parking spaces required for 
a particular use.  
 
(c) Undetermined uses. In the event it is not possible to determine the number of parking 
spaces required for a particular use, the Development Services Director shall determine an 
adequate number of parking spaces based upon the standards and requirements for the most 
comparable use. Determination by the Development Services Director shall be permitted upon 
approval of a minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(d) Shared parking. Parking facilities may be shared if multiple uses cooperatively establish 
and operate the facilities, and if the uses are open during substantially different days or hours of 
the week and/or if one (1) use has a surplus of parking. Shared parking may be approved by the 
Development Services Director if: 
 

(1) A sufficient number of parking spaces are provided to participating uses in accordance 
with this section; 
 
(2) The applicant provides documentation substantiating the reasons for the requested 
parking reduction. The documentation should at least describe the nature of the uses, 
number of existing and proposed parking spaces, and the times when the uses operate to 
demonstrate the lack of conflict between the uses; and 
 
(3) Additional documents, covenants, deed restrictions, or other agreements as deemed 
necessary by the Development Services Director are executed to assure that the required 
parking spaces and access are provided for the life of the uses and other similar future 
uses. A document shall be recorded to assure shared maintenance of the parking facilities. 



 
9-2-210 Parking spaces for people with disabilities. 
All parking facilities shall comply with the requirements of the California Building Code and with 
the sign requirements of the California Vehicle Code. One (1) parking space shall be provided 
for each dwelling unit designed for people with disabilities. Parking for people with disabilities 
shall be provided for all projects on the basis of total parking provided on-site. 
 
9-2-211 Bicycle parking.  
(a) Where Required. Bicycle parking spaces shall be provided for all commercial, industrial, 
public and semipublic uses in accordance with this section and the California Building Code and 
Green Building Standards Code. Where these codes are more stringent, the Codes shall prevail 
over the standards in this section. Bicycle parking shall be in addition to automobile parking 
spaces. 
 
(b) Number Required. 
 

(1) Commercial and industrial use classifications: The number of bicycle parking spaces 
provided shall be a minimum of ten (10%) percent of the number of automobile parking 
spaces, with a minimum of one (1) two-bike  capacity rack. In addition, for buildings with 
more than 10 tenant-occupants that add 10 or more vehicular parking spaces, secure 
bicycle parking for 5% of additional motorized vehicle parking spaced shall be provided, with 
a minimum of one space. Acceptable secure parking facilities shall be constructed in 
accordance with the California Green Building Standards Code and the City of Turlock 
Standard Specifications and Drawings. 
 
(2) Public and semipublic use classifications: The number of bicycle parking spaces 
shall be provided as specified by a minor administrative permit issued in accordance with 
TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 

(c) Design Requirements. For each bicycle parking space required, a secure bike rack shall be 
provided to which a user can secure the bicycle. The stationary object may be either a 
freestanding bicycle rack or a wall-mounted bracket, provided that it complies with the City of 
Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings. Bicycle parking shall be provided in an open 
area near the building entrance(s) that allows public access to the bicycle rack and shall not 
interfere with pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 
9-2-212 Off-street parking districts. 
Any property located within an off-street parking district created under the general laws of the 
State shall be credited with its pro rata share of the off-street parking spaces being provided by 
the district when computing the number of off-street parking spaces required for any new 
construction, reconstruction, remodeling, or structural alteration of such property. 
 
9-2-213 Parking configuration and aisle dimensions. 
Parking spaces, driveways, and drive aisles shall be designed in accordance with the City of 
Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings. When an applicant can demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the Development Services Director that variations on the dimensions required in 
these standards are necessary, a specific parking area design may be approved, subject to a 
minor administrative approval obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART, provided that the 
parking area design will not impede the flow of vehicles, reduce pedestrian safety, or hinder 
loading or unloading. 

 



9-2-214 Parking lot design standards. 
Parking lots for commercial, multi-family residential, industrial, and public uses shall have 
paving, drainage, wheel stops, curbing, lighting, space marking, and directional signs, which 
shall be subject to approval of the Development Services Director or designee. In reviewing the 
design of parking structures, the Development Services Director or the Planning Commission, 
as the case may be, shall consider the compatibility of the design with adjacent buildings or 
uses. The review of the parking lot design shall be incorporated into the applicable development 
review process, whenever possible. 
 
The parking lot shall meet the following minimal design standards, as applicable: 
 
(a) Driveways shall be provided between parking spaces and the street. A driveway approach 
shall be required for all driveway connections to the street unless exempted by the City 
Engineer. All driveways shall be paved. Permeable surfaces may be used if the City Engineer 
determines that the surface is structurally equivalent to a paved surface. 
 
(b) Driveway approaches shall meet City of Turlock standards. 
 
(c) Drive aisles providing internal circulation from the driveway to, and between, parking spaces 
shall be paved. 
 
(d) Drive aisles within approved outdoor storage areas may be constructed of an all-weather 
surface when appropriate markings delineating drive aisles and/or parking spaces are provided 
and access by the general public is restricted by a permanent barrier.  
 
(e) Wheel stops shall be installed to prevent vehicular encroachment into the public right-of-way, 
pedestrian paths and sidewalks, and to prevent collision with any above-ground obstacles. 
 
(f) Raised concrete curbing shall be provided to prevent vehicular encroachment into 
landscaping,  
 
(g) Parking spaces in Industrial Districts may be constructed of an all-weather surface when 
appropriate markings delineating aisles and spaces are provided. 
 
(h) A maximum of thirty (30%) percent of the total parking spaces may be constructed as 
compact spaces. 
 
(i) Parking spaces shall be located no closer than three (3’) feet to any building, above-ground 
equipment, or any other obstacle. A three-foot (3’) area surrounding the obstacle shall be 
striped. Bollards or wheel stops shall be provided in parking spaces adjacent to the obstacle to 
prevent vehicles from entering the striped area. 
 
(j) The preferred parking space marking is double-striping to improve the efficiency of the 
parking area; however, single striping may be used. 
 
(k) The parking area shall meet any additional requirements required by the California Building 
Code and/or the City of Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings.  
 
9-2-215 Driveway and corner visibility. 



Street corners and driveways connecting with a public street shall be maintained as areas of 
unrestricted visibility (“clear vision zones”) in accordance with the latest version of the City of 
Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings. 
 
9-2-216 Parking lot landscaping.  
Parking lots and parking structures shall have interior and perimeter landscaping areas as 
prescribed by the following: 
 
(a) Parking lots or parking structures adjoining street property lines or public streets shall have a 
perimeter landscape buffer with a minimum width as follows: 

(1) If abutting an expressway: twenty (20') feet 

(2) If abutting an arterial: fifteen (15') feet 

(3) If abutting a collector: fifteen (15') feet 

(4) If abutting a local collector: ten (10') feet 

(5) If abutting a local street: five (5') feet 

(b) Vehicle overhangs may encroach a maximum of two (2') feet into landscape areas which are 
a minimum of ten (10') feet wide. 

(c) An average three (3') foot high [minimum two and one-half (2.5') foot and maximum three 
and one-half (3.5') foot] continuous screen shall be installed between all parking areas and 
public streets. A screen shall consist of one (1) or any combination of the following: 

(1) Walls. A wall shall consist of concrete, concrete block, stone, brick, tile or similar type of 
solid masonry material. 

(2) Berms. A berm shall be constructed of earthen materials and it shall be landscaped. 

(3) Solid fences. A solid fence shall be constructed of wood, or other materials. 

(4) Plant materials. Vegetation, consisting of trees or shrubs. 

(d) Interior landscaped areas shall be a minimum of five (5') feet in width and length (minimum 
of 25 square feet for tree wells), exclusive of curbs. 

(e) The end of each row of parking stalls shall be separated from aisleways by a landscaped 
planter or sidewalk. 

(f) In all parking lots with a capacity of five (5) parking spaces or more, a minimum of one (1) 
shade tree for every five (5) spaces shall be provided in landscape islands within the parking lot. 
Tree spacing shall be such that every designated parking space is within thirty (30') feet of the 
trunk of a tree. 

(g) All planting areas within or abutting a parking lot shall be protected with raised concrete 
curbs. 
 
9-2-217 Parking access from street. 
All spaces in a parking facility, except single family and multifamily dwellings with up to two (2) 
dwellings, shall be accessible and all circulation shall be internal without re-entering a public 



right-of-way unless it is determined by the Development Services Director to be physically 
impossible to provide for such access. However, an alley may be used as maneuvering space 
for access to off-street parking. 
 
9-2-218 Location and design of off-street loading spaces. 
On every lot in any C or I district on which is conducted any commercial use permitted in that 
district, there shall be provided space for the loading and unloading of goods and materials. 
These loading spaces shall not be less than fifteen (15') feet in width, nor less than twenty-five 
(25') feet in length, nor less than fourteen (14') feet in height. Required spaces shall not be 
within a building, but shall be on the site of the use served or on an adjoining site. On a site 
adjoining an alley, a required loading space shall be accessible from the alley unless alternative 
access is approved by the Development Services Director. A required loading space shall be 
accessible without backing a truck across a street property line unless the Development 
Services Director determines that provision of turn-around space is infeasible and approves 
alternative access. An occupied loading space shall not prevent access to a required off-street 
parking space. A loading area shall not be located in a required front or corner front yard. 
Except in a CH or I district, a loading area visible from a street shall be screened on three (3) 
sides by a fence, wall, or hedge at least six (6') feet in height. 
 
9-2-219 Parking area plan required. 
Prior to the construction of an off-street parking area for a non-residential use or a multi-family 
dwelling with more than four (4) units, a plan shall be submitted to the Development Services 
Director for the purpose of indicating compliance with the provisions of this  article. The plan 
shall be reviewed and approved in accordance with the procedures for a minor administrative 
approval as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits).  
This plan shall include: 
 
(a) The location and placement of required landscaped areas and irrigation layout, including a 
computation of the required area; 
 
(b) A planting plan including a list of plants by name and size keyed to their location on the 
parking area; 
 
(c) Location and description of fencing and architectural screen walls; 
 
(d) Location and placement of parking stalls, including bumpers, striping and circulation, and 
directional signs, with all dimensions to permit comparison with approved parking standards; 
 
(e) Placement and illumination data of parking area lights; and 
 
(f) Method of drainage. 

 
Article 3. Noise Standards 

 
9-2-301 Specific Purposes. 
In order to control unnecessary, excessive, and annoying noise and vibration on the City, it is 
hereby declared to be the policy of the City to prohibit such noise and vibration generated from 
or by all sources as specified in this  article. It shall be the policy of the City to maintain quiet in 
those areas which exhibit low noise levels and to implement programs aimed at reducing noise 
in those areas within the City where noise levels are above acceptable values. 
 



It is determined that certain noise levels and vibrations are detrimental to the public health, 
welfare, and safety and are contrary to the public interest. Therefore, the Council does ordain 
and declare that creating, maintaining, or causing, or allowing to be created, caused, or 
maintained, any noise or vibration in a matter prohibited by, or not in conformity with, the 
provisions of this  article is a public nuisance and shall be punishable as such. 
 
9-2-302 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this chapter, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 
phrases used in this  article are defined as follows: 
 
“A weighted sound level” shall mean the sound level in decibels as measured on a sound 
level meter using the A weighting network weighted to the range of human hearing. The level so 
read is designated dB(a) or dBA. 
 
“Ambient noise” shall mean all-encompassing noise associated with a given environment, 
being usually a composite of sounds from many sources near and far. For the purpose of this  
article, the ambient noise level is the level obtained when the noise level is averaged over a 
period of fifteen (15) minutes without the inclusion of noise from isolated identifiable sources, at 
the location and time of day near that at which a comparison is to be made. 
 
“Commercial area” shall mean any commercial area as defined in the General Plan and 
zoning provisions and designated by a “C” prefix in the zoning provisions and on the zoning 
map. 
 
“Construction” shall mean any site preparation, assembly, erection, substantial repair, 
alteration, or similar action for or on public or private rights of way, structures, utilities, or similar 
property. 
 
“Cumulative period” shall mean any additive period of time composed of individual time 
segments which may be continuous or interrupted. 
 
“Decibel” shall mean a unit for measuring the amplitude of a sound, equal to twenty (20) times 
the logarithm to the base ten (10) of the ratio of the pressure of the sound measured to the 
reference pressure, which is twenty (20) micropascals. 
 
“Emergency work or action” shall mean work or action made necessary to restore property to 
a safe condition after a public calamity, or work required to protect persons or property from 
imminent exposure to danger or damage, or work by public or private utilities to restore utility 
service. 
 
“Fixed noise source” shall mean a stationary device which creates sounds while fixed or 
motionless, including, but not limited to, residential, agricultural, industrial, and commercial 
machinery and equipment, pumps, fans, compressors, air conditioners, and refrigeration 
equipment. 
 
“Impulsive sound” shall mean sound of short duration, usually less than one second, with an 
abrupt onset and rapid decay. Examples of sources of impulsive sound include explosions, drop 
forge impacts, and the discharge of firearms. 
 
“Industrial area” shall mean any industrial area as defined by the General Plan and zoning 
provisions and designated by an “I” prefix in the zoning provisions and on the zoning map. 



 
“Intrusive noise” shall mean that noise which intrudes over and above the existing ambient 
noise at a given location. The relative intrusiveness of a sound depends upon its amplitude, 
duration, frequency and time of occurrence, and tonal or informational content, as well as the 
prevailing ambient noise level. 
 
“Licensed” shall mean the possession of a formal license or a permit issued by the appropriate 
jurisdictional authority or, where no permits or licenses are issued, the sanctioning of the activity 
by the jurisdiction as noted in public records. 
 
“Mobile noise source” shall mean any noise source other than a fixed noise source. 
 
“Motor vehicle” shall mean and include any and all self-propelled vehicles as defined in the 
Vehicle Code of the State of California, including all on highway type motor vehicles subject to 
registration under said code and all off highway type motor vehicles subject to identification 
under said code. 
 
“Muffler or sound dissipative device” shall mean a device consisting of a series of chambers 
or baffle plates, or other mechanical design, for the purpose of receiving exhaust gas from an 
internal combustion engine and effective in reducing noise. 
 
“Noise Control Officer” shall mean the City of Turlock code enforcement officer. The Noise 
Control Officer shall be empowered to enforce the provisions of this  article. 
 
“Noise disturbance” shall mean any sound which: 
 

(1) Endangers or injures the safety or health of human beings or animals; or 
 
(2) Annoys or disturbs a reasonable person of normal sensitivities; or 
 
(3) Endangers or injures personal or real property. 
 

“Noise level” shall mean a weighted sound pressure level in decibels obtained by using a 
sound level meter at slow response with a reference pressure of twenty (20) micropascals. The 
unit of measurement shall be designated as dBA. 
 
“Noise sensitive zone” shall mean any area so designated for the purpose of ensuring 
exceptional quiet, for example, a hospital zone, nursing home, or family care home. 
 
“Noise zone” shall mean any defined area or region of a generally consistent land use wherein 
the ambient noise levels are within a range of five (5) dB. 
 
“Person” shall mean a person, firm, association, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or any 
entity, public or private in nature. 
 
“Public right of way” shall mean any street, avenue, boulevard, highway, sidewalk, alley, or 
similar place which is owned or controlled by a governmental entity. 
 
“Public space” shall mean any real property, or structure thereon, which is owned or controlled 
by a governmental entity. 
 



“Pure tone” shall mean any sound which can be judged as audible by the Noise Control Officer 
as a single pitch or a set of single pitches. 
 
“Real property boundary” shall mean an imaginary line along the ground surface, and its 
vertical extension, which separates the real property owned by one person from that owned by 
another person, but not including intra building real property divisions. 
 
“Residential area” shall mean any residential area as defined in the General Plan and zoning 
provisions and designated by an “R” prefix in the zoning provisions and on the zoning map. 
 
“Sound amplifying equipment” shall mean any device for the amplification of the human 
voice, music, or any other sound, excluding standard automobile radios when used and heard 
only by the occupants of the vehicle in which the radio is installed, and, as used in this  article, 
warning devices on authorized emergency vehicles or horns or other warning devices on any 
vehicle used only for traffic safety purposes. 
 
“Sound level meter” shall mean an instrument, including a microphone, an amplifier, an output 
meter, and frequency weighting networks for the measurement of sound levels, which meets or 
exceeds the requirements pertinent for type S1A meters in the American National Standards 
Institute Specifications for sound level meters, S1.4 1971, or the most recent revision thereof. 
 
“Sound truck” shall mean any motor vehicle, regardless of motive power, whether in motion or 
stationary, having mounted thereon or attached thereto any sound amplifying equipment. 
 
“Vibration perception threshold” shall mean the minimum ground or structure borne 
vibrational motion necessary to cause a normal person to be aware of the vibration by such 
direct means as, but not limited to, sensation by touch or the visual observation of moving 
objects. The perception threshold shall be presumed to be a motion velocity of .005 in/sec over 
the range of one to 100 Hz. 
 
“Zone” shall mean any of the zones specified in this Code as such zones are presently 
identified there and as they may be subsequently modified or altered. 
 
9-2-303 General noise regulations. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this  article, and in addition thereto, it shall be unlawful 
for any person to willfully or negligently make or continue, or cause to be made or continued, 
any loud, unnecessary, or unusual noise which disturbs the peace and quiet of any 
neighborhood or which causes any discomfort or annoyance to any reasonable person of 
normal sensitiveness residing in the area. Noncommercial public speaking and public assemble 
activities conducted on any public space or public right of way shall be exempt from the 
operation of this  article. 
 
9-2-304 Preliminary action. 
If it is determined by the responding agency that a sound level in excess of the levels prescribed 
by this  article exists, the following procedures shall be followed: 
 
(a) A written warning shall be issued by the Noise Control Officer or his agent to the person 
responsible for the event causing the disturbance. 
 



(b) If the disturbance persists for more than fifteen (15) minutes following the notice, or recurs 
within an eight (8) hour period, then the person responsible for the event causing the 
disturbance shall be guilty of a violation of this  article. Any such violation shall be an infraction. 
 
9-2-305 Factors of determination. 
The factors which will be considered in determining whether a violation of the provisions of this  
article exists shall include, but not be limited to the following: 
 
(a) The sound level of the alleged objectionable noise; 
 
(b) The sound level of the ambient noise; 
 
(c) The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities; 
 
(d) The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates; 
 
(e) The number of persons affected by the noise source; 
 
(f) The time of day or night the noise occurs; 
 
(g) The duration of the noise and its tonal, musical, or informational content; and 
 
(h) Whether the noise is continuous, recurrent, or intermittent. 
 
9-2-306 Noise measurement procedure. 
Upon the receipt of a complaint from a citizen, the Noise Control Officer or his agent, equipped 
with a sound level meter, shall investigate the complaint. The investigation shall consist of a 
measurement taken according to the Enforcement Manual and the gathering of data to 
adequately define the noise problem and shall include the following: 
 
(a) Non-acoustic data. 
 

(1) The type of the noise source; 
 
(2) The location of the noise source relative to the complainant’s property; 

 
(3) The time period during which the noise source is considered by the complainant to be 

intrusive; 
 
(4) The total duration of the noise produced by the noise source; and 

 
(5) The date and time of the noise measurement survey. 
 

(b) Acoustic data. Utilizing the A weighting scale of the sound level meter and the “slow” meter 
response, the Noise Control Officer or his agent shall measure the sound level at any point on 
the receiver’s property. 
 
9-2-307 Noise Limits. 
The provisions of this section address noise intrusions over and above the noise normally 
associated with a given location (intrusions over the ambient level). The ambient noise varies 
throughout the community, depending upon proximity to highways, population density, and land 



use. Difference standards are set for various segments of the community which reflect the 
existing day and nighttime ambient noise levels. 
 
The ambient noise level is defined in terms of statistical parameters which describe the total 
noise occurring over any hourly time period. 
 
A noise intrusion is judged by comparing such noise statistics with the noise source on, versus 
such statistics with the noise source off (the ambient). Violations of the provisions of this  article 
may be cited in terms of particular levels exceeded or in terms of the length of time the intrusive 
noise exceeded such standards. Compliance with the noise emission standards as set forth in 
this section shall constitute the elimination of a noise disturbance. 
 
(a) Exterior noise standards.  
 

Exterior Noise Limits 
(Levels Not To Be Exceeded More Than 30 Minutes in Any Hour) 

Receiving Land Use 
Category 

Time Period 

Noise Level (dBA) 
Noise Zone Classification 

Rural/Suburban Suburban Urban 

Residential 
One & Two-Family 
 
Multiple Dwelling 
 
Public Space 
Limited 
Commercial 
Multiple Dwellings 
 
Commercial 
 
Light Industrial 
Heavy Industrial 

 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
Any Time 
Any Time 

 
40 
50 
45 
50 
50 

 
45 
55 
50 
55 
55 
 
55 
60 
60 
65 
70 
75 

 
50 
60 
55 
60 
60 

 
(1) The classification of different areas of the community in terms of environmental noise 
zones shall be determined by the Noise Control Officer, based upon the assessment of the 
community noise survey data and noise contours established by the Noise Element of the 
General Plan. Additional area classifications should be used as appropriate to reflect both 
lower and higher existing ambient levels than those shown. Industrial noise limits are 
intended primarily for use at the boundaries of industrial zones rather than for noise 
reduction within the zone. 
 
(2) Maximum permissible sound levels for churches and similar organizations using 
amplified bells, chimes or other similar devices. Any church or similar organization using 
amplified bells, chimes or other similar devices shall only use same during the time period 
reflected herein below and shall not exceed the following maximum permissible sound level 
nor shall the playing period exceed more than thirty (30) minutes in any one hour: 
 



Amplified Bells or Chimes 
(Not to exceed 30 minutes in one hour) 

Noise Zone 
Receiving Land Use 

Category 
Time Period 

Maximum 
Permissible 
Sound Level 

(dBA) 

All Noise Zones as specified in 
TMC §9-2-307(a) 

All Receiving Land Use 
Categories as specified in 

TMC §9-2-307(a) 

8:00 a.m. - 10:00 
p.m. 

60 dBA 

 
(b) Interior noise standards. 
 

Maximum Permissible Dwelling Interior Sound Levels 

Noise Zone Type of Land Use Time Interval 
Allowable Interior 
Noise Level (dBA) 

All Residential 10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 

35 
45 

 
(1) The interior noise standards for multi-family residential dwellings as set forth in this 
section shall apply, unless otherwise specifically indicated, within all such dwellings with 
windows in their normal seasonal configuration. 
 
(2) No person shall operate, or cause to be operated, within a dwelling unit any source of 
sound or allow the creation of any noise which causes the noise level when measured inside 
a neighboring receiving dwelling unit to exceed: 
 

(i) The noise standard as specified in this section for a cumulative period of more than 
five (5) minutes in any hour; or 
 
(ii) The noise standard plus five (5) dB for a cumulative period of more than one minute 
in any hour; or 
 
(iii) The noise standard plus ten (10) dB or the maximum measured ambient for any 
period of time. 
 

9-2-308 Maximum permissible sound levels by receiving land uses. 
The maximum sound levels shall be determined as follows: 
 
(a) The noise standards for the various categories of land use identified by the Noise Control 
Officer as set forth in TMC 9-2-307, unless otherwise specifically indicated, shall apply to all 
such property within a designated zone. 
 
(b) No person shall operate, or cause to be operated, any source of sound at any location within 
the incorporated City, or allow the creation of any noise on property owned, leased, occupied, or 
otherwise controlled by such person, which causes the noise level, when measured on any 
other property, either incorporated or unincorporated, to exceed: 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-307


(1) The noise standard for that land use as specified in TMC 9-2-307 for a cumulative period 
of more than thirty (30) minutes in any hour; or 
 
(2) The noise standard plus five (5) dB for a cumulative period of more than fifteen (15) 
minutes in any hour; or 
 
(3) The noise standard plus ten (10) dB for a cumulative period of more than five (5) minutes 
on any hour; or 
 
(4) The noise standard plus fifteen (15) dB for a cumulative period of more than one minute 
in any hour; or 
 
(5) The noise standard plus twenty (20) dB or the maximum measured ambient level for any 
period of time. 

 
(c) If the measured ambient level differs from that permissible within any of the first four (4) 
noise limit categories set forth in subsection (b) of this section, the allowable noise exposure 
standard shall be adjusted in five (5) dB increments in each category as appropriate to 
encompass or reflect such ambient noise level. In the event the ambient noise level exceeds the 
fifth noise limit category, the maximum allowable noise level under such category shall be 
increased to reflect the maximum ambient noise level. 
 
(d) If the measurement location is on a boundary between two (2) different zones, the noise 
level limit applicable to the lower noise zone, plus five (5) dB, shall apply. 
 
(e) If possible, the ambient noise shall be measured at the same location along the property line 
utilized in subsection (b) of this section, with the alleged offending noise source inoperative. If 
for any reason the alleged offending noise source cannot be shut down, the ambient noise shall 
be estimated by performing a measurement in the same general area of the source but at a 
sufficient distance such that the noise from the source is at least ten (10) dB below the ambient 
in order that only the ambient level is measured. If the difference between the ambient and the 
noise source is five (5) to ten (10) dB, then the level of the ambient itself can be reasonably 
determined by subtracting a one decibel correction to account for the contribution of the source. 
 
(f) In noise sensitive zones the maximum permissible sound level shall be exceeded by: 
 

(1) Creating or causing the creation of any sound within any noise sensitive zone so as to 
exceed the specified land use noise standards set forth in TMC 9-2-307 provided 
conspicuous signs are displayed indicating the presence of the zone; or 
 
(2) Creating or causing the creation of any sound within or adjacent to any noise sensitive 
zone containing a hospital, nursing home, school, court, or other designated area so as to 
interfere with the functions of such activity or annoy the occupancy in the activity provided 
conspicuous signs are displayed indicating the presence of the zone. 

 
9-2-309 Prohibited acts. 
The following acts are hereby prohibited: 
 
(a) Radios, television sets, musical instruments, and similar devices. Operating, playing, or 
permitting the operation or playing of any radio, television set, phonograph, drum, musical 
instrument, or similar device which produces or reproduces sound in such a manner as to 



create a noise disturbance, except for activities for which a variance has been issued by the 
Noise Control Officer; 
 
(b) Loudspeakers (amplified sound). Using or operating for any purpose any loudspeaker, 
loudspeaker system, or similar device such that the sound therefrom creates a noise 
disturbance, except for any activity, special event or time period for which a variance or permit 
has been issued by the Noise Control Officer; 

 
(1) Exception. Churches and other such organizations may use amplified bells, chimes or 
similar devices in accordance with the provisions in Section 9-2-307(a)(2). 
 
(2) Exception. Amplified sound shall be allowed at Central Park between the hours of 8:00 
a.m. and 10:00 p.m. in accordance with the provisions of this  article. 

 
(c) Yelling and shouting. Loud or raucous yelling, shouting, whistling, or singing so as to cause 
a noise disturbance; 
 
(d) Street sales. The solicitation, sale, or advertising of any product or service by shouting or 
outcry within any residential or commercial area or noise sensitive zone of the City, except by 
variance issued by the Noise Control Officer; 
 
(e) Animals. Keeping or maintaining, or permitting to be kept or maintained, upon any premises 
owned, occupied, or controlled by any person any animal which, by any frequent or long 
continued noise, shall cause annoyance or discomfort to two (2) or more reasonable persons of 
normal sensitiveness who reside in separate residences (including apartments and 
condominiums). However, the Noise Control Officer or his agent may proceed on the basis of a 
complaint of only one person if circumstances are determined to exist whereby a noise 
disturbance caused by an animal affects only one individual. Any noise which is audible 
continuously for ten (10) minutes or intermittently for thirty (30) minutes shall be prima facie 
evidence of such annoyance or discomfort. Factors which can be used to evaluate excessive 
animal noise include, but are not limited to, (a) the time of day; (b) the pitch; (c) the pattern; (d) 
the duration; and (e) the frequency of occurrence; 
 
(f) Loading and unloading. Loading, unloading, opening, closing, or other handling of boxes, 
crates, containers, building materials, or similar objects between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 
7:00 a.m. in such a manner as to cause a noise disturbance across a residential real property 
line; 
 
(g) Construction or demolition. 
 

(1) Hours of operation. Operation or causing the operation of any tools or equipment used 
in construction, drilling, repair, alteration, or demolition work between weekday hours of 7:00 
p.m. and 7:00 a.m. or (8:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. on weekends or holidays) such that the 
sound therefrom creates a noise disturbance across a residential or commercial real 
property line, except for emergency work or public service utilities or by variance issued by 
the Noise Control Officer; and 
 
(2) Noise restrictions at affected properties. Where technically and economically feasible, 
construction activities shall be conducted in such a manner that the maximum sound levels 
at affected properties will not exceed those listed in the following schedule: 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-307


(i) Mobile equipment. Maximum sound levels for nonscheduled, intermittent, short term 
operation (less than ten (10) days per month) of mobile equipment: 
 

Mobile Construction Equipment 

Time Interval 
One and Two Family 

Residential 
Multiple Family 

Residential 
Commercial & 

Industrial 

Daily 
7:00 a.m. - 7:00 p.m. 
Weekends/Holidays 
9:00 a.m. - 8:00 p.m. 

 
75 
 

60 

 
80 
 

65 

 
85 
 

70 

 

(ii) Stationary equipment. Maximum sound levels for repetitively scheduled and 
relatively long term operation (periods of ten (10) days or more per month) of stationary 
equipment: 
 

Stationary Construction Equipment 

Time Interval 
One and Two Family 

Residential 
Multiple Family 

Residential 
Commercial & 

Industrial 

Daily 
7:00 a.m. - 7:00 p.m. 
Weekends/Holidays 
9:00 a.m. - 8:00 p.m. 

 
60 
 

50 

 
65 
 

55 

 
70 
 

60 

 
(h) Vibration. Operating or permitting the operation of any device which creates a vibration 
which annoys or disturbs at least two (2) or more reasonable persons of normal sensitivity who 
reside in separate residences (including apartments and condominiums) at or beyond the 
property boundary of the source, on private property, or at least 150 feet (forty six (46) meters) 
from the source, on a public space or public right of way; 
 
(i) Motor vehicle noise limits. 
 

(1) Motor vehicles. It shall be the policy of the City to enforce those sections of the Vehicle 
Code of the State of California regarding motor vehicle noise limits and equipment violations 
which create noise problems, motor vehicle horns, sound levels emitted from off highway 
vehicles operating off the public right of way, and successors thereof. Commercial 
maintenance equipment and machinery shall be equipped with proper mufflers and air-
intake silencers in good working order. 
 
(2) Refuse collection vehicles. No person shall collect refuse with a refuse collection 
vehicle between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 5:00 a.m. of the following day in a residential 
area. 
 
(3) Vehicle, motorboat, and aircraft repair and testing. No person shall repair, rebuild, 
modify, or test any motor vehicle, motorboat, or aircraft in such a manner as to create a 
noise disturbance across a residential real property line or at any time to violate the 
provisions of this  article; 
 



(j) Powered model vehicles. Operating or permitting the operation of powered model vehicles 
so as to create a noise disturbance across a residential or commercial real property line or at 
any time to violate the provisions of this  article; 
 
(k) Emergency signaling devices. 
 

(1) The intentional sounding or permitting the sounding outdoors of any fire, burglar, or civil 
defense alarm, siren, whistle, or similar stationary emergency signaling device, except for 
emergency purposes or for testing as provided in subsection (2) of this subsection; 
 
(2) Sound testing. 
 

(i) Testing of a stationary emergency signaling device shall not occur before 7:00 a.m. or 
after 7:00 p.m. Any such testing shall use only the minimum cycle test time. In no case 
shall such test time exceed sixty (60) seconds; and 
 
(ii) Testing of the complete emergency signaling system, including the functioning of the 
signaling device, and the personnel response to the signaling device, shall not occur 
more than once in each calendar month. Such testing shall not occur before 7:00 a.m. or 
after 10:00 p.m. The time limit specified in subsection (i) of this subsection shall not 
apply to such complete system testing; and 
 

(3) Sounding or permitting the sounding of any exterior burglar or fire alarm or any motor 
vehicle burglar alarm unless such alarm is terminated within fifteen (15) minutes after any 
single security violation or false alarm. 
 

(l) Domestic power tools, machinery, heating, venting, or air conditioning (HVAC) 
equipment. 
 

(1) Operating or permitting the operation of any mechanically powered saw, sander, drill, 
grinder, lawn or garden tool, or similar tool between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. on weekdays 
(or 8:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. on weekends and legal holidays) so as to create a noise 
disturbance across a residential or commercial real property line; and 
 
(2) Any motor, machinery, or pump, such as swimming pool or HVAC equipment and the 
like, installed or replaced after October 11, 1984, shall be sufficiently enclosed or muffled 
and maintained so as not to create a noise disturbance across a residential or commercial 
real property line; 
 

(m) Places of entertainment. Operating or permitting the operation or playing of any 
loudspeaker, musical instrument, motorized racing vehicle, or other source of sound which 
exceeds ninety-five (95) dBA as read on the scale of a sound level meter in any place of public 
entertainment at any point normally occupied by a customer without a conspicuous and legible 
sign stating “Warning  Sound Levels Within May Cause Hearing Impairment”; and 
 
(n) Tampering. The removal or rendering inoperative, other than for purposes of maintenance, 
repair, or replacement, of any noise control device, or element thereof, of any product required 
to meet specified noise emission limits under Federal, State, or local laws and the use of such 
product after its noise control device has been removed or rendered inoperative, other than for 
purposes of maintenance, repair, or replacement. 
 



9-2-310 Emergency exemptions. 
The provisions of this  article shall not apply to: 
 
(a) The emission of sound for the purpose of alerting persons to the existence of an emergency; 
or 
 
(b) The emission of sound in the performance of emergency work. 
 
9-2-311 Miscellaneous exemptions. 
(a) Warning devices. Warning devices necessary for the protection of the public safety, as, for 
example, police, fire, and ambulance sirens, shall be exempted from the provisions of this  
article. 
 
(b) Outdoor activities. The provisions of this  article shall not apply to occasional outdoor 
gatherings, public dances, shows, and sporting and entertainment events provided such events 
are conducted pursuant to a permit or license issued by the City relative to the staging of such 
events. 
 
(c) Agricultural operations. All mechanical devices, apparatus, or equipment associated with 
acceptable agricultural operations or practices conducted on agricultural property shall be 
exempt from the provisions of this  article. If, however, the operation is in the vicinity of 
residential land uses, and/or in operation for less than one year, a variance permit shall be 
required to operate noise producing devices, with the following conditions: 
 

(1) That operations do not take place between 8:00 p.m. and 5:00 a.m.; or 
 
(2) That such operations and equipment are utilized for the protection or salvage of 
agricultural crops during periods of potential or actual frost damage or other adverse 
weather conditions; or 
 
(3) That such operations and equipment are associated with agricultural pest control through 
pesticide applications provided the applications are made in accordance with permits issued 
by or regulations enforced by the Country Agricultural Commissioner; and 
 
(4) That such devices utilized for pest control which incorporate stationary or mobile noise 
sources (electro mechanical bird scare devices and the like) are operated only by a permit 
issued by the Noise Control Officer. The allowable hours and days for the operation of such 
devices will be specified in the permit; and 
 
(5) That all equipment and machinery powered by internal combustion engines shall be 
equipped with a proper muffler and air intake silencer in good working order. 
 

(d) Churches and other similar organizations. Any church or other similar organization which 
use unamplified bells, chimes or other similar devices are exempt from the provisions of this  
article so long as said church or other similar organization plays such between the time period 
of 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. and the playing period does not exceed thirty (30) minutes in any 
one (1) hour. 
 
9-2-312 Federal and State preempted activities. 
Any other activity shall be exempt from the provisions of this  article to the extent regulation 
thereof has been preempted by State or Federal laws. 



 
9-2-313 Special variances. 
(a) The Planning Commission is authorized to grant variances for exceptions from any provision 
of this  article, subject to limitations as to area, noise levels, time limits, and other terms and 
conditions as the Planning Commission determines are appropriate to protect the public health, 
safety, and welfare from the noise emanating therefrom. This section shall in no way affect the 
duty to obtain any permit or license required by law for such activities. 
 
(b) Any person seeking a variance pursuant to this section shall file an application with the 
Planning Commission. The application shall contain information which demonstrates that 
bringing the source of sound or activity for which the variance is sought into compliance with this 
chapter would constitute an unreasonable hardship on the applicant, on the community, or on 
other persons. The application shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount of Fifty and 
no/100ths ($50.00) Dollars. A separate application shall be filed for each noise source; 
provided, however, several mobile sources under common ownership, or several fixed sources 
on a single property, may be combined into one application. Notice of an application for a 
variance shall be published according to this Code. Any individual who claims to be adversely 
affected by the allowance of the variance may file a statement with the Planning Commission 
containing any information to support his claim. If at any time the Planning Commission finds 
that a sufficient controversy exists regarding an application, a public hearing will be held. 
 
(c) In determining whether to grant or deny the application the Planning Commission shall 
balance the hardship of not granting the variance on the applicant, the community, and other 
persons against the adverse impact on the health, safety, and welfare of persons affected, the 
adverse impact on property affected, and any other adverse impacts of granting the variance. 
Applicants for variances and persons contesting variances may be required to submit such 
information as the Planning Commission may reasonably require. In granting or denying an 
application, the Planning Commission shall keep on public file a copy of the decision and the 
reasons for denying or granting the variance. 
 
(d) Variances shall be granted by notice to the applicant containing all necessary conditions, 
including a time limit on the permitted activity. The variance shall not become effective until all 
conditions are agreed to by the applicant. Noncompliance with any condition of the variance 
shall terminate the variance and subject the person holding it to those provisions of this  article 
for which the variance was granted. 
 
(e) A variance shall not exceed 365 days after the date in which it was granted. Applications for 
the extension of the time limits specified in variances or for the modification of other substantial 
conditions shall be treated like applications for initial variances under subsection (b) of this 
section. 
 
(f) The Planning Commission shall issue guidelines defining the procedures to be followed in 
applying for a variance and the criteria to be considered in deciding whether to grant a variance. 
 
9-2-314 Variance from time to comply. 
On or before January 9, 1985, the owner of any commercial or industrial source of sound may 
apply to the Planning Commission for a variance in time to comply with the provisions of this  
article. The Planning Commission shall have the authority, consistent with this section, to grant 
a variance [not to exceed five (5) years form the effective date of this chapter]. The same 
procedures and considerations by the Planning Commission as followed under Section 9-2-
313 of this article shall likewise apply. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-313
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-313


 
9-2-315 Appeals. 
Appeals of an adverse decision of the Planning Commission shall be made to the Council. 
Reviews by the Council shall be as specified in this Code. 

 
Article 4. Nonconforming Structures and Uses 

 
9-2-401 Specific purposes. 
This article limits the number and extent of nonconforming uses by limiting their enlargement, 
their re-establishment following abandonment, their alteration, their relocation, and their 
restoration. This article, while permitting the use and maintenance of nonconforming structures, 
limits their restoration, alteration, enlargement, or relocation upon the site in any manner that 
would increase the discrepancy between the standards contained in this article and the 
conditions existing on the subject property. 
 
It is recognized that nonconforming uses and structures generally persist and their appearance 
gradually deteriorates when the standards for repair and improvement are too restrictive. It is 
the intent of this article to provide limited but reasonable opportunity for nonconforming uses 
and structures that are not a public nuisance to be repaired and improved if it is in the public 
interest. This article also provides for the removal of nonconforming uses and structures or 
change to conforming uses and structures when such uses and structures are a public 
nuisance. 
 
9-2-402 Nonconforming Uses. 
(a) Defined. A nonconforming use is a lawful use of land that does not comply with the current 
use regulations for its zoning district but which complied with the applicable regulations at the 
time the use was established. A nonconforming use includes those that operate without a 
structure. 
 
(b) Regulations. 
 

(1) The re-establishment of a legal nonconforming use or the substitution of a 
nonconforming use of another nonconforming use of the same or more restrictive 
classification may be made upon approval of a minor discretionary permit in accordance with 
TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). The new 
nonconforming use must have a similar or less severe impact on its surroundings in terms of 
noise, traffic, parking, hours of operation and visual incompatibility. Nonconforming uses not 
meeting these requirements may be allowed upon approval of a conditional use permit in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits). 
 
(2) The repair, maintenance, remodel, alteration, and replacement of a structure used for a 
nonconforming use (and/or site improvements) may be allowed so long as there is no 
increase in the operation or floor area devoted to the use, or change in the size or location 
of any structures. The structural and/or site improvements described above may be 
approved if it can be determined that they do not adversely affect neighboring properties, 
that they do not increase the degree of nonconformity, and are in the public interest. 
 
(3) The expansion or enlargement of a structure used for a nonconforming use and/or site 
improvements may be allowed as follows: 
 



(i) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure used for a 
nonconforming use and/or the expansion or enlargement of the site by more than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet, or more than twenty-five (25%) of the existing structure’s 
floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon approval of a 
conditional use permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances). 
 
(ii) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure used for a 
nonconforming use and/or the expansion or enlargement of the site by no more than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet or no more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing 
structure’s floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon approval of 
a minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative 
and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(iii) The structural and/or site improvements described above may be approved if it can 
be determined they will not adversely affect neighboring properties, and are in the public 
interest. 
 
(iv) The expansion or enlargement of nonconforming residences in nonresidential zoning 
districts shall comply with the development standards established for the applicable 
residential zoning district, not the zoning district in which it is located. 
 

9-2-403 Nonconforming Structures. 
(a) Defined. A nonconforming structure is any building or structure that does not comply with 
one or more of the regulation limitations on size, height, and location on a lot, or the applicable 
zoning district in which such building or structure is located (refer to TMC 9-2-507 
(Nonconforming signage). 
 
(b) Regulations. 

 
(1) The repair, maintenance, remodel, alteration, and replacement of a nonconforming 
structure where the level of nonconformity is maintained so long as there is no increase in 
the operation or floor area devoted to the use, or change in the size or location of any 
structures. The structure improvements described above may be approved if it can be 
determined they will not adversely affect neighboring properties, and are in the public 
interest. 
 
(2) The expansion or enlargement of a nonconforming structure used may be allowed as 
follows: 

 
i) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure by more than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet, or more than twenty-five (25%) of the existing structure’s 
floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon approval of a 
conditional use permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances). 
 
(ii) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure by no more than 
one thousand (1,000) square feet or no more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the 
existing structure’s floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon 
approval of a minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits).  

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9


 
(iii) The structural improvements described above may be approved if it can be 
determined that they do not adversely affect neighboring properties, are in the public 
interest, and are necessary to ensure visual compatibility with the existing structure. 
 
(iv) The expansion or enlargement of nonconforming residences in nonresidential zoning 
districts shall comply with the developments standards established for the applicable 
residential zoning district, not the zoning district in which it is located. 

 
9-2-404 Loss of Nonconforming Status. 
A nonconforming use which ceases or a nonconforming structure that is unoccupied for a 
continuous period of twelve (12) months shall lose its legal nonconforming status. The premises 
on which the nonconforming use is located shall then be used for conforming uses and the 
nonconforming structure shall be removed or altered to conform unless a conditional use permit 
is obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
9-2-405 Discontinuance. 
(a) Declaration of unlawful uses or structures. It is hereby declared that nonconforming uses 
of land or nonconforming structures within the City of Turlock as set forth in this  article that are 
found to be a public nuisance are detrimental to the orderly development of the City and as 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, comfort, and general welfare of persons and property 
within the City of Turlock. It is further declared to be the policy of the City that such 
nonconforming uses or structures shall be eliminated as rapidly as may be done without 
infringing upon the constitutional rights of the owners of such nonconforming property. 
 
(b) Procedures to determine time for discontinuance. A nonconforming use or structure that 
is determined to be a public nuisance and a serious detriment to the health, safety, peace, 
comfort, and general welfare of persons and property within the surrounding area may be 
administratively ordered to discontinue upon determination by the Development Services 
Director, or designee. A nonconforming use or structure shall be discontinued within the 
following time frame: 
 

(1) A nonconforming use which does not involve the use of a structure shall be discontinued 
in five (5) years. 
 
(2) A nonconforming use which does involve the use of a structure shall be discontinued in 
ten (10) years. 
 
(3) A nonconforming structure shall be abandoned or removed in ten (10) years. 
 

(c) Appeals. Should an owner of property upon which a nonconforming use has been 
administratively ordered discontinued disagree with such order, such owner may appeal as 
provided in Title 1, Chapter 4 of the Turlock Municipal Code. 
 
9-2-406 Replacement and repairs due to damage. 
(a) If at any time any nonconforming residential building is damaged or destroyed by fire, flood, 
explosion, wind, earthquake, war, riot, or other calamity or act of God, such building may be 
rebuilt within one (1) year to total floor area not exceeding that which such building originally 
contained and such building may continue as set forth in this article for nonconforming uses and 
buildings. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(b) Any nonconforming commercial or industrial building or structure damaged by fire, flood, 
explosion, wind, earthquake, war, riot, or other calamity or act of God to such an extent that 
repairs or replacements are required, the cost of which exceeds sixty (60%) percent of its 
current appraised value for tax purposes at the time of damage, exclusive of the foundation, 
shall not be restored or reconstructed and used as before such happening. If such building is 
less than sixty (60%) percent damaged above the foundations, it may be restored, 
reconstructed, or used as before; provided, however, the restoration or reconstruction shall be 
substantially completed within one (1) year of such happening. 
 
9-2-407 Repairs and maintenance. 
Such repairs and maintenance work as required to keep a nonconforming building or structure 
in sound condition may be made; provided, however, no structural alterations shall be made 
except as are required by law or authorized by the Planning Commission as a conditional use 
pursuant to the provisions of TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
Except as otherwise provided in this  article, the total structural repairs and alterations which 
may be made to a nonconforming building or structure shall not, during its life subsequent to the 
date of its becoming a nonconforming use, exceed fifty (50%) percent of its then appraised 
value for tax purposes unless such building or structure is changed to a conforming use. 
 
9-2-408 Exceptions to provisions. 
The provisions of this article shall not require any change in the overall layout, plans, 
construction, size, or designated use of any development, building, or structure, or part thereof, 
where official approvals and required building permits have been granted before the effective 
date of this ordinance, or of any amendment to the provision of this  article, the construction of 
which building, conforming with such plans, shall have been started prior to the effective date of 
this ordinance, and the completion thereof carried on in a normal manner within the subsequent 
six (6) month period and not discontinued until completion except for reasons beyond builder’s 
control. 
 

Article 5. Signs 
 

9-2-501 Purpose. 
The purpose of this  article is to provide minimum standards to safeguard the life, health, 
property, and public welfare in keeping with the character of the City by regulating and 
controlling the size, height, structural design, quality of materials, construction, location, 
electrification, and maintenance of all signs and sign structures not located within a building 
(except temporary unlighted signs attached to or affixed upon windows) and to accomplish the 
following results: 
 
(a) To promote and enhance the character of residential neighborhoods and property values by 
prohibiting obtrusive and incompatible signs; and 
 
(b) To protect and maintain healthy commercial centers and property values for the effective 
communication of the nature of goods and services and the avoidance of wasteful, ugly, and 
unsightly competition in signs; and 
 
(c) To provide a reasonable and comprehensive system of controls of signs; and 
 
(d) To encourage a desirable urban character, which has a minimum of overhead clutter; and 
 



(e) To encourage signs which are well designed and pleasing in appearance and to provide 
incentive and latitude for variety, good design relationship, spacing, and location; and 
 
(f) To attract and direct persons to various activities and enterprises in order to provide for the 
maximum public convenience; and 
 
(g) To enhance the economic value of the community, and each area of it, through the 
regulation of the size, location, design, and illumination of signs. 
 
9-2-502 Interpretation. 
Whenever a reference in this  article is made to “this  article,” such reference shall refer to the 
requirements of the sign regulations. Any ambiguity with other sections of this Code will be 
resolved by the Planning Commission. The diagrams used in this  article are for illustrative 
purposes only. All text shall take precedence over any illustrations in the event of a conflict. 
When a conflict with local, Federal, or State regulations occurs, the more restrictive regulations 
shall govern. 
 
9-2-503 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this  article, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 
phrases used in this  article are defined as follows: 
 
“Animated sign” shall mean a sign with motion, flashing lights, or changes in color or intensity 
utilizing electricity or other sources of energy. This definition shall not include a sign which tells 
only time and temperature in alternating sequences. 
 
“Architectural projection” shall mean any projection which is not intended for occupancy and 
which extends beyond the face of an exterior wall of a building and shall include mansard roofs. 
 
“Banner, flag, pennant or balloon” shall mean any cloth, bunting, plastic, paper, lightweight 
fabric or similar material that is mounted to a pole or a building for commercial or advertising 
purposes. This definition shall include captive balloons and inflatable signs but shall not include 
national flags, state flags, municipal flags, the official flags of foreign nations, or the flags of 
nationally or internationally recognized organizations. 
 
“Building facade - building wall” shall mean that portion of any exterior elevation of a building 
extending from grade to the top of the parapet wall, or eaves, parallel to the street and 
extending the entire width of the building. 
 
“Building frontage” shall mean the length of the side of a building which faces directly upon a 
public street. For the purpose of this  article, “faces directly upon a public street” shall mean the 
area formed by extending perpendicular lines to the street from the two (2) building sides. This 
definition does not include any portion of a building which intersects any portion of another 
structure fronting onto an adjacent street or any portion of another lot. 
 
If a building is curved or triangular, the building frontage shall be the shortest distance between 
the points on the outside extremity of the building elevation measured parallel to the public 
street upon which the building fronts. 
 
“Business identification sign” shall mean signage that is limited to the name of the tenant, 
type of business, and logo of the tenant or business where the logo does not contain product 
information. 



 
 

“Changeable copy sign” shall mean a sign designed to allow the changing of copy through 
manual, mechanical, or electrical means. A sign on which the message changes more than 
eight times per day shall be considered an animated sign. This definition does not include a sign 
which displays only time and temperature in alternating sequences. 
 
“Civic sign” shall mean a sign, other than a commercial sign, posted to advertise a civic event, 
public agency, school, church, civic-fraternal organization or similar noncommercial 
organization. 
 
“Commercial speech” shall mean speech that proposes or invites a commercial transaction 
primarily aimed at the monetary gain or advertising interest of the advertiser or sponsor. 
 
“Common signage program” shall mean a coordinated signage plan for a shopping center or 
group of individual businesses, whether or not located on a single lot. The common signage 
plan specifies standards for consistency among all signs on the properties governed by the 
plan. 
 
“Detached sign.” See “Freestanding sign” in this section. 
 
“Erect” shall mean to build, construct, attach, hang, place, suspend, paint, or affix but shall not 
include change of copy on a sign. 
 
“Flashing sign.” See “Animated sign” in this section. 
 
“Freestanding sign” shall mean a sign which is supported by one or more columns, uprights, 
or is braced in or upon the ground and is not attached to any building. 



 
“Freeway” shall mean a highway to which the owners of abutting property have no right or 
easement of access to or from their property, and which is declared to be such in compliance 
with the California Streets and Highways Code. 
 
“Historic sign” shall mean a sign which exceeds 30 years in age and exhibits historic, cultural 
or aesthetic qualities that embody or represent the character of the city. 
 
“Identification sign” shall mean a sign identifying an apartment, residence, school, church, or 
other nonbusiness use or a use allowed on a lot in a residential zone. 
 
“Illuminated sign” shall mean a sign which is made readable by a source of light, including 
internally and/or externally lighted signs, and reflectored, glowing, or radiating signs. 
 
“Incidental sign” shall mean a sign that has a purpose secondary to the use of the property 
where it is located. Generally informational, these signs include posting of “no parking,” 
“entrance,” “loading only,” and other similar directives. No sign with a legible commercial 
message shall be considered incidental. 
 
“Individual lettering” shall mean the integration of signage into a building, wall or other 
architectural feature where the letters are not framed with a background or cabinet. 

 
“Integral roof sign” shall mean any sign erected or constructed as an integral or essentially 
integral part of a normal roof structure of any design. No part of the sign shall extend vertically 
above the highest portion of the roof and no part of the sign shall be separated from the rest of 
the roof by a space of more than 6 inches. 
 



“Logo” shall mean an established trademark or symbol identifying a product or use. 
 
“Marquee” shall mean a permanent roofed structure attached to and supported by a building 
and may project over a public right-of-way. 
 
“Marquee sign - canopy sign” shall mean a sign attached to or constructed on or under a 
marquee or a canopy. 
 
“Master sign plan” shall mean a coordinated sign plan of one or more signs for an individual 
building or building complexes with multiple tenants. The plan provides an inventory of approved 
signage and information including the type, location, height, area and number of signs. 
 
“Miscellaneous sign” shall mean any sign not defined in this section. 
 
“Monument sign” shall mean an independent sign structure supported on a solid base 
pedestal which is fixed to the ground. 
 
“Nonconforming sign” shall mean a sign which does not conform with the provisions of this 
chapter, but which: 

 
(1) Was lawfully in existence and in use in the City on the effective date of this ordinance, 
including signs erected pursuant to variances granted by the City: 
 
(2) Was lawfully in existence and in use on property outside the City on the effective date of 
annexation to the city, including signs erected pursuant to variances granted by the County; 
or 
 
(3) Was lawfully in existence and in use in the City on the effective date of any amendment 
to this chapter that causes the sign to become nonconforming. 
 

“Off-Premise signs” shall mean any sign that advertises goods, products, services or facilities 
not sold, produced, manufactured or furnished on the premises on which the sign is located. 
These signs are also known as outdoor advertising signs, billboards, poster panels and snipe 
signs. 
 
“Permanent sign” shall mean every sign except temporary signs as defined in this section. 
 
“Pole sign” shall mean a freestanding sign independently supported by one or more poles. 
 
“Political sign” shall mean a temporary sign designed for the purpose of expressing support 
for, or opposition to, a political candidate, campaign issue, or proposition at a public election. 
 
“Portable sign” shall mean an advertising device which is located on the ground, is easily 
movable, not permanently attached thereto and which is usually two-sided. This definition 
includes “A” frame signs, swinger signs, sandwich signs, menu boards, and similar signs. This 
excludes such signs when attached to a vehicle or trailer. 
 
“Projecting sign” shall mean a single- or multiple-faced sign which projects from a building 
wall farther or covers more space than a shingle sign, as defined in this section, and uses a 
building wall for support. 
 



“Promotional sign” shall mean any sign erected on a temporary basis to promote or advertise 
the sale of new products, new management, new business, new hours of operation, a new 
service or to promote a special sale. Promotional signage also includes banners and portable 
signs. 
 
“Revolving sign” shall mean a sign which rotates in either part of or a full circle. 
 
“Refacing” shall mean the replacement of the display surface of an existing sign. 
 
“Roof sign” shall mean any sign erected and constructed wholly on and over the roof of a 
building supported by the roof structure and extending vertically above the highest portion of the 
roof. 
 
“Shingle sign” shall mean any non-internally illuminated sign which projects eighteen (18") 
inches or less from the front of the building where the advertised use is located and does not 
exceed three (3) square feet on each side. 
 
“Shopping center identification sign” shall mean a freestanding sign used to identify a 
shopping center or group of businesses which function as an integral unit and does not 
reference or advertise any individual tenant. 
 
“Sign” shall mean any visual device or representation designed and used for the purpose of 
communicating a message or identifying or attracting attention to a lot, product, service, person, 
or event. The term “sign” shall include, but is not limited to, banners, pennants, streamers, 
whirligigs, unusual paint, color, nonstructural displays, and architectural projections, and shall 
include displays of merchandise or objects indicative of goods or services available if such 
displays are primarily designed or used, or intended to be used, for sign purposes and located 
outside of the building. 
 
“Sign face” shall mean the visible surface of a sign, excluding the essential structural elements 
which are not an integral part of the display. A sign consisting of one or more three (3) 
dimensional objects, such as balls, cubes, or clusters of objects, shall be deemed to have four 
(4) sign faces. 
 
“Sign area (surface)” shall mean the number of square feet of the smallest rectangular figure 
within which a sign face can be enclosed. 
 
“Sign design guidelines” shall mean the adopted principles and standards for the appearance 
of signs within the City of Turlock which have been incorporated into the City Design Guidelines 
Handbook. 
 
“Snipe sign” shall mean signs of a temporary nature advertising a specific event or product 
and which are   posted to trees, posts, poles, stakes, fences or similar support structures. 
 
“Temporary sign” shall mean any sign approved for a limited period of time. 
 
“Time and temperature sign” shall mean a sign or the portion of any sign that displays the 
current time and temperature in alternating sequence. 
 
“Wall sign” shall mean a single-faced sign which is affixed in any manner to or painted on any 
exterior wall of a building or structure. 



 
“Window sign” shall mean any sign, picture, symbol, or combination thereof, that is placed 
inside or upon a window with the intent to communicate information about an activity, business, 
commodity, event, sale, or service. 
 
9-2-504 Permits required. 
Except as otherwise provided in this  article, it shall be unlawful for any person to erect, alter, 
reface, or relocate or cause to be erected, altered, refaced, or relocated, within the City any sign 
without first obtaining a permit to do so from the Development Services Director and paying the 
required fee. It shall be unlawful for any person to maintain, or cause to be maintained, any sign 
within the City for which a permit has not been obtained, unless otherwise exempted pursuant to 
this  article. 
 
(a) Applications. Applications for the permits required by this  article shall be made to the 
Development Services Director on forms provided by the City, shall be accompanied by a permit 
fee, and shall comply with all submittal requirements for each individual permit type as outlined 
in Chapter 9-5 TMC. 
 
(b) Master or common signage plan. No permit shall be issued for an individual sign requiring 
a permit unless and until a Master or Common Signage Plan for the lot on which the sign will be 
erected has been approved by the Development Services Director as conforming with this 
section. A Master or Common Signage Plan shall be included in any development plan, site 
plan, planned unit development plan, or other official plan required by the city for the proposed 
development and shall be processed simultaneously with such other plan. 
 

(1) Master signage plan. A Master Signage Plan shall be established for each property at 
the time an initial application for signage (See TMC 9-2-505 for application type) is 
submitted. For any lot on which the owner proposes to erect two (2) or more signs requiring 
a permit, unless such lot is included in a common signage plan, the owner shall submit the 
following information for evaluation to the Development Services Director: 
 

(i) A completed plot plan of the lot accurately scaled. 
 
(ii) Location of the buildings, parking lots, driveways, and landscaped areas on such lot. 
 
(iii) Computation of the total sign area, the total area for each individual sign, the height 
of all signs and the number of each type of sign included in the plan. 
 
(iv) An accurate indication on the plot plan of the proposed location for each present and 
proposed sign of any type. 
 

(2) Common signage plan. An application for a Common Signage Plan may be submitted 
by the owner(s) of two (2) or more contiguous lots or a single lot with more than one (1) 
building. The application for a Common Signage Plan shall contain all of the information 
required for a Master Signage Plan and shall also specify standards for consistency among 
all signs on the lots affected by the plan with regard to: 
 

(i) Color scheme; 
 
(ii) Lettering or graphic style; 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-505


(iii) Location of each sign on each building; 
 
(iv) Material; and 
 
(v) Sign proportions. 
 

For those lots included in a Common Signage Plan, a twenty-five (25%) percent increase in 
the maximum total sign area shall be allowed for each lot. This bonus shall be allocated 
within each zone lot as the owner(s) elects. The number of freestanding signs permitted 
under a Common Signage Plan shall be limited to a total of one (1) for each street on which 
the lots included in the plan have frontage and shall provide for shared or common usage of 
such signs. 

 
(3) Binding effect. After approval of a Master or Common Signage Plan, no sign shall be 
erected, placed, painted, or maintained, except in conformance with such plan. In case of 
any conflict between the provisions of such a plan and any other provisions of this title, the 
title shall prevail. 
 
(4) Amendments to master or common signage plans. A Master or Common Signage 
Plan may be amended by filing a new Master or Common Signage Plan that conforms with 
all requirements of the title then in effect. 
 

(c) Sign permit. An application for a sign permit shall be required for all signage determined as 
being required pursuant to TMC 9-2-505. Signage shall be consistent with the approved master 
or common signage program, where applicable. The Development Services Director shall check 
the application to assure compliance with all the provisions of this  article and may issue the 
sign permit upon determining that the proposed signage either conforms with the standards of 
the master or common signage program or the standards and provisions of this  article. 
 
(d) Permits issued in error. If a sign permit is issued in error by the Development Services 
Director, and the sign does not comply with all of the requirements of this  article and all other 
laws and ordinances of the City, the sign permit shall be null and void, and no rights or 
privileges shall be conferred upon the permittee by such permit. 
 
9-2-505 Sign classifications. 
 

Sign Classifications 

E-Exempt     SP-Sign Permit 

NP-Not Permitted     MAA-Minor Administrative Approval 

MDP-Minor Discretionary Permit     CUP-Conditional Use Permit NA-Not Applicable 

Sign Type 

Zoning District 

All-

R 
C-O C-C C-H C-T I I-BP 

Animated signs (11) NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-505


Changeable copy sign NP NP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Civic signs MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Common sign program NA MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Flashing signs (11) NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

For sale, rent or lease signs located on the 

available property (6), (8), (12) 

E E E E E E E 

Freestanding signs not projecting over public rights-

of-way, which do not exceed 3 feet in height 

MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Freestanding signs not projecting over public rights-

of-way, which exceed 3 feet in height 

MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Freestanding signs which project over public rights-

of-way, except as provided for in this chapter 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Historical signs CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

Illuminated signs (1) MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Incidental signs SP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Marquee signs – canopy signs MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Memorial signs or tablets which display names of 

buildings, and dates of erection 

E E E E E E E 

Miscellaneous signs CUP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

No trespassing signs (2) E E E E E E E 

Off-premises signs NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Official Federal, State, or municipal governmental 

flags, emblems, and historical markers 

E E E E E E E 

Official Federal, State, or municipal governmental 

traffic, directional, and informational signs 

E E E E E E E 



Political signs (3) E E E E E E E 

Portable signs NP MDP MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Projecting signs (4) NP MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Professional occupation signs (5) E E E E E E E 

Reface of an existing conforming sign SP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Replacement, relocation, or other modification of an 

existing conforming sign 

MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Revolving signs NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Roof signs NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Shingle signs MAA SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Signs or sign programs which do not conform to the 

area, location, height, or other provisions set forth in 

this chapter 

CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

Subdivision signs: off-premises (6) MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Temporary construction signs (6) E E E E E E E 

Temporary holiday decorations E E E E E E E 

Temporary non-commercial speech signs on private 

property (7) 

E E E E E E E 

Temporary promotional signs (11) NP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Temporary warning signs (9) E E E E E E E 

Time and temperature signs NP NP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Traffic or municipal signs, legal notices, railroad 

crossing signs, public telephone signs, signs 

marking underground utility facilities, and other 

safety signs 

E E E E E E E 



Wall signs (including integral roof signs) (10) MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Window signs E E E E E E E 

 
(1) Internally illuminated signs located within a residential district or within one hundred fifty (150') 
feet of the boundary of a residential district shall not be permitted, except when the sign is composed 
of translucent individual copy letters with an opaque background. The measurement shall be taken 
from the location of the sign to the nearest residential zoning district, not from the property line of the 
site where the sign is located.  
 
(2) “No trespassing” signs shall be no larger than three (3) square feet in size and placed in 
compliance with the requirements of State laws. 
 
(3) Political signs must comply with the height, location, and safety requirements of this  article and 
Code. To be exempt political signs shall not be displayed on traffic or street signs, utility poles, public 
property, parks, or rights-of-way or on private property without the owners’ permission and shall be 
removed within five (5) days after the election. Signs placed in violation of the provisions of this 
subsection may be removed without notice. 
 
(4) Projecting signs shall not exceed the height of the wall, parapet wall, or architectural projection; 
provided, however, the maximum height shall not exceed the limits imposed for the district in which 
the sign is located. 
 
(5) A sign shall be designated as professional occupational when denoting only the name and 
profession of an occupant in a commercial building or public institutional building. The area of a 
professional occupational sign shall not exceed three (3) square feet for each occupant therein. In 
residential districts, signs denoting the resident of a dwelling shall not exceed one (1) square foot of 
sign area. 
 
(6) Not to exceed thirty-two (32) square feet for the indication of the owner, builder, architect, sale or 
lease, and pertinent data regarding building construction on the site during construction only. 
Separate signs advertising two (2) or more separate subdivisions may be co-located upon a single 
directory-type sign; in such instances, the overall sign area shall be limited to fifty (50) square feet 
per side, not to exceed one hundred (100) square feet in total sign area. In no case shall there be 
more than one (1) off-premises sales sign of any type per lot frontage. No sign shall exceed an 
overall height of twelve (12) feet in any district. 
 
(7) Such signs shall be displayed for a period not to exceed twenty (20) days. Only one (1) such sign 
shall be permitted to face onto each street adjacent to the property where the sign is located. Such 
signs may be single- or double-faced and shall be limited to six (6) square feet per face or less, and 
shall comply with the height, location, and safety requirements of this chapter and Code. 
 
(8) Such signs may be single- or double-faced and shall be limited to six (6) square feet per face or 
less on property in residential districts. 
 
(9) Includes signs warning of construction, excavations, or similar hazards so long as the hazard 
exists, which does not exceed twelve (12) square feet per sign face. 
 
(10) Wall signs shall not exceed the outside wall height of the building. The maximum height shall 
not exceed the limits imposed for the district in which the sign is located. 
 



(11) Banners, pennants, flags, sno-cones, buntings and the like for new or used retail vehicle sales 
may be allowed in proportion to the size of the site subject to an annual sign permit review by the 
Planning Division. The locations of such devices shall be limited to light poles or similar anywhere on 
the site, except where it may constitute a vision or public safety hazard. The devices shall be 
maintained in a clean, neat and untattered condition with replacement as necessary to ensure they 
do not become dirty, loose or tattered. Non-metallic helium balloons and other inflatables may be 
displayed on weekends (Friday 12:00 noon through Sunday 12:00 midnight), provided they do not 
exceed fifty (50') feet in height or project over the public right-of-way. 
 
(12) For sale, rent or lease signs that are thirty-two (32) square feet or less in size are Exempt; those 
from thirty-three (33) to one hundred (100) square feet require a Minor Discretionary Permit; and 
those larger than one hundred (100) square feet require a Conditional Use Permit.  

 
9-2-506 Sign standards. 
 

Sign Characteristics 

Characteristic 
Zoning District 

All-R C-O C-C C-H C-T I I-BP 

Maximum sign area (square 
feet) (1) 

12(2) 0.5:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 

Sign area for signs composed 
solely of individual lettering 

12(2) 0.75:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 

Overall sign height (feet) 6 12 20 20 20 20 12 

 
(1) Ratios are based on the number of square feet of sign area per lineal foot of building frontage. 
 
(2) For multi-family dwellings containing five (5) to twenty-nine (29) units, the maximum area is 
twenty-five (25) square feet. For multi-family dwellings containing thirty (30) or more units, the 
maximum area is thirty (30) square feet per street frontage with a maximum of two (2) signs. 

 
(a) Sign height. Sign height shall be measured from the curb or center line of the adjacent 
street to the highest point of the sign structure. 
 
(b) Sign area. The sign area consists of the entire face of a sign, including the surface and any 
framing, projections, or molding, but not including the support structure. Individual lettering 
mounted on a building or structure shall be determined by the smallest rectangle enclosing the 
sign copy. 
 
Sign Area = X * Y 
 
Sign Copy = (A * B) + (C * D) 
 
(c) Multiple signs. Except as otherwise provided in this  article, when more than one sign is 
located on property, the area of all signs, except temporary signs, shall be included in 
determining the total sign area allowed for the property on which such signs are located. 
 



(d) Double-faced signs. When a sign has two (2) or more faces, the area of all faces shall be 
included in determining the area of a sign. Both faces shall be parallel, and the distance 
between faces shall not exceed two (2') feet. Both faces of a double-faced sign shall be 
considered in determining the sign area. 
 
(e) Three-dimensional objects. When a sign consists of three-dimensional objects which do 
not exceed two (2') feet in diameter, depth, or dimension, the area of only one face shall be 
considered in determining the sign area. If the diameter, depth, or dimension exceeds two (2') 
feet, the area of all faces shall be included in determining the area of the sign. 
 
(f) Single sign. No single sign shall exceed three hundred (300) square feet in area, nor shall 
there be in excess of three hundred (300) square feet of sign area on any lot, except as 
provided for in this  article. 
 
(g) Freestanding sign. A freestanding sign, which is limited to business identification only, may 
be allowed provided it does not exceed a total sign area of one hundred (100) square feet, and 
does not exceed fifty (50) square feet on any side, and does not exceed the sign height 
restrictions for the district or exceed other provisions of this chapter. Freestanding signs which 
exceed these standards may be allowed subject to the requirement of first obtaining a 
conditional use permit pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(h) Exceptions. Exceptions to the sign area regulations set forth in this article may be  
first obtaining a conditional use permit pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances).  
 
(i) Prohibited signs. 
 

(1) Obscene matter. It shall be unlawful for any person to display or post any sign which 
communicates obscene, indecent, or immoral matter. 
 
(2) Signs advertising “adult entertainment.” No sign advertising “adult entertainment” (as 
defined in the Turlock Municipal Code) shall be allowed within five hundred (500') feet of any 
school facility. 
 
(3) Snipe signs. Temporary signs posted to posts, trees, utility poles, fences or similar 
support structures for the purpose of advertising an event or product not located on the 
property shall be prohibited. Any sign posted illegally as such may be removed without 
notice by the Development Services Director or his/her designee. 
 

(j) Sign locations. 
 

(1) Location required by Codes. The location of each sign shall be in compliance with the 
Building, Electrical, Sign, and Fire Codes and the zoning regulations and other laws of the 
City and State as they now exist or may hereafter exist. 
 
(2) Signs over public rights-of-way. Signs shall not extend over public rights-of-way or 
over areas within official plan lines for streets which have been adopted or which hereafter 
may be adopted, except in the Commercial District. In a Commercial District, signs may be 
permitted to extend over a street or other public right-of-way subject to the following: 
 



(i) The sign may extend over the street or right-of-way two-thirds (2/3) the distance from 
the property line to the curb face, or six and one-half (6-1/2') feet, whichever is less. 
 
(ii) Signs which project into a street or public right-of-way more than (2") inches shall 
have a minimum clearance of eight (8') feet above the public right-of-way. 
 
(iii) Every sign which projects into a street or right-of-way more than one foot shall be 
multi-faced and fully enclosed. 
 

(3) Signs on public property. Any sign erected or placed upon public property in violation 
of the provisions of this  article may be summarily removed or destroyed by the 
Development Services Director. 
 
(4) Freeway-oriented signs. Freeway-oriented signs to advertise a commercial business 
located on properties within 750 feet of a freeway may be permitted subject to obtaining an 
approved Minor Discretionary Permit in accordance with Section 9-5-307 et. seq. The 
maximum height for freeway signs is subject to the standards for the district it is located in, 
but may be measured from the center line of the overpass. The maximum sign area 
permitted for an individually-mounted pole sign with freeway orientation is one hundred 
(100) square feet. If a freeway-oriented sign is not mounted individually on a pole, the 
maximum sign area allowed is three hundred (300) square feet. 
 
(5) Overlay Districts. All signage located within an established overlay district shall comply 
with the requirements established for such district. 
 
(6) Prohibited locations. No sign shall be erected or maintained in the following locations: 
 

(i) At the intersection of any streets or driveway approach in such a manner as to 
obstruct the free and clear vision of pedestrians or vehicular traffic; or 
 
(ii) At any location where, by reason of the position, shape, color, words, phrases, 
symbols, or for any other reason, the sign may interfere with, obstruct the view of, or be 
confused with any authorized traffic sign, signal, or device. 
 

(k) Temporary signs. Temporary signs may be erected any place a permanent sign may be 
located and at locations approved by the Development Services Director. All temporary signs 
shall comply with the height, location, and area requirements of this  article. Temporary signs 
may be permitted subject to first obtaining a sign permit and complying with the following 
conditions: 
 

(1) A sign permit shall have been obtained from the Development Services Director who, 
prior to the issuance of such permit, shall have determined that the proposed location, 
method of installation, and support of the temporary sign will not endanger the public health, 
welfare, or safety. 
 
(2) A temporary sign to advertise a commercial business or activity shall be allowed on any 
commercially zoned property not to exceed a total of sixty (60) days in one calendar year. 
 
(3) Banners or similar temporary signs which announce a civic or charitable activity may be 
allowed in the public right-of-way with the consent and subject to the conditions of the 
Community Development Director. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-307


 
(4) A temporary sign advertising a religious, charitable, cultural, or educational organization 
or activity in a residential district shall be allowed provided: 
 

(i) The total display service area of the sign does not exceed thirty-six (36) square feet; 
 
(ii) The sign does not exceed six (6') feet in height; and 
 
(iii) The sign is located at least five (5') feet inside the property line in residentially zoned 
areas and at least two (2') feet inside the property line in other areas. 
 

(l) Portable signs. One portable frame sign constructed of permanent materials may be allowed 
for each business location under the following conditions: 

 
(1) The business is not part of a shopping center complex, multi-unit commercial 
development, or office complex, consisting of two or more units. 
 
(2) The sign does not exceed two (2') feet in width by four (4') feet in height. 
 
(3) The sign is permitted as part of the Master Signage Plan for the location. 
 
(4) The sign is not located in the public right-of-way, or the clear vision triangle near a 
driveway or road intersection as determined in TMC 9-2-215. 

 
(m) Promotional signage. Each commercial business shall be allowed exterior promotional 
displays (including banners) equal to a maximum of 10 percent of the otherwise allowable sign 
area for the location when: 
 

(1) Placed in a location where approved as part of a Master Signage Plan for the property. 
 
(2) No more than one such display is used. 
 
(3) They are displayed no more than 14 days in a row and 60 days in a calendar year. 
 

(n) Incidental signs. Incidental signs are limited to a maximum of one sign per entrance to the 
property with no more than two permitted per business. 
 
(o) Design, construction and maintenance. All signs shall be designed, constructed and 
maintained in accordance with the following standards: 
 

(1) All signs shall comply with applicable provisions of the California Building Code and the 
electrical code of the City at all times; 
 
(2) Except for banners, flags, temporary signs, and window signs conforming in all respects 
with the requirements of this ordinance, all signs shall be constructed of permanent 
materials and shall be permanently attached to the ground, building or other structure by 
direct attachment to a rigid wall, frame or structure. 
 
(3) All signs, parts, portions, units, and materials composing the sign, together with the 
frame, background, supports, or anchorage, shall be maintained in proper repair by the 
owner of the sign and/or the owner of the property on which the sign is located. 



 
(4) All signs erected in the City shall be subject to inspection by the Development Services 
Director to assure compliance with all the provisions of this  article and all other laws and 
ordinance of the City. Signs incorporating electrical wiring shall be inspected and approved 
by the Chief Building Official prior to erection, unless such sign bears the seal of approval of 
the National Board of Fire Underwriters. 
 

9-2-507 Nonconforming signage. 
A nonconforming sign shall not be replaced, refaced, altered, reconstructed, relocated, or 
expanded in any manner unless and until the sign is made to conform with the provisions of this  
article. Ordinary maintenance and minor repairs which will not increase the normal life of the 
sign and which are required for safety purposes will be permitted. Structural alterations to a 
nonconforming sign shall be prohibited, except to make such sign conforming. 
 
(a) Conformance. No nonconforming sign shall be required to conform with the provisions of 
this  article, except on the occurrence of any of the following events: 
 

(1) Discontinuance of use. If the use of a nonconforming sign for the business advertised 
by a nonconforming sign is discontinued for a period of three (3) months or longer, such sign 
shall not thereafter be used unless and until the sign is made to conform to this  article; or 
 
(2) New construction or change in use. The occurrence of any of the events specified in 
TMC 7-2-202 requiring public improvements and dedications pursuant to said section. 
 

9-2-508 Unsafe and unlawful signs.  
If the Development Services Director shall find that any sign regulated by this  article is unsafe 
or insecure, or is a menace to the public, or is in a dilapidated, decayed, or neglected state, or 
has been constructed or erected or is being maintained in violation of the provisions of this  
article, the Planning Director shall give written notice to the permittee or owner thereof and/or 
the owner of the property upon which the sign is located. If the permittee or owner and/or owner 
of the property on which the sign is located fails to remove or alter the structure so as to comply 
with the standards set forth in this  article within (10) days after such notice, such sign may be 
removed or altered to comply by the Development Services Director, and any expense 
incidental thereto shall be paid by the permittee or owner of the sign and/or owner of the 
property on which the sign is located. 
 
(a) Immediate peril. Any sign found to be unsafe and to be an immediate peril to persons or 
property may be removed summarily and without notice by the Development Services Director. 
The cost of such removal shall be paid by the permittee and/or sign owner and/or assessed 
against the owner of the property on which the sign is located and made a lien on such property. 
 
9-2-509 Compliance with chapter provisions: Nuisances: Abatement. 
The Council hereby determines that the public peace, safety, morals, health, and welfare 
require that all signs heretofore constructed or erected in violation of any law or ordinance of the 
City in effect at the time such sign was constructed or erected be and they are hereby made 
subject to the provisions of this  article, and shall conform and comply with such requirements 
forthwith, and that all signs which shall hereafter be constructed or erected in violation of the 
provisions of this  article shall be and they are hereby declared public nuisances to be removed 
and abated in the manner provided in this  article. 
 
9-2-510 Noncompliance. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock07/Turlock072.html#7-2-202


Noncompliance with the provisions of this ordinance shall be defined as the following: 
 
(a) Failure to obtain the necessary permits or other approvals as set forth in this  article and title; 
 
(b) Exempt signs displayed, created, or sized, incorrectly; 
 
(c) Any sign constructed or erected in violation of the provisions of this  article and title, and the 
other provisions of this Code as may be applicable. 
 
9-2-511 Removal, Costs, and Enforcement. 
It shall be the duty of the Neighborhood Preservation Officer, the Chief of Police, and the 
Development Services Director to enforce the provisions of this  article. Any violation of this  
article shall be deemed a nuisance and enforcement proceedings shall be pursuant to Article 3 
of Chapter 5-5: Nuisance Abatement Procedures. 
 
9-2-512 Appeals by persons aggrieved. 
Any person aggrieved by any decision or order of the Development Services Director pursuant 
to this  article may appeal such decision or order to the Planning Commission in the manner set 
forth in Chapter 4 of Title 1 of the Code.. Appeals of Planning Commission decisions may be 
made as set forth in TMC 9-5-130: Appeals: Authorized. 
 
 

Article 6. Wireless Communication Facilities 
 
9-2-601 Purpose. 
With the rapid growth of the telecommunications industry and subsequent development of 
wireless communication facilities, the purpose of this article is to: 
 
(a) Provide the regulatory mechanism that accommodates the installation and development of 
wireless communication facilities, whose services benefit the residents of Turlock. 
 
(b) Define the development standards for the placement and construction of wireless 
communication facilities consistent with the Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996. 
 
(c) Minimize the proliferation of these facilities by encouraging co-location. 
 
(d) Minimize the visual impacts these facilities can create in the community by promoting well-
designed, inconspicuous, and appropriately placed facilities. 
 
9-2-602 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this article, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 
phrases used in this article are defined as follows: 
 
(a) Antenna. Any system of wires, poles, rods, reflecting discs, or similar devices used for the 
transmission or receiving of electromagnetic radio frequency waves. 
 

(1) Building mounted. An antenna which is affixed to or supported by the roof or exterior 
wall of a building or other structure. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock055.html#5-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(2) Ground mounted. An antenna which is fully or partially supported by a platform, 
framework, pole, or other structural system that is affixed to or placed directly on or in the 
ground. 
 

(b) Co-location. The location of two or more wireless communication facilities on a single 
support structure or otherwise sharing a common location. For the purposes of this article, co-
location shall also include the location of wireless communication facilities with other facilities 
such as light standards, and other utility facilities and structures. 
 
(c) Communication tower. Any structure which is used to transmit or receive electromagnetic 
radio frequency waves or that supports such a device. 
 
(d) Electromagnetic radio frequency waves. Waves of electric and magnetic energy radiating 
away from a transmission source to be picked up by a receiving antenna for the purpose of 
communicating information. 
 
(e) Stealth facility. Any communication facility which is designed to blend into the surrounding 
environment, and is visually unobtrusive Examples of stealth facilities may include 
architecturally screened roof-mounted antennas, facade mounted antennas painted and treated 
as architectural elements to blend with an existing building, facilities designed to mimic trees 
(palms, pines, and the like), flag poles, church steeples, signs, and other similar structures. 
 
(f) Wireless communication facility. A facility containing communication towers and/or 
antennas and any related equipment for the purpose of transmitting or receiving 
electromagnetic radio frequency waves. 
 
9-2-603 Compliance with applicable codes. 
Every wireless communication facility constructed within the City of Turlock shall comply with all 
safety standards of the American National Standards Institute, Institute of Electrical and 
Electronic Engineers, Public Utilities Commission, Federal Communications Commission, 
California Building Code, National Electrical Code, the Turlock Municipal Code and any other 
codes and standards as applicable. 
 
9-2-604 Permits required. 
All wireless communication facilities shall be subject to the following permitting: 
 
(a) Exempt. New wireless communication facilities which will be co-locating on or within an 
existing approved tower or facility shall be exempt. New facilities must incorporate the same 
stealthing technique as utilized on the existing wireless communication facility. 
 
(b) Minor Discretionary Permit. The following facilities require a Minor Discretionary Permit: 
 

(1) All building mounted facilities, located in industrial or the Heavy Commercial (C-H) 
zoning districts (including Planned Developments of an industrial or heavy commercial 
nature), which comply with the regulations contained in this article including, but not limited 
to height, location and screening. 
 
(2) All ground mounted facilities located in an industrial zoning district (including Planned 
Developments of an industrial nature), which are located at least 500 feet from a residential 
zoning district or the boundary of the Beautification Master Plan Area, and comply with the 
height, location, and screening requirements contained within this article. An application for 



a Minor Discretionary Permit for a wireless communication facility may be granted as 
provided in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), and if 
it is found that all of the following additional findings can be made: 
 

(i) The design and placement of the wireless communication facility, including support 
equipment and structures, will not adversely impact the use of the property, other 
buildings and structures located on the property, or the surrounding area or 
neighborhood. 
 
(ii) The applicant has demonstrated that the wireless communication facility will have the 
least possible visual impact on the environment taking into account technical, 
engineering, economic and other relevant factors. 
 
(iii) The wireless communication facility complies with the height, screening, and visual 
compatibility requirements contained within this article. 
 

(c) Conditional Use Permit. The facilities that require a conditional use permit include: 
 

(1) All ground mounted facilities that are located in an industrial zoning district, but are within 
500 feet of the Beautification Master Plan area or a residential zoning district. 
 
(2) All facilities that do not comply with the height, location, or visual compatibility and 
screening requirements within this article. 
 
(3) Facilities in residential (R) zoning districts. Only facilities which are building mounted, 
entirely stealthed, or totally enclosed within a building shall be permitted in any residential 
district. Building mounted facilities in a residential district shall be located or screened so as 
to prevent any public view or architecturally designed to appear as an integral part of the 
building on which it is attached. Only residentially zoned properties one (1) acre in size, or 
larger, shall be considered for freestanding wireless communication facilities, unless the 
applicant can substantiate that the facility is designed to minimum visual impact to 
neighboring properties. 
 
(4) For those facilities where it is determined the project may create a significant impact to 
the neighborhood. 
 
(5) An application for a conditional use permit for a wireless communication facility may be 
granted as provided in TMC 9-5-600ART, and if it is found that the following additional 
findings can be made: 
 

(i) The design and placement of the wireless communication facility, including support 
equipment and structures, will not adversely impact the use of the property, other 
buildings and structures located on the property, or the surrounding area of 
neighborhood. 
 
(ii) The applicant has demonstrated that the wireless communication facility will have the 
least possible visual impact on the environment taking into account technical, 
engineering, economic and other relevant factors. 
 
 (iii) The approval of the proposed wireless communication facility will not affect the 
purposes of this article as defined in TMC 9-2-601. 



 
(iv) The proposed wireless communication facility conforms to the greatest extent 
possible with the provisions of this article. 
 

9-2-605 Application requirements.  
Prior to application submittal, applicants shall meet with Planning staff concerning the proposed 
project to review potential sites based upon the applicant’s geographic service area and to 
determine the appropriate review process based upon the location and type of proposed facility. 
 
(a) Additional materials required. In addition to the other information and materials required 
as part of a Minor Discretionary Permit or Conditional Use Permit application, any application for 
a Wireless Communication Facility shall also provide the following: 
 

(1) Base Map. The map must show parcel boundaries with the subject property highlighted 
and all zoning districts within 500 feet of the subject property clearly noted. 
 
(2) Master Propagation Plan. The Master Propagation Plan shall include a narrative, in lay 
terms, and graphic representation showing the location and type of all existing facilities, plus 
the applicant’s proposed facilities during the next twelve (12) calendar months, within the 
boundaries of the City and the surrounding one-half (1/2) mile thereof. 
 
(3) Site Justification Study. All applicants shall complete a site justification study, and 
include the following information: 
 

(i) Rationale. Site location; site description; top three alternate locations; radio frequency 
cluster map and search ring for proposed site; reasons for choosing final location; how 
site design minimizes impact on surrounding land uses; site demand 
(capacity/coverage); 
 
(ii) Co-location. Is site suitable for future co-location and why or why not; could site be 
collocated at existing nearby site and why or why not. 
 
(iii) Height. Using non-technical language, describe the reasoning for the requested 
height of the proposed facility. 
 
(iv) Equipment. Describe the potential to place all support equipment underground. 
 
(v) Use of site. Provide a statement of intent on whether there will be any excess space 
available and if it may be leased. 
 
(vi) Contact person. If the applicant’s representative is not the contact person, an 
individual or individuals who are available to meet with or respond to questions and 
concerns from residents, business or property owners regarding the proposed facility. 

 
9-2-606 Height. 
All wireless communication equipment, antennas, poles, or towers shall be constructed at the 
minimal functional height. Building mounted facilities shall not exceed fifteen (15') feet in height 
greater than the maximum height permitted for the district in which it is located. Height limits for 
all ground mounted facilities shall be subject to the following standards: 
 



Maximum Height for Ground Mounted Facilities 

Distance from a residential (R) district* Maximum Height 

Between 0-25 feet 1 foot per 1 foot of distance from a residential district 

Between 25-50 feet 25 feet 

Between 50-150 feet 35 feet 

Greater than 150 feet 50 feet 

* Distance is measured from the proposed facility to the nearest R district boundary. 
 
9-2-607 Location. 
(a) New wireless communication facilities shall be co-located with other existing or planned 
facilities where feasible or where found to minimize visual impact. 
 
(b) No facility that is readily visible from off-site shall be installed closer than any other facility 
that is readily visible, unless it utilizes stealth technology in its design. 
 
(c)  At a minimum, all new facilities shall comply with the following setback requirements: For 
every one (1) foot in height of the proposed facility, the facility shall be setback one (1) foot from 
any street frontage. 
 
9-2-608 Residential (R) districts. 
Only those facilities which are building mounted, entirely stealthed, or totally enclosed within a 
building shall be permitted in any residential district. 
 
9-2-609 Visual compatibility and screening. 
(a) All wireless communication facilities shall be screened or camouflaged so as to not be 
readily visible from off-site.  Existing site features shall be used to screen the facility, including 
equipment panels or structures, where possible. Such screening shall include dense evergreen 
landscaping, solid fencing, or a combination of both. 
 
(b) All towers, antennae, equipment structures or panels must be architecturally and visually 
compatible with surrounding buildings, structures, vegetation and/or uses in the area. 
 
(c) All antennas, towers or related equipment shall be coated with a non-reflective finish or paint 
consistent with the background area where the facility is to be placed. 
 
(d) Building-mounted antennas and all other equipment shall be in scale and architecturally 
integrated with the building design in such a manner as to be visually unobtrusive. 
 
9-2-610 Discontinuance of use. 
The service provider of a wireless communication facility shall notify the City of the intent to 
discontinue operation no less than thirty (30) days before discontinuance. Upon the 



discontinuance of use, all related equipment shall be removed and the property restored to the 
pre-construction condition within ninety (90) days of the cessation of operation. 

 



SECTION 4. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 3, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 

Chapter 9-3 
BASE DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Sections: 

Article 1. Agricultural District (A) 

9-3-101    Specific purposes. 

9-3-102    Use classifications. 

9-3-103    Property development regulations. 

 

Article 2. Residential Districts (R-E, R-L, R-L4.5, R-M, R-H) 

9-3-201    Specific purposes. 

9-3-202    Use classifications. 

9-3-203    Property development regulations. 

 

Article 3. Commercial Districts (C-O, C-C, C-T, C-H) 

9-3-301    Specific purposes. 

9-3-302    Use classifications. 

9-3-303    Property development regulations. 

 

Article 4. Industrial Districts (I-BP & I) 

9-3-401    Specific purposes. 

9-3-402    Use classifications. 

9-3-403    Property development standards. 

 



Article 5. Public & Semipublic District (P-S) 

9-3-501    Specific purposes. 

9-3-502    Use classifications. 

9-3-503    Development regulations. 

Article 1. Agricultural District (A) 

9-3-101 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the purposes listed in TMC 9-1-103, the specific purposes of the Agricultural 
District regulations are to preserve and protect agricultural land from urban development; and in 
certain instances, permit agriculture as an interim use until development occurs. 
 
9-3-102 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in A Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit.  
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, except a single-family dwelling, involving an 
expansion of floor area of one thousand (1,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the 
existing building floor area, whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with 
Article 10 of Chapter 9-5 TMC. New or expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an 
MDP design review permit. Design review shall take place concurrently with the processing of 
any other required permit. Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock 
is mandatory for all commercial developments subject to design review. 
 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with Article 2 of Chapter 9-5 TMC, Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation 
Permits. The zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or 
prior to commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

A DISTRICT (Agricultural District)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted  
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-103
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5


MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 
A Additional Use Regulations 

Agricultural Uses P  

Residential Uses   

Family day care homes   

     Large MAA (1) 

     Small P  

Group Quarters   

     Large MDP  

     Small P  

Home occupations P (2) 

Emergency shelter NP  

Manufactured housing MAA (9) 

Single-family dwellings P  

Second dwellings P (3) (7) (8) 

Public and Semipublic Uses   

Religious assembly CUP  

Utilities   

     Major  CUP  

     Minor  P (6) 

Accessory Structures and Uses P (4) 

Domesticated animals P (5) 

Temporary Uses See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land) 

Nonconforming Uses and 
Structures 

See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses) 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-110, Family day care home. 

(2) See TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). 

(3) See TMC 9-2-119, Second dwelling units. 

(4) See TMC 9-2-101, Accessory buildings or structures. 

(5) The keeping of domesticated animals is subject to TMC 6-1-105. Livestock and domestic farm 
animals, used interchangeably in the Turlock Municipal Code, may be kept as an accessory use to a 
residence only in the following zoning districts: (Agriculture (A) and Estate Residential (R-E)). 

(6) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-119
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105


(7) Employee, supportive, and transitional housing serving six (6) or fewer people is permitted by 
right. Transitional housing and supportive housing shall be considered a residential use of property, 
and shall be subject only to those restrictions that apply to other residential dwellings of the same 
type in the same zone. 

(8) Any employee housing consisting of no more than thirty-six (36) beds in a group quarters or 
twelve (12) units or spaces designed for use by a single family or household shall be deemed an 
agricultural use and subject to the same permitting requirements. 

(9) Manufactured housing shall be subject to architectural review to ensure compatibility with 
adjacent residential buildings in terms of scale, height, and exterior design and treatment as 
provided in the design guidelines, including but not limited to roof pitch and style, window and door 
detailing, exterior materials, textures, colors, and finishes. 

9-3-103 Property development regulations. 
The following schedule prescribes development regulations for the Agricultural (A) District. 
Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART. 
 

A DISTRICT (Agricultural District) 
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 A Additional Regulations 

Lot area (acres) 5 (1) 

Lot area per unit (acres) 5  

Lot width (ft.) 200  

Yards:  (2) 

Front (ft.) 50  

Side (ft.) 50  

Corner side (ft.) 50  

Rear (ft.) 50  

Maximum height (ft.) 50 (3) 

Fences and walls All fences and walls shall be subject to the driveway visibility 
requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 
Barbed wire and electrified fences may be utilized to contain 
livestock subject to the standards contained in TMC 9-2-126 
(Electrified fences). Razor wire is prohibited. 

Additional Regulations See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-street parking and loading 
regulations). 

See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101


See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

See TMC 9-2-114 (Permitted locations of mobile homes, 
recreational vehicles, and campers.) 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-106 (Development on existing lots of record). See TMC 9-2-107 (Development on 
lots divided by district boundaries). Minimum lot sizes may be reduced when the exclusive use of 
such lots is intended for utility substations, pumping stations, and similar facilities. 

(2) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

(3) See Section 9-2-108 (Exceptions to height limits). 

Article 2. Residential Districts (R-E, R-L, R-L4.5, R-M, R-H) 

9-3-201 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the purposes listed in TMC 9-1-103, the specific purposes for the regulations of 
each Residential District are to: 
 
(a) Residential estate (R-E). 

(1) Provide living areas which combine certain advantages of both urban and rural location 
by limiting development to very low density concentrations of one (1) family dwellings; 

(2) Provide transition or buffer areas between intense residential urban uses and agricultural 
preserves to avoid or lessen conflicts of use. 

(b) Low density residential (R-L and R-L4.5). 

(1) Provide appropriately located areas for single-family dwellings that are consistent with 
the General Plan and with standards of public health and safety established by the Turlock 
Municipal Code; 

(2) Provide adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling unit and protect 
residents from the harmful effects of excessive noise, population density, traffic congestion 
and other adverse environmental impacts; 

(3) Achieve design compatibility through the use of site development standards. 

(c) Medium density residential (R-M). 

(1) To limit the expansion of the City in order to preserve agricultural lands and maintain a 
compact urban form, while responding to many households’ preference for single-family 
units; 

(2) Provide appropriately located areas for single-family and medium density multifamily 
dwelling units consistent with the General Plan and with standards of public health and 
safety established by the Turlock Municipal Code; 

(3) Provide adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling unit and protect 
residents from the harmful effects of excessive noise, population density, traffic congestion 
and other adverse environmental impacts; 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-106
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-108
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-103


(4) Achieve design compatibility with adjacent uses through the use of site development 
standards. 

(d) High density residential (R-H). 

(1) Provide appropriately located areas for high density multiple-family dwelling units 
consistent with the General Plan and with standards of public health and safety established 
by the Turlock Municipal Code; 

(2) Provide affordable housing for all economic segments of the community and conserve 
land while maintaining a compact urban form; 

(3) Provide adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling unit and protect 
residents from the harmful effects of excessive noise, population density, traffic congestion 
and other adverse environmental impacts; 

(4) Achieve design compatibility through the use of site development standards. 
 
9-3-202 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in R Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. Any change in use or business within an existing structure which does 
not require an approved conditional use permit shall obtain a zoning certificate in accordance 
with Article 2 of Chapter 9-5 TMC, Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits. The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

R DISTRICTS (Residential Districts)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
PD Planned Development 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 

 
R-E R-L R-L4.5 R-M R-H 

Additional Use 
Regulations 

Agricultural Uses       

Community garden CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP (1) 

Crop production P P P P P (1) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5


Domesticated animals P P P P P (2) 

Residential Uses       

Condominiums PD PD PD PD PD  

Family day care home       

     Small P P P P P (3) (13) 

     Large MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA (3) (13) 

Group homes P P P P P (9) 

Group quarters NP CUP CUP MDP MDP  

Emergency shelter NP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Home occupations P P P P P (4) 

Manufactured housing P P P MDP CUP (15) 

Mobile home parks NP CUP CUP CUP CUP (8) 

Multi-family dwellings NP NP NP MDP MDP (10) 

Residential care facilities       

     Large CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

     Small P P P P P (9) 

Second dwellings P P P P P (5) 

Single-family dwellings P P P P P (10) 

Commercial Uses       

Neighborhood store 
All other commercial 
uses 

NP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

 

Public and Semipublic 
Uses 

      

Airports and heliports CUP NP NP NP NP  

Cemeteries/crematories CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Religious assembly CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP (12) 

Convalescent hospitals NP NP NP MDP MDP  

Cultural institutions NP NP NP NP NP  

Day care centers CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Golf course/driving 
range 

CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Park and recreation 
facilities 

MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP  

Public buildings and 
facilities 

MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP  

Schools, public or 
private 

CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  



Utilities       

     Major CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

     Minor MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA  

Industrial Uses NP NP NP NP NP  

Accessory Structures 
and Uses 

      

Accessory buildings and 
structures 

P P P P P (6) 

Animals, household P P P P P (2) (7) 

Kennels MDP NP NP NP NP (11) 

Temporary Uses See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). Construction trailers 
and sales office trailers may be located on the project site after required 
planning permits and approvals have been obtained. The trailer(s) must 
be removed upon completion of the applicable construction project. For 
sales office trailers, 1) landscaping shall be provided around the base 
of the trailer and between the public right-of-way and the trailers 
location; and 2) parking spaces shall be paved.  

 
1) See TMC 9-1-202 (Definitions).  

(2) The keeping of domesticated animals may be kept as an accessory use to a residence, subject 
to the requirements of TMC 6-1-105.1(Other domesticated animals), only in the following zoning 
districts: (Agriculture (A) and Residential Estate (R-E)). 

(3) See TMC 9-2-110 (Family day care home). 

(4) See TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). 

(5) See TMC 9-2-119 (Second dwelling units). In the R-M and R-H Districts, a second unit may be 
constructed to the R-L standards when only one other dwelling (i.e., the primary residence) is 
located on the same property. 

(6) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). Accessory structures will require a minor 
administrative or minor discretionary permit if required by the principal use. 

(7) The keeping of household pets is subject to TMC 6-1-105.  

(8) See TMC 9-2-111 (Mobile home development). 

(9) State-licensed group homes, foster homes, residential care facilities, and similar State-licensed 
facilities, regardless of the number of occupants, are deemed permitted by right in a residential 
zoning district, pursuant to State and Federal law. 

(10) Employee, supportive, and transitional housing serving six (6) or fewer people is permitted as a 
single-family dwelling. Transitional housing and supportive housing shall be considered a residential 
use of property, and shall be subject only to those restrictions that apply to other residential 
dwellings of the same type in the same zone. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-119
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-111


(11) Kennels are subject to TMC 6-1-105. 

(12) A structure allowed as a religious assembly building may be used for a temporary homeless 
shelter if the following requirements are met: 

(i)  There is a valid conditional use permit for the structure used for religious assembly 
purpose; 

(ii)  No rent or fees of any kind are charged for the service offered to homeless persons; 

(iii) The facility that is used to house homeless persons accommodates a maximum of six (6) 
persons at any one (1) time; 

(iv) Homeless persons reside at the facility a maximum of sixty (60) days; 

(v)  Occupancy by homeless persons at the facility commences upon the religious assembly 
use receiving a certificate of occupancy. 

(13) The garage of a single-family residence, which is considered the required parking spaces for 
such use, may be converted into habitable space as defined by the  California Building Code to 
accommodate the use of the dwelling as a large family day care upon satisfying the findings and 
conditions set forth in TMC 9-2-110. The condition may remain until such time as the dwelling unit is 
no longer used for day care, residential care, or other similar uses licensed by the State of California 
(Community Care Licensing). Upon cessation of that use, or prior to the dwelling unit being sold, the 
converted garage shall be returned to its original state so that off-street parking is provided pursuant 
to TMC 9-2-209. 

(14) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. 

 (15) Manufactured housing shall be subject to architectural review to ensure compatibility with 
adjacent residential buildings in terms of scale, height, and exterior design and treatment as 
provided in the design guidelines, including but not limited to roof pitch and style, window and door 
detailing, exterior materials, textures, colors, and finishes. 

9-3-203 Property development regulations. 
The following schedule prescribes the development regulations for each Residential District. 
Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART. 
 

R DISTRICTS (Residential Districts)  
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 
R-E R-L R-L4.5 R-M R-H 

Additional 
Regulations 

Minimum lot size 
(sf) 

14,500 5,000 4,500 6,000 7,500 (1)(5) 

Lot density ranges 
(unit/acre) 

0.2 – 3.0 3.0 – 
7.0 

5.0 – 10.0 7.0 – 15.0 15.0 – 30.0  

Lot area per unit 
(sf) 

14,500 5,000 4,500 NA NA (5) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-209


Units per min. lot 
size 

2 2 2 3 4  

Area per unit above 
min. 

NA NA NA 2,000 1,200  

Lot dimensions (ft.)       

Width 100 55 40 60 75 (2) 

Corner lots 60 60 45 65 80  

Depth 100 90 80 100 100  

Frontage 60 35 35 40 45 (16) 

Yards      (3) 

Front (ft.) 30 15 15 20 20 (7)(9)(14) 

Side (ft.) 10 5 0 – 10 10 – 20 10 – 20 (7)(8)(11)(15) 

Corner side (ft.) 30 15 15 15 20 (6)(9)(21) 

Rear (ft.) 20 10 10 10/story 10/story (7)(12)(15)(18)(19) 
(20)(22) 

Maximum height 
(ft.) 

35 35 35 35 40 (4) 

Distance between 
structures (ft.) 

10 6 6 10 10 (7) 

Driveway length 
(from p/l) 

30 20 20 20 20 (23) 

Usable open space 
(sf) per unit 

NA NA 900 500 500 (13) 

Common 
recreational open 
space 

NA 10% 10% 10% (17) 

Landscaping NA 30% 30% 30% 30% (17) 

Fences and walls See (8) below. 

Additional 
Standards 

See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations).  

 See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

 See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures).  

 See TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 See TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). Trash 
and refuse containers shall not be stored within the front yard or corner 
street yard setback areas. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115


 See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 See TMC 9-2-114 (Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational 
vehicles, and campers). 

 See TMC 9-2-107 (Development on lots divided by district boundaries). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-106 (Development on existing lots of record). See TMC 9-2-107 (Development on 
lots divided by district boundaries). Minimum lot sizes may be reduced when the exclusive use of 
such lots is intended for utility substations, pumping stations, and similar facilities. 

(2) Lot width for lots located on a cul-de-sac is calculated at the front yard setback point. 

(3) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

(4) See TMC 9-2-108 (Exceptions to height limits). 

(5) See TMC 9-2-103 (Affordable housing density bonus). 

(6) Any corner side yard may be reduced to ten (10') feet if it does not abut the front yard of an 
adjacent lot. 

(7) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). For main structures, the minimum distance 
between structures shall increase five (5') feet per story, excluding accessory structures. Canopy 
structures, typically used to shade vehicles, in residential districts are prohibited in the twenty (20') 
foot front yard setback area. Canopies erected/installed prior to July 31, 2003, shall be allowed upon 
proof of date of installation; however, such canopies must be removed upon sale of the residence. 

(8) The maximum height of a fence or wall shall be seven (7') feet with the following exceptions: 

(i) The maximum height of a fence or wall in a required front or corner side yard shall be three 
(3') feet for a solid fence and four (4') feet for nonsolid fences, as long as such taller fences do 
not constitute a safety/visibility hazard to pedestrians or vehicles. A fence may be constructed at 
the back of the sidewalk within the public right-of-way with the provision that the City of Turlock 
or other utility may summarily remove it without compensation. 

(ii) A maximum seven (7') foot fence or wall may extend five (5') feet into a corner side yard if it 
does not abut the front yard of an adjacent lot. 

(iii) The Development Services Director may allow fence and wall heights to be increased in 
order to mitigate noise problems documented by a noise study. Barbed wire, razor wire, 
electrified fencing, and similar security devices are prohibited. In addition, all fences and walls 
shall be subject to the driveway visibility requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner 
visibility). 

(iv) To improve security in residential districts only, the Development Services Director may 
permit a fence or wall located on the rear property line to be increased by up to ten (10’) feet 
when the property abuts a property owned and maintained by public utility upon approval of a 
minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). This exception shall not be applied to a rear property line that abuts a 
public street or sidewalk. 

(v) Barbed and razor wire, and electrified fences are prohibited in residential districts. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-107
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-107
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-108
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-103
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101


(9) Front or corner side yard setback may be reduced to the average of the two (2) adjoining lots, 
when the adjoining lots have already been developed. In no case shall any portion of any building in 
a residential district be located within a public utility easement (PUE), or closer to the front property 
line than ten (10') feet or twenty (20') feet for garages/carports. 

(10) Vehicular access. For all uses, there shall be vehicular access to the off-street parking and 
loading facilities from a dedicated street or alley. 

 

(11) In the R-L4.5 District, one (1) side yard may be eliminated if the opposite side yard is ten (10') 
feet. A five (5') foot wide easement on the lot adjacent to the eliminated side yard shall be required 
for building overhang, encroachments and access for building maintenance. Such easement shall be 
recorded prior to the recording of the final map or the issuance of any building permit, whichever 
occurs first. Otherwise both side yards shall be a minimum of five (5') feet. In no case shall any 
structure be closer than ten (10') feet from a structure on an adjoining property. In the R-L4.5 District 
those units which abut lots in a different zoning district shall maintain a five (5') foot adjoining side 
yard. 

(12) In the R-L4.5 District, the rear yard may be reduced to five (5') feet for a length not to exceed 
one-third (1/3) of the width of the parcel. 

(13) Multifamily dwelling projects (except senior housing) with twenty (20) or more units shall include 
an additional nine hundred (900) square feet of children’s play area designed and equipped for 
children through the age of nine (9) years. 

(14) A through lot is considered to have two (2) front yards, both of which shall be landscaped upon 
development of the lot. Municipal code standards for front yards (setbacks, fencing, and the like) 
apply to both street frontages. On a through lot that is simultaneously a corner lot, the property 
owner may designate the corner side yards. 

(15) In the R-M and R-H Districts, a minimum side and rear yard setbacks shall be ten (10') feet for a 
one story building. These setbacks shall be increased by five (5’) per story to a maximum of twenty 
(20’) feet when the property abuts a R-L District. In these cases, these setbacks shall be increased 
to fifteen (15’) feet for a two-story building and to twenty (20’) feet for a building that is three stories 
or more in height.  

(16) Minimum lot frontage dimension applies only to lots fronting on curvilinear streets or cul-de-
sacs, and may not be used to create flag lots. 



(17) See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation). 

(18) In the R-L Zoning District, the rear yard may be reduced to five (5') feet for a length not to 
exceed one-third (1/3) of the width of the parcel if the rear yard abuts a public alley. 

(19) A residential lot located at the end of an open-ended cul-de-sac may consider the side yard 
abutting the public right-of-way at the end of the open-ended cul-de-sac as an interior yard for 
purposes of setback measurements. Because of visibility constraints, this provision may not apply 
when the side yard of the lot abuts the front yard of an adjacent lot. 

(20) In R-L and R-L4.5 Zoning Districts, and for single story structures in the R-M and R-H Zoning 
Districts, a building projection may not encroach any closer than five (5') feet to the rear property 
line. The width of the projection may not exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of the allowed building 
width. For two (2) story structures in the R-M and R-H Zoning Districts, building projections may 
extend up to six (6') feet into the rear yard, reducing the minimum rear yard to fourteen (14') feet, 
instead of the requisite twenty (20') feet . 

(21) Where two (2) corner lots abut each other (“back-to-back”) in the R-E Zoning District, a twenty 
(20') foot corner side yard setback is required. This provision does not apply to reverse corner lots, 
where the rear of the lot abuts the side yard of the adjoining lot. In this circumstance, the typical 
thirty (30') foot setback shall apply. 

(22) Single-family homes located in the R-M Zoning District are not subject to the ten (10') foot per 
story setback regulations.  

(23) A twenty (20') foot driveway is not required when a garage is accessed off a public alley. 
Detached garages are subject to the accessory building provisions of TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory 
Buildings or Structures) for both setbacks and height limitations. Attached garages are considered 
part of the main dwelling units and are, therefore, subject to the rear and/or side yard setbacks 
normally established for that particular zoning district. 

Article 3. Commercial Districts (C-O, C-C, C-T, C-H) 

9-3-301 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in TMC Chapter 9-1 (General Provisions), the specific 
purposes of the Commercial District regulations are to: 
 
(a) Provide appropriately located areas consistent with the General Plan for a full range of 
office, retail commercial, and service commercial uses needed by residents of, and visitors to, 
the City and region; 

(b) Strengthen the City’s economic base, and provide employment opportunities close to home 
for residents of the City and surrounding communities; 

(c) Create suitable environments for various types of commercial uses, and protect them from 
the adverse effects of incompatible uses; 

(d) Minimize the impact of commercial development on adjacent residential districts; 

(e) Ensure that the appearance and effects of commercial buildings and uses are harmonious 
with the character of the area in which they are located; 

(f) Provide opportunities for residential development on the site of commercial development or 
on separate sites in certain commercial districts; 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1


(g) Ensure the provision of adequate off-street parking and loading facilities; and 

(h) Provide sites for public and semipublic uses complementary to commercial development or 
compatible with a commercial environment. 

(i) The additional purposes of each C District are as follows: 

(1) CO Commercial Office District. To provide a transitional zone between commercial and 
residential uses with areas for business and professional offices. 

(2) CC Community Commercial District. To provide a wide range of retail stores, 
restaurants, hotels and motels, commercial recreation, personal services, business services 
and financial services and for limited office and residential uses. 

(3) CT Commercial Thoroughfare District. To provide areas for uses required by the 
traveling public such as hotels and motels, service stations and restaurants, with immediate 
access to Highway 99. 

(4) CH Heavy Commercial/Light Industrial District. To provide for the full range of retail, 
wholesale and service businesses not generally suitable in other commercial districts 
because they attract heavy automobile and truck traffic or have certain adverse impacts; 
and to provide opportunities for certain limited manufacturing uses that have impacts 
comparable to those of retail and service. 

9-3-302 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in C Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. 

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, involving an expansion of floor area of one 
thousand (1,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing building floor area, 
whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-1000ART. New or 
expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an MDP design review permit. Design 
review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required permit. 
Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all 
commercial developments subject to design review. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 



C-O, C-C, C-T and C-H DISTRICTS (Commercial)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 
C-O C-C C-H C-T 

Additional Use 
Regulations 

Agricultural Uses      

Community garden MDP MDP MDP MDP  

Crop production P P P P  

Residential Uses      

Family day care      

     Large  MAA NP NP NP (1) 

     Small P NP NP NP (1) 

Group quarters      

     Large MDP NP NP NP (2) 

     Small P NP NP NP (2) 

Emergency shelter CUP CUP CUP NP (2) (25) 

Caretaker unit NP NP CUP NP (18) 

Public and Semipublic Uses      

Clubs and lodges MDP MDP CUP NP  

Convalescent hospitals MDP NP NP NP  

Cultural institutions P P P NP  

Day care centers MDP MAA MAA NP  

Government offices P P P NP  

Hospitals CUP CUP CUP NP  

Parking lots MDP MDP MDP CUP  

Public assembly NP MDP MDP CUP  

Public buildings and facilities MDP MDP MDP CUP  

Public utility service yards NP NP MDP NP  

Religious assembly MDP MDP MDP CUP  

Schools      

     Trade MDP MDP MDP NP  

     Public or private MDP MDP MDP NP  

Utilities      

     Major NP NP CUP NP  



     Minor MAA MAA MAA MAA (3) 

Commercial Uses      

Adult entertainment facilities NP NP NP NP (4) 

Animal services      

     Animal boarding CUP MDP MDP MDP (24) 

     Animal grooming MDP P P MDP (24) 

     Animal hospitals CUP MDP MDP MDP (24) 

     Animal retail sales NP P P MDP (23)(24) 

Antique shops NP P P MDP (24) 

Artists’ studios MDP P P MDP (19)(24) 

Auto repair     
 

      Major NP MDP MAA MDP (6)(7) 

      Minor NP MAA P P (6)(7) 

Auto sales and service NP MAA MAA MAA (6)(7) 

Automobile service stations NP MAA MAA MAA (6)(7) 

Automobile storage NP NP MAA NP (6)(7) 

Automobile washing NP MDP MAA MAA (6)(7) 

Bakeries     
 

     Retail MDP P P MDP (24) 

     Wholesale NP NP MDP NP 
 

Bar NP CUP CUP CUP (24) 

Building materials and services NP MDP MAA CUP (8)(13)(24) 

Catering services NP P P NP 
 

Clinics MDP MDP P MDP (24) 

Commercial filming NP MDP P NP 
 

Commercial recreation and 
entertainment 

NP CUP CUP CUP 
(5) 

Convenience gas mart NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Discount club NP CUP CUP CUP (21)(22) 

Discount store NP MDP MDP CUP (21)(22) 

Discount superstore NP NP NP NP (21)(22) 

Entertainment, live (excluding adult 
entertainment) 

NP MDP MDP CUP 
(14)(24) 

Equipment sales, service and rentals NP NP MAA NP (13) 

Financial services CUP MDP MAA MDP (24) 

Food and beverage sales     
 

     Neighborhood store <2,500 sf CUP MAA MAA MDP (24) 



     Between 2,500 and 10,000 sf NP MDP MDP MDP (24) 

     Larger than 10,000 sf NP MDP MDP CUP (21)(22) 

Fortune telling NP CUP NP NP (9) 

Funeral and internment services MDP MAA MAA NP 
 

Health/recreation center NP MAA MAA CUP (24) 

Hotels and motels NP MAA MAA MAA (16) 

Laboratories MAA MAA MAA NP 
 

Laundries     
 

     Limited MAA P P NP 
 

     Unlimited NP NP P NP 
 

Maintenance and repair services     
 

     Major NP NP MDP NP (13) 

     Minor NP MAA MAA MDP (13)(24) 

Nightclub NP CUP CUP CUP (24) 

Nurseries NP MAA MAA NP 
 

Nursing homes MDP MDP NP NP 
 

Offices     
 

     Business and professional P P MAA NP 
 

     Medical and dental P P MAA MDP (24) 

Outdoor storage NP MDP MDP CUP (13) 

Personal services MAA P P MDP (24) 

Printing and publishing     
 

     Limited MDP MAA P NP 
 

     Unlimited NP NP MDP NP 
 

Recycling facility     
 

     Collection facility, large NP NP MDP NP (17) 

     Collection facility, small NP P P MDP (17) (24) 

     Processing facility NP NP NP NP (17) 

Rental storage facility NP NP MDP NP (20) 

Research and development services MDP MDP MDP NP 
 

Restaurant CUP MAA MAA MAA 
 

Restaurant, drive-in NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Restaurant, fast food NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Retail sales CUP P P MDP (10)(21)(22)(24) 

Shopping center NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Travel trailer park NP NP MDP MDP (16) 



Truck terminal NP NP MDP CUP  

Industrial uses     
 

Commissary NP NP MDP NP 
 

Industry      
 

   Limited NP NP MDP NP  

   General NP NP NP NP  

Salvage and wrecking operations 
    Motor vehicle 
    Non-vehicular 

 
NP 
NP 

 
NP 
NP 

 
CUP 
CUP 

 
NP 
NP 

 
(15) 
(15) 

Warehouse      

   Limited NP NP MDP NP  

   Wholesale distribution NP NP MDP NP  

Accessory Structures and Uses P P P P (11)(13) 

Temporary Uses P P P P (12) 

Nonconforming Uses See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and 
Uses). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-110 (Family day care home). 

(2) Small residential care facilities and interim housing serving six (6) or fewer people are considered 
accessory to a residence. Such facilities shall be designed to accommodate a group living 
environment. 

(3) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. All 
utilities shall be screened from view from public right-of-way using landscaping, a berm, a solid 
masonry fence, or other visually attractive method. The area surrounding the minor utility shall be 
landscaped.  

(4) See TMC 9-2-102 (Adult entertainment facilities). Adult bookstores shall be subject to the same 
supplemental regulations applicable to adult entertainment facilities. 

(5) Commercial recreation and entertainment uses less than two thousand (2,000) square feet in 
floor area are allowed with a zoning certificate issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning 
Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). 

(6) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). In the C-C and C-T Districts, automobile servicing shall be 
conducted wholly within an enclosed building. 

(7) See TMC 9-2-104 (Automobile service stations, repair and washing). 

(8) Building materials and service uses shall not abut an R District unless accessory to a retail use. 

(9) No fortune telling use shall be located any closer than within seven hundred fifty (750') feet of 
another fortune telling use. 

(10) Retail sales in the C-O District shall be limited to pharmacies and/or the sale of medical and/or 
dental products. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-104


(11) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

(12) See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). Construction trailers may be located on the 
project site after required planning permits and approvals have been obtained. The trailer(s) must be 
removed upon completion of the applicable construction project. 

(13) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage) and TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). 

(14) A conditional use permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances), shall be obtained if the live entertainment is located within three hundred (300') feet 
of a residential use or an R District. In the C-T District, live entertainment, excluding adult 
entertainment, may be allowed as an accessory use.  

(15) See TMC 9-2-117 (Salvage and wrecking operations). 

(16) A conditional use permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances), shall be required if a hotel, motel or travel trailer park abuts an R District. 

(17) See TMC 9-2-116 (Recycling facilities). 

(18) A caretaker unit may be permitted within a rental storage facility. All such residences shall be 
constructed to R-M District standards. 

(19) Artists’ studios in the downtown area may also be a place of residence for the artist as a 
secondary use. Artists’ studios must be compatible with adjacent uses and shall not be a nuisance 
regarding noise and dust. 

(20) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

(21) See TMC 9-1-202 for the definitions of “Discount store,” “Discount superstore,” and “Discount 
club.” 

(22) Except for a “Discount store” as defined by TMC 9-1-202, which shall require a conditional use 
permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 

(23) Retail sale of dogs and cats is prohibited in accordance with TMC 6-1-703. 

(24) Applies to uses in the C-T district only. The designated permitting process applies only to uses 
developed as part of a shopping center as defined under in TMC 9-1-200ART (Establishment of 
Definitions). Uses shall not be permitted (i.e., are designated NP) as a stand-alone business. 

(25) Where the emergency shelter is proposed in a location that falls within the Emergency Shelter 
overlay district, the permitting requirements contained in Article 2 of this chapter shall prevail. 

9-3-303 Property development regulations. 
The following schedule prescribes development regulations for the C (Commercial) Districts. 
Development in these districts is also subject to the specific standards as contained in any 
applicable overlay district. Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose 
of providing accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon 
approval of a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative 
and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 

C-O, C-C, C-T and C-H DISTRICTS (Commercial)  
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-117
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-116
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-703


 C-O C-C C-H C-T Additional Regulations 

Yards     (1)(7)(8) 

Front (ft.) 10 10 15 15 (2)(5)(9) 

Side (ft.) 0 0 0 0 (3) 

Corner side (ft.) 10 10 15 15 (2)(5)(9) 

Rear (ft.) 10 0 0 0 (3) 

Maximum height 
(ft.) 

35 35 None None (3)(4) 

Typical FAR 0.35 0.25 0.35 0.35  

Landscaping 
standards 
(% of lot area) 

15 10 7.5 7.5 (5)(6)(8) 

Residential 
development 

Where permitted, residential uses may be developed independently or in 
combination with commercial uses in accordance with the R-H District 
regulations. 

Fences and walls A seven (7') foot solid masonry wall shall be required along any property 
line abutting an R District, except in required front and corner side yards 
where the maximum height shall be three (3') feet. The Development 
Services Director may allow fence and wall heights to be increased in order 
to mitigate noise problems documented by a noise study. Razor wire, 
electrified fencing, and similar security devices are prohibited in commercial 
districts. Barbed wire may be used on a limited basis for security or safety 
purposes with a MAA issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), provided that the barbed 
wire is not visible from the public right-of-way and is not located adjacent to 
a residence or Residential District. In addition, all fences and walls shall be 
subject to the driveway visibility requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway 
and corner visibility). 

Additional 
standards 

TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-street parking and loading regulations). 

 TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

 TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

 TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). 

 TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-123
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105


(2) Front or corner side yard setback may be reduced to the average distance of existing buildings 
from their front property line on the two (2) abutting lots adjoining the front property line. 

(3) Structures shall not intercept a forty-five (45°) degree inclined plane inward from a height of ten 
(10') feet above existing grade at the R District boundary line. Single story structures and ground 
level parking may encroach a maximum of five (5') feet into required side and rear yards. 

(4) See TMC 9-2-108 (Exceptions to height limits). 

(5) Any area between a property line adjacent to the street and the building, exclusive of driveways, 
shall be landscaped. 

(6) See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation). 

(7) When abutting a R District, a minimum setback shall be provided as follows: front yard: fifteen 
(15') feet; rear yard: fifteen (15') feet; side yard: ten (10') feet. 

(8) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 (9) The required ”landscape strip” in the public right-of-way (located behind the public sidewalk and 
adjacent to the private property line) may be counted toward the required building front yard and 
corner side yard setback, when constructed per City standard as defined in the Turlock General Plan 
and the landscape strip is maintained by the private property owner. 

Article 4. Industrial Districts (I-BP & I) 

9-3-401 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in TMC Chapter 9-1 (General Provisions), the specific 
purposes of the Industrial District regulations are to: 
 
(a) Provide appropriately located areas consistent with the General Plan for a broad range of 
manufacturing and service uses; 
 
(b) Strengthen the City’s economic base, and provide employment opportunities close to home 
for residents of the City and surrounding communities; and 
 
(c) Minimize the impact of industrial uses on adjacent residential and commercial districts. 
 
(d) The additional purposes of each I District are as follows: 
 

(1) I-BP Business Park District. To provide sites with high architectural and landscape 
standards for industrial office centers, limited manufacturing, warehousing and large-scale, 
single destination retail and other limited retail uses which may not be appropriate in retail 
areas. 

(2) I General Industrial District. To provide for the full range of manufacturing, industrial 
processing, general service, and distribution uses deemed suitable for location in Turlock; 
and to protect Turlock’s general industrial areas from competition for space from unrelated 
uses that could more appropriately be located elsewhere in the City. 

9-3-402 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in C Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-108
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. 

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, involving an expansion of floor area of five 
thousand (5,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing building floor area, 
whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-1000ART. New or 
expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an MDP design review permit. Design 
review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required permit. 
Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all 
industrial developments subject to design review. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART  (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

I-BP and I DISTRICTS (Industrial)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 
I-BP I 

Additional Use 
Regulations 

Agricultural Uses    

Community garden MDP MDP  

Crop production P P  

Other agricultural uses MDP MDP  

Public and Semipublic Uses    

Airports and heliports CUP CUP  

Day care centers MDP MDP  

Government offices MDP MDP  

Parking lots MDP MDP  

Public buildings and facilities MDP MDP  

Religious assembly CUP CUP  

Schools, trade MDP MDP  



Utilities    

     Major  CUP MDP  

     Minor P P (13) 

Commercial Uses    

Adult entertainment facilities MDP MDP (1) 

Ambulance services MDP MDP  

Animal services    

     Animal boarding MDP MDP  

     Animal hospitals MDP MDP  

Artists’ studios MDP MDP  

Automobile service stations MDP MDP (2) 

Automobile storage MDP MDP (2) 

Automobile washing NP MDP (2) 

Bakeries, wholesale MDP MDP  

Building materials and services NP MDP (3) 

Commercial recreation and 
entertainment 

MDP MDP  

Communications facilities MDP MDP  

Eating and drinking establishments CUP CUP  

Equipment sales, service and rentals MDP MDP (12) 

Financial services MDP MDP (4) 

Health/recreation centers MDP MDP  

Laboratories MDP MDP  

Labor camps NP CUP  

Maintenance and repair services    

     Major NP MDP (5) 

     Minor MDP MDP (5) 

Motor vehicle repair    

     Major NP MDP (2) 

     Minor MDP MDP (2) 

Offices    

     Business and professional MDP CUP  

     Medical and dental MDP CUP  

Printing and publishing    

     Limited MDP MDP  

     Unlimited MDP MDP  



Research and development services MDP MDP  

Restaurant CUP CUP  

Retail sales MDP MDP (6) 

Industrial Uses    

     Chemical mfg./processing NP CUP  

     Commissary NP MDP  

Industry    

     General CUP MDP  

     Limited MDP MDP  

Hazardous waste transfer stations NP CUP  

Salvage and wrecking operations NP CUP (7) 

Speculative buildings MDP MDP  

Transfer stations NP MDP  

Truck terminal NP MDP (10) 

Truck yard NP MDP  

Warehouse   (8) 

     Limited MDP MDP  

     Wholesale distribution CUP MDP  

Accessory Structures and Uses P P (5)(8)(9) 

Caretaker unit MDP MDP (11) 

Temporary Uses P P (9) 

Nonconforming Uses See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and 
Uses). 

Recycling Facilities See TMC 9-2-116 (Recycling facilities). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-102 (Adult entertainment facilities). 

(2) See TMC 9-2-104 (Automobile service stations, repair and washing). 

(3) Building materials and service uses shall not adjoin any R District. See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor 
storage). 

(4) Only automatic teller machines are allowed. 

(5) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

(6) In an I District only ancillary retail sales limited to thirty (30%) percent of the total square footage 
of buildings used to manufacture products on the site, or two thousand five hundred (2,500) square 
feet, whichever is less, shall be allowed. Goods being sold at retail must be directly related to 
approved and permitted uses of the site. Large-scale, single destination retail uses may be allowed 
in the I-BP District, provided a conditional use permit is obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-
600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-116
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-104
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112


(7) Salvage and wrecking operations shall not adjoin an arterial street or Highway 99. See TMC 9-2-
117 (Salvage and wrecking operations). 

(8) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

(9) See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). Construction trailers may be located on the 
project site after required planning permits and approvals have been obtained. The trailer(s) must be 
removed upon completion of the applicable construction project. 

(10) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

(11) A caretaker unit may be provided in conjunction with an industrial use for a caretaker that is 
responsible for security, maintenance or management of the facility. The unit shall be a permanent 
structure that is architecturally compatible with the main industrial buildings and must be clearly 
accessory to the industrial use. 

(12) See TMC 9-2-123 (Equipment sales, service and rentals). 

(13) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. All 
utilities shall be screened from view from public right-of-way using landscaping, a berm, a solid 
masonry fence, or other visually attractive method. The area surrounding the minor utility shall be 
landscaped.  

9-3-403 Property development standards. 
The following schedule prescribes development regulations for the I (Industrial) Districts. 
Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). 
 

I-BP and I DISTRICTS (Industrial)  
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 I-BP I Additional Use Regulations 

Lot size (sf) 15,000 15,000 (1) 

Lot width (ft.) 150 150  

Lot depth (ft.) 150 150  

Lot frontage 
(ft.) 

100 100  

Yards   (7) 

Front (ft.) 20 20 (2)(3)(4)(8) 

Side (ft.) 0 0 (4) 

Corner side 
(ft.) 

20 20 (3)(4)(8) 

Rear (ft.) 0 0 (4) 

Maximum 
height (ft.) 

None None  

Typical FAR 0.60 0.60 (7) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-117
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-117
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-124


Landscaping 
standards 

7.5 5 (5)(6)(7) 

Fences and 
walls 

A seven (7') foot solid masonry wall shall be required along any property line 
abutting an R, C, or PS District. The Community Development Director may allow 
fence and wall heights to be increased in order to mitigate noise problems 
documented by a noise study. Barbed wire and razor wire, and other similar 
devices may be used on a limited basis for security or safety purposes with an 
MAA issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits), provided that the device is not visible from the 
public right-of-way and is not located adjacent to a residence or Residential 
District.. Electrified fences may be permitted in accordance with TMC 9-2-126. In 
addition, all fences and walls shall be subject to the driveway visibility 
requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

Additional 
standards 

See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations). 

 See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility. 

 See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 See TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 See TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). 

 See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 
(1) Minimum lot sizes are not applicable when done in conjunction with an approved planned 
development proposal. See TMC 9-2-106 (Development on existing lots of record). 

(2) Double-frontage lots shall provide front yards on each frontage except in the case of public 
alleys. 

(3) Front and corner side yards may be reduced to ten (10') feet in I Districts on lots which do not 
front on arterial streets. 

(4) A thirty (30') foot side, front and rear yard adjoining any R District and structures shall not 
intercept a forty-five (45°) degree inclined plane inward from a height of ten (10') feet above existing 
grade at the R District boundary line. 

(5) See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation). 

(6) Any area between the front (and street side) property line and the building, exclusive of 
driveways and walkways, shall be landscaped. 

(7) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 (8) The required ”landscape strip” in the public right-of-way (located behind the public sidewalk and 
adjacent to the private property line) may be counted toward the required building front yard and 
corner side yard setback, when constructed per City standard as defined in the Turlock General Plan 
and the landscape strip is maintained by the private property owner. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-123
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-106
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-123


Article 5. Public & Semipublic District (P-S) 

9-3-501 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in TMC Chapter 9-1 (General Provisions), the specific 
purposes of the Public and Semipublic District regulations are to: 
 
(a) Allow consideration of a large public or semipublic use separately from regulations for an 
underlying base zoning district that may or may not be appropriate in combination with the 
public or semipublic use; 

(b) Allow consideration of establishment or expansion of a large public or semipublic use at 
rezoning hearings rather than at conditional use permit hearings only, and to give public notice 
of the extent of a site approved for a large public or semipublic use by delineating it on the 
Zoning Map; and 

(c) Allow the Planning Commission and City Council to consider the most appropriate use of a 
site following discontinuance of a large public or semipublic use without the encumbrance of a 
base zoning district that may or may not provide appropriate regulations for reuse of the site. 

9-3-502 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in PS Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule.  

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, involving an expansion of floor area of five 
thousand (5,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing building floor area, 
whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-1000. New or 
expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an MDP design review permit. Design 
review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required permit. 
Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all 
industrial developments subject to design review. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

P-S DISTRICT (Public and Semipublic District)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1


MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 P-S Additional Use Regulations 

Agricultural Uses   

Community garden MDP  

Crop production P  

Other agricultural uses CUP (7) 

Commercial Uses  
 Commercial recreation and 

entertainment 
CUP (1) 

Outdoor storage CUP (2) 

Public and Semipublic Uses   

Airports CUP  

Cemeteries P  

Clubs and lodges MDP  

Convalescent facilities MDP  

Corporation yards MDP (4) 

Cultural institutions MDP  

Day care centers MDP  

Government offices MDP  

Heliports MDP (3) 

Hospitals CUP  

Open space P  

Parking lots P  

Park and recreation facilities MDP  

Public buildings and facilities MDP  

Public assembly CUP  

Schools, public or private MDP  

Storm drainage basins P (6) 

Utilities   

     Major MDP  

     Minor P (5) 

Accessory Structures and Uses See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

Temporary Uses See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). 
Construction trailers may be temporarily located on a project site 
after required planning permits and approval have been 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101


obtained. The trailer(s) must be removed upon completion of the 
applicable construction project. 

Nonconforming Uses and 
Structures 

See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 
(1) See also TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage) and TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

(2) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage) and TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). 

(3) Must be more than one thousand (1,000') feet from an R District; heliport permit from the 
California Department of Transportation, Division of Aeronautics required. 

(4) Maintenance and repair service uses are limited to those of a public and semipublic nature. 

(5) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment, or aesthetics of adjacent uses. All 
utilities shall be screened from view from public right-of-way using landscaping, a berm, a solid 
masonry fence, or other visually attractive method. The area surrounding the minor utility shall be 
landscaped.  

 (6) Storm drainage basins shall be landscaped. 

(7) The permitting process may be reduced to a Minor Discretionary Permit when the property is 
surrounded on all sides by industrial zones. 

9-3-503 Development regulations. 
Development regulations shall be as specified by a conditional use permit issued in accordance 
with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances), or as required by a minor 
discretionary permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-300 (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). The Development Services Director, Planning Commission, and/or City 
Council, as the case may be, shall be guided by those regulations of the zoning district within 
closest proximity or a zoning district intended for uses similar to those proposed in the PS 
District. Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). 
 

P-S DISTRICT (Public and Semipublic District) 
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 P-S  Additional Use Regulations 

Yards  (1)(5) 

Front (ft.) 10 (2)(4) 

Side (ft.) 0 (3) 

Corner side (ft.) 10 (2)(4) 

Rear (ft.) 10 (3) 

Maximum height (ft.) None  

Landscaping Landscaping shall be provided consistent with the standards for the 
abutting properties. See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


Fences and walls A seven (7') foot solid masonry wall shall be required along any 
property line abutting an R, C or PS District. The Community 
Development Director may allow fence and wall heights to be 
increased in order to mitigate noise problems documented by a noise 
study. Razor wire, electrified fencing, and similar security devices are 
prohibited. Barbed wire may be used on a limited basis for security or 
safety purposes with a MAA issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), 
provided that the barbed wire is not visible from the public right-of-way 
and is not located adjacent to a residence or Residential District.  In 
addition, all fences and walls shall be subject to the driveway visibility 
requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

Additional regulations See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations). 

 See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

 See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 See TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 See TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

(2) Front or corner side yard setback may be reduced to the average distance of existing buildings 
from their front property line on the two (2) abutting lots adjoining the front property line. 

(3) Structures shall not intercept a forty-five (45°) degree inclined plane inward from a height of ten 
(10') feet above existing grade at the R District boundary line. Single story structures and ground 
level parking may encroach a maximum of five (5') feet into required side and rear yards. 

(4) Any area between a property line adjacent to the street and the building, exclusive of driveways, 
shall be landscaped. 

(5) When abutting an R District, a minimum setback shall be provided as follows: front yard: fifteen 
(15') feet; rear yard: fifteen (15') feet; side yard: ten (10') feet.  

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105


SECTION 5. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 4, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 
 

Chapter 9-4 

OVERLAY DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Sections: 

Article 1. Downtown Overlay Regulations 

9-4-101    Downtown overlay regulations and purpose. 

9-4-102    Regulations applicable to all Downtown Overlay districts. 

9-4-103    Use Classifications. 

9-4-104    Downtown Core (DC). 

9-4-105    Downtown Core Transition (DCT). 

9-4-106    Transitional Commercial (TC) 

9-4-107    Industrial Residential (IR) 

9-4-108    Office Residential (OR) 

 

Article 2. Emergency Shelter Regulations 

9-4-201    Purpose. 

9-4-202    Emergency shelter permit required. 

9-4-203    District cap on number of beds that may be permitted. 

9-4-204    Nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit application: review and approval. 

9-4-205    Conditions. 

9-4-206    Application processing fee. 

9-4-207    Suspension or revocation of emergency shelter permit. 

9-4-208    Appeal.   

Article 1. Downtown Overlay Regulations 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-103
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-104
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-106


9-4-101 Downtown overlay regulations and purpose. 
Downtown Overlay District Regulations apply specifically to the downtown area as defined in the 
Turlock Downtown Design Guidelines and Zoning Regulations document. These regulations in 
some cases modify the base district regulations for the purposes set forth herein. However, 
these regulations are not all inclusive and therefore must be used in concert with the balance of 
the City of Turlock zoning regulations. Wherever there is a conflict or contradiction in the overlay 
district and base district regulations, the overlay district regulations set forth herein shall apply. 
 
In addition to the purposes listed in TMC 9-1-103, and elsewhere in each of the base district 

regulations, the purpose of the Downtown Overlay Regulations are to: 

(a) Maintain and further enhance a prominent pedestrian oriented environment throughout all 

the regulation districts of the Downtown; 

(b) Promote and encourage economic investment in the Downtown area; 

(c) Protect and preserve the City’s historic architectural character of the Downtown Core and 

immediately surrounding areas; 

(d) Acknowledge the distinct opportunities that exist in the Downtown; and 

(e) Ensure the economic vitality of the Downtown as the “heart” of Turlock for years to come. 

9-4-102 Regulations applicable to all Downtown overlay districts.  
(a) Minimum lot size and dimensions. Minimum lot size and dimensions shall be determined 
using the base zoning district that corresponds to the proposed use. For residential uses, the 
minimum lot size and dimension for the R-H zoning district shall apply. For commercial and 
mixed uses, the following minimum lot size and dimensions apply: 
 

Minimum Dimensions DC DCT TC IR OR 

Lot size (sf) 3000 5000 5000 7500 7500 

Lot width (ft.) 25 50 50 75 75 

Lot depth (ft.) 75 100 100 100 100 

Lot frontage (ft.) 25 50 50 75 75 

 

(b) Accommodation for disabled access. Deviations from the setback and height 

requirements to accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted 

upon approval of a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 

Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 

(c) Security devices. Razor wire, electrified fencing, and similar security devices are 

prohibited. Barbed wire may be used on a limited basis for nonresidential uses located in the 

IR overlay district for security or safety purposes with a minor administrative approval issued in 

accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-103


provided that the barbed wire is not visible from the public right-of-way and is not abutting a 

residence or Residential district. 

9-4-103 Use Classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in a District, the 

letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 

classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 

designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 

“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. All new or 

expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated in the 

following schedule. 

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, except a single-family dwelling, involving an 

expansion of floor area of one thousand (1,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the 

existing building floor area, whichever is less, or the conversion of an existing residential 

structure to a nonresidential use, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-

1000ART. New or expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain a MDP design review 

permit. Design review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required 

permit. Compliance with the adopted citywide Design Guidelines and the Downtown Design 

Guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all commercial developments subject to 

design review. 

Alterations or modifications to a developed site or the exterior of an existing structure are 

subject to review in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 

Discretionary Permits).  The review is to ensure compliance with the established policies, 

standards and guidelines adopted by the Turlock City Council. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 

the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 

and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 

accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 

zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 

commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 

permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 

district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

RESIDENTIAL USES       



Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Emergency shelter1 NP NP CUP CUP CUP 

 Family day care home – 
small  

P P P P P 

 Family day care home – 
large 

MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

 Group quarters – small NP NP NP P P 

 Group quarters – large  CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

 Mobile home parks NP NP NP NP NP 

 Residential – 
single/multifamily 

P P P P P 

       

       

COMMERCIAL USES       

 Adult entertainment 
facilities 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Ambulance services NP NP CUP MDP NP 

 Animal boarding CUP CUP MDP MDP CUP 

 Animal grooming P P P MDP MDP 

 Animal hospitals CUP CUP MDP MDP CUP 

 Animal retail sales2 P P P NP NP 

 Art galleries P P P CUP P 

 Artists’ studios P P P P P 

 Automobile repair – minor NP NP P P NP 

 Automobile repair – major NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Automobile sales & service NP NP MDP NP NP 

 Automobile service 
stations 

NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Automobile storage NP NP NP NP NP 

 Automobile washing NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Bakeries – retail P P P NP NP 

 Bakeries – wholesale NP NP NP P NP 

 Bar CUP NP CUP NP NP 

 Building materials & 
services 

NP NP P P NP 

 Catering services P P P P NP 

 Commercial filming3 MDP CUP MDP MDP NP 

                                                           
1
 Where the emergency shelter is proposed in a location that falls within the Emergency Shelter overlay 

district, the permitting requirements contained in Article 2 of this chapter shall prevail. 
2
 Retail sale of dogs and cats is prohibited in accordance with TMC 6-1-703. 

3
 Indoor studios 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-703


Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Commercial recreation & 
entertainment <= 2,000 sf 

MDP CUP P P NP 

 Commercial recreation & 
entertainment > 2,000 sf 

CUP NP CUP CUP NP 

 Convenience gas mart NP NP P CUP NP 

 Dance hall / nightclub CUP NP CUP CUP NP 

 Dance schools <= 3,000 sf MDP CUP MDP NP NP 

 Dance schools > 3,000 sf CUP CUP MDP NP NP 

 Discount club NP NP NP NP NP 

 Discount store NP NP MDP NP NP 

 Discount superstore NP NP NP NP NP 

 Entertainment live 
(excluding adult 
entertainment) 

CUP NP MDP NP NP 

 Equipment sales, service & 
rentals 

NP NP CUP CUP NP 

 Financial services <=5,000 
sf 

P P P NP MDP 

 Financial services > 5,000 
sf 

P P P NP CUP 

 Food and beverage sales 
<= 2,500 sf 

P MDP P CUP CUP 

 Food and beverage sales 
>2,500 and <= 10,000 sf 

MDP CUP P NP NP 

 Food and beverage sales 
> 10,000 sf 

MDP CUP MDP NP NP 

 Fortune telling CUP NP MDP NP NP 

 Funeral & internment 
services 

MDP MDP P CUP NP 

 Health & recreation center  
<= 3,000 sf 

MDP MDP MAA CUP NP 

 Health & recreation center  
> 3,000 sf 

CUP NP MAA NP NP 

 Hotels & motels MAA NP MAA NP NP 

 Laboratories MAA NP MAA NP NP 

 Laundries – limited P MAA P NP NP 

 Laundries – unlimited NP NP NP MDP NP 

 Maintenance & repair 
services – minor 

CUP NP NP MDP MDP 

 Maintenance & repair 
services – major 

NP NP NP CUP NP 

       



Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Nurseries MAA MAA MAA P MAA 

 Office – business & 
professional 

P P P P P 

 Office – medical & dental P P P CUP P 

 Outdoor storage NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Personal services P P P CUP MAA 

 Printing & publishing – 
limited (building <= 2,000 
sf) 

P P P MDP MDP 

 Printing & publishing – 
unlimited (building > 2,000 
sf) 

CUP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Recycling facility, 
collection facility – small 

NP NP P NP NP 

 Recycling facility, 
collection facility – large 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Recycling facility, 
collection facility – 
processing facility 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Rental storage facility NP NP NP CUP NP 

  
Research & development 
services 

 
 

MDP 

 
 

NP 

 
 

MDP 

 
 

MDP 

 
 

NP 

 Restaurant P P P CUP CUP 

 Restaurant, drive-in NP NP MDP CUP NP 

 Restaurant, drive-thru NP NP MDP CUP NP 

 Retail sales P P P P NP 

 Salvage & wrecking 
operations 

     

  Motor vehicle NP NP NP NP NP 

  Non-vehicular NP NP NP NP NP 

 Second hand stores MAA MAA MAA MAA NP 

 Shopping centers NP NP CUP NP NP 

 Travel trailer park NP NP NP NP NP 

 Truck terminals NP NP NP NP NP 

       

INDUSTRIAL USES       

 Chemical mfg/processing NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Commissary NP NP NP NP NP 

 Industry – general NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Industry – limited NP NP NP P NP 



Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Hazardous waste transfer 
station 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Salvage & wrecking 
operations 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Speculative buildings NP NP NP MDP NP 

 Transfer stations NP NP NP NP NP 

 Truck yard NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Warehouse - limited  NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Warehouse - wholesale NP NP NP CUP NP 

       

PUBLIC & SEMIPUBLIC 
USES 

 
     

 Clubs & Lodges <= 2,500 
sf 

P CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Clubs & Lodges > 2,500 sf CUP CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Convalescent hospitals 
(including nursing homes 
and assisted living 
facilities) 

NP NP CUP NP CUP 

 Cultural Institutions P P P P P 

 Day care centers MAA P P MDP P 

 Government offices P P P P P 

 Hospitals CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

 Parking lots MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

 Public buildings & facilities MDP MDP MDP MDP CUP 

 Public utility service yards NP NP NP P NP 

 Religious assembly      

 Religious assembly <= 
2,500 sf 

P CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Religious assembly > 
2,500 sf 

CUP CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Schools – trade MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

 Schools – public/private MDP MDP MDP CUP MDP 

 Utilities – minor MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

 Utilities – major NP NP NP CUP NP 

 
9-4-104 Downtown Core (DC). 
The Downtown Core is the historic focal point of Downtown Turlock. It’s a place where 
shopping, dining, and entertainment is encouraged and is an area where buildings shall be high 
density in order to achieve an urban appearance. Buildings shall range from two (2) to four (4) 
stories in height in order to encourage a mix of commercial, office, and residential uses. The 
design and look of the Core communicates the historic character of the City through the use of 



architecture and streetscape design. The following is intended to preserve and enhance the 
historic character of the Downtown Core and the quality of public realm (streetscape, public 
parking, plazas, etc.) improvements. This overlay district accomplishes this through specific use 
requirements and development standards: 
 
(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) To ensure the current and future success of the Downtown Core by preserving and 

enhancing its unique historic character and to encourage future development and land uses 

that are compatible with the overall character of the Downtown Core; 

(2) Protect and enhance the pedestrian environment and accessibility in and around the 

Downtown Core area; 

(3) Promote re-use and renovation of historic buildings in Downtown while promoting new 

investment and construction; 

(4) Encourage mixed-use development in the Downtown Core supporting residences and 

offices on the upper floors; 

(5) Encourage ground floor retail and restaurants. 

(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation 

Land Use 

Applicable Base Zone C-C  

Maximum Lot Coverage 100% 

*Intensity of the allowable building 

coverage of the lot area. See Design 

Guidelines for how to handle frontage 

treatments. 

Typical Floor Area Ratio 3.0 for Mixed Use 

1.0 for Retail Commercial 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio of 

building area to parcel area. 

Setbacks 

Front Yard Zero (0') feet maximum* 

*Except for plazas, courtyards, entries or 

 



outdoor dining; for a single family 

residential unit, the front yard setback 

shall be fifteen (15’) for the residence 

and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or 

carport. 

Side Yard Zero (0') feet maximum 

Rear Yard Zero (0') feet maximum 

Corner Side Yard Zero (0') feet maximum 

Building Massing 

Building Height Sixty (60') feet maximum  

Landscaping Zero (0%) percent of lot area 

*may include hardscape, plazas, 

courtyards, and planters 

Parking 

Parking Requirements Off-street parking not required in the 

Downtown Core 

 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART 
(Signs) except: 

 

Freestanding Signs No freestanding signs are permitted, 

except for tenant directory signs which 

may be placed within a courtyard, plaza, 

or entry. Any freestanding signs shall be 

single sided, shall be limited to six (6') 

feet in overall height, shall not exceed 

three (3') feet in width, shall be placed 

within a landscaped bed, and shall be 

made from the same materials as other 

signs on the site. 

 

Restaurant Menu Signs Restaurant menu signs shall be  



permitted and shall be located in a 

permanently mounted display box on the 

surface of the building adjacent to the 

entry. Taping a menu to a box is not an 

appropriate menu sign. The allowable 

area for restaurant menu signs shall be 

a maximum of six (6) square feet. For 

special circumstances in which 

restaurants occupy a considerable 

amount of window space, menus are to 

be decoratively displayed in the window 

adjacent to the entry. Such signs will not 

be included in the sign area calculation 

for the business. 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed on the 

building in such a manner as to 

enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using appropriate 

lighting material is preferred over 

internal illumination. Cabinet signs are 

prohibited. 

 

Projecting Signs Projecting signs shall not exceed two (2') 

feet by two (2') feet in size and shall be 

placed on the building in such a manner 

as to enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using appropriate 

lighting material is preferred over 

internal illumination. Cabinet signs are 

prohibited. Projecting signs shall not be 

included in the sign area calculation for 

 



the building. 

A-Frame Signs A-Frame signs shall be permitted, 

provided the sign complies with the 

following size and design requirements: 

•     No A-Frame sign shall have more 

than two (2) sides 

•     The overall size of the sign, 

including frame, shall not exceed two (2') 

feet in width and four (4') feet in height 

•     The sign shall be constructed of 

materials similar to those found on the 

building and/or the wall signs 

•     The sign shall not be placed on the 

public sidewalk in such a manner as to 

obstruct public access, including ADA 

accessibility requirements 

A-Frame signs shall not be included in 

the sign area calculation for the building 

 

Other 

Design Compliance with the Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning Regulations is 

required 

 

 
9-4-105 Downtown Core Transition (DCT). 
The Downtown Core Transition district is a contrast to the historic urban feel of the Downtown 
Core with ample setbacks, mature trees lining the streets, and low-intensity residential and 
office structures. Yet, located along the East Main corridor, this district is an important link and 
gateway opportunity for the Downtown Core. The Downtown Core Transition district’s residential 
scale is to be preserved while creating a unifying streetscape character that ties this area to the 
Downtown Core. Consideration of gateway features and strengthened pedestrian orientation are 
priorities for this district. All new uses, construction, reconstruction, and remodels shall be 
subject to these regulations. 

(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) Preserve the lower intensity residential scale character of this transition area while 

maintaining the importance of this link to the Downtown Core. 



(2) Encourage mixed use development and land uses that are appropriate for the existing 

structures and character of this district. 

(3) Encourage pedestrian accessibility and orientation. 

(b) Development standards. 

 

Category Regulation 

Land Use  

Applicable Base Zone C-O 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

 

Sixty (60%) percent 

*Intensity of the allowable building 

coverage of the lot area 

Typical Floor Area Ratio 1.0 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio of 

building area to parcel area 

Front Yard Ten (10') feet minimum** 

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum 

* When adjacent to residential zoning districts, a seven (7') foot tall decorative masonry wall is 

required along the property line 

** For a single family residential unit, the front and corner side yard setbacks shall be fifteen 

(15’) for the residence and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or carport. 

Building Massing  

Building Height Forty-five (45') feet maximum 

Landscaping Fifteen (15%) percent of the lot area 

*may include hardscape, plazas, courtyard 

areas, and planters 

Parking 

Parking Requirements Fifty (50%) percent of the parking 
 



requirements as set forth in TMC 9-2-

209 

 
Parking shall be located at rear of lot 

and access from alley unless the 

applicant can demonstrate it is 

infeasible to do so. 

 

Signage  

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART 
(Signs) except: 

 

Freestanding Signs Freestanding signs shall not exceed six 

(6') feet in overall height, measured from 

grade, may be internally illuminated, but 

external illumination is preferred, 

installed within a landscaped bed, and 

constructed of materials designed to 

complement the primary structure 

 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed on the 

building in such a manner as to 

enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using appropriate 

lighting material is preferred over 

internal illumination. Cabinet signs are 

prohibited 

 

A-Frame Signs A-Frame signs shall be permitted, 

provided the sign complies with the 

following size and design requirements: 

•    No A-Frame sign shall have more 

than two (2) sides 

•    The overall size of the sign, including 

frame, shall not exceed two (2') feet in 

width and four (4') feet in height 

 



•    The sign shall be constructed of 

materials similar to those found on the 

building and/or the wall signs 

•    The sign shall not be placed on the 

public sidewalk in such a manner as to 

obstruct public access, including ADA 

accessibility requirements 

 

A-Frame signs shall not be included in 

the sign area calculation for the building 

Other 

Design Compliance with the Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning Regulations is 

required 

 

 
9-4-106 Transitional Commercial (TC). 
The Transitional Commercial areas lay north, south, and west of the Downtown Core. These 
areas contain office and commercial buildings that cater to the auto-oriented consumer. These 
areas also serve as the main gateways into the Downtown Core and shall be designed to 
establish a good first impression of the downtown area. This can be accomplished by 
incorporating gateway signage and landscaping, providing a unified streetscape design, 
regulating signage, and screening parking. The following regulations are set forth to encourage 
a community character that will support the charm and character of the Downtown Core. 
 
(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) Allow for a variety of commercial uses and an architectural character consistent with a 

predominantly automobile oriented commercial district with appropriately scaled 

architecture; 

(2) Enhance aesthetics through improved landscaping and architectural forms; 

(3) Create a pedestrian friendly and accessible commercial district environment. 

(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation  

Land Use 

Applicable Base C-C  



Zone 

Maximum Lot 

Coverage 

Forty-five (45%) percent 

*Intensity of the allowable building coverage of 

the lot area. 

Typical Floor Area 

Ratio 

1.5 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio of building 

area to parcel area. 

Setbacks 

Front Yard Ten (10') feet minimum**  

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum 

 *When adjacent to residential zoning districts, a seven (7') foot tall 

decorative masonry wall is required along the property line 

** Except for plazas, courtyards, entries or outdoor dining; for a single 

family residential unit, the front and corner yard setbacks shall be fifteen 

(15’) for the residence and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or carport. 

Building Massing 

Building Height Forty-five (45') feet maximum  

Landscaping Ten (10%) percent of the lot area 

*may include hardscape, plazas, courtyard 

areas, and planters 

Parking 

Parking 

Requirements 

Refer to TMC 9-2-200ART. 
 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART except: 

Sites that support an auto-serving use, such as automobile  



fueling/convenience gas mart, auto sales, auto repair, and the like 

may incorporate freestanding monument signs within the required 

landscaping. Such signs shall not exceed six (6') feet in overall height, 

measured from grade, and may be internally illuminated. All materials 

for the sign shall be complementary to the primary structure. 

Otherwise, all signs within this district shall be permanently affixed to 

the wall of the primary structure. All wall or projecting signs shall be 

placed on the building in such a manner as to enhance, not detract or 

hide, architectural features of the building. External illumination using 

appropriate lighting material is preferred over internal illumination. 

Cabinet signs are prohibited. A-Frame style signs are not permitted. 

Other 

Design Compliance with the Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning Regulations is required 

 

 

9-4-107 Industrial Residential (IR). 
The Industrial/Residential areas lie in the southwest section of the downtown. This is a unique 

opportunity area to capitalize on the industrial character of the existing agriculturally related 

buildings. Many vacant and underutilized sites currently occupy this district, however, 

multifamily infill buildings, mixed use building, and enhanced streetscapes will help to liven up 

the area. There is also an opportunity to create an industrial gateway to the Downtown Core by 

providing gateway signage and improved landscaping along South Golden State Boulevard. 

The following district regulations address the unique land use opportunities in this area by 

providing for market forces to work while addressing inherent land use conflicts. 

(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) Encourage economically viable re-use of existing agricultural/industrial buildings; 

(2) Create opportunities for the market to determine appropriate land uses while preventing 

inherent land use conflicts. 

(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation  

Land Use Industrial Residential  

Applicable Base Zone I R-H 



Maximum Lot Coverage 60% 100% 

Typical Floor Area Ratio 0.60 1.5 

 *Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is 

the ratio of building area to 

parcel area. 

 

Setbacks Industrial Residential  

Front Yard Ten (10') feet minimum Ten (10') feet 

minimum** 

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* Five (5') feet 

minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* Ten (10') feet 

minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum Ten (10') feet 

minimum 

 * When adjacent to residential, a seven (7') foot decorative 

masonry wall is required along the property boundary  

** For a single family residential unit, the front and corner 

side yard setbacks shall be fifteen (15’) for the residence 

and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or carport. 

Building Massing    

Building Height Fifty (50') feet  

Landscaping Ten (10%) percent 

Parking 

Parking Requirements Refer to TMC 9-2-200ART 

(Off-Street Parking and 

Loading Regulations). 

 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs) 
 



Freestanding signs Freestanding signs shall not 

exceed six (6') feet in overall 

height, measured from 

grade, may be internally 

illuminated, but external 

illumination is preferred, 

installed within a landscaped 

bed, and constructed of 

materials designed to 

complement the primary 

structure 

 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed 

on the building in such a 

manner as to enhance, not 

detract or hide, architectural 

features of the building. 

External illumination using 

appropriate lighting material 

is preferred over internal 

illumination. Cabinet signs 

are prohibited 

 

A-Frame Signs Not permitted 
 

Other 

Design Compliance with the 

Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning 

Regulations is required 

 

 
9-4-108 Office Residential (OR). 
The intent of the office/residential district is to preserve the character of the traditional residential 
neighborhoods while providing for the orderly and logical conversion or transition to compatible 
office uses as the market allows. The office/residential district area shall maintain its character 
as a traditional residential neighborhood through the preservation of historic residential 
structures and the establishment of guidelines for new construction, remodels and renovation 



that will ensure a residential scale and character. The pedestrian friendly environment in this 
area is also a priority. Unifying the streets with street trees and continuous sidewalks will further 
enhance the pedestrian friendly environment. Streetscape elements consistent with the 
Downtown Core elements such as street lights, trash receptacles, and benches placed in 
appropriate locations will visually unify and tie together this district to the Core. 
 
(a) Specific purposes. 

 
(1) Preserve historic character of buildings and residential character of the District. 

(2) Promote residential scale design for new office development. 

(3) Maintain and enhance a pedestrian friendly environment. 

 
(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation  

Land Use Office or Residential Mixed Use  

Applicable Base 

Zone 

C-O (for office uses) or R-H (for 

residential uses or mixed uses) 

 

Maximum 

Building Lot 

Coverage 

Sixty (60%) percent 

*Intensity of the allowable building 

coverage of the lot area 

 

Floor Area Ratio .6 .8 
 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio 

of building area to parcel area. 

 

Setbacks 

Front Yard  Ten (10') feet minimum**  

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum 

 * When adjacent to residential zoning districts, a seven (7') foot tall 

decorative masonry wall is required along the property line 

** For a single family residential unit, the front and corner side yard setbacks 

shall be fifteen (15’) for the residence and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or 



carport. 

Building Massing 

Building Height Forty (40') feet maximum  

Landscaping Fifteen (15%) percent of the lot area 

Parking 

Parking 

Requirements 

Office: Fifty (50%) percent of the 

required parking spaces. On-street 

parking directly abutting property 

may be applied to meet office 

parking requirements. All other uses 

as set forth in TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-

Street Parking and Loading 

Regulations). 

Residential: As set forth in TMC 9-2-

200ART (Off-Street Parking and 

Loading Regulations) 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART except: 

Freestanding 

Signs 

Freestanding signs shall not exceed 

four (4') feet in overall height, 

measured from grade, may be 

externally illuminated, installed within 

a landscaped bed, and constructed 

of materials designed to complement 

the primary structure 

 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed on the 

building in such a manner as to 

enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using 

appropriate lighting material is 

preferred over internal illumination. 

Cabinet signs are prohibited 

 



A-Frame Signs Not permitted 

Other 

Design 
Compliance with the Downtown Design Guidelines and Zoning Regulations 

is required 

 

Article 2. Emergency Shelter Regulations 

9-4-201 Purpose. 
The purpose of this article is to establish a nondiscretionary process for emergency shelters that 

will be permitted within a zoning overlay district to meet the requirements of Senate Bill 2 

enacted on October 13, 2007. 

9-4-202 Emergency shelter permit required. 
Prior to operating an emergency shelter, a nondiscretionary permit shall be obtained and all 

other applicable local, State and federal laws, regulations and codes shall be met. The approval 

shall be specific to a location and shall not be transferable to any other location. The application 

shall be on a form prescribed for that purpose, and shall include the written consent of the 

owner of the property on which the shelter is to be located. The permit shall be recorded on the 

property and shall run with the land. 

9-4-203 District cap on number of beds that may be permitted. 
The Turlock City Council shall establish the cap on the number of beds that may be permitted 

under this nondiscretionary permit process. The cap shall be reviewed annually by the Turlock 

City Council at a formal public hearing. 

9-4-204 Nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit application: review and approval. 
(a) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director or 

designee shall take action within thirty (30) days. 

(b) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director or 

designee shall refer the permit application to City departments and any other agencies deemed 

appropriate by the Development Services Director. 

(c) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this section, the application shall meet 

all of the following standards: 

(1) The application shall be for an emergency shelter as defined in the California Health and 

Safety Code. 



(2) The property must be located within the emergency shelter zoning overlay district 

adopted by the Turlock City Council and located within a Heavy Commercial (CH), 

Community Commercial (CC), Industrial (I), Downtown Industrial Residential (IR), or 

Downtown Transitional Commercial (TC) zoning district. In no case shall an emergency 

shelter permit be issued for a property located in a residential district as defined in Articles 1 

and 2 of Chapter 9-3 TMC or the Downtown core overlay district defined in TMC 9-4-102. 

(3) Approving the application shall not result in the number of beds within the overlay zoning 

district exceeding the district cap or the property-specific cap established by the Turlock City 

Council established pursuant to TMC 9-4-203 or TMC 9-4-205(a), respectively. 

(d) The permit shall not be deemed to be a discretionary act within the meaning of the California 

Environmental Quality Act (Division 13 (commencing with Section 21000) of the Public 

Resources Code). 

9-4-205 Conditions. 
In authorizing an application for a nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit, the Community 

Development Director shall include as conditions of approval, the following minimum provisions: 

(a) The maximum number of beds on a property shall not exceed the following levels: 

(1) Forty (40) beds in the Community Commercial (CC) and Downtown Transitional 

Commercial (TC) districts; 

(2) Seventy-five (75) beds in the Heavy Commercial (CH) zoning district; and 

(3) One hundred (100) beds in the Industrial (I) and Downtown Industrial Residential (IR) 

zoning districts. 

(4) The number of beds shall not exceed the district cap established in TMC 9-4-203. 

(b) The development of the property shall be consistent with the General Plan; the Turlock 

Municipal Code including, but not limited to, this title; the Turlock Standard Specifications and 

Drawings; the City of Turlock Design Guidelines; and all other State and federal codes, laws 

and regulations. Design review required pursuant to TMC 9-5-1000ART shall apply and shall be 

performed in conjunction with review of this permit. 

(c) If located within one hundred fifty (150') feet of a residential zoning district, outdoor activity 

and intake areas shall be screened from public view and from the view of adjacent properties. 

(d) Adequate lighting shall be provided in all parking, pedestrian paths, and entry areas. Lights 

shall be shielded and reflected away from adjacent uses. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock093.html#9-3
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-203
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-205
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-203


(e) Off-street parking shall be provided at a rate of one (1) vehicle parking space per employee 

(by shift) plus one (1) vehicle parking space for every ten (10) beds. Bicycle parking shall be 

provided at a rate of one (1) space for every three (3) beds and shall meet the California 

Building Code requirements. Off-street parking within five hundred (500') feet devoted to the 

shelter during its operating hours by formal contractual agreement between the shelter operator 

and the property owner may be approved by Planning Division as satisfying the off-street 

parking requirement. Parking available on-street along the street frontage of the property on 

which the shelter is located may also be counted toward satisfying the off-street parking 

requirement. 

(f) Adequate management, support staff and security must be present during the hours of 

operation of the facility. A minimum of one (1) supervisory level staff member must be present 

on the site during hours of operation. Operator(s) must ensure that loitering does not occur on 

the property during off-hours and must ensure that clients are not loitering, littering, or otherwise 

creating a nuisance to the neighborhood. A security plan shall be submitted to the Turlock 

Police Department for approval and must be approved before the facility begins operation and 

annually thereafter. If a client is socially disruptive or is responsible for creating any type of 

nuisance to the neighborhood or facility, the operator must discharge the client and notify the 

Turlock Police Department. 

(g) The security plan prepared under subsection (f) of this section must include the hours of 

operation and intake period and must provide at least one (1) employee or volunteer of the 

same sex as clients. Alcohol, weapons and illegal substances shall not be allowed on the site at 

any time. The operator must comply with all laws and shall notify the Police Department of all 

crimes in accordance with the security plan. 

(h) If twenty-six (26) or more beds are included in the permit, a security guard or security officer 

must be provided during the intake period. If fifty-one (51) or more beds, a second security 

guard or security officer must be provided during the intake period. Security guards must be 

licensed through the State of California Department of Consumer Affairs Bureau of Security and 

Investigative Services. 

(i) The maximum length of stay shall be no longer than that established by the California Health 

and Safety Code for emergency shelters. 

(j) The shelter shall have set hours of operation and the hours shall be posted in a publicly 

visible and accessible location on a sign that is no larger than one (1) square foot. 

(k) Outdoor activity shall be allowed only during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. The shelter 

shall comply with TMC 9-2-300ART (Noise Standards) at all times. 

(l) Pets may be allowed on site. For purposes of this section, “pets” means dogs and cats only. 

All pets must be kept within an enclosed crate that shall be maintained and cleaned by the 



operator of the emergency shelter. All pets shall be housed within the emergency shelter and 

shall be leashed at all times when not housed in the crate. No limit shall be placed on the 

number of pets that can be maintained. All dogs shall be properly licensed and vaccinated for 

parvo, distemper, bordetella and any other applicable diseases. No unaltered pets or puppies/ 

kittens under the age of four (4) months shall be permitted. No sick or aggressive animals shall 

be permitted. Pet owners and emergency shelter operators are required to dispose of animal 

feces as outlined in TMC 6-1-116. Each pet owner shall provide the shelter operator with the 

name of an emergency contact person to house the pet in the event that the owner is unable to 

care for the pet. All animal storage facilities will be properly cleaned daily. The shelter shall be 

subject to obtaining an initial permit that shall be reviewed and renewed annually. A fee shall be 

set by City Council resolution for the initial permit and annual compliance inspections, and may 

be amended from time to time. 

9-4-206 Application processing fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the 

nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council 

resolution, and may be amended from time to time. 

9-4-207 Suspension or revocation of emergency shelter permit. 
An emergency shelter permit may be suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures 

and standards TMC 9-5-1100ART (Enforcement). 

9-4-208 Appeal. 
The decision of the Development Services Director may be appealed as provided by TMC 1-4 

(Appeals).  

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-116
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock014.html#1-4


SECTION 6. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 5, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 
Chapter 9-5 

ADMINISTRATION 

Sections: 

Article 1. Permit Applications, Hearings, Amendments, and Appeals 

9-5-101     Applications: Form. 

9-5-102 Applications: Accompanying maps and data. 

9-5-103 Applications: Investigations. 

9-5-104 Applications: Hearings 

9-5-105 Application Fees. 

9-5-106 Application Expiration. 

9-5-107 Permits: Expiration. 

9-5-108 Permits: Renewal. 

9-5-109 Permits, certificates, and licenses: Validity. 

9-5-110 Permits and variances: Revocation or modification: Grounds. 

9-5-111 Permits and variances: Suspension and revocation. 

9-5-112 Amendments: Authorized. 

9-5-113 Amendments: Initiation. 

9-5-114 Amendments: Applications. 

9-5-115 Amendments: Hearings. 

9-5-116 Hearings: Scope of provisions. 

9-5-117 Hearings: Time and place. 

9-5-118 Hearings: Notices: Form. 

9-5-119 Hearings: Notices: Publication. 

9-5-120 Hearings: Notices: Posting and mailings. 

9-5-121 Hearings. 

9-5-122 Hearings: Transcripts. 



9-5-123 Hearings: Continuance. 

9-5-124 Commission hearings: Commission recommendations. 

9-5-125 Commission hearings: Transmittal of resolutions. 

9-5-126 Commission hearings: Records. 

9-5-127 Council hearings: Council decisions. 

9-5-128 Council hearings: Transmittal of resolutions and ordinances. 

9-5-129 Council hearings: Records. 

9-5-130 Appeals: Authorized. 

9-5-131 Permits and variances: New applications. 

 

Article 2. Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits 

9-5-201 Zoning certificates: Purpose. 

9-5-202 Zoning certificates: Required. 

9-5-203 Zoning certificates: Application. 

9-5-204 Zoning certificates: Applications: Departmental approval. 

9-5-205 Zoning certificates: Denial. 

9-5-206 Zoning certificates: Effective date. 

9-5-207 Zoning certificates: Expiration. 

9-5-208 Home occupation permits: Required. 

9-5-209 Home occupation permit: Applications. 

9-5-210 Home occupation permits: Conditions: Issuance. 

9-5-211 Home occupation permits: Denial. 

9-5-212 Home occupation permits: Term. 

9-5-213 Home Occupation Permits: Revocation. 

 



Article 3. Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits 

9-5-301 Minor administrative approval (MAA): Purpose and intent. 

9-5-302 Minor administrative approval:  Applicability. 

9-5-303 Minor administrative approval:  Application. 

9-5-304 Minor administrative approval:  Review: Approval. 

9-5-305 Minor administrative approval: Expiration. 

9-5-306 Minor administrative approval: Fee. 

9-5-307 Minor discretionary permits: Purpose and intent. 

9-5-308 Minor discretionary permit: Authorized. 

9-5-309 Minor discretionary permit: Application. Completeness. 

9-5-310 Minor discretionary permit: Review. 

9-5-311 Minor discretionary permit: Notice. 

9-5-312 Minor discretionary permit: Approval: Findings: Conditions. 

9-5-313 Minor discretionary permit: Fee. 

9-5-314 Minor discretionary permit: Violation: Penalty. 

9-5-315 Minor discretionary permit: Time limits for development of property and uses. 

9-5-316 Outdoor dining defined. 

9-5-317 Outdoor dining permit required. 

9-5-318 Authority to  issue outdoor dining permits. 

9-5-319 Application for outdoor dining permit. 

9-5-320 Issuance of outdoor dining permit. 

9-5-321 Conditions and restrictions pertaining to outdoor dining. 

9-5-322 Insurance. 

9-5-323 Alcoholic beverage restrictions. 

9-5-324 Outdoor dining permit not deed or easement. 

9-5-325 Suspension or revocation of outdoor dining permit. 



9-5-326 Protest issuance of permit. 

9-5-327 Denial of permit. 

9-5-328 Penalties. 

9-5-329 Removal of tables and chairs. 

Article 4. Minor Exceptions 

9-5-401 Purpose. 

9-5-402 Application. 

9-5-403 Applicability. 

9-5-404 Findings. 

9-5-405 Burden of proof. 

9-5-406 Precedents. 

9-5-407 Minor exception: Expiration. 

Article 5. Temporary Uses of Land 

9-5-501 Temporary uses. 

9-5-502 Application.  

9-5-503 Approval.  

9-5-504 Findings.  

9-5-505 Conditions.  

9-5-506 Fee.  

 

Article 6. Conditional Use Permits and Variances 

9-5-601 Conditional use permits: Authorized. 

9-5-602 Conditional use permits: Required: Purposes. 

9-5-603 Conditional use permits: Applications: Hearings. 

9-5-604 Conditional use permits: Granting. 



9-5-605 Conditional use permits: Granting: Conditions. 

9-5-606 Conditional use permits: Denial. 

9-5-607 Conditional use permits: Issuance. 

9-5-608 Conditional use permits: Effective date. 

9-5-609 Conditional use permits: Time limits for development of property and uses. 

9-5-610 Conditional use permits. Expiration. 

9-5-611 Conditional use permits: Renewal. 

9-5-612 Conditional use permits: New applications. 

9-5-613 Variances: Authorized. 

9-5-614 Variances: Applications. 

9-5-615 Variances: Applications: Hearings. 

9-5-616 Variances: Granting. 

9-5-617 Variances: Granting: Conditions. 

9-5-618 Variances: Denial. 

9-5-619 Variances: Granting or denial: Transmittal of resolution. 

9-5-620 Variances: Issuance. 

9-5-621 Variances: Effective date. 

9-5-622 Variances: Time limits for development of property and uses. 

9-5-623 Variances: Expiration. 

9-5-624 Variances: Renewal. 

9-5-625 Variances: New applications. 

 

Article 7. Prezoning and Annexation 

9-5-701 Prezoning of unincorporated land. 



9-5-702 Prezoning: Purpose. 

9-5-703 Prezoning: Exceptions. 

9-5-704 Prezoning and annexation: Applications: Hearings. 

9-5-705 Prezoning and annexation: Findings. 

9-5-706 Prezoning and annexation: Consideration of territory within secondary sphere of 
influence. 

9-5-707 Prezoning and annexation: Denial. 

9-5-708 Prezoning and annexation: Development agreement requirements. 

9-5-709 Prezoning and annexation: Area-wide planning required. 

Article 8. Historic Site Contracts 

9-5-801 Specific purpose. 

9-5-802 Historical site contract. 

9-5-803 Qualified historical building or structure. 

9-5-804 Use of the state historic building code. 

9-5-805 Demolition. 

9-5-806 Cancellation.  

Article 9. Development Agreements 

9-5-901 Short title.  

9-5-902 Authority and purpose. 

9-5-903 Forms and information. 

9-5-904 Qualifications of applicants. 

9-5-905 Form of development agreement. 

9-5-906 Duty to give notice. 

9-5-907 Contents of development agreements. 

9-5-908 Determinations by the Planning Commission. 



9-5-909 Council hearings.  

9-5-910 Initiation of amendments or cancellation. 

9-5-911 Recordation of agreements, amendments, or cancellation. 

9-5-912 Review of agreements. 

 

Article 10. Design Review 

9-5-1001 Purpose.   

9-5-1002 Applicability. 

9-5-1003 Findings.  

 

Article 11. Enforcement 

9-5-1101 Purpose.  

9-5-1102 Permits, licenses, certificates, and approvals. 

9-5-1103 Violation.  

9-5-1104 Enforcement.  

Article 1. Permit Applications, Hearings, Amendments, and Appeals 

9-5-101 Applications: Form. 
The Development Services Director shall prescribe the form in which applications shall be made 
for the reclassification of property, permits, amendments, and appeals. In addition to any other 
information required in connection with applications, a map shall be submitted with each 
application showing the boundaries of the subject parcel and each parcel within an area defined 
by TMC 9-5-120 for mailing notices of hearings. This map shall include the Assessor’s block 
and lot numbers of each parcel so shown. A list shall accompany the map giving the names and 
addresses of the property owners of the subject parcels. No application shall be accepted 
unless it is complete and complies with such requirements. The acceptance of an application 
shall not constitute any indication of approval. 

The application shall be made on forms furnished by the Development Services Department 
and shall be full and complete. All applications shall include data such as building and site plans 
and other information necessary to assure the presentation of all pertinent facts for the 
permanent record and to assist in determining the validity of the request. 

9-5-102 Applications: Accompanying maps and data. 



An application for a permit, reclassification of land, amendment or appeal shall be accompanied 
by maps, drawings, and data as necessary to evaluate the proposed request for conformance 
with the General Plan and the provisions of this chapter. 

9-5-103 Applications: Investigations. 
The responsible official shall make, or cause to be made, an investigation of the facts bearing 
on the case to provide the information necessary to assure action consistent with the intent of 
this chapter and the Turlock Area General Plan and its amendments. A written report of such 
investigation shall be presented to the bodies charged with the responsibility of dealing with the 
specific action. 

9-5-104 Applications: Hearings. 
Upon the receipt of a complete and verified application, a reasonable time and place for a public 
hearing with the appropriate deciding body shall be established. The hearing shall be held in 
accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth in this article.  

9-5-105 Application fees. 
(a) Applications and permits. The City Council shall, by resolution, fix the amount of the fees 
for the applications and permits required and authorized by the provisions of this chapter. 
Before accepting any application, the established fee shall be charged and collected. 

(b) Special reports and consultants. Before accepting any application for filing, the estimated 
costs of any special report or consultant’s fee determined to be necessary shall be charged and 
collected. Any actual cost that is more than that paid by the applicant shall be collected from the 
applicant prior to the issuance of the permit, and any estimated cost collected from the applicant 
that is more than the actual cost shall be returned to the applicant at the time of the issuance of 
the permit. 

(c) Waivers. Any fee required by the provisions of this chapter may be waived for any public 
body, district, or agency of the Federal, State, County, or municipal government. 

9-5-106 Application expiration. 
The application shall expire after one (1) year from the date of submittal or if the applicant fails 
to respond to an incomplete letter from the Planning Division within six (6) months of transmittal. 

9-5-107 Permits: Expiration. 
Any permit issued shall expire if the use permitted has not commenced within one (1) year of 
the date of approval or as otherwise specified in the permit. A use shall be deemed to have 
commenced upon issuance of a building permit, construction, the issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy from the Building Division, or approval of other permits deemed equivalent by the 
Development Services Director. 

9-5-108 Permits: Renewal. 
Any permit may be renewed for an additional period of one (1) year, provided an application for 
the renewal of the permit is filed with the acting agency prior to the expiration of the permit. The 
acting agency may grant or deny an application for renewal in the same manner as set forth in 
this article for the specific action in the original application. 

9-5-109 Permits, certificates, and licenses: Validity. 
Any permit, certificate, or license issued in conflict with the provisions of this article shall be null 
and void. 
 
9-5-110 Permits and variances: Revocation or modification: Grounds. 



Unless otherwise specifically provided in this article, the acting agency may revoke or modify 
any permit or variance on one (1) or more of the following grounds: 

(a) That the approval was obtained by fraud; 

(b) That the use for which the approval was granted is not being exercised; 

(c) That the granted permit or variance is being, or recently has been, exercised contrary to the 
terms and conditions of approval or in violation of any statute, ordinance, law, or regulation; 

(d) That the use for which the approval was granted is being exercised in a manner that is 
detrimental to the public health or safety or constitutes a nuisance; or 

(e) That the continued exercise of the use for which the approval was granted appears to be 
detrimental or contrary to the public welfare. 

9-5-111 Permits and variances: Suspension and revocation. 
Upon determining the violation of any applicable permit or variance granted according to the 
provisions of this chapter, the Development Services Director may automatically suspend that 
permit. The property owner will be notified immediately upon suspension. All operations of the 
use may be ordered to cease during the time of suspension if it is determined necessary in 
order to protect the health, safety and general welfare of the public. A public hearing shall be 
held within sixty (60) days of notification of suspension. If, at this hearing, it is determined that 
the regulations, general provisions and conditions are not being complied with, the permit or 
variance may be revoked or action may be taken to ensure compliance. 

9-5-112 Amendments: Authorized. 
This chapter may be amended by changing the boundaries of districts, the classification of land, 
any regulations, or other provisions if required for the public necessity, convenience, or general 
welfare. Amendments may be authorized by the City Council upon a recommendation from the 
Planning Commission. The procedures and requirements set forth in this article shall govern all  
 
9-5-113 Amendments: Initiation. 
Amendments may be initiated as follows: 

(a) By a resolution of intention of the Council; 

(b) By a resolution of intention of the Commission; 

(c) By the application of any interested person or the Development Services Director for an 
amendment involving the classification of any use not listed in this chapter or to change the 
classification of any listed use where it is alleged that change in processes, procedures, or 
methods of operation or serving the public warrant such change. 

9-5-114 Amendments: Applications. 
The application for an amendment shall be filed with the Secretary of the Planning Commission 
by the applicant. The applicant shall submit all the required data in accordance with the 
provisions of this article. 

9-5-115 Amendments: Hearings. 
All applications for amendment shall be reviewed at a public hearing before the Planning 
Commission in accordance with the provisions of this article. The City Council shall take action 



on the proposed amendment at a public hearing subsequent to review and recommendation by 
the Planning Commission. 

9-5-116 Hearings: Scope of provisions. 
The procedures and requirements in TMC 9-5-121 through TMC 9-5-130 shall govern the action 
on matters requiring public hearings. 

9-5-117 Hearings: Time and place. 
The Secretary of the Commission or the Clerk of the Council shall set a reasonable time and 
place for public hearings. Hearings shall be held not less than fifteen (15) nor more than one 
hundred (100) days after the receipt of a completed application including all necessary 
documents or studies, unless different time limits are specified in this article for the specific 
actions. 

9-5-118 Hearings: Notices: Form. 
The notice of a public hearing shall include the description of the property, the nature of the 
proposal, the time and place at which the public hearing will be held. 

9-5-119 Hearings: Notices: Publication. 
All notices of public hearings before the Planning Commission or the City Council shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the community not less than ten (10) days 
before the hearings. 

9-5-120 Hearings: Notices: Posting and mailing. 
All notice of public hearings before the Planning Commission shall be posted and mailed or 
published, in accordance with the following requirements: 

(a) Posting. Not less than one (1) notice giving the time, date and location of the hearing shall 
be posted in a location that is visible to the general public. Such notices shall be posted not less 
than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the hearing. 

(b) Mailing. Letter or postal card notices shall be mailed to property owners within a five 
hundred (500') foot radius of the subject property not less than ten (10) days before the hearing. 
The applicant may furnish a certified copy of the names and addresses of the property owners 
as shown on the latest  equalized assessment role. The failure to send a notice by mail to any 
property owner, where the address is not a matter of public record, shall not invalidate any 
proceedings in connection with any action. 

(c) On-site posting. Within ten (10) days of filing an application for a permit for a project 
requiring a public hearing before the Planning Commission, the applicant shall post an 
approximately four (4') foot by six (6') foot sign, containing both a written description and an 
illustration of the proposed project, on the subject property in a location visible to the public or 
other location approved by the Development Services Director. 

(d) Publication. When a large number of parcels of land are to be rezoned to conform to the 
General Plan, all notices may be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in 
the City and in the County. There shall be a minimum of two (2) publications at least five (5) 
days apart, and the last publication shall be at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing. 

9-5-121 Hearings.  
The Planning Commission or City Council shall review the application or proposed action and 
any evidence or reports pertinent to any action to be taken. The Planning Commission or City 
Council shall hear all persons wishing to be heard on the subject for the public hearing. The 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-130


applicant or appellant may appear in his own behalf or be represented by other authorized 
representatives. 

9-5-122 Hearings: Transcripts. 
Any person interested in an application, appeal, or proposed action may request a copy of the 
recorded tapes, if any, within two (2) weeks of the hearing date. Any request shall be submitted 
in writing, and the person making the request shall agree to pay all the costs involved in 
obtaining a copy of the tapes. Nothing in this section shall prevent any interested person from 
employing a stenographic reporter of his own if he so chooses. 

9-5-123 Hearings: Continuance. 
If, for any reason, a public hearing cannot be held on the date set, the Planning Commission 
may reschedule the hearing to a later date. When rescheduled to within thirty (30) days of the 
original hearing date, the Planning Commission may publicly announce the time, place and 
location of the rescheduled hearing and additional notice will not be required. Otherwise, if the 
hearing is rescheduled beyond thirty (30) days, additional public notice will be required in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-117 through TMC 9-5-120. 

9-5-124 Commission hearings: Commission recommendations. 
The Planning Commission shall provide its recommendations to the project applicant within ten 
(10) days after the conclusion of the public hearing. Such action shall be by resolution which 
shall set forth the findings of the Planning Commission and any recommended conditions and 
any specific findings or recommendations specified in this article for the specific action thereon. 
The action shall be by a majority vote of all the voting members. 

9-5-125 Commission hearings: Transmittal of resolutions. 
Not later than ten (10) days following the rendering of a decision or recommendation, a copy of 
the resolution shall be sent by mail to the applicant at the address shown on the application filed 
with the Secretary of the Planning Commission. Other copies of the resolution shall be mailed or 
filed as specified in this article for the specific action thereon. 

9-5-126 Commission hearings: Records. 
The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall maintain a record of the evidence presented at 
such public hearing. If the Planning Commission recommends the approval of the application or 
the proposed action, the Secretary of the Planning Commission shall transmit the complete 
record of the case to the City Council. In the case of an appeal on a Planning Commission 
decision, the Secretary of the Planning Commission shall transmit the complete record of the 
case to the City Council immediately after the appeal is filed. 

9-5-127 Council hearings: Council decisions. 
The City Council shall take action on recommendations from the Planning Commission by 
approving, conditionally approving or disapproving proposed applications. City Council action 
shall be taken by resolution or, in the case of amendment to the zoning regulations, by 
ordinance. Such resolution shall set forth the findings of the City Council and any required 
conditions, including the time limits and the guarantees necessary to insure compliance with the 
provisions of this chapter and the General Plan. 

9-5-128 Council hearings: Transmittal of resolutions and ordinances. 
Not later than ten (10) days following the rendering of a decision, a copy of the resolution or 
ordinance shall be forwarded to the Secretary of the Planning Commission by the City Clerk. 

9-5-129 Council hearings: Records. 



The City Clerk shall make a record of the evidence presented at the public hearing. The record, 
together with the resolution or ordinance announcing the findings of the public hearing, shall be 
maintained as a part of the permanent records of the City. 

9-5-130 Appeals: Authorized. 
Any action or decision of the Planning Commission rendered pursuant to the provisions of this 
Chapter may be appealed as provided by Chapter 4 of Title 1 of this Code. Any action of the 
Development Services Director made hereunder, may be appealed to the Planning Commission 
in the same manner as provided by Chapter 4 of Title 1 of this Code. 

9-5-131 Permits and Variances: New Applications. 
Following the denial or revocation of any permit or variance, an application for the same, or 
similar use on the same site, shall not be accepted for submittal to the acting agency within a 
one (1) year period after the date of denial or revocation. 

Article 2. Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits 

9-5-201 Zoning certificates: Purpose. 
The purpose of a zoning certificate is to provide a preliminary review for proposed business 
uses to determine consistency and conformance with requirements of the applicable zoning 
district. 

9-5-202 Zoning certificates: Required. 
A zoning certificate shall be required prior to the commencement of any new business use or 
change of ownership upon application for a business license. A zoning certificate shall not be 
required for the renewal of a business license for existing businesses. 

9-5-203 Zoning certificates: Application. 
An application for a zoning certificate may be made at the same time the application for a 
business license is made. The acceptance of an application shall not constitute any indication of 
approval. 

9-5-204 Zoning certificates: Applications: Departmental approval. 
The Development Services Director shall check the application to assure compliance with all the 
provisions of this chapter and may issue the zoning certificate upon determining that proposed 
use either conforms with the standards of the applicable zoning district or constitutes a 
previously conforming use. 

9-5-205 Zoning certificates: Denial. 
Should the Development Services Director determine that the proposed use does not conform 
to the standards of the zoning district or constitute a previously existing conforming use, 
approval of the zoning certificate application shall be denied. 

9-5-206 Zoning certificates: Effective date. 
The zoning certificate shall become effective immediately after the issuance of such certificate 
by the Development Services Director. However, the approved use shall not commence until a 
Certificate of Occupancy has been issued by the Building and Safety Division. 

9-5-207 Zoning certificates: Expiration. 
The zoning certificate shall expire six (6) months after the effective date if the use has not 
commenced within this time. If the approved use has commenced within six (6) months of the 
effective date, the zoning certificate shall expire concurrently with the expiration of any 
associated Business License. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


9-5-208 Home occupation permits: Required. 
No home occupation shall be established in a residence until a home occupation permit is 
approved by the Secretary of the Planning Commission. 

9-5-209 Home occupation permit: Applications. 
An application for a home occupation permit shall be submitted to the Secretary of the Planning 
Commission by the person responsible for the operation of any home occupation. If the 
applicant is not the owner of the property involved, the applicant shall have a “consent of owner” 
form signed by the owner or his authorized representative. 

9-5-210 Home occupation permits: Conditions: Issuance. 
(a) Conditions. No home occupation permit shall be issued unless the use applied for meets 
the following standards and conditions: 

(1) The permit is only valid for the person(s) and location identified in the application and 
shall not be transferrable to another person(s) or location.   

(2) The home occupation shall be conducted entirely within the residential dwelling or 
approved accessory structure that complies with Section 101 of Chapter 2 or Title 9 of the 
Turlock Municipal Code [Section 9-2-101: Accessory Buildings or Structures].  Outside 
activity, storage, or display is prohibited. 

(3) The floor area used for such occupation or profession shall not exceed 400 square feet 
in any case. 

(4) The proposed occupation shall clearly be incidental and secondary to the residential use 
of the dwelling, and shall not change the residential character of the dwelling. 

(5) Window displays, “show windows”, or other exterior display to attract customers, clients, 
or the general public are prohibited.  No exterior sign, except a professional occupation sign 
one foot by one foot is size, announcing the name and home occupation affixed to a wall of 
the primary dwelling. 

(6) Exterior alterations of residential dwellings, for the purpose of drawing attention to the 
business, or in association with the operation of the business, are prohibited. 

(7) Operation of the business shall not generate vehicular traffic that is not normally 
associated with residential or agricultural uses. 

(i) Deliveries to the home occupation shall be limited to no more than two (2) 
deliveries per day.  No delivery shall be by vehicles larger than a typical delivery 
van (Fed Ex, UPS, etc.) 

(ii) No more than one (1) standard pick up or van, and one (1) utility trailer, as 
defined and in accordance with the Turlock Municipal Code, Section 9-2-114, 
specifically designated to be used for the home occupation shall park at the subject 
residence at any time. 

(iii) Must comply with Turlock Municipal Code, Section 4-7-1008 concerning the 
parking of commercial vehicles in residential districts. 

(iv) In the event outside persons are employed to perform functions of this 
business away from the premises, parking or storage of employees’ vehicles in the 



neighborhood is prohibited. 

(v) At least one (1) on-site parking space shall be provided for customers to the 
business.  For the purposes of this Section only, parking in a driveway shall meet 
the definition of a parking space. 

(8) Such occupation of profession shall be conducted by the residents of the premises. 

(9) The proposed home occupation business shall be limited to no more than two (2) 
customers at a time and no more than six (6) customers per day, arriving no earlier than 
7:00 a.m. and leaving no later than 7:00 p.m. 

(10) Storage of goods that are not produced on the premises shall be limited to 100 cubic 
feet (approximately the size of a typical residential bedroom closet). 

(11) The proposed occupation shall only involve the use of power-driven equipment or 
chemicals normally incidental to the residential use. 

(12) The applicant shall not list or advertise the residence address in the commercial 
telephone directory, newspaper, radio, or television in connection with the proposed 
occupation or profession. 

(13) The proposed occupation shall not create a nuisance by reason of noise, odor, dust, 
vibration, fumes, smoke, electrical interference, or other causes. 

(14) Any other conditions that the Development Services Director, or designee, deem 
necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the residents in the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

(b) Indemnification. In the event the city determines that it is necessary to take legal action to 
enforce any of the provisions of these conditions, and such legal action is taken, the applicant 
shall be required to pay any and all costs of such legal action, including reasonable attorney’s 
fees, incurred by the city, even if the matter is not prosecuted to a final judgment or is amicably 
resolved, unless the city should otherwise agree with applicant to waive said fees or any part 
thereof.  The foregoing shall not apply if the permittee prevails on every issue in the 
enforcement proceeding. 

(c) Compliance with all other laws and regulations. Business operations conducted at this 
residence shall comply with all local, state, and federal laws and regulations, including, but not 
limited to, building, fire, and ADA accessibility requirements. 

(d) Issuance. The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall analyze all the facts presented 
and, if the use applied for meets each and every one of the required conditions and standards, 
shall issue the home occupation permit within ten (10) days. 

9-5-211 Home occupation permits: Denial. 
A home occupation permit issued pursuant to the provisions of this article shall not include 
commercial photograph studios, beauty parlors, barber shops, or any similar service 
enterprises, that do not comply with the provisions of TMC 9-5-210 (Home Occupation Permits: 
Conditions: Issuance). Retail sales (except for goods produced on the premises), music 
schools, dancing schools. business schools, or other schools of any kind with organized 
classes, retail motor vehicle sales or repair or any similar activities are prohibited. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-210


If the use applied for does not meet the required conditions and standards, the Secretary of the 
Planning Commission shall deny the application. 

9-5-212 Home occupation permits: Term. 
A home occupation permit shall not expire unless revoked; however, the permit is not 
transferrable to a different permittee, location, or use.  

9-5-213 Home Occupation Permits: Revocation. 
The Home Occupation Permit granted under this article shall be subject to revocation by the 
Development Services Director, or designee, when the permittee violates any of the restrictions 
and conditions set forth in this article. 

Article 3. Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits 

9-5-301 Minor administrative approval (MAA): Purpose and intent. 
Minor Administrative Approvals are those which are routine in nature and do not require a public 
hearing, but may require an administrative interpretation regarding compliance with established 
policies, standards and guidelines adopted by the Turlock City Council. The purpose of Minor 
Administrative Approvals is to provide speedy approval over the counter or within a time period 
of no more than five (5) working days, depending on the complexity of the specific proposal. 
They are distinct from “ministerial” approvals which are “non-discretionary” actions permitted 
upon a determination that the standards established by City Ordinance for the proposal are met. 

9-5-302 Minor administrative approval: Applicability. 
Only those uses, activities, or permits as specifically enumerated in the zoning districts or other 
articles of this chapter as requiring a Minor Administrative Approval may be approved and 
issued following the administrative discretion of the Development Services Director or his/her 
designee according to the provisions contained in this article. 

9-5-303 Minor administrative approval: Application. 
Applications for Minor Administrative Approval shall be made to the Development Services 
Department on a form prescribed by the Department and shall include all requisite materials and 
payment of applicable filing fee. 

9-5-304 Minor administrative approval: Review: Approval. 
All applications for a Minor Administrative Approval must first be approved in writing by the 
Development Services Director or his/her designee before such use or activity commences. All 
applications and proposed uses shall be reviewed for compliance with the applicable policies, 
standards and guidelines which shall be adopted by resolution of the Planning Commission or 
City Council, as may be amended from time to time. 

The Development Services Director may approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove an 
application for such permit. 

9-5-305 Minor administrative approval: Expiration. 
If requested prior to expiration, the Minor Administrative Approval may be extended by the 
Development Services Director upon a finding of just cause. 

9-5-306 Minor administrative approval: Fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the Minor 
Administrative Approval application service as established by the City Council as set forth in 
Article 3 of Chapter 3 of Title 3 of this Code. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, 
and may be amended from time to time. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock03/Turlock03.html#3


9-5-307 Minor discretionary permits: Purpose and intent. 
Minor Discretionary Permits require administrative discretion in determining compliance with 
adopted policies, codes and standards of the City and require public notice prior to approval. 
Minor Discretionary Permits may be authorized by the Development Services Director within a 
typical time frame of three (3) to four (4) weeks. 

9-5-308 Minor discretionary permit: Authorized. 
Only those uses, activities, or permits specifically enumerated in the applicable zoning districts 
as requiring a Minor Discretionary Permit may be approved and issued upon administrative 
discretion of the Development Services Director or his/her designee according to the provisions 
contained in this article. 

9-5-309 Minor discretionary permit: Application. Completeness. 
(a) Applications for Minor Discretionary Review shall be submitted to the Development Services 
Department including all required materials and the written consent of the property owner of the 
proposed location. All materials must be clear, legible and of sufficient clarity to allow other 
interested agencies and interested property owners to understand the proposal. 

(b) No later than five (5) days following submittal of an application for Minor Discretionary 
Permit, the application and all related materials will be reviewed for completeness. The 
applicant will be notified immediately if an application is found to be incomplete, and the 
additional information needed to complete the application will be identified. The applicant is 
responsible to provide any missing information and/or revised plans as may be necessary and 
resubmit the materials. Once resubmitted, the application will again be reviewed for 
completeness as described above. 

(c) Once an application has been deemed complete, the Development Services Director or 
his/her designee shall transmit the relevant parts of the permit application to all affected City 
departments for review, comments, and condition requirements. All comments will be returned 
to the Development Services Director within ten (10) working days. 

9-5-310 Minor discretionary permit: Review. 
The Development Services Director shall consider the following aspects of each Minor 
Discretionary Permit application to the extent they are applicable to the proposal: 

(a) Relationship to the character of the neighborhoods in which the site is located, the 
appearance and harmony of proposed buildings and/or their use with adjacent development and 
the surrounding natural features. 

(b) Review of site layout, considering the orientation and location of buildings and open spaces 
in relation to physical characteristics of the site. 

(c) Review of the layout of the site with respect to locations and dimensions of vehicular and 
pedestrian entrances, exits, drives and walkways. 

(d) Review of buildings for scale, mass, proposition, articulation of facades, use of materials, 
overall composition of design and harmony with surrounding buildings. 

(e) Review of location height, and materials of fences, walls and screen plantings to ensure 
harmony with adjacent development and adequate screening of storage and nuisance activities. 

(f) Review of colors and materials in relationship to adjacent architectural and natural elements. 



(g) Review subdivision designs to ensure that developments are in harmony with established 
neighborhoods or surrounding natural features. 

(h) Review of landscape plans for placement and selection of all plant materials with emphasis 
on variety and hardiness of Turlock’s climatic conditions. 

(i) Review of location, color, size, height, lighting, and landscaping of outdoor advertising signs 
and structures, in relation to traffic hazards and appearance and harmony with the environment. 

(j) All other relevant comments from affected City departments and other agencies. 

9-5-311 Minor discretionary permit: Notice. 
(a) The Development Services Director shall give notice of the proposed request, by mail or 
delivery, to all adjacent property owners not less than ten (10) days prior to the date on which 
the administrative decision will be made. Adjacent property owners shall include those abutting 
all sides of the property upon which the request is made, including those across any abutting 
public or private street or others the Director determines should receive public notice. Property 
owner and address information used by the City shall be based on the latest  equalized 
assessment role. 

(b) If no hearing is requested by the applicant or other affected person, or if no responses are 
received in opposition to the request within the prescribed time period, then the Development 
Services Director or his/her designee may take action on the Minor Discretionary Permit 
application. 

(c) If a hearing is requested by the applicant or other affected person or agency, or if any 
responses are received in opposition to the request, the Development Services Director shall 
forward the application to the Planning Commission for formal public hearing and consideration. 
When the application is forwarded to the Planning Commission, the applicant shall be 
responsible for the payment of additional application processing fees necessary to cover the 
costs of this additional review and public notice. The applicant may also be asked to supplement 
the permit application materials as determined by the Development Services Director. 

9-5-312 Minor discretionary permit: Approval: Findings: Conditions. 
(a) The Development Services Director or his/her designee may approve, conditionally approve, 
or disapprove an application for a Minor Discretionary Permit. In approving a Minor 
Discretionary Permit application, the Development Services Director or his/her designee shall 
find that the following are fulfilled or shall impose reasonable conditions to ensure that they are 
fulfilled: 

(1) The proposal is consistent with the Turlock General Plan, the Zoning Ordinance and all 
other adopted plans for the site; 

(2) The proposal is in harmony with the existing or proposed development in the general 
area or neighborhood and will be compatible with adjacent structures and uses, including 
those on adjoining properties; 

(3) The proposal is consistent with the development plan, terms, conditions, and/or intent of 
any planned development or conditional use permit currently in effect on the property; 

(4) Any structural elements contained within the proposal is of high quality design consistent 
with the intent of the City Design Element of the Turlock General Plan and the exterior 



design, appearance, materials, and colors will not cause the nature of the neighborhood to 
materially depreciate; 

(5) The proposal will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the public 
safety, health, and welfare of the neighborhood and community. 

9-5-313 Minor discretionary permit: Fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the Minor 
Discretionary Permit application service as established by the City Council as set forth in Article 
3 of Chapter 3 of Title 3 of this Code. Such fee shall be set by Council resolution, and may be 
amended from time to time. 

9-5-314 Minor discretionary permit: Violation: Penalty. 
Any person who undertakes, operates or maintains a use of land in any district other than in 
strict compliance with the provisions of this  title or the terms and conditions of any written 
approval granted, shall be subject to the penalties set forth in this chapter. 

9-5-315 Minor discretionary permit: Time limits for development of property and uses. 
The Community Development Director may establish a time limit for development of the subject 
property and use. The time limit set by the Development Services Director shall be reasonable, 
based upon the size and nature of the proposed development. Such time limit may be extended 
by the Development Services Director for good cause when the applicant presents proof of 
unusual conditions not of his own making. 

9-5-316 Outdoor dining defined. 
Outdoor dining entails the use of City sidewalks and public rights-of-way for the consumption of 
food or beverages in conjunction with the operation of a bona fide food service establishment 
properly licensed for such service and which provides on-premises customer seating. 

9-5-317 Outdoor dining permit required. 
No owner or operator of a business establishment shall occupy any portion of a public sidewalk, 
court, plaza, alley, or street with tables and chairs for outdoor dining without first obtaining a 
minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits) and with the provisions of this article. 

9-5-318 Authority to issue outdoor dining permits. 
The Development Services Director, or his or her designated representative, is hereby 
authorized to issue outdoor dining permits, revocable at will, to owners or operators of business 
establishments for the placement of tables and chairs in the public sidewalk, court, alley or 
street adjacent to and incidental to the operation of a food service establishment, according to 
the procedures as set forth in this article. An outdoor dining permit will not be issued where, in 
the opinion of the Community Development Director, or his or her designated representative, 
the speed, volume or nearness of vehicular traffic is not compatible with outdoor dining. 
Issuance will not be unreasonably withheld. 

9-5-319 Application for outdoor dining permit. 
Every owner or operator of a business establishment desiring to place tables and chairs in a 
public sidewalk, court, alley or street shall first submit an application for the issuance of such a 
permit to the Development Services Department. Each application shall state the name of the 
applicant, the name and address of the establishment, the proposed area to be occupied by the 
tables and chairs, and the hours and days that the area is to be so occupied. The application 
shall be accompanied by a space-use plan which indicates the location, number and 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock03/Turlock03.html#3


arrangement of the tables and chairs to be used, the location of the entrance to the 
establishment, and the location of any existing sidewalk obstructions in the proposed area to be 
occupied by the tables and chairs. Trees, traffic signs, benches and all similar obstacles shall 
constitute obstructions. 

9-5-320 Issuance of outdoor dining permit. 
If the proposed design and location of the tables and chairs to be used for outdoor dining, as 
described in the application, conforms to those guidelines set forth by the Development 
Services Director, or his or her designated representative, an outdoor dining permit shall be 
issued to the applicant. 

No permit shall be issued until the applicant has paid a one-time fee for the permit. The amount 
of the permit fee is in an amount as shall be set forth from time to time by resolution of the City 
Council. 

9-5-321 Conditions and restrictions pertaining to outdoor dining. 
The issuance of permits by the Development Services Director for the use of City sidewalks and 
public rights-of-way for the consumption of food or beverages in front of business 
establishments are subject to the following: 

(a) The outdoor dining area shall leave not less than four (4') consecutive feet of sidewalk width 
to ensure adequate space for pedestrian traffic on the adjacent sidewalk. The minimum width 
stated above must be free of all obstacles and obstructions for a clear path of travel. For the 
purpose of minimum clear path, traffic signs, trees and all similar obstacles shall constitute 
obstructions. It is the responsibility of the permittee to keep this sidewalk pedestrian zone clear 
and unimpeded for pedestrian movement. 

(b) Outdoor dining areas may not intrude on pedestrian “clear vision zones” at corners and thus 
must be set back a minimum of six (6') feet from any crosswalk. The outdoor dining area must 
not interfere with curbs, ramps or driveways. No element of the outdoor dining area may 
interfere with access to any building including all paths of travel or exit. 

(c) When the sidewalk is not in use for seating and service, all removable fixtures (i.e., chairs, 
planters, tables, etc.) shall be stored inside the restaurant premises. 

(d) The outdoor dining area must remain clear of litter at all times. The permittee shall maintain 
the tables and chairs in the permitted outdoor dining area in a clean condition at all times. 

(e) Outdoor dining areas must conform to and comply with all relevant regulations in this Code 
and all applicable building laws including State laws and regulations. 

(f) Tables, chairs, and customers shall be confined to the area shown on the application 
submitted by the permittee. 

9-5-322 Insurance. 
Each outdoor dining permittee shall provide the City Clerk with evidence of insurance coverage 
in the amount and form as approved by the City Attorney or his/her designee. Such amounts 
shall be set forth from time to time by resolution of the City Council. The required insurance 
shall be maintained in a current status throughout the use of the public right-of-way, and a copy 
of the insurance renewal shall be provided to the City Clerk and/or the Planning Division upon 
renewal. 

9-5-323 Alcoholic beverage restrictions. 



The service of alcoholic beverages shall be restricted solely to on-premises consumption by 
customers within the outdoor dining area. Each of the following standards apply to outdoor 
dining areas which provide alcoholic beverage service: 

(a) The outdoor dining area must be clearly and physically separated from pedestrian traffic. All 
barriers, railings, fences or planters placed around a sidewalk cafe whether moveable or 
permanent, affixed, and contiguous to the sidewalk and in place during hours of operation to 
clearly define the area. The spacing, if any, between barriers, railings, fences, or planters must 
prevent pedestrian traffic through them. Landscaping can be either in planters or planted in the 
ground. In order to maximize visual access and pedestrian safety, the height of the railing, 
barrier or planter, with its planted material, shall not be less than three (3') feet; 

(b) The business operator shall post a written notice to customers that the drinking or carrying of 
an open container of alcohol is prohibited outside the outdoor dining area; 

(c) The outdoor dining area operation must be duly licensed by the State Department of 
Alcoholic Beverage Control, and the City of Turlock requirements and restrictions for the service 
of alcoholic beverages in outdoor dining areas shall not be less than those required by the State 
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control; and 

(d) Any and all exits from the bona fide food service establishment to be used for the service of 
alcoholic beverages to the outdoor dining area must be included in the outdoor dining permit 
issued pursuant to this  section. 

9-5-324 Outdoor dining permit not deed or easement. 
Permission to encroach upon a portion of a public sidewalk with tables and chairs granted under 
this  section shall not constitute a deed or grant of an easement by the City. 

9-5-325 Suspension or revocation of outdoor dining permit. 
The outdoor dining permit granted under this chapter shall be subject to suspension or 
revocation by the Development Services Director when the permittee violates any of the 
restrictions and conditions set forth in this  section, or any rule or regulation of the Development 
Services Director adopted in pursuance of the provisions of this  section. The outdoor dining 
permit shall be automatically suspended upon the termination of the insurance required under 
TMC 9-5-322. Upon termination of the insurance required under TMC 9-5-322, permittee agrees 
to indemnify and hold the City of Turlock, its officers, agents and employees free and harmless 
from any and all damages, costs, charges or liability of any kind or character that may arise out 
of, relate to, or in any way be connected with the exercise of the rights granted pursuant to the 
issuance of the encroachment permit. 

The City of Turlock must notify the State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control of any 
suspension or revocation of an outdoor dining permit granted under this  section. 

9-5-326 Protest issuance of permit. 
Any person or persons who deem their interests or property, or that of the general public, will be 
adversely affected by the occupancy of a public sidewalk, court, alley or street with tables and 
chairs for outdoor dining and for which permission has been applied for under the provisions of 
this chapter, may protest the issuance of said permit by writing to the Development Services 
Director within thirty (30) calendar days after the permit has been approved. Upon receipt of any 
such protest, the Development Services Director will schedule a hearing to hear all protests or 
oppositions to the issuance of an outdoor dining permit. 

9-5-327 Denial of permit. 



Upon denial of a permit by the Development Services Director, an applicant may, within ten (10) 
calendar days following notification of such denial, file a notice of appeal to the City Council, 
who shall then hear all appeals concerning the application for permit. 

9-5-328 Penalties. 
The placement of tables and chairs on a public sidewalk or other public right-of-way without a 
permit issued in compliance with this chapter shall constitute an infraction punishable by a fine 
of One Hundred and no/100ths ($100.00) Dollars. The nonpayment of such fine, or the 
continued existence of a condition in violation of this  section, shall be grounds for the 
Development Services Director to prohibit placement of tables and chairs by the responsible 
owner or operator of the fronting business establishment until such penalty has been paid or the 
condition corrected. 

9-5-329 Removal of tables and chairs. 
Any tables and chairs placed in or upon the public sidewalk or rights-of-way without a validly 
issued permit may be seized and removed pursuant to this section. The City of Turlock shall 
issue a notice to the owner or operator of the business establishment fronting on the sidewalk 
from which the tables and chairs are to be removed before such tables and chairs are seized. 
The owner or operator of the business establishment shall be given ten (10) business days in 
which to remedy the violation. If the responsible party does not remedy the violation and apply 
for and obtain an outdoor dining area permit within the time prescribed, the City may seize and 
remove the tables and chairs. 

Any other provisions of this  section notwithstanding, if tables and chairs are placed in the public 
sidewalk or in or upon the public sidewalk or rights-of-way in such a manner as to pose an 
immediate and serious danger to persons or property, the City may seize such tables and chairs 
without prior notice to the person responsible for such tables and chairs if it is impractical to 
remedy the danger by moving the tables and chairs to another point on the sidewalk or public 
right-of-way. 

The responsible party shall be notified promptly of such seizure of tables and chairs and shall 
have the right to request an informal hearing before a designated City official within ten (10) 
business days after such notification to determine whether the seizure was proper. All tables 
and chairs seized pursuant to this section shall be retained by the City and may be recovered as 
provided herein. 

As a condition of recovering outdoor dining tables and chairs properly seized pursuant to this 
section, the person responsible for such tables and chairs shall pay an impound fee covering 
the actual cost to the City of transporting and storing the outdoor dining tables and chairs. 

Article 4. Minor Exceptions 

9-5-401 Purpose. 
These provisions shall ensure the following: 

(a) Minor adjustments from standards contained in this title of the Turlock Municipal Code shall 
be granted only when, because of special circumstances applicable to the property, the strict 
application deprives such property of privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity and 
under identical land use districts. 

(b) Any minor exception granted shall be subject to such conditions as will ensure that the minor 
adjustment thereby authorized shall not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with 



the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and land use district in which such property is 
situated. 

9-5-402 Application. 
An application for a minor exception shall be filed in a manner consistent with the requirements 
contained in Article 3 of this chapter for minor discretionary permits. 

9-5-403 Applicability. 
The Development Services Director may grant a minor exception up to a maximum of ten (10%) 
percent governing only the following measurable design/site considerations: 

(a) Distance between structures; 

(b) Lot dimensions; 

(c) On-site parking, loading and landscaping; 

(d) Setbacks; 

(e) Structure heights. 

Any minor exception request which exceeds the prescribed limitations outlined in this section 
shall require the filing of a variance application pursuant to Article 6 of this Chapter. Minor 
exceptions may be approved by the Development Services Director only if no other entitlements 
are required. If other approvals are necessary, the minor exception shall be filed concurrently. 

9-5-404 Findings. 
The Development Services Director may approve and/or modify an application in whole or in 
part, with or without conditions, only if all of the following findings are made: 

(a) That there are special circumstances applicable to the property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this code deprives such property of 
privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity; 

(b) That granting the minor exception is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a 
substantial property right possessed by other property in the same vicinity and land use district 
and denied to the property for which the minor exception is sought; 

(c) That granting the minor exception will not be materially detrimental to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, or injurious to the property or improvements in such vicinity and land use 
district in which the property is located; 

(d) That granting the minor exception does not constitute a special privilege inconsistent with 
the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and land use district in which such property is 
located; 

(e) That granting the minor exception does not exceed ten (10%) percent of the standards being 
modified, or allow a use or activity which is not otherwise expressly authorized by the 
regulations governing the subject parcel; and 

(f) That granting the minor exception will not be inconsistent with the General Plan. 

9-5-405 Burden of proof. 



The burden of proof to establish the evidence in support of the findings as required by TMC 9-5-
404, above, is the responsibility of the applicant. 

9-5-406 Precedents. 
The granting of a minor exception is not admissible as evidence for the granting of a new minor 
exception. 

9-5-407 Minor exception: Expiration. 
A minor exception approval shall expire after one (1) year if construction has not begun or the 
use commenced. If requested prior to expiration, the minor exception may be extended upon a 
finding of just cause. 

Article 5. Temporary Uses of Land 

9-5-501 Temporary uses. 
Certain land uses of a temporary nature as defined in TMC 9-1-202 (Definitions), may be 
authorized by the Development Services Director pursuant to the proper application process 
and subject to the limitations and standards contained herein. Temporary land uses otherwise 
regulated by the Turlock Municipal Code (Christmas tree sales, fireworks stands, parking lot 
sales, and other similar uses) shall be exempt from this  article. 

(a) Limitations of use by zoning district. 

(1) Commercial/Industrial Districts and Planned Development Districts. Temporary 
uses of land may include, but are not limited to: sales office trailers, storage yards, parking 
lots, parking lot sales, outside sales of seasonal merchandise (produce, pumpkins, and the 
like), special events and displays of community interest in which the temporary use is 
intended to be operated as defined in TMC 9-1-202 (Definitions). Temporary outside sales 
conducted by itinerant vendors are also subject to the regulations of Chapter 17 of Title 5 of 
this Code. No temporary use of land permit shall be required for a parking lot sale in an 
organized shopping center when: 1) all of the participants are permitted uses in the center; 
2) the event is held on the improved portion of the site; and  3) adequate parking is 
provided. 

(2) Residential and Residential Planned Development Districts. Temporary uses of land 
may include, but are not limited to: contractor storage yards, model homes, and tract sales 
offices, when the temporary uses are incidental and accessory to the primary land uses 
permitted in the residential zoning district. This limitation shall not apply to accessory uses 
that are otherwise permitted and regulated by other sections of this Code (examples: home 
occupations, residential garage/yard sales). 

(b) Duration of temporary uses. The temporary use of land for those activities permitted 
herein may be authorized for a limited and specified period of time not to exceed one (1) year in 
duration as set by the Development Services Director within the terms and conditions of each 
particular temporary use of land permit. The Development Services Director may consider and 
take appropriate action on a request for an extension of a temporary use of land for one (1) 
additional one (1) year period, upon review of a written request submitted no later than thirty 
(30) days prior to the expiration of the approved temporary use of land permit. In regards to the 
following specific temporary land uses, these time periods shall apply: 

(1) Outside sales of seasonal merchandise (Christmas trees, pumpkins, and the like). 
The outside sale of seasonal merchandise and produce in one (1) location may be permitted 
up to a maximum of ninety (90) days within a calendar year on a single property, with a 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202


limitation of no more than three (3) non-consecutive separate events of a maximum of thirty 
(30) days per each event. 

(2) Outdoor commercial promotional/sales events.  

(i) When located within an organized shopping center, commercial businesses that are 
not permitted uses in the center may be permitted for up to six (6) such special events 
per calendar year. Each separate temporary outdoor promotional/sales event shall not 
exceed seventy-two (72) hours in length. 

(ii) For commercial business(es) that are part of an organized shopping center, there is 
no limit on the number or duration of the promotional or sales events when: 1) any or all 
tenants or owners within the center participate; 2) adequate parking is provided on site; 
and 3) the property owner has provided written permission for the event, if applicable.  

(3) Itinerant vendors. No temporary use of land permit shall be required for any itinerant 
vendor that vends on the improved portion of a commercial or industrial property for a period 
of less than thirty (30) minutes during a twenty-four (24) hour period so long as the vendor 
does not relocate within one thousand (1,000) feet of such location. “Mobile food facilities” 
are regulated pursuant to TMC 9-2-124 and shall not be required to obtain a temporary use 
of land permit. All other itinerant vendors may be permitted up to a maximum of seventy-two 
(72) hours on a single property, with a limitation of no more than six (6) events of any type in 
any one (1) year at any single location. 

(c) Signing. 

(1) All signing related to an authorized temporary use of land shall comply with the 
temporary sign regulations in TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). A temporary sign permit shall first 
be obtained from the City prior to the installation of any temporary signage. 

(2) Noncommercial signing, which may include balloons, pennants, and special displays, 
may be permitted as part of an approved temporary land use permit as specified above. 
Such noncommercial signs must be securely fastened or attached so as not to create any 
type of public safety hazard. 

(d) Maximum number of temporary uses per lot. On properties less than one (1) acre in size, 
no more than one (1) temporary use may be permitted at any one (1) time. Exceptions to this 
provision may be made by the Director if it is determined that all of the findings in TMC 9-5-
504 can be made. At no time shall two (2) similar temporary uses be permitted on any property 
less than one (1) acre in size. 

(e) Maximum number and locations of temporary uses per applicant. No single 
organization or individual may conduct more than six (6) events of any type in any one (1) year 
at any single location. Furthermore, no single organization or individual may conduct events at 
more than three (3) locations in any one (1) year. For the purposes of this article, an “event” is a 
single occurrence of any temporary activity on a particular lot. 

9-5-502 Application. 
Any person may apply to the Development Services Department for approval of a temporary 
use of land not less than fifteen (15) days before the use is intended to begin. Such application 
shall be on a form prescribed for that purpose, and shall include the written consent of the 
owner of the property on which the use is to be located. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-125
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-504
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-504


9-5-503 Approval. 
(a) All applications for a temporary use of land permit must first be approved in writing by the 
Development Services Director before such use commences. The Development Services 
Director may approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove an application for such use. 

(b) The Development Services Director may require a conditional use permit as provided in 
Article 6 of this chapter, to allow for Planning Commission review and action on a temporary use 
of land permit request where a determination is made that the proposed use may be of 
particular interest or concern to surrounding property owners or to the public at large. A 
conditional use permit must be required for those uses which would require such a permit under 
other provisions in this  title. 

9-5-504 Findings. 
The Development Services Director may approve an application for a temporary use of land for 
a period of time as specified in this chapter only upon making all of the following findings: 

(a) The proposed use will not adversely affect adjacent structures and uses or the surrounding 
neighborhood; 

(b) The proposed use will not adversely affect the circulation and flow of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic in the immediate area; 

(c) The proposed use will not create a demand for additional parking which cannot be met safely 
and efficiently in existing parking areas; 

(d) The proposed use will not conflict with the terms or intent of any planned unit development 
permit or conditional use permit currently in effect on the property; 

(e) The proposed use will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the public 
welfare of the community. 

9-5-505 Conditions. 
(a) In authorizing an application for a temporary use of land permit, the Development Services 
Director shall include as conditions of approval, the following minimum provisions: 

(1) The use will be limited to the dates and times (or period of time), nature and extent 
prescribed by the Development Services Director; 

(2) All work, including building, electrical, and plumbing will conform to all requirements of 
applicable codes; 

(3) Provisions for fire protection and fire vehicle access will be made as prescribed by the 
Fire Chief; 

(4) Signing will be limited to that approved by the Development Services Director; 

(5) The site will be continuously maintained free of weeds, litter and debris; 

(6) Within three (3) days after removal of the temporary use, the site will be completely 
cleaned; all trash, debris, signs, sign supports, and temporary electrical service will be 
removed; 

(7) Any additional limitations or conditions as required by the Development Services Director 
as conditions of approval. 



(b) For applications for temporary use of land permits which allow for an itinerant vendor, the 
following minimum provisions and conditions shall also be applicable: 

(1) An itinerant vendor sales stand and/or use shall not be located upon the paved or any 
unpaved portion of a public right-of-way nor impede the free and unobstructed use of any 
sidewalk. Push carts may use the public sidewalk so long as the cart does not impede the 
movement of pedestrians. 

(2) The itinerant vendor sales activity, including the display of all related merchandise or 
products for sale, shall be limited to the immediate confines of the temporary street side 
stand, trailer, vehicle, or other enclosure approved as part of the permit. 

(3) All uses shall be located in such a manner that will not impede the normal use of 
driveways serving the property where the use is proposed nor in such a manner that 
encourages customers to stop in the street or driveway to obtain vendor service. 

(4) Uses providing for temporary street side stands, trailers, or vehicles shall comply with the 
setback/yard provisions of the specific commercial or industrial zone the use is proposed to 
be located in. 

(5) Uses providing for temporary street side stands, trailers, or vehicles shall not reduce the 
number of off-street parking spaces below the minimum number specified for the zone 
district the use is proposed to be located in. 

9-5-506 Fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the 
temporary use of land permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, and 
may be amended from time to time. 

Article 6. Conditional Use Permits and Variances 

9-5-601 Conditional use permits: Authorized. 
Upon acceptance of an application, the Planning Commission may grant a conditional use 
permit for a use allowed conditionally in the respective zoning district. 

9-5-602 Conditional use permits: Required: Purposes. 
(a) Required. No conditional use shall be located in any district unless and until a conditional 
use permit is granted in accordance with the procedure set forth in this article. 

(b) Purpose. The purpose of a conditional use permit is to evaluate the site features, operating 
characteristics, and design of a proposed use to ensure compatibility with other uses in the 
general area. 

9-5-603 Conditional use permits: Applications: Hearings. 
At the time an application for a conditional use permit is deemed complete, the Secretary of the 
Planning Commission shall set the date of hearing in the manner prescribed by law. 

9-5-604 Conditional use permits: Granting. 
All actions of the Planning Commission relating to findings and recommendations shall be in 
accordance with the provisions of this  article. The Planning Commission shall authorize the 
granting of the conditional use permit if it finds as follows: 



(a) That the site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate such 
uses, all yards, open spaces, wall, fences, parking, loading, landscaping and other features 
required by the Municipal Code or the Planning Commission to make sure such use is 
compatible with the land and uses in the vicinity; 

(b) That the site for the proposed use is related properly to streets and highways to carry the 
quantity and kind of traffic generated by the proposed use; 

(c) That the proposed use will not adversely affect the abutting property or the permitted use 
thereof with the provisions of conditions; and 

(d) That the site for the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan. 

9-5-605 Conditional use permits: Granting: Conditions. 
(a) Imposition of conditions. In authorizing a conditional use permit, the Planning Commission 
may require that the use conform with the site plan, architectural drawings, or statements 
submitted in support of the application necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 
general welfare and secure the objectives of the General Plan. The Commission may also 
impose such other conditions necessary to achieve these purposes, including, but not limited to, 
the following: 

(1) Special yards, open spaces, and buffers; 

(2) Fences and walls; 

(3) The provision and surfacing of parking areas; 

(4) Street dedications and improvements, including the provision of service roads or alleys 
where practical and necessary; 

(5) The regulation of points of vehicular ingress and egress; 

(6) The regulation of signs; 

(7) Landscaping and the maintenance; 

(8) The maintenance of the grounds; 

(9) The control of noise, vibration, odors, and other potentially dangerous and objectionable 
elements; 

(10) Limits on the time for conducting certain activities; 

(11) The time period within which the proposed use shall be developed; and 

(12) Any other conditions that will promote the development of the City in an orderly and 
efficient manner and in conformity with the intent and purpose set forth in this  article and 
the General Plan. 

(b) Guarantees of compliance with conditions. The Planning Commission may require 
reasonable guarantees that such conditions will be complied with. 



(c) Yard, height, and area requirements. Unless otherwise approved by resolution, the 
provisions for required front, rear, and side yards and the requirements for height and area 
applicable to the specific district shall prevail. 

(d) Off-street parking and loading requirements. The provision of off-street parking and 
loading applicable to the particular use shall prevail unless otherwise approved by resolution. 

9-5-606 Conditional use permits: Denial. 
If because of the size or character of the use proposed on a particular site, its location, or its 
relationship to adjoining parcels and uses, the Planning Commission is unable to make the 
findings set forth in Section 9-5-504, the Planning Commission shall disapprove the conditional 
use permit application. 

9-5-607 Conditional use permits: Issuance. 
Immediately following the Planning Commission approval of a conditional use permit 
application, the Secretary of the Planning Commission shall cause a formal conditional use 
permit to be issued to the applicant. 

9-5-608 Conditional use permits: Effective date. 
The conditional use permit shall become effective on the eleventh calendar day after the date of 
approval, unless appealed on or before the tenth day. 

9-5-609 Conditional use permits: Time limits for development of property and uses. 
The Planning Commission may establish a time limit for development of the subject property 
and use. The time limit set by the Planning Commission shall be reasonable, based upon the 
size and nature of the proposed development. Such time limit may be extended by the Planning 
Commission for good cause when the applicant presents proof of an unusual condition not of 
his own making. 

9-5-610 Conditional use permits. Expiration. 
If no specific time is specified, any permit granted by the Planning Commission or Council shall 
become null and void within one year after the effective date of such permit. The permits shall 
not become null and void if: 

(a) The use has commenced; or 

(b) A building permit has been issued for the project by the Building Inspector and construction 
has begun with continuous progress toward completion maintained; or 

(c) A certificate of occupancy has been issued by the Building Inspector for the use or structure. 

9-5-611 Conditional use permits: Renewal. 
If an application for renewal is filed prior to expiration, a conditional use permit may be renewed 
for an additional one year period. The acting agency may grant or deny an application for 
renewal in the same manner as set forth for the original application. 

9-5-612 Conditional use permits: New applications. 
Following the denial or revocation of a conditional use permit, an application for the same, or 
similar use on the same site, shall not be accepted for submittal to the Planning Commission 
within a one year period after the date of denial or revocation. 

9-5-613 Variances: Authorized. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-504


The Planning Commission shall have the authority to investigate and hear an application for 
variance from the provisions of this  article when a practical difficulty, unnecessary hardship or 
inconsistent result is alleged due to the strict and literal interpretation of this  article. Upon 
hearing the application, the Planning Commission may grant, conditionally grant or deny the 
following applications for variance: 

(a) To vary any of the requirements of this  article in the case of a parcel which is exceptionally 
narrow, shallow, of unusual shape, unusual topographic conditions or due to other exceptional 
existing conditions that limit the practical use of the parcel; and 

(b) To permit modifications of the requirements of this  article for the practical use of a parcel 
where a legal nonconforming use or structure exists. 

9-5-614 Variances: Applications. 
Completed applications and filing fees for a variance shall be submitted to the Secretary of the 
Commission. 

9-5-615 Variances: Applications: Hearings. 
Upon receipt of a completed variance application, the Secretary of the Planning Commission 
shall set a hearing in the manner prescribed by law. 

9-5-616 Variances: Granting. 
All actions of the Planning Commission relating to findings and recommendations shall be in 
accordance with the provisions of this  article. The Planning Commission shall grant, or 
conditionally grant, the requested variance upon determining at the public hearing, that the 
following findings are established beyond reasonable doubt: 

(a) That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applying to the 
property or the intended use, which do not apply to other properties or uses in the same district; 

(b) That, due to these exceptional or extraordinary circumstances, the literal enforcement of the 
provisions of this  article  would result in a practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship; 

(c) That a variance is necessary for the preservation of a substantial property right possessed 
by other properties in the same district; 

(d) That the granting of a variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare, 
injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity or district where the property is located; 

(e) That granting a variance will not constitute a special privilege inconsistent with the limitations 
on other properties classified in the same zoning district; and 

(f) That granting a variance will be in harmony with the general purpose and intent of the 
provisions of this  article and the General Plan. 

9-5-617 Variances: Granting: Conditions. 
(a) Imposition of conditions. In granting a variance, the Planning Commission may require 
that the use conform to the site plan, architectural drawings, or statements submitted in support 
of the application as necessary to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare and 
secure the objectives of this  article and the General Plan. The Commission may also impose 
other conditions necessary to achieve such purposes as: 

(1) Special yards, open spaces, and buffers; 



(2) Fences and walls; 

(3) The provision and surfacing of parking areas; 

(4) Street dedications and improvements, including the provision of service roads or alleys 
where practical and necessary; 

(5) The regulation of vehicular ingress, egress and circulation; 

(6) The regulation of signs; 

(7) The provision and maintenance of landscaping; 

(8) Maintenance of grounds; 

(9) The control of noise, vibration, odors 

(10) Limits on the time for conducting certain activities; 

(11) The time period within which the proposed use shall be developed; and 

(12) Any other conditions that will promote the development of the City in an orderly and 
efficient manner and in conformity with the intent and purposes set forth in this  article and 
the General Plan. 

(b) Guarantees of compliance with conditions. The Planning Commission may require 
reasonable guarantees that these conditions will be complied with. 

9-5-618 Variances: Denial. 
If, because of the size or character of the site, its location, or its relationship to adjoining parcels 
and uses, the Planning Commission is unable to make the findings set forth in Section 9-5-616, 
the Planning Commission shall disapprove the granting of the variance. 

9-5-619 Variances: Granting or denial: Transmittal of resolution. 
In addition to the requirements of this  article, a copy of the resolution granting or denying the 
variance shall be filed with the City Clerk, and a copy shall be sent to the Building Inspector by 
the Secretary of the Planning Commission. 

9-5-620 Variances: Issuance. 
Immediately following the approval of a variance application, the Secretary of the Planning 
Commission shall cause a certificate of variance to be issued to the applicant. 

9-5-621 Variances: Effective date. 
The variance shall become effective on the eleventh day after the copy of the resolution 
granting the variance is filed with the City Clerk, unless appealed on or before the tenth day. 

9-5-622 Variances: Time limits for development of property and uses. 
The Planning Commission may establish a time limit for development of the subject property 
and use. The time limit set by the Planning Commission shall be reasonable, based upon the 
size and nature of the proposed development. Such time limit may be extended by the Planning 
Commission for good cause when the applicant presents proof of unusual conditions not of his 
own making. 

9-5-623 Variances: Expiration. 



If no time limit is specified, the granted variance shall become null and void within 180 days 
following the effective date unless: 

(a) The use has commenced; or 

(b) A building permit has been issued for the project by the Building Inspector and construction 
has begun toward completion with continuous progress maintained; or 

(c) A certificate of occupancy has been issued by the Building Inspector for the use or structure. 

9-5-624 Variances: Renewal. 
If an application for renewal is filed prior to the expiration, a variance may be renewed for an 
additional period of 180 days. The Planning Commission may grant or deny an application for 
the renewal of a variance. 

9-5-625 Variances: New applications. 
Following the denial or revocation of a variance, an application for the same, or similar request 
on the site, shall not be filed within one year from the date of denial or revocation of a variance. 

Article 7. Prezoning and Annexation 

9-5-701 Prezoning of unincorporated land. 
(a) The City may prezone unincorporated territory adjoining the City limits for the purpose of 
establishing the zoning district which will apply in the event of subsequent annexation to the 
City. 

(b) The method and procedure for establishing such prezones shall be in accordance with TMC 
9-5-700ART (Prezoning and Annexation) for the establishment of zoning districts and 
reclassification of land within the City. 

(c) Unincorporated territory which has been prezoned shall carry a “P” prefix before the zone 
classification and shall be so designated on the official zoning map of the City. 

(d) The zone classification established through the prezoning procedure shall become effective 
and enforceable at the time annexation of the territory to the City becomes effective. At this 
time, the “P” prefix shall be deemed automatically removed from the zone classification. 

9-5-702 Prezoning: Purpose. 
The purposes of prezoning territory prior to annexation into the City are: 

(a) To promote the orderly development and expansion to the boundaries of the City of Turlock; 
and 

(b) To protect, preserve and promote the quality of life in the City by establishing control over 
the quality, distribution and rate of growth in the City of Turlock. 

9-5-703 Prezoning: Exceptions. 
The standards established and the process contained in this  article shall not be applicable to 
the following types of annexation proposals to the City of Turlock: 

(a) Publicly owned lands and/or facilities; 

(b) Lands within unincorporated portions of Stanislaus County which are totally bounded by the 
Turlock corporate limits (unincorporated islands); 



(c) Annexations initiated by the Turlock City Council. 

9-5-704 Prezoning and annexation: Applications: Hearings. 
Applications for prezoning and annexation of territory to the City of Turlock shall be submitted to 
the Secretary of the Planning Commission for evaluation. At the time the application is deemed 
complete, a date of hearing shall be set in the manner prescribed by law and in accordance with 
Article 1 of this chapter. 

9-5-705 Prezoning and annexation: Findings. 
Each application submitted to the City of Turlock proposing prezoning and annexation of 
unincorporated territory shall be reviewed pursuant to the following application criteria: 

(a) Orderly and contiguous development. 

(1) Is the territory proposed for annexation adjacent to existing urban limits of Turlock? 

(2) Is the territory located within the primary sphere of influence area of the City of Turlock? 
A single parcel in which more than fifty (50%) percent of the land area is located within the 
primary sphere of influence shall be considered to be located within the primary sphere. 

(3) Is the development proposed for the unincorporated territory consistent with the land use 
designations contained within the Turlock Area General Plan? 

(b) Educational facilities. Has the proposed residential development fully mitigated all potential 
impacts to the Turlock School Districts? 

(c) Parks and recreation facilities. Does the proposal include full mitigation of impacts on 
parks and recreation needs by either land dedication and development or by payment of in lieu 
development fees at a standard consistent with the Turlock General Plan? 

(d) Public safety facilities. Does the proposal include full mitigation of impacts to police and 
fire services including analysis of emergency (CODE I) response times or other innovative 
techniques? 

(e) Public infrastructure facilities. 

(1) Does the proposal include full mitigation of impacts to needed public infrastructure both 
on-site and along the project frontage which serve the proposed development without the 
need for the City to provide supplemental facilities? 

(2) Does the proposal have the capability to fully mitigate the impacts associated with its 
development through the payment of applicable Capital Facility Fees? 

(3) Does the proposal include full mitigation that will not worsen the LOS (Level of Service) 
at any intersection or along any roadway serving or affected by the project (computed for 
weekday peak hour at full buildout/occupancy) to an unacceptable level? 

9-5-706 Prezoning and annexation: Consideration of territory within secondary sphere of 
influence. 
If the territory proposed for annexation does not meet the above standard regarding location 
within the primary sphere of influence, the applicant has the opportunity to apply for an 
amendment to the primary sphere of influence line. In considering requests to amend the 
primary sphere of influence line, the City of Turlock shall be guided by the following standards: 



(a) The inventory of available land located within the primary area of influence that has not 
received prezone approval and/or been annexed to the City is less than 500 acres. 

(b) The Turlock City Council, upon recommendation from the Planning Commission, adopts 
findings that a particular request for an amendment to the primary sphere of influence line is 
necessary for the protection of the public welfare; the enhancement of the community; and is 
consistent with and furthers the goals and policies of the Turlock Area General Plan. 

9-5-707 Prezoning and annexation: Denial. 
If the proposed prezone and annexation application does not meet all of the findings referenced 
above, the application shall be considered premature and shall be denied. 

9-5-708 Prezoning and annexation: Development agreement requirements. 
A development agreement may be required for consideration in conjunction with the review of a 
prezone and annexation proposal when determined appropriate by the City. The application 
process for a development agreement shall be as specified in Article 9 of this chapter: 
Development Agreements, and shall include the payment of processing fees as established by 
City Council resolution which may be amended from time to time. 

9-5-709 Prezoning and annexation: Area-wide planning required. 
It is the policy of the City of Turlock (Turlock General Plan and Resolution 99-021 as amended 
from time to time), subject to certain exceptions, that all annexations of land to the City shall be 
accompanied by an appropriate area-wide plan. This requirement shall be accomplished by 
either the preparation of a Specific Plan as set forth in Government Code Section 65450 et seq. 
or by the preparation of a Master Plan as described below. A Master Plan shall be adopted by 
the procedure set forth in TMC 9-5-700ART (Prezoning and Annexation). 

(a) Master Plan content. A Master Plan shall address and describe the following, as applicable: 

(1) Location and boundaries of the Master Plan area; 

(2) Proposed uses of land, including proposed densities and/or intensities, design and 
development standards; 

(3) Proposed prezoning of property, which shall become the zoning upon the effective date 
of the annexation (or rezoning in the case of any property already in the City); 

(4) Proposed location and development standards of major streets and roads (public and 
private), including traffic control devices needed to maintain the City’s established level of 
service standards; 

(5) Proposed location and description of public infrastructure, facilities and utilities needed to 
support the development of the Master Plan area; 

(6) Proposed location of any parks and other public open space; 

(7) Proposed location of any public schools; 

(8) Identification of the means and methods of financing public improvements, including 
those funded through the City’s development impact fee program and/or any supplemental 
development impact fee needed to fund needed facilities not included in the City’s 
development impact fee program; 



(9) Phasing plan or program (if any), including its relationship to public infrastructure, 
facilities and utilities, and to any policies affecting the rate and/or timing of growth and 
development of the City; 

(10) Mitigation measures identified in the environmental review process that are needed to 
reduce and/or eliminate environmental impacts; 

(11) Discussion of the consistency of the proposed Master Plan with the Turlock General 
Plan, including the Housing Element (where applicable); and 

(12) Any other such matters or issues that that could affect the orderly development of the 
Master Plan area. 

(b) Master Plan development standards and review processes. Unless otherwise specified 
in the adopted Master Plan, all development in the Master Plan area shall be subject to the 
applicable review and approval processes and design and development standards of the zoning 
regulations of this Code. Subject to a Minor Discretionary Permit, the Community Development 
Director may approve minor modifications, exceptions and waivers to the zoning regulations of 
this Code to allow for orderly development in the Master Plan area. Modifications or changes 
considered major (e.g. significant changes in land use/zoning, circulation or public facilities, etc.) 
may be considered subject to the process and procedures for amending the Code including 
rezoning (TMC 9-5-112 et seq.). 

(c) Master Plan funding. A Master Plan may be initiated and prepared by property owners 
and/or developers in consultation with the City of Turlock or by the City of Turlock at its 
discretion. When the preparation of a Master Plan is privately initiated, the applicant shall pay all 
costs associated with the preparation of the Master Plan. The applicant shall submit the draft 
Master Plan to the Community Development Department for review and pay a processing fee as 
established by council resolution, as amended from time to time. When the preparation of a 
Master Plan is initiated and funded by the City of Turlock, the City shall be fully reimbursed for 
the cost of preparing the Master Plan. The collection of a Master Plan reimbursement fee shall 
occur in conjunction with either the issuance of a building permit and/or final subdivision map, 
as established in conjunction with the approval of the Master Plan. By written agreement with 
the City, the cost of preparing a Master Plan may be shared between the City and private 
parties. 

Article 8. Historic Site Contracts 

9-5-801 Specific purpose. 
The provisions and regulations for Historic Site Contracts are hereby established for the 
following purposes: 

(a) For the protection, enhancement, and use of places, sites, buildings, and structures having 
special historic, architectural, and cultural interest and value; 

(b) To impose appropriate and reasonable controls on the appearance and use of these places, 
sites, buildings, and structures for preserving their character and economic value to the City and 
its citizens; 

(c) For the proper use of places, sites, buildings, and structures that are desirable to the 
community but require special considerations because of their age, structural nature, or threats 
from modernization which could have a negative effect on their unique and important character 
and economic value; 



(d) For the protection of substantial public investments in conservation, recreation, aesthetics 
and the general public health, safety, and welfare; and 

(e) For the enhancement of tourism and the economy of the City by protecting and preserving 
places having special and unique character and interest. 

9-5-802 Historical site contract. 
(a) Application. Upon submittal of an application, the Development Services Director may 
authorize a Historical Site Contract for places, sites, properties, buildings, structures, and signs 
found to be qualified as historical buildings or structures. Applications shall be submitted and 
reviewed pursuant to the minor discretionary permit process as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART 
(Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits) including payment of all applicable 
processing fees. 

(b) Findings. In reviewing an application for a Historic Site Contract, the Development Services 
Director shall consider the following criteria and include those applicable as findings of fact to 
any approval: 

(1) The property, place, site, building, structure, or use has special local historical, 
architectural, archaeological, or cultural interest that embodies the character and history of 
the City of Turlock; 

(2) The unique character and history of the City of Turlock reflected in the property, place, 
site, building, structure or use should be preserved as living parts of the community; 

(3) The property, place, site, building, structure or use is facing increasing pressures of 
modernization and may be threatened with demolition or decay; 

(4) The request represents an area of special natural beauty, aesthetic interest, or entryway 
corridors, which would enhance the economy of the City by creating market draws or tourist 
attractions; 

(5) The property is listed on the National Register of Historic Places or any state or county 
official register of historical or architecturally significant sites, places, or landmarks or should 
be and by this action is listed on the City of Turlock register of historically or architecturally 
significant sites, places, or landmarks. 

(c) Terms of the contract. 

(1) The use of the property may be restricted in a manner deemed reasonable to carry out 
the purpose of this article. 

(2) The term of the contract shall be for a minimum period of ten (10) years. 

(3) Where applicable, the contract shall provide for the following: 

(i) The preservation of qualified historical property and, the restoration and rehabilitation 
of the property to conform to the rules and regulations of the California Office of Historic 
Preservation  , the United States Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, 
and the State Historical Building Code. 

(ii) The periodic examination of the interior and exterior of the premises by the assessor, 
the  California Office of Historic Preservation, and the State Board of Equalization as 
necessary to determine the owner’s compliance with the contract. 



(4) The owner or agent of an owner shall provide written notice of the contract to the Office 
of Historic Preservation within six (6) months of entering into the contract. 

(5) Unless a notice of non-renewal has been issued by the City or the owner, a one (1) year 
renewal period shall be added to the term of the contract on each anniversary date of the 
execution of the contract. 

(6) If the City or the owner desires not to renew the contract, a written notice of non-renewal 
shall be issued at least ninety (90) days prior to the renewal date by the owner or at least 
sixty (60) days prior to the renewal date by the City. 

(7) Upon receipt of a notice of non-renewal from the City, an owner may submit a written 
protest of the proposed non-renewal. The City may then withdraw the notice of non-renewal 
at any time prior to the renewal date. 

(8) If either the City or the owner serves a notice of non-renewal, the contract shall remain in 
effect for the balance of the contract term. 

(9) The owner shall furnish the City with any information necessary to determine the 
eligibility of the property involved. 

(10) Within twenty (20) days after the execution of a contract, the Secretary of the Planning 
Commission shall record a copy of the contract with the county recorder. 

(d) Finding to protect public safety and welfare. In authorizing a Historic Site Contract, the 
Development Services Director must find that the granting of the contract, or the authorization of 
the Chief Building Official to use the State Historic Building Code, will not be detrimental to the 
public safety and welfare. 

9-5-803 Qualified historical building or structure. 
For the purpose of this section, pursuant to California Government Code Section 18955 of the 
Health and Safety Code, a qualified historical building or structure is any structure, collection of 
structures, and their associated sites deemed of importance to the history, architecture, or 
culture of an area by an appropriate local or state governmental jurisdiction. This shall include 
structures on existing or future national, state or local historical registers or official inventories, 
such as the National Register of Historic Places, State Historical Landmarks, State Points of 
Historical Interest, and city or county registers or inventories of historical or architecturally 
significant sites, places, historic districts, or landmarks. 

9-5-804 Use of the state historic building code. 
Repairs, alterations and additions necessary for the preservation, restoration, rehabilitation or 
continued use of a building or structure may be made as required by the State Historic Building 
Code, when authorized by the building official, provided that: 

(a) Any unsafe or substandard conditions will be corrected in accordance with approved plans; 

(b) The restored building or structure will be less hazardous, based on life and fire risk, than the 
existing building. 

9-5-805 Demolition. 
No building or structure, or portion thereof, for which a Historic Site Contract has been entered 
into, shall be removed, relocated, demolished or structurally altered without prior approval from 
the Development Services Director in the form of a minor administrative approval as set forth in 



TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor  
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 

9-5-806 Cancellation. 
The City may cancel a contract if it determines that the owner has breached any of the 
conditions of the contract or has allowed the property to deteriorate to the point that it no longer 
meets the standards for a qualified historical property. The City may also cancel a contract if it 
determines that the owner has failed to restore or rehabilitate the property in the manner 
specified in the contract. 

Article 9. Development Agreements 

9-5-901 Short title. 
This article may be referred to as the “Development Agreement Law of the City of Turlock.”  

9-5-902 Authority and purpose. 
This article is adopted pursuant to the provisions of Sections 65864 through 65869.5 of the 
California Government Code. The purpose of adopting this article is to establish procedures and 
requirements for the consideration of development agreements in conjunction with specific 
development plans. 

9-5-903 Forms and information. 
(a) The Development Services Department shall prescribe the form for each application, notice, 
and document provided for or required by this article for the preparation and implementation of 
development agreements. 

(b) The Development Services Department may require an applicant to submit such information 
and supporting data as necessary to process the application. 

9-5-904 Qualifications of applicants. 
(a) Only a qualified applicant may file an application to enter into a development agreement. A 
qualified applicant is a person who has legal or equitable interest in the real property which is 
the subject of the development agreement, and an applicant includes an authorized agent. 

(b) The Development Services Director may require an applicant to submit proof of his or her 
legal or equitable interest in the real property and of the authority of the agent to act for the 
applicant. Before processing the application, the Development Services Director may obtain the 
opinion of the City Attorney as to the sufficiency of the applicant’s interest in the real property to 
enter into the agreement. The Development Services Director may require the applicant to 
submit a preliminary title report. 

9-5-905 Form of development agreement. 
Each application to enter into a development agreement shall be accompanied by the form of 
standard development agreement established by the City and approved by the City Council with 
such additional alternatives or modifications or changes as may be proposed by the applicant. 
Such alterations or modifications or changes as proposed by the applicant are not binding on 
the City and may or may not be approved for inclusion by the City Council. 

9-5-906 Duty to give notice. 
The Development Services Department shall give notice of the City’s intention to consider the 
adoption of a development agreement in conjunction with any other public hearing required by 
State law or this article at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing date. 



(a) Form of notice. The form of the notice of intention to consider the adoption of a 
development agreement shall contain: 

(1) The time and place of the hearing; 

(2) A general explanation of the matter under consideration, including a general description 
of the area; and 

(3) Other information required by specific provisions of this article or which the Development 
Services Department considers necessary or desirable. 

(b) Time and manner of notice. The time and manner of giving notice shall be by both: 

(1) Publication. Publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation published and 
circulated in the City; and 

(2) Mailing. Mailing of the notice to all persons shown on the last equalized assessment roll 
as owning real property, as per TMC 9-5-120, which is the subject of the proposed 
development agreement. 

9-5-907 Contents of development agreements. 
(a) A development agreement shall specify the duration of the agreement, the permitted uses of 
the property, the density or intensity of use, the maximum height and size of proposed buildings, 
and provisions for reservation or dedication of land for public purposes. 

(b) The development agreement may also include conditions, terms, restrictions, and 
requirements for subsequent or concurrent discretionary actions applicable to the project; 
provided that such conditions, terms, restrictions, and requirements shall not prevent 
development of the land for the uses and to the density or intensity of development set forth in 
the agreement. 

(c) The agreement may provide that construction shall commence within a specified time and 
that the project or any phase thereof be completed within a specified time. 

(d) The agreement may also include terms and conditions relating to applicant financing of 
necessary public facilities and subsequent reimbursement over time. 

9-5-908 Determinations by the Planning Commission. 
After the hearing held by the Planning Commission, which may be held in conjunction with other 
required hearings for the project, the Planning Commission shall make its recommendation in 
writing to the City Council. The recommendation shall include findings on the Planning 
Commission’s determination whether or not the proposed development agreement: 

(a) Is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses, and programs specified in the 
General Plan and any applicable Specific Plan; 

(b) Is compatible with the uses authorized in, and the regulations prescribed for, the land use 
district in which the real property is located; 

(c) Is in conformity with the public convenience and general welfare and good land use 
practices; 

(d) Will be detrimental to the health, safety, and general welfare; 



(e) Will adversely affect the orderly development of property or the preservation of property 
values; and 

(f) Will provide sufficient benefit to the City to justify entering into the agreement. 

9-5-909 Council hearings. 
(a) Following notice pursuant to TMC 9-5-906, the City Council shall hold a public hearing. The 
City Council may accept, modify, or disapprove the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission. The City Council shall not approve the development agreement unless the City 
Council adopts findings to support its action as referenced in TMC 9-5-908. 

(b) If the City Council approves the development agreement, it shall do so by the adoption of an 
ordinance as required by Government Code Section 65867.5. After the ordinance approving the 
development agreement takes effect, the City may enter into and execute the agreement. 

9-5-910 Initiation of amendments or cancellation. 
Either party may propose an amendment to or the cancellation, in whole or in part, of a 
development agreement previously entered into. If proposed by a developer, the procedure for 
proposing and the adoption of an amendment to or cancellation, in whole or in part, of the 
development agreement shall follow the same procedures required for entering into the 
development agreement (Government Code Section 65868). However, where the City initiates a 
proposed amendment or cancellation of the development agreement, the City shall provide 
thirty (30) days advance notice to the property owner of the intention to initiate proceedings. 

9-5-911 Recordation of agreements, amendments, or cancellation. 
(a) Within ten (10) days after the City enters into the development agreement, the City Clerk 
shall record the agreement with the County Recorder. 

(b) If the parties to the agreement, or their successors in interest, amend or cancel the 
agreement as provided in Section 65868 of the California Government Code, or if the City 
terminates or modifies the agreement as provided in Section 65865.1 of the Government Code 
for the failure of the applicant to comply in good faith with the terms or conditions of the 
agreement, the City Clerk shall also record notice of such action with the County Recorder. 

9-5-912 Review of agreements. 
The Development Services Department shall review the development agreement every twelve 
(12) months after the date the agreement is entered into, until the project is fully implemented. 
After full project implementation, the City shall review the development agreement as often and 
in the manner as may be specified within the terms of each specific development agreement. 

(a) The Development Services Department shall begin the review proceeding by giving notice to 
the property owner that the City intends to undertake a periodic review of the implementation of 
the development agreement. The Department shall give thirty (30) days advance notice of the 
time when the matter will be considered by the Planning Commission and City Council. 

(b) The Planning Commission and City Council shall conduct a public hearing at which the 
property owner shall demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of the agreement. The 
burden of proof on such issue shall be upon the property owner. Notice of the hearing shall be 
given in conformance with TMC 9-5-118 et.seq. 

(c) The City Council, upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission, shall determine 
whether or not the property owner, for the period under review, has complied in good faith with 
the terms and conditions of the agreement. 



(d) If the City Council finds and determines that the property owner has complied in good faith 
with the terms and conditions of the agreement during the period under review, the review shall 
be concluded. If the City Council finds and determines that the property owner has not complied 
in good faith with the terms and conditions of the agreement during the period under review, the 
City Council shall order the property owner to cure the default within sixty (60) days. If the 
property owner fails to do so, the City Council may modify or terminate the agreement. 

Article 10. Design Review 

9-5-1001 Purpose. 
The purposes for establishing design review are as follows: 

(a) Effective implementation of the objectives and goals in the General Plan. 

(b) Standards and policies to promote and enhance quality architectural design, good site 
planning and the preservation of property values throughout the City. 

(c) Enhancement of the orderly and harmonious appearance of new development. 

(d) To compliment the mandatory property development regulations contained in Title 9 of this 
Code by providing good examples of potential design solutions and by providing design 
interpretations of the various mandatory regulations. 

(e) Maintenance of the public health, safety, general welfare and property throughout the City by 
avoiding and preventing possible deterioration in the form of: 

(1) The appearance of open spaces, buildings and related structures visible from public 
streets having a substantial effect on property values and the taxable value of property in 
the City. 

(2) Poor planning, neglect of proper design standards, and the construction of buildings and 
structures unsuitable and incompatible with the character of the neighborhood. 

(f) To protect the general health, welfare and safety of the residents of the City. 

9-5-1002 Applicability. 
Design guidelines are advisory for permitted uses. However, the design guidelines should be 
incorporated as applicable in all development subject to a Minor Administrative Permit, Minor 
Discretionary Permit, Conditional Use Permit or planned development proposal, to encourage 
the highest level of design quality while at the same time providing the flexibility necessary to 
encourage creativity on the part of project designers. Exceptions include: single-family 
residences on in-fill sites, interior remodels, or interior tenant improvements. 

9-5-1003 Findings. 
Upon receipt of an application, the Development Services Director or designee shall review the 
proposed project and determine the project adequately meets the following findings: 

(a) The design and layout of the proposed project will not unreasonably interfere with the use 
and enjoyment of neighboring existing or future development, will not result in vehicular and/or 
pedestrian hazards and provides a desirable environment for occupants, visitors and neighbors. 

(b) The architectural design of the proposed project is compatible with the character of the 
surrounding neighborhood and will implement the General Plan by insuring harmonious, orderly 
and attractive development. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9


Article 11. Enforcement 

9-5-1101 Purpose. 
Enforcement of the provisions of this code shall be diligently pursued in order to provide for their 
effective administration, to ensure compliance with any conditions of approval, to promote the 
City’ s planning efforts and for the protection of the public health, safety and welfare of the City. 

9-5-1102 Permits, licenses, certificates, and approvals. 
All persons empowered with the authority to issue permits, licenses, certificates, or other 
approvals, shall comply with the provisions of this title and grant no permit, license, certificate, 
or approval in conflict with these provisions. Any permit, license, certificate, or approval granted 
in conflict with any provision of this title shall be void. 

9-5-1103 Violation. 
It shall be unlawful to violate or fail to perform any condition, requirement or restriction placed on 
any permit, Planned Development zone, variance or other similar action. 

9-5-1104 Enforcement. 
It shall be the duty of the Neighborhood Preservation Officer, the Chief of Police, and the 
Development Services Director to enforce the provisions of this title. In addition to all other 
actions and/or remedies provided by this Code, any violation of this title shall be deemed a 
nuisance and enforcement proceedings shall be pursuant to Article 3 of Chapter 5-5 (Nuisance 
Abatement Procedures), Article 1 of Chapter 4-16 (Cost Recovery), and/or Article 1 of Chapter 
2-11 (Administrative Citations). 

 SECTION 7.  VALIDITY:  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase 
of this ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid for any reason, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.  The Turlock City Council hereby 
declares that they would have passed this ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, word, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that one or more section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, word, or phrase be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
 SECTION 8.  ENACTMENT:  Prior to the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the 
passage and adoption thereof, this ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 
circulation printed and published in the County of Stanislaus, State of California, together with 
names of the members of the City Council voting for and against the same. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock055.html#5-5


 SECTION 7.  VALIDITY:  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or 
phrase of this ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid for any 
reason, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.  
The Turlock City Council hereby declares that they would have passed this ordinance, 
and each section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase thereof, irrespective of 
the fact that one or more section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase be 
declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 

 SECTION 8.  ENACTMENT:  Prior to the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the 

passage and adoption thereof, this ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation printed and published in the County of Stanislaus, State of California, together with 

names of the members of the City Council voting for and against the same. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Turlock 

this 28th day of April, 2015, by the following vote: 

 

AYES:     

NOES:  

NOT PARTICIPATING:  

ABSENT:  

 

Signed and approved this 28th day of April, 2015. 

 

 __________________________ 

 Gary Soiseth, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kellie E. Weaver, City Clerk, 

City of Turlock, County of Stanislaus,  

State of California 

 















SECTION 2. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 1, is hereby added to read as follows: 
 

Chapter 9-1 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Sections: 

Article 1. Establishment of General Provisions 
 

9-1-101 Title of provisions 

9-1-102 Adoption 

9-1-103 Purpose 

9-1-104 Applicability to private and public propert 

9-1-105 Minimum requirement 

 9-1-106 Rules for interpretation of language. 

9-1-107 Applicability and effect of prior permits. 

9-1-108 Conflict with other regulations. 

9-1-109 Relation to private agreements or restrictions. 

9-1-110 Applicability of land use and development regulations. 

9-1-111 Rules for interpretation. 

9-1-112 Application of zoning regulations during local emergency. 

9-1-113 Severability. 

 

Article 2. Establishment of Definitions 
 

9-1-201 Semantic rules of construction. 
 
9-1-202 Definitions. 
 

Article 1. Establishment of General Provisions 
 

9-1-101 Title of provisions. 
This chapter of the Turlock Municipal Code may be known and cited as the “Turlock Zoning 
Regulations” or “Zoning Regulations.” 
 
9-1-102 Adoption. 
There is hereby adopted, as provided herein, Zoning Regulations for the City. The Regulations 
are intended to be a precise and detailed plan for the use of land based on the General Plan of 
the City and to be consistent with the General Plan of the City. 
 
9-1-103 Purpose.  
The purpose of the Zoning Regulations is to promote the public health, safety, comfort, 
convenience, and general welfare of the people of Turlock. Specifically, these Zoning 
Regulations intend to achieve the following purposes: 
 



(a) To implement the policies of the Turlock General Plan; 
 
(b) To advance Turlock’s position as a regional center of commerce, industry and housing; 
 
(c) To promote and provide for the orderly growth and productivity of Turlock’s economy; 
 
(d) To protect agricultural, residential, commercial, industrial, public and institutional areas and 
environmentally sensitive areas from the intrusion of incompatible land uses; 
 
(e) To provide for desirable, appropriately located living areas in a variety of dwelling types and 
at a wide range of population densities, with adequate provisions for sunlight, fresh air, privacy, 
usable open space, and safety; 
 
(f) To encourage the provision of affordable housing, particularly to lower income households; 
 
(g) To achieve excellence in site and building design in all future and existing developments; 
 
(h) To provide adequate off-street parking and loading facilities, and to promote a safe, effective 
traffic circulation system; 
 
(i) To ensure that service demands of new development do not exceed the capacities of existing 
streets, utilities, or public services; 
 
(j) To assure equality among individuals in the use and enjoyment of their property; 
 
(k) To guide and encourage the renewal of areas experiencing blight, deterioration and 
obsolescence, while protecting and preserving Turlock’s cultural heritage; 
 
(l) To stabilize expectations regarding development entitlements and uses, thereby providing a 
basis for rational private and public land use decisions; 
 
(m) To minimize the process necessary to obtain rights to develop and use property; 
 
(n) To provide opportunities for businesses to be located for efficient operation in a mutually 
beneficial relationship to each other and to shared services; 
 
(o) To prevent any substantial risk to public health, safety and welfare from the use of a land or 
location of a building, or to be a nuisance to or adversely affect adjacent properties or uses. 
 
9-1-104 Applicability to private and public property. 
Zoning Regulations shall apply to all land within the City of Turlock, including land owned by the 
City of Turlock and other local, state, or federal agencies, where applicable. Application of 
regulations to specific lots shall be governed by the zoning map. 
 
9-1-105 Minimum requirements. 
The Zoning Regulations shall be deemed the minimum requirements to promote and preserve 
the public health, safety, and general welfare of the people, unless otherwise noted. 
 
9-1-106 Rules for interpretation of language. 
The following rules of construction shall apply: 
 



(a) Unless the context clearly indicates the contrary, the following conjunctions shall be 
interpreted as follows: 
 

(1) “And” indicates that all connected words or provisions shall apply. 
 
(2) “Or” indicates that the connected words or provisions may apply singularly or in any 
combination. 
 
(3) “Either...or” indicates that the connected words or provisions shall apply singly but not in 
combination. 
 
(4) “Shall,” “must” and “will” signify requirements to be met without exception under all 
relevant circumstances. 
 
(5) “Should” signifies the City’s desire and expectation that the principle will be met in most 
cases, but recognizes that some circumstances may make implementation impossible or 
unwise. The applicant may be required to demonstrate to the City the reason for not 
implementing principles with this wording. 
 
(6) “May” signifies that the principle establishes guidance for actions that are at the 
discretion of the applicant or public agency. 
 

(b) In case of conflict between the text and a diagram, the text shall control. 
 
(c) All references to departments, commissions, boards, or other public agencies are to those of 
the City of Turlock, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
(d) All references to public officials are to those of the City of Turlock and include designated 
deputies of such officials, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
(e) All references to days are to calendar days unless otherwise indicated. If a deadline falls on 
a weekend, a holiday, or some other day when Turlock City Hall is not open for normal 
business, it shall be extended to the next full working day. 
 
(f) Article, division and section headings contained herein shall not be deemed to govern, limit, 
modify or in any manner affect the scope, meaning or intent of any section hereof. 
 
(g) The words “activities” and “facilities” include any part thereof. 
 
9-1-107 Applicability and effect of prior permits. 
(a) The provisions of this  title shall apply to the erection or alteration of any building or 
structure, or to the use of any parcel of land, as of the effective date of the ordinance codified in 
this title and any subsequently adopted ordinance amending this  title, unless a building permit 
has been lawfully issued by the City for the construction of a project. In that case, the project 
may be completed under the provisions of this  title as they existed at the time of issuance of the 
building permit; provided, that construction under the permit commences within the time 
frame(s) specified in TMC 9-5-106 and the permit remains effective and valid under the terms of 
issuance. For the purpose of this subsection, a foundation permit shall be treated as equivalent 
to a building permit but a grading, demolition, electrical, mechanical or plumbing permit shall not 
be considered or treated as a building permit. 
 



(b) No official or employee of the city authorized to issue permits or licenses shall issue such 
permits or licenses which are not in conformity with the provisions of this  title where such 
conformity is required by law. Any permit or license issued in conflict with the provisions of this 
chapter shall be null and void. 
 
(c) Whenever any building or sign permit, conditional use permit, variance, minor administrative 
permit, minor discretionary permit or other such permit approval has been issued prior to the 
effective date of the Zoning Regulations or any amendment thereto and the uses or 
improvements for which the permit was issued would not conform to the regulations or 
amendments, the uses or improvements may, nevertheless, be utilized or developed to the 
extent authorized by the issued permit, provided the permit has not expired under the terms of 
its issuance. The uses and improvements shall be deemed legally nonconforming and shall be 
subject to the provisions of Article 4 of Chapter 2 of this  title governing nonconformities. 
 
9-1-108 Conflict with other regulations. 
Where conflict occurs between the provisions of this title and any other City Codes, ordinances, 
resolutions, guidelines, or regulations, the more restrictive provision shall apply unless 
otherwise specified. 
 
9-1-109 Relation to private agreements or restrictions. 
This chapter shall not be construed to imply that the City enforces, regulates, interferes with or 
annuls any easement, covenant, deed restriction, or other agreement between parties except in 
those instances where the City is a party to the agreement. 
 
9-1-110 Applicability of land use and development regulations. 
(a) Zoning designation system. The districts set forth in this  title and the boundaries of such 
districts are shown upon the map adopted by the council, such map being designated as the 
“Zoning Map.” Such map is made a part of this  title by reference as if the information set forth 
thereon were fully described in this  title. The Council may from time to time republish all or any 
part of the zoning map to incorporate amendments thereto. Land use and development 
regulations applicable to specific sites, shown on the zoning map by zoning designation, shall 
consist of classes of letters and/or numerical designators as follows: 
 

(1) A base land use designator indicating the principal land uses permitted or conditionally 
permitted in each district, shall be a component of all zoning designations. In mixed-use 
districts where a conflict arises between standards of more than one district, the 
Development Services Director shall determine which standards apply. 
 
(2) Overlay district designators shall be included in a zoning designation if the provisions of 
one or more overlay districts are applicable to a site. When a conflict arises between overlay 
district standards and base district standards, the overlay district standards shall apply. 
 

(b) Establishment of land use development standards. The Zoning Regulations shall set 
forth development standards for each zone district including, but not limited to, controlling the 
uses of land, the density of population, the uses and locations of structures, the height and bulk 
of structures, the open spaces about structures, the external appearance of certain uses and 
structures, the areas and dimensions of sites, and requiring the provisions of off street parking, 
off street loading facilities and landscaping. 
 
(c) Use of property and land in established districts. Except as otherwise provided in this 
chapter: 



 
(1) Land, structures, and premises in any district shall be used only for the purposes set 
forth as permitted in that district, in accordance with the regulations established by the 
provisions of this title for that district, and in accordance with the conditions and 
requirements which may have been established for that district in connection with the 
authorization of any variance or the granting of any permit. 
 
(2) No structure shall be erected, reconstructed, relocated, or structurally altered to have a 
greater height, bulk or a higher proportion of parcel coverage than is permissible under the 
limitations set for the district in which the building is located. If the building is already greater 
than the maximum permitted, it shall not be further increased. 
 
(3) Open space, off-street parking space, or loading space shall be provided in accordance 
with the regulations, conditions and requirements established for that district. 
 

9-1-111 Rules for interpretation. 
(a) Zoning regulations. Where uncertainty exists regarding the interpretation of any provisions 
of this title or its application to a specific site, the Community Development Director shall 
determine the intent of the provision. 
 
(b) Zoning map. Where uncertainty exists regarding the boundary of a zoning district, the 
following rules shall apply: 
 

(1) Where boundaries are indicated as following streets or other rights-of-way, the center 
lines of such streets or rights-of-way shall be construed to be such boundaries. 
 
(2) Where boundaries are indicated as approximately following parcel lines, such parcel 
lines shall be construed to be such boundaries. 
 
(3) In the event uncertainty exists or in the case where a district boundary divides a parcel, 
the Planning Commission, upon a written application or upon its own motion, shall 
determine the exact location of such boundaries. 
 

(c) Record of interpretation. The Community Development Director shall keep a record of 
interpretations made pursuant to this title which shall be made available to the public for review. 
 
(d) Appeals. An interpretation of the zoning regulations or zoning map by the Community 
Development Director may be appealed to the Planning Commission. 
 
9-1-112 Application of zoning regulations during local emergency. 
The Turlock City Council may authorize deviations from any provision of this title during a 
proclaimed local emergency in accordance with Title 4 of the Turlock Municipal Code. 
 
9-1-113 Severability. 
If any section, subsection, sentence, or phrase of this title is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining portions of this title shall not 
be affected. It is expressly declared that this title and each section, subsection, sentence, and 
phrase would have been adopted regardless of the fact that one or more other portions of this 
title would be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 

Article 2. Establishment of Definitions 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock04/Turlock04.html#4


 
9-1-201 Semantic rules of construction. 
For the purposes of this title, the following rules shall apply unless inconsistent with the plain 
meaning in the context of the provisions of this title. 
 
(a) Words used in the present tense include the future tense. 
 
(b) Words used in the singular include the plural, and words used in the plural include the 
singular. 
 
(c) The word “used” includes the words “arranged for, designed for, occupied, or intended to be 
occupied for.” 
 
Where a definition is not given or where a question of interpretation is raised, the definition shall 
be the common usage of the word within the context of its use, or as clarified by the Planning 
Commission. 
 
9-1-202 Definitions. 
“Abandoned” shall mean to cease or suspend from developing or maintaining a building or use 
for a stated period of time. 
 
“Abandoned activity” shall mean a business or activity with no reported sales or activity for a 
period of at least one-hundred eighty (180) days. Exceptions are temporary closures for repairs, 
alterations or other similar situations. 
 
“Abut” or “adjoin” shall mean two (2) or more parcels sharing a common boundary of at least 
one (1) point. 
 
“Access” or “access way” shall mean the place, means or way by which pedestrians and 
vehicles shall have safe, adequate and usable ingress and egress to a property or use. 
 
“Accessory buildings and uses” shall mean buildings and uses, both permanent and 
temporary, which are: 
 
(a) Subordinate to and serve a principal building or principal use; 
 
(b) Subordinate in area, extent, or purpose to the principal building or principal use; 
 
(c) Contribute to the comfort, convenience, or necessity of occupants of the principal building or 
principal use; 
 
(d) Located on the same lot as the principal building or use; and 
 
(e) Accessory uses in commercial and industrial businesses shall be limited to twenty (20%) 
percent of the total floor area. 



 
“Acreage, gross” shall mean the entire area of a site calculated to the centerline of planned 
bounding streets and to the edge of the right-of-way of existing or dedicated streets. 
 

 
“Acreage, net” shall mean the area of a parcel of land measured to the property lines less 
streets and/or alleys or those areas proposed or required to be dedicated as streets and/or 
alleys. 
 
“Action” shall mean the decision made by the review authority on a land use application, 
including applicable findings, environmental determination and conditions of approval. 
 
“Adjacent” shall mean situated “next to” and shall include both abutting property and real 
property located across alleys, streets or other public right-of-way. 
 
“Adult use” shall mean a business or location where the main emphasis is on the sale or 
promotion of sexually explicit materials or activities. See TMC 9-2-102, Adult entertainment 
facilities, for further definitions and reference. 
 
“Affordable housing” shall mean housing for which the housing payment is not more than 
thirty (30%) percent of household gross income for a specified housing group. 
 
“Agent of owner” shall mean a person authorized to act for the property owner. 

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-102


 
“Agriculture” or “agricultural use” shall include a range of activities involved in the 
production of food such as the tilling of the soil, the raising of crops, horticulture, viticulture, 
dairying and livestock farming, including all uses customarily incidental thereto; but excluding 
slaughter houses, fertilizer yards, transport businesses for agricultural hauling, bone yards or 
rendering plants for the reduction of animal matter, the cultivation of marijuana, or any other 
industrial use which is similarly objectionable because of noise, odor, smoke, dust, or fumes.  
 
“Airports and landing strips” shall mean runways and related facilities for aircraft, including 
rotary-winged and ultra-light aircraft, take-off and landing. 
 
“Alley” shall mean a public or private right-of-way permanently reserved primarily for vehicular 
service access to the rear or sides of properties otherwise abutting on a street and affording 
only secondary means of access to abutting property. 
 
“Alteration” shall mean any change, addition, or modification in construction or occupancy of 
an existing structure. 
 
“Amendment” shall mean a change in the wording, context or substance of any provision in 
TMC Title 9; or an addition, deletion, or a change in the zone boundaries or classification upon 
the Zoning Map. 
 
Amusement center or arcade. See TMC 4-11-101 et seq. 

 
“Animal boarding” shall mean the provision of shelter and care for small animals on a 
commercial basis. This classification includes activities such as feeding, exercising, grooming, 
and incidental medical care. 

 
“Animal grooming” shall mean the provision of bathing and trimming services for small 
animals on a commercial basis during regular business hours. 

 
“Animal hospitals” shall mean establishments where small animals receive medical and 
surgical treatment. This classification includes only facilities that are entirely enclosed, 
soundproofed, and air conditioned. Grooming and temporary (thirty (30) days or less) boarding 
of animals is included if incidental to the hospital use. 

 
“Animals, retail sales” shall mean retail sales and boarding of small animals, provided such 
activities take place within an entirely enclosed building. This classification includes grooming if 
incidental to the retail use. 
 
“Annexation” shall mean the process of adding territory to the incorporated area of the City 
and simultaneously detaching said territory from Stanislaus County and certain service districts. 
 
“Antenna” shall mean a device for transmitting or receiving radio, television, or any other 
transmitted signal. 
 
“Antique store” shall mean a business whose primary purpose is the sale of objects having 
special value because of their age, especially a domestic item or piece of furniture or handicraft 
esteemed for its artistry, beauty, or period of origin. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock04/Turlock0411.html#4-11-101


“Apartment” shall mean a room or group of rooms in a building rented or leased to a tenant 
and constituting five (5) or more dwelling units. For the purpose of this definition, “building” shall 
mean one (1) or more buildings on one (1) or more contiguous lots or parcels under common 
ownership, and the total contiguous number of dwelling units in all of such buildings shall be 
used to determine the number of dwelling units subject to the requirements of TMC Title 9. (See 
also “dwelling unit, multi-family.”) 
 
“Artist studio” shall mean a place where fine art is created and occasionally displayed, and 
affords the artists a live-work opportunity typically in the downtown area. “Fine art” is art 
concerned with the creation of beautiful objects such as painting and sculpture. 
 
“Attached” shall mean the physical connection of two (2) structures as defined by the 
California Building Code. A building or structure shall be defined as “attached” when there is 
less than six (6’) feet between that building or structure and any other building on the same 
property. 
 
“Auto repair, major” shall mean a place providing a full range of vehicle repair and 
maintenance services which include outside storage, the use of hazardous liquids, open flame 
or welding operations. Hazardous liquids include Class I, II or III-A liquids as defined by the 
California Building Code. 
 
“Auto repair, minor” shall mean a place providing vehicle repair and maintenance limited to 
exchange of parts and maintenance which does not include the activities as defined under “Auto 
repair, major.” Any activity combining minor and major automobile repair shall be defined as 
major automobile repair. 
 
“Auto sales and service” shall mean sale and rental of automobiles, motorcycles, trucks and 
recreational vehicles, including storage and incidental maintenance. 
 
“Automobile service station” shall mean an area which provides for the servicing or fueling of 
motor vehicles, including tube and tire repairs, battery charging, storage of merchandise and 
supplies related to the servicing of motor vehicles, sale of gasoline and other fuel and lubricants, 
motor vehicle washing, grease racks, and motor vehicle repairs, excluding major auto repair and 
other similar activities. This definition includes a convenience gas mart with two (2) or more 
service islands. 
 
“Automobile storage” shall mean lots for the storage of parking tow-away, impound yards, 
and storage lots for automobiles, light duty trucks, buses, and recreational vehicles, but 
excluding commercial vehicles. 
 
“Automobile washing” shall mean washing, waxing, detailing, or cleaning of automobiles or 
similar light vehicles including the use of mechanical automobile washers. 
 
“Awning” shall mean a roof-like cover that is attached to and projects from the wall of a 
building for the purpose of shielding from the elements. 
 
“Balcony” shall mean an open area located either recessed or projected out from the walls of a 
building. Balconies are thirty (30") inches or more above grade and are open to one (1) or more 
sides except for a railing or parapet not more than forty-two (42") inches high. An exterior 
corridor is not a balcony. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9


“Bar” shall mean any premises wherein alcoholic beverages are sold at retail for consumption 
on the premises and where minors are excluded therefrom by law. A bar shall include any 
premises wherein food products, including salads, sandwiches, desserts, and similar short order 
items and snacks, are sold or served incidentally to the sale or service of alcoholic beverages. It 
shall not mean a bona fide “restaurant” wherein alcoholic beverages are sold incidentally to the 
public in conjunction with the sale of food for consumption on the premises. 
 
“Basement” shall mean that portion of a building that is partly or completely below grade. A 
basement shall be counted as a story for purposes of height measurement where any portion of 
a basement has more than one-half (1/2) of its height above grade. 
 
“Berm” shall mean a mound or embankment of earth. 
 
“Block” shall mean a section of land surrounded by public streets, highways, freeways, railroad 
rights-of-way, flood control channels, creeks, washes, rivers or unsubdivided acreage or any 
combination thereof. 
 
“Block face” shall mean the properties abutting on one (1) side of a street and lying between 
the two (2) nearest intersecting streets, or nearest intersecting or intercepting street and railroad 
right-of-way, unsubdivided land or City boundary. 

 
“Buffer area” shall mean a landscaped area intended to separate and partially obstruct the 
view of two (2) adjacent land uses or properties from one another. 

 
“Building” shall mean any structure used or intended for supporting or sheltering any use. 
 



Building, accessory. See “Accessory building.” 
 
“Building and Safety Division” shall mean that agency or department designated by the City 
to process building permits and the related plan check/inspection services. 
 
Building coverage. See “Lot coverage.” 
 
“Building height” shall mean the vertical distance from the finished grade to the highest point 
of the building as measured to the rooftop for flat roofs; to the deck line for mansard roofs; and 
to the top ridge line for gable, hip, and gambrel roofs, exclusive of chimneys and ventilators. 
 

“Building materials & services” shall mean a commercial use that provides materials, such as 
concrete, lumber, stone, sand, clay, insulation, plumbing and the like, which are used for 
construction purposes. 
 
“Building, principal” shall mean a building in which the primary use of the lot on which the 
building is located is conducted. 
 
“Cargo container” shall mean a pre-manufactured metal shipping container or standardized, 
reusable vessel, designed without axle or wheels, that was originally designed and fabricated 
for, or used in, the packing, shipping, movement or transport of freight, articles, goods, or 
commodities from one location to another and that is delivered to a site as a fully assembled 
unit. The term "cargo container" shall not include a storage shed that is assembled at the site or 
a trailer with wheels used in the transport of freight. This term shall only apply to those 
containers that are accessory to the primary use of the property for the storage of directly 
related nonflammable, noncombustible, nonhazardous materials and supplies. If the container is 
proposed to be stored on the site for resale or rental, or to be used as a building material in the 
construction of a building or structure, the district regulations applicable to those uses shall 
apply. 
 
“Catering services” shall mean a business establishment cooking and delivering food to an 
outside location such as a hotel, banquets, weddings, conventions and the like.  This does not 
include mobile food vendors. 
 



“Clubs and lodges” shall mean meeting, recreational, or social facilities of a private or 
nonprofit organization primarily for use by members or guests. This classification includes union 
halls, social clubs and youth centers. 
 
“Commercial recreation and entertainment” shall include theaters, sports stadiums and 
arenas, amusement parks, bowling alleys, billiard parlors, ice/roller skating rinks, miniature golf 
courses, golf driving ranges, model courses, shooting galleries, pinball arcades or electronic 
game centers having two (2) or more coin-operated game machines, card rooms, and facilities 
used exclusively for bingo games. Commercial recreation and entertainment does not include 
adult entertainment facilities. 
 
“Commissary” shall mean a food facility that services mobile food facilities, mobile support 
units, or vending machines where all of the following occur: (a) food, containers, or supplies are 
stored; (b) food is prepared or prepackaged for sale or service at other locations; (c) utensils are 
cleaned; (d) liquid and solid wastes are disposed, or potable water is obtained, pursuant to 
California Health and Safety Code Section 113751. 

 
“Community garden” shall mean a site where any kind of plant, except marijuana, is grown, 
and several individuals or households cultivate the site. Community gardens typically provide a 
service to gardeners that do not live in the immediate neighborhood resulting in the generation 
of vehicular traffic that is not normally associated with residential uses. The site may be divided 
into individual allotments, or gardeners may work together to cultivate the entire property. The 
land may be publicly or privately owned. The plants are grown for personal use by the 
gardeners, or for donation. No on-site sales or distribution to the public are permitted. 
 
“Conditional use” shall mean uses which may be allowed subject to specific findings, 
conditions and approval of a conditional use permit by the Planning Commission. 
 
“Condominium” shall mean a development consisting of an undivided interest in common for a 
portion of a parcel coupled with a separate interest in airspace in a residential building on a 
parcel. 
 
“Condominium, commercial” shall mean individually owned unit in a building or development 
with commercial occupants. Each unit may be financed or sold separately by the owner, but the 
care and expense of maintaining common areas are shared. 
 
“Construction, commencement of” shall mean construction shall be determined to start when 
all of the following have been completed by the developer: 
 
(a) Filing of full sets of building plans with the Building Inspector and issuance of a building 
permit including electrical, plumbing, and mechanical permits. 
 
(b) Performance of all conditions of approval specifying “prior to the issuance of a building 
permit” as found in any applicable approval statements and/or resolutions adopted by the City 
Council, Planning Commission, or Development Services Director. 
 
(c) Payment of all required fees, including building permit fees, and the posting and acceptance 
of all public improvement securities, if applicable. 
 
(d) Compliance with environmental review procedures of the City. 
 



“Construction, completion of” shall mean construction shall be complete when the final 
required building inspection has been completed and/or a “certificate of occupancy” (as defined 
by the  California Building Code) is issued by the Building Inspector. 
 
“Convalescent hospital” shall mean a facility providing long-term nursing, dietary and other 
medical services to convalescents or invalids but not providing surgery or primary treatment 
such as are customarily provided in a hospital. “Convalescent hospital” includes nursing home 
and rest home, but does not include general or specialized hospital or residential care facility. 
 
“Convenience gas mart” shall mean a retail establishment offering for sale prepackaged food 
products, household items, and other goods commonly associated with the same. Activities may 
include the sale and/or dispensing of gasoline and other petroleum products. 
 
“Conversion” shall mean changing the original purpose of a building to a different use. 
 
“Crop production” shall mean the growing of fruit and nut trees, vine crops, and horticultural 
stock for production of food or fiber for human consumption, excluding marijuana, and shall not 
include the on-site sale or public distribution of such goods. Agricultural operations shall be 
conducted under the direction of the property owner. The vehicular traffic associated with crop 
production shall not exceed levels normally associated with residential uses. 
 
“Cultural institutions” shall mean institutions displaying, preserving or demonstrating 
intellectual and artistic objects or activities. This classification generally includes libraries, 
museums, and art galleries where displayed objects are not intended for sale. 
 
“Dance studio” shall mean an indoor facility where students are taught various forms of dance. 
 
“Day care center” shall mean any child day care facility, as defined in Section 1596.76 of the 
California Health and Safety Code, other than a family day care home, and includes infant 
centers, preschools, extended day care facilities, and school-age child care centers. 
 
(a) “Child day care facility” shall mean a facility, as defined in Section 1596.750 of the 
California Health and Safety Code, that provides nonmedical care to children under eighteen 
(18) years of age in need of personal services, supervision, or assistance essential for 
sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individual on less than a 24-
hour basis. “Child day care facility” includes day care centers, employer-sponsored child care 
centers, and family day care homes. 
 
(b) “Large family day care” shall mean a home, as defined in Section 1596.78(b) of the 
California Health and Safety Code, that provides family day care for seven (7) to fourteen (14) 
children for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours per day, inclusive, including children 
under the age of ten (10) years who reside at the home, as set forth in Section 1597.465 of the 
California Health and Safety Code and as defined in State regulations. 
 
(c) “Small family day care” shall mean a home, as defined in Section 1596.78(c) of the 
California Health and Safety Code, that provides family day care for eight (8) or fewer children 
for periods of less than twenty-four (24) hours per day, including children under the age of ten 
(10) years who reside at the home as set forth in Section 1597.44 of the California Health and 
Safety Code and as defined in State regulations. 
 



“Deck” shall mean a platform less than thirty (30") inches above the grade, either freestanding 
or attached to a building. 
 
“Density” shall mean the ratio between dwelling units and land, expressed as the number of 
dwelling units per gross acre, or as square feet of land required per dwelling unit. 
 
“Density bonus” shall mean an increase of dwelling units over the otherwise maximum 
allowable residential density. 
 
“Density, gross” shall mean the number of dwelling units per acre of developable residential 
land including public and private streets, but excluding greenways and easements for drainage 
or power transmission lines. 
 
“Density, net” shall mean the number of dwelling units per acre of developable residential land 
exclusive of public and private streets, greenways, drainage, power-transmission line 
easements, or other public and/or semipublic uses. 
 
“Development” shall mean: 
 
(a) The division of a parcel of land into two (2) or more parcels; 
 
(b) The construction, reconstruction, conversion, structural alteration, relocation or enlargement 
of any structure, including any facility of any private, public, or municipal utility; 
 
(c) Any mining, excavation, landfill, or land disturbance; 
 
(d) Any use or extension of the use of land; 
 
(e) Any subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act; and 
 
(f) Any other division of land, including lot splits, except where the land division is brought about 
in connection with the purchase of the land by a public agency for public recreational use. 
 
“Development agreement” shall mean an agreement entered into between the City of Turlock 
and a contracting party which relates to a specific real property, subject to the terms of the 
agreement, pursuant to the provisions of this chapter and Article 2.5, Chapter 4, Division 1 of 
Title 7 of the California Government Code. 
 
“Development Services Director” shall mean the Director of the Development Services 
Department of the City of Turlock, or designee. “Development Services Director” shall also 
include the term “Director.” 
 
“Director” shall mean the City of Turlock Development Services Department Director or 
designee. 
 
“Discount club” shall mean a discount store or warehouse where shoppers pay a membership 
fee in order to take advantage of discounted prices on a wide variety of items such as food, 
clothing, tires, and appliances; many items are sold in large quantities or bulk. 
 
“Discount store” shall mean stores with off-street parking that usually offer a variety of 
customer services, centralized cashing, and a wide range of products. They usually maintain 



long store hours seven (7) days a week. The stores are often the only ones on the site, but they 
can also be found in mutual operation with a related or unrelated garden center or service 
station. Discount stores are also sometimes found as separate parcels within a retail complex 
with their own dedicated parking. 
 
“Discount superstore” shall mean a store that is similar to a “discount store” described above, 
with the exception that they also contain a full service grocery department under the same roof 
that shares entrances and exits with the discount store area. Such retail stores exceed one 
hundred thousand (100,000) square feet of gross floor area and devote at least five (5%) 
percent of the total sales floor area to the sale of nontaxable merchandise. “Sales floor area” 
means only interior building space devoted to the sale of merchandise, and does not include 
restrooms, office space, storage space, automobile service areas, or open-air garden sales 
space. “Nontaxable merchandise” means products, commodities, or items the sale of which is 
not subject to California State sales tax. These stores usually offer a variety of customer 
services, centralized cashing, and a wide range of products. They usually maintain long store 
hours seven (7) days a week. The stores are often the only ones on the site, but they can also 
be found in mutual operation with a related or unrelated garden center or service station. 
Discount superstores are also sometimes found as separate parcels within a retail complex with 
their own dedicated parking. 
 
“Distance between structures” shall mean the minimum distance measured between two (2) 
structures. 
 
“Drive-in facility” shall mean any place or premises designed or used for the sale, dispensing 
or serving of food, refreshments, money, gasoline, or other goods and services to customers 
while sitting in their vehicles. Vehicles are parked in individual parking stalls while awaiting 
service. 
 
“Drive-through facility” shall mean any place or premise designed or used for the sale, 
dispensing or serving of food, pharmaceuticals, and other goods and services to customers 
while sitting in their vehicles at a drive-up window. Vehicles typically queue in a drive-through 
lane while awaiting service at a drive-up window. 
 
“Driveway” shall mean a private roadway for the exclusive use of the occupants of a property 
and their guests which provides vehicular access from a public street to required off-street 
parking spaces, garages, or recreational vehicle storage. 
 
Dwelling. 
 
(a) “Multi-family” shall mean a residential building containing two (2) or more dwelling units on 
one (1) lot. Multifamily dwellings shall include dwellings that are constructed for the purposes of 
providing supportive and transitional housing. 
 

(b) “Second” shall mean an additional dwelling unit located on a lot zoned for single- or multi-
family residential uses having sleeping, kitchen and sanitation facilities and being attached to or 

detached from an existing single-family dwelling located on the same lot. The definition of a 
“kitchen” is described in this section. (See also TMC 9-2-119, Second dwelling units.) 
 
(c) “Single-family” shall mean a residential building containing one (1) dwelling unit on one (1) 
lot. All rooms within the single-family attached dwelling shall be interconnected. “Single-family 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-119


dwelling” shall include a dwelling that is constructed for the purposes of providing supportive 
and transitional housing. 
 
“Dwelling unit” shall mean one (1) or more rooms, including bathroom(s) and a kitchen, 
designed for or used by one (1) family for living or sleeping purposes. The defining feature of a 
“kitchen” is the presence of a major cooking appliance such as a cook top and/or oven intended 
for the preparation of food for one (1) family. Other features typically found in a kitchen are a 
sink and counter space large enough for food preparation and cleaning, refrigeration facilities, 
and storage area. 
 
“Easement” shall mean a grant of one (1) or more property rights by the property owner for use 
by the public, a corporation or another person or entity. 
 
“Emergency services provider” shall mean a public or private agency which provides fire, 
ambulance, police or similar emergency  services for the protection of life or property. 
 
“Emergency shelter” shall mean housing with minimal supportive services for homeless 
persons that is limited to occupancy of six (6) months or less by a homeless person. No 
individual or household may be denied emergency shelter because of an inability to pay. 
 
“Employee housing” shall be as defined in Section 17008 of the California Health and Safety 
Code and shall include farm worker housing. In nonagricultural residential zones, 
accommodations for six (6) or fewer employees shall be deemed a single-family structure 
pursuant to Section 17021.5 of the California Health and Safety Code. In agricultural zones, 
accommodations of no more than thirty-six (36) beds in a group quarters or twelve (12) units or 
spaces designed for use by a single family or households shall be deemed a permitted 
agricultural land use pursuant to Section 17021.6 of the California Health and Safety Code. 
 
“Entertainment, live” shall mean a musical, theater, dance, cabaret, or comedy act performed 
by one (1) or more persons. Any form of dancing by patrons or guests at a restaurant or bar is 
live entertainment. 
 
“Equipment sales, services and rentals” shall mean sales, services and rental of 
construction or agricultural equipment. 
 
“Family” shall be defined by the maximum number of individuals permitted in a given 
residential space per the standards of the Uniform Housing Code and/or the California Building 
Code as applicable. 
 
“Fence” shall mean an artificially constructed barrier of any material or combination of materials 
erected to enclose or screen areas of land. 
 
“Financial services” shall mean walk-in and drive-through banking facilities that conduct 
financial transactions for walk-in customers as well as motorists conducting transactions from 
their vehicle.  Banking facilities may or may not have drive-up lanes with or without automatic 
teller machines (ATMs). 
 
“Floor area, gross” shall mean the total enclosed floor area of all stories of a building, 
measured to the outside structural members and exterior walls, including halls, stairways, 
basements, service and mechanical equipment rooms, mezzanines, interior balconies, attached 
garages, and other similar spaces. 



 
“Floor area, net” shall mean the total enclosed floor area of all stories of a building, excluding 
corridors, hall, stairways, mezzanines, interior balconies, elevators, restrooms, closets, vaults, 
garages, and other similar space used by all occupants of a building rather than by an individual 
occupant. 
 
“Floor area ratio (FAR)” shall mean the area resulting from dividing the gross floor area of all 
buildings on one (1) lot by the gross land area of that lot. 
 
“Food and beverage sales” shall mean the retail sales of food and beverages for off-site 
preparation and consumption. Typical uses include grocery stores, liquor stores and 
delicatessens. Establishments at which twenty (20%) percent or more of the transactions are 
sales of prepared food for on-site or take-out consumption shall be classified as catering 
services or restaurants. 
 
“Friable” shall mean the addition of soil amendments and returning the soil to an easily 
crumbled or loosely compacted condition whereby the root structure of newly planted 
landscaping material will be allowed to spread unimpeded. 
 
“Frontage” shall mean the property line, or lines, of a building site which abut a local street. 
(See also “Lot line, front.”) 
 
“Garage” shall mean an accessory building, or portion of a building, used for the parking or 
temporary storage of automobiles or motorcycles for the occupants of the premises. A garage 
(except an off-street parking structure) shall be enclosed on all sides and possess a fully closing 
door at the point of vehicular access. 
 
“General Plan” shall mean the Turlock General Plan and all elements thereof. 
 
“Grade” shall mean the average of the finished ground level at the center of all walls of a 
building. In case walls are parallel to and within five (5') feet of a sidewalk, the ground level shall 
be measured at the sidewalk. For fences, the grade shall be determined by the finished ground 
level of the primary building(s) on the property and may be the higher of the two adjoining 
properties.  
 
“Group quarters” shall mean shared living quarters without separate kitchen or bathroom 
facilities for each room or unit. This classification includes boardinghouses, dormitories, 
fraternities, sororities, employee housing, and private residential clubs. Group quarters are not 
the same as group homes. 
 
(a) “Large” shall mean the provision of shared living quarters for seven (7) to twelve (12) 
people. 
 
(b) “Small” shall mean the provision of shared living quarters for six (6) or less people. 
 
“Guest house” shall mean living quarters within an accessory building on a residential lot for 
use by temporary guests of the occupants of the premises. It shall have no kitchen or cooking 
facilities and shall not be rented or otherwise used as a separate independent dwelling. 
 
“Health/recreation facility” shall mean an indoor facility including such uses as a gymnasium, 
game courts, exercise equipment and classes, locker rooms, pool, jacuzzi and/or spa, and pro 



shop.  Exercise / fitness studios such as yoga studios, pilates studios, martial arts studios and 
the like are also included. 
 
“Home occupation” shall mean any occupation, profession, activity, or use conducted entirely 
within a dwelling, accessory building or swimming pool, and carried on by the inhabitants 
thereof, which use is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the dwelling for residential 
purposes, and does not change the character thereof or adversely affect the uses permitted in 
the residential zone district of which it is part. 
 
“Hospital” shall mean an institution providing health services primarily for human in-patient 
medical or surgical care for the sick or injured and includes related facilities such as 
laboratories, out-patient surgical centers and departments, training facilities, central services 
facilities, and administrative offices that are an integral part of the hospital facility. 
 
“Hotel” shall mean a commercial land use providing shelter on a short-term basis in a building 
or portion thereof in which access is provided through a common entrance, lobby or hallway and 
which contains six (6) or more guest rooms. 
 
“Housing for the elderly” shall mean a building or group of buildings containing dwellings 
where the occupancy of the dwellings is restricted to persons sixty (60) years of age or older or 
couples where either the husband or wife is sixty (60) years of age or older. This does not 
include a development that contains convalescent or nursing facilities. 
 
Industry. 
 
(a) General. The manufacturing of products, primarily from extracted or raw materials, or bulk 
storage and handling of such products and materials. Uses in this classification typically involve 
a high incidence of truck or rail traffic, and/or outdoor storage of products, materials, equipment, 
or bulk fuel. This classification includes food processing and packaging, unlimited laundries, 
auto dismantling, stonework and concrete products manufacturing and power generation. 
General industry does not include the term “chemical manufacturing/processing.” 
 
(b) Limited. Manufacturing of finished parts or products from previously prepared materials, 
warehousing, distribution, wholesaling, shipping and cooling within an enclosed building. This 
classification includes processing, fabrication, assembly, treatment, and packaging, but 
excludes basic industrial processing from raw materials or food processing. 
 
“Itinerant vendor” shall mean any person who has no established place of business within the 
boundaries of the City of Turlock and who is engaged in transient business traveling from place 
to place for the purpose of selling any goods, wares, merchandise or services or for the purpose 
of taking orders for the sale of any goods, wares, merchandise or services to be delivered or 
performed at some future time and date. See TMC 5-17-02, itinerant vendors, for further 
reference. 
 
“Junk yard” or “salvage yard” shall mean a site or portion of a site on which waste, discarded 
or salvaged materials are bought, sold, exchanged, stored, baled, cleaned, packed, 
disassembled or handled, excepting a “vehicle dismantling and wrecking establishment” as 
defined in this section. 
 
“Kennel” shall mean a place where four (4) or more dogs of five (5) months of age or older, or 
four (4) or more cats of four (4) months of age or older, are kept. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock0517.html#5-17-02


 
“Landscaping” shall mean an area devoted to, or developed and maintained with, native or 
exotic plantings, lawn, ground cover, gardens, trees, shrubs, and other plant materials, 
decorative treatments such as outdoor landscape surfaces of rock, stone, brick, block, or similar 
decorative material (excluding driveways, parking, loading or storage areas), and sculpture 
elements. Plants on rooftops, porches, or in boxes attached to buildings are not considered 
landscaping. 
 
Laundries. 
 
(a) “Limited” shall mean an establishment to dry clean and/or wash and dry clothes and other 
fabrics brought in and carried away by the customer. This may include self-service or coin-
operated facilities. 
 
(b) “Unlimited” shall mean an establishment where larger quantities of clothes and other 
fabrics are washed and/or ironed but are collected and delivered primarily by laundry 
employees, including dry cleaning establishments. Unlimited laundry does not include the term 
“limited laundry.” 
 
“Livestock” shall mean animals customarily raised or kept on farms to include horses, cows, 
bulls, calves, oxen, sheep, goats, and other bovine or hoofed animals including pigs, hogs, and 
swine. 
 
“Loading space” shall mean a designated parking area for the loading and unloading of goods 
and materials from a commercial vehicle. See Article 2 of Chapter 9-2 TMC, Off-Street Parking 
and Loading Regulations, for further reference. 
 
“Lot” shall mean a parcel, tract or area of land established by plat, subdivision, or as otherwise 
permitted by law, to be used, developed or built upon. See diagram below. The classification of 
lots are: 
 
(a) “Corner” shall mean a lot located at the intersection of two (2) or more streets. 
 
(b) “Flag” shall mean a lot having access or an easement to a public or private street by a 
narrow, private right-of-way. 
 
(c) “Interior” shall mean a lot abutting only one (1) street. 
 
(d) “Key” shall mean a lot with a side line that abuts the rear line of any one (1) or more 
adjoining lots. 
 
(e) “Reverse corner” shall mean a corner lot, the rear of which abuts the side of another. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2


(f) “Through” shall mean a lot having frontage on two (2) generally parallel streets, with only 
one (1) primary access. 

 
“Lot area” shall mean the horizontal area within the lot lines of a lot. 
 
“Lot coverage” shall mean that portion of a lot occupied by any building or structure, excepting 
uncovered paved areas, walks, and swimming pools or spas. 
 
“Lot depth” shall mean the horizontal distance from the midpoint of the front lot line to the 
midpoint of the rear lot line, or to the most distant point on any other lot line where there is no 
rear lot line. 
 
“Lot frontage” shall mean the portion of the lot contiguous to the street. 
 
“Lot line” shall mean a line dividing one (1) lot from another lot or from a street or alley. The 
classifications of lot lines are: 
 
(a) “Front” shall mean, on an interior lot, the lot line separating the parcel from the street. On a 
through lot, both lot lines abutting a street frontage providing the primary access to the lot are 
considered front lot lines. On a through lot that is also a corner lot, the property owner may 
designate the corner lot line. On a flag lot, the interior lot line most parallel to and nearest the 
street from which access is obtained. On a corner lot, the owner may designate on which street 
the lot fronts so long as the minimum property development standards are met for the zone 
district in which the lot is located. If such designation is made, then that line is the street line 
separating the designated street from the lot. If no such designation is made, the line is the 
street line separating the narrowest street frontage of the lot from the street. Once the choice of 



frontage has been made, it cannot be changed, unless and until all requirements for yard space 
are complied with. 
 
(b) “Interior” shall mean any lot line not abutting a street. 
 
(c) “Rear” shall mean the lot line not intersecting a front lot line that is most distant from and 
most closely parallel to the front lot line. A lot bounded by only three (3) lot lines will not have a 
rear lot line. 
 
(d) “Side” shall mean any lot line not a front or rear lot line.  
 
(e) “Zero” shall mean the location of a building on a lot in such a manner that one (1) or more 
of the building’s sides rests directly upon a lot line. 
 

“Lot width” shall mean the horizontal distance between the side lot lines, measured at right 
angles to the lot depth at a point midway between the front and rear property lines. 
 
Maintenance and repair service. 
 
(a) “Major” shall mean facilities providing equipment maintenance and repair services and 
material storage areas. This classification includes corporation yards, equipment service 
centers, and the like, and excludes maintenance and repair of vehicles. 
 
(b) “Minor” shall mean establishments providing appliance repair, office machine repair, or 
building maintenance services. This classification excludes maintenance and repair of vehicles 
and outside storage. 
 



“Manufactured housing” shall mean single-family detached housing that is built to the 
National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974, and shall 
include structures known as manufactured homes, but which is not constructed with a 
permanent hitch for relocation. A manufactured home shall not be deemed to include a mobile 
home as defined in this section. (See also “Mobile home.”) 
 
“Mini-storage/warehouse facilities” shall mean a building or group of buildings in a 
controlled-access and fenced compound that contains varying sizes of individual, 
compartmentalized, and controlled-access stalls or lockers for the unused storage of goods or 
wares and may include outdoor storage. 
 
“Mixed use” shall mean a building, structure or premises occupied by or used by two (2) or 
more principal types of use, any of which is permitted in a district independent of other uses. 
 
“Mobile food facility” shall mean any vehicle used in conjunction with a commissary or other 
permanent food facility upon which food is sold or distributed at retail pursuant to California 
Health and Safety Code Section 113831 that is permitted pursuant to TMC9-2-124. “Mobile food 
facility” does not include the following: (a) a “street vendor” as defined in Chapter 5-17 TMC; (b) 
an “itinerant vendor” as defined in Chapter 5-17 TMC unless the vendor remains on private 
property for a period of thirty (30) minutes or more during any twenty-four (24) hour period; or 
(c) a “transporter” used to transport packaged food from a food facility, or other approved source 
to the consumer. 
 
“Mobile home” shall mean a transportable, factory-built structure, built upon a chassis for 
future movement and built prior to the Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety 
Standards Act of 1974. The structure must be designed for use as a residential dwelling, with or 
without a permanent foundation, when connected to the required utilities, and intended for 
occupancy by one (1) family. A transportable travel trailer less than thirty-two (32') feet in length 
and less than eight (8') feet in width shall not normally be considered a mobile home. (See also 
“Manufactured housing.”) 
 
“Mobile home development” shall mean an area or tract of land where one (1) or more 
spaces for the occupancy by a mobile home are provided. “Mobile home park” does not include 
recreational vehicle park. 
 
“Motel” shall mean a commercial land use providing shelter, on a short-term basis, in one (1) or 
more buildings on the same lot. The buildings contain guest rooms or dwelling units or both, 
which are usually individually and independently accessible from outside the building. “Motel” 
includes motor lodge, tourist court, motor hotel or any other designation intended to identify the 
premises as providing for rental or overnight accommodation primarily to motorists. 
 
“Museum” shall mean a building, place, or institution devoted to the acquisition, conservation, 
study, exhibition and educational interpretation of objects having scientific, historical, or artistic 
value. 
 
“Neighborhood store” shall mean a local retail establishment selling food products and 
household items which may be located in a residential neighborhood and does not exceed two 
thousand five hundred (2,500) square feet. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-125
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock0517.html#5-17
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock0517.html#5-17


“Nonconforming, illegal” shall mean a structure, lot, or use which did not conform to 
applicable laws when constructed or initiated, and does not conform to the provisions of this 
development Code. 
 
“Nonconforming lot” shall mean a lot that does not meet the area, width or depth standards 
for the district in which the lot is located which lawfully existed prior to the adoption, revision, or 
amendment of this Code, but which fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to 
conform to the use district in which it is located. 
 
“Nonconforming structure” shall mean any building or structure that does not meet the 
limitations on building size, height, and location on a lot, for the district in which such building is 
located, for the use to which such building is being put. (See also Article 4 of Chapter 9-2 TMC, 
nonconforming  structures and uses.) 
 
“Nonconforming use” shall mean a lawful use of land that does not comply with the use 
regulations for its zoning district but which complied with applicable regulations at the time the 
use was established. 
 
“Nuisance” shall mean anything that interferes with the use or enjoyment of property, 
endangers personal health or safety or is offensive to the senses. 
 
“Nursery” shall mean an establishment in which all merchandise other than plants is kept 
within an enclosed building or a fully screened enclosure, and fertilizer of any type is stored and 
sold in package form only. 
 
Office. 
 
(a) “Medical & dental” shall mean a facility where physicians and staff provide diagnostic and 
outpatient care, but does not provide prolonged in-house medical and surgical care.  The facility 
may include, lab facilities, supporting pharmacies, diagnostic and treatment rooms. 
 
(b) “Business & professional” shall mean a place of business where professional and clerical 
activities are performed.  The building may contain a single tenant or multiple tenants. 
 
“Open space, common” shall mean open space within or related to a development, not in 
individually owned lots or dedicated for public use, but which is designed and intended for the 
common use or enjoyment of the residents of the development. 
 
“Open space, usable” shall mean any reasonably accessible portion of a lot, including decks, 
swimming pools, balconies, and the like, which is landscaped and/or developed for recreational 
use or outdoor activities. Usable open space shall not include parking areas, driveways, any 
part of an existing or future road or right-of-way, service areas, and slopes over ten (10%) 
percent, and shall not have any horizontal dimension less than ten (10') feet, except decks or 
balconies, which shall have a minimum dimension of six (6') feet to qualify as usable open 
space. Decks or paved walkways shall not be counted as usable open space where they are 
used principally as a passageway and entrance to a dwelling(s). Where decks are private in 
nature or are for the general use of tenants residing on the property and do not serve as a 
passageway, such decks may be counted as usable open space when otherwise conforming to 
the requirements of this  title. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2


“Outdoor storage” shall mean the keeping, in an unroofed area, of any goods, junk, material, 
merchandise, or vehicles in the same place for more than twenty-four (24) hours. 
 
“Overlay zone” shall mean a set of zoning requirements that is described in the text of the 
zoning regulations of this Code, is mapped and is imposed in addition to those requirements of 
the underlying district. 
 
“Park and recreation facilities” shall mean noncommercial parks, playgrounds, recreation 
facilities, and open spaces. 
 
“Parking, off-street facilities” shall mean a site or a portion of a site devoted to the off-street 
parking of motor vehicles, including parking spaces, aisles, access drives, and landscaped 
areas. 
 
“Parking, off-street loading facilities” shall mean a site or a portion of a site, including 
loading berths, aisles, access drives, and landscaped areas, devoted to the loading or 
unloading of people or materials from motor vehicles or trailers. 
 
“Permitted use” shall mean any use allowed in a land use zoning district and subject to the 
provisions applicable to that district. 
 
“Personal services” shall mean a commercial land use providing recurrently needed services 
of a personal nature. Personal services generally include barber and beauty shops, tanning 
salons, seamstresses, tailors, shoe repair shops, dry cleaning (except bulk processing plants), 
photocopying, postal and mailing service shops, and self-service laundries. 
 
“Plan line” shall mean official established right-of-way lines for future streets or for the 
extension or widening of existing streets within which the construction of structures is generally 
prohibited. 
 
“Planned development” shall mean a type of development characterized by comprehensive 
planning for the project as a whole, clustering of structures to preserve usable open space and 
other natural features, and a mixture of housing types within prescribed densities. 
 
“Planning Commission” shall mean the City of Turlock Planning Commission. 
 
“Porch” shall mean a covered platform, usually having a separate roof, at an entrance to a 
dwelling, or an open or enclosed gallery or room, which is not heated or cooled, that is attached 
to the outside of the building. 
 
“Preexisting” shall mean in existence prior to the effective date of the zoning regulations 
codified in this Code. 
 
“Premises” shall mean a lot, parcel, tract or plot of land, together with the buildings and 
structures located thereon. 
 
“Principal building” shall mean a building in which the primary use of the lot on which the 
building is located is conducted. 
 
“Principal use” shall mean the primary or predominant use of any lot, building or structure. 
 



Printing and publishing. 
 
(a) “Limited” shall mean the preparation of camera-ready artwork and text, photocopying, 
printing and binding in a building not exceeding two thousand (2,000) square feet. 
 
(b) “Unlimited” shall mean the preparation of camera-ready artwork and text, photocopying, 
printing and binding in a building exceeding two thousand (2,000) square feet. 
 
“Project” shall mean any proposal for new or changed uses of land, or for new construction, 
alteration, or enlargement of any structure, that is subject to the provisions of this  title. 
 
Property line. See “Lot line.” 
 
“Public buildings and facilities” shall mean a class of uses generally open to the public and 
maintained and supported by public and nonprofit agencies or organizations and which are of a 
recreational, educational, religious or cultural nature. 
 
“Rebuild” shall mean to undertake construction within and/or on an existing building which has 
a valid construction permit with a construction value greater than fifty (50%) percent of the 
replacement cost of the existing building being rebuilt. The permit value is valid for a twelve (12) 
month period beginning on the date of permit issuance. 
 
“Recreational vehicle” shall mean a vehicular unit not exceeding forty (40') feet in overall 
length, eight (8') feet in width, or thirteen and one-half (13 1/2') feet in overall height, primarily 
designated as a temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use; it either has 
its own motive power or is designed to be mounted on or drawn by an automotive vehicle. The 
term “recreational vehicle” shall include motor homes, travel trailers, pick-up campers, camping 
trailers, converted trucks or buses, boats and boat trailers and all-terrain vehicles. See TMC 9-
2-114, Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 
 
“Recycling center” shall mean a facility that is not a junkyard and in which recoverable 
resources, such as newspapers, plastic, glassware, and metal cans, are collected, stored, 
flattened, crushed, or bundled within a completely enclosed building for transfer to another 
facility for processing into raw materials or other recycled materials. 
 
“Recycling collection center” shall mean an incidental use and operation that serves as a 
neighborhood drop-off and collection point for temporary storage of recoverable and recycled 
materials. No processing of such items would be carried out and the facility would generally be 
located in a shopping center parking lot or in other public/quasi-public areas, such as churches 
and schools. 
 
“Recycling processing facility” shall mean a facility that is not a junkyard and in which 
recoverable resources, such as newspapers, magazines, books, cardboard, and other 
previously used paper products; plastic materials; glass; metal cans; and other similar products, 
are recycled, reprocessed, and treated to return such products to a condition in which they may 
again be used for production. 
 
“Rental storage facility” shall mean a facility consisting of individual, compartmentalized stalls 
located entirely within an enclosed building or group of buildings with controlled access. Stalls 
are rented or leased for the storage of customers’ goods, wares or archival files, and which may 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114


include an on-site manager’s quarters, but excludes any outside storage, warehousing storage 
or wholesale distribution. 
 
“Research and development services” shall mean establishments primarily engaged in 
industrial or scientific research, including limited product testing. 
 
Residential care facility. 
 
(a) “Large” shall mean any family home, group care facility or similar facility providing twenty-
four (24) hour nonmedical services, supervision or assistance for seven (7) or more people 
essential for sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individual. “Large 
residential care facility” includes shelters, board and care facilities, halfway houses, and like 
uses, but does not include any facility not specifically preempted from the State of California 
Welfare and Institutions Code and the State of California Health and Safety Code. 
 
(b) “Small” shall mean any family home, group care facility or similar facility providing twenty-
four (24) hour nonmedical services, supervision or assistance for six (6) or fewer people 
essential for sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection of the individual. “Small 
residential care facility” includes any facility not specifically preempted from the State of 
California Welfare and Institutions Code and the State of California Health and Safety Code. 
 
“Restaurant” shall mean a business establishment whose principal business is the selling of 
meals to guests for consumption on the premises and which has suitable kitchen facilities 
connected therewith, containing conveniences for cooking an assortment of foods. The food is 
served in individual servings and the guest generally consumes these foods while seated at 
tables or counters located within the building or a specially designed outdoor dining area.  
 
 
“Restaurant, drive-in” shall mean a business establishment that delivers prepared food, frozen 
desserts, and/or beverages in a ready-to-consume state to customers while sitting in motor 
vehicles, regardless of whether or not it also serves prepared foods and/or beverages to 
customers who are not in motor vehicles, for consumption either on or off the premises. 
Vehicles are located in parking stalls in a drive-in facility. 
 
“Restaurant, fast food” shall mean a business establishment whose principal business is the 
quick selling of foods, frozen desserts, or beverages in ready-to-consume individual servings for 
consumption either on or off premises. This facility offers quick service, which is accomplished 
through a limited menu of items already prepared and held for service, or which are prepared 
quickly. Orders are not generally taken at the customer’s table, and food is generally served in 
disposable wrapping or containers. A fast food restaurant may or may not include a drive-
through facility. 
 
“Retail sales” shall mean the retail sales of merchandise not specifically listed under another 
use classification. This classification includes department stores, clothing stores, furniture 
stores, and businesses retailing goods such as the following: toys, hobby materials, handcrafted 
items, jewelry, cameras, photographic supplies, electronic equipment, audio and video sales 
and rentals, sporting goods, kitchen utensils, hardware, appliances, antiques, art supplies and 
services, paint and wallpaper, carpeting and floor covering, office supplies, bicycles, new 
automotive parts and accessories (excluding service and installation), and the like. See also 
“Discount store” as defined by this section. 
 



“Right-of-way” shall mean a strip of land occupied or intended to be occupied by a street, 
crosswalk, railroad, electric transmission line, oil or gas pipeline, water main, sanitary or storm 
sewer main, shade trees, or other special uses. 
 
“Roadside stand” shall mean a temporary structure designed or used for the display or sale of 
produce grown or raised on the same premises that the structure is placed. 
 
“Salvage and wrecking yards” shall mean the use of a lot, or contiguous lots, or any portion 
thereof, for the storage of junk, including scrap materials, and/or for the dismantling or wrecking 
of salvaged equipment including, but not limited to, building materials, heavy machinery, and 
vehicles. 
 
“Satellite dish antenna” shall mean an apparatus designed to receive or transmit 
communications to and from a satellite. 
 
“School” shall mean an institution of learning for minors, whether public or private, which offers 
instruction in those courses of study required by the California Education Code or which is 
maintained pursuant to standards set by the State Board of Education. This definition includes a 
nursery school, kindergarten, elementary school, junior high school, senior high school or any 
special institution of education, but it does not include a vocational or professional institution of 
higher education, including a community or junior college, college or university. 
 
“Screening” shall mean the method by which a view of one (1) site from another adjacent site 
is shielded, concealed, or hidden. Screening techniques include fences, walls, hedges, berms, 
or other features. 
 
“Secondhand store” shall mean any premises used for the sale or handling of used goods. 
“Secondhand store” includes establishments for the sale or trade of used clothing, furniture and 
appliances. “Secondhand store” does not include establishments selling used jewelry, old coins, 
stamps, or antiques. 
 
“Setback” shall mean the minimum horizontal distance between the lot or property line and the 
nearest front, side, street side, or rear line of the building or structure (as the case may be), 
including balconies, terraces, or any covered building projection thereof, excluding steps. 
 
“Shopping center” shall mean a grouping of retail businesses and service uses, located within 
a building or a group of buildings, oriented or arranged on one (1) or more parcels, sharing 
common parking and vehicle and pedestrian circulation amenities. 
 
“Sign” shall mean a structure or device designed for the purpose of conveying information or 
attracting the attention of the public. See Article 5 of Chapter 9-2 TMC, Signs, for further 
reference. 
 
“Site plan” shall mean a plan, to scale, showing all of the existing and proposed buildings and 
structures for a lot, and may require building elevations, floor plans, landscaping, and/or fencing 
details depending upon the nature of the proposed development. 
 
“Specific plan” shall mean a plan consisting of text, maps, and other documents and exhibits 
regulating development within a defined area of the City, consistent with the General Plan and 
the provisions of Government Code Section 65450 et seq. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2


“Speculative building” shall mean a permanent structure for which the specified use or uses 
are not known at the time application is made for building construction permits. 
 
“Stacking line” shall mean an area for temporary waiting of motor vehicles while obtaining a 
service or other activity. 
 
“Story” shall mean that portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the 
surface of the next floor above it, or if there be no floor above it, the space between such floor 
and the ceiling above it. A basement shall be counted as a story if its ceiling is over six (6') feet 
above the average level of the finished grade adjoining the exterior walls of such story, or if it is 
used for business or dwelling purposes. 
 
“Street” shall mean a public or private right-of-way, usually for vehicular travel, which provides 
a primary means of access to abutting property. The term shall include, but not be limited to, 
avenue, drive, circle, road, parkway, boulevard, highway, throughway, or any similar term. 
 
“Structural alteration” shall mean any change in the supporting members of a building or 
structure such as bearing walls, columns, beams, girders, or rafters. 
 
“Structure” shall mean anything constructed or erected which requires location on the ground, 
including, but not limited to, a building or a swimming pool, but not including fences or walls 
eighty-four (84") inches or less in height.  
 
“Supportive housing” shall mean housing with no limit on length of stay, that is occupied by 
the target population, and that is linked to onsite or offsite services that assist the supportive 
housing resident in retaining the housing, improving his or her health status, and maximizing his 
or her ability to live and, when possible, work in the community, as defined in California Health 
and Safety Code 50675.14. 
 
“Swimming pools, hot tubs, and spas” shall mean an accessory structure intended for 
swimming or recreational bathing that contains water over eighteen (18") inches deep. This 
includes in-ground, above-ground and on-ground swimming pools, hot tubs and spas. 
 
“Temporary use” shall mean any use conducted on an intermittent or one-time basis for a 
specified period, not intended to become permanent. Such use shall not necessarily be listed as 
a permitted use in a zoning district in which it is located. 
 
“Transfer station” shall mean a facility where waste and refuse materials are collected, 
unloaded, pumped, packaged, temporarily stored, and loaded for transfer to a landfill or 
processing facility designated to ultimately receive such materials. 
 
“Transitional housing” shall mean buildings configured as rental housing developments, but 
operated under program requirements that call for the termination of assistance and 
recirculation of the assisted unit to another eligible program recipient at some predetermined 
future point in time, which shall be no less than six (6) months, as defined in California Health 
and Safety Code Section 50675.2. 
 
“Truck terminal” shall mean a facility for the loading and/or unloading of fuel, food products, 
materials or freight merchandise on trucks. Truck terminals may include related fueling facilities, 
traffic routing offices, temporary truck storage areas,  
restaurants, wash racks, minor repair facilities and related business offices and motels. 



 
“Truck yard” shall mean a facility used exclusively for breaking down and assembling tractor-
trailer transport vehicles, or for the parking of heavy vehicles for short periods of time. “Truck 
yard” does not include facilities for the loading and unloading of shipments to or from an 
individual business. 
 
“Turlock General Plan” shall mean the long-range and comprehensive plan for orderly growth 
and development of Turlock, including text, maps and amendments, adopted by the Turlock City 
Council in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Also referred to as the “General 
Plan.” 
 
“Use” shall mean the purpose for which land or a building is occupied, arranged, designed or 
intended, or for which either land or building is or may be occupied or maintained. “Use” also 
means the activity conducted on the land or in the building. 
 
Utilities. 
 
(a) “Major” shall mean generating plants, electrical substations, above-ground electrical 
transmission lines, switching buildings, refuse collection, processing, recycling or disposal 
facilities, water reservoirs, flood control or drainage facilities, water or wastewater treatment 
plants, transportation or communication facilities, and similar facilities of public agencies or 
public utilities. A structure that may have a significant effect on surrounding uses shall be 
regulated under this classification. 
 
(b) “Minor” shall mean utility facilities that are necessary to support legally established uses 
and involve only minor structures such as electrical distribution lines and underground water 
and sewer lines. 
 
“Variance” shall mean a permit which grants a property owner relief from development 
standards to the zoning regulations of this Code when, because of a particular physical or 
topographical condition of the property, compliance would result in undue hardship on the owner 
(as distinguished from a mere inconvenience or desire to make more money). 
 
“Vehicle, abandoned” shall mean any dismantled or partially dismantled vehicle which 
requires major repairs to render it operable and which has remained within a public street in 
excess of seventy-two (72) hours. 
 
“Vehicle, disassembled” shall mean a vehicle without hoods, doors, fenders, or body panels, 
headlights, trunk lid, tires, wheels, windows, engine or transmission when such items are 
normally part of a vehicle. 
 
“Vehicle, dismantling and wrecking” shall mean a facility or business that involves the 
dismantling or wrecking of used motor vehicles or trailers, which may or may not include the 
sale of reclaimed parts. 
 
“Vehicle, inoperable” shall mean any vehicle rendered inoperable or lacking valid registration. 
 
“Vocational school” shall mean a commercial land use that involves the instruction to students 
of special skills, knowledge, or techniques that are generally related to furthering a specific 
vocation or professional occupation. Vocational schools would include trade schools, business 
schools, cosmetology schools, and schools for self-improvement. 



 
 
“Warehouse, limited” shall mean a building primarily devoted to the storage of materials, but 
may also include office and maintenance areas, and not usually accessible to the general public 
and shall have a limited number of truck trips per day.  
 
“Warehouse, wholesale distribution” shall mean a building or group of buildings used for 
storage and distribution of wholesale goods without direct public access. 
 
“Xeriscape” shall mean landscaping design utilizing plants which flourish and are adapted for 
dry, hot climates. 
 
“Yard” shall mean an open space on the same site as a structure, unoccupied and 
unobstructed by structures or parking from the ground upward except as otherwise provided for 
in this  title for landscaping and accessory structures, that includes a front yard, side yard, street 
side yard, or rear yard. The classifications of yards are: 
 
(a) “Front” shall mean the area between the front lot line and the required front setback line 
extending across the entire width of the lot. 
 
(b) “Rear” shall mean the area between the rear lot line and the principal building which 
extends across the full width of the lot and measured perpendicular to the building at its closest 
point to the rear lot line. 
 
(c) “Side” shall mean the area between the front yard and the rear yard between the principal 
building and the side lot line, measured perpendicular from the side lot line to the closest point 
of the principal building. 
 
(d) “Street side” shall mean a side yard on the street side of a corner lot which is not a front 
yard, measured perpendicular from the street side lot line to the closest point of the principal 
building. A corner lot abutting two (2) streets may not have more than one (1) street side yard. 

 
“Zone” or “zoning district” shall mean a section of the City described in the text of the zoning 
regulations of this Code and delineated on the zoning maps of the City. The text sets forth the 
requirements for the use of the land as well as improvements and development standards. 



SECTION 3. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 2, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 

Chapter 9-2 
REGULATIONS APPLYING TO ALL DISTRICTS 

Sections: 

Article 1. Special Provisions Applying to All or Several Districts 

9-2-101 Accessory buildings or structures. 

9-2-102 Adult entertainment facilities. 

9-2-103 Affordable housing density bonus. 

9-2-104 Automobile service stations, repair and washing. 

9-2-105 Building projections into yards. 

9-2-106 Development on existing lots of record. 

9-2-107 Development on lots divided by district boundaries. 

9-2-108 Exceptions to height limits. 

9-2-109 Landscaping and irrigation. 

9-2-110 Family day care home. 

9-2-111 Mobile home development. 

9-2-112 Outdoor storage. 

9-2-113 Planned developments. 

9-2-114 Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 

9-2-115 Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations. 

9-2-116 Recycling facilities. 

9-2-117 Salvage and wrecking operations. 

9-2-118 Screening of mechanical equipment. 

9-2-119 Second dwelling units. 

9-2-120 Underground utilities. 



9-2-121 Neighborhood stores. 

9-2-122 Rental storage facility. 

9-2-123 Equipment sales, service and rentals. 

9-2-124 Mobile food facilities. 

9-2-125 Cargo containers. 

9-2-126 Electrified fences. 

9-2-127 Drive-through facilities. 

 

Article 2. Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations 

9-2-201 Specific purposes. 

9-2-202 Application of provisions to uses. 

9-2-203 Off-street parking required: Availability and maintenance. 

9-2-204 Off-street parking:  Reconstructed buildings. 

9-2-205 Off-street parking for existing buildings and uses. 

9-2-206 Off-street parking: Location. 

9-2-207 Parking in the R District. 

9-2-208 Border barricades, screening, and landscaping. 

9-2-209 Off-street parking: Spaces required. 

9-2-210 Parking spaces for people with disabilities. 

9-2-211 Bicycle parking. 

9-2-212 Off-street parking districts. 

9-2-213 Parking configuration and aisle dimensions. 

9-2-214 Parking lot design standards. 

9-2-215 Driveway and corner visibility. 

9-2-216 Parking lot landscaping. 

9-2-217 Parking access from street. 



9-2-218 Location and design of off-street loading spaces. 

9-2-219 Parking area plan required. 

 

Article 3. Noise Standards 

9-2-301 Specific Purposes. 

9-2-302 Definitions. 

9-2-203 General noise regulations. 

9-2-304 Preliminary action. 

9-2-305 Factors of determination. 

9-2-306 Noise measurement procedure. 

9-2-307 Noise Limits. 

9-2-308 Maximum permissible sound levels by receiving land uses. 

9-2-309 Prohibited Acts. 

9-2-310 Emergency exemptions. 

9-2-311 Miscellaneous exemptions. 

9-2-312 Federal and State preempted activities. 

9-2-313 Special variances. 

9-2-314 Variance from time to comply. 

9-2-315 Appeals. 

 

Article 4. Nonconforming Structures and Uses 

9-2-401 Specific purposes. 

9-2-402 Nonconforming Uses. 

9-2-403 Nonconforming Structures. 

9-2-404 Loss of Nonconforming Status. 

9-2-405 Discontinuance. 



9-2-406 Replacement and repairs due to damage. 

9-2-407 Repairs and maintenance. 

9-2-408 Exceptions to provisions. 

 

Article 5. Signs 

9-2-501 Purpose. 

9-2-502 Interpretation. 

9-2-503 Definitions. 

9-2-504 Permits required. 

9-2-505 Sign classifications. 

9-2-506 Sign standards.  

9-2-507  Nonconforming signage. 

9-2-508 Unsafe and unlawful signs. 

9-2-509 Compliance with chapter provisions: Nuisances: Abatement 

9-2-510 Noncompliancel. 

9-2-512 Appeals by persons aggrieved. 

 

Article 6. Wireless Communication Facilities 

9-2-601 Purpose. 

9-2-602 Definitions. 

9-2-603 Compliance with applicable codes. 

9-2-604 Permits required. 

9-2-605 Application requirements. 

9-2-606 Height. 

9-2-607 Location. 

9-2-608 Residential (R) Districts. 



9-2-609 Visual compatibility and screening. 

9-2-610 Discontinuance of use. 

 

Article 1. Special Provisions Applying to All or Several Districts 

9-2-101 Accessory buildings or structures. 
Accessory buildings or structures include both those that are permanent and temporary.  The 
purpose of the specific limitations as to the height, number or size of accessory buildings and 
structures contained within this section are intended to ensure adequate light, air, and privacy 
for residential properties and compatibility with permitted structures. Second dwelling units (as 
defined in TMC 9-1-202) are not defined as accessory buildings and structures. 
 
(a) Building permit required. A building permit from the Turlock Building and Safety Division is 
required for all accessory buildings and structures that are 120 square feet in size or larger. 
 
(b) Accessory buildings and structures in Agricultural (A) and residential (R) districts.  
Accessory buildings and structures may be erected upon lots in the A and R districts subject to 
the following conditions when the use thereof is clearly incidental and secondary to the primary 
use of the property: 
 

(1) Maximum height. The height of an accessory building or structure may not exceed 
fifteen (15’) feet in overall height measured from the existing or finished grade, whichever is 
lower, to the highest portion of the structure.  

 
(2)  Lot coverage. The combined maximum square footage of all detached accessory 
structures exceeding seven (7’) in height shall not exceed 1,000 square feet.  
 
(3) Attached accessory buildings and structures. When an accessory structure is not 
“detached” as defined in following subsection, it shall be considered an attached accessory 
building or structure. When the accessory building or structure is attached to the primary 
building on the property, it shall:  

 
(i) be made structurally a part of the main building (see TMC 9-1-202 defining “attached 
(ii) share compatible architecture, materials, and surface textures with the primary 
building; and 

 
(iii) comply in all other respects with the development standards and requirements of this 
title applicable to the primary building. 

 
(4) Detached accessory buildings and structures.  An accessory building or structure is 
defined as “detached” when any portion of the accessory building or structure is located a 
minimum of six (6’) feet from any dwelling unit or the main building on the same lot. When 
the accessory building or structure is detached from the primary dwelling or main building on 
the property, it shall comply with the following standards: 
 

 Yard setback measurement. Yard setbacks shall be measured from that portion of the 
building or structure that is closest to a property line.  

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202


 
(ii) Accessory structures greater than seven (7’) feet in height, measured from the 
tallest point of the building or structure.  
 

(aa) Yard setbacks except Residential Estate (R-E) district. The accessory 
building or structure shall be located a minimum of, except when located in the R-E 
district: 
 

1. Rear yard: 5 feet from the property line 

2. Interior side yard: 5 feet from the property line 

3. Corner side yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

4. Front yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

(bb) Yard setbacks in R-E district. In the R-E district, the accessory building or 
structure shall be located a minimum of: 
 

1. Rear yard: 10 feet from the property line 

2. Interior side yard: 10 feet from the property line 

3. Corner side yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

4. Front yard: As required by the applicable zoning district. 

(cc) Design standards. The accessory building or structure shall be constructed of 
compatible architecture, materials, and surface textures with the primary building. 
 
(dd) Rear yard exception for public alleys.  When a detached accessory structure 
taller than seven (7’) feet abuts a twenty (20’) foot public alley, the rear yard may be 
reduced to zero (0’) feet for a length not to exceed one-third (⅓) of the width of the 
parcel. 
 

(iii) Accessory structures seven (7’) feet in height or less, measured from the 
tallest point of the building or structure.  An accessory building or structure seven (7’) 
feet in height or less shall not be subject to the setback and design standards contained 
in subsection (ii) above when:   
 

(aa) located behind the front yard setback for the applicable zoning district; and 
 
(bb) screened by a solid, visually impenetrable fence or wall at least seven (7’) feet in 
height from all adjoining properties and the public right-of-way. 
 

(iv) Front yard exception for entry features.  Entry features, such as arbors, arches, 
trellises, or the like may be permitted in the front yard setback when: 
 

(aa) The entry feature is not attached to the primary building; and 



(bb) The entry feature is covering a walkway emphasizing the entry to the 

front door of a residence; and 

(cc) The entry feature is not constructed of solid materials and shall not 

constitute a safety/visibility hazard to pedestrians or vehicles; and 

(dd) The entry features do not exceed an overall height of eight (8’) feet or a width of 

seven (7’) feet; and   

(ee) The total of all entry features does not cover more than twenty-five (25) square 

feet in area. 

(5) Swimming pools, hot tubs, and spas. Swimming pools, hot tubs and spas may not be 
located within the front or corner side yards. Any swimming pool, hot tub or spas greater 
than seven (7’) in height shall be subject to the requirements and conditions in subsection 
(4) above.   
 
(6)  Exceptions to accessory building and structure requirements.  
 

(i) Residential (R) districts. In R districts, an exception to the requirements of this 
section may be permitted upon approval of a conditional use permit by the Planning 
Commission issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Condition Use Permits and 
Variances).  
 
(ii) Agricultural (A) district. In the A district, an exception to the requirements of this 
section may be permitted upon approval of a minor discretionary permit issued in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits).   
 

(c)  Nonresidential accessory structures in commercial, industrial, and P-S districts. 
Accessory structures shall comply with all regulations applicable to the principal building or 
structure on a site.  Off-site accessory uses shall be allowed only upon approval of a minor 
administrative approval. 
 

(1) Roof-mounted antennas. Satellite dish antennas shall be located on the roof of a 
structure whenever possible, providing the dish is not visible from public roadways or can be 
adequately screened from view of public roadways. 
 
(2) Ground-mounted antennas. If it is determined that installation of a satellite dish 
antenna is not feasible for location on a roof, a ground-mounted antenna shall be permitted 
when all of the following conditions are met: 
 

(i) The antenna shall be located directly adjacent to the building. 
 
(ii) The antenna shall be located in the rear or interior side yard areas; and 
 
(iii) The antenna shall be screened from view from the front of the building and public 
roadways. 
 

(3) Location prohibited. No satellite dish antennas shall occupy a required parking space 
or adversely impact any vehicle circulation. 



 
(4) Maximum height. The maximum overall height for any satellite dish antenna shall be 
twenty (20’) feet.  The overall height shall be determined by measuring from ground or roof 
level immediately under the antenna to the highest point of the antenna or any 
appurtenance attached thereto. 
 
(5) Permit required. A Minor Administrative Approval issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits), shall be for all satellite dish 
antennas greater than three (3’) feet in height in any C, I or PS district. 
 

9-2-102 Adult entertainment facilities. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this  section  is to regulate adult businesses which, unless closely 
regulated, may have serious secondary effects on the community. These secondary effects 
include, but are not limited to, the following: depreciation of property values, deterioration of 
neighborhoods, increases in vacancy rates in residential and commercial areas, increases in 
incidence of criminal activity, increases in litter, noise, and the interference with residential 
property owners enjoyment of their property in the vicinity of such businesses. 
 
It is the Council’s intent to prevent community-wide adverse impacts which can be brought 
about by the concentration of adult businesses in close proximity to each other or in proximity to 
incompatible uses such as schools, churches, parks, public facilities and buildings and 
residentially zoned uses. The Council finds that it has been demonstrated in various 
communities that the concentration of adult businesses causes adverse impacts described 
above and can cause businesses and residents to move elsewhere. It is, therefore, the further 
purpose of this  section  to establish reasonable and uniform regulations to prevent the 
concentration of adult businesses or their close proximity to incompatible uses, while permitting 
the location of adult businesses in certain areas. 
 
(b) Definitions. 
 

(1) “Adult businesses” shall include the following: 
 
(i) Any business conducted for the entertainment of adults, engaged in the selling, 
renting, or displaying of publications depicting the specified anatomical areas or 
specified sexual activities described herein or other material of a sexually explicit nature. 
Included in the definition is any business, that as substantial or significant course of 
conduct, sells, offers for sale, rents, exhibits, shows or displays publications depicting 
the anatomical areas or specified sexual activities described herein or other material of a 
sexually explicit nature. Also included in this definition is any business selling, renting, or 
displaying sexually oriented devices intended for use in the specified sexual activities. 
 
(ii) A particular business at a particular location that sells, offers for sale, rents, exhibits, 
shows or displays specified anatomical areas or specified sexual activities in the form of 
a book, magazine, newspaper, pamphlet, film video or any other form or medium, or 
sexually oriented devices intended for use in the specified sexual activities, which 
receives twenty-five (25%) percent or more of the gross revenue from, or devotes 
twenty-five (25%) percent or more of the stock on hand or twenty-five (25%) percent or 
more of the gross floor area to such activity, is presumed to be engaging in “substantial 
or significant” conduct with respect to such activity. 
 



(iii) Any business wherein the selling of any food or beverage served by employees 
engaged in partial or total nudity or exposed specified anatomical areas. 
 
(iv) Any business conducted for the entertainment of adults wherein an employee, patron 
or any other person engages in or are shown specified sexual activities or exhibit or 
engage in partial or total nudity or otherwise expose specified anatomical areas. 
 
(v) Any business, which as a substantial or significant portion of its business, provides 
live, filmed or televised entertainment wherein specified anatomical areas of the human 
anatomy are exposed. 
 

(2) “Specified anatomical areas” include any of the following, whether actual or simulated: 
 

(i) Less than completely and opaquely covered: (1) human genitals or pubic region, (2) 
buttock, and (3) female breast below a point immediately above the top of the areola; or 
 
(ii) Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and opaquely 
covered. 
 

(3) “Specified sexual activities” means and includes any of the following: 
 

(i) The fondling or sexual touching of human genitals, pubic regions, buttocks, anus, or 
female breasts; or 
 
(ii) Sex acts, normal or deviant, actual or simulated, including intercourse, oral 
copulation, or sodomy; or 
 
(iii) Masturbation, actual or simulated; or 
 
(iv) Excretory functions as part of, or in connection with, any of the activities set forth 
above. 
 

(c) Location and Site requirements. 
 

(1) Adult businesses shall not be located within five hundred (500') feet of the following 
whether or not located within the city: 
 

(i) Any real property located in a residential, commercial or industrial district, including 
the Agricultural (A), Residential Estate (R-E), Low Density Residential (R-L), Medium 
Density Residential (R-M), High Density Residential (R-H), Community Office (C-O), 
Planned Development (PD), Community Commercial (C-C), Heavy Commercial/Light 
Industrial (C-H), zoning districts; and 
 
(ii) Any public or private school; and 
 
(iii) Any church, chapel, or other publicly recognized place of worship; and 
 
(iv) Any park or building used by the public and owned by a public entity; and 
 
(v) Any residence in any zoning district; and 
 



(vi) Any parcel of land owned by a school district, church, chapel, or public entity. 
 

(2) Adult businesses shall not be located within one thousand (1,000') feet of any other adult 
business. 
 
(3) Adult businesses may be located in the I (Industrial) zoning district; and 
 
(4) The distances specified in this section shall be measured in a straight line, without 
regard to intervening structures, or geological features from the nearest point of the property 
line in which the proposed adult business is to be established to the nearest property line of 
a use or zoning district listed above. 
 

(d) Development and performance standards. 
 

(1) The following development standards shall apply to all adult businesses: 
 

(i) No adult business shall be located in any temporary or portable structure. 
 
(ii) Trash dumpsters shall be enclosed by a screening enclosure so as not to be 
accessible to the public. 
 
(iii) Off-street parking shall be as specified in Article 2 of this chapter. 
 
(iv) The entire exterior grounds, including the parking lot and landscaped areas, shall be 
lighted in such a manner that all areas are clearly visible at all times. 
 
(v) Any signage shall conform to the requirements of Article 5 of this chapter, and shall 
not contain sexually oriented photographs, silhouettes, or other pictorial representations. 
 
(vi) All entrances to an adult business shall be clearly and legibly posted by a notice 
indicating that minors are prohibited from entering the premises. 
 
(vii) No residential structure or any other nonconforming structure shall be converted for 
use as an adult business. 
 
(viii) No residence, apartment, living quarters or mobile home shall be located on the 
parcel where an adult business is located. 
 

(2) The following performance standards shall apply to all adult businesses: 
 

(i) California Code of Regulations, Title 4, Article 22, Sections 143.2, 143.3 and 143.4 or 
its successors are hereby adopted and shall regulate the attire and conduct of 
employees and entertainers; including visual displays. 
 
(ii) The adult business shall not conduct or sponsor any special events, promotions, 
festivals, concerts, or similar activities which would create a demand for parking spaces 
beyond the number of spaces required for the business. 
 
(iii) The traffic generated by the adult business shall not overload the capacity of the 
surrounding street system and shall not create a hazard to public safety, as determined 
by the City of Turlock Police Department. . 



 
(iv) No adult business shall be operated in any manner that permits the observation of 
any persons or material depicting, describing or related to “specified sexual activities” or 
“specified anatomical areas”, inside the premises, from any public way or from any 
location outside the building or area of such establishment. This provision shall apply to 
any display, decoration, sign, show window or other opening. 
 
(v) No loudspeakers or sound equipment shall be used by an adult business for the 
amplification of sound to a level audible beyond the walls of the building in which the 
business is located. 
 
(vi) All exterior areas of the adult business, including buildings, landscaping, and parking 
areas shall be kept free of trash and debris and maintained in a clean and orderly 
manner at all times. 
 
(vii) Hours of operation shall be from 6:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. 
 
(viii) Each adult business shall conform to all applicable laws and regulations, including 
obtaining a City business license. 
 

(e) Adult business permit; required. No adult business shall commence operation until an 
application for a Minor Discretionary Permit (Adult Business Permit) is approved by the 
Development Services Director or designee following the procedures set out in the following 
sections, and those contained in Section 9-5-307 through Section 9-5-315, of the Turlock 
Municipal Code. 
 
(f) Adult business permit application: Contents.  An application for an adult business permit 
shall include the following: 
 

(1) Name, permanent address and telephone number of applicant. 
 
(2) The name, business address and telephone number for the applicant. If the applicant is 
a corporation, the name shall be exactly as set forth in its Articles of Incorporation, and the 
applicant shall show the name and residence address of each of the officers, directors, and 
each stockholder owning twenty-five (25%) percent or more of the stock of the corporation. 
If the applicant is a partnership, the application shall show the name and residence address 
of each of the members, including limited partners. 
 
(3) Name(s) and address(es) of the property owner(s). 
 
(4) Assessor’s parcel number(s). 
 
(5) Legal description of the property. 
 
(6) A site development plan drawn at the scale specified by the Community Development 
Director, which includes the following information: 
 

(i) Location of all existing buildings, structures, and improvements on the property; 
 
(ii) Location of all proposed buildings, structures, and improvements on the property; 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-307


(iii) Existing and proposed streets and highways bordering and within the boundaries of 
the property; 
 
(iv) Location of existing and proposed parking areas; 
 
(v) Proposed landscaping; 
 
(vi) North arrow; 
 
(vii) Scale. 
 

(7) Elevations and floor plans of proposed buildings or structures including any existing or 
proposed signs related to the adult business drawn to scale. 
 
(8) A narrative description of the proposed use or development including: 
 

(i) Description of the nature of the proposed use or development and an explanation of 
how the proposed business will satisfy the applicable requirements set forth in this 
chapter. 
 

(9) A letter of consent signed and notarized from all property owners. 
 
(10) A vicinity map showing specific land uses (houses, churches, public buildings, parcel 
lines, parcel sizes, etc.) for a 1,500 foot radius of the subject site. 
 
(11) The fee prescribed by the City Council of the City of Turlock by ordinance or resolution 
for processing the application. 
 

(g) Adult business permit application: Review and approval. 
 

(1) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
shall take action within sixty (60) days. 
 
(2) For purposes of application processing, any application for a permit pursuant to this 
chapter is considered to be a ministerial permit and, as such, is not subject to the time 
frames specified in Section 65950 et seq. of the California Government Code, or the 
California Environmental Quality Act. 
 
(3) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
shall transmit the relevant parts of the permit application to all affected City departments and 
outside agencies for review, comments, and condition requirements. 
 
(4) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this  section, the Development 
Services Director shall approve the permit only if it makes the following findings: 
 

(i) The adult business is consistent with the location, requirements and development and 
performance standards contained in this chapter; and 
 
(ii) The adult business is located in a zoning district which lists adult businesses as a 
permitted use; and 
 



(iii) The zoning district classification for the property is consistent with the applicable 
General Plan or Specific Plan designation for the property; and 
 
(iv) The adult business structure does not contain any apartments or other living 
quarters. 
 

(5) A permittee shall not transfer ownership or control of an adult business permit to any 
other person or entity. All changes in ownership shall require a new permit application and 
approval. 
 
(6) Permit issuance or non-issuance of application may be appealed pursuant to Title 1, 
Chapter 4, of the Turlock Municipal Code. 
 
(7) Approval of the Minor Discretionary Permit (Adult Business Permit) does not relieve the 
permittee from the requirement to obtain any other permits, or approvals, necessary to 
insure operation of the use in conformance with the requirements of the Turlock Municipal 
Code. 
 

(h) Adult business permit; transfer. 
 

(1) A permittee shall not operate an adult business under the authority of an adult business 
permit at any place other than the address of the adult business stated in the application for 
the permit. 
 
(2) A permittee shall not transfer ownership or control of an adult business or transfer an 
adult business permit to another person unless and until the transferee obtains an 
amendment to the permit from the Development Services Director, stating that the 
transferee is now the permittee. Such an amendment may be obtained only if the transferee 
files an application with the Development Services Director, , in accordance with the 
requirements of this section, accompanies the application with a transfer fee in an amount 
set by resolution of the City Council, and the Development Services Director determines that 
the transferee would be entitled to the issuance of an original permit. 
 
(3) No permit may be transferred when the Development Services Director has notified the 
permittee that the permit has been or may be suspended or revoked. 
 
(4) Any attempt to transfer a permit either directly or indirectly in violation of this section is 
hereby declared void, and the permit shall be deemed revoked. 
 

(i) Suspension or revocation of adult business permits. An adult business permit may be 
suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures and standards of this section. 
 

(1) On determining that grounds for permit revocation exist, the Police Chief shall furnish 
written notice of the proposed suspension or revocation to the permittee. Such notice shall 
set forth the time and place of a hearing, and the ground or grounds upon which the hearing 
is based, the pertinent Code sections, and a brief statement of the factual matters in support 
thereof. The notice shall be mailed, postage prepaid, addressed to the last known address 
of the permittee, or shall be delivered to the permittee personally, at least ten (10) days prior 
to the hearing date. Hearings shall be conducted in accordance with procedures established 
by the Police Chief, but at a minimum shall include the following: 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(i) All parties involved shall have a right to offer testimonial, documentary, and tangible 
evidence bearing on the issues; may be represented by counsel; and shall have the right 
to confront and cross-examine witnesses. Any relevant evidence may be admitted that is 
the sort of evidence upon which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the 
conduct of serious affairs. Any hearing under this section may be continued for a 
reasonable time for the convenience of a party or a witness. 
 

(2) A permittee may be subject to suspension or revocation of the permit, or be subject to 
other appropriate disciplinary action, for any of the following causes arising from the acts or 
omissions of the permittee, or an employee, agent, partner, director, stockholder, or 
manager of an adult business: 
 

(i) If the building, structure, equipment, or location used by the adult business fails to 
comply with all applicable building, fire, electrical, plumbing, health, and zoning 
requirements of the Turlock Municipal Code, all applicable State and federal 
requirements of a similar nature which are customarily enforced by the City, and all 
provisions of these regulations and this Code relating to adult businesses, including the 
Adult Business Development and Performance Standards contained in this section. 
 
(ii) The permittee has knowingly made any false, misleading or fraudulent statement of 
material facts in the application for a permit, or in any report or record required to be filed 
with the City. 
 
(iii) The permittee, employee, agent, partner, director, stockholder, or manager of an 
adult business has knowingly allowed or permitted, and has failed to make a reasonable 
effort to prevent the occurrence of any of the following on the premises of the adult 
business: 
 

(aa) any act of unlawful sexual intercourse, sodomy, oral copulation, or masturbation. 
 
(ab) use of the establishment as a place where unlawful solicitations for sexual 
intercourse, sodomy, oral copulation, or masturbation occur. 
 
(ac) any conduct constituting a criminal offense which requires registration under 
Section 290 of the California Penal Code. 
 
(ad) the occurrence of acts of lewdness, assignation, or prostitution, including any 
conduct constituting violations of Sections 315, 316, or 318 or Subdivision b of 
Section 647 of the California Penal Code. 
 
(ae) any act constituting a violation of provisions in the California Penal Code relating 
to obscene matter or distribution of harmful matter to minors, including but not limited 
to Sections 311 through 313.4. 
 
(af) any conduct prohibited by this chapter. 
 

(iv) Failure to abide by any disciplinary action previously imposed by an appropriate City 
official. 
 



(3) After holding the hearing in accordance with the provisions of this section, if the Police 
Chief finds and determines that there are grounds for disciplinary action, based upon the 
severity of the violation, the Police Chief shall impose one (1) of the following: 
 

(i) A warning; 
 
(ii) Suspension of the permit for a specified period not to exceed six (6) months; 
 
(iii) Revocation of the permit. 
 

(j) Appeal. The decision of the Police Chief may be appealed as provided by Title 1, Chapter 4 
of this Code. 
 
9-2-103 Affordable housing density bonus.  
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the affordable housing density bonus is to: 
 

(1) Establish procedures and criteria for use in the consideration of density bonuses for 
lower income housing developments as defined in Section 65915 of the California 
Government Code; 
 
(2) Establish procedures for requesting developer incentives or concessions for the 
production of housing units and child care facilities as prescribed in Section 65915 of the 
California Government Code; and 
 
(3) Provide a significant contribution to the economic feasibility of lower income housing in 
proposed housing developments. 
 

(b) General provisions. The criteria and procedures set forth in Section 65915 of the California 
Government Code shall be applied to requests for density bonuses for affordable housing 
unless amended in this section. 
 
(c) Application procedures. The application for a density bonus, incentive or concession shall 
be submitted with the first application for approval of a housing development and shall be 
processed concurrently with any other planning permit required for the housing development. 
The application shall be submitted on form and contain such information and support data as 
prescribed by the Community Development Director. The application shall contain sufficient 
information to make the required determinations and findings defined in Section 65915 of the 
Government Code. 
 
(d) Fees. The City Council shall set the amount of the fees for the application required and 
authorized by this section. 
 
9-2-104 Automobile service stations, repair and washing. 
The following supplementary development regulations shall apply to the automobile service 
station, automobile repair, and automobile washing use classifications: 
 
(a) Lot size. 
 

(1) The minimum lot frontage along a public street shall be one hundred twenty five (125') 
feet. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(2) The minimum lot depth shall be one hundred (100') feet. 
 

(b) Curb cuts. 
 

(1) The minimum width of any curb cut shall be twenty five (25') feet. 
 
(2) The maximum width of any curb cut shall be thirty five (35') feet. 
 
(3) The total aggregate amount of curb cuts shall not exceed forty (40%) percent of the lot 
frontage. 
 

(c) Landscaping. 
 

(1) All service stations shall provide minimum landscaping as required by this chapter (also 
see Section 9-2-109) and the following: 
 

(i) There shall be a minimum planter with a net width of five (5') feet along all street 
frontages except at driveway openings. All planting areas shall have an “in place” 
irrigation system and shall be protected with six (6") inch wide concrete curbs. 
 
(ii) Landscaping along street frontages shall provide screening to a height of three (3') 
feet. 
 

(d) Service lanes. 
 

(1) The outside service lane or the lane closest to the street line shall have a minimum width 
of fifteen (15') feet as measured from the face of the planter to the face of the pump island. 
 
(2) Service lanes between two (2) pump islands shall have a minimum width of twenty (20') 
feet as measured from the inside face of the first pump island to the face of the second 
pump island. 
 
(3) The service lane between the pump island and the building shall have a minimum width 
of fifteen (15') feet as measured from the face of the pump island to the face of the building 
sidewalk. 
 

(e) Activities. 
 

(1) Unless otherwise permitted in the district in which the automobile service station is 
located, automobile service stations shall be limited to the sale of motor vehicle fuels and 
lubricants, tires, batteries, accessory items and minor motor vehicle repair. 
 
(2) All servicing shall be conducted in an enclosed building except that the following is 
permitted outside an enclosed building: pumping motor vehicle fluids, checking and 
supplementing various fluids, and mechanical inspection and adjustments not involving any 
disassembly. 
 
(3) Any automobile washing, drying or vacuuming done by mechanical means shall not be 
located any closer than one hundred (100') feet  from an R District without a Minor 
Discretionary Permit obtained as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 



 
(4) All automobile service stations, repair and washing shall comply with the noise standards 
contained in Article 3 of this chapter: Noise Standards. 
 

(f) Outdoor storage. The outside storage or display of merchandise or equipment shall be 
prohibited, except that the following shall be permitted: 
 

(1) Tire display. One (1) display rack per automobile service station. A maximum of twelve 
(12) tires may be displayed on a service station site. 
 
(2) Wiper display. Two (2) such wiper racks per automobile service station. 
 
(3) Lubricant display. One (1) lubricant display per pump island. 
 
(4) Vending machines. Three (3) per automobile service station. 
 

(g) Signs. All signing and outside advertising shall be in accordance with Article 5 of this 
chapter (Signs), provided that automobile service stations and convenience gas markets shall 
be permitted to display the following additional signs: 
 

(1) Price signs. A maximum of one (1) double-faced price sign per street frontage, of not 
more than twenty-five (25) square feet per face, and having a maximum height of six (6') 
feet. Such signs may only be used to indicate the actual current price of fuel. 
 
(2) Pump-topper signs. A single or double-faced sign of not more than twelve (12") inches 
by twenty (20") inches, constructed of motionless materials and mounted to the top of a fuel 
pump and used for identifying products or services available on the premises. No more than 
one (1) pump-topper sign per pump shall be allowed. 
 
(3) Island canopy sign. A sign, affixed to a canopy or other rigid roof structure directly 
above a pump island, the area of which shall not exceed fifteen (15) square feet per face. 
Island canopy signs shall be limited to one (1) such sign per automobile service station. 
 

9-2-105 Building projections into yards. 
Buildings, except accessory buildings or structures, may project into the required yards as 
follows: 
 
(a) Fireplaces or chimneys. Two and one-half (2.5') feet. 
 
(b) Terraces, platforms, decks and subterranean garages. Six (6') feet into a front or rear 
yard and two (2') feet into a side yard. The length of any projection exceeding twenty-five (25%) 
percent of the building length for that area may be allowed only upon approval of a minor 
exception as defined in Chapter 5 of this TMC 9-5-400ART. 
 
(c) Cornices, eaves, awnings and ornamental features. Two and one-half (2.5') feet. 
 
(d) Balconies and protruding windows. Five (5') feet into a front or rear yard and two (2') feet 
into a side yard, when constructed at least two (2’) feet above grade.  
 
(e) Stairs. Two and one-half (2.5') feet into a side yard and three (3') feet into a rear yard. 
 



(f) Minimum setback and other limitations. Building projections shall not encroach any closer 
than five (5') feet to a rear or front property line. At no time shall any portion of a building be 
allowed to project or extend into or over any required easement area. 
 
9-2-106 Development on existing lots of record. 
(a) Any lot or parcel of land under one (1) ownership and of record on the date of adoption of 
this  title that has a width, depth, or area less than required for the district in which it is located, 
where no adjoining land is owned by the same person, may be developed subject to the same 
property development regulations as a standard lot. 
 
(b) Any lot or parcel of land legally created after the date of adoption of this  title that has a width 
or area less than required for the district in which it is located may be developed subject to the 
same property development standards as a standard lot. 
 
(c) No substandard lot as set forth above shall be further reduced in area or width. 
 
9-2-107 Development on lots divided by district boundaries. 
Where a district boundary line divides a single parcel, the regulations applicable to each district 
shall be applied to the area of the parcel within that district. Uses and development regulations 
permitted in one (1) district may be extended into the portion of the parcel in the other district if 
authorized by an approved Minor Discretionary Permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
9-2-108 Exceptions to height limits. 
(a) In any R District. 
 

(1) Spires, cupolas, chimneys, radio and television antennas, and similar accessory 
structures shall be subject to setback regulations for the zoning district in which they are 
located. When such structure complies with the other development regulations stated for the 
zoning district and which do not exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of the district height limit 
or fifty (50') feet, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon obtaining an approved minor 
administrative approval (MAA) as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(2) Towers, water tanks, flagpoles and other necessary mechanical appurtenances covering 
not more than ten (10%) percent of the ground area covered by the structure to which they 
are accessory may be permitted provided they do not exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of 
the district height limit or fifty (50') feet, whichever is greater, upon obtaining an approved 
minor administrative approval (MAA) as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative 
and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(3) Any structure in an R District exceeding twenty-five (25%) percent of the district height 
limit or fifty (50') feet, whichever is greater, may be permitted only upon approval of a 
Conditional Use Permit by the Planning Commission. 
 

(b) In any C or I district. 
 

(1) A structure may exceed the district height limit by twenty-five (25%) percent subject to 
approval of a minor discretionary permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). Any approval of such permit is subject to 



finding that adjoining properties will not be adversely affected by blockage of light, air or the 
intrusion on privacy. 
 
(2) Any structure in a C or I district exceeding twenty-five (25%) percent of the district height 
limit may be permitted upon approval of a conditional use permit by the Planning 
Commission as set forth in TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits). 
 
 

9-2-109 Landscaping and irrigation. 
 
The following City of Turlock landscape and irrigation ordinance shall be used in conjunction 
with the “State of California Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance” enacted pursuant to 
California Code of Regulations Title 23, Waters Division 2, Department of Water Resources 
Chapter 2.7, “Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance”.  The City shall implement the 
ordinance and shall maintain an adapted version of the State ordinance for public distribution. 
 
(a) Purpose and intent. The purpose and intent of this section is to establish landscaping 
regulations that are intended to: 
 

(1) Enhance the aesthetic appearance of development in all areas of the City by providing 
standards relating to quality, quantity and functional aspects of landscaping and landscape 
screening. 
 
(2) Increase compatibility between residential and abutting commercial and industrial uses. 
 
(3) Reduce the heat and glare generated by development. 
 
(4) Establish a water conservation plan to reduce water consumption in the landscape 
environment using conservation principles. 
 
(5) Protect public health, safety, and welfare by minimizing the impact of all forms of physical 
and visual pollution, controlling soil erosion, screening incompatible land uses, preserving 
the integrity of neighborhoods, and enhancing pedestrian and vehicular traffic and safety. 

 
(b) Applicability. All development in the City shall comply with the provisions of this section 
which establishes the criteria for the preparation of landscape and irrigation plans required by 
this ordinance. All required landscaping shall be installed by the developer and approved by the 
Planning Division prior to the occupancy of any building, unless other arrangements are agreed 
to by the Director. 
 

  
1) Applicable projects. The following shall be subject to the provisions of this section: 

 

i) new construction and rehabilitated landscapes for public agency projects and 
private development projects requiring a discretionary land use permit, such as, 
but not limited to, minor administrative approvals, minor discretionary permits, 
design review, conditional use permits or a planned development; 
 

ii) new construction and rehabilitated landscapes for public agency projects and 
private development projects with a landscape area equal to or greater than 
2,500 square feet requiring a building and/or grading permit; 



 

iii) new construction and rehabilitated landscapes which are developer-installed in 
single-family and multi-family projects with a landscape area equal to or greater 
than 2,500 square feet requiring a building and/or grading permit; 

 

iv) new construction landscapes which are homeowner-provided and/or 
homeowner-hired in single-family and multi-family residential projects with a total 
project landscape area equal to or greater than 5,000 square feet requiring a 
building and/or grading permit; or 

 

v) any other projects that are determined to be applicable projects pursuant to the 
State of California Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance .(California Code 
of RegulationsTitle 23. WatersDivision 2. Department of Water Resources 
Chapter 2.7. Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance), as may be amended 
from time to time. 
 

2) Exempt projects.This ordinance does not apply to: 
 

i) Interior remodels, tenant improvements and demolitions; 
 

ii) Changes of use to any existing building; and 
 

iii) Routine maintenance of existing landscaping. 
 
(c) Statutory authority in case of conflicting provisions. Nothing in this section shall be 
deemed to affect, annul or abrogate any other laws or ordinances pertaining or applicable to the 
properties and areas affected by this  section. 
 
(d) Water conservation definition. "Water conservation" shall mean a combination of 
landscape features and techniques that in the aggregate reduce the demand for and 
consumption of water, including appropriate low water using plants, nonliving groundcover, a 
low percentage of turf coverage, permeable paving and water conserving irrigation techniques 
and systems. 
 

(e) Process. The Development Services Director shall establish a format for plans and any 

other procedural guidelines for submittal as deemed necessary. 

(1) Plans required. Plans for the development of required landscaping shall be submitted to 
the Engineering Services Division for review and approval prior to the issuance of any 
building permit. (The plan shall be prepared by a person authorized by the State of 
California to sign and stamp landscape design drawings or the contractor completing the 
work.) Where special conditions of design warrant, modifications may be submitted for 
consideration. 
 
(2) Plan review and approval. The Development Services Department shall review each 
project and proposed landscape plan for compliance with the landscape and water 
conservation requirements. 
 



(3) Alternative means of compliance. The Development Services Director may allow 
alternative means of complying with the requirements in this section provided the alternative 
achieves results comparable to those achieved through strict application of the provisions of 
this section. 

 

(f) Development standards. 

(1) Required. In the following designated districts, not less than the stipulated percent of 

gross site area shall be landscaped in accordance with this section: 

Landscape Area Requirements 

Zone District Required Landscaping (% of site) 

R-L/R-L4.5 30 

R-M 30 (a)(d) 

R-H 30 (a)(d) 

C-O 15(c) (d) 

C-C 10 (c) (d) 

C-H 7.5 (c) (d) 

C-T 7.5 (b) (c) (d) 

I-BP 7.5 (b)(c)(d) 

I 5 (c)(d) 

 

(a) In multiple-family developments of twelve (12) or more dwelling units, ten (10%) percent of 
the total building site shall be set aside and landscaped for the purposes of common 
recreational open space. Such ten (10%) percent may be included in the general landscaping 
requirements. 

(b) This requirement may be waived by the Development Services Director for remodeling, 
alterations, or renovations to existing buildings and developments on parcels or building sites 
where an existing building occupies a substantial portion of the site and there are no front yard 
or corner street side yard setback areas. 

(c) In commercial and industrial districts, where a lot larger than 10,000 square feet is to be 
developed in phases, the Development Services Director may determine that only the 
developed portion of the site need be landscaped. Provision shall be made, however, to insure 
that the landscape requirement can still be met upon full development of the site. This exception 
shall not apply to any setback along a public street which shall be landscaped upon the initial 



development of the site. Unlandscaped areas shall be continuously maintained free of weeds, 
litter and debris, and shall not become a source of nuisance to adjoining property. 

(d) A required “landscape strip” (per the City General Plan “Typical Street Elements and 
Widths”), abutting the front or corner side yard may be counted toward the landscaping 
requirement when maintained by the private property owner.  Commercial districts shall 
maintain a minimum landscaped building setback of ten (10’) feet from the back of the public 
sidewalk when the lot is adjacent to a public street, except as otherwise provided in an 
applicable specific or master plan. 
 

(2) Determination of landscaped areas. In determining landscaped areas, landscaped 
areas in the setback, private patios and all other areas not occupied by buildings, parking 
lots, vehicle storage areas, and driveways shall be included. Areas occupied by clubhouses, 
recreation buildings, pools, saunas, inter walkways, and similar amenities may be included 
as landscaped areas. In industrial zoning districts, areas planted along a public right-of-way 
shall qualify as one and one-half (1.5) times the area toward the overall required 
landscaping area. Planned landscaping areas within the public right-of-way may be included 
in the landscaped area provided the landscaped area is maintained as part of the property 
and abuts landscaped area located on the property. 
 
(3) Landscape materials and placement. All landscape areas shall demonstrate a 
recognizable pattern or theme for the overall development. To accomplish this, new 
landscaping and landscape areas shall conform to the following: 

(i) Plant materials shall be selected for maintenance efficiency, drought tolerance and 
adaptability and relationship to Turlock’s environment and climate. Trees and shrubs in 
reasonable numbers shall be used in the landscape design; ground cover alone shall not 
be acceptable. No one (1) species of plant shall exceed twenty (20) percent of the plant 
material. Landscaped areas shall incorporate a minimum of two (2) of the following 
plantings: (1) grasses and ground covers, (2) shrubs, and (3) trees. 

(ii) In all C and I Districts, plant materials shall be sized and spaced to achieve 
immediate effect and shall normally not be less than twenty-four (24") inch box for 
parking lot shade trees, fifteen (15) gallon container for trees, five (5) gallon container for 
shrubs, and a one (1) gallon container for mass planting. Non-turf areas, such as shrub 
beds, shall be top dressed with a bark chip mulch or approved alternative. 

(iii) Turf shall be limited to twenty-five (25) percent of the total landscaped area in all C 
and I Districts. In residential districts turf shall not exceed fifty (50%) percent of the total 
landscaped area. 

(aa) "Permeable paving" shall mean a paving material that permits water 
penetration to a soil depth of eighteen (18") inches or more, including non-porous 
surface material poured or laid in sections not exceeding one (1) square foot in area 
and collectively comprising less than two-thirds of the total surface area of the lot and 
loosely laid materials such as crushed stone or gravel. 

(ab) "Hardscape" shall mean areas covered with non-permeable paving, including 
buildings and other structures, parking lots, driveways, and walkways. 

(4) Landscape irrigation. Provisions shall be made for a permanent "in place" irrigation 
system to all landscaped areas required herein, including street tree wells. All new irrigation 
systems shall use Xeriscape principles including such techniques and materials as low 



precipitation sprinkler heads, bubblers, drip irrigation systems, timing devices and moisture 
sensors. All irrigation systems must be designed to minimize overspray onto impervious 
surfaces, such as building, sidewalks, parking areas, etc., through the use of such 
techniques as low-trajectory spray nozzles or underground low volume applicators. All 
irrigation system controllers shall be set in compliance with the day and hour watering 
requirements of the City of Turlock and shall be designed to minimize water use by installing 
automatic systems such as multi-start controllers and soil moisture sensors. 

(5) Site preparation and installation. 

(i) Prior to the planting of any materials, the compacted soils surrounding a building site 
will be returned to a friable condition. Friable condition shall mean returning the soil to an 
easily crumbled or loosely compacted condition down to a minimum depth per planting 
material requirements, whereby the root structure of newly planted material will be 
allowed to spread unimpeded. The soil must be returned to a friable condition to a 
minimum depth as required for the planting material. 

(ii) Trees should be adequate in trunk diameter to support the top area of the tree. Trees 
planted in landscaped less than ten (10’) feet in diameter shall be planted using a deep 
root planter in accordance with the adopted Turlock Standards, Specifications and 
Drawings. Trees, shrubs, and vines should have body and fullness that is typical of the 
species. 

(iii) All ground cover should be healthy, densely foliated, and well rooted cuttings, or one-
gallon container plants. 

(iv) The spacing of trees and shrubs should be appropriate to the species used. The 
plant materials should be spaced so that they do not interfere with the adequate lighting 
of the premises or restrict access to emergency apparatus such as fire hydrants or fire 
alarm boxes. Proper spacing should also insure unobstructed access for vehicles and 
pedestrians in addition to providing clear vision of the intersections from approaching 
vehicles. Plant material should conform to the following spacing standards: 

(aa) A minimum of twenty-five (25') feet from the property corner at a street 
intersection to the center of the first tree or large shrub. 

(ab) A minimum of fifteen (15') feet between center of trees and large shrubs to light 
standards. 

(ac) A minimum of fifteen (15') feet between center of trees or large shrubs and fire 
hydrants. 

(ad) A minimum of fifteen (15') feet from the intersection of a driveway with a street 
right-of-way to the center of any tree having a diameter larger than eighteen (18") 
inches at maturity or large shrub. 

(6) Protective barrier. All planting areas abutting a paved or concrete surface shall be 
protected with raised concrete curbs. All planting areas abutting undeveloped areas shall be 
protected by either a raised concrete or timber barrier. 

(7) Maintenance. Required planting areas shall be permanently maintained. As used in this 
section, "maintained" includes: watering, weeding, pruning, insect control, and replacement 



of plant materials and irrigation equipment as needed to preserve the health and 
appearance of plant materials. 

(8) Parking lot landscaping. Parking lots and parking structures shall be landscaped in 

accordance with TMC 9-2-200 ART. 

(9) Landscaping in rights-of-way. All land area within the public right-of-way adjoining all 
sides of any parcel or building site that is not otherwise covered with a building, structure, 
paving, or similar impervious surface shall be landscaped and maintained in conjunction 
with the landscaping installed on the adjoining property as regulated in this  section. 
Landscaping within the right-of-way shall not be used when determining the required 
percentage of landscaping as required in this article. 

(i) Design. The design of the landscaping of the public right-of-way shall be included in 
the landscape plan and meet the requirements set forth in this section. Adequate space 
shall be provided in the landscape area to allow free, unrestricted growth and 
development of the landscaping and street trees. 

(ii) Street trees. Street trees shall be planted in accordance with the Theme Street List 
or as otherwise set forth in Article 5 of Chapter 7-7 of this Code relating to street trees 
and in accordance with the street tree planting standards as established by the City 
Engineer. 

(10) Driveway and corner visibility. All landscaping material shall be maintained in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 9-2-215: Driveway and corner visibility. 

(11) Landscaping along walls. All solid walls over three (3') feet in height that are adjacent 
to public streets or right-of-ways shall comply with one (1) of the following: 

(i) Be fully landscaped with vines and/or other plant materials to prevent the placement 
of graffiti. All landscaping shall include the installation of a permanent irrigation system. 

(ii) If not landscaped, shall be constructed of split-face concrete, brick or some other type 
of material that will discourage the placement of graffiti. 

(12) Landscape screening of R properties. Where a commercial or industrial site adjoins 
an R District, screening which is at least seventy-five (75%) percent opaque shall be 
provided. Where fences are required, such fencing shall be landscaped as appropriate. 

(13) Landscape screening of above-ground equipment. An average three (3’) foot high 
continuous screen shall be provide for all above-ground equipment and utilities greater than 
two (2’) feet in height. 

(14) Model homes. To promote landscape water conservation through education, all single 
family residential developments with more than two (2) model homes to be constructed by a 
developer, shall provide for landscaping the models entirely with water saving landscaping 
and irrigation in accordance with the following requirements: 

(i) Plant Materials. Each "water saving" model home to be landscaped shall contain 
exclusively low water use plant materials as identified on a suggested planting list 
available from the Development  Services Department or approved by the Development 
Services Director. 



(ii) Irrigation System. Each "water saving" model home shall contain exclusively an 
irrigation system that provides a high efficiency in water application according to site 
conditions. (Drip or trickle may not be used in turf areas). 

(iii) Signs. Each development with "water saving" model homes shall provide the 
following information to potential buyers: 

(aa) Front Yard Sign. A four (4) square foot sign shall be located in the front yard of 
each "water saving" model such that it is clearly visible to buyers. The sign shall 
indicate that the model features a water saving landscape and irrigation design. 

(ab) Interior Display. A drawing, or combination of drawings, shall be displayed 
inside each "water saving" model or the sales office which provides a schematic of 
the landscape. These drawings shall include a key identifying the common name of 
the plants used in the "water saving" model yards. A brochure with the same 
information may be distributed with the sales information to potential buyers to satisfy 
this requirement. 

(iv) Literature. Additional literature describing water conserving landscaping and 
irrigation shall also be made available to the potential buyer and displayed. 

 (15) Landscaping along Highway 99. Wherever property abuts Highway 99, a minimum 
ten-(10) foot-deep landscaped bed shall be installed.  In cases where the property is part of 
an approved Master or Specific Plan, the Plan document takes precedence over the 
standards contained in this landscape ordinance. In all cases, the landscaped bed shall 
include a combination of trees, shrubs, and groundcover.  
 

9-2-110 Family day care home. 
(a) Small family day care home. No permit is required to operate a small family day care home 
and the use shall be considered an accessory use to a residence. 
 
(b) Large family day care home. A permit shall be issued by the Development Services 
Director or his/her designee to operate a large family day care home upon the issuance of a 
minor administrative approval, as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits), upon finding that: 
 

(1) Residency. The site is the principal residence of the operator and the day care is clearly 
incidental and secondary to the use of the property for residential purposes. 
 
(2) General Plan and zoning compliance. The property complies with all applicable 
General Plan policies and zoning regulations established in the Turlock Municipal Code 
(TMC). 
 
(3) Spacing and concentration. The property is located at least three hundred (300') feet 
from any other State licensed large family day care home on the same street, or a street that 
is aligned and connected with that street unless bisected by an arterial street or expressway. 
 
(4) Traffic control. The family day care home would not adversely affect traffic and 
circulation of the neighborhood, including but not limited to blocking driveways or requiring 
double parking to load and unload guests. 
 



(5) Building modifications. The residential character and appearance of the dwelling does 
not have to be altered in any way to accommodate the family day care use. 
 
(6) Outdoor play areas. All outdoor play areas are clearly delineated through the use of 
fences, landscaping or other materials constructed in accordance with applicable laws and 
regulations. 
 
(7) Operator agrees to the following additional conditions of approval: 
 

(i) Fire clearance. Prior to commencing the use, the operator shall obtain certification by 
the Turlock Fire Department that the facility complies with the standards established by 
the State Fire Marshal as set forth in Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
(ii) Signage. The operator agrees not to erect any off- or on-premises signs for the 
family day care home except as set forth in TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 
 
(iii) Noise control. The family day care home shall be operated in compliance with the 
City of Turlock noise regulations, TMC 9-2-300ART (Noise Standards). 
 
(iv) Outdoor play areas. The operator agrees to keep all activities related to the 
operation of the family day care on site at all times. 
 
(v) Access to inspect. The property owner and/or operator shall allow the City to enter 
the property to determine compliance with the conditions of the Large Family Daycare 
permit during normal operating hours of the family day care home. 
 
(vi) Compliance with laws and regulations. The day care operator acknowledges and 
agrees to comply with all applicable State, Federal and local laws and regulations. The 
operator shall provide evidence of compliance with State Department of Social Services 
requirements by providing a copy of the approved family day care license to the City 
prior to commencing operation of the family day care home. Upon revocation or denial of 
the State license, the permit issued pursuant to this section shall be automatically 
terminated. 
 

(c) Conditional use permit. When the findings set forth in this section for the issuance of a  
Large Family Daycare permit cannot be made, an application for a conditional use permit may 
be made as set forth in TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances), subject to 
the conditions of approval listed in this section and any other conditions established by the 
Planning Commission and/or City Council. 
 
(d) Use of residential garage. Family day care operations are not permitted in the garage area 
of a residence, except when the garage has been properly converted to habitable space through 
the issuance of a building permit and the space has met all applicable laws and regulations. 
Prior to finalizing the building permit, the property owner shall record a restrictive use covenant 
stating that the converted garage shall be returned to its original state upon the cessation of the 
family day care use and/or the sale of the dwelling unit. 
 
9-2-111 Mobile home development. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to establish the basis for evaluating the adequacy of 
a mobile home park in residential areas. Provisions are intentionally general with the intent of 
allowing flexibility and further detailed evaluation on a case-by-case basis. 



 
(b) Permit required. Mobile home parks shall be deemed permitted land uses in all land 
planned and zoned for residential land uses as designated by the Turlock General Plan, except 
that a conditional use permit must first be obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(c) General requirements. 
 

(1) A mobile home park shall not be less than one (1) acre in size. 
 
(2) A mobile home park development shall meet or exceed the minimum standards set forth 
in the zoning district in which it is located. This includes, but is not limited to, density 
consistent with the Turlock General Plan, yards, distance between structures, height, usable 
open space, fences and walls, off-street parking and loading, signs, outdoor facilities, refuse 
storage areas, performance standards, nonconforming uses, and recreational vehicle 
storage, except that such standards may be changed to allow for unique site design 
requirements for mobile home parks. 
 

9-2-112 Outdoor storage. 
(a) Vacant lots. No outdoor storage shall occur on any vacant parcel. No vehicles may be 
stored or displayed for sale on any vacant lot or at any vacant business location. Building 
materials for use on the same premises may be stored on the parcel during the time that a valid 
building permit is in effect for construction. 
 
(b) Residential districts. There shall be no visible storage of motor vehicles, trailers, airplanes, 
boats, or their composite parts unless in accordance with Section 9-2-114: Permitted locations 
of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. Loose rubbish, garbage, junk, or other 
receptacles; tents; or building or manufacturing materials in any portion of a residential lot shall 
not be permitted. 
 
(c) Commercial districts. Unless otherwise permitted in this section, outdoor storage and 
display of merchandise, materials, or equipment, or the conduct of business outdoors, is 
prohibited unless authorized by a minor discretionary permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-
5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). Unless specifically 
authorized, outdoor facilities shall not be located within the public right-of-way. 
 
(d) Permitted exceptions. Outdoor storage or display of the following merchandise, materials, 
or equipment, or the conduct of business outdoors, is permitted subject to the following 
standards and conditions: 
 

(1) Automobiles, boats, recreational vehicles and motorcycles. Outdoor storage and 
display shall be limited to vehicles or equipment offered for sale or rent only, excepting such 
vehicles in R Districts in accordance with Section 9-2-114: Permitted locations of mobile 
homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 
 

(e) Screening. A solid fence or wall shall be required for all uses requiring a screen. The height 
of merchandise, materials, and equipment stored or displayed shall not exceed the height of the 
screening fence or wall. The Development Services Director may require additional screening in 
highly visible areas and may impose reasonable restrictions on the type of storage or display or 
the location of outdoor storage and display areas to avoid adverse visual effects. All solid walls 
or fencing shall be landscaped in accordance with Section 9-2-109: Landscaping and irrigation. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


 
9-2-113 Planned developments. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the planned development standards and procedures is: 
 

(1) To ensure orderly and thorough planning and review procedures that will result in quality 
urban design; 
 
(2) To encourage variety and avoid monotony in developments by allowing greater freedom 
and flexibility with the use of alternative development standards; 
 
(3) To provide a mechanism whereby the City may authorize desirable developments 
consistent with the Turlock General Plan; 
 
(4) To encourage allocation and improvement of common open space in residential areas, 
and provide for maintenance of the open space at the expense of those who will directly 
benefit from it; 
 
(5) To encourage the preservation of serviceable existing structures of historic value or 
artistic merit by providing the opportunity to use them imaginatively for purposes other than 
that for which they were originally intended; and 
 
(6) To encourage the assembly of properties that might otherwise be developed in unrelated 
increments to the detriment of surrounding neighborhoods. 
 

(b) Applicability. No uses or structures shall be permitted except the uses and structures 
approved under the planned development. Specifically, building elevations and detailed site 
plans including, but not limited to, the location of all proposed buildings, open space, 
landscaping, and parking areas shall be submitted with the application. 
 
(c) Permit required. All planned developments shall be required to rezone the property to the 
appropriate Planned Development (PD) designation as provided in TMC 9-5-101 et seq. 
 
(d) Conditions of approval. In granting any planned development district, the City of Turlock 
may impose conditions deemed necessary or desirable to maintain neighborhood compatibility 
and to protect the public health, safety, and welfare. The conditions of approval shall be 
imposed by resolution of the City Council upon a recommendation by the Planning Commission 
in conjunction with the planned development approval. 
 
(e) Development regulations. Property development regulations applicable to each district 
shall govern as baseline regulations. Development may vary from the baseline provided all of 
the following findings can be made: 
 

(1) Building and site designs are consistent with the Turlock General Plan and any other 
applicable plans and policies adopted by the Turlock City Council; 
 
(2) The proposed changes are compensated for or mitigated by higher building or site 
development standards elsewhere on the site; and 
 
(3) The proposed changes will not adversely affect adjoining properties. 
 



(f) Development schedules (P-D). An application for a planned development district shall be 
accompanied by a development schedule indicating the anticipated date when construction of 
the project can be expected to begin, the anticipated rate of development, and the completion 
date. For good cause shown by the applicant, the Planning Commission may extend the time 
limits imposed by the development schedule. 
 
(g) Expiration. Upon expiration of the approved development schedule for any planned 
development or one (1) year from the date of enactment if no schedule has been approved, the 
development rights and planned development zoning designation for the property shall be 
deemed expired and the designation shall automatically be rezoned to its underlying base 
zoning district. 
 

(1) A planned development is valid as long as: 
 

(i) The use has commenced; or 
 
(ii) A building or construction permit has been issued by the Building Official or City 
Engineer and construction has started and diligently pursued toward completion of the 
project; or 
 
(iii) Other equivalent permit activity has occurred which, in the opinion of the 
Development Services Director, demonstrates a good-faith effort to initiate construction 
or operation of the approved use. 
 

(h) Amendments to planned developments. Amendments to an approved planned 
development shall be authorized as follows: 
 

(1) Amendments involving minor site plan modifications, no expansions, and/or no changes 
in use shall be reviewed by the Development Services Director. 
 
(2) Amendments involving major site modifications, expansions of up to twenty-five (25%) 
percent of gross land area or floor area, changes in use resulting in equal or lesser intensity 
than previously approved, time extensions, and/or a change in conditions from a conditional 
use permit approved by the Planning Commission  pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(3) Amendments involving expansions that are greater than twenty-five (25%) percent of 
gross land area or floor area, changes in use resulting in greater intensity than previously 
approved, and changes that will result in a significant impact upon adjacent properties shall 
be reviewed by the City Council, upon a recommendation of a conditional use permit by the 
Planning Commission, pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and 
Variances). 
 

9-2-114  Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational vehicles, and campers. 
(a) For the purposes of this section, unless otherwise apparent from the context, the following 
words and phrases are defined as follows: 
 

(1) “Utility trailer” shall mean and include a vehicle without motive power, not exceeding 
twenty (20') feet in length, eight (8') feet in width, and thirteen and one-half (13-1/2') feet in 
overall height, designed so that it can be drawn behind a motor vehicle in accordance with 
the California Vehicle Code. A private utility trailer, as defined herein, is considered 



incidental to the owners residential use of a property. It is not intended to mean truck trailers 
that would be a single or double trailer to be pulled behind a commercial vehicle or similar 
tractor-truck vehicle. 
 
(2) “Boat” shall mean a vehicle for traveling in or on water, not exceeding forty (40') feet in 
body length, eight (8') feet in width, or thirteen and one half (13-1/2') feet in overall height. 
The height shall include the trailer if the boat is mounted on a trailer. A vehicle meeting this 
definition, except for size, shall not be deemed to be incidental to a dwelling unit and not 
permitted to park in residential areas except as allowed herein. 
 

(b) Mobile homes - permitted locations. A mobile home is permitted to be placed, kept, 
maintained or occupied, within the City in the following areas or locations: 
 

(1) Within all residential areas of the City: only within a recognized mobile home 
development. 
 
(2) Within all nonresidential areas of the City: only within a mobile home park or trailer park, 
except for accessory storage, sale, or business uses as permitted in such zone. 
 

(c) Recreational vehicles, utility trailers, boats and boat trailers - permitted locations. A 
recreational vehicle, utility trailer, or boat and boat trailer is permitted to be placed, kept, and 
maintained, within the City in the following areas or locations: 
 

(1) In all residential zones. 
 

(i) Parking is permitted inside any enclosed accessory structure or carport, which 
structure otherwise conforms to the zoning requirements of the particular R zone where 
located. 
 
(ii) Parking shall take place upon a paved driveway or pad designed and installed for 
such intended use that complies with the requirements, restrictions, and conditions 
constructed in accordance with TMC 9-2-207: Parking in the R District. 
 
(iii) Parking is permitted outside in the interior side yard or rear yard provided it is not 
closer than four (4') feet to any parcel line or lot line and does not block the only window 
that can be opened or door of a room used for human habitation. Recreational vehicles, 
utility trailers, boats, boat trailers, and campers under seven (7’) feet in height are not 
subject to this limitation when they are not located in the front yard and are screened by 
a solid fence seven (7’) feet in height. 
 
(iv) Parking is permitted outside within the front yard when the following conditions exist: 
 

(aa) Space is not available in the rear yard or side yard, or there is no reasonable 
access to either the side yard or rear yard (a corner lot is always deemed to have 
reasonable access to the rear yard and a fence is not necessarily deemed to prevent 
reasonable access); or 
 
(ab) Interior parking is not possible anywhere on the property. 
 
(ac) In such cases, the following regulations shall govern the front yard parking of 
such a vehicular unit: 



1. No part of the unit shall impede safe pedestrian circulation on the public 
sidewalk or public thoroughfare (right-of-way) or block corner visibility for 
pedestrians or motorists; and 
2. The unit shall be owned by the resident on whose property the unit is parked 
for storage; and 
 
3. The unit shall be no closer than two and one-half (2.5') feet to any parcel line 
or lot line. 
 

(2) In all nonresidential areas. 
 

(i) Only within an existing mobile home or travel trailer park development, except for 
commercial storage, sale, or business uses, as permitted in such nonresidential zone. 
 

(d) Recreational vehicles, boat and boat trailers - temporary occupancy, uses or 
parking. The temporary occupancy, use, or parking of any recreational vehicle, boat and boat 
trailer beyond that described above shall only be permitted in the City as described below: 
 

(1) Temporary overnight sleeping is permitted within a recreational vehicle on property in a 
residential area for a maximum of fourteen (14) days in any one (1) calendar year provided, 
however, cooking shall not be permitted at any time. Any temporary occupancy of a utility 
trailer is prohibited at all times. 
 
(2) Any temporary connections to electrical utilities or water service for such units is 
permitted only for charging batteries and water tanks for a period not to exceed forty-eight 
(48) hours or other incidental or temporary uses as permitted herein. Any permanent 
connections to sewer lines, water lines, or electricity is prohibited. 
 
(3) The temporary parking for such a unit anywhere on the premises is permitted during 
active loading or unloading, including the temporary use of electricity or propane fuel, when 
it is necessary to prepare such a unit for a temporary recreational use, but not to exceed 
forty-eight (48) hours. 
 

(e) Owner permission required. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (c), herein, it 
shall be unlawful for any person to place, keep, maintain, or occupy, or permit to be placed, 
kept, maintained, or occupied, any mobile home, recreational vehicle, utility trailer, boat or boat 
trailer, or camper upon any lot, piece, parcel of land or upon any street, highway or other public 
right-of-way without the permission of the private property owner or prior written permission of 
the public entity. 
 
(f) Occupancy on public streets, alleys, or rights of way prohibited. It shall be unlawful for 
any person to occupy, or permit to be occupied for dwelling purposes any mobile home, 
recreational vehicle, travel trailer, camp car, or camper upon any street, highway or other public 
right-of-way without the prior written permission of the Chief of Police, or his or her designee. 
 
9-2-115 Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the recycling and solid waste disposal regulations is to: 
 

(1) Ensure the provision of adequate locations, compatible with surrounding land uses, for 
the collection, separation, processing and shipping of recyclable materials including 
newspapers, plastic, glass and aluminum; 



 
(2) Regulate the location of recycling and trash containers and enclosures in order to 
provide adequate, convenient space for the collection, storage, and loading of recycled 
materials at multifamily residential, commercial, and industrial land use sites; 
 
(3) Increase the recycling of reusable materials consistent with statewide goals to reduce 
solid waste disposal; and 
 
(4) Decrease the impact of the consumption of renewable and nonrenewable resources on 
the environment. 
 

(b) Applicability. 
 

Applicability of Recycling and Solid Waste Disposal Regulations 

Zoning District Applicability 

R 4 or more dwelling units 

C All development (a) 

I All development 

PS All development 

(a) For residential development in C Districts, applies only to 4 or more multifamily dwellings 

 
(c) New development regulations. 
 

(1) Materials, construction, design and location. 
 

(i) The enclosure shall comply with the City of Turlock Standards and Specifications for 
construction and materials. 
 
(ii) Each recycling and trash enclosure shall be designed to allow walk-in access without 
having to open the main enclosure gate. 
 
(iii) The property owner shall supply and maintain adequate bins and containers for 
recycling and waste disposal. 
 
(iv) Whenever feasible, the recycling collection area and the trash collection area shall 
be adjacent to one another and in one (1) enclosure. 
 

(2) Landscaping. A two (2') foot perimeter surrounding each recycling and trash enclosure, 
exclusive of access to the enclosure, shall be planted with landscaping and vines to 
discourage graffiti. 

 



(3) Setbacks. No recycling or trash enclosures shall be located in any front or corner side 
yard. 
 
(4) Deviation from standards. The Development Services Director may permit deviations 
from these standards, when the application of these standards prevents development of the 
parcel, upon approval of a minor administrative approval in accordance with TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 

(d) Existing development guidelines. The following guidelines shall apply to all existing 
development in R, C, I and PS Districts. 
 

(1) Existing trash enclosures. If existing development has an existing trash enclosure, any 
recycling containers shall be located inside the trash enclosure. If it is not possible to locate 
the required recycling containers in the trash enclosure, the recycling containers shall be 
located adjacent to the trash enclosure and shall be appropriately screened. 
 
(2) No existing trash enclosures. If the existing development does not have an existing 
trash enclosure, any recycling containers shall be located adjacent to the existing trash 
facilities and shall be appropriately screened in accordance with Subsection (c)(1), above. 
 
(3) Waiver of parking, landscaping areas or open space requirement. In order to meet 
any recycling and trash enclosure requirements, an existing development may use one (1) 
parking space, landscaping area or open space for the location of the recycling containers if 
the Development Services Director can find that the loss of parking, landscaping area or 
open space will not have any adverse effect on the need for such areas or the aesthetics of 
the existing development. Such a waiver shall be granted upon approval of a minor 
administrative approval in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(4) Setbacks. No recycling or trash enclosures shall be located in any front or corner side 
yard. 
 

(e) Exceptions. The Development Services Director may grant exceptions to this section when 
the Director finds that existing conditions prevent its practical application upon approval of a 
minor administrative approval in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
9-2-116 Recycling facilities. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the recycling facilities standards and regulations is to establish 
regulations governing recycling, consistent with the requirements of the California Beverage 
Container Recycling and Litter Reduction Act of 1986 and its amendments. 
 
(b) Definitions. 
 

(1) Bulk reverse vending machine shall mean a reverse vending machine designed to 
accept more than one (1) container at a time and to compute the refund or credit due on the 
basis of weight. 
 
(2) Collection facility, large shall mean a center for the acceptance by donation, redemption, 
or purchase of recyclable materials from the public occupying more than five hundred (500) 



square feet and may include permanent structures as well as mobile units, bulk reverse 
vending machines, and Kiosk-type units. 
 
(3) Collection facility, small shall mean a center for the acceptance by donation, redemption, 
or purchase of recyclable materials from the public occupying less than five hundred (500) 
square feet which may include: 
 

(i) A mobile unit; 
 
(ii) Bulk reverse vending machines or a grouping of reverse vending machines 
occupying more than fifty (50) square feet; 
 
(iii) Kiosk-type units that may include permanent structures; or 
 
(iv) Unattended containers placed for the donation of recyclable materials. 
 

(4) Processing facility shall mean a building or enclosed space used for the collection and 
processing of recyclable materials. Processing means the preparation of material for 
efficient shipment, or to an end-user’s specifications, by such means as baling, briquetting, 
compacting, flattening, grinding, crushing, mechanical sorting, shredding, cleaning, or 
remanufacturing. 
 
(5) Processing facility, heavy shall mean a processing facility other than a light- processing 
facility. 
 
(6) Processing facility, light shall mean a processing facility occupying less than 50,000 
square feet and including equipment for bailing, briquetting, crushing, compacting, grinding, 
shredding or sorting of source-separated recyclable materials, except ferrous metals other 
than food and beverage containers, and repairing of reusable materials. 
 
(7) Recyclable material shall mean material including, but not limited to metals, glass, plastic 
and paper which are intended for reuse, remanufacture, or reconstitution for the purpose of 
using the altered form. Recyclable material does not include refuse or hazardous materials, 
but may include used motor oil collected and transported in accordance with Section 
25250.11   of the California Health and Safety Code. 
 
(8) Recycling facility shall mean a center for the collection and/or processing of recyclable 
materials. A certified recycling facility or certified processor means a recycling facility 
certified by the California Department of Conservation as meeting the requirements of the 
California Beverage Container Recycling and Litter Reduction Act of 1986. On-site storage 
containers or processing facilities used solely for the recycling of material generated by 
residential property, business or manufacturer are not recycling centers for the purposes of 
this section. 
 
(9) Reverse vending machine shall mean an automated mechanical device that accepts at 
least one (1) or more types of empty beverage containers including aluminum cans, glass 
and plastic bottles, and issues a cash refund or a redeemable credit slip. A reverse vending 
machine may sort and process containers mechanically, provided that the entire process is 
enclosed within the machine. 
 



(10) Single-fee revenue vending machine shall mean a reverse vending machine designed 
to accept individual containers one (1) at a time. 
 

(c) Permits required. No person shall permit the placement, construction, or operation of any 
recycling facility without first obtaining a permit as follows: 
 

Recycling Facility Permit Requirements 

Type of Facility Districts Permitted Permit Required 

Bulk reverse vending machine 

and small collection 

Large collection 

Light processing 

Heavy processing 

All C, I and PS 

CH and I 

I 

I 

Zoning Clearance 

Minor Discretionary Permit 

Minor Discretionary Permit 

Conditional Use Permit 

 
(d) Permits for multiple sites. The Development Services Director may grant a single Site Plan 
Permit in accordance the procedures for a minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-
5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits) to allow more than one (1) 
bulk reverse vending machine or small collection facility located on different sites under the 
following conditions: 
 

(1) The operator of each of the proposed facilities is the same; 
 
(2) The proposed facilities are determined by the Director to be similar in nature, size and 
intensity of activity; and 
 
(3) All the applicable criteria and standards set forth in this section are met for each 
proposed facility. 
 

(e) Design criteria and standards. 
 

(1) Reverse vending machines. 
 

(i) No machine shall obstruct pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 
(ii) No required parking space shall be occupied. 
 
(iii) Each machine shall be clearly marked to identify the type of material to be deposited, 
operating instructions, and the identity and phone number of the operator or responsible 
person to call if the machine is inoperative. 
 
(iv) The maximum sign area is four (4) square feet per machine, exclusive of operating 
instructions. 
 
(v) Adequate nighttime lighting shall be provided. 
 



(vi) No machine located within three hundred (300') feet of an R District shall be visible 
from residences or public right-of-way located in an R District. 
 

(2) Small collection facilities. 
 

(i) Small collection facilities shall be no larger than five hundred (500) square feet, shall 
be set back at least ten (10') feet from a front or side property line, and shall not obstruct 
pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 
(ii) No power-driven processing equipment shall be used except for reverse vending 
machines. 
 
(iii) All containers shall be constructed and maintained with durable waterproof and 
rustproof material, covered when the site is not attended, secured from unauthorized 
entry or removal of material, and of a capacity sufficient to accommodate materials 
collected. 
 
(iv) All recyclable material shall be stored in containers or in a mobile unit vehicle. 
 
(v) Attended facilities located within one hundred (100') feet of the boundary of an R 
District shall operate only between 9:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. 
 
(vi) Containers shall be clearly marked to identify the type of material that may be 
deposited. The facility shall be clearly marked identifying the name and telephone 
number of the facility operator, the hours of operation, and a notice stating that no 
material shall be left outside the recycling containers. 
 
(vii) The maximum sign area shall be sixteen (16) square feet exclusive of informational 
requirements and operational instruction. Directional sign bearing no advertising 
message may be installed with the approval of the Development Services Director if 
necessary to facilitate traffic circulation, or if the facility is not visible from the public right-
of-way. 
 
(viii) No additional parking spaces will be required for customers of a small collection 
facility located at the established site of a host use. One (1) space will be provided for 
the attendant, if needed. 
 
(ix) No required parking spaces shall be occupied by the facility. 
 

(3) Large collection facilities. 
 

(i) A large collection facility shall be located at least three hundred (300') feet from an R 
District. 
 
(ii) Each facility shall be in an enclosed building or within an area enclosed by a solid 
masonry wall at least eight (8') feet in height with landscaping. 
 
(iii) Six (6) parking spaces shall be for customers and one (1) parking space shall be 
provided for each commercial vehicle operated by the recycling facility. 
 



(iv) Power-driven processing, including aluminum foil and can compacting, bailing, 
plastic shredding, or other light-processing activities necessary for efficient temporary 
storage and shipment of material may be allowed if noise mitigation and other conditions 
are met. 
 

(4) Processing facilities (light- and heavy-processing). 
 

(i) Processors will operate in a wholly enclosed building except for incidental storage, or 
within an area enclosed on all sides by an opaque fence or wall not less than eight (8') 
feet in height and landscaped on all street frontages and shall be located at least five 
hundred (500') feet from an R District except that such facilities may be located closer 
provided a Conditional Use Permit is obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(ii) Power-driven processing shall be permitted provided all noise-level requirements are 
met in accordance with TMC 9-2-300ART (Noise Standards). Light-processing facilities 
are limited to baling, briquetting, crushing, compacting, grinding, shredding and sorting 
of source-separated recyclable materials and repairing of reusable materials. 
 

(5) All collection and processing facilities. 
 

(i) No facility shall occupy a required front or corner side yard, and all regulations 
applicable to the principal structure on the site shall apply to collection and processing 
facilities except as provided in this section. 
 
(ii) Facilities shall be designed to be compatible with the architectural character of 
adjacent structures. 
 
(iii) A large collector or processing facility may accept used motor oil for recycling from 
the generator in accordance with Section 25250.11 of the California Health and Safety 
Code. 
 
(iv) All exterior storage of material shall be in sturdy containers or enclosures that are 
covered, secured, and maintained in good condition. Storage containers for flammable 
material shall be constructed of non-flammable material. Any outdoor storage containers 
or materials shall not exceed the height of any screening fence or wall within seventy-
five (75') feet of such fence or wall. 
 
(v) All facilities shall be administered by on-site personnel during hours the facility is 
open. If a processing facility is located within five hundred (500') feet of an R District, it 
shall not be in operation between 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. unless such operating hours 
are extended by a conditional use permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(vi) Any containers provided for after-hours donation of recyclable materials shall be of 
sturdy, rustproof construction; shall have sufficient capacity to accommodate materials 
collected; and shall be secure from unauthorized entry or removal of materials. 
 
(vii) Containers shall be clearly marked to identify the type of material that may be 
deposited. There shall be displayed a notice stating that no material shall be left outside 



the recycling containers. All materials shall be kept in the containers to prevent creating 
a litter nuisance at the site or on any adjacent properties. 
 
(viii) Sign requirements shall be those provided for in the zoning district in which the 
facility is located. In addition, each facility shall be clearly marked with the name and 
phone number of the facility operator and the hours of operation. 
 

9-2-117 Salvage and wrecking operations. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of the salvage and wrecking operations standards and regulations is 
to provide opportunities for locating salvage and wrecking operations in industrial areas so as 
not to have an adverse impact on adjacent land uses or groundwater supplies. 
 
(b) Design criteria and standards. 
 

(1) Salvage and wrecking operations shall not be located any closer than five hundred (500') 
feet from any A, R, C (except CH) or PS District or any such land so designated in the 
Turlock Area General Plan. 
 
(2) Salvage and wrecking operations shall be conducted wholly within an area enclosed by a 
solid masonry wall at least eight (8') feet in height unless located on an industrial zoned 
property that abuts industrial zoned properties on all sides. 
 
(3) Any outdoor storage shall not exceed the height of the solid masonry wall within seventy-
five (75') feet of such wall. 
 
(4) No hazardous substances or hazardous wastes, as defined in 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 
(14), shall be released on, under or about the site and no material shall be discharged on, 
under or about the site that could affect the quality of the ground or surface waters within the 
meaning of the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Act, as amended, Water Code 
Section 13000, et seq. For the purpose of this section, "release" shall have the meaning 
provided for in 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 (22). 
 

9-2-118 Screening of mechanical equipment. 
Exterior mechanical equipment, except solar collectors affixed to the roof and residential utility 
meters, shall be screened from public view on all sides. Equipment to be screened includes, but 
is not limited to, heating, air conditioning, refrigeration equipment, plumbing lines, duct work, 
and transformers. Satellite dish antennas and microwave equipment shall be screened in 
accordance with TMC 9-2-101: Accessory buildings or structures. 
 
9-2-119 Second dwelling units. 
A second dwelling unit on a single or multi-family residential zoned lot may be permitted subject 
to first securing a ministerial approval from the Development Services Director or his/her 
designee in each case and when the following conditions are met: 
 
(a) The lot must contain an existing single-family dwelling. 
 
(b) One (1) additional off-street parking space meeting City standards shall be required. Off-
street parking spaces for a second dwelling unit may be provided with tandem parking. 
 
(c) The second dwelling unit shall conform to all height, setback, lot coverage, architectural 
review, site plan review, density, fees, charges, and other zoning requirements applicable. 



 
(d) The second dwelling unit may be occupied by a renter, but shall not be independently sold. 
 
(e) An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety Code, and a 
manufactured home, as defined in Section 18007 of the Health and Safety Code, are permitted 
as a second dwelling unit pursuant to compliance with the provisions of this section. 
 
(f) The second dwelling unit is subject to architectural review to ensure compatibility with the 
main dwelling unit and surrounding dwelling units in terms of scale, height, and exterior design 
and treatment as provided in the design guidelines. More specifically, the second dwelling unit 
shall incorporate compatible architectural characteristics including roof pitch and style, window 
and door detailing, exterior materials, textures, colors, and finishes. 
 

 9-2-120 Underground utilities. 

All electrical, gas, telephone, cable television, and similar distribution lines, including existing 
distribution lines, providing immediate service to a development site shall be installed 
underground within the site, except: 
 
(a) Above ground installation shall be allowed in Agriculture Districts; or 
 
(b) The Development Services Director may waive the undergrounding requirement if it can be 
demonstrated to the Director that site conditions make underground placement impractical. 
 
9-2-121 Neighborhood stores. 
Development standards for neighborhood stores in residential districts shall be as follows: 
 
(a) Neighborhood stores shall be located on corner lots only. No store shall be located within 
1,000 feet of another commercial facility. 
 
(b) On-site parking shall be provided at a minimum of one (1) space per three hundred (300) 
square feet of gross floor area with a maximum of one (1) space per two hundred (200) square 
feet of gross floor area. Parking shall not face directly onto adjoining streets or right-of-ways. 
Any existing alleyway may be utilized for access. 
 
(c) On-site loading and unloading shall be provided in accordance with Section 9-2-218: 
Location and design of off-street loading spaces. Parking area driveways may be utilized where 
they meet the standards of Article 2 of this chapter. 
 
(d) The maximum sign area allowed is one-half (1/2) square foot of sign area per one (1) lineal 
foot of building frontage. Freestanding signs shall not be permitted. Signs shall be designed in 
accordance with the sign design guidelines contained in Article 3 of this chapter. 
 
(e) Neighborhood stores shall be separated from adjoining residential uses by a solid masonry 
wall. All masonry walls shall comply with all height and location standards for fencing in the 
applicable residential district. 
 
(f) A minimum of ten (10%) percent of lot area shall be provided in landscaping. All landscaping 
shall comply with the standards in Section 9-2-109. 
 
9-2-122 Rental storage facility. 
A rental storage facility is subject to the following development standards: 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


 
(a) A minimum fifteen (15') feet wide landscape strip shall be installed along any street frontage. 
All landscaping and irrigation system shall be installed in accordance with TMC 9-2-109: 
Landscaping and irrigation. 
 
(b) The site shall be entirely paved, except for structures and landscaping. 
 
(c) The elevation of any structure facing a street or fully visible to the public shall include 
architectural treatment such as stucco, brick, or wood finish, and articulated walls and rooflines. 
 
(d) Structures located on a property line adjacent to residential property shall not exceed a 
height of eight (8') feet. Otherwise the setback and height standards apply as set forth in TMC 
9-3-300ART and TMC 9-3-400ART. 
 
(e) The floor area ratio requirement of TMC 9-3-300ART and TMC 9-3-400ART does not apply 
but is determined by setback, aisle width, parking and landscaping requirements. 
 
(f) One (1) residential unit may be provided for a caretaker that is responsible for security, 
maintenance or management of the facility. The residential unit shall be a permanent structure 
that is architecturally compatible with the storage facility and must be clearly accessory to the 
storage facility. 
 
(g) A minimum seven (7) on-site parking spaces shall be provided adjacent to the office. Two (2) 
additional parking spaces shall be provide for the caretaker. 
 
(h) A minimum six (6') foot high decorative fence or wall shall be installed around the perimeter 
of the site. A minimum seven (7') foot high decorative solid wall shall be provided along property 
lines adjacent to properties zoned for residential use. 
 
(i) All security gates that are automated shall be provided with equipment that can be activated 
by the Fire Department Opticom system. The driveway serving a security gate shall be designed 
to allow vehicles to turn around without backing out into the street. 
 
(j) The drive aisle throughout the complex with shall be a minimum twenty (20') feet to provide 
safe and unobstructed circulation. 
 
(k) No flammable or otherwise hazardous materials shall be stored on the site. 
 
(l) Security lighting shall be provided for the exterior of the buildings, parking areas, driveways, 
and aisles. Lighting shall be located or shielded so as to not produce glare on adjacent 
properties. 
 
(m) Only freestanding monument signs are permitted and shall be of a low profile design not to 
exceed four (4') feet in height, externally illuminated, and incorporate the design, materials, 
textures, and colors used in the building. All building signage shall be composed of individual 
pan channel letters or equivalent. Exposed raceways, cabinet signs, and changeable copy are 
prohibited. All other applicable sign standards apply in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART 
(Signs). 
 
(n) A minimum of one (1) trash receptacle shall be provided on the site. The trash receptacle 
shall be located and enclosed consistent with city standards. 



 
(o) All storage shall be located within a fully enclosed structure except for recreation vehicles. 
Recreation vehicles shall be screened from public view and shall not be stored adjacent to 
residential properties. 
 
(p) No business activity shall be conducted other than the rental of storage spaces for inactive 
storage use. 
 
9-2-123 Equipment sales, service and rentals. 
(a) Equipment sales, service and rentals defined. Equipment Sales, Service and Rentals 
shall mean the sales, services and rental of construction or agricultural equipment only. It shall 
not pertain to the outdoor storage of vehicles, boats, and other large items not normally stored 
indoors that may be for sale or rent. 
 
(b) Permits required. Unless located on a property previously authorized for such use, no 
equipment sales, service and rental facility shall operate without first obtaining a minor 
discretionary permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits) and with the provisions of the this section. 
 
(c) Conditions and restrictions pertaining to equipment sales, service and rentals. An 
equipment sales, service and rental facility is subject to the following development standards: 
 

(1) The entire length of all street frontages, including along State Highway 99, shall be 
landscaped. Except where previously approved and developed, such landscape planters 
shall be a minimum of ten (10') feet in width. Under no circumstance shall any required 
landscape planter along State Highway 99 be less than ten (10') feet in width on average. 
 
(2) All landscaping and irrigation systems shall be designed and installed in accordance with 
the TMC 9-2-109. 
 
(3) An average four (4') foot high compact, dense evergreen landscape hedge screen shall 
be installed along all street frontages, including along State Highway 99. 
 
(4) Street trees shall be installed at forty (40') feet intervals, except that along State Highway 
99 required street trees may be dispersed into distinct groups to afford views into the site 
from the public right-of-way. 
 
(5) Landscaping shall be installed in accordance with the Northwest Triangle Specific Plan, 
Beautification Master Plan and all other applicable plans, policies, and ordinances of the 
City of Turlock. 
 
(6) A minimum six (6') foot high decorative fence (wrought iron or approved alternate) shall 
be installed along the primary street frontage. On a previously developed site, chain link 
fencing may be acceptable if appropriately landscaped. A minimum seven (7') foot high 
decorative solid wall shall be provided along property lines adjacent to properties zoned for 
residential use. 
 
(7) All chain link fencing shall include privacy slats or be landscaped with vines. 
 
(8) All equipment shall be arranged in a structured and orderly manner on the site, and shall 
not encroach into any required setback or landscape area. 



 
(9) Boom lifts, scissor lifts, loaders, backhoes and similar extendable equipment shall not be 
stored in an upright or extended position to exceed twenty (20') feet in height. 
 
(10) At the discretion of the Development Services Director, heavy equipment and heavy 
vehicles may be stored on unpaved areas. However, all such areas shall be adequately 
covered with gravel, crushed base rock or approved equivalent to create an all-weather 
driving surface and to eliminate dust and mud. Notwithstanding this provision, the site shall 
be entirely paved, except for structures and landscaping. 
 
(11) Customer and employee parking areas, including drive aisles, shall be paved. 
 
(12) Adequate customer and employee parking shall be provided pursuant to TMC 9-2-
200ART. The number of parking spaces shall be determined by the floor area of on-site 
structures or as determined by the Development Services Director pursuant to TMC 9-2-
200ART. 
 
(13) A paved drive aisle shall be provided throughout the facility with a minimum width of 
twenty (20') feet to provide safe and unobstructed circulation and reduce entrained dust. 
 
(14) Exterior security lighting shall be provided. Lighting shall be installed and maintained so 
that it will not cast direct light or glare on adjacent properties or public rights-of-way. 
 
(15) All freestanding signs shall incorporate the design, materials, textures, and colors used 
in the building. Except for freeway-oriented signage permitted under TMC 9-2-506(j)(4), all 
freestanding signs shall be of a low profile monument design not to exceed four (4') feet in 
height. All building signage shall be composed of individual pan channel letters or 
equivalent. Cabinet signs, and changeable copy are prohibited. All other applicable sign 
standards apply in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART. 
 
(16) Freeway-oriented signage permitted under TMC 9-2-506(j)(4) shall be designed to 
incorporate the design, materials, textures, and colors used in the building. Pole signs, as 
defined by TMC 9-2-503, composed of an unadorned, plain metal pole and/or a sign cabinet 
are prohibited. However, the Development Services Director may approve a freeway-
oriented pole sign where the pole or poles incorporate the design, materials, textures of the 
main building and the cabinet has a translucent background with opaque lettering. 
Changeable copy is prohibited on any freeway-oriented sign. 
 
(17) A minimum of one (1) trash receptacle shall be provided on the site. The trash 
receptacle shall be located and enclosed consistent with city standards. 
 
(18) No business activity shall be conducted other than the sales, service or rental of 
construction or agricultural equipment unless such business activity is clearly incidental to 
the primary authorized use. 
 

9-2-124 Mobile food facilities. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow mobile food facilities to operate within the 
City through an expedited permitting process that ensures that such uses are operated in a 
manner that is safe and secure, and will not create adverse impacts to either the property on 
which they are located or to the immediate neighborhood. 
 



(b) Mobile food facility permit required. Any person must obtain a mobile food facility permit 
prior to operating a mobile food facility on private property within the City. The approval shall be 
specific to a location and shall not be transferable to other locations or operators. Operation of a 
mobile food facility shall not be permitted on public property under this section. An application 
for a permit shall be submitted for approval of a mobile food facility permit not less than fifteen 
(15) days before the use is intended to begin. The application shall be on a form prescribed for 
that purpose, and shall include the written consent of the owner of the property on which the use 
is to be located and, if different, the business owner providing restroom facilities within two 
hundred (200') feet as prescribed by the California Health and Safety Code 114250. 
 
(c) Mobile food facility permit application: Review and approval. 

(1) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
shall take action within fifteen (15) days. 
 
(2) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Community Development 
Director or designee shall refer the permit application to City departments and any other 
agencies deemed appropriate by the Development Services Director. 
 
(3) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this section, the Development 
Services Director shall approve the permit only if it makes the following findings and subject 
to the limitations and conditions of this section: 
 

(i) The proposed location is on an improved property that is entirely paved and shall not 
interfere with the operation of any approved uses on the site; 
 
(ii) The site is adequate to support the operation of the mobile food facility and the 
mobile food facility will not adversely affect adjacent structures and uses, or the 
surrounding neighborhood; 
 
(iii) The proposed use will not adversely affect the circulation and flow of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic in the immediate area; 
 
(iv) The proposed use will not create a demand for additional parking which cannot be 
met safely and efficiently in existing parking areas; 
 
(v) The proposed use will not conflict with the terms or intent of any planned unit 
development permit or conditional use permit currently in effect on the property; 
 
(vi) The proposed use and location complies with all applicable requirements of the 
Turlock Municipal Code, the California building and fire codes, and any other applicable 
local, regional, State or Federal laws or regulations; and 
 
(vii) The proposed use will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the 
public welfare of the community. 
 

(d) Limitations of use by zoning district. A mobile food facility may be permitted to operate on 
any property zoned for commercial or industrial uses, except the CO Commercial Office District 
defined under Article 3 of Chapter 9-3 TMC. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock093.html#9-3


(e) Limitation on number and concentration of mobile food facilities. On properties of less 
than one (1) acre in size, no more than one (1) mobile food facility shall be permitted at one (1) 
time. 
 
(f) Mobile food facility permit and renewals. The mobile food facility permit shall expire on 
December 31 each calendar year. Applications received after October 1st of each calendar year 
shall be given a renewal date that ends on December 31 of the following year. Each renewal 
shall be subject to the findings and conditions outlined in this section. There shall be no limit on 
the number of renewals that may be granted. 
 
(g) Conditions. In authorizing an application for a mobile food facility permit, the Development 
Services Director shall include as conditions of approval, the following minimum provisions: 
 

(1) The use shall be conducted entirely upon private property and not within any public right-
of-way; 
 
(2) The use shall conform to all applicable building, electrical, fire, plumbing, engineering, 
solid waste, wastewater, water quality, and environmental regulations and laws; 
 
(3) No permanent structures may be constructed on the site to support the operation of the 
mobile food facility; 
 
(4) No signs, balloons, or flags may be displayed on or off the site to promote the mobile 
food facility except those permanently affixed to the mobile food vehicle/trailer; 
 
(5) No outdoor music, live or amplified, is permitted; 
 
(6) Temporary canopies or tents less than one hundred twenty (120) square feet may be 
erected but must be removed at the end of each business day; 
 
(7) No more than two (2) small tables seating up to a total of ten (10) people may be 
permitted and must be removed at the end of each business day; 
 
(8) Vehicle and temporary canopies or tents shall not be located closer than twenty (20') feet 
to a building or structure; 
 
(9) Vehicle and any temporary canopies or tents shall not be located on the same parcel, or 
closer than one hundred (100') feet from the lot line of an adjacent parcel, on which a 
flammable, combustible, or liquid petroleum gas dispensing or storage container is located; 
 
(10) Provisions for fire protection and fire vehicle access shall be made as prescribed by the 
Fire Marshal; 
 
(11) The site shall be continuously maintained free of weeds, litter and debris; 
 
(12) Within three (3) days after ceasing operation of the mobile food facility at any location, 
the site shall be completely cleaned; all trash, debris, signs, sign supports, and temporary 
electrical service will be removed; 
 
(13) The mobile food facility operator shall obtain and maintain a valid Turlock business 
license at all times; 



 
(14) An agreement for the use of properly operating restroom facilities within two hundred 
(200') feet of the vehicle’s location shall be maintained at all times; and 
 
(15) Any additional limitations or conditions as required by the Community Development 
Director as conditions of approval. 
 

(h) Fee. A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering 
the mobile food facility permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, and 
may be amended from time to time. 
 
(i) Suspension or revocation of mobile food facility permit. Any mobile food facility permit 
may be suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures and standards of Article 11 of 
Chapter 9-5 TMC. The permit shall be automatically suspended and may be revoked when the 
permit issued by the Stanislaus County Environmental Resources Department is suspended or 
revoked for any reason. 
 
(j) Appeal. The decision of the Development Services Director may be appealed as provided by 
Chapter 1-4 TMC. 
 
9-2-125 Cargo containers. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow cargo containers to be placed on private 
property in a manner that is safe and secure, will not create adverse impacts to either the 
property on which they are located or to the immediate neighborhood, will achieve community 
architectural and design standards, and will not become a nuisance to the community. 
 
(b) Permit requirements and exceptions. 
 

(1) Temporary use.  
 

(i)  No cargo container permit shall be required when the cargo container is used during 
construction and a valid building permit is active for the property provided that all 
applicable conditions in Section 9-2-125(d)(1) subsections (i) through (iv) are met.    
 
(ii) No cargo container permit shall be required to place a cargo container on private 
property for a period of three (3) months or less provided that all applicable conditions of 
approval applicable to the zoning district listed in Section 9-2-125(d)are met. For 
residential uses only, such cargo containers are not required to be screened and may be 
placed in the front yard on a paved driveway so long as the cargo container does not 
encroach into the landscaped area, onto sidewalks, or into public rights-of-way, and 
there is sufficient room to open the garage door to allow access and egress in case of 
emergency. 
 
(iii) A temporary use of land permit shall be obtained pursuant to Article 5 of Chapter 9-5 
TMC (Temporary Uses of Land) for a period of greater than three (3) months but no 
more than one (1) year provided that all of the conditions of approval applicable to the 
zoning district listed in Section 9-2-125(d) are met, with the exception that cargo 
containers screened from public view from the public right-of-way or an adjacent 
property shall not be required to meet the design requirements of Section 9-2-
125(d)(1)(xi). 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock014.html#1-4


(iv) The cargo container must be removed immediately upon completion of the 
temporary term or upon expiration or finalization of the building permit. 

 
(2) Permanent use. 

 
(i) A cargo container permit shall be required prior to placing a cargo container on private 
property for more than one (1) year. The approval shall be specific to a location and shall 
not be transferrable to other locations or property. An application for a permit shall be 
submitted for approval of a cargo container permit not less than thirty (30) days before 
the use is intended to begin. The application shall be on a form prescribed for that 
purpose by the Development Services Director, and shall include the written and 
notarized consent of the owner of the property on which the use is to be located. 
 
(ii) Residential districts. The cargo container permit shall be issued in accordance with 
the criteria and procedures for a minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits) and shall meet all 
applicable standards and conditions in subsection (d).    

(iii) Commercial, industrial, public, and Downtown overlay districts. The cargo 
container permit shall be issued in accordance with the criteria and procedures for a 
Minor Discretionary Permit as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits)  and shall meet all applicable standards and conditions in 
subsection (d). 

(3) Exceptions. Exceptions to the standards in this section may be granted by the Planning 
Commission upon approval of a conditional use permit pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART 
(Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 

(4) Public right-of-way restriction. No cargo container may be placed in the public right-of-
way unless approved through the issuance of an encroachment permit by both the 
Engineering Division and the Fire Department. 

(5) Limitations of use by zoning district. Cargo containers may only be stored for resale 
or rental purposes in the Industrial (I) zoning district in accordance with all permitting 
requirements and standards of TMC 9-3-400ART, and are subject to the standards specified 
in this section and TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor Storage). 

(c) Cargo container permit application: Review and approval.  

(1) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
or designee shall take action within twenty (21) working days. A notice shall be sent to the 
applicant if the application is deemed incomplete. If no response is provided by the applicant 
within six (6) months of receiving an incomplete notice, the application shall be expired and 
the applicant will be required to submit a new application and fee. 

(2) For purposes of application processing, any application for a cargo container permit is 
considered to be a ministerial permit and, as such, is not subject to the time frames specified 
in Section 65950 et seq. of the California Government Code, or the California Environmental 
Quality Act. 



(3) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director 
or designee shall refer the permit application to City departments and any other agencies 
deemed appropriate by the Development Services Director. 

(4) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this section, the Development 
Services Director or designee shall approve the permit only if the following findings are 
made and subject to the limitations and conditions of this section: 

(i) The proposal is consistent with the General Plan, the Zoning Ordinance, the Design 
Guidelines, and any other applicable plans or standards applicable to the property; and 

(ii) The proposal meets all of the applicable design standards and provisions of this 
section; and  

(iii) The proposal is in harmony with the existing or proposed development in the general 
area or neighborhood and will be compatible with adjacent structures and uses, 
including those on adjoining properties; and  

(iv) That the site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate 
such uses, all yards, open spaces, walls, fences, parking, loading, landscaping and 
other features required by the Turlock Municipal Code or the Planning Commission to 
make sure such use is compatible with the land and uses in the vicinity; and 

(v) Any structural element contained within the proposal is of high quality design 
consistent with the intent of the City Design Element of the Turlock General Plan and the 
exterior design, appearance, materials, and colors will not cause the nature of the 
neighborhood to materially depreciate; and  

(vi) The proposal will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the public 
safety, health, and welfare of the neighborhood and community. 

(d) Conditions of approval. 

(1) Conditions applicable in all zoning districts. In authorizing any permit for a cargo 
container, the Development Services Director shall include as conditions of approval, the 
following minimum provisions: 

(i) Accessory use. A cargo container may be erected on a property when the use 
thereof is clearly incidental and secondary to the primary use of the property: For 
purposes of this section, a cargo container shall not be issued for a property where there 
is no approved and constructed primary building. 
 
(ii) Height. Cargo container(s) shall not be stacked and shall not be greater than ten (10) 
feet in height including the foundation system, as measured from the property grade. 
 
(iii) Setbacks. Cargo container(s) shall meet all applicable setback requirements and are 
not permitted in front yard setback area unless provided otherwise in TMC 9-2-125(d)(2). 
 
(iv) Location. The proposed location shall not interfere with other uses, clear vision 
triangle, pedestrian/vehicular visibility, required parking, landscaping, or circulation on 
the property, or create any other safety problem. The cargo container(s) shall not be 
placed in a “fire lane” or other fire access lanes. The cargo container(s) must be 
accessible by a paved drive aisle. 



 
(v) Contents. No hazardous materials, or combustible or flammable liquids may be 
stored in the container.  
 
(vi) Screening. Cargo container(s) shall be screened from view from the public right-of-
way and from view of adjacent residential uses or districts using methods such as, but 
not limited to, line of sight behind buildings or walls with landscaping and construction of 
walls with vines.  
 
(vii) Number and size: Cargo containers shall be allowed pursuant to the number and 
size limitations and allowances listed below: 
 

(aa) Residential (R-E, R-L, R-M, R-H) districts. The number shall be limited to one 
(1) container no greater than 120 square feet in area and the dimension may not 
exceed fifteen (15’) in length. 
 
(ab) Commercial (C-C, C-H, C-T, TC overlay district), industrial (I,  I-BP, IR overlay 
district), and Public/Semi-Public (P-S) zones when adjacent to a residential use or a 
Residential (R-E, R-L, R-M, R-H) zone; the Office Residential (OR) and Downtown 
Core Transition (DCT) overlay districts; and the Commercial Office (C-O) zone. The 
number shall be limited to one (1) container no greater than ten (10%) percent of the 
total gross floor area of the existing buildings or 120 square feet in area, whichever is 
less, and may not exceed fifteen (15’) feet in length. 
 
(ac) Community Commercial (C-C), Heavy Commercial (C-H), and Commercial 
Thoroughfare (C-T) districts; and the Downtown Core (DC) and Transitional 
Commercial (TC) overlay districts. If not otherwise restricted, the number shall be 
limited to one (1) container no greater than five (5%) percent of the total gross floor 
area of the existing buildings or 320 square feet in area, whichever is less, and may 
not exceed forty (40’) feet in length. 
 
(ad) Industrial (I), Industrial Business Park (I-BP), and Public & Semi-public (P-S) 
districts, and the Industrial Residential (IR) Downtown overlay district, less than one 
(1) acre in size. If not otherwise restricted, the number shall be limited to one (1) 
container no greater than five (5%) percent of the total gross floor area of the existing 
buildings or 320 square feet in size, whichever is less, and may not exceed forty (40’) 
feet in length. 
 
(ae) Industrial (I), Industrial Business (I-BP) park, and Public & Semi-public (P-S) 
districts, and the Industrial Residential (IR) Downtown overlay district, one (1) acre or 
more in size. If not otherwise restricted, the total floor area of cargo containers may 
not exceed five (5%) percent of the total gross floor area of existing buildings on the 
same property and must meet the floor area limitation of the applicable zoning 
district. 
 

(viii) Signs. No advertising or directional signs shall be mounted, painted, or displayed 
on the container except that temporary containers may display the rental or leasing 
company name and/or logo permanently affixed or painted on the container. 
 



(ix) Building permit. A building permit shall be required for any cargo container greater 
than 120 square feet in size unless otherwise determined by the Chief Building Official. 
Doors shall not be modified to restrict persons from freely exiting the cargo container. 
 
(x) Foundation system. The foundation system shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Chief Building Official. Cargo container(s) may be placed on a paved surface upon 
approval of the Chief Building Official. In industrial districts, when containers are the item 
being stored, cargo container(s) may be placed on a paved or all-weather surface upon 
approval of the Chief Building Official.  
 
(xi) Design. All applicable development standards and design guidelines for the zoning 
district shall apply. When not located within the public view from the public right-of-way 
or an adjacent property, the cargo container may be painted to match the primary 
building to achieve architectural compatibility. 

(xii) Property owner written consent required. A tenant shall obtain the prior written 
and notarized consent of the property owner before placing a cargo container on any 
property. 

(2) Exceptions to setback requirements. Exceptions to the setback requirements may be 
granted by the Development Services Director upon the issuance of the minor exception 
pursuant to TMC 9-5-400ART and upon providing a notification to adjoining properties of not 
less than ten (10) calendar days. Any comments received during this notification process 
shall be considered in making the findings for approval for the Minor Exception.  

(e) Fee. A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering 
the permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, and may be amended 
from time to time. 

(f) Suspension or revocation of cargo container permit. A cargo container permit may be 
suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures and standards of TMC 9-5-1100ART 
(Enforcement).  

(g) Appeal. The decision of the Development Services Director may be appealed as provided 
by Chapter 1-4 TMC. 
 
9-2-126 Electrified fences. 
(a) Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow electrified fences to be placed on private 
property in a manner that is safe and secure, will not create adverse impacts to either the 
property on which they are located or to the immediate neighborhood, will be compatible with 
community design standards, and will not become a nuisance to the community. 
 
(b) Permit required. Electrified fences are allowed in IBP (Industrial Business Park) and I 
(Industrial) districts upon the approval of a minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-
5-300 (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), subject to the standards and 
conditions contained in this section. 

(c) Location. The fence shall be located at least fifty (50’) feet from a residence, school, day 
care facility, or park land, or any property zoned for such uses.  



(d) Perimeter fence required. The electrified fence may not be used as a perimeter fence. A 
non-electrified fence shall completely surround the electrified fence. The electrified fence shall 
be set back at least twelve (12”) inches from a non-electrical perimeter fence. 

(e) Setbacks. The fence shall not be located within required setback areas (front, side, or rear).  

(f) Height. The maximum height shall be ten (10’) feet. 

(g) Construction. The fence shall be constructed of horizontal wires with minimal vertical 
support to minimize visual impact. 

(h) Energy source. The energy source shall not exceed 12 volts. 

(i) Warning signs. Warning signs, a minimum of 36 square inches in size, shall be mounted 
every fifty (50’) feet, with a minimum of one (1) per side, no higher than five (5’) feet from the 
ground, or in accordance with the California Building Code, whichever is more stringent. 

(j) Compliance with all laws and regulations. The electrified fence shall meet all California 
Building Code, California Fire Code, Fire Department, and Police Department requirements, as 
well as all applicable federal, State, and local laws throughout the construction, installation and 
operation of the electrified fence. 

(k) Hold harmless agreement. The applicant and property owner shall enter into an 
agreement holding the City of Turlock harmless from all legal actions that relate directly or 
indirectly to the electrified fence. The agreement shall be recorded with the property and shall 
release the City of Turlock from any and all liability. 

(l) Ongoing maintenance required. The area around the electrified fence shall be kept clear 
of all vegetation and litter to avoid fires.  

9-2-127 Drive-through facilities. 
In addition to any other permitting requirements contained in this title, any use that includes a 
drive-through facility shall also meet all of the following development standards: 
 
(a) No more than two (2) lanes are permitted per drive-through facility.   

(b) Lane(s) shall be located at least 100 feet from a residential district. 

(c) Lane(s) shall be oriented to reduce light and glare onto adjacent residences and public 
rights-of-way. 

(d) Lane(s) shall be screened with a decorative masonry wall landscaped with vines, 
landscaped berm, or a landscaped hedge, or any combination thereof, at least three (3’) feet in 
height to minimize visibility to the public right-of-way. 

(e) No more than two (2) menu boards are permitted per lane. 

(f) Lane(s) shall provide a minimum stacking distance of at least four (4) vehicles between the 
entrance to the lane and the menu board closest to the pick-up window, and between the 
closest menu board to the pick-up window and the pick-up window. When no menu board is 
used, the lane(s) shall provide a minimum stacking distance for six (6) vehicles between the 
entrance to the lane and the pick-up window.  



(g) Lane(s) shall be designed to avoid stacking in a driveway or parking lot drive aisle that 
directly connects to a public street. 

 
Article 2. Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations 

 
9-2-201 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in Chapter 9-1-100 et. seq., the specific purposes of 
the off-street parking and loading regulations are to: 
 
(a) Ensure that off-street parking and loading facilities are provided for new land uses, and for 
major alterations and enlargements of existing uses in relation to the need for these facilities 
created by each use; and 
 
(b) Ensure that off-street parking and loading facilities are designed in a manner that will ensure 
efficiency, protect the public safety, and insulate surrounding land uses from adverse impacts. 
 
9-2-202 Application of provisions to uses. 
The provisions of this article shall apply to all uses set forth in this article even though the use 
may be a nonconforming use and even though a variance may have been granted for the 
establishment of such nonconforming use. 
 
9-2-203 Off-street parking required: Availability and maintenance. 
Every building erected shall be provided with parking spaces as required by the provisions of 
this article. Such parking spaces shall be made permanently available and shall be permanently 
maintained for parking purposes. A paved driveway, driveway approach, and/or drive aisle shall 
be provided to connect parking spaces to the public street. Such driveways shall comply with 
the development standards contained in Section 9-2-207. 
 
9-2-204 Off-street parking: Reconstructed buildings. 
Every building reconstructed, remodeled, or structurally altered shall be provided with parking 
spaces to compensate for the additional parking demand, if any, created by such remodeling, 
reconstruction or structural alteration. 
 
9-2-205 Off-street parking for existing buildings and uses. 
Off-street parking spaces which are maintained in connection with existing buildings, structures, 
and uses, and under the same ownership, shall be maintained as long as such buildings, 
structures, and uses remain, unless an equivalent number of such spaces is provided in 
accordance with the requirements of this article. The provisions of this  article shall not require 
the maintenance of more parking spaces than are required for new buildings or structures 
similar in use and purpose to such existing buildings or structures. 
 
9-2-206 Off-street parking: Location. 
All required parking spaces shall be located on the same lot as the primary structure or located 
within a radius of five hundred (500') feet from the property. These parking spaces shall be 
maintained during the life of the building or until equivalent parking is provided by other means. 
Should it be necessary to replace the required parking area; the owner, lessee, or assignee 
shall provide and maintain other parking facilities sufficient to comply with the requirements of 
this article. 
 
9-2-207 Parking in the R Districts. 



All parking areas in R Districts shall be subject to the same restrictions for accessory buildings 
according to the applicable zoning district. In addition, all parking areas in R Districts shall be 
subject to the following additional provisions: 
 
(a) Paved driveway and parking space required.  All parking spaces and driveways shall be 
paved. All vehicles, trailers and campers shall park on a paved driveway or parking space. 
When a covered garage or carport will not be provided for the required parking spaces of a 
residential structure, the required spaces shall be paved and located so that an enclosed 
structure could be constructed at a future date.  
 
(b)  Parking incidental to residential use. Required parking areas shall be incidental and 
accessory to a use permitted in the district in which the property is located. Parking areas 
incidental to and accessory to a commercial or industrial use located in an adjacent C or I 
District may be allowed subject to obtaining an approved conditional use permit from the 
Planning Commission. 
 
(c) Use of parking space. All parking areas shall be used solely for the parking of private 
passenger vehicles except as provided in Section 9-2-114. 
 
(d) Front yard setback restriction. No required parking shall take place in the front yard 
setback area of any residence.  
 
(e) Driveways. Driveways shall comply with the following design standards and permitting 
requirements: 
 

(1) Driveway width. Driveways may range from a minimum of ten (10’) feet (for single 
vehicles) to a maximum of thirty (30’) feet (for three vehicles) in width. The width shall be 
determined based on the number of garage door openings (or the equivalent in covered or 
open parking areas).  

(2) Additional driveway storage areas. Driveways may be widened up to ten (10’) feet) for 
the purposes identified in Section 9-2-114 provided the additional storage areas meet the 
standards and conditions contained in that section. 

(3) Ribbon driveways. Ribbon driveways, planted with turf or decomposed granite between 
the concrete strips, are permitted subject to the City’s Standard Specifications and 
Drawings. 

 (4) Circular driveways. Circular driveways with a secondary driveway approach may be 
permitted for lots with more than sixty-five (65’) feet of lot frontage. That portion of the 
circular driveway that does not lead to the required parking space(s) shall be no greater than 
ten (10’) feet in width. To determine the width and outer edge for a ribbon driveway, the 
width and outer edge shall be determined using the center line of the ribbon driveway. The 
closest edge of the circular driveway shall be no closer than two and one-half (2.5’) feet to a 
side property line. The curve radius of the driveway shall be no less than twenty-five (25’) 
feet. At least twenty-two (22’) feet of frontage shall be provided between the inner edges of 
the two driveway approaches, measured at the curb.   

(5) Lot frontage restrictions. All driveways shall be constructed with a driveway approach 
approved by the Engineering Division. Driveway approach(es) shall not utilize more than 
forty (40%) percent of the lot frontage.  
 



(6) Front yard coverage. The total paved area for all driveways and other vehicle storage 
areas shall not utilize more than fifty-five (55%) percent of the area of the front yard area. 
The front yard area shall be calculated as the area between the property line and the 
required front yard setback and the two side property lines.  

(f) Land use permit required. Prior to constructing a circular driveway or widening a driveway 
pursuant to subsection (3), the property owner shall obtain approval of a minor administrative 
approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Discretionary Permits). 
 
9-2-208 Border barricades, screening, and landscaping. 
(a) When a fence does not separate a parking area or drive aisle from any street or alley, a 
concrete curb or barrier not less than six (6") inches in height shall be located not less than two 
(2') feet from the street or alley line. The curb or barrier shall be securely installed and 
maintained. 
 
(b) Every parking area abutting property located in the R District shall be separated from such 
property by a solid wall, view-obstructing fence, or compact evergreen hedge six (6') feet in 
height. 
 
(c) Any parking areas or drive aisles visible from a public street shall be screened with 
landscaping to a height of three (3') feet. 
 
(d) Any lights used to illuminate any parking area or car sales area shall be arranged to reflect 
light away from any premises on which a dwelling is located. 
 
9-2-209 Off-street parking: Spaces required. 
(a) Uses enumerated. Except as otherwise provided in this article, the number of off-street 
parking spaces required shall be as follows: 
 

Off-Street Parking Space Requirements 

Use Space Requirement 

Assembly places including 

churches, clubs and lodges 

1 space per 50 square feet of assembly area 

Business, professional and 

financial offices 

1 space per 250 square feet of gross floor area 

Cafes, restaurants and other 

eating establishments 

1 space per 3 seats or 1 space per 100 square feet of 

gross floor area when the number of seats is not known 

Convalescent, nursing and group 

homes 

1 space per 400 square feet of gross floor area 

Industrial, manufacturing and 

warehousing 

1 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area 



Medical offices 1 space per 200 square feet of gross floor area 

Motels, hotels 1 space per sleeping unit 

Public facilities 1 space per 400 square feet of gross floor area 

Recreational and health facilities 1 space per 100 square feet of gross floor area 

Residential: 
 

Single-family 2 spaces per dwelling unit 

Multifamily 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit plus 1 guest space per 4 

dwelling units 

Retail commercial uses 1 space per 300 square feet of gross floor area 

Schools and classrooms 1 space per 200 square feet of gross floor area 

 
(b) Alternative methods for determining parking space requirements. For developments 
with a known occupant and use, the Development Services Director may utilize alternative 
methods, such as the Institute of Transportation Engineers Parking Generation manual, parking 
surveys conducted at similar locations by the occupant, parking ratios used by other 
jurisdictions, and other studies, to establish the number of off-street parking spaces required for 
a particular use.  
 
(c) Undetermined uses. In the event it is not possible to determine the number of parking 
spaces required for a particular use, the Development Services Director shall determine an 
adequate number of parking spaces based upon the standards and requirements for the most 
comparable use. Determination by the Development Services Director shall be permitted upon 
approval of a minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(d) Shared parking. Parking facilities may be shared if multiple uses cooperatively establish 
and operate the facilities, and if the uses are open during substantially different days or hours of 
the week and/or if one (1) use has a surplus of parking. Shared parking may be approved by the 
Development Services Director if: 
 

(1) A sufficient number of parking spaces are provided to participating uses in accordance 
with this section; 
 
(2) The applicant provides documentation substantiating the reasons for the requested 
parking reduction. The documentation should at least describe the nature of the uses, 
number of existing and proposed parking spaces, and the times when the uses operate to 
demonstrate the lack of conflict between the uses; and 
 
(3) Additional documents, covenants, deed restrictions, or other agreements as deemed 
necessary by the Development Services Director are executed to assure that the required 
parking spaces and access are provided for the life of the uses and other similar future 
uses. A document shall be recorded to assure shared maintenance of the parking facilities. 



 
9-2-210 Parking spaces for people with disabilities. 
All parking facilities shall comply with the requirements of the California Building Code and with 
the sign requirements of the California Vehicle Code. One (1) parking space shall be provided 
for each dwelling unit designed for people with disabilities. Parking for people with disabilities 
shall be provided for all projects on the basis of total parking provided on-site. 
 
9-2-211 Bicycle parking.  
(a) Where Required. Bicycle parking spaces shall be provided for all commercial, industrial, 
public and semipublic uses in accordance with this section and the California Building Code and 
Green Building Standards Code. Where these codes are more stringent, the Codes shall prevail 
over the standards in this section. Bicycle parking shall be in addition to automobile parking 
spaces. 
 
(b) Number Required. 
 

(1) Commercial and industrial use classifications: The number of bicycle parking spaces 
provided shall be a minimum of ten (10%) percent of the number of automobile parking 
spaces, with a minimum of one (1) two-bike  capacity rack. In addition, for buildings with 
more than 10 tenant-occupants that add 10 or more vehicular parking spaces, secure 
bicycle parking for 5% of additional motorized vehicle parking spaced shall be provided, with 
a minimum of one space. Acceptable secure parking facilities shall be constructed in 
accordance with the California Green Building Standards Code and the City of Turlock 
Standard Specifications and Drawings. 
 
(2) Public and semipublic use classifications: The number of bicycle parking spaces 
shall be provided as specified by a minor administrative permit issued in accordance with 
TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 

(c) Design Requirements. For each bicycle parking space required, a secure bike rack shall be 
provided to which a user can secure the bicycle. The stationary object may be either a 
freestanding bicycle rack or a wall-mounted bracket, provided that it complies with the City of 
Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings. Bicycle parking shall be provided in an open 
area near the building entrance(s) that allows public access to the bicycle rack and shall not 
interfere with pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
 
9-2-212 Off-street parking districts. 
Any property located within an off-street parking district created under the general laws of the 
State shall be credited with its pro rata share of the off-street parking spaces being provided by 
the district when computing the number of off-street parking spaces required for any new 
construction, reconstruction, remodeling, or structural alteration of such property. 
 
9-2-213 Parking configuration and aisle dimensions. 
Parking spaces, driveways, and drive aisles shall be designed in accordance with the City of 
Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings. When an applicant can demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the Development Services Director that variations on the dimensions required in 
these standards are necessary, a specific parking area design may be approved, subject to a 
minor administrative approval obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART, provided that the 
parking area design will not impede the flow of vehicles, reduce pedestrian safety, or hinder 
loading or unloading. 

 



9-2-214 Parking lot design standards. 
Parking lots for commercial, multi-family residential, industrial, and public uses shall have 
paving, drainage, wheel stops, curbing, lighting, space marking, and directional signs, which 
shall be subject to approval of the Development Services Director or designee. In reviewing the 
design of parking structures, the Development Services Director or the Planning Commission, 
as the case may be, shall consider the compatibility of the design with adjacent buildings or 
uses. The review of the parking lot design shall be incorporated into the applicable development 
review process, whenever possible. 
 
The parking lot shall meet the following minimal design standards, as applicable: 
 
(a) Driveways shall be provided between parking spaces and the street. A driveway approach 
shall be required for all driveway connections to the street unless exempted by the City 
Engineer. All driveways shall be paved. Permeable surfaces may be used if the City Engineer 
determines that the surface is structurally equivalent to a paved surface. 
 
(b) Driveway approaches shall meet City of Turlock standards. 
 
(c) Drive aisles providing internal circulation from the driveway to, and between, parking spaces 
shall be paved. 
 
(d) Drive aisles within approved outdoor storage areas may be constructed of an all-weather 
surface when appropriate markings delineating drive aisles and/or parking spaces are provided 
and access by the general public is restricted by a permanent barrier.  
 
(e) Wheel stops shall be installed to prevent vehicular encroachment into the public right-of-way, 
pedestrian paths and sidewalks, and to prevent collision with any above-ground obstacles. 
 
(f) Raised concrete curbing shall be provided to prevent vehicular encroachment into 
landscaping,  
 
(g) Parking spaces in Industrial Districts may be constructed of an all-weather surface when 
appropriate markings delineating aisles and spaces are provided. 
 
(h) A maximum of thirty (30%) percent of the total parking spaces may be constructed as 
compact spaces. 
 
(i) Parking spaces shall be located no closer than three (3’) feet to any building, above-ground 
equipment, or any other obstacle. A three-foot (3’) area surrounding the obstacle shall be 
striped. Bollards or wheel stops shall be provided in parking spaces adjacent to the obstacle to 
prevent vehicles from entering the striped area. 
 
(j) The preferred parking space marking is double-striping to improve the efficiency of the 
parking area; however, single striping may be used. 
 
(k) The parking area shall meet any additional requirements required by the California Building 
Code and/or the City of Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings.  
 
9-2-215 Driveway and corner visibility. 



Street corners and driveways connecting with a public street shall be maintained as areas of 
unrestricted visibility (“clear vision zones”) in accordance with the latest version of the City of 
Turlock Standard Specifications and Drawings. 
 
9-2-216 Parking lot landscaping.  
Parking lots and parking structures shall have interior and perimeter landscaping areas as 
prescribed by the following: 
 
(a) Parking lots or parking structures adjoining street property lines or public streets shall have a 
perimeter landscape buffer with a minimum width as follows: 

(1) If abutting an expressway: twenty (20') feet 

(2) If abutting an arterial: fifteen (15') feet 

(3) If abutting a collector: fifteen (15') feet 

(4) If abutting a local collector: ten (10') feet 

(5) If abutting a local street: five (5') feet 

(b) Vehicle overhangs may encroach a maximum of two (2') feet into landscape areas which are 
a minimum of ten (10') feet wide. 

(c) An average three (3') foot high [minimum two and one-half (2.5') foot and maximum three 
and one-half (3.5') foot] continuous screen shall be installed between all parking areas and 
public streets. A screen shall consist of one (1) or any combination of the following: 

(1) Walls. A wall shall consist of concrete, concrete block, stone, brick, tile or similar type of 
solid masonry material. 

(2) Berms. A berm shall be constructed of earthen materials and it shall be landscaped. 

(3) Solid fences. A solid fence shall be constructed of wood, or other materials. 

(4) Plant materials. Vegetation, consisting of trees or shrubs. 

(d) Interior landscaped areas shall be a minimum of five (5') feet in width and length (minimum 
of 25 square feet for tree wells), exclusive of curbs. 

(e) The end of each row of parking stalls shall be separated from aisleways by a landscaped 
planter or sidewalk. 

(f) In all parking lots with a capacity of five (5) parking spaces or more, a minimum of one (1) 
shade tree for every five (5) spaces shall be provided in landscape islands within the parking lot. 
Tree spacing shall be such that every designated parking space is within thirty (30') feet of the 
trunk of a tree. 

(g) All planting areas within or abutting a parking lot shall be protected with raised concrete 
curbs. 
 
9-2-217 Parking access from street. 
All spaces in a parking facility, except single family and multifamily dwellings with up to two (2) 
dwellings, shall be accessible and all circulation shall be internal without re-entering a public 



right-of-way unless it is determined by the Development Services Director to be physically 
impossible to provide for such access. However, an alley may be used as maneuvering space 
for access to off-street parking. 
 
9-2-218 Location and design of off-street loading spaces. 
On every lot in any C or I district on which is conducted any commercial use permitted in that 
district, there shall be provided space for the loading and unloading of goods and materials. 
These loading spaces shall not be less than fifteen (15') feet in width, nor less than twenty-five 
(25') feet in length, nor less than fourteen (14') feet in height. Required spaces shall not be 
within a building, but shall be on the site of the use served or on an adjoining site. On a site 
adjoining an alley, a required loading space shall be accessible from the alley unless alternative 
access is approved by the Development Services Director. A required loading space shall be 
accessible without backing a truck across a street property line unless the Development 
Services Director determines that provision of turn-around space is infeasible and approves 
alternative access. An occupied loading space shall not prevent access to a required off-street 
parking space. A loading area shall not be located in a required front or corner front yard. 
Except in a CH or I district, a loading area visible from a street shall be screened on three (3) 
sides by a fence, wall, or hedge at least six (6') feet in height. 
 
9-2-219 Parking area plan required. 
Prior to the construction of an off-street parking area for a non-residential use or a multi-family 
dwelling with more than four (4) units, a plan shall be submitted to the Development Services 
Director for the purpose of indicating compliance with the provisions of this  article. The plan 
shall be reviewed and approved in accordance with the procedures for a minor administrative 
approval as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits).  
This plan shall include: 
 
(a) The location and placement of required landscaped areas and irrigation layout, including a 
computation of the required area; 
 
(b) A planting plan including a list of plants by name and size keyed to their location on the 
parking area; 
 
(c) Location and description of fencing and architectural screen walls; 
 
(d) Location and placement of parking stalls, including bumpers, striping and circulation, and 
directional signs, with all dimensions to permit comparison with approved parking standards; 
 
(e) Placement and illumination data of parking area lights; and 
 
(f) Method of drainage. 

 
Article 3. Noise Standards 

 
9-2-301 Specific Purposes. 
In order to control unnecessary, excessive, and annoying noise and vibration on the City, it is 
hereby declared to be the policy of the City to prohibit such noise and vibration generated from 
or by all sources as specified in this  article. It shall be the policy of the City to maintain quiet in 
those areas which exhibit low noise levels and to implement programs aimed at reducing noise 
in those areas within the City where noise levels are above acceptable values. 
 



It is determined that certain noise levels and vibrations are detrimental to the public health, 
welfare, and safety and are contrary to the public interest. Therefore, the Council does ordain 
and declare that creating, maintaining, or causing, or allowing to be created, caused, or 
maintained, any noise or vibration in a matter prohibited by, or not in conformity with, the 
provisions of this  article is a public nuisance and shall be punishable as such. 
 
9-2-302 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this chapter, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 
phrases used in this  article are defined as follows: 
 
“A weighted sound level” shall mean the sound level in decibels as measured on a sound 
level meter using the A weighting network weighted to the range of human hearing. The level so 
read is designated dB(a) or dBA. 
 
“Ambient noise” shall mean all-encompassing noise associated with a given environment, 
being usually a composite of sounds from many sources near and far. For the purpose of this  
article, the ambient noise level is the level obtained when the noise level is averaged over a 
period of fifteen (15) minutes without the inclusion of noise from isolated identifiable sources, at 
the location and time of day near that at which a comparison is to be made. 
 
“Commercial area” shall mean any commercial area as defined in the General Plan and 
zoning provisions and designated by a “C” prefix in the zoning provisions and on the zoning 
map. 
 
“Construction” shall mean any site preparation, assembly, erection, substantial repair, 
alteration, or similar action for or on public or private rights of way, structures, utilities, or similar 
property. 
 
“Cumulative period” shall mean any additive period of time composed of individual time 
segments which may be continuous or interrupted. 
 
“Decibel” shall mean a unit for measuring the amplitude of a sound, equal to twenty (20) times 
the logarithm to the base ten (10) of the ratio of the pressure of the sound measured to the 
reference pressure, which is twenty (20) micropascals. 
 
“Emergency work or action” shall mean work or action made necessary to restore property to 
a safe condition after a public calamity, or work required to protect persons or property from 
imminent exposure to danger or damage, or work by public or private utilities to restore utility 
service. 
 
“Fixed noise source” shall mean a stationary device which creates sounds while fixed or 
motionless, including, but not limited to, residential, agricultural, industrial, and commercial 
machinery and equipment, pumps, fans, compressors, air conditioners, and refrigeration 
equipment. 
 
“Impulsive sound” shall mean sound of short duration, usually less than one second, with an 
abrupt onset and rapid decay. Examples of sources of impulsive sound include explosions, drop 
forge impacts, and the discharge of firearms. 
 
“Industrial area” shall mean any industrial area as defined by the General Plan and zoning 
provisions and designated by an “I” prefix in the zoning provisions and on the zoning map. 



 
“Intrusive noise” shall mean that noise which intrudes over and above the existing ambient 
noise at a given location. The relative intrusiveness of a sound depends upon its amplitude, 
duration, frequency and time of occurrence, and tonal or informational content, as well as the 
prevailing ambient noise level. 
 
“Licensed” shall mean the possession of a formal license or a permit issued by the appropriate 
jurisdictional authority or, where no permits or licenses are issued, the sanctioning of the activity 
by the jurisdiction as noted in public records. 
 
“Mobile noise source” shall mean any noise source other than a fixed noise source. 
 
“Motor vehicle” shall mean and include any and all self-propelled vehicles as defined in the 
Vehicle Code of the State of California, including all on highway type motor vehicles subject to 
registration under said code and all off highway type motor vehicles subject to identification 
under said code. 
 
“Muffler or sound dissipative device” shall mean a device consisting of a series of chambers 
or baffle plates, or other mechanical design, for the purpose of receiving exhaust gas from an 
internal combustion engine and effective in reducing noise. 
 
“Noise Control Officer” shall mean the City of Turlock code enforcement officer. The Noise 
Control Officer shall be empowered to enforce the provisions of this  article. 
 
“Noise disturbance” shall mean any sound which: 
 

(1) Endangers or injures the safety or health of human beings or animals; or 
 
(2) Annoys or disturbs a reasonable person of normal sensitivities; or 
 
(3) Endangers or injures personal or real property. 
 

“Noise level” shall mean a weighted sound pressure level in decibels obtained by using a 
sound level meter at slow response with a reference pressure of twenty (20) micropascals. The 
unit of measurement shall be designated as dBA. 
 
“Noise sensitive zone” shall mean any area so designated for the purpose of ensuring 
exceptional quiet, for example, a hospital zone, nursing home, or family care home. 
 
“Noise zone” shall mean any defined area or region of a generally consistent land use wherein 
the ambient noise levels are within a range of five (5) dB. 
 
“Person” shall mean a person, firm, association, partnership, joint venture, corporation, or any 
entity, public or private in nature. 
 
“Public right of way” shall mean any street, avenue, boulevard, highway, sidewalk, alley, or 
similar place which is owned or controlled by a governmental entity. 
 
“Public space” shall mean any real property, or structure thereon, which is owned or controlled 
by a governmental entity. 
 



“Pure tone” shall mean any sound which can be judged as audible by the Noise Control Officer 
as a single pitch or a set of single pitches. 
 
“Real property boundary” shall mean an imaginary line along the ground surface, and its 
vertical extension, which separates the real property owned by one person from that owned by 
another person, but not including intra building real property divisions. 
 
“Residential area” shall mean any residential area as defined in the General Plan and zoning 
provisions and designated by an “R” prefix in the zoning provisions and on the zoning map. 
 
“Sound amplifying equipment” shall mean any device for the amplification of the human 
voice, music, or any other sound, excluding standard automobile radios when used and heard 
only by the occupants of the vehicle in which the radio is installed, and, as used in this  article, 
warning devices on authorized emergency vehicles or horns or other warning devices on any 
vehicle used only for traffic safety purposes. 
 
“Sound level meter” shall mean an instrument, including a microphone, an amplifier, an output 
meter, and frequency weighting networks for the measurement of sound levels, which meets or 
exceeds the requirements pertinent for type S1A meters in the American National Standards 
Institute Specifications for sound level meters, S1.4 1971, or the most recent revision thereof. 
 
“Sound truck” shall mean any motor vehicle, regardless of motive power, whether in motion or 
stationary, having mounted thereon or attached thereto any sound amplifying equipment. 
 
“Vibration perception threshold” shall mean the minimum ground or structure borne 
vibrational motion necessary to cause a normal person to be aware of the vibration by such 
direct means as, but not limited to, sensation by touch or the visual observation of moving 
objects. The perception threshold shall be presumed to be a motion velocity of .005 in/sec over 
the range of one to 100 Hz. 
 
“Zone” shall mean any of the zones specified in this Code as such zones are presently 
identified there and as they may be subsequently modified or altered. 
 
9-2-303 General noise regulations. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this  article, and in addition thereto, it shall be unlawful 
for any person to willfully or negligently make or continue, or cause to be made or continued, 
any loud, unnecessary, or unusual noise which disturbs the peace and quiet of any 
neighborhood or which causes any discomfort or annoyance to any reasonable person of 
normal sensitiveness residing in the area. Noncommercial public speaking and public assemble 
activities conducted on any public space or public right of way shall be exempt from the 
operation of this  article. 
 
9-2-304 Preliminary action. 
If it is determined by the responding agency that a sound level in excess of the levels prescribed 
by this  article exists, the following procedures shall be followed: 
 
(a) A written warning shall be issued by the Noise Control Officer or his agent to the person 
responsible for the event causing the disturbance. 
 



(b) If the disturbance persists for more than fifteen (15) minutes following the notice, or recurs 
within an eight (8) hour period, then the person responsible for the event causing the 
disturbance shall be guilty of a violation of this  article. Any such violation shall be an infraction. 
 
9-2-305 Factors of determination. 
The factors which will be considered in determining whether a violation of the provisions of this  
article exists shall include, but not be limited to the following: 
 
(a) The sound level of the alleged objectionable noise; 
 
(b) The sound level of the ambient noise; 
 
(c) The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities; 
 
(d) The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates; 
 
(e) The number of persons affected by the noise source; 
 
(f) The time of day or night the noise occurs; 
 
(g) The duration of the noise and its tonal, musical, or informational content; and 
 
(h) Whether the noise is continuous, recurrent, or intermittent. 
 
9-2-306 Noise measurement procedure. 
Upon the receipt of a complaint from a citizen, the Noise Control Officer or his agent, equipped 
with a sound level meter, shall investigate the complaint. The investigation shall consist of a 
measurement taken according to the Enforcement Manual and the gathering of data to 
adequately define the noise problem and shall include the following: 
 
(a) Non-acoustic data. 
 

(1) The type of the noise source; 
 
(2) The location of the noise source relative to the complainant’s property; 

 
(3) The time period during which the noise source is considered by the complainant to be 

intrusive; 
 
(4) The total duration of the noise produced by the noise source; and 

 
(5) The date and time of the noise measurement survey. 
 

(b) Acoustic data. Utilizing the A weighting scale of the sound level meter and the “slow” meter 
response, the Noise Control Officer or his agent shall measure the sound level at any point on 
the receiver’s property. 
 
9-2-307 Noise Limits. 
The provisions of this section address noise intrusions over and above the noise normally 
associated with a given location (intrusions over the ambient level). The ambient noise varies 
throughout the community, depending upon proximity to highways, population density, and land 



use. Difference standards are set for various segments of the community which reflect the 
existing day and nighttime ambient noise levels. 
 
The ambient noise level is defined in terms of statistical parameters which describe the total 
noise occurring over any hourly time period. 
 
A noise intrusion is judged by comparing such noise statistics with the noise source on, versus 
such statistics with the noise source off (the ambient). Violations of the provisions of this  article 
may be cited in terms of particular levels exceeded or in terms of the length of time the intrusive 
noise exceeded such standards. Compliance with the noise emission standards as set forth in 
this section shall constitute the elimination of a noise disturbance. 
 
(a) Exterior noise standards.  
 

Exterior Noise Limits 
(Levels Not To Be Exceeded More Than 30 Minutes in Any Hour) 

Receiving Land Use 
Category 

Time Period 

Noise Level (dBA) 
Noise Zone Classification 

Rural/Suburban Suburban Urban 

Residential 
One & Two-Family 
 
Multiple Dwelling 
 
Public Space 
Limited 
Commercial 
Multiple Dwellings 
 
Commercial 
 
Light Industrial 
Heavy Industrial 

 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 
Any Time 
Any Time 

 
40 
50 
45 
50 
50 

 
45 
55 
50 
55 
55 
 
55 
60 
60 
65 
70 
75 

 
50 
60 
55 
60 
60 

 
(1) The classification of different areas of the community in terms of environmental noise 
zones shall be determined by the Noise Control Officer, based upon the assessment of the 
community noise survey data and noise contours established by the Noise Element of the 
General Plan. Additional area classifications should be used as appropriate to reflect both 
lower and higher existing ambient levels than those shown. Industrial noise limits are 
intended primarily for use at the boundaries of industrial zones rather than for noise 
reduction within the zone. 
 
(2) Maximum permissible sound levels for churches and similar organizations using 
amplified bells, chimes or other similar devices. Any church or similar organization using 
amplified bells, chimes or other similar devices shall only use same during the time period 
reflected herein below and shall not exceed the following maximum permissible sound level 
nor shall the playing period exceed more than thirty (30) minutes in any one hour: 
 



Amplified Bells or Chimes 
(Not to exceed 30 minutes in one hour) 

Noise Zone 
Receiving Land Use 

Category 
Time Period 

Maximum 
Permissible 
Sound Level 

(dBA) 

All Noise Zones as specified in 
TMC §9-2-307(a) 

All Receiving Land Use 
Categories as specified in 

TMC §9-2-307(a) 

8:00 a.m. - 10:00 
p.m. 

60 dBA 

 
(b) Interior noise standards. 
 

Maximum Permissible Dwelling Interior Sound Levels 

Noise Zone Type of Land Use Time Interval 
Allowable Interior 
Noise Level (dBA) 

All Residential 10:00 p.m. - 7:00 a.m. 
7:00 a.m. - 10:00 p.m. 

35 
45 

 
(1) The interior noise standards for multi-family residential dwellings as set forth in this 
section shall apply, unless otherwise specifically indicated, within all such dwellings with 
windows in their normal seasonal configuration. 
 
(2) No person shall operate, or cause to be operated, within a dwelling unit any source of 
sound or allow the creation of any noise which causes the noise level when measured inside 
a neighboring receiving dwelling unit to exceed: 
 

(i) The noise standard as specified in this section for a cumulative period of more than 
five (5) minutes in any hour; or 
 
(ii) The noise standard plus five (5) dB for a cumulative period of more than one minute 
in any hour; or 
 
(iii) The noise standard plus ten (10) dB or the maximum measured ambient for any 
period of time. 
 

9-2-308 Maximum permissible sound levels by receiving land uses. 
The maximum sound levels shall be determined as follows: 
 
(a) The noise standards for the various categories of land use identified by the Noise Control 
Officer as set forth in TMC 9-2-307, unless otherwise specifically indicated, shall apply to all 
such property within a designated zone. 
 
(b) No person shall operate, or cause to be operated, any source of sound at any location within 
the incorporated City, or allow the creation of any noise on property owned, leased, occupied, or 
otherwise controlled by such person, which causes the noise level, when measured on any 
other property, either incorporated or unincorporated, to exceed: 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-307


(1) The noise standard for that land use as specified in TMC 9-2-307 for a cumulative period 
of more than thirty (30) minutes in any hour; or 
 
(2) The noise standard plus five (5) dB for a cumulative period of more than fifteen (15) 
minutes in any hour; or 
 
(3) The noise standard plus ten (10) dB for a cumulative period of more than five (5) minutes 
on any hour; or 
 
(4) The noise standard plus fifteen (15) dB for a cumulative period of more than one minute 
in any hour; or 
 
(5) The noise standard plus twenty (20) dB or the maximum measured ambient level for any 
period of time. 

 
(c) If the measured ambient level differs from that permissible within any of the first four (4) 
noise limit categories set forth in subsection (b) of this section, the allowable noise exposure 
standard shall be adjusted in five (5) dB increments in each category as appropriate to 
encompass or reflect such ambient noise level. In the event the ambient noise level exceeds the 
fifth noise limit category, the maximum allowable noise level under such category shall be 
increased to reflect the maximum ambient noise level. 
 
(d) If the measurement location is on a boundary between two (2) different zones, the noise 
level limit applicable to the lower noise zone, plus five (5) dB, shall apply. 
 
(e) If possible, the ambient noise shall be measured at the same location along the property line 
utilized in subsection (b) of this section, with the alleged offending noise source inoperative. If 
for any reason the alleged offending noise source cannot be shut down, the ambient noise shall 
be estimated by performing a measurement in the same general area of the source but at a 
sufficient distance such that the noise from the source is at least ten (10) dB below the ambient 
in order that only the ambient level is measured. If the difference between the ambient and the 
noise source is five (5) to ten (10) dB, then the level of the ambient itself can be reasonably 
determined by subtracting a one decibel correction to account for the contribution of the source. 
 
(f) In noise sensitive zones the maximum permissible sound level shall be exceeded by: 
 

(1) Creating or causing the creation of any sound within any noise sensitive zone so as to 
exceed the specified land use noise standards set forth in TMC 9-2-307 provided 
conspicuous signs are displayed indicating the presence of the zone; or 
 
(2) Creating or causing the creation of any sound within or adjacent to any noise sensitive 
zone containing a hospital, nursing home, school, court, or other designated area so as to 
interfere with the functions of such activity or annoy the occupancy in the activity provided 
conspicuous signs are displayed indicating the presence of the zone. 

 
9-2-309 Prohibited acts. 
The following acts are hereby prohibited: 
 
(a) Radios, television sets, musical instruments, and similar devices. Operating, playing, or 
permitting the operation or playing of any radio, television set, phonograph, drum, musical 
instrument, or similar device which produces or reproduces sound in such a manner as to 



create a noise disturbance, except for activities for which a variance has been issued by the 
Noise Control Officer; 
 
(b) Loudspeakers (amplified sound). Using or operating for any purpose any loudspeaker, 
loudspeaker system, or similar device such that the sound therefrom creates a noise 
disturbance, except for any activity, special event or time period for which a variance or permit 
has been issued by the Noise Control Officer; 

 
(1) Exception. Churches and other such organizations may use amplified bells, chimes or 
similar devices in accordance with the provisions in Section 9-2-307(a)(2). 
 
(2) Exception. Amplified sound shall be allowed at Central Park between the hours of 8:00 
a.m. and 10:00 p.m. in accordance with the provisions of this  article. 

 
(c) Yelling and shouting. Loud or raucous yelling, shouting, whistling, or singing so as to cause 
a noise disturbance; 
 
(d) Street sales. The solicitation, sale, or advertising of any product or service by shouting or 
outcry within any residential or commercial area or noise sensitive zone of the City, except by 
variance issued by the Noise Control Officer; 
 
(e) Animals. Keeping or maintaining, or permitting to be kept or maintained, upon any premises 
owned, occupied, or controlled by any person any animal which, by any frequent or long 
continued noise, shall cause annoyance or discomfort to two (2) or more reasonable persons of 
normal sensitiveness who reside in separate residences (including apartments and 
condominiums). However, the Noise Control Officer or his agent may proceed on the basis of a 
complaint of only one person if circumstances are determined to exist whereby a noise 
disturbance caused by an animal affects only one individual. Any noise which is audible 
continuously for ten (10) minutes or intermittently for thirty (30) minutes shall be prima facie 
evidence of such annoyance or discomfort. Factors which can be used to evaluate excessive 
animal noise include, but are not limited to, (a) the time of day; (b) the pitch; (c) the pattern; (d) 
the duration; and (e) the frequency of occurrence; 
 
(f) Loading and unloading. Loading, unloading, opening, closing, or other handling of boxes, 
crates, containers, building materials, or similar objects between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 
7:00 a.m. in such a manner as to cause a noise disturbance across a residential real property 
line; 
 
(g) Construction or demolition. 
 

(1) Hours of operation. Operation or causing the operation of any tools or equipment used 
in construction, drilling, repair, alteration, or demolition work between weekday hours of 7:00 
p.m. and 7:00 a.m. or (8:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. on weekends or holidays) such that the 
sound therefrom creates a noise disturbance across a residential or commercial real 
property line, except for emergency work or public service utilities or by variance issued by 
the Noise Control Officer; and 
 
(2) Noise restrictions at affected properties. Where technically and economically feasible, 
construction activities shall be conducted in such a manner that the maximum sound levels 
at affected properties will not exceed those listed in the following schedule: 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-307


(i) Mobile equipment. Maximum sound levels for nonscheduled, intermittent, short term 
operation (less than ten (10) days per month) of mobile equipment: 
 

Mobile Construction Equipment 

Time Interval 
One and Two Family 

Residential 
Multiple Family 

Residential 
Commercial & 

Industrial 

Daily 
7:00 a.m. - 7:00 p.m. 
Weekends/Holidays 
9:00 a.m. - 8:00 p.m. 

 
75 
 

60 

 
80 
 

65 

 
85 
 

70 

 

(ii) Stationary equipment. Maximum sound levels for repetitively scheduled and 
relatively long term operation (periods of ten (10) days or more per month) of stationary 
equipment: 
 

Stationary Construction Equipment 

Time Interval 
One and Two Family 

Residential 
Multiple Family 

Residential 
Commercial & 

Industrial 

Daily 
7:00 a.m. - 7:00 p.m. 
Weekends/Holidays 
9:00 a.m. - 8:00 p.m. 

 
60 
 

50 

 
65 
 

55 

 
70 
 

60 

 
(h) Vibration. Operating or permitting the operation of any device which creates a vibration 
which annoys or disturbs at least two (2) or more reasonable persons of normal sensitivity who 
reside in separate residences (including apartments and condominiums) at or beyond the 
property boundary of the source, on private property, or at least 150 feet (forty six (46) meters) 
from the source, on a public space or public right of way; 
 
(i) Motor vehicle noise limits. 
 

(1) Motor vehicles. It shall be the policy of the City to enforce those sections of the Vehicle 
Code of the State of California regarding motor vehicle noise limits and equipment violations 
which create noise problems, motor vehicle horns, sound levels emitted from off highway 
vehicles operating off the public right of way, and successors thereof. Commercial 
maintenance equipment and machinery shall be equipped with proper mufflers and air-
intake silencers in good working order. 
 
(2) Refuse collection vehicles. No person shall collect refuse with a refuse collection 
vehicle between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 5:00 a.m. of the following day in a residential 
area. 
 
(3) Vehicle, motorboat, and aircraft repair and testing. No person shall repair, rebuild, 
modify, or test any motor vehicle, motorboat, or aircraft in such a manner as to create a 
noise disturbance across a residential real property line or at any time to violate the 
provisions of this  article; 
 



(j) Powered model vehicles. Operating or permitting the operation of powered model vehicles 
so as to create a noise disturbance across a residential or commercial real property line or at 
any time to violate the provisions of this  article; 
 
(k) Emergency signaling devices. 
 

(1) The intentional sounding or permitting the sounding outdoors of any fire, burglar, or civil 
defense alarm, siren, whistle, or similar stationary emergency signaling device, except for 
emergency purposes or for testing as provided in subsection (2) of this subsection; 
 
(2) Sound testing. 
 

(i) Testing of a stationary emergency signaling device shall not occur before 7:00 a.m. or 
after 7:00 p.m. Any such testing shall use only the minimum cycle test time. In no case 
shall such test time exceed sixty (60) seconds; and 
 
(ii) Testing of the complete emergency signaling system, including the functioning of the 
signaling device, and the personnel response to the signaling device, shall not occur 
more than once in each calendar month. Such testing shall not occur before 7:00 a.m. or 
after 10:00 p.m. The time limit specified in subsection (i) of this subsection shall not 
apply to such complete system testing; and 
 

(3) Sounding or permitting the sounding of any exterior burglar or fire alarm or any motor 
vehicle burglar alarm unless such alarm is terminated within fifteen (15) minutes after any 
single security violation or false alarm. 
 

(l) Domestic power tools, machinery, heating, venting, or air conditioning (HVAC) 
equipment. 
 

(1) Operating or permitting the operation of any mechanically powered saw, sander, drill, 
grinder, lawn or garden tool, or similar tool between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. on weekdays 
(or 8:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. on weekends and legal holidays) so as to create a noise 
disturbance across a residential or commercial real property line; and 
 
(2) Any motor, machinery, or pump, such as swimming pool or HVAC equipment and the 
like, installed or replaced after October 11, 1984, shall be sufficiently enclosed or muffled 
and maintained so as not to create a noise disturbance across a residential or commercial 
real property line; 
 

(m) Places of entertainment. Operating or permitting the operation or playing of any 
loudspeaker, musical instrument, motorized racing vehicle, or other source of sound which 
exceeds ninety-five (95) dBA as read on the scale of a sound level meter in any place of public 
entertainment at any point normally occupied by a customer without a conspicuous and legible 
sign stating “Warning  Sound Levels Within May Cause Hearing Impairment”; and 
 
(n) Tampering. The removal or rendering inoperative, other than for purposes of maintenance, 
repair, or replacement, of any noise control device, or element thereof, of any product required 
to meet specified noise emission limits under Federal, State, or local laws and the use of such 
product after its noise control device has been removed or rendered inoperative, other than for 
purposes of maintenance, repair, or replacement. 
 



9-2-310 Emergency exemptions. 
The provisions of this  article shall not apply to: 
 
(a) The emission of sound for the purpose of alerting persons to the existence of an emergency; 
or 
 
(b) The emission of sound in the performance of emergency work. 
 
9-2-311 Miscellaneous exemptions. 
(a) Warning devices. Warning devices necessary for the protection of the public safety, as, for 
example, police, fire, and ambulance sirens, shall be exempted from the provisions of this  
article. 
 
(b) Outdoor activities. The provisions of this  article shall not apply to occasional outdoor 
gatherings, public dances, shows, and sporting and entertainment events provided such events 
are conducted pursuant to a permit or license issued by the City relative to the staging of such 
events. 
 
(c) Agricultural operations. All mechanical devices, apparatus, or equipment associated with 
acceptable agricultural operations or practices conducted on agricultural property shall be 
exempt from the provisions of this  article. If, however, the operation is in the vicinity of 
residential land uses, and/or in operation for less than one year, a variance permit shall be 
required to operate noise producing devices, with the following conditions: 
 

(1) That operations do not take place between 8:00 p.m. and 5:00 a.m.; or 
 
(2) That such operations and equipment are utilized for the protection or salvage of 
agricultural crops during periods of potential or actual frost damage or other adverse 
weather conditions; or 
 
(3) That such operations and equipment are associated with agricultural pest control through 
pesticide applications provided the applications are made in accordance with permits issued 
by or regulations enforced by the Country Agricultural Commissioner; and 
 
(4) That such devices utilized for pest control which incorporate stationary or mobile noise 
sources (electro mechanical bird scare devices and the like) are operated only by a permit 
issued by the Noise Control Officer. The allowable hours and days for the operation of such 
devices will be specified in the permit; and 
 
(5) That all equipment and machinery powered by internal combustion engines shall be 
equipped with a proper muffler and air intake silencer in good working order. 
 

(d) Churches and other similar organizations. Any church or other similar organization which 
use unamplified bells, chimes or other similar devices are exempt from the provisions of this  
article so long as said church or other similar organization plays such between the time period 
of 8:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. and the playing period does not exceed thirty (30) minutes in any 
one (1) hour. 
 
9-2-312 Federal and State preempted activities. 
Any other activity shall be exempt from the provisions of this  article to the extent regulation 
thereof has been preempted by State or Federal laws. 



 
9-2-313 Special variances. 
(a) The Planning Commission is authorized to grant variances for exceptions from any provision 
of this  article, subject to limitations as to area, noise levels, time limits, and other terms and 
conditions as the Planning Commission determines are appropriate to protect the public health, 
safety, and welfare from the noise emanating therefrom. This section shall in no way affect the 
duty to obtain any permit or license required by law for such activities. 
 
(b) Any person seeking a variance pursuant to this section shall file an application with the 
Planning Commission. The application shall contain information which demonstrates that 
bringing the source of sound or activity for which the variance is sought into compliance with this 
chapter would constitute an unreasonable hardship on the applicant, on the community, or on 
other persons. The application shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount of Fifty and 
no/100ths ($50.00) Dollars. A separate application shall be filed for each noise source; 
provided, however, several mobile sources under common ownership, or several fixed sources 
on a single property, may be combined into one application. Notice of an application for a 
variance shall be published according to this Code. Any individual who claims to be adversely 
affected by the allowance of the variance may file a statement with the Planning Commission 
containing any information to support his claim. If at any time the Planning Commission finds 
that a sufficient controversy exists regarding an application, a public hearing will be held. 
 
(c) In determining whether to grant or deny the application the Planning Commission shall 
balance the hardship of not granting the variance on the applicant, the community, and other 
persons against the adverse impact on the health, safety, and welfare of persons affected, the 
adverse impact on property affected, and any other adverse impacts of granting the variance. 
Applicants for variances and persons contesting variances may be required to submit such 
information as the Planning Commission may reasonably require. In granting or denying an 
application, the Planning Commission shall keep on public file a copy of the decision and the 
reasons for denying or granting the variance. 
 
(d) Variances shall be granted by notice to the applicant containing all necessary conditions, 
including a time limit on the permitted activity. The variance shall not become effective until all 
conditions are agreed to by the applicant. Noncompliance with any condition of the variance 
shall terminate the variance and subject the person holding it to those provisions of this  article 
for which the variance was granted. 
 
(e) A variance shall not exceed 365 days after the date in which it was granted. Applications for 
the extension of the time limits specified in variances or for the modification of other substantial 
conditions shall be treated like applications for initial variances under subsection (b) of this 
section. 
 
(f) The Planning Commission shall issue guidelines defining the procedures to be followed in 
applying for a variance and the criteria to be considered in deciding whether to grant a variance. 
 
9-2-314 Variance from time to comply. 
On or before January 9, 1985, the owner of any commercial or industrial source of sound may 
apply to the Planning Commission for a variance in time to comply with the provisions of this  
article. The Planning Commission shall have the authority, consistent with this section, to grant 
a variance [not to exceed five (5) years form the effective date of this chapter]. The same 
procedures and considerations by the Planning Commission as followed under Section 9-2-
313 of this article shall likewise apply. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-313
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-313


 
9-2-315 Appeals. 
Appeals of an adverse decision of the Planning Commission shall be made to the Council. 
Reviews by the Council shall be as specified in this Code. 

 
Article 4. Nonconforming Structures and Uses 

 
9-2-401 Specific purposes. 
This article limits the number and extent of nonconforming uses by limiting their enlargement, 
their re-establishment following abandonment, their alteration, their relocation, and their 
restoration. This article, while permitting the use and maintenance of nonconforming structures, 
limits their restoration, alteration, enlargement, or relocation upon the site in any manner that 
would increase the discrepancy between the standards contained in this article and the 
conditions existing on the subject property. 
 
It is recognized that nonconforming uses and structures generally persist and their appearance 
gradually deteriorates when the standards for repair and improvement are too restrictive. It is 
the intent of this article to provide limited but reasonable opportunity for nonconforming uses 
and structures that are not a public nuisance to be repaired and improved if it is in the public 
interest. This article also provides for the removal of nonconforming uses and structures or 
change to conforming uses and structures when such uses and structures are a public 
nuisance. 
 
9-2-402 Nonconforming Uses. 
(a) Defined. A nonconforming use is a lawful use of land that does not comply with the current 
use regulations for its zoning district but which complied with the applicable regulations at the 
time the use was established. A nonconforming use includes those that operate without a 
structure. 
 
(b) Regulations. 
 

(1) The re-establishment of a legal nonconforming use or the substitution of a 
nonconforming use of another nonconforming use of the same or more restrictive 
classification may be made upon approval of a minor discretionary permit in accordance with 
TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). The new 
nonconforming use must have a similar or less severe impact on its surroundings in terms of 
noise, traffic, parking, hours of operation and visual incompatibility. Nonconforming uses not 
meeting these requirements may be allowed upon approval of a conditional use permit in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits). 
 
(2) The repair, maintenance, remodel, alteration, and replacement of a structure used for a 
nonconforming use (and/or site improvements) may be allowed so long as there is no 
increase in the operation or floor area devoted to the use, or change in the size or location 
of any structures. The structural and/or site improvements described above may be 
approved if it can be determined that they do not adversely affect neighboring properties, 
that they do not increase the degree of nonconformity, and are in the public interest. 
 
(3) The expansion or enlargement of a structure used for a nonconforming use and/or site 
improvements may be allowed as follows: 
 



(i) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure used for a 
nonconforming use and/or the expansion or enlargement of the site by more than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet, or more than twenty-five (25%) of the existing structure’s 
floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon approval of a 
conditional use permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances). 
 
(ii) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure used for a 
nonconforming use and/or the expansion or enlargement of the site by no more than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet or no more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing 
structure’s floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon approval of 
a minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative 
and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 
(iii) The structural and/or site improvements described above may be approved if it can 
be determined they will not adversely affect neighboring properties, and are in the public 
interest. 
 
(iv) The expansion or enlargement of nonconforming residences in nonresidential zoning 
districts shall comply with the development standards established for the applicable 
residential zoning district, not the zoning district in which it is located. 
 

9-2-403 Nonconforming Structures. 
(a) Defined. A nonconforming structure is any building or structure that does not comply with 
one or more of the regulation limitations on size, height, and location on a lot, or the applicable 
zoning district in which such building or structure is located (refer to TMC 9-2-507 
(Nonconforming signage). 
 
(b) Regulations. 

 
(1) The repair, maintenance, remodel, alteration, and replacement of a nonconforming 
structure where the level of nonconformity is maintained so long as there is no increase in 
the operation or floor area devoted to the use, or change in the size or location of any 
structures. The structure improvements described above may be approved if it can be 
determined they will not adversely affect neighboring properties, and are in the public 
interest. 
 
(2) The expansion or enlargement of a nonconforming structure used may be allowed as 
follows: 

 
i) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure by more than one 
thousand (1,000) square feet, or more than twenty-five (25%) of the existing structure’s 
floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon approval of a 
conditional use permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances). 
 
(ii) Structural improvements that enlarge or expand an existing structure by no more than 
one thousand (1,000) square feet or no more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the 
existing structure’s floor area or lot area, whichever is greater, may be allowed upon 
approval of a minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits).  

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9


 
(iii) The structural improvements described above may be approved if it can be 
determined that they do not adversely affect neighboring properties, are in the public 
interest, and are necessary to ensure visual compatibility with the existing structure. 
 
(iv) The expansion or enlargement of nonconforming residences in nonresidential zoning 
districts shall comply with the developments standards established for the applicable 
residential zoning district, not the zoning district in which it is located. 

 
9-2-404 Loss of Nonconforming Status. 
A nonconforming use which ceases or a nonconforming structure that is unoccupied for a 
continuous period of twelve (12) months shall lose its legal nonconforming status. The premises 
on which the nonconforming use is located shall then be used for conforming uses and the 
nonconforming structure shall be removed or altered to conform unless a conditional use permit 
is obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
9-2-405 Discontinuance. 
(a) Declaration of unlawful uses or structures. It is hereby declared that nonconforming uses 
of land or nonconforming structures within the City of Turlock as set forth in this  article that are 
found to be a public nuisance are detrimental to the orderly development of the City and as 
detrimental to the health, safety, peace, comfort, and general welfare of persons and property 
within the City of Turlock. It is further declared to be the policy of the City that such 
nonconforming uses or structures shall be eliminated as rapidly as may be done without 
infringing upon the constitutional rights of the owners of such nonconforming property. 
 
(b) Procedures to determine time for discontinuance. A nonconforming use or structure that 
is determined to be a public nuisance and a serious detriment to the health, safety, peace, 
comfort, and general welfare of persons and property within the surrounding area may be 
administratively ordered to discontinue upon determination by the Development Services 
Director, or designee. A nonconforming use or structure shall be discontinued within the 
following time frame: 
 

(1) A nonconforming use which does not involve the use of a structure shall be discontinued 
in five (5) years. 
 
(2) A nonconforming use which does involve the use of a structure shall be discontinued in 
ten (10) years. 
 
(3) A nonconforming structure shall be abandoned or removed in ten (10) years. 
 

(c) Appeals. Should an owner of property upon which a nonconforming use has been 
administratively ordered discontinued disagree with such order, such owner may appeal as 
provided in Title 1, Chapter 4 of the Turlock Municipal Code. 
 
9-2-406 Replacement and repairs due to damage. 
(a) If at any time any nonconforming residential building is damaged or destroyed by fire, flood, 
explosion, wind, earthquake, war, riot, or other calamity or act of God, such building may be 
rebuilt within one (1) year to total floor area not exceeding that which such building originally 
contained and such building may continue as set forth in this article for nonconforming uses and 
buildings. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(b) Any nonconforming commercial or industrial building or structure damaged by fire, flood, 
explosion, wind, earthquake, war, riot, or other calamity or act of God to such an extent that 
repairs or replacements are required, the cost of which exceeds sixty (60%) percent of its 
current appraised value for tax purposes at the time of damage, exclusive of the foundation, 
shall not be restored or reconstructed and used as before such happening. If such building is 
less than sixty (60%) percent damaged above the foundations, it may be restored, 
reconstructed, or used as before; provided, however, the restoration or reconstruction shall be 
substantially completed within one (1) year of such happening. 
 
9-2-407 Repairs and maintenance. 
Such repairs and maintenance work as required to keep a nonconforming building or structure 
in sound condition may be made; provided, however, no structural alterations shall be made 
except as are required by law or authorized by the Planning Commission as a conditional use 
pursuant to the provisions of TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
Except as otherwise provided in this  article, the total structural repairs and alterations which 
may be made to a nonconforming building or structure shall not, during its life subsequent to the 
date of its becoming a nonconforming use, exceed fifty (50%) percent of its then appraised 
value for tax purposes unless such building or structure is changed to a conforming use. 
 
9-2-408 Exceptions to provisions. 
The provisions of this article shall not require any change in the overall layout, plans, 
construction, size, or designated use of any development, building, or structure, or part thereof, 
where official approvals and required building permits have been granted before the effective 
date of this ordinance, or of any amendment to the provision of this  article, the construction of 
which building, conforming with such plans, shall have been started prior to the effective date of 
this ordinance, and the completion thereof carried on in a normal manner within the subsequent 
six (6) month period and not discontinued until completion except for reasons beyond builder’s 
control. 
 

Article 5. Signs 
 

9-2-501 Purpose. 
The purpose of this  article is to provide minimum standards to safeguard the life, health, 
property, and public welfare in keeping with the character of the City by regulating and 
controlling the size, height, structural design, quality of materials, construction, location, 
electrification, and maintenance of all signs and sign structures not located within a building 
(except temporary unlighted signs attached to or affixed upon windows) and to accomplish the 
following results: 
 
(a) To promote and enhance the character of residential neighborhoods and property values by 
prohibiting obtrusive and incompatible signs; and 
 
(b) To protect and maintain healthy commercial centers and property values for the effective 
communication of the nature of goods and services and the avoidance of wasteful, ugly, and 
unsightly competition in signs; and 
 
(c) To provide a reasonable and comprehensive system of controls of signs; and 
 
(d) To encourage a desirable urban character, which has a minimum of overhead clutter; and 
 



(e) To encourage signs which are well designed and pleasing in appearance and to provide 
incentive and latitude for variety, good design relationship, spacing, and location; and 
 
(f) To attract and direct persons to various activities and enterprises in order to provide for the 
maximum public convenience; and 
 
(g) To enhance the economic value of the community, and each area of it, through the 
regulation of the size, location, design, and illumination of signs. 
 
9-2-502 Interpretation. 
Whenever a reference in this  article is made to “this  article,” such reference shall refer to the 
requirements of the sign regulations. Any ambiguity with other sections of this Code will be 
resolved by the Planning Commission. The diagrams used in this  article are for illustrative 
purposes only. All text shall take precedence over any illustrations in the event of a conflict. 
When a conflict with local, Federal, or State regulations occurs, the more restrictive regulations 
shall govern. 
 
9-2-503 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this  article, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 
phrases used in this  article are defined as follows: 
 
“Animated sign” shall mean a sign with motion, flashing lights, or changes in color or intensity 
utilizing electricity or other sources of energy. This definition shall not include a sign which tells 
only time and temperature in alternating sequences. 
 
“Architectural projection” shall mean any projection which is not intended for occupancy and 
which extends beyond the face of an exterior wall of a building and shall include mansard roofs. 
 
“Banner, flag, pennant or balloon” shall mean any cloth, bunting, plastic, paper, lightweight 
fabric or similar material that is mounted to a pole or a building for commercial or advertising 
purposes. This definition shall include captive balloons and inflatable signs but shall not include 
national flags, state flags, municipal flags, the official flags of foreign nations, or the flags of 
nationally or internationally recognized organizations. 
 
“Building facade - building wall” shall mean that portion of any exterior elevation of a building 
extending from grade to the top of the parapet wall, or eaves, parallel to the street and 
extending the entire width of the building. 
 
“Building frontage” shall mean the length of the side of a building which faces directly upon a 
public street. For the purpose of this  article, “faces directly upon a public street” shall mean the 
area formed by extending perpendicular lines to the street from the two (2) building sides. This 
definition does not include any portion of a building which intersects any portion of another 
structure fronting onto an adjacent street or any portion of another lot. 
 
If a building is curved or triangular, the building frontage shall be the shortest distance between 
the points on the outside extremity of the building elevation measured parallel to the public 
street upon which the building fronts. 
 
“Business identification sign” shall mean signage that is limited to the name of the tenant, 
type of business, and logo of the tenant or business where the logo does not contain product 
information. 



 
 

“Changeable copy sign” shall mean a sign designed to allow the changing of copy through 
manual, mechanical, or electrical means. A sign on which the message changes more than 
eight times per day shall be considered an animated sign. This definition does not include a sign 
which displays only time and temperature in alternating sequences. 
 
“Civic sign” shall mean a sign, other than a commercial sign, posted to advertise a civic event, 
public agency, school, church, civic-fraternal organization or similar noncommercial 
organization. 
 
“Commercial speech” shall mean speech that proposes or invites a commercial transaction 
primarily aimed at the monetary gain or advertising interest of the advertiser or sponsor. 
 
“Common signage program” shall mean a coordinated signage plan for a shopping center or 
group of individual businesses, whether or not located on a single lot. The common signage 
plan specifies standards for consistency among all signs on the properties governed by the 
plan. 
 
“Detached sign.” See “Freestanding sign” in this section. 
 
“Erect” shall mean to build, construct, attach, hang, place, suspend, paint, or affix but shall not 
include change of copy on a sign. 
 
“Flashing sign.” See “Animated sign” in this section. 
 
“Freestanding sign” shall mean a sign which is supported by one or more columns, uprights, 
or is braced in or upon the ground and is not attached to any building. 



 
“Freeway” shall mean a highway to which the owners of abutting property have no right or 
easement of access to or from their property, and which is declared to be such in compliance 
with the California Streets and Highways Code. 
 
“Historic sign” shall mean a sign which exceeds 30 years in age and exhibits historic, cultural 
or aesthetic qualities that embody or represent the character of the city. 
 
“Identification sign” shall mean a sign identifying an apartment, residence, school, church, or 
other nonbusiness use or a use allowed on a lot in a residential zone. 
 
“Illuminated sign” shall mean a sign which is made readable by a source of light, including 
internally and/or externally lighted signs, and reflectored, glowing, or radiating signs. 
 
“Incidental sign” shall mean a sign that has a purpose secondary to the use of the property 
where it is located. Generally informational, these signs include posting of “no parking,” 
“entrance,” “loading only,” and other similar directives. No sign with a legible commercial 
message shall be considered incidental. 
 
“Individual lettering” shall mean the integration of signage into a building, wall or other 
architectural feature where the letters are not framed with a background or cabinet. 

 
“Integral roof sign” shall mean any sign erected or constructed as an integral or essentially 
integral part of a normal roof structure of any design. No part of the sign shall extend vertically 
above the highest portion of the roof and no part of the sign shall be separated from the rest of 
the roof by a space of more than 6 inches. 
 



“Logo” shall mean an established trademark or symbol identifying a product or use. 
 
“Marquee” shall mean a permanent roofed structure attached to and supported by a building 
and may project over a public right-of-way. 
 
“Marquee sign - canopy sign” shall mean a sign attached to or constructed on or under a 
marquee or a canopy. 
 
“Master sign plan” shall mean a coordinated sign plan of one or more signs for an individual 
building or building complexes with multiple tenants. The plan provides an inventory of approved 
signage and information including the type, location, height, area and number of signs. 
 
“Miscellaneous sign” shall mean any sign not defined in this section. 
 
“Monument sign” shall mean an independent sign structure supported on a solid base 
pedestal which is fixed to the ground. 
 
“Nonconforming sign” shall mean a sign which does not conform with the provisions of this 
chapter, but which: 

 
(1) Was lawfully in existence and in use in the City on the effective date of this ordinance, 
including signs erected pursuant to variances granted by the City: 
 
(2) Was lawfully in existence and in use on property outside the City on the effective date of 
annexation to the city, including signs erected pursuant to variances granted by the County; 
or 
 
(3) Was lawfully in existence and in use in the City on the effective date of any amendment 
to this chapter that causes the sign to become nonconforming. 
 

“Off-Premise signs” shall mean any sign that advertises goods, products, services or facilities 
not sold, produced, manufactured or furnished on the premises on which the sign is located. 
These signs are also known as outdoor advertising signs, billboards, poster panels and snipe 
signs. 
 
“Permanent sign” shall mean every sign except temporary signs as defined in this section. 
 
“Pole sign” shall mean a freestanding sign independently supported by one or more poles. 
 
“Political sign” shall mean a temporary sign designed for the purpose of expressing support 
for, or opposition to, a political candidate, campaign issue, or proposition at a public election. 
 
“Portable sign” shall mean an advertising device which is located on the ground, is easily 
movable, not permanently attached thereto and which is usually two-sided. This definition 
includes “A” frame signs, swinger signs, sandwich signs, menu boards, and similar signs. This 
excludes such signs when attached to a vehicle or trailer. 
 
“Projecting sign” shall mean a single- or multiple-faced sign which projects from a building 
wall farther or covers more space than a shingle sign, as defined in this section, and uses a 
building wall for support. 
 



“Promotional sign” shall mean any sign erected on a temporary basis to promote or advertise 
the sale of new products, new management, new business, new hours of operation, a new 
service or to promote a special sale. Promotional signage also includes banners and portable 
signs. 
 
“Revolving sign” shall mean a sign which rotates in either part of or a full circle. 
 
“Refacing” shall mean the replacement of the display surface of an existing sign. 
 
“Roof sign” shall mean any sign erected and constructed wholly on and over the roof of a 
building supported by the roof structure and extending vertically above the highest portion of the 
roof. 
 
“Shingle sign” shall mean any non-internally illuminated sign which projects eighteen (18") 
inches or less from the front of the building where the advertised use is located and does not 
exceed three (3) square feet on each side. 
 
“Shopping center identification sign” shall mean a freestanding sign used to identify a 
shopping center or group of businesses which function as an integral unit and does not 
reference or advertise any individual tenant. 
 
“Sign” shall mean any visual device or representation designed and used for the purpose of 
communicating a message or identifying or attracting attention to a lot, product, service, person, 
or event. The term “sign” shall include, but is not limited to, banners, pennants, streamers, 
whirligigs, unusual paint, color, nonstructural displays, and architectural projections, and shall 
include displays of merchandise or objects indicative of goods or services available if such 
displays are primarily designed or used, or intended to be used, for sign purposes and located 
outside of the building. 
 
“Sign face” shall mean the visible surface of a sign, excluding the essential structural elements 
which are not an integral part of the display. A sign consisting of one or more three (3) 
dimensional objects, such as balls, cubes, or clusters of objects, shall be deemed to have four 
(4) sign faces. 
 
“Sign area (surface)” shall mean the number of square feet of the smallest rectangular figure 
within which a sign face can be enclosed. 
 
“Sign design guidelines” shall mean the adopted principles and standards for the appearance 
of signs within the City of Turlock which have been incorporated into the City Design Guidelines 
Handbook. 
 
“Snipe sign” shall mean signs of a temporary nature advertising a specific event or product 
and which are   posted to trees, posts, poles, stakes, fences or similar support structures. 
 
“Temporary sign” shall mean any sign approved for a limited period of time. 
 
“Time and temperature sign” shall mean a sign or the portion of any sign that displays the 
current time and temperature in alternating sequence. 
 
“Wall sign” shall mean a single-faced sign which is affixed in any manner to or painted on any 
exterior wall of a building or structure. 



 
“Window sign” shall mean any sign, picture, symbol, or combination thereof, that is placed 
inside or upon a window with the intent to communicate information about an activity, business, 
commodity, event, sale, or service. 
 
9-2-504 Permits required. 
Except as otherwise provided in this  article, it shall be unlawful for any person to erect, alter, 
reface, or relocate or cause to be erected, altered, refaced, or relocated, within the City any sign 
without first obtaining a permit to do so from the Development Services Director and paying the 
required fee. It shall be unlawful for any person to maintain, or cause to be maintained, any sign 
within the City for which a permit has not been obtained, unless otherwise exempted pursuant to 
this  article. 
 
(a) Applications. Applications for the permits required by this  article shall be made to the 
Development Services Director on forms provided by the City, shall be accompanied by a permit 
fee, and shall comply with all submittal requirements for each individual permit type as outlined 
in Chapter 9-5 TMC. 
 
(b) Master or common signage plan. No permit shall be issued for an individual sign requiring 
a permit unless and until a Master or Common Signage Plan for the lot on which the sign will be 
erected has been approved by the Development Services Director as conforming with this 
section. A Master or Common Signage Plan shall be included in any development plan, site 
plan, planned unit development plan, or other official plan required by the city for the proposed 
development and shall be processed simultaneously with such other plan. 
 

(1) Master signage plan. A Master Signage Plan shall be established for each property at 
the time an initial application for signage (See TMC 9-2-505 for application type) is 
submitted. For any lot on which the owner proposes to erect two (2) or more signs requiring 
a permit, unless such lot is included in a common signage plan, the owner shall submit the 
following information for evaluation to the Development Services Director: 
 

(i) A completed plot plan of the lot accurately scaled. 
 
(ii) Location of the buildings, parking lots, driveways, and landscaped areas on such lot. 
 
(iii) Computation of the total sign area, the total area for each individual sign, the height 
of all signs and the number of each type of sign included in the plan. 
 
(iv) An accurate indication on the plot plan of the proposed location for each present and 
proposed sign of any type. 
 

(2) Common signage plan. An application for a Common Signage Plan may be submitted 
by the owner(s) of two (2) or more contiguous lots or a single lot with more than one (1) 
building. The application for a Common Signage Plan shall contain all of the information 
required for a Master Signage Plan and shall also specify standards for consistency among 
all signs on the lots affected by the plan with regard to: 
 

(i) Color scheme; 
 
(ii) Lettering or graphic style; 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-505


(iii) Location of each sign on each building; 
 
(iv) Material; and 
 
(v) Sign proportions. 
 

For those lots included in a Common Signage Plan, a twenty-five (25%) percent increase in 
the maximum total sign area shall be allowed for each lot. This bonus shall be allocated 
within each zone lot as the owner(s) elects. The number of freestanding signs permitted 
under a Common Signage Plan shall be limited to a total of one (1) for each street on which 
the lots included in the plan have frontage and shall provide for shared or common usage of 
such signs. 

 
(3) Binding effect. After approval of a Master or Common Signage Plan, no sign shall be 
erected, placed, painted, or maintained, except in conformance with such plan. In case of 
any conflict between the provisions of such a plan and any other provisions of this title, the 
title shall prevail. 
 
(4) Amendments to master or common signage plans. A Master or Common Signage 
Plan may be amended by filing a new Master or Common Signage Plan that conforms with 
all requirements of the title then in effect. 
 

(c) Sign permit. An application for a sign permit shall be required for all signage determined as 
being required pursuant to TMC 9-2-505. Signage shall be consistent with the approved master 
or common signage program, where applicable. The Development Services Director shall check 
the application to assure compliance with all the provisions of this  article and may issue the 
sign permit upon determining that the proposed signage either conforms with the standards of 
the master or common signage program or the standards and provisions of this  article. 
 
(d) Permits issued in error. If a sign permit is issued in error by the Development Services 
Director, and the sign does not comply with all of the requirements of this  article and all other 
laws and ordinances of the City, the sign permit shall be null and void, and no rights or 
privileges shall be conferred upon the permittee by such permit. 
 
9-2-505 Sign classifications. 
 

Sign Classifications 

E-Exempt     SP-Sign Permit 

NP-Not Permitted     MAA-Minor Administrative Approval 

MDP-Minor Discretionary Permit     CUP-Conditional Use Permit NA-Not Applicable 

Sign Type 

Zoning District 

All-

R 
C-O C-C C-H C-T I I-BP 

Animated signs (11) NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-505


Changeable copy sign NP NP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Civic signs MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Common sign program NA MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Flashing signs (11) NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

For sale, rent or lease signs located on the 

available property (6), (8), (12) 

E E E E E E E 

Freestanding signs not projecting over public rights-

of-way, which do not exceed 3 feet in height 

MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Freestanding signs not projecting over public rights-

of-way, which exceed 3 feet in height 

MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Freestanding signs which project over public rights-

of-way, except as provided for in this chapter 

NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Historical signs CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

Illuminated signs (1) MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Incidental signs SP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Marquee signs – canopy signs MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Memorial signs or tablets which display names of 

buildings, and dates of erection 

E E E E E E E 

Miscellaneous signs CUP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

No trespassing signs (2) E E E E E E E 

Off-premises signs NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Official Federal, State, or municipal governmental 

flags, emblems, and historical markers 

E E E E E E E 

Official Federal, State, or municipal governmental 

traffic, directional, and informational signs 

E E E E E E E 



Political signs (3) E E E E E E E 

Portable signs NP MDP MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Projecting signs (4) NP MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Professional occupation signs (5) E E E E E E E 

Reface of an existing conforming sign SP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Replacement, relocation, or other modification of an 

existing conforming sign 

MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Revolving signs NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Roof signs NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Shingle signs MAA SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Signs or sign programs which do not conform to the 

area, location, height, or other provisions set forth in 

this chapter 

CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

Subdivision signs: off-premises (6) MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Temporary construction signs (6) E E E E E E E 

Temporary holiday decorations E E E E E E E 

Temporary non-commercial speech signs on private 

property (7) 

E E E E E E E 

Temporary promotional signs (11) NP SP SP SP SP SP SP 

Temporary warning signs (9) E E E E E E E 

Time and temperature signs NP NP MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

Traffic or municipal signs, legal notices, railroad 

crossing signs, public telephone signs, signs 

marking underground utility facilities, and other 

safety signs 

E E E E E E E 



Wall signs (including integral roof signs) (10) MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

Window signs E E E E E E E 

 
(1) Internally illuminated signs located within a residential district or within one hundred fifty (150') 
feet of the boundary of a residential district shall not be permitted, except when the sign is composed 
of translucent individual copy letters with an opaque background. The measurement shall be taken 
from the location of the sign to the nearest residential zoning district, not from the property line of the 
site where the sign is located.  
 
(2) “No trespassing” signs shall be no larger than three (3) square feet in size and placed in 
compliance with the requirements of State laws. 
 
(3) Political signs must comply with the height, location, and safety requirements of this  article and 
Code. To be exempt political signs shall not be displayed on traffic or street signs, utility poles, public 
property, parks, or rights-of-way or on private property without the owners’ permission and shall be 
removed within five (5) days after the election. Signs placed in violation of the provisions of this 
subsection may be removed without notice. 
 
(4) Projecting signs shall not exceed the height of the wall, parapet wall, or architectural projection; 
provided, however, the maximum height shall not exceed the limits imposed for the district in which 
the sign is located. 
 
(5) A sign shall be designated as professional occupational when denoting only the name and 
profession of an occupant in a commercial building or public institutional building. The area of a 
professional occupational sign shall not exceed three (3) square feet for each occupant therein. In 
residential districts, signs denoting the resident of a dwelling shall not exceed one (1) square foot of 
sign area. 
 
(6) Not to exceed thirty-two (32) square feet for the indication of the owner, builder, architect, sale or 
lease, and pertinent data regarding building construction on the site during construction only. 
Separate signs advertising two (2) or more separate subdivisions may be co-located upon a single 
directory-type sign; in such instances, the overall sign area shall be limited to fifty (50) square feet 
per side, not to exceed one hundred (100) square feet in total sign area. In no case shall there be 
more than one (1) off-premises sales sign of any type per lot frontage. No sign shall exceed an 
overall height of twelve (12) feet in any district. 
 
(7) Such signs shall be displayed for a period not to exceed twenty (20) days. Only one (1) such sign 
shall be permitted to face onto each street adjacent to the property where the sign is located. Such 
signs may be single- or double-faced and shall be limited to six (6) square feet per face or less, and 
shall comply with the height, location, and safety requirements of this chapter and Code. 
 
(8) Such signs may be single- or double-faced and shall be limited to six (6) square feet per face or 
less on property in residential districts. 
 
(9) Includes signs warning of construction, excavations, or similar hazards so long as the hazard 
exists, which does not exceed twelve (12) square feet per sign face. 
 
(10) Wall signs shall not exceed the outside wall height of the building. The maximum height shall 
not exceed the limits imposed for the district in which the sign is located. 
 



(11) Banners, pennants, flags, sno-cones, buntings and the like for new or used retail vehicle sales 
may be allowed in proportion to the size of the site subject to an annual sign permit review by the 
Planning Division. The locations of such devices shall be limited to light poles or similar anywhere on 
the site, except where it may constitute a vision or public safety hazard. The devices shall be 
maintained in a clean, neat and untattered condition with replacement as necessary to ensure they 
do not become dirty, loose or tattered. Non-metallic helium balloons and other inflatables may be 
displayed on weekends (Friday 12:00 noon through Sunday 12:00 midnight), provided they do not 
exceed fifty (50') feet in height or project over the public right-of-way. 
 
(12) For sale, rent or lease signs that are thirty-two (32) square feet or less in size are Exempt; those 
from thirty-three (33) to one hundred (100) square feet require a Minor Discretionary Permit; and 
those larger than one hundred (100) square feet require a Conditional Use Permit.  

 
9-2-506 Sign standards. 
 

Sign Characteristics 

Characteristic 
Zoning District 

All-R C-O C-C C-H C-T I I-BP 

Maximum sign area (square 
feet) (1) 

12(2) 0.5:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 1:1 

Sign area for signs composed 
solely of individual lettering 

12(2) 0.75:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 1.25:1 

Overall sign height (feet) 6 12 20 20 20 20 12 

 
(1) Ratios are based on the number of square feet of sign area per lineal foot of building frontage. 
 
(2) For multi-family dwellings containing five (5) to twenty-nine (29) units, the maximum area is 
twenty-five (25) square feet. For multi-family dwellings containing thirty (30) or more units, the 
maximum area is thirty (30) square feet per street frontage with a maximum of two (2) signs. 

 
(a) Sign height. Sign height shall be measured from the curb or center line of the adjacent 
street to the highest point of the sign structure. 
 
(b) Sign area. The sign area consists of the entire face of a sign, including the surface and any 
framing, projections, or molding, but not including the support structure. Individual lettering 
mounted on a building or structure shall be determined by the smallest rectangle enclosing the 
sign copy. 
 
Sign Area = X * Y 
 
Sign Copy = (A * B) + (C * D) 
 
(c) Multiple signs. Except as otherwise provided in this  article, when more than one sign is 
located on property, the area of all signs, except temporary signs, shall be included in 
determining the total sign area allowed for the property on which such signs are located. 
 



(d) Double-faced signs. When a sign has two (2) or more faces, the area of all faces shall be 
included in determining the area of a sign. Both faces shall be parallel, and the distance 
between faces shall not exceed two (2') feet. Both faces of a double-faced sign shall be 
considered in determining the sign area. 
 
(e) Three-dimensional objects. When a sign consists of three-dimensional objects which do 
not exceed two (2') feet in diameter, depth, or dimension, the area of only one face shall be 
considered in determining the sign area. If the diameter, depth, or dimension exceeds two (2') 
feet, the area of all faces shall be included in determining the area of the sign. 
 
(f) Single sign. No single sign shall exceed three hundred (300) square feet in area, nor shall 
there be in excess of three hundred (300) square feet of sign area on any lot, except as 
provided for in this  article. 
 
(g) Freestanding sign. A freestanding sign, which is limited to business identification only, may 
be allowed provided it does not exceed a total sign area of one hundred (100) square feet, and 
does not exceed fifty (50) square feet on any side, and does not exceed the sign height 
restrictions for the district or exceed other provisions of this chapter. Freestanding signs which 
exceed these standards may be allowed subject to the requirement of first obtaining a 
conditional use permit pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 
 
(h) Exceptions. Exceptions to the sign area regulations set forth in this article may be  
first obtaining a conditional use permit pursuant to TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances).  
 
(i) Prohibited signs. 
 

(1) Obscene matter. It shall be unlawful for any person to display or post any sign which 
communicates obscene, indecent, or immoral matter. 
 
(2) Signs advertising “adult entertainment.” No sign advertising “adult entertainment” (as 
defined in the Turlock Municipal Code) shall be allowed within five hundred (500') feet of any 
school facility. 
 
(3) Snipe signs. Temporary signs posted to posts, trees, utility poles, fences or similar 
support structures for the purpose of advertising an event or product not located on the 
property shall be prohibited. Any sign posted illegally as such may be removed without 
notice by the Development Services Director or his/her designee. 
 

(j) Sign locations. 
 

(1) Location required by Codes. The location of each sign shall be in compliance with the 
Building, Electrical, Sign, and Fire Codes and the zoning regulations and other laws of the 
City and State as they now exist or may hereafter exist. 
 
(2) Signs over public rights-of-way. Signs shall not extend over public rights-of-way or 
over areas within official plan lines for streets which have been adopted or which hereafter 
may be adopted, except in the Commercial District. In a Commercial District, signs may be 
permitted to extend over a street or other public right-of-way subject to the following: 
 



(i) The sign may extend over the street or right-of-way two-thirds (2/3) the distance from 
the property line to the curb face, or six and one-half (6-1/2') feet, whichever is less. 
 
(ii) Signs which project into a street or public right-of-way more than (2") inches shall 
have a minimum clearance of eight (8') feet above the public right-of-way. 
 
(iii) Every sign which projects into a street or right-of-way more than one foot shall be 
multi-faced and fully enclosed. 
 

(3) Signs on public property. Any sign erected or placed upon public property in violation 
of the provisions of this  article may be summarily removed or destroyed by the 
Development Services Director. 
 
(4) Freeway-oriented signs. Freeway-oriented signs to advertise a commercial business 
located on properties within 750 feet of a freeway may be permitted subject to obtaining an 
approved Minor Discretionary Permit in accordance with Section 9-5-307 et. seq. The 
maximum height for freeway signs is subject to the standards for the district it is located in, 
but may be measured from the center line of the overpass. The maximum sign area 
permitted for an individually-mounted pole sign with freeway orientation is one hundred 
(100) square feet. If a freeway-oriented sign is not mounted individually on a pole, the 
maximum sign area allowed is three hundred (300) square feet. 
 
(5) Overlay Districts. All signage located within an established overlay district shall comply 
with the requirements established for such district. 
 
(6) Prohibited locations. No sign shall be erected or maintained in the following locations: 
 

(i) At the intersection of any streets or driveway approach in such a manner as to 
obstruct the free and clear vision of pedestrians or vehicular traffic; or 
 
(ii) At any location where, by reason of the position, shape, color, words, phrases, 
symbols, or for any other reason, the sign may interfere with, obstruct the view of, or be 
confused with any authorized traffic sign, signal, or device. 
 

(k) Temporary signs. Temporary signs may be erected any place a permanent sign may be 
located and at locations approved by the Development Services Director. All temporary signs 
shall comply with the height, location, and area requirements of this  article. Temporary signs 
may be permitted subject to first obtaining a sign permit and complying with the following 
conditions: 
 

(1) A sign permit shall have been obtained from the Development Services Director who, 
prior to the issuance of such permit, shall have determined that the proposed location, 
method of installation, and support of the temporary sign will not endanger the public health, 
welfare, or safety. 
 
(2) A temporary sign to advertise a commercial business or activity shall be allowed on any 
commercially zoned property not to exceed a total of sixty (60) days in one calendar year. 
 
(3) Banners or similar temporary signs which announce a civic or charitable activity may be 
allowed in the public right-of-way with the consent and subject to the conditions of the 
Community Development Director. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-307


 
(4) A temporary sign advertising a religious, charitable, cultural, or educational organization 
or activity in a residential district shall be allowed provided: 
 

(i) The total display service area of the sign does not exceed thirty-six (36) square feet; 
 
(ii) The sign does not exceed six (6') feet in height; and 
 
(iii) The sign is located at least five (5') feet inside the property line in residentially zoned 
areas and at least two (2') feet inside the property line in other areas. 
 

(l) Portable signs. One portable frame sign constructed of permanent materials may be allowed 
for each business location under the following conditions: 

 
(1) The business is not part of a shopping center complex, multi-unit commercial 
development, or office complex, consisting of two or more units. 
 
(2) The sign does not exceed two (2') feet in width by four (4') feet in height. 
 
(3) The sign is permitted as part of the Master Signage Plan for the location. 
 
(4) The sign is not located in the public right-of-way, or the clear vision triangle near a 
driveway or road intersection as determined in TMC 9-2-215. 

 
(m) Promotional signage. Each commercial business shall be allowed exterior promotional 
displays (including banners) equal to a maximum of 10 percent of the otherwise allowable sign 
area for the location when: 
 

(1) Placed in a location where approved as part of a Master Signage Plan for the property. 
 
(2) No more than one such display is used. 
 
(3) They are displayed no more than 14 days in a row and 60 days in a calendar year. 
 

(n) Incidental signs. Incidental signs are limited to a maximum of one sign per entrance to the 
property with no more than two permitted per business. 
 
(o) Design, construction and maintenance. All signs shall be designed, constructed and 
maintained in accordance with the following standards: 
 

(1) All signs shall comply with applicable provisions of the California Building Code and the 
electrical code of the City at all times; 
 
(2) Except for banners, flags, temporary signs, and window signs conforming in all respects 
with the requirements of this ordinance, all signs shall be constructed of permanent 
materials and shall be permanently attached to the ground, building or other structure by 
direct attachment to a rigid wall, frame or structure. 
 
(3) All signs, parts, portions, units, and materials composing the sign, together with the 
frame, background, supports, or anchorage, shall be maintained in proper repair by the 
owner of the sign and/or the owner of the property on which the sign is located. 



 
(4) All signs erected in the City shall be subject to inspection by the Development Services 
Director to assure compliance with all the provisions of this  article and all other laws and 
ordinance of the City. Signs incorporating electrical wiring shall be inspected and approved 
by the Chief Building Official prior to erection, unless such sign bears the seal of approval of 
the National Board of Fire Underwriters. 
 

9-2-507 Nonconforming signage. 
A nonconforming sign shall not be replaced, refaced, altered, reconstructed, relocated, or 
expanded in any manner unless and until the sign is made to conform with the provisions of this  
article. Ordinary maintenance and minor repairs which will not increase the normal life of the 
sign and which are required for safety purposes will be permitted. Structural alterations to a 
nonconforming sign shall be prohibited, except to make such sign conforming. 
 
(a) Conformance. No nonconforming sign shall be required to conform with the provisions of 
this  article, except on the occurrence of any of the following events: 
 

(1) Discontinuance of use. If the use of a nonconforming sign for the business advertised 
by a nonconforming sign is discontinued for a period of three (3) months or longer, such sign 
shall not thereafter be used unless and until the sign is made to conform to this  article; or 
 
(2) New construction or change in use. The occurrence of any of the events specified in 
TMC 7-2-202 requiring public improvements and dedications pursuant to said section. 
 

9-2-508 Unsafe and unlawful signs.  
If the Development Services Director shall find that any sign regulated by this  article is unsafe 
or insecure, or is a menace to the public, or is in a dilapidated, decayed, or neglected state, or 
has been constructed or erected or is being maintained in violation of the provisions of this  
article, the Planning Director shall give written notice to the permittee or owner thereof and/or 
the owner of the property upon which the sign is located. If the permittee or owner and/or owner 
of the property on which the sign is located fails to remove or alter the structure so as to comply 
with the standards set forth in this  article within (10) days after such notice, such sign may be 
removed or altered to comply by the Development Services Director, and any expense 
incidental thereto shall be paid by the permittee or owner of the sign and/or owner of the 
property on which the sign is located. 
 
(a) Immediate peril. Any sign found to be unsafe and to be an immediate peril to persons or 
property may be removed summarily and without notice by the Development Services Director. 
The cost of such removal shall be paid by the permittee and/or sign owner and/or assessed 
against the owner of the property on which the sign is located and made a lien on such property. 
 
9-2-509 Compliance with chapter provisions: Nuisances: Abatement. 
The Council hereby determines that the public peace, safety, morals, health, and welfare 
require that all signs heretofore constructed or erected in violation of any law or ordinance of the 
City in effect at the time such sign was constructed or erected be and they are hereby made 
subject to the provisions of this  article, and shall conform and comply with such requirements 
forthwith, and that all signs which shall hereafter be constructed or erected in violation of the 
provisions of this  article shall be and they are hereby declared public nuisances to be removed 
and abated in the manner provided in this  article. 
 
9-2-510 Noncompliance. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock07/Turlock072.html#7-2-202


Noncompliance with the provisions of this ordinance shall be defined as the following: 
 
(a) Failure to obtain the necessary permits or other approvals as set forth in this  article and title; 
 
(b) Exempt signs displayed, created, or sized, incorrectly; 
 
(c) Any sign constructed or erected in violation of the provisions of this  article and title, and the 
other provisions of this Code as may be applicable. 
 
9-2-511 Removal, Costs, and Enforcement. 
It shall be the duty of the Neighborhood Preservation Officer, the Chief of Police, and the 
Development Services Director to enforce the provisions of this  article. Any violation of this  
article shall be deemed a nuisance and enforcement proceedings shall be pursuant to Article 3 
of Chapter 5-5: Nuisance Abatement Procedures. 
 
9-2-512 Appeals by persons aggrieved. 
Any person aggrieved by any decision or order of the Development Services Director pursuant 
to this  article may appeal such decision or order to the Planning Commission in the manner set 
forth in Chapter 4 of Title 1 of the Code.. Appeals of Planning Commission decisions may be 
made as set forth in TMC 9-5-130: Appeals: Authorized. 
 
 

Article 6. Wireless Communication Facilities 
 
9-2-601 Purpose. 
With the rapid growth of the telecommunications industry and subsequent development of 
wireless communication facilities, the purpose of this article is to: 
 
(a) Provide the regulatory mechanism that accommodates the installation and development of 
wireless communication facilities, whose services benefit the residents of Turlock. 
 
(b) Define the development standards for the placement and construction of wireless 
communication facilities consistent with the Federal Telecommunications Act of 1996. 
 
(c) Minimize the proliferation of these facilities by encouraging co-location. 
 
(d) Minimize the visual impacts these facilities can create in the community by promoting well-
designed, inconspicuous, and appropriately placed facilities. 
 
9-2-602 Definitions. 
For the purposes of this article, unless otherwise apparent from the context, certain words and 
phrases used in this article are defined as follows: 
 
(a) Antenna. Any system of wires, poles, rods, reflecting discs, or similar devices used for the 
transmission or receiving of electromagnetic radio frequency waves. 
 

(1) Building mounted. An antenna which is affixed to or supported by the roof or exterior 
wall of a building or other structure. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock055.html#5-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


(2) Ground mounted. An antenna which is fully or partially supported by a platform, 
framework, pole, or other structural system that is affixed to or placed directly on or in the 
ground. 
 

(b) Co-location. The location of two or more wireless communication facilities on a single 
support structure or otherwise sharing a common location. For the purposes of this article, co-
location shall also include the location of wireless communication facilities with other facilities 
such as light standards, and other utility facilities and structures. 
 
(c) Communication tower. Any structure which is used to transmit or receive electromagnetic 
radio frequency waves or that supports such a device. 
 
(d) Electromagnetic radio frequency waves. Waves of electric and magnetic energy radiating 
away from a transmission source to be picked up by a receiving antenna for the purpose of 
communicating information. 
 
(e) Stealth facility. Any communication facility which is designed to blend into the surrounding 
environment, and is visually unobtrusive Examples of stealth facilities may include 
architecturally screened roof-mounted antennas, facade mounted antennas painted and treated 
as architectural elements to blend with an existing building, facilities designed to mimic trees 
(palms, pines, and the like), flag poles, church steeples, signs, and other similar structures. 
 
(f) Wireless communication facility. A facility containing communication towers and/or 
antennas and any related equipment for the purpose of transmitting or receiving 
electromagnetic radio frequency waves. 
 
9-2-603 Compliance with applicable codes. 
Every wireless communication facility constructed within the City of Turlock shall comply with all 
safety standards of the American National Standards Institute, Institute of Electrical and 
Electronic Engineers, Public Utilities Commission, Federal Communications Commission, 
California Building Code, National Electrical Code, the Turlock Municipal Code and any other 
codes and standards as applicable. 
 
9-2-604 Permits required. 
All wireless communication facilities shall be subject to the following permitting: 
 
(a) Exempt. New wireless communication facilities which will be co-locating on or within an 
existing approved tower or facility shall be exempt. New facilities must incorporate the same 
stealthing technique as utilized on the existing wireless communication facility. 
 
(b) Minor Discretionary Permit. The following facilities require a Minor Discretionary Permit: 
 

(1) All building mounted facilities, located in industrial or the Heavy Commercial (C-H) 
zoning districts (including Planned Developments of an industrial or heavy commercial 
nature), which comply with the regulations contained in this article including, but not limited 
to height, location and screening. 
 
(2) All ground mounted facilities located in an industrial zoning district (including Planned 
Developments of an industrial nature), which are located at least 500 feet from a residential 
zoning district or the boundary of the Beautification Master Plan Area, and comply with the 
height, location, and screening requirements contained within this article. An application for 



a Minor Discretionary Permit for a wireless communication facility may be granted as 
provided in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), and if 
it is found that all of the following additional findings can be made: 
 

(i) The design and placement of the wireless communication facility, including support 
equipment and structures, will not adversely impact the use of the property, other 
buildings and structures located on the property, or the surrounding area or 
neighborhood. 
 
(ii) The applicant has demonstrated that the wireless communication facility will have the 
least possible visual impact on the environment taking into account technical, 
engineering, economic and other relevant factors. 
 
(iii) The wireless communication facility complies with the height, screening, and visual 
compatibility requirements contained within this article. 
 

(c) Conditional Use Permit. The facilities that require a conditional use permit include: 
 

(1) All ground mounted facilities that are located in an industrial zoning district, but are within 
500 feet of the Beautification Master Plan area or a residential zoning district. 
 
(2) All facilities that do not comply with the height, location, or visual compatibility and 
screening requirements within this article. 
 
(3) Facilities in residential (R) zoning districts. Only facilities which are building mounted, 
entirely stealthed, or totally enclosed within a building shall be permitted in any residential 
district. Building mounted facilities in a residential district shall be located or screened so as 
to prevent any public view or architecturally designed to appear as an integral part of the 
building on which it is attached. Only residentially zoned properties one (1) acre in size, or 
larger, shall be considered for freestanding wireless communication facilities, unless the 
applicant can substantiate that the facility is designed to minimum visual impact to 
neighboring properties. 
 
(4) For those facilities where it is determined the project may create a significant impact to 
the neighborhood. 
 
(5) An application for a conditional use permit for a wireless communication facility may be 
granted as provided in TMC 9-5-600ART, and if it is found that the following additional 
findings can be made: 
 

(i) The design and placement of the wireless communication facility, including support 
equipment and structures, will not adversely impact the use of the property, other 
buildings and structures located on the property, or the surrounding area of 
neighborhood. 
 
(ii) The applicant has demonstrated that the wireless communication facility will have the 
least possible visual impact on the environment taking into account technical, 
engineering, economic and other relevant factors. 
 
 (iii) The approval of the proposed wireless communication facility will not affect the 
purposes of this article as defined in TMC 9-2-601. 



 
(iv) The proposed wireless communication facility conforms to the greatest extent 
possible with the provisions of this article. 
 

9-2-605 Application requirements.  
Prior to application submittal, applicants shall meet with Planning staff concerning the proposed 
project to review potential sites based upon the applicant’s geographic service area and to 
determine the appropriate review process based upon the location and type of proposed facility. 
 
(a) Additional materials required. In addition to the other information and materials required 
as part of a Minor Discretionary Permit or Conditional Use Permit application, any application for 
a Wireless Communication Facility shall also provide the following: 
 

(1) Base Map. The map must show parcel boundaries with the subject property highlighted 
and all zoning districts within 500 feet of the subject property clearly noted. 
 
(2) Master Propagation Plan. The Master Propagation Plan shall include a narrative, in lay 
terms, and graphic representation showing the location and type of all existing facilities, plus 
the applicant’s proposed facilities during the next twelve (12) calendar months, within the 
boundaries of the City and the surrounding one-half (1/2) mile thereof. 
 
(3) Site Justification Study. All applicants shall complete a site justification study, and 
include the following information: 
 

(i) Rationale. Site location; site description; top three alternate locations; radio frequency 
cluster map and search ring for proposed site; reasons for choosing final location; how 
site design minimizes impact on surrounding land uses; site demand 
(capacity/coverage); 
 
(ii) Co-location. Is site suitable for future co-location and why or why not; could site be 
collocated at existing nearby site and why or why not. 
 
(iii) Height. Using non-technical language, describe the reasoning for the requested 
height of the proposed facility. 
 
(iv) Equipment. Describe the potential to place all support equipment underground. 
 
(v) Use of site. Provide a statement of intent on whether there will be any excess space 
available and if it may be leased. 
 
(vi) Contact person. If the applicant’s representative is not the contact person, an 
individual or individuals who are available to meet with or respond to questions and 
concerns from residents, business or property owners regarding the proposed facility. 

 
9-2-606 Height. 
All wireless communication equipment, antennas, poles, or towers shall be constructed at the 
minimal functional height. Building mounted facilities shall not exceed fifteen (15') feet in height 
greater than the maximum height permitted for the district in which it is located. Height limits for 
all ground mounted facilities shall be subject to the following standards: 
 



Maximum Height for Ground Mounted Facilities 

Distance from a residential (R) district* Maximum Height 

Between 0-25 feet 1 foot per 1 foot of distance from a residential district 

Between 25-50 feet 25 feet 

Between 50-150 feet 35 feet 

Greater than 150 feet 50 feet 

* Distance is measured from the proposed facility to the nearest R district boundary. 
 
9-2-607 Location. 
(a) New wireless communication facilities shall be co-located with other existing or planned 
facilities where feasible or where found to minimize visual impact. 
 
(b) No facility that is readily visible from off-site shall be installed closer than any other facility 
that is readily visible, unless it utilizes stealth technology in its design. 
 
(c)  At a minimum, all new facilities shall comply with the following setback requirements: For 
every one (1) foot in height of the proposed facility, the facility shall be setback one (1) foot from 
any street frontage. 
 
9-2-608 Residential (R) districts. 
Only those facilities which are building mounted, entirely stealthed, or totally enclosed within a 
building shall be permitted in any residential district. 
 
9-2-609 Visual compatibility and screening. 
(a) All wireless communication facilities shall be screened or camouflaged so as to not be 
readily visible from off-site.  Existing site features shall be used to screen the facility, including 
equipment panels or structures, where possible. Such screening shall include dense evergreen 
landscaping, solid fencing, or a combination of both. 
 
(b) All towers, antennae, equipment structures or panels must be architecturally and visually 
compatible with surrounding buildings, structures, vegetation and/or uses in the area. 
 
(c) All antennas, towers or related equipment shall be coated with a non-reflective finish or paint 
consistent with the background area where the facility is to be placed. 
 
(d) Building-mounted antennas and all other equipment shall be in scale and architecturally 
integrated with the building design in such a manner as to be visually unobtrusive. 
 
9-2-610 Discontinuance of use. 
The service provider of a wireless communication facility shall notify the City of the intent to 
discontinue operation no less than thirty (30) days before discontinuance. Upon the 



discontinuance of use, all related equipment shall be removed and the property restored to the 
pre-construction condition within ninety (90) days of the cessation of operation. 

 



SECTION 4. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 3, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 

Chapter 9-3 
BASE DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Sections: 

Article 1. Agricultural District (A) 

9-3-101    Specific purposes. 

9-3-102    Use classifications. 

9-3-103    Property development regulations. 

 

Article 2. Residential Districts (R-E, R-L, R-L4.5, R-M, R-H) 

9-3-201    Specific purposes. 

9-3-202    Use classifications. 

9-3-203    Property development regulations. 

 

Article 3. Commercial Districts (C-O, C-C, C-T, C-H) 

9-3-301    Specific purposes. 

9-3-302    Use classifications. 

9-3-303    Property development regulations. 

 

Article 4. Industrial Districts (I-BP & I) 

9-3-401    Specific purposes. 

9-3-402    Use classifications. 

9-3-403    Property development standards. 

 



Article 5. Public & Semipublic District (P-S) 

9-3-501    Specific purposes. 

9-3-502    Use classifications. 

9-3-503    Development regulations. 

Article 1. Agricultural District (A) 

9-3-101 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the purposes listed in TMC 9-1-103, the specific purposes of the Agricultural 
District regulations are to preserve and protect agricultural land from urban development; and in 
certain instances, permit agriculture as an interim use until development occurs. 
 
9-3-102 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in A Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit.  
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, except a single-family dwelling, involving an 
expansion of floor area of one thousand (1,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the 
existing building floor area, whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with 
Article 10 of Chapter 9-5 TMC. New or expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an 
MDP design review permit. Design review shall take place concurrently with the processing of 
any other required permit. Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock 
is mandatory for all commercial developments subject to design review. 
 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with Article 2 of Chapter 9-5 TMC, Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation 
Permits. The zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or 
prior to commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

A DISTRICT (Agricultural District)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted  
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-103
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5


MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 
A Additional Use Regulations 

Agricultural Uses P  

Residential Uses   

Family day care homes   

     Large MAA (1) 

     Small P  

Group Quarters   

     Large MDP  

     Small P  

Home occupations P (2) 

Emergency shelter NP  

Manufactured housing MAA (9) 

Single-family dwellings P  

Second dwellings P (3) (7) (8) 

Public and Semipublic Uses   

Religious assembly CUP  

Utilities   

     Major  CUP  

     Minor  P (6) 

Accessory Structures and Uses P (4) 

Domesticated animals P (5) 

Temporary Uses See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land) 

Nonconforming Uses and 
Structures 

See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses) 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-110, Family day care home. 

(2) See TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). 

(3) See TMC 9-2-119, Second dwelling units. 

(4) See TMC 9-2-101, Accessory buildings or structures. 

(5) The keeping of domesticated animals is subject to TMC 6-1-105. Livestock and domestic farm 
animals, used interchangeably in the Turlock Municipal Code, may be kept as an accessory use to a 
residence only in the following zoning districts: (Agriculture (A) and Estate Residential (R-E)). 

(6) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-119
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105


(7) Employee, supportive, and transitional housing serving six (6) or fewer people is permitted by 
right. Transitional housing and supportive housing shall be considered a residential use of property, 
and shall be subject only to those restrictions that apply to other residential dwellings of the same 
type in the same zone. 

(8) Any employee housing consisting of no more than thirty-six (36) beds in a group quarters or 
twelve (12) units or spaces designed for use by a single family or household shall be deemed an 
agricultural use and subject to the same permitting requirements. 

(9) Manufactured housing shall be subject to architectural review to ensure compatibility with 
adjacent residential buildings in terms of scale, height, and exterior design and treatment as 
provided in the design guidelines, including but not limited to roof pitch and style, window and door 
detailing, exterior materials, textures, colors, and finishes. 

9-3-103 Property development regulations. 
The following schedule prescribes development regulations for the Agricultural (A) District. 
Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART. 
 

A DISTRICT (Agricultural District) 
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 A Additional Regulations 

Lot area (acres) 5 (1) 

Lot area per unit (acres) 5  

Lot width (ft.) 200  

Yards:  (2) 

Front (ft.) 50  

Side (ft.) 50  

Corner side (ft.) 50  

Rear (ft.) 50  

Maximum height (ft.) 50 (3) 

Fences and walls All fences and walls shall be subject to the driveway visibility 
requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 
Barbed wire and electrified fences may be utilized to contain 
livestock subject to the standards contained in TMC 9-2-126 
(Electrified fences). Razor wire is prohibited. 

Additional Regulations See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-street parking and loading 
regulations). 

See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101


See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

See TMC 9-2-114 (Permitted locations of mobile homes, 
recreational vehicles, and campers.) 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-106 (Development on existing lots of record). See TMC 9-2-107 (Development on 
lots divided by district boundaries). Minimum lot sizes may be reduced when the exclusive use of 
such lots is intended for utility substations, pumping stations, and similar facilities. 

(2) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

(3) See Section 9-2-108 (Exceptions to height limits). 

Article 2. Residential Districts (R-E, R-L, R-L4.5, R-M, R-H) 

9-3-201 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the purposes listed in TMC 9-1-103, the specific purposes for the regulations of 
each Residential District are to: 
 
(a) Residential estate (R-E). 

(1) Provide living areas which combine certain advantages of both urban and rural location 
by limiting development to very low density concentrations of one (1) family dwellings; 

(2) Provide transition or buffer areas between intense residential urban uses and agricultural 
preserves to avoid or lessen conflicts of use. 

(b) Low density residential (R-L and R-L4.5). 

(1) Provide appropriately located areas for single-family dwellings that are consistent with 
the General Plan and with standards of public health and safety established by the Turlock 
Municipal Code; 

(2) Provide adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling unit and protect 
residents from the harmful effects of excessive noise, population density, traffic congestion 
and other adverse environmental impacts; 

(3) Achieve design compatibility through the use of site development standards. 

(c) Medium density residential (R-M). 

(1) To limit the expansion of the City in order to preserve agricultural lands and maintain a 
compact urban form, while responding to many households’ preference for single-family 
units; 

(2) Provide appropriately located areas for single-family and medium density multifamily 
dwelling units consistent with the General Plan and with standards of public health and 
safety established by the Turlock Municipal Code; 

(3) Provide adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling unit and protect 
residents from the harmful effects of excessive noise, population density, traffic congestion 
and other adverse environmental impacts; 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-106
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-108
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-103


(4) Achieve design compatibility with adjacent uses through the use of site development 
standards. 

(d) High density residential (R-H). 

(1) Provide appropriately located areas for high density multiple-family dwelling units 
consistent with the General Plan and with standards of public health and safety established 
by the Turlock Municipal Code; 

(2) Provide affordable housing for all economic segments of the community and conserve 
land while maintaining a compact urban form; 

(3) Provide adequate light, air, privacy, and open space for each dwelling unit and protect 
residents from the harmful effects of excessive noise, population density, traffic congestion 
and other adverse environmental impacts; 

(4) Achieve design compatibility through the use of site development standards. 
 
9-3-202 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in R Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. Any change in use or business within an existing structure which does 
not require an approved conditional use permit shall obtain a zoning certificate in accordance 
with Article 2 of Chapter 9-5 TMC, Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits. The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

R DISTRICTS (Residential Districts)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
PD Planned Development 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 

 
R-E R-L R-L4.5 R-M R-H 

Additional Use 
Regulations 

Agricultural Uses       

Community garden CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP (1) 

Crop production P P P P P (1) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5


Domesticated animals P P P P P (2) 

Residential Uses       

Condominiums PD PD PD PD PD  

Family day care home       

     Small P P P P P (3) (13) 

     Large MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA (3) (13) 

Group homes P P P P P (9) 

Group quarters NP CUP CUP MDP MDP  

Emergency shelter NP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Home occupations P P P P P (4) 

Manufactured housing P P P MDP CUP (15) 

Mobile home parks NP CUP CUP CUP CUP (8) 

Multi-family dwellings NP NP NP MDP MDP (10) 

Residential care facilities       

     Large CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

     Small P P P P P (9) 

Second dwellings P P P P P (5) 

Single-family dwellings P P P P P (10) 

Commercial Uses       

Neighborhood store 
All other commercial 
uses 

NP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

MDP 
NP 

 

Public and Semipublic 
Uses 

      

Airports and heliports CUP NP NP NP NP  

Cemeteries/crematories CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Religious assembly CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP (12) 

Convalescent hospitals NP NP NP MDP MDP  

Cultural institutions NP NP NP NP NP  

Day care centers CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Golf course/driving 
range 

CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

Park and recreation 
facilities 

MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP  

Public buildings and 
facilities 

MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP  

Schools, public or 
private 

CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  



Utilities       

     Major CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP  

     Minor MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA  

Industrial Uses NP NP NP NP NP  

Accessory Structures 
and Uses 

      

Accessory buildings and 
structures 

P P P P P (6) 

Animals, household P P P P P (2) (7) 

Kennels MDP NP NP NP NP (11) 

Temporary Uses See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). Construction trailers 
and sales office trailers may be located on the project site after required 
planning permits and approvals have been obtained. The trailer(s) must 
be removed upon completion of the applicable construction project. For 
sales office trailers, 1) landscaping shall be provided around the base 
of the trailer and between the public right-of-way and the trailers 
location; and 2) parking spaces shall be paved.  

 
1) See TMC 9-1-202 (Definitions).  

(2) The keeping of domesticated animals may be kept as an accessory use to a residence, subject 
to the requirements of TMC 6-1-105.1(Other domesticated animals), only in the following zoning 
districts: (Agriculture (A) and Residential Estate (R-E)). 

(3) See TMC 9-2-110 (Family day care home). 

(4) See TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). 

(5) See TMC 9-2-119 (Second dwelling units). In the R-M and R-H Districts, a second unit may be 
constructed to the R-L standards when only one other dwelling (i.e., the primary residence) is 
located on the same property. 

(6) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). Accessory structures will require a minor 
administrative or minor discretionary permit if required by the principal use. 

(7) The keeping of household pets is subject to TMC 6-1-105.  

(8) See TMC 9-2-111 (Mobile home development). 

(9) State-licensed group homes, foster homes, residential care facilities, and similar State-licensed 
facilities, regardless of the number of occupants, are deemed permitted by right in a residential 
zoning district, pursuant to State and Federal law. 

(10) Employee, supportive, and transitional housing serving six (6) or fewer people is permitted as a 
single-family dwelling. Transitional housing and supportive housing shall be considered a residential 
use of property, and shall be subject only to those restrictions that apply to other residential 
dwellings of the same type in the same zone. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-119
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-111


(11) Kennels are subject to TMC 6-1-105. 

(12) A structure allowed as a religious assembly building may be used for a temporary homeless 
shelter if the following requirements are met: 

(i)  There is a valid conditional use permit for the structure used for religious assembly 
purpose; 

(ii)  No rent or fees of any kind are charged for the service offered to homeless persons; 

(iii) The facility that is used to house homeless persons accommodates a maximum of six (6) 
persons at any one (1) time; 

(iv) Homeless persons reside at the facility a maximum of sixty (60) days; 

(v)  Occupancy by homeless persons at the facility commences upon the religious assembly 
use receiving a certificate of occupancy. 

(13) The garage of a single-family residence, which is considered the required parking spaces for 
such use, may be converted into habitable space as defined by the  California Building Code to 
accommodate the use of the dwelling as a large family day care upon satisfying the findings and 
conditions set forth in TMC 9-2-110. The condition may remain until such time as the dwelling unit is 
no longer used for day care, residential care, or other similar uses licensed by the State of California 
(Community Care Licensing). Upon cessation of that use, or prior to the dwelling unit being sold, the 
converted garage shall be returned to its original state so that off-street parking is provided pursuant 
to TMC 9-2-209. 

(14) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. 

 (15) Manufactured housing shall be subject to architectural review to ensure compatibility with 
adjacent residential buildings in terms of scale, height, and exterior design and treatment as 
provided in the design guidelines, including but not limited to roof pitch and style, window and door 
detailing, exterior materials, textures, colors, and finishes. 

9-3-203 Property development regulations. 
The following schedule prescribes the development regulations for each Residential District. 
Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART. 
 

R DISTRICTS (Residential Districts)  
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 
R-E R-L R-L4.5 R-M R-H 

Additional 
Regulations 

Minimum lot size 
(sf) 

14,500 5,000 4,500 6,000 7,500 (1)(5) 

Lot density ranges 
(unit/acre) 

0.2 – 3.0 3.0 – 
7.0 

5.0 – 10.0 7.0 – 15.0 15.0 – 30.0  

Lot area per unit 
(sf) 

14,500 5,000 4,500 NA NA (5) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-209


Units per min. lot 
size 

2 2 2 3 4  

Area per unit above 
min. 

NA NA NA 2,000 1,200  

Lot dimensions (ft.)       

Width 100 55 40 60 75 (2) 

Corner lots 60 60 45 65 80  

Depth 100 90 80 100 100  

Frontage 60 35 35 40 45 (16) 

Yards      (3) 

Front (ft.) 30 15 15 20 20 (7)(9)(14) 

Side (ft.) 10 5 0 – 10 10 – 20 10 – 20 (7)(8)(11)(15) 

Corner side (ft.) 30 15 15 15 20 (6)(9)(21) 

Rear (ft.) 20 10 10 10/story 10/story (7)(12)(15)(18)(19) 
(20)(22) 

Maximum height 
(ft.) 

35 35 35 35 40 (4) 

Distance between 
structures (ft.) 

10 6 6 10 10 (7) 

Driveway length 
(from p/l) 

30 20 20 20 20 (23) 

Usable open space 
(sf) per unit 

NA NA 900 500 500 (13) 

Common 
recreational open 
space 

NA 10% 10% 10% (17) 

Landscaping NA 30% 30% 30% 30% (17) 

Fences and walls See (8) below. 

Additional 
Standards 

See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations).  

 See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

 See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures).  

 See TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 See TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). Trash 
and refuse containers shall not be stored within the front yard or corner 
street yard setback areas. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115


 See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 See TMC 9-2-114 (Permitted locations of mobile homes, recreational 
vehicles, and campers). 

 See TMC 9-2-107 (Development on lots divided by district boundaries). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-106 (Development on existing lots of record). See TMC 9-2-107 (Development on 
lots divided by district boundaries). Minimum lot sizes may be reduced when the exclusive use of 
such lots is intended for utility substations, pumping stations, and similar facilities. 

(2) Lot width for lots located on a cul-de-sac is calculated at the front yard setback point. 

(3) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

(4) See TMC 9-2-108 (Exceptions to height limits). 

(5) See TMC 9-2-103 (Affordable housing density bonus). 

(6) Any corner side yard may be reduced to ten (10') feet if it does not abut the front yard of an 
adjacent lot. 

(7) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). For main structures, the minimum distance 
between structures shall increase five (5') feet per story, excluding accessory structures. Canopy 
structures, typically used to shade vehicles, in residential districts are prohibited in the twenty (20') 
foot front yard setback area. Canopies erected/installed prior to July 31, 2003, shall be allowed upon 
proof of date of installation; however, such canopies must be removed upon sale of the residence. 

(8) The maximum height of a fence or wall shall be seven (7') feet with the following exceptions: 

(i) The maximum height of a fence or wall in a required front or corner side yard shall be three 
(3') feet for a solid fence and four (4') feet for nonsolid fences, as long as such taller fences do 
not constitute a safety/visibility hazard to pedestrians or vehicles. A fence may be constructed at 
the back of the sidewalk within the public right-of-way with the provision that the City of Turlock 
or other utility may summarily remove it without compensation. 

(ii) A maximum seven (7') foot fence or wall may extend five (5') feet into a corner side yard if it 
does not abut the front yard of an adjacent lot. 

(iii) The Development Services Director may allow fence and wall heights to be increased in 
order to mitigate noise problems documented by a noise study. Barbed wire, razor wire, 
electrified fencing, and similar security devices are prohibited. In addition, all fences and walls 
shall be subject to the driveway visibility requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner 
visibility). 

(iv) To improve security in residential districts only, the Development Services Director may 
permit a fence or wall located on the rear property line to be increased by up to ten (10’) feet 
when the property abuts a property owned and maintained by public utility upon approval of a 
minor administrative approval as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). This exception shall not be applied to a rear property line that abuts a 
public street or sidewalk. 

(v) Barbed and razor wire, and electrified fences are prohibited in residential districts. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-114
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-107
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-107
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-108
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-103
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101


(9) Front or corner side yard setback may be reduced to the average of the two (2) adjoining lots, 
when the adjoining lots have already been developed. In no case shall any portion of any building in 
a residential district be located within a public utility easement (PUE), or closer to the front property 
line than ten (10') feet or twenty (20') feet for garages/carports. 

(10) Vehicular access. For all uses, there shall be vehicular access to the off-street parking and 
loading facilities from a dedicated street or alley. 

 

(11) In the R-L4.5 District, one (1) side yard may be eliminated if the opposite side yard is ten (10') 
feet. A five (5') foot wide easement on the lot adjacent to the eliminated side yard shall be required 
for building overhang, encroachments and access for building maintenance. Such easement shall be 
recorded prior to the recording of the final map or the issuance of any building permit, whichever 
occurs first. Otherwise both side yards shall be a minimum of five (5') feet. In no case shall any 
structure be closer than ten (10') feet from a structure on an adjoining property. In the R-L4.5 District 
those units which abut lots in a different zoning district shall maintain a five (5') foot adjoining side 
yard. 

(12) In the R-L4.5 District, the rear yard may be reduced to five (5') feet for a length not to exceed 
one-third (1/3) of the width of the parcel. 

(13) Multifamily dwelling projects (except senior housing) with twenty (20) or more units shall include 
an additional nine hundred (900) square feet of children’s play area designed and equipped for 
children through the age of nine (9) years. 

(14) A through lot is considered to have two (2) front yards, both of which shall be landscaped upon 
development of the lot. Municipal code standards for front yards (setbacks, fencing, and the like) 
apply to both street frontages. On a through lot that is simultaneously a corner lot, the property 
owner may designate the corner side yards. 

(15) In the R-M and R-H Districts, a minimum side and rear yard setbacks shall be ten (10') feet for a 
one story building. These setbacks shall be increased by five (5’) per story to a maximum of twenty 
(20’) feet when the property abuts a R-L District. In these cases, these setbacks shall be increased 
to fifteen (15’) feet for a two-story building and to twenty (20’) feet for a building that is three stories 
or more in height.  

(16) Minimum lot frontage dimension applies only to lots fronting on curvilinear streets or cul-de-
sacs, and may not be used to create flag lots. 



(17) See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation). 

(18) In the R-L Zoning District, the rear yard may be reduced to five (5') feet for a length not to 
exceed one-third (1/3) of the width of the parcel if the rear yard abuts a public alley. 

(19) A residential lot located at the end of an open-ended cul-de-sac may consider the side yard 
abutting the public right-of-way at the end of the open-ended cul-de-sac as an interior yard for 
purposes of setback measurements. Because of visibility constraints, this provision may not apply 
when the side yard of the lot abuts the front yard of an adjacent lot. 

(20) In R-L and R-L4.5 Zoning Districts, and for single story structures in the R-M and R-H Zoning 
Districts, a building projection may not encroach any closer than five (5') feet to the rear property 
line. The width of the projection may not exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of the allowed building 
width. For two (2) story structures in the R-M and R-H Zoning Districts, building projections may 
extend up to six (6') feet into the rear yard, reducing the minimum rear yard to fourteen (14') feet, 
instead of the requisite twenty (20') feet . 

(21) Where two (2) corner lots abut each other (“back-to-back”) in the R-E Zoning District, a twenty 
(20') foot corner side yard setback is required. This provision does not apply to reverse corner lots, 
where the rear of the lot abuts the side yard of the adjoining lot. In this circumstance, the typical 
thirty (30') foot setback shall apply. 

(22) Single-family homes located in the R-M Zoning District are not subject to the ten (10') foot per 
story setback regulations.  

(23) A twenty (20') foot driveway is not required when a garage is accessed off a public alley. 
Detached garages are subject to the accessory building provisions of TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory 
Buildings or Structures) for both setbacks and height limitations. Attached garages are considered 
part of the main dwelling units and are, therefore, subject to the rear and/or side yard setbacks 
normally established for that particular zoning district. 

Article 3. Commercial Districts (C-O, C-C, C-T, C-H) 

9-3-301 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in TMC Chapter 9-1 (General Provisions), the specific 
purposes of the Commercial District regulations are to: 
 
(a) Provide appropriately located areas consistent with the General Plan for a full range of 
office, retail commercial, and service commercial uses needed by residents of, and visitors to, 
the City and region; 

(b) Strengthen the City’s economic base, and provide employment opportunities close to home 
for residents of the City and surrounding communities; 

(c) Create suitable environments for various types of commercial uses, and protect them from 
the adverse effects of incompatible uses; 

(d) Minimize the impact of commercial development on adjacent residential districts; 

(e) Ensure that the appearance and effects of commercial buildings and uses are harmonious 
with the character of the area in which they are located; 

(f) Provide opportunities for residential development on the site of commercial development or 
on separate sites in certain commercial districts; 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1


(g) Ensure the provision of adequate off-street parking and loading facilities; and 

(h) Provide sites for public and semipublic uses complementary to commercial development or 
compatible with a commercial environment. 

(i) The additional purposes of each C District are as follows: 

(1) CO Commercial Office District. To provide a transitional zone between commercial and 
residential uses with areas for business and professional offices. 

(2) CC Community Commercial District. To provide a wide range of retail stores, 
restaurants, hotels and motels, commercial recreation, personal services, business services 
and financial services and for limited office and residential uses. 

(3) CT Commercial Thoroughfare District. To provide areas for uses required by the 
traveling public such as hotels and motels, service stations and restaurants, with immediate 
access to Highway 99. 

(4) CH Heavy Commercial/Light Industrial District. To provide for the full range of retail, 
wholesale and service businesses not generally suitable in other commercial districts 
because they attract heavy automobile and truck traffic or have certain adverse impacts; 
and to provide opportunities for certain limited manufacturing uses that have impacts 
comparable to those of retail and service. 

9-3-302 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in C Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. 

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, involving an expansion of floor area of one 
thousand (1,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing building floor area, 
whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-1000ART. New or 
expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an MDP design review permit. Design 
review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required permit. 
Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all 
commercial developments subject to design review. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 



C-O, C-C, C-T and C-H DISTRICTS (Commercial)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 
C-O C-C C-H C-T 

Additional Use 
Regulations 

Agricultural Uses      

Community garden MDP MDP MDP MDP  

Crop production P P P P  

Residential Uses      

Family day care      

     Large  MAA NP NP NP (1) 

     Small P NP NP NP (1) 

Group quarters      

     Large MDP NP NP NP (2) 

     Small P NP NP NP (2) 

Emergency shelter CUP CUP CUP NP (2) (25) 

Caretaker unit NP NP CUP NP (18) 

Public and Semipublic Uses      

Clubs and lodges MDP MDP CUP NP  

Convalescent hospitals MDP NP NP NP  

Cultural institutions P P P NP  

Day care centers MDP MAA MAA NP  

Government offices P P P NP  

Hospitals CUP CUP CUP NP  

Parking lots MDP MDP MDP CUP  

Public assembly NP MDP MDP CUP  

Public buildings and facilities MDP MDP MDP CUP  

Public utility service yards NP NP MDP NP  

Religious assembly MDP MDP MDP CUP  

Schools      

     Trade MDP MDP MDP NP  

     Public or private MDP MDP MDP NP  

Utilities      

     Major NP NP CUP NP  



     Minor MAA MAA MAA MAA (3) 

Commercial Uses      

Adult entertainment facilities NP NP NP NP (4) 

Animal services      

     Animal boarding CUP MDP MDP MDP (24) 

     Animal grooming MDP P P MDP (24) 

     Animal hospitals CUP MDP MDP MDP (24) 

     Animal retail sales NP P P MDP (23)(24) 

Antique shops NP P P MDP (24) 

Artists’ studios MDP P P MDP (19)(24) 

Auto repair     
 

      Major NP MDP MAA MDP (6)(7) 

      Minor NP MAA P P (6)(7) 

Auto sales and service NP MAA MAA MAA (6)(7) 

Automobile service stations NP MAA MAA MAA (6)(7) 

Automobile storage NP NP MAA NP (6)(7) 

Automobile washing NP MDP MAA MAA (6)(7) 

Bakeries     
 

     Retail MDP P P MDP (24) 

     Wholesale NP NP MDP NP 
 

Bar NP CUP CUP CUP (24) 

Building materials and services NP MDP MAA CUP (8)(13)(24) 

Catering services NP P P NP 
 

Clinics MDP MDP P MDP (24) 

Commercial filming NP MDP P NP 
 

Commercial recreation and 
entertainment 

NP CUP CUP CUP 
(5) 

Convenience gas mart NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Discount club NP CUP CUP CUP (21)(22) 

Discount store NP MDP MDP CUP (21)(22) 

Discount superstore NP NP NP NP (21)(22) 

Entertainment, live (excluding adult 
entertainment) 

NP MDP MDP CUP 
(14)(24) 

Equipment sales, service and rentals NP NP MAA NP (13) 

Financial services CUP MDP MAA MDP (24) 

Food and beverage sales     
 

     Neighborhood store <2,500 sf CUP MAA MAA MDP (24) 



     Between 2,500 and 10,000 sf NP MDP MDP MDP (24) 

     Larger than 10,000 sf NP MDP MDP CUP (21)(22) 

Fortune telling NP CUP NP NP (9) 

Funeral and internment services MDP MAA MAA NP 
 

Health/recreation center NP MAA MAA CUP (24) 

Hotels and motels NP MAA MAA MAA (16) 

Laboratories MAA MAA MAA NP 
 

Laundries     
 

     Limited MAA P P NP 
 

     Unlimited NP NP P NP 
 

Maintenance and repair services     
 

     Major NP NP MDP NP (13) 

     Minor NP MAA MAA MDP (13)(24) 

Nightclub NP CUP CUP CUP (24) 

Nurseries NP MAA MAA NP 
 

Nursing homes MDP MDP NP NP 
 

Offices     
 

     Business and professional P P MAA NP 
 

     Medical and dental P P MAA MDP (24) 

Outdoor storage NP MDP MDP CUP (13) 

Personal services MAA P P MDP (24) 

Printing and publishing     
 

     Limited MDP MAA P NP 
 

     Unlimited NP NP MDP NP 
 

Recycling facility     
 

     Collection facility, large NP NP MDP NP (17) 

     Collection facility, small NP P P MDP (17) (24) 

     Processing facility NP NP NP NP (17) 

Rental storage facility NP NP MDP NP (20) 

Research and development services MDP MDP MDP NP 
 

Restaurant CUP MAA MAA MAA 
 

Restaurant, drive-in NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Restaurant, fast food NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Retail sales CUP P P MDP (10)(21)(22)(24) 

Shopping center NP MDP MDP MDP 
 

Travel trailer park NP NP MDP MDP (16) 



Truck terminal NP NP MDP CUP  

Industrial uses     
 

Commissary NP NP MDP NP 
 

Industry      
 

   Limited NP NP MDP NP  

   General NP NP NP NP  

Salvage and wrecking operations 
    Motor vehicle 
    Non-vehicular 

 
NP 
NP 

 
NP 
NP 

 
CUP 
CUP 

 
NP 
NP 

 
(15) 
(15) 

Warehouse      

   Limited NP NP MDP NP  

   Wholesale distribution NP NP MDP NP  

Accessory Structures and Uses P P P P (11)(13) 

Temporary Uses P P P P (12) 

Nonconforming Uses See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and 
Uses). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-110 (Family day care home). 

(2) Small residential care facilities and interim housing serving six (6) or fewer people are considered 
accessory to a residence. Such facilities shall be designed to accommodate a group living 
environment. 

(3) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. All 
utilities shall be screened from view from public right-of-way using landscaping, a berm, a solid 
masonry fence, or other visually attractive method. The area surrounding the minor utility shall be 
landscaped.  

(4) See TMC 9-2-102 (Adult entertainment facilities). Adult bookstores shall be subject to the same 
supplemental regulations applicable to adult entertainment facilities. 

(5) Commercial recreation and entertainment uses less than two thousand (2,000) square feet in 
floor area are allowed with a zoning certificate issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning 
Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). 

(6) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). In the C-C and C-T Districts, automobile servicing shall be 
conducted wholly within an enclosed building. 

(7) See TMC 9-2-104 (Automobile service stations, repair and washing). 

(8) Building materials and service uses shall not abut an R District unless accessory to a retail use. 

(9) No fortune telling use shall be located any closer than within seven hundred fifty (750') feet of 
another fortune telling use. 

(10) Retail sales in the C-O District shall be limited to pharmacies and/or the sale of medical and/or 
dental products. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-104


(11) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

(12) See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). Construction trailers may be located on the 
project site after required planning permits and approvals have been obtained. The trailer(s) must be 
removed upon completion of the applicable construction project. 

(13) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage) and TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). 

(14) A conditional use permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances), shall be obtained if the live entertainment is located within three hundred (300') feet 
of a residential use or an R District. In the C-T District, live entertainment, excluding adult 
entertainment, may be allowed as an accessory use.  

(15) See TMC 9-2-117 (Salvage and wrecking operations). 

(16) A conditional use permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits 
and Variances), shall be required if a hotel, motel or travel trailer park abuts an R District. 

(17) See TMC 9-2-116 (Recycling facilities). 

(18) A caretaker unit may be permitted within a rental storage facility. All such residences shall be 
constructed to R-M District standards. 

(19) Artists’ studios in the downtown area may also be a place of residence for the artist as a 
secondary use. Artists’ studios must be compatible with adjacent uses and shall not be a nuisance 
regarding noise and dust. 

(20) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

(21) See TMC 9-1-202 for the definitions of “Discount store,” “Discount superstore,” and “Discount 
club.” 

(22) Except for a “Discount store” as defined by TMC 9-1-202, which shall require a conditional use 
permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 

(23) Retail sale of dogs and cats is prohibited in accordance with TMC 6-1-703. 

(24) Applies to uses in the C-T district only. The designated permitting process applies only to uses 
developed as part of a shopping center as defined under in TMC 9-1-200ART (Establishment of 
Definitions). Uses shall not be permitted (i.e., are designated NP) as a stand-alone business. 

(25) Where the emergency shelter is proposed in a location that falls within the Emergency Shelter 
overlay district, the permitting requirements contained in Article 2 of this chapter shall prevail. 

9-3-303 Property development regulations. 
The following schedule prescribes development regulations for the C (Commercial) Districts. 
Development in these districts is also subject to the specific standards as contained in any 
applicable overlay district. Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose 
of providing accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon 
approval of a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative 
and Minor Discretionary Permits). 
 

C-O, C-C, C-T and C-H DISTRICTS (Commercial)  
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-117
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-116
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-703


 C-O C-C C-H C-T Additional Regulations 

Yards     (1)(7)(8) 

Front (ft.) 10 10 15 15 (2)(5)(9) 

Side (ft.) 0 0 0 0 (3) 

Corner side (ft.) 10 10 15 15 (2)(5)(9) 

Rear (ft.) 10 0 0 0 (3) 

Maximum height 
(ft.) 

35 35 None None (3)(4) 

Typical FAR 0.35 0.25 0.35 0.35  

Landscaping 
standards 
(% of lot area) 

15 10 7.5 7.5 (5)(6)(8) 

Residential 
development 

Where permitted, residential uses may be developed independently or in 
combination with commercial uses in accordance with the R-H District 
regulations. 

Fences and walls A seven (7') foot solid masonry wall shall be required along any property 
line abutting an R District, except in required front and corner side yards 
where the maximum height shall be three (3') feet. The Development 
Services Director may allow fence and wall heights to be increased in order 
to mitigate noise problems documented by a noise study. Razor wire, 
electrified fencing, and similar security devices are prohibited in commercial 
districts. Barbed wire may be used on a limited basis for security or safety 
purposes with a MAA issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), provided that the barbed 
wire is not visible from the public right-of-way and is not located adjacent to 
a residence or Residential District. In addition, all fences and walls shall be 
subject to the driveway visibility requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway 
and corner visibility). 

Additional 
standards 

TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-street parking and loading regulations). 

 TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

 TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

 TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). 

 TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-123
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105


(2) Front or corner side yard setback may be reduced to the average distance of existing buildings 
from their front property line on the two (2) abutting lots adjoining the front property line. 

(3) Structures shall not intercept a forty-five (45°) degree inclined plane inward from a height of ten 
(10') feet above existing grade at the R District boundary line. Single story structures and ground 
level parking may encroach a maximum of five (5') feet into required side and rear yards. 

(4) See TMC 9-2-108 (Exceptions to height limits). 

(5) Any area between a property line adjacent to the street and the building, exclusive of driveways, 
shall be landscaped. 

(6) See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation). 

(7) When abutting a R District, a minimum setback shall be provided as follows: front yard: fifteen 
(15') feet; rear yard: fifteen (15') feet; side yard: ten (10') feet. 

(8) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 (9) The required ”landscape strip” in the public right-of-way (located behind the public sidewalk and 
adjacent to the private property line) may be counted toward the required building front yard and 
corner side yard setback, when constructed per City standard as defined in the Turlock General Plan 
and the landscape strip is maintained by the private property owner. 

Article 4. Industrial Districts (I-BP & I) 

9-3-401 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in TMC Chapter 9-1 (General Provisions), the specific 
purposes of the Industrial District regulations are to: 
 
(a) Provide appropriately located areas consistent with the General Plan for a broad range of 
manufacturing and service uses; 
 
(b) Strengthen the City’s economic base, and provide employment opportunities close to home 
for residents of the City and surrounding communities; and 
 
(c) Minimize the impact of industrial uses on adjacent residential and commercial districts. 
 
(d) The additional purposes of each I District are as follows: 
 

(1) I-BP Business Park District. To provide sites with high architectural and landscape 
standards for industrial office centers, limited manufacturing, warehousing and large-scale, 
single destination retail and other limited retail uses which may not be appropriate in retail 
areas. 

(2) I General Industrial District. To provide for the full range of manufacturing, industrial 
processing, general service, and distribution uses deemed suitable for location in Turlock; 
and to protect Turlock’s general industrial areas from competition for space from unrelated 
uses that could more appropriately be located elsewhere in the City. 

9-3-402 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in C Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-108
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule. 

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, involving an expansion of floor area of five 
thousand (5,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing building floor area, 
whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-1000ART. New or 
expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an MDP design review permit. Design 
review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required permit. 
Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all 
industrial developments subject to design review. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART  (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

I-BP and I DISTRICTS (Industrial)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 
I-BP I 

Additional Use 
Regulations 

Agricultural Uses    

Community garden MDP MDP  

Crop production P P  

Other agricultural uses MDP MDP  

Public and Semipublic Uses    

Airports and heliports CUP CUP  

Day care centers MDP MDP  

Government offices MDP MDP  

Parking lots MDP MDP  

Public buildings and facilities MDP MDP  

Religious assembly CUP CUP  

Schools, trade MDP MDP  



Utilities    

     Major  CUP MDP  

     Minor P P (13) 

Commercial Uses    

Adult entertainment facilities MDP MDP (1) 

Ambulance services MDP MDP  

Animal services    

     Animal boarding MDP MDP  

     Animal hospitals MDP MDP  

Artists’ studios MDP MDP  

Automobile service stations MDP MDP (2) 

Automobile storage MDP MDP (2) 

Automobile washing NP MDP (2) 

Bakeries, wholesale MDP MDP  

Building materials and services NP MDP (3) 

Commercial recreation and 
entertainment 

MDP MDP  

Communications facilities MDP MDP  

Eating and drinking establishments CUP CUP  

Equipment sales, service and rentals MDP MDP (12) 

Financial services MDP MDP (4) 

Health/recreation centers MDP MDP  

Laboratories MDP MDP  

Labor camps NP CUP  

Maintenance and repair services    

     Major NP MDP (5) 

     Minor MDP MDP (5) 

Motor vehicle repair    

     Major NP MDP (2) 

     Minor MDP MDP (2) 

Offices    

     Business and professional MDP CUP  

     Medical and dental MDP CUP  

Printing and publishing    

     Limited MDP MDP  

     Unlimited MDP MDP  



Research and development services MDP MDP  

Restaurant CUP CUP  

Retail sales MDP MDP (6) 

Industrial Uses    

     Chemical mfg./processing NP CUP  

     Commissary NP MDP  

Industry    

     General CUP MDP  

     Limited MDP MDP  

Hazardous waste transfer stations NP CUP  

Salvage and wrecking operations NP CUP (7) 

Speculative buildings MDP MDP  

Transfer stations NP MDP  

Truck terminal NP MDP (10) 

Truck yard NP MDP  

Warehouse   (8) 

     Limited MDP MDP  

     Wholesale distribution CUP MDP  

Accessory Structures and Uses P P (5)(8)(9) 

Caretaker unit MDP MDP (11) 

Temporary Uses P P (9) 

Nonconforming Uses See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and 
Uses). 

Recycling Facilities See TMC 9-2-116 (Recycling facilities). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-102 (Adult entertainment facilities). 

(2) See TMC 9-2-104 (Automobile service stations, repair and washing). 

(3) Building materials and service uses shall not adjoin any R District. See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor 
storage). 

(4) Only automatic teller machines are allowed. 

(5) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

(6) In an I District only ancillary retail sales limited to thirty (30%) percent of the total square footage 
of buildings used to manufacture products on the site, or two thousand five hundred (2,500) square 
feet, whichever is less, shall be allowed. Goods being sold at retail must be directly related to 
approved and permitted uses of the site. Large-scale, single destination retail uses may be allowed 
in the I-BP District, provided a conditional use permit is obtained in accordance with TMC 9-5-
600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances). 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-116
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-104
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112


(7) Salvage and wrecking operations shall not adjoin an arterial street or Highway 99. See TMC 9-2-
117 (Salvage and wrecking operations). 

(8) See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

(9) See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). Construction trailers may be located on the 
project site after required planning permits and approvals have been obtained. The trailer(s) must be 
removed upon completion of the applicable construction project. 

(10) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

(11) A caretaker unit may be provided in conjunction with an industrial use for a caretaker that is 
responsible for security, maintenance or management of the facility. The unit shall be a permanent 
structure that is architecturally compatible with the main industrial buildings and must be clearly 
accessory to the industrial use. 

(12) See TMC 9-2-123 (Equipment sales, service and rentals). 

(13) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment or aesthetics of adjacent uses. All 
utilities shall be screened from view from public right-of-way using landscaping, a berm, a solid 
masonry fence, or other visually attractive method. The area surrounding the minor utility shall be 
landscaped.  

9-3-403 Property development standards. 
The following schedule prescribes development regulations for the I (Industrial) Districts. 
Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). 
 

I-BP and I DISTRICTS (Industrial)  
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 I-BP I Additional Use Regulations 

Lot size (sf) 15,000 15,000 (1) 

Lot width (ft.) 150 150  

Lot depth (ft.) 150 150  

Lot frontage 
(ft.) 

100 100  

Yards   (7) 

Front (ft.) 20 20 (2)(3)(4)(8) 

Side (ft.) 0 0 (4) 

Corner side 
(ft.) 

20 20 (3)(4)(8) 

Rear (ft.) 0 0 (4) 

Maximum 
height (ft.) 

None None  

Typical FAR 0.60 0.60 (7) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-117
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-117
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-124


Landscaping 
standards 

7.5 5 (5)(6)(7) 

Fences and 
walls 

A seven (7') foot solid masonry wall shall be required along any property line 
abutting an R, C, or PS District. The Community Development Director may allow 
fence and wall heights to be increased in order to mitigate noise problems 
documented by a noise study. Barbed wire and razor wire, and other similar 
devices may be used on a limited basis for security or safety purposes with an 
MAA issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits), provided that the device is not visible from the 
public right-of-way and is not located adjacent to a residence or Residential 
District.. Electrified fences may be permitted in accordance with TMC 9-2-126. In 
addition, all fences and walls shall be subject to the driveway visibility 
requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

Additional 
standards 

See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations). 

 See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility. 

 See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 See TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 See TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). 

 See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 
(1) Minimum lot sizes are not applicable when done in conjunction with an approved planned 
development proposal. See TMC 9-2-106 (Development on existing lots of record). 

(2) Double-frontage lots shall provide front yards on each frontage except in the case of public 
alleys. 

(3) Front and corner side yards may be reduced to ten (10') feet in I Districts on lots which do not 
front on arterial streets. 

(4) A thirty (30') foot side, front and rear yard adjoining any R District and structures shall not 
intercept a forty-five (45°) degree inclined plane inward from a height of ten (10') feet above existing 
grade at the R District boundary line. 

(5) See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation). 

(6) Any area between the front (and street side) property line and the building, exclusive of 
driveways and walkways, shall be landscaped. 

(7) See TMC 9-2-122 (Rental storage facility). 

 (8) The required ”landscape strip” in the public right-of-way (located behind the public sidewalk and 
adjacent to the private property line) may be counted toward the required building front yard and 
corner side yard setback, when constructed per City standard as defined in the Turlock General Plan 
and the landscape strip is maintained by the private property owner. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-123
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-106
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-123


Article 5. Public & Semipublic District (P-S) 

9-3-501 Specific purposes. 
In addition to the general purposes listed in TMC Chapter 9-1 (General Provisions), the specific 
purposes of the Public and Semipublic District regulations are to: 
 
(a) Allow consideration of a large public or semipublic use separately from regulations for an 
underlying base zoning district that may or may not be appropriate in combination with the 
public or semipublic use; 

(b) Allow consideration of establishment or expansion of a large public or semipublic use at 
rezoning hearings rather than at conditional use permit hearings only, and to give public notice 
of the extent of a site approved for a large public or semipublic use by delineating it on the 
Zoning Map; and 

(c) Allow the Planning Commission and City Council to consider the most appropriate use of a 
site following discontinuance of a large public or semipublic use without the encumbrance of a 
base zoning district that may or may not provide appropriate regulations for reuse of the site. 

9-3-502 Use classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in PS Districts, 
the letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 
classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 
designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 
“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. 
 
All new or expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated 
in the following schedule.  

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, involving an expansion of floor area of five 
thousand (5,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the existing building floor area, 
whichever is less, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-1000. New or 
expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain an MDP design review permit. Design 
review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required permit. 
Compliance with the adopted design guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all 
industrial developments subject to design review. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 
the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 
and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 
zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 
commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 
permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 
district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

P-S DISTRICT (Public and Semipublic District)  
USE CLASSIFICATIONS 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1


MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 
MAA Minor Administrative Approval 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 

 P-S Additional Use Regulations 

Agricultural Uses   

Community garden MDP  

Crop production P  

Other agricultural uses CUP (7) 

Commercial Uses  
 Commercial recreation and 

entertainment 
CUP (1) 

Outdoor storage CUP (2) 

Public and Semipublic Uses   

Airports CUP  

Cemeteries P  

Clubs and lodges MDP  

Convalescent facilities MDP  

Corporation yards MDP (4) 

Cultural institutions MDP  

Day care centers MDP  

Government offices MDP  

Heliports MDP (3) 

Hospitals CUP  

Open space P  

Parking lots P  

Park and recreation facilities MDP  

Public buildings and facilities MDP  

Public assembly CUP  

Schools, public or private MDP  

Storm drainage basins P (6) 

Utilities   

     Major MDP  

     Minor P (5) 

Accessory Structures and Uses See TMC 9-2-101 (Accessory buildings or structures). 

Temporary Uses See TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). 
Construction trailers may be temporarily located on a project site 
after required planning permits and approval have been 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-101


obtained. The trailer(s) must be removed upon completion of the 
applicable construction project. 

Nonconforming Uses and 
Structures 

See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 
(1) See also TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage) and TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

(2) See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage) and TMC 9-5-500ART (Temporary Uses of Land). 

(3) Must be more than one thousand (1,000') feet from an R District; heliport permit from the 
California Department of Transportation, Division of Aeronautics required. 

(4) Maintenance and repair service uses are limited to those of a public and semipublic nature. 

(5) Minor utilities shall not interfere with the use, enjoyment, or aesthetics of adjacent uses. All 
utilities shall be screened from view from public right-of-way using landscaping, a berm, a solid 
masonry fence, or other visually attractive method. The area surrounding the minor utility shall be 
landscaped.  

 (6) Storm drainage basins shall be landscaped. 

(7) The permitting process may be reduced to a Minor Discretionary Permit when the property is 
surrounded on all sides by industrial zones. 

9-3-503 Development regulations. 
Development regulations shall be as specified by a conditional use permit issued in accordance 
with TMC 9-5-600ART (Conditional Use Permits and Variances), or as required by a minor 
discretionary permit issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-300 (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). The Development Services Director, Planning Commission, and/or City 
Council, as the case may be, shall be guided by those regulations of the zoning district within 
closest proximity or a zoning district intended for uses similar to those proposed in the PS 
District. Deviations from the setback and height requirements for the purpose of providing 
accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted upon approval of 
a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 
Discretionary Permits). 
 

P-S DISTRICT (Public and Semipublic District) 
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

 P-S  Additional Use Regulations 

Yards  (1)(5) 

Front (ft.) 10 (2)(4) 

Side (ft.) 0 (3) 

Corner side (ft.) 10 (2)(4) 

Rear (ft.) 10 (3) 

Maximum height (ft.) None  

Landscaping Landscaping shall be provided consistent with the standards for the 
abutting properties. See TMC 9-2-109 (Landscaping and irrigation) 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-109


Fences and walls A seven (7') foot solid masonry wall shall be required along any 
property line abutting an R, C or PS District. The Community 
Development Director may allow fence and wall heights to be 
increased in order to mitigate noise problems documented by a noise 
study. Razor wire, electrified fencing, and similar security devices are 
prohibited. Barbed wire may be used on a limited basis for security or 
safety purposes with a MAA issued in accordance with TMC 9-5-
300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), 
provided that the barbed wire is not visible from the public right-of-way 
and is not located adjacent to a residence or Residential District.  In 
addition, all fences and walls shall be subject to the driveway visibility 
requirements of TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

Additional regulations See TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-Street Parking and Loading Regulations). 

 See TMC 9-2-215 (Driveway and corner visibility). 

 See TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). 

 See TMC 9-2-112 (Outdoor storage). 

 See TMC 9-2-118 (Screening of mechanical equipment). 

 See TMC 9-2-120 (Underground utilities). 

 See TMC 9-2-400ART (Nonconforming Structures and Uses). 

 See TMC 9-2-115 (Recycling and solid waste disposal regulations). 

 
(1) See TMC 9-2-105 (Building projections into yards). 

(2) Front or corner side yard setback may be reduced to the average distance of existing buildings 
from their front property line on the two (2) abutting lots adjoining the front property line. 

(3) Structures shall not intercept a forty-five (45°) degree inclined plane inward from a height of ten 
(10') feet above existing grade at the R District boundary line. Single story structures and ground 
level parking may encroach a maximum of five (5') feet into required side and rear yards. 

(4) Any area between a property line adjacent to the street and the building, exclusive of driveways, 
shall be landscaped. 

(5) When abutting an R District, a minimum setback shall be provided as follows: front yard: fifteen 
(15') feet; rear yard: fifteen (15') feet; side yard: ten (10') feet.  

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-112
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-118
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-121
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-115
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-105


SECTION 5. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 4, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 
 

Chapter 9-4 

OVERLAY DISTRICT REGULATIONS 

Sections: 

Article 1. Downtown Overlay Regulations 

9-4-101    Downtown overlay regulations and purpose. 

9-4-102    Regulations applicable to all Downtown Overlay districts. 

9-4-103    Use Classifications. 

9-4-104    Downtown Core (DC). 

9-4-105    Downtown Core Transition (DCT). 

9-4-106    Transitional Commercial (TC) 

9-4-107    Industrial Residential (IR) 

9-4-108    Office Residential (OR) 

 

Article 2. Emergency Shelter Regulations 

9-4-201    Purpose. 

9-4-202    Emergency shelter permit required. 

9-4-203    District cap on number of beds that may be permitted. 

9-4-204    Nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit application: review and approval. 

9-4-205    Conditions. 

9-4-206    Application processing fee. 

9-4-207    Suspension or revocation of emergency shelter permit. 

9-4-208    Appeal.   

Article 1. Downtown Overlay Regulations 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-101
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-103
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-104
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-105
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-106


9-4-101 Downtown overlay regulations and purpose. 
Downtown Overlay District Regulations apply specifically to the downtown area as defined in the 
Turlock Downtown Design Guidelines and Zoning Regulations document. These regulations in 
some cases modify the base district regulations for the purposes set forth herein. However, 
these regulations are not all inclusive and therefore must be used in concert with the balance of 
the City of Turlock zoning regulations. Wherever there is a conflict or contradiction in the overlay 
district and base district regulations, the overlay district regulations set forth herein shall apply. 
 
In addition to the purposes listed in TMC 9-1-103, and elsewhere in each of the base district 

regulations, the purpose of the Downtown Overlay Regulations are to: 

(a) Maintain and further enhance a prominent pedestrian oriented environment throughout all 

the regulation districts of the Downtown; 

(b) Promote and encourage economic investment in the Downtown area; 

(c) Protect and preserve the City’s historic architectural character of the Downtown Core and 

immediately surrounding areas; 

(d) Acknowledge the distinct opportunities that exist in the Downtown; and 

(e) Ensure the economic vitality of the Downtown as the “heart” of Turlock for years to come. 

9-4-102 Regulations applicable to all Downtown overlay districts.  
(a) Minimum lot size and dimensions. Minimum lot size and dimensions shall be determined 
using the base zoning district that corresponds to the proposed use. For residential uses, the 
minimum lot size and dimension for the R-H zoning district shall apply. For commercial and 
mixed uses, the following minimum lot size and dimensions apply: 
 

Minimum Dimensions DC DCT TC IR OR 

Lot size (sf) 3000 5000 5000 7500 7500 

Lot width (ft.) 25 50 50 75 75 

Lot depth (ft.) 75 100 100 100 100 

Lot frontage (ft.) 25 50 50 75 75 

 

(b) Accommodation for disabled access. Deviations from the setback and height 

requirements to accommodation for disabled access to an existing structure may be permitted 

upon approval of a minor administrative approval pursuant to TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor 

Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 

(c) Security devices. Razor wire, electrified fencing, and similar security devices are 

prohibited. Barbed wire may be used on a limited basis for nonresidential uses located in the 

IR overlay district for security or safety purposes with a minor administrative approval issued in 

accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits), 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-103


provided that the barbed wire is not visible from the public right-of-way and is not abutting a 

residence or Residential district. 

9-4-103 Use Classifications. 
In the following schedule, the letter “P” designates use classifications permitted in a District, the 

letters “NP” designate use classifications not permitted, the letters “MAA” designate use 

classifications allowed on approval of a minor administrative approval, the letters “MDP” 

designate use classifications allowed on approval of a minor discretionary permit, and the letters 

“CUP” designate use classifications allowed on approval of a conditional use permit. All new or 

expanded uses of a site or structure shall obtain the necessary permits as indicated in the 

following schedule. 

All new or expanded uses of a site or structure, except a single-family dwelling, involving an 

expansion of floor area of one thousand (1,000) square feet or twenty-five (25%) percent of the 

existing building floor area, whichever is less, or the conversion of an existing residential 

structure to a nonresidential use, are subject to design review in accordance with TMC 9-5-

1000ART. New or expanded uses subject to design review shall obtain a MDP design review 

permit. Design review shall take place concurrently with the processing of any other required 

permit. Compliance with the adopted citywide Design Guidelines and the Downtown Design 

Guidelines of the City of Turlock is mandatory for all commercial developments subject to 

design review. 

Alterations or modifications to a developed site or the exterior of an existing structure are 

subject to review in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and Minor 

Discretionary Permits).  The review is to ensure compliance with the established policies, 

standards and guidelines adopted by the Turlock City Council. 

Any change in use or business within an existing structure that is permitted or, in the opinion of 

the Development Services Director, is suitable to the site and structures in which it is located 

and does not increase the intensity or impact of its prior use, shall obtain a zoning certificate in 

accordance with TMC 9-5-200ART (Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits). The 

zoning certificate shall be obtained prior to the issuance of a building permit or prior to 

commencement of a use where no building permit is required. 

Uses not contained in the following schedule may be permitted subject to a conditional use 

permit. Such conditional uses must be of a similar nature and intensity as other uses in the 

district as determined by the Development Services Director or designee. 

Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

RESIDENTIAL USES       



Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Emergency shelter1 NP NP CUP CUP CUP 

 Family day care home – 
small  

P P P P P 

 Family day care home – 
large 

MAA MAA MAA MAA MAA 

 Group quarters – small NP NP NP P P 

 Group quarters – large  CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

 Mobile home parks NP NP NP NP NP 

 Residential – 
single/multifamily 

P P P P P 

       

       

COMMERCIAL USES       

 Adult entertainment 
facilities 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Ambulance services NP NP CUP MDP NP 

 Animal boarding CUP CUP MDP MDP CUP 

 Animal grooming P P P MDP MDP 

 Animal hospitals CUP CUP MDP MDP CUP 

 Animal retail sales2 P P P NP NP 

 Art galleries P P P CUP P 

 Artists’ studios P P P P P 

 Automobile repair – minor NP NP P P NP 

 Automobile repair – major NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Automobile sales & service NP NP MDP NP NP 

 Automobile service 
stations 

NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Automobile storage NP NP NP NP NP 

 Automobile washing NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Bakeries – retail P P P NP NP 

 Bakeries – wholesale NP NP NP P NP 

 Bar CUP NP CUP NP NP 

 Building materials & 
services 

NP NP P P NP 

 Catering services P P P P NP 

 Commercial filming3 MDP CUP MDP MDP NP 

                                                           
1
 Where the emergency shelter is proposed in a location that falls within the Emergency Shelter overlay 

district, the permitting requirements contained in Article 2 of this chapter shall prevail. 
2
 Retail sale of dogs and cats is prohibited in accordance with TMC 6-1-703. 

3
 Indoor studios 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-703


Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Commercial recreation & 
entertainment <= 2,000 sf 

MDP CUP P P NP 

 Commercial recreation & 
entertainment > 2,000 sf 

CUP NP CUP CUP NP 

 Convenience gas mart NP NP P CUP NP 

 Dance hall / nightclub CUP NP CUP CUP NP 

 Dance schools <= 3,000 sf MDP CUP MDP NP NP 

 Dance schools > 3,000 sf CUP CUP MDP NP NP 

 Discount club NP NP NP NP NP 

 Discount store NP NP MDP NP NP 

 Discount superstore NP NP NP NP NP 

 Entertainment live 
(excluding adult 
entertainment) 

CUP NP MDP NP NP 

 Equipment sales, service & 
rentals 

NP NP CUP CUP NP 

 Financial services <=5,000 
sf 

P P P NP MDP 

 Financial services > 5,000 
sf 

P P P NP CUP 

 Food and beverage sales 
<= 2,500 sf 

P MDP P CUP CUP 

 Food and beverage sales 
>2,500 and <= 10,000 sf 

MDP CUP P NP NP 

 Food and beverage sales 
> 10,000 sf 

MDP CUP MDP NP NP 

 Fortune telling CUP NP MDP NP NP 

 Funeral & internment 
services 

MDP MDP P CUP NP 

 Health & recreation center  
<= 3,000 sf 

MDP MDP MAA CUP NP 

 Health & recreation center  
> 3,000 sf 

CUP NP MAA NP NP 

 Hotels & motels MAA NP MAA NP NP 

 Laboratories MAA NP MAA NP NP 

 Laundries – limited P MAA P NP NP 

 Laundries – unlimited NP NP NP MDP NP 

 Maintenance & repair 
services – minor 

CUP NP NP MDP MDP 

 Maintenance & repair 
services – major 

NP NP NP CUP NP 

       



Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Nurseries MAA MAA MAA P MAA 

 Office – business & 
professional 

P P P P P 

 Office – medical & dental P P P CUP P 

 Outdoor storage NP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Personal services P P P CUP MAA 

 Printing & publishing – 
limited (building <= 2,000 
sf) 

P P P MDP MDP 

 Printing & publishing – 
unlimited (building > 2,000 
sf) 

CUP NP MDP MDP NP 

 Recycling facility, 
collection facility – small 

NP NP P NP NP 

 Recycling facility, 
collection facility – large 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Recycling facility, 
collection facility – 
processing facility 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Rental storage facility NP NP NP CUP NP 

  
Research & development 
services 

 
 

MDP 

 
 

NP 

 
 

MDP 

 
 

MDP 

 
 

NP 

 Restaurant P P P CUP CUP 

 Restaurant, drive-in NP NP MDP CUP NP 

 Restaurant, drive-thru NP NP MDP CUP NP 

 Retail sales P P P P NP 

 Salvage & wrecking 
operations 

     

  Motor vehicle NP NP NP NP NP 

  Non-vehicular NP NP NP NP NP 

 Second hand stores MAA MAA MAA MAA NP 

 Shopping centers NP NP CUP NP NP 

 Travel trailer park NP NP NP NP NP 

 Truck terminals NP NP NP NP NP 

       

INDUSTRIAL USES       

 Chemical mfg/processing NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Commissary NP NP NP NP NP 

 Industry – general NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Industry – limited NP NP NP P NP 



Downtown Overlay District 
Use Classifications 
 
P Permitted 
NP Not Permitted 
CUP Conditional Use Permit 
MDP Minor Discretionary Permit 

Downtown Overlay Districts 

  DC DCT TC IR OR 

 Hazardous waste transfer 
station 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Salvage & wrecking 
operations 

NP NP NP NP NP 

 Speculative buildings NP NP NP MDP NP 

 Transfer stations NP NP NP NP NP 

 Truck yard NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Warehouse - limited  NP NP NP CUP NP 

 Warehouse - wholesale NP NP NP CUP NP 

       

PUBLIC & SEMIPUBLIC 
USES 

 
     

 Clubs & Lodges <= 2,500 
sf 

P CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Clubs & Lodges > 2,500 sf CUP CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Convalescent hospitals 
(including nursing homes 
and assisted living 
facilities) 

NP NP CUP NP CUP 

 Cultural Institutions P P P P P 

 Day care centers MAA P P MDP P 

 Government offices P P P P P 

 Hospitals CUP CUP CUP CUP CUP 

 Parking lots MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

 Public buildings & facilities MDP MDP MDP MDP CUP 

 Public utility service yards NP NP NP P NP 

 Religious assembly      

 Religious assembly <= 
2,500 sf 

P CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Religious assembly > 
2,500 sf 

CUP CUP MDP CUP CUP 

 Schools – trade MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

 Schools – public/private MDP MDP MDP CUP MDP 

 Utilities – minor MDP MDP MDP MDP MDP 

 Utilities – major NP NP NP CUP NP 

 
9-4-104 Downtown Core (DC). 
The Downtown Core is the historic focal point of Downtown Turlock. It’s a place where 
shopping, dining, and entertainment is encouraged and is an area where buildings shall be high 
density in order to achieve an urban appearance. Buildings shall range from two (2) to four (4) 
stories in height in order to encourage a mix of commercial, office, and residential uses. The 
design and look of the Core communicates the historic character of the City through the use of 



architecture and streetscape design. The following is intended to preserve and enhance the 
historic character of the Downtown Core and the quality of public realm (streetscape, public 
parking, plazas, etc.) improvements. This overlay district accomplishes this through specific use 
requirements and development standards: 
 
(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) To ensure the current and future success of the Downtown Core by preserving and 

enhancing its unique historic character and to encourage future development and land uses 

that are compatible with the overall character of the Downtown Core; 

(2) Protect and enhance the pedestrian environment and accessibility in and around the 

Downtown Core area; 

(3) Promote re-use and renovation of historic buildings in Downtown while promoting new 

investment and construction; 

(4) Encourage mixed-use development in the Downtown Core supporting residences and 

offices on the upper floors; 

(5) Encourage ground floor retail and restaurants. 

(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation 

Land Use 

Applicable Base Zone C-C  

Maximum Lot Coverage 100% 

*Intensity of the allowable building 

coverage of the lot area. See Design 

Guidelines for how to handle frontage 

treatments. 

Typical Floor Area Ratio 3.0 for Mixed Use 

1.0 for Retail Commercial 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio of 

building area to parcel area. 

Setbacks 

Front Yard Zero (0') feet maximum* 

*Except for plazas, courtyards, entries or 

 



outdoor dining; for a single family 

residential unit, the front yard setback 

shall be fifteen (15’) for the residence 

and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or 

carport. 

Side Yard Zero (0') feet maximum 

Rear Yard Zero (0') feet maximum 

Corner Side Yard Zero (0') feet maximum 

Building Massing 

Building Height Sixty (60') feet maximum  

Landscaping Zero (0%) percent of lot area 

*may include hardscape, plazas, 

courtyards, and planters 

Parking 

Parking Requirements Off-street parking not required in the 

Downtown Core 

 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART 
(Signs) except: 

 

Freestanding Signs No freestanding signs are permitted, 

except for tenant directory signs which 

may be placed within a courtyard, plaza, 

or entry. Any freestanding signs shall be 

single sided, shall be limited to six (6') 

feet in overall height, shall not exceed 

three (3') feet in width, shall be placed 

within a landscaped bed, and shall be 

made from the same materials as other 

signs on the site. 

 

Restaurant Menu Signs Restaurant menu signs shall be  



permitted and shall be located in a 

permanently mounted display box on the 

surface of the building adjacent to the 

entry. Taping a menu to a box is not an 

appropriate menu sign. The allowable 

area for restaurant menu signs shall be 

a maximum of six (6) square feet. For 

special circumstances in which 

restaurants occupy a considerable 

amount of window space, menus are to 

be decoratively displayed in the window 

adjacent to the entry. Such signs will not 

be included in the sign area calculation 

for the business. 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed on the 

building in such a manner as to 

enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using appropriate 

lighting material is preferred over 

internal illumination. Cabinet signs are 

prohibited. 

 

Projecting Signs Projecting signs shall not exceed two (2') 

feet by two (2') feet in size and shall be 

placed on the building in such a manner 

as to enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using appropriate 

lighting material is preferred over 

internal illumination. Cabinet signs are 

prohibited. Projecting signs shall not be 

included in the sign area calculation for 

 



the building. 

A-Frame Signs A-Frame signs shall be permitted, 

provided the sign complies with the 

following size and design requirements: 

•     No A-Frame sign shall have more 

than two (2) sides 

•     The overall size of the sign, 

including frame, shall not exceed two (2') 

feet in width and four (4') feet in height 

•     The sign shall be constructed of 

materials similar to those found on the 

building and/or the wall signs 

•     The sign shall not be placed on the 

public sidewalk in such a manner as to 

obstruct public access, including ADA 

accessibility requirements 

A-Frame signs shall not be included in 

the sign area calculation for the building 

 

Other 

Design Compliance with the Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning Regulations is 

required 

 

 
9-4-105 Downtown Core Transition (DCT). 
The Downtown Core Transition district is a contrast to the historic urban feel of the Downtown 
Core with ample setbacks, mature trees lining the streets, and low-intensity residential and 
office structures. Yet, located along the East Main corridor, this district is an important link and 
gateway opportunity for the Downtown Core. The Downtown Core Transition district’s residential 
scale is to be preserved while creating a unifying streetscape character that ties this area to the 
Downtown Core. Consideration of gateway features and strengthened pedestrian orientation are 
priorities for this district. All new uses, construction, reconstruction, and remodels shall be 
subject to these regulations. 

(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) Preserve the lower intensity residential scale character of this transition area while 

maintaining the importance of this link to the Downtown Core. 



(2) Encourage mixed use development and land uses that are appropriate for the existing 

structures and character of this district. 

(3) Encourage pedestrian accessibility and orientation. 

(b) Development standards. 

 

Category Regulation 

Land Use  

Applicable Base Zone C-O 

Maximum Lot Coverage 

 

Sixty (60%) percent 

*Intensity of the allowable building 

coverage of the lot area 

Typical Floor Area Ratio 1.0 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio of 

building area to parcel area 

Front Yard Ten (10') feet minimum** 

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum 

* When adjacent to residential zoning districts, a seven (7') foot tall decorative masonry wall is 

required along the property line 

** For a single family residential unit, the front and corner side yard setbacks shall be fifteen 

(15’) for the residence and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or carport. 

Building Massing  

Building Height Forty-five (45') feet maximum 

Landscaping Fifteen (15%) percent of the lot area 

*may include hardscape, plazas, courtyard 

areas, and planters 

Parking 

Parking Requirements Fifty (50%) percent of the parking 
 



requirements as set forth in TMC 9-2-

209 

 
Parking shall be located at rear of lot 

and access from alley unless the 

applicant can demonstrate it is 

infeasible to do so. 

 

Signage  

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART 
(Signs) except: 

 

Freestanding Signs Freestanding signs shall not exceed six 

(6') feet in overall height, measured from 

grade, may be internally illuminated, but 

external illumination is preferred, 

installed within a landscaped bed, and 

constructed of materials designed to 

complement the primary structure 

 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed on the 

building in such a manner as to 

enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using appropriate 

lighting material is preferred over 

internal illumination. Cabinet signs are 

prohibited 

 

A-Frame Signs A-Frame signs shall be permitted, 

provided the sign complies with the 

following size and design requirements: 

•    No A-Frame sign shall have more 

than two (2) sides 

•    The overall size of the sign, including 

frame, shall not exceed two (2') feet in 

width and four (4') feet in height 

 



•    The sign shall be constructed of 

materials similar to those found on the 

building and/or the wall signs 

•    The sign shall not be placed on the 

public sidewalk in such a manner as to 

obstruct public access, including ADA 

accessibility requirements 

 

A-Frame signs shall not be included in 

the sign area calculation for the building 

Other 

Design Compliance with the Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning Regulations is 

required 

 

 
9-4-106 Transitional Commercial (TC). 
The Transitional Commercial areas lay north, south, and west of the Downtown Core. These 
areas contain office and commercial buildings that cater to the auto-oriented consumer. These 
areas also serve as the main gateways into the Downtown Core and shall be designed to 
establish a good first impression of the downtown area. This can be accomplished by 
incorporating gateway signage and landscaping, providing a unified streetscape design, 
regulating signage, and screening parking. The following regulations are set forth to encourage 
a community character that will support the charm and character of the Downtown Core. 
 
(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) Allow for a variety of commercial uses and an architectural character consistent with a 

predominantly automobile oriented commercial district with appropriately scaled 

architecture; 

(2) Enhance aesthetics through improved landscaping and architectural forms; 

(3) Create a pedestrian friendly and accessible commercial district environment. 

(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation  

Land Use 

Applicable Base C-C  



Zone 

Maximum Lot 

Coverage 

Forty-five (45%) percent 

*Intensity of the allowable building coverage of 

the lot area. 

Typical Floor Area 

Ratio 

1.5 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio of building 

area to parcel area. 

Setbacks 

Front Yard Ten (10') feet minimum**  

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum 

 *When adjacent to residential zoning districts, a seven (7') foot tall 

decorative masonry wall is required along the property line 

** Except for plazas, courtyards, entries or outdoor dining; for a single 

family residential unit, the front and corner yard setbacks shall be fifteen 

(15’) for the residence and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or carport. 

Building Massing 

Building Height Forty-five (45') feet maximum  

Landscaping Ten (10%) percent of the lot area 

*may include hardscape, plazas, courtyard 

areas, and planters 

Parking 

Parking 

Requirements 

Refer to TMC 9-2-200ART. 
 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART except: 

Sites that support an auto-serving use, such as automobile  



fueling/convenience gas mart, auto sales, auto repair, and the like 

may incorporate freestanding monument signs within the required 

landscaping. Such signs shall not exceed six (6') feet in overall height, 

measured from grade, and may be internally illuminated. All materials 

for the sign shall be complementary to the primary structure. 

Otherwise, all signs within this district shall be permanently affixed to 

the wall of the primary structure. All wall or projecting signs shall be 

placed on the building in such a manner as to enhance, not detract or 

hide, architectural features of the building. External illumination using 

appropriate lighting material is preferred over internal illumination. 

Cabinet signs are prohibited. A-Frame style signs are not permitted. 

Other 

Design Compliance with the Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning Regulations is required 

 

 

9-4-107 Industrial Residential (IR). 
The Industrial/Residential areas lie in the southwest section of the downtown. This is a unique 

opportunity area to capitalize on the industrial character of the existing agriculturally related 

buildings. Many vacant and underutilized sites currently occupy this district, however, 

multifamily infill buildings, mixed use building, and enhanced streetscapes will help to liven up 

the area. There is also an opportunity to create an industrial gateway to the Downtown Core by 

providing gateway signage and improved landscaping along South Golden State Boulevard. 

The following district regulations address the unique land use opportunities in this area by 

providing for market forces to work while addressing inherent land use conflicts. 

(a) Specific purposes. 

(1) Encourage economically viable re-use of existing agricultural/industrial buildings; 

(2) Create opportunities for the market to determine appropriate land uses while preventing 

inherent land use conflicts. 

(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation  

Land Use Industrial Residential  

Applicable Base Zone I R-H 



Maximum Lot Coverage 60% 100% 

Typical Floor Area Ratio 0.60 1.5 

 *Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is 

the ratio of building area to 

parcel area. 

 

Setbacks Industrial Residential  

Front Yard Ten (10') feet minimum Ten (10') feet 

minimum** 

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* Five (5') feet 

minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* Ten (10') feet 

minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum Ten (10') feet 

minimum 

 * When adjacent to residential, a seven (7') foot decorative 

masonry wall is required along the property boundary  

** For a single family residential unit, the front and corner 

side yard setbacks shall be fifteen (15’) for the residence 

and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or carport. 

Building Massing    

Building Height Fifty (50') feet  

Landscaping Ten (10%) percent 

Parking 

Parking Requirements Refer to TMC 9-2-200ART 

(Off-Street Parking and 

Loading Regulations). 

 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs) 
 



Freestanding signs Freestanding signs shall not 

exceed six (6') feet in overall 

height, measured from 

grade, may be internally 

illuminated, but external 

illumination is preferred, 

installed within a landscaped 

bed, and constructed of 

materials designed to 

complement the primary 

structure 

 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed 

on the building in such a 

manner as to enhance, not 

detract or hide, architectural 

features of the building. 

External illumination using 

appropriate lighting material 

is preferred over internal 

illumination. Cabinet signs 

are prohibited 

 

A-Frame Signs Not permitted 
 

Other 

Design Compliance with the 

Downtown Design 

Guidelines and Zoning 

Regulations is required 

 

 
9-4-108 Office Residential (OR). 
The intent of the office/residential district is to preserve the character of the traditional residential 
neighborhoods while providing for the orderly and logical conversion or transition to compatible 
office uses as the market allows. The office/residential district area shall maintain its character 
as a traditional residential neighborhood through the preservation of historic residential 
structures and the establishment of guidelines for new construction, remodels and renovation 



that will ensure a residential scale and character. The pedestrian friendly environment in this 
area is also a priority. Unifying the streets with street trees and continuous sidewalks will further 
enhance the pedestrian friendly environment. Streetscape elements consistent with the 
Downtown Core elements such as street lights, trash receptacles, and benches placed in 
appropriate locations will visually unify and tie together this district to the Core. 
 
(a) Specific purposes. 

 
(1) Preserve historic character of buildings and residential character of the District. 

(2) Promote residential scale design for new office development. 

(3) Maintain and enhance a pedestrian friendly environment. 

 
(b) Development standards. 

Category Regulation  

Land Use Office or Residential Mixed Use  

Applicable Base 

Zone 

C-O (for office uses) or R-H (for 

residential uses or mixed uses) 

 

Maximum 

Building Lot 

Coverage 

Sixty (60%) percent 

*Intensity of the allowable building 

coverage of the lot area 

 

Floor Area Ratio .6 .8 
 

*Floor Area Ratio (FAR) is the ratio 

of building area to parcel area. 

 

Setbacks 

Front Yard  Ten (10') feet minimum**  

Side Yard Five (5') feet minimum* 

Rear Yard Ten (10') feet minimum* 

Corner Side Yard Ten (10') feet minimum 

 * When adjacent to residential zoning districts, a seven (7') foot tall 

decorative masonry wall is required along the property line 

** For a single family residential unit, the front and corner side yard setbacks 

shall be fifteen (15’) for the residence and twenty (20’) feet for a garage or 



carport. 

Building Massing 

Building Height Forty (40') feet maximum  

Landscaping Fifteen (15%) percent of the lot area 

Parking 

Parking 

Requirements 

Office: Fifty (50%) percent of the 

required parking spaces. On-street 

parking directly abutting property 

may be applied to meet office 

parking requirements. All other uses 

as set forth in TMC 9-2-200ART (Off-

Street Parking and Loading 

Regulations). 

Residential: As set forth in TMC 9-2-

200ART (Off-Street Parking and 

Loading Regulations) 

Signage 

Signage in accordance with TMC 9-2-500ART except: 

Freestanding 

Signs 

Freestanding signs shall not exceed 

four (4') feet in overall height, 

measured from grade, may be 

externally illuminated, installed within 

a landscaped bed, and constructed 

of materials designed to complement 

the primary structure 

 

Wall Signs Wall signs shall be placed on the 

building in such a manner as to 

enhance, not detract or hide, 

architectural features of the building. 

External illumination using 

appropriate lighting material is 

preferred over internal illumination. 

Cabinet signs are prohibited 

 



A-Frame Signs Not permitted 

Other 

Design 
Compliance with the Downtown Design Guidelines and Zoning Regulations 

is required 

 

Article 2. Emergency Shelter Regulations 

9-4-201 Purpose. 
The purpose of this article is to establish a nondiscretionary process for emergency shelters that 

will be permitted within a zoning overlay district to meet the requirements of Senate Bill 2 

enacted on October 13, 2007. 

9-4-202 Emergency shelter permit required. 
Prior to operating an emergency shelter, a nondiscretionary permit shall be obtained and all 

other applicable local, State and federal laws, regulations and codes shall be met. The approval 

shall be specific to a location and shall not be transferable to any other location. The application 

shall be on a form prescribed for that purpose, and shall include the written consent of the 

owner of the property on which the shelter is to be located. The permit shall be recorded on the 

property and shall run with the land. 

9-4-203 District cap on number of beds that may be permitted. 
The Turlock City Council shall establish the cap on the number of beds that may be permitted 

under this nondiscretionary permit process. The cap shall be reviewed annually by the Turlock 

City Council at a formal public hearing. 

9-4-204 Nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit application: review and approval. 
(a) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director or 

designee shall take action within thirty (30) days. 

(b) Once an application has been accepted as complete, the Development Services Director or 

designee shall refer the permit application to City departments and any other agencies deemed 

appropriate by the Development Services Director. 

(c) In considering an application for a permit pursuant to this section, the application shall meet 

all of the following standards: 

(1) The application shall be for an emergency shelter as defined in the California Health and 

Safety Code. 



(2) The property must be located within the emergency shelter zoning overlay district 

adopted by the Turlock City Council and located within a Heavy Commercial (CH), 

Community Commercial (CC), Industrial (I), Downtown Industrial Residential (IR), or 

Downtown Transitional Commercial (TC) zoning district. In no case shall an emergency 

shelter permit be issued for a property located in a residential district as defined in Articles 1 

and 2 of Chapter 9-3 TMC or the Downtown core overlay district defined in TMC 9-4-102. 

(3) Approving the application shall not result in the number of beds within the overlay zoning 

district exceeding the district cap or the property-specific cap established by the Turlock City 

Council established pursuant to TMC 9-4-203 or TMC 9-4-205(a), respectively. 

(d) The permit shall not be deemed to be a discretionary act within the meaning of the California 

Environmental Quality Act (Division 13 (commencing with Section 21000) of the Public 

Resources Code). 

9-4-205 Conditions. 
In authorizing an application for a nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit, the Community 

Development Director shall include as conditions of approval, the following minimum provisions: 

(a) The maximum number of beds on a property shall not exceed the following levels: 

(1) Forty (40) beds in the Community Commercial (CC) and Downtown Transitional 

Commercial (TC) districts; 

(2) Seventy-five (75) beds in the Heavy Commercial (CH) zoning district; and 

(3) One hundred (100) beds in the Industrial (I) and Downtown Industrial Residential (IR) 

zoning districts. 

(4) The number of beds shall not exceed the district cap established in TMC 9-4-203. 

(b) The development of the property shall be consistent with the General Plan; the Turlock 

Municipal Code including, but not limited to, this title; the Turlock Standard Specifications and 

Drawings; the City of Turlock Design Guidelines; and all other State and federal codes, laws 

and regulations. Design review required pursuant to TMC 9-5-1000ART shall apply and shall be 

performed in conjunction with review of this permit. 

(c) If located within one hundred fifty (150') feet of a residential zoning district, outdoor activity 

and intake areas shall be screened from public view and from the view of adjacent properties. 

(d) Adequate lighting shall be provided in all parking, pedestrian paths, and entry areas. Lights 

shall be shielded and reflected away from adjacent uses. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock093.html#9-3
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-102
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-203
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-205
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock094.html#9-4-203


(e) Off-street parking shall be provided at a rate of one (1) vehicle parking space per employee 

(by shift) plus one (1) vehicle parking space for every ten (10) beds. Bicycle parking shall be 

provided at a rate of one (1) space for every three (3) beds and shall meet the California 

Building Code requirements. Off-street parking within five hundred (500') feet devoted to the 

shelter during its operating hours by formal contractual agreement between the shelter operator 

and the property owner may be approved by Planning Division as satisfying the off-street 

parking requirement. Parking available on-street along the street frontage of the property on 

which the shelter is located may also be counted toward satisfying the off-street parking 

requirement. 

(f) Adequate management, support staff and security must be present during the hours of 

operation of the facility. A minimum of one (1) supervisory level staff member must be present 

on the site during hours of operation. Operator(s) must ensure that loitering does not occur on 

the property during off-hours and must ensure that clients are not loitering, littering, or otherwise 

creating a nuisance to the neighborhood. A security plan shall be submitted to the Turlock 

Police Department for approval and must be approved before the facility begins operation and 

annually thereafter. If a client is socially disruptive or is responsible for creating any type of 

nuisance to the neighborhood or facility, the operator must discharge the client and notify the 

Turlock Police Department. 

(g) The security plan prepared under subsection (f) of this section must include the hours of 

operation and intake period and must provide at least one (1) employee or volunteer of the 

same sex as clients. Alcohol, weapons and illegal substances shall not be allowed on the site at 

any time. The operator must comply with all laws and shall notify the Police Department of all 

crimes in accordance with the security plan. 

(h) If twenty-six (26) or more beds are included in the permit, a security guard or security officer 

must be provided during the intake period. If fifty-one (51) or more beds, a second security 

guard or security officer must be provided during the intake period. Security guards must be 

licensed through the State of California Department of Consumer Affairs Bureau of Security and 

Investigative Services. 

(i) The maximum length of stay shall be no longer than that established by the California Health 

and Safety Code for emergency shelters. 

(j) The shelter shall have set hours of operation and the hours shall be posted in a publicly 

visible and accessible location on a sign that is no larger than one (1) square foot. 

(k) Outdoor activity shall be allowed only during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. The shelter 

shall comply with TMC 9-2-300ART (Noise Standards) at all times. 

(l) Pets may be allowed on site. For purposes of this section, “pets” means dogs and cats only. 

All pets must be kept within an enclosed crate that shall be maintained and cleaned by the 



operator of the emergency shelter. All pets shall be housed within the emergency shelter and 

shall be leashed at all times when not housed in the crate. No limit shall be placed on the 

number of pets that can be maintained. All dogs shall be properly licensed and vaccinated for 

parvo, distemper, bordetella and any other applicable diseases. No unaltered pets or puppies/ 

kittens under the age of four (4) months shall be permitted. No sick or aggressive animals shall 

be permitted. Pet owners and emergency shelter operators are required to dispose of animal 

feces as outlined in TMC 6-1-116. Each pet owner shall provide the shelter operator with the 

name of an emergency contact person to house the pet in the event that the owner is unable to 

care for the pet. All animal storage facilities will be properly cleaned daily. The shelter shall be 

subject to obtaining an initial permit that shall be reviewed and renewed annually. A fee shall be 

set by City Council resolution for the initial permit and annual compliance inspections, and may 

be amended from time to time. 

9-4-206 Application processing fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the 

nondiscretionary emergency shelter permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council 

resolution, and may be amended from time to time. 

9-4-207 Suspension or revocation of emergency shelter permit. 
An emergency shelter permit may be suspended or revoked in accordance with the procedures 

and standards TMC 9-5-1100ART (Enforcement). 

9-4-208 Appeal. 
The decision of the Development Services Director may be appealed as provided by TMC 1-4 

(Appeals).  

 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock06/Turlock061.html#6-1-116
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock014.html#1-4


SECTION 6. ADDITION. Title 9, Chapter 5, is hereby added to read as follows: 

 
Chapter 9-5 

ADMINISTRATION 

Sections: 

Article 1. Permit Applications, Hearings, Amendments, and Appeals 

9-5-101     Applications: Form. 

9-5-102 Applications: Accompanying maps and data. 

9-5-103 Applications: Investigations. 

9-5-104 Applications: Hearings 

9-5-105 Application Fees. 

9-5-106 Application Expiration. 

9-5-107 Permits: Expiration. 

9-5-108 Permits: Renewal. 

9-5-109 Permits, certificates, and licenses: Validity. 

9-5-110 Permits and variances: Revocation or modification: Grounds. 

9-5-111 Permits and variances: Suspension and revocation. 

9-5-112 Amendments: Authorized. 

9-5-113 Amendments: Initiation. 

9-5-114 Amendments: Applications. 

9-5-115 Amendments: Hearings. 

9-5-116 Hearings: Scope of provisions. 

9-5-117 Hearings: Time and place. 

9-5-118 Hearings: Notices: Form. 

9-5-119 Hearings: Notices: Publication. 

9-5-120 Hearings: Notices: Posting and mailings. 

9-5-121 Hearings. 

9-5-122 Hearings: Transcripts. 



9-5-123 Hearings: Continuance. 

9-5-124 Commission hearings: Commission recommendations. 

9-5-125 Commission hearings: Transmittal of resolutions. 

9-5-126 Commission hearings: Records. 

9-5-127 Council hearings: Council decisions. 

9-5-128 Council hearings: Transmittal of resolutions and ordinances. 

9-5-129 Council hearings: Records. 

9-5-130 Appeals: Authorized. 

9-5-131 Permits and variances: New applications. 

 

Article 2. Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits 

9-5-201 Zoning certificates: Purpose. 

9-5-202 Zoning certificates: Required. 

9-5-203 Zoning certificates: Application. 

9-5-204 Zoning certificates: Applications: Departmental approval. 

9-5-205 Zoning certificates: Denial. 

9-5-206 Zoning certificates: Effective date. 

9-5-207 Zoning certificates: Expiration. 

9-5-208 Home occupation permits: Required. 

9-5-209 Home occupation permit: Applications. 

9-5-210 Home occupation permits: Conditions: Issuance. 

9-5-211 Home occupation permits: Denial. 

9-5-212 Home occupation permits: Term. 

9-5-213 Home Occupation Permits: Revocation. 

 



Article 3. Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits 

9-5-301 Minor administrative approval (MAA): Purpose and intent. 

9-5-302 Minor administrative approval:  Applicability. 

9-5-303 Minor administrative approval:  Application. 

9-5-304 Minor administrative approval:  Review: Approval. 

9-5-305 Minor administrative approval: Expiration. 

9-5-306 Minor administrative approval: Fee. 

9-5-307 Minor discretionary permits: Purpose and intent. 

9-5-308 Minor discretionary permit: Authorized. 

9-5-309 Minor discretionary permit: Application. Completeness. 

9-5-310 Minor discretionary permit: Review. 

9-5-311 Minor discretionary permit: Notice. 

9-5-312 Minor discretionary permit: Approval: Findings: Conditions. 

9-5-313 Minor discretionary permit: Fee. 

9-5-314 Minor discretionary permit: Violation: Penalty. 

9-5-315 Minor discretionary permit: Time limits for development of property and uses. 

9-5-316 Outdoor dining defined. 

9-5-317 Outdoor dining permit required. 

9-5-318 Authority to  issue outdoor dining permits. 

9-5-319 Application for outdoor dining permit. 

9-5-320 Issuance of outdoor dining permit. 

9-5-321 Conditions and restrictions pertaining to outdoor dining. 

9-5-322 Insurance. 

9-5-323 Alcoholic beverage restrictions. 

9-5-324 Outdoor dining permit not deed or easement. 

9-5-325 Suspension or revocation of outdoor dining permit. 



9-5-326 Protest issuance of permit. 

9-5-327 Denial of permit. 

9-5-328 Penalties. 

9-5-329 Removal of tables and chairs. 

Article 4. Minor Exceptions 

9-5-401 Purpose. 

9-5-402 Application. 

9-5-403 Applicability. 

9-5-404 Findings. 

9-5-405 Burden of proof. 

9-5-406 Precedents. 

9-5-407 Minor exception: Expiration. 

Article 5. Temporary Uses of Land 

9-5-501 Temporary uses. 

9-5-502 Application.  

9-5-503 Approval.  

9-5-504 Findings.  

9-5-505 Conditions.  

9-5-506 Fee.  

 

Article 6. Conditional Use Permits and Variances 

9-5-601 Conditional use permits: Authorized. 

9-5-602 Conditional use permits: Required: Purposes. 

9-5-603 Conditional use permits: Applications: Hearings. 

9-5-604 Conditional use permits: Granting. 



9-5-605 Conditional use permits: Granting: Conditions. 

9-5-606 Conditional use permits: Denial. 

9-5-607 Conditional use permits: Issuance. 

9-5-608 Conditional use permits: Effective date. 

9-5-609 Conditional use permits: Time limits for development of property and uses. 

9-5-610 Conditional use permits. Expiration. 

9-5-611 Conditional use permits: Renewal. 

9-5-612 Conditional use permits: New applications. 

9-5-613 Variances: Authorized. 

9-5-614 Variances: Applications. 

9-5-615 Variances: Applications: Hearings. 

9-5-616 Variances: Granting. 

9-5-617 Variances: Granting: Conditions. 

9-5-618 Variances: Denial. 

9-5-619 Variances: Granting or denial: Transmittal of resolution. 

9-5-620 Variances: Issuance. 

9-5-621 Variances: Effective date. 

9-5-622 Variances: Time limits for development of property and uses. 

9-5-623 Variances: Expiration. 

9-5-624 Variances: Renewal. 

9-5-625 Variances: New applications. 

 

Article 7. Prezoning and Annexation 

9-5-701 Prezoning of unincorporated land. 



9-5-702 Prezoning: Purpose. 

9-5-703 Prezoning: Exceptions. 

9-5-704 Prezoning and annexation: Applications: Hearings. 

9-5-705 Prezoning and annexation: Findings. 

9-5-706 Prezoning and annexation: Consideration of territory within secondary sphere of 
influence. 

9-5-707 Prezoning and annexation: Denial. 

9-5-708 Prezoning and annexation: Development agreement requirements. 

9-5-709 Prezoning and annexation: Area-wide planning required. 

Article 8. Historic Site Contracts 

9-5-801 Specific purpose. 

9-5-802 Historical site contract. 

9-5-803 Qualified historical building or structure. 

9-5-804 Use of the state historic building code. 

9-5-805 Demolition. 

9-5-806 Cancellation.  

Article 9. Development Agreements 

9-5-901 Short title.  

9-5-902 Authority and purpose. 

9-5-903 Forms and information. 

9-5-904 Qualifications of applicants. 

9-5-905 Form of development agreement. 

9-5-906 Duty to give notice. 

9-5-907 Contents of development agreements. 

9-5-908 Determinations by the Planning Commission. 



9-5-909 Council hearings.  

9-5-910 Initiation of amendments or cancellation. 

9-5-911 Recordation of agreements, amendments, or cancellation. 

9-5-912 Review of agreements. 

 

Article 10. Design Review 

9-5-1001 Purpose.   

9-5-1002 Applicability. 

9-5-1003 Findings.  

 

Article 11. Enforcement 

9-5-1101 Purpose.  

9-5-1102 Permits, licenses, certificates, and approvals. 

9-5-1103 Violation.  

9-5-1104 Enforcement.  

Article 1. Permit Applications, Hearings, Amendments, and Appeals 

9-5-101 Applications: Form. 
The Development Services Director shall prescribe the form in which applications shall be made 
for the reclassification of property, permits, amendments, and appeals. In addition to any other 
information required in connection with applications, a map shall be submitted with each 
application showing the boundaries of the subject parcel and each parcel within an area defined 
by TMC 9-5-120 for mailing notices of hearings. This map shall include the Assessor’s block 
and lot numbers of each parcel so shown. A list shall accompany the map giving the names and 
addresses of the property owners of the subject parcels. No application shall be accepted 
unless it is complete and complies with such requirements. The acceptance of an application 
shall not constitute any indication of approval. 

The application shall be made on forms furnished by the Development Services Department 
and shall be full and complete. All applications shall include data such as building and site plans 
and other information necessary to assure the presentation of all pertinent facts for the 
permanent record and to assist in determining the validity of the request. 

9-5-102 Applications: Accompanying maps and data. 



An application for a permit, reclassification of land, amendment or appeal shall be accompanied 
by maps, drawings, and data as necessary to evaluate the proposed request for conformance 
with the General Plan and the provisions of this chapter. 

9-5-103 Applications: Investigations. 
The responsible official shall make, or cause to be made, an investigation of the facts bearing 
on the case to provide the information necessary to assure action consistent with the intent of 
this chapter and the Turlock Area General Plan and its amendments. A written report of such 
investigation shall be presented to the bodies charged with the responsibility of dealing with the 
specific action. 

9-5-104 Applications: Hearings. 
Upon the receipt of a complete and verified application, a reasonable time and place for a public 
hearing with the appropriate deciding body shall be established. The hearing shall be held in 
accordance with the procedures and requirements set forth in this article.  

9-5-105 Application fees. 
(a) Applications and permits. The City Council shall, by resolution, fix the amount of the fees 
for the applications and permits required and authorized by the provisions of this chapter. 
Before accepting any application, the established fee shall be charged and collected. 

(b) Special reports and consultants. Before accepting any application for filing, the estimated 
costs of any special report or consultant’s fee determined to be necessary shall be charged and 
collected. Any actual cost that is more than that paid by the applicant shall be collected from the 
applicant prior to the issuance of the permit, and any estimated cost collected from the applicant 
that is more than the actual cost shall be returned to the applicant at the time of the issuance of 
the permit. 

(c) Waivers. Any fee required by the provisions of this chapter may be waived for any public 
body, district, or agency of the Federal, State, County, or municipal government. 

9-5-106 Application expiration. 
The application shall expire after one (1) year from the date of submittal or if the applicant fails 
to respond to an incomplete letter from the Planning Division within six (6) months of transmittal. 

9-5-107 Permits: Expiration. 
Any permit issued shall expire if the use permitted has not commenced within one (1) year of 
the date of approval or as otherwise specified in the permit. A use shall be deemed to have 
commenced upon issuance of a building permit, construction, the issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy from the Building Division, or approval of other permits deemed equivalent by the 
Development Services Director. 

9-5-108 Permits: Renewal. 
Any permit may be renewed for an additional period of one (1) year, provided an application for 
the renewal of the permit is filed with the acting agency prior to the expiration of the permit. The 
acting agency may grant or deny an application for renewal in the same manner as set forth in 
this article for the specific action in the original application. 

9-5-109 Permits, certificates, and licenses: Validity. 
Any permit, certificate, or license issued in conflict with the provisions of this article shall be null 
and void. 
 
9-5-110 Permits and variances: Revocation or modification: Grounds. 



Unless otherwise specifically provided in this article, the acting agency may revoke or modify 
any permit or variance on one (1) or more of the following grounds: 

(a) That the approval was obtained by fraud; 

(b) That the use for which the approval was granted is not being exercised; 

(c) That the granted permit or variance is being, or recently has been, exercised contrary to the 
terms and conditions of approval or in violation of any statute, ordinance, law, or regulation; 

(d) That the use for which the approval was granted is being exercised in a manner that is 
detrimental to the public health or safety or constitutes a nuisance; or 

(e) That the continued exercise of the use for which the approval was granted appears to be 
detrimental or contrary to the public welfare. 

9-5-111 Permits and variances: Suspension and revocation. 
Upon determining the violation of any applicable permit or variance granted according to the 
provisions of this chapter, the Development Services Director may automatically suspend that 
permit. The property owner will be notified immediately upon suspension. All operations of the 
use may be ordered to cease during the time of suspension if it is determined necessary in 
order to protect the health, safety and general welfare of the public. A public hearing shall be 
held within sixty (60) days of notification of suspension. If, at this hearing, it is determined that 
the regulations, general provisions and conditions are not being complied with, the permit or 
variance may be revoked or action may be taken to ensure compliance. 

9-5-112 Amendments: Authorized. 
This chapter may be amended by changing the boundaries of districts, the classification of land, 
any regulations, or other provisions if required for the public necessity, convenience, or general 
welfare. Amendments may be authorized by the City Council upon a recommendation from the 
Planning Commission. The procedures and requirements set forth in this article shall govern all  
 
9-5-113 Amendments: Initiation. 
Amendments may be initiated as follows: 

(a) By a resolution of intention of the Council; 

(b) By a resolution of intention of the Commission; 

(c) By the application of any interested person or the Development Services Director for an 
amendment involving the classification of any use not listed in this chapter or to change the 
classification of any listed use where it is alleged that change in processes, procedures, or 
methods of operation or serving the public warrant such change. 

9-5-114 Amendments: Applications. 
The application for an amendment shall be filed with the Secretary of the Planning Commission 
by the applicant. The applicant shall submit all the required data in accordance with the 
provisions of this article. 

9-5-115 Amendments: Hearings. 
All applications for amendment shall be reviewed at a public hearing before the Planning 
Commission in accordance with the provisions of this article. The City Council shall take action 



on the proposed amendment at a public hearing subsequent to review and recommendation by 
the Planning Commission. 

9-5-116 Hearings: Scope of provisions. 
The procedures and requirements in TMC 9-5-121 through TMC 9-5-130 shall govern the action 
on matters requiring public hearings. 

9-5-117 Hearings: Time and place. 
The Secretary of the Commission or the Clerk of the Council shall set a reasonable time and 
place for public hearings. Hearings shall be held not less than fifteen (15) nor more than one 
hundred (100) days after the receipt of a completed application including all necessary 
documents or studies, unless different time limits are specified in this article for the specific 
actions. 

9-5-118 Hearings: Notices: Form. 
The notice of a public hearing shall include the description of the property, the nature of the 
proposal, the time and place at which the public hearing will be held. 

9-5-119 Hearings: Notices: Publication. 
All notices of public hearings before the Planning Commission or the City Council shall be 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the community not less than ten (10) days 
before the hearings. 

9-5-120 Hearings: Notices: Posting and mailing. 
All notice of public hearings before the Planning Commission shall be posted and mailed or 
published, in accordance with the following requirements: 

(a) Posting. Not less than one (1) notice giving the time, date and location of the hearing shall 
be posted in a location that is visible to the general public. Such notices shall be posted not less 
than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the hearing. 

(b) Mailing. Letter or postal card notices shall be mailed to property owners within a five 
hundred (500') foot radius of the subject property not less than ten (10) days before the hearing. 
The applicant may furnish a certified copy of the names and addresses of the property owners 
as shown on the latest  equalized assessment role. The failure to send a notice by mail to any 
property owner, where the address is not a matter of public record, shall not invalidate any 
proceedings in connection with any action. 

(c) On-site posting. Within ten (10) days of filing an application for a permit for a project 
requiring a public hearing before the Planning Commission, the applicant shall post an 
approximately four (4') foot by six (6') foot sign, containing both a written description and an 
illustration of the proposed project, on the subject property in a location visible to the public or 
other location approved by the Development Services Director. 

(d) Publication. When a large number of parcels of land are to be rezoned to conform to the 
General Plan, all notices may be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in 
the City and in the County. There shall be a minimum of two (2) publications at least five (5) 
days apart, and the last publication shall be at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing. 

9-5-121 Hearings.  
The Planning Commission or City Council shall review the application or proposed action and 
any evidence or reports pertinent to any action to be taken. The Planning Commission or City 
Council shall hear all persons wishing to be heard on the subject for the public hearing. The 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-130


applicant or appellant may appear in his own behalf or be represented by other authorized 
representatives. 

9-5-122 Hearings: Transcripts. 
Any person interested in an application, appeal, or proposed action may request a copy of the 
recorded tapes, if any, within two (2) weeks of the hearing date. Any request shall be submitted 
in writing, and the person making the request shall agree to pay all the costs involved in 
obtaining a copy of the tapes. Nothing in this section shall prevent any interested person from 
employing a stenographic reporter of his own if he so chooses. 

9-5-123 Hearings: Continuance. 
If, for any reason, a public hearing cannot be held on the date set, the Planning Commission 
may reschedule the hearing to a later date. When rescheduled to within thirty (30) days of the 
original hearing date, the Planning Commission may publicly announce the time, place and 
location of the rescheduled hearing and additional notice will not be required. Otherwise, if the 
hearing is rescheduled beyond thirty (30) days, additional public notice will be required in 
accordance with TMC 9-5-117 through TMC 9-5-120. 

9-5-124 Commission hearings: Commission recommendations. 
The Planning Commission shall provide its recommendations to the project applicant within ten 
(10) days after the conclusion of the public hearing. Such action shall be by resolution which 
shall set forth the findings of the Planning Commission and any recommended conditions and 
any specific findings or recommendations specified in this article for the specific action thereon. 
The action shall be by a majority vote of all the voting members. 

9-5-125 Commission hearings: Transmittal of resolutions. 
Not later than ten (10) days following the rendering of a decision or recommendation, a copy of 
the resolution shall be sent by mail to the applicant at the address shown on the application filed 
with the Secretary of the Planning Commission. Other copies of the resolution shall be mailed or 
filed as specified in this article for the specific action thereon. 

9-5-126 Commission hearings: Records. 
The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall maintain a record of the evidence presented at 
such public hearing. If the Planning Commission recommends the approval of the application or 
the proposed action, the Secretary of the Planning Commission shall transmit the complete 
record of the case to the City Council. In the case of an appeal on a Planning Commission 
decision, the Secretary of the Planning Commission shall transmit the complete record of the 
case to the City Council immediately after the appeal is filed. 

9-5-127 Council hearings: Council decisions. 
The City Council shall take action on recommendations from the Planning Commission by 
approving, conditionally approving or disapproving proposed applications. City Council action 
shall be taken by resolution or, in the case of amendment to the zoning regulations, by 
ordinance. Such resolution shall set forth the findings of the City Council and any required 
conditions, including the time limits and the guarantees necessary to insure compliance with the 
provisions of this chapter and the General Plan. 

9-5-128 Council hearings: Transmittal of resolutions and ordinances. 
Not later than ten (10) days following the rendering of a decision, a copy of the resolution or 
ordinance shall be forwarded to the Secretary of the Planning Commission by the City Clerk. 

9-5-129 Council hearings: Records. 



The City Clerk shall make a record of the evidence presented at the public hearing. The record, 
together with the resolution or ordinance announcing the findings of the public hearing, shall be 
maintained as a part of the permanent records of the City. 

9-5-130 Appeals: Authorized. 
Any action or decision of the Planning Commission rendered pursuant to the provisions of this 
Chapter may be appealed as provided by Chapter 4 of Title 1 of this Code. Any action of the 
Development Services Director made hereunder, may be appealed to the Planning Commission 
in the same manner as provided by Chapter 4 of Title 1 of this Code. 

9-5-131 Permits and Variances: New Applications. 
Following the denial or revocation of any permit or variance, an application for the same, or 
similar use on the same site, shall not be accepted for submittal to the acting agency within a 
one (1) year period after the date of denial or revocation. 

Article 2. Zoning Certificates and Home Occupation Permits 

9-5-201 Zoning certificates: Purpose. 
The purpose of a zoning certificate is to provide a preliminary review for proposed business 
uses to determine consistency and conformance with requirements of the applicable zoning 
district. 

9-5-202 Zoning certificates: Required. 
A zoning certificate shall be required prior to the commencement of any new business use or 
change of ownership upon application for a business license. A zoning certificate shall not be 
required for the renewal of a business license for existing businesses. 

9-5-203 Zoning certificates: Application. 
An application for a zoning certificate may be made at the same time the application for a 
business license is made. The acceptance of an application shall not constitute any indication of 
approval. 

9-5-204 Zoning certificates: Applications: Departmental approval. 
The Development Services Director shall check the application to assure compliance with all the 
provisions of this chapter and may issue the zoning certificate upon determining that proposed 
use either conforms with the standards of the applicable zoning district or constitutes a 
previously conforming use. 

9-5-205 Zoning certificates: Denial. 
Should the Development Services Director determine that the proposed use does not conform 
to the standards of the zoning district or constitute a previously existing conforming use, 
approval of the zoning certificate application shall be denied. 

9-5-206 Zoning certificates: Effective date. 
The zoning certificate shall become effective immediately after the issuance of such certificate 
by the Development Services Director. However, the approved use shall not commence until a 
Certificate of Occupancy has been issued by the Building and Safety Division. 

9-5-207 Zoning certificates: Expiration. 
The zoning certificate shall expire six (6) months after the effective date if the use has not 
commenced within this time. If the approved use has commenced within six (6) months of the 
effective date, the zoning certificate shall expire concurrently with the expiration of any 
associated Business License. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock01/Turlock01.html#1


9-5-208 Home occupation permits: Required. 
No home occupation shall be established in a residence until a home occupation permit is 
approved by the Secretary of the Planning Commission. 

9-5-209 Home occupation permit: Applications. 
An application for a home occupation permit shall be submitted to the Secretary of the Planning 
Commission by the person responsible for the operation of any home occupation. If the 
applicant is not the owner of the property involved, the applicant shall have a “consent of owner” 
form signed by the owner or his authorized representative. 

9-5-210 Home occupation permits: Conditions: Issuance. 
(a) Conditions. No home occupation permit shall be issued unless the use applied for meets 
the following standards and conditions: 

(1) The permit is only valid for the person(s) and location identified in the application and 
shall not be transferrable to another person(s) or location.   

(2) The home occupation shall be conducted entirely within the residential dwelling or 
approved accessory structure that complies with Section 101 of Chapter 2 or Title 9 of the 
Turlock Municipal Code [Section 9-2-101: Accessory Buildings or Structures].  Outside 
activity, storage, or display is prohibited. 

(3) The floor area used for such occupation or profession shall not exceed 400 square feet 
in any case. 

(4) The proposed occupation shall clearly be incidental and secondary to the residential use 
of the dwelling, and shall not change the residential character of the dwelling. 

(5) Window displays, “show windows”, or other exterior display to attract customers, clients, 
or the general public are prohibited.  No exterior sign, except a professional occupation sign 
one foot by one foot is size, announcing the name and home occupation affixed to a wall of 
the primary dwelling. 

(6) Exterior alterations of residential dwellings, for the purpose of drawing attention to the 
business, or in association with the operation of the business, are prohibited. 

(7) Operation of the business shall not generate vehicular traffic that is not normally 
associated with residential or agricultural uses. 

(i) Deliveries to the home occupation shall be limited to no more than two (2) 
deliveries per day.  No delivery shall be by vehicles larger than a typical delivery 
van (Fed Ex, UPS, etc.) 

(ii) No more than one (1) standard pick up or van, and one (1) utility trailer, as 
defined and in accordance with the Turlock Municipal Code, Section 9-2-114, 
specifically designated to be used for the home occupation shall park at the subject 
residence at any time. 

(iii) Must comply with Turlock Municipal Code, Section 4-7-1008 concerning the 
parking of commercial vehicles in residential districts. 

(iv) In the event outside persons are employed to perform functions of this 
business away from the premises, parking or storage of employees’ vehicles in the 



neighborhood is prohibited. 

(v) At least one (1) on-site parking space shall be provided for customers to the 
business.  For the purposes of this Section only, parking in a driveway shall meet 
the definition of a parking space. 

(8) Such occupation of profession shall be conducted by the residents of the premises. 

(9) The proposed home occupation business shall be limited to no more than two (2) 
customers at a time and no more than six (6) customers per day, arriving no earlier than 
7:00 a.m. and leaving no later than 7:00 p.m. 

(10) Storage of goods that are not produced on the premises shall be limited to 100 cubic 
feet (approximately the size of a typical residential bedroom closet). 

(11) The proposed occupation shall only involve the use of power-driven equipment or 
chemicals normally incidental to the residential use. 

(12) The applicant shall not list or advertise the residence address in the commercial 
telephone directory, newspaper, radio, or television in connection with the proposed 
occupation or profession. 

(13) The proposed occupation shall not create a nuisance by reason of noise, odor, dust, 
vibration, fumes, smoke, electrical interference, or other causes. 

(14) Any other conditions that the Development Services Director, or designee, deem 
necessary to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the residents in the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

(b) Indemnification. In the event the city determines that it is necessary to take legal action to 
enforce any of the provisions of these conditions, and such legal action is taken, the applicant 
shall be required to pay any and all costs of such legal action, including reasonable attorney’s 
fees, incurred by the city, even if the matter is not prosecuted to a final judgment or is amicably 
resolved, unless the city should otherwise agree with applicant to waive said fees or any part 
thereof.  The foregoing shall not apply if the permittee prevails on every issue in the 
enforcement proceeding. 

(c) Compliance with all other laws and regulations. Business operations conducted at this 
residence shall comply with all local, state, and federal laws and regulations, including, but not 
limited to, building, fire, and ADA accessibility requirements. 

(d) Issuance. The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall analyze all the facts presented 
and, if the use applied for meets each and every one of the required conditions and standards, 
shall issue the home occupation permit within ten (10) days. 

9-5-211 Home occupation permits: Denial. 
A home occupation permit issued pursuant to the provisions of this article shall not include 
commercial photograph studios, beauty parlors, barber shops, or any similar service 
enterprises, that do not comply with the provisions of TMC 9-5-210 (Home Occupation Permits: 
Conditions: Issuance). Retail sales (except for goods produced on the premises), music 
schools, dancing schools. business schools, or other schools of any kind with organized 
classes, retail motor vehicle sales or repair or any similar activities are prohibited. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-210


If the use applied for does not meet the required conditions and standards, the Secretary of the 
Planning Commission shall deny the application. 

9-5-212 Home occupation permits: Term. 
A home occupation permit shall not expire unless revoked; however, the permit is not 
transferrable to a different permittee, location, or use.  

9-5-213 Home Occupation Permits: Revocation. 
The Home Occupation Permit granted under this article shall be subject to revocation by the 
Development Services Director, or designee, when the permittee violates any of the restrictions 
and conditions set forth in this article. 

Article 3. Minor Administrative & Minor Discretionary Permits 

9-5-301 Minor administrative approval (MAA): Purpose and intent. 
Minor Administrative Approvals are those which are routine in nature and do not require a public 
hearing, but may require an administrative interpretation regarding compliance with established 
policies, standards and guidelines adopted by the Turlock City Council. The purpose of Minor 
Administrative Approvals is to provide speedy approval over the counter or within a time period 
of no more than five (5) working days, depending on the complexity of the specific proposal. 
They are distinct from “ministerial” approvals which are “non-discretionary” actions permitted 
upon a determination that the standards established by City Ordinance for the proposal are met. 

9-5-302 Minor administrative approval: Applicability. 
Only those uses, activities, or permits as specifically enumerated in the zoning districts or other 
articles of this chapter as requiring a Minor Administrative Approval may be approved and 
issued following the administrative discretion of the Development Services Director or his/her 
designee according to the provisions contained in this article. 

9-5-303 Minor administrative approval: Application. 
Applications for Minor Administrative Approval shall be made to the Development Services 
Department on a form prescribed by the Department and shall include all requisite materials and 
payment of applicable filing fee. 

9-5-304 Minor administrative approval: Review: Approval. 
All applications for a Minor Administrative Approval must first be approved in writing by the 
Development Services Director or his/her designee before such use or activity commences. All 
applications and proposed uses shall be reviewed for compliance with the applicable policies, 
standards and guidelines which shall be adopted by resolution of the Planning Commission or 
City Council, as may be amended from time to time. 

The Development Services Director may approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove an 
application for such permit. 

9-5-305 Minor administrative approval: Expiration. 
If requested prior to expiration, the Minor Administrative Approval may be extended by the 
Development Services Director upon a finding of just cause. 

9-5-306 Minor administrative approval: Fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the Minor 
Administrative Approval application service as established by the City Council as set forth in 
Article 3 of Chapter 3 of Title 3 of this Code. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, 
and may be amended from time to time. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock03/Turlock03.html#3


9-5-307 Minor discretionary permits: Purpose and intent. 
Minor Discretionary Permits require administrative discretion in determining compliance with 
adopted policies, codes and standards of the City and require public notice prior to approval. 
Minor Discretionary Permits may be authorized by the Development Services Director within a 
typical time frame of three (3) to four (4) weeks. 

9-5-308 Minor discretionary permit: Authorized. 
Only those uses, activities, or permits specifically enumerated in the applicable zoning districts 
as requiring a Minor Discretionary Permit may be approved and issued upon administrative 
discretion of the Development Services Director or his/her designee according to the provisions 
contained in this article. 

9-5-309 Minor discretionary permit: Application. Completeness. 
(a) Applications for Minor Discretionary Review shall be submitted to the Development Services 
Department including all required materials and the written consent of the property owner of the 
proposed location. All materials must be clear, legible and of sufficient clarity to allow other 
interested agencies and interested property owners to understand the proposal. 

(b) No later than five (5) days following submittal of an application for Minor Discretionary 
Permit, the application and all related materials will be reviewed for completeness. The 
applicant will be notified immediately if an application is found to be incomplete, and the 
additional information needed to complete the application will be identified. The applicant is 
responsible to provide any missing information and/or revised plans as may be necessary and 
resubmit the materials. Once resubmitted, the application will again be reviewed for 
completeness as described above. 

(c) Once an application has been deemed complete, the Development Services Director or 
his/her designee shall transmit the relevant parts of the permit application to all affected City 
departments for review, comments, and condition requirements. All comments will be returned 
to the Development Services Director within ten (10) working days. 

9-5-310 Minor discretionary permit: Review. 
The Development Services Director shall consider the following aspects of each Minor 
Discretionary Permit application to the extent they are applicable to the proposal: 

(a) Relationship to the character of the neighborhoods in which the site is located, the 
appearance and harmony of proposed buildings and/or their use with adjacent development and 
the surrounding natural features. 

(b) Review of site layout, considering the orientation and location of buildings and open spaces 
in relation to physical characteristics of the site. 

(c) Review of the layout of the site with respect to locations and dimensions of vehicular and 
pedestrian entrances, exits, drives and walkways. 

(d) Review of buildings for scale, mass, proposition, articulation of facades, use of materials, 
overall composition of design and harmony with surrounding buildings. 

(e) Review of location height, and materials of fences, walls and screen plantings to ensure 
harmony with adjacent development and adequate screening of storage and nuisance activities. 

(f) Review of colors and materials in relationship to adjacent architectural and natural elements. 



(g) Review subdivision designs to ensure that developments are in harmony with established 
neighborhoods or surrounding natural features. 

(h) Review of landscape plans for placement and selection of all plant materials with emphasis 
on variety and hardiness of Turlock’s climatic conditions. 

(i) Review of location, color, size, height, lighting, and landscaping of outdoor advertising signs 
and structures, in relation to traffic hazards and appearance and harmony with the environment. 

(j) All other relevant comments from affected City departments and other agencies. 

9-5-311 Minor discretionary permit: Notice. 
(a) The Development Services Director shall give notice of the proposed request, by mail or 
delivery, to all adjacent property owners not less than ten (10) days prior to the date on which 
the administrative decision will be made. Adjacent property owners shall include those abutting 
all sides of the property upon which the request is made, including those across any abutting 
public or private street or others the Director determines should receive public notice. Property 
owner and address information used by the City shall be based on the latest  equalized 
assessment role. 

(b) If no hearing is requested by the applicant or other affected person, or if no responses are 
received in opposition to the request within the prescribed time period, then the Development 
Services Director or his/her designee may take action on the Minor Discretionary Permit 
application. 

(c) If a hearing is requested by the applicant or other affected person or agency, or if any 
responses are received in opposition to the request, the Development Services Director shall 
forward the application to the Planning Commission for formal public hearing and consideration. 
When the application is forwarded to the Planning Commission, the applicant shall be 
responsible for the payment of additional application processing fees necessary to cover the 
costs of this additional review and public notice. The applicant may also be asked to supplement 
the permit application materials as determined by the Development Services Director. 

9-5-312 Minor discretionary permit: Approval: Findings: Conditions. 
(a) The Development Services Director or his/her designee may approve, conditionally approve, 
or disapprove an application for a Minor Discretionary Permit. In approving a Minor 
Discretionary Permit application, the Development Services Director or his/her designee shall 
find that the following are fulfilled or shall impose reasonable conditions to ensure that they are 
fulfilled: 

(1) The proposal is consistent with the Turlock General Plan, the Zoning Ordinance and all 
other adopted plans for the site; 

(2) The proposal is in harmony with the existing or proposed development in the general 
area or neighborhood and will be compatible with adjacent structures and uses, including 
those on adjoining properties; 

(3) The proposal is consistent with the development plan, terms, conditions, and/or intent of 
any planned development or conditional use permit currently in effect on the property; 

(4) Any structural elements contained within the proposal is of high quality design consistent 
with the intent of the City Design Element of the Turlock General Plan and the exterior 



design, appearance, materials, and colors will not cause the nature of the neighborhood to 
materially depreciate; 

(5) The proposal will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the public 
safety, health, and welfare of the neighborhood and community. 

9-5-313 Minor discretionary permit: Fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the Minor 
Discretionary Permit application service as established by the City Council as set forth in Article 
3 of Chapter 3 of Title 3 of this Code. Such fee shall be set by Council resolution, and may be 
amended from time to time. 

9-5-314 Minor discretionary permit: Violation: Penalty. 
Any person who undertakes, operates or maintains a use of land in any district other than in 
strict compliance with the provisions of this  title or the terms and conditions of any written 
approval granted, shall be subject to the penalties set forth in this chapter. 

9-5-315 Minor discretionary permit: Time limits for development of property and uses. 
The Community Development Director may establish a time limit for development of the subject 
property and use. The time limit set by the Development Services Director shall be reasonable, 
based upon the size and nature of the proposed development. Such time limit may be extended 
by the Development Services Director for good cause when the applicant presents proof of 
unusual conditions not of his own making. 

9-5-316 Outdoor dining defined. 
Outdoor dining entails the use of City sidewalks and public rights-of-way for the consumption of 
food or beverages in conjunction with the operation of a bona fide food service establishment 
properly licensed for such service and which provides on-premises customer seating. 

9-5-317 Outdoor dining permit required. 
No owner or operator of a business establishment shall occupy any portion of a public sidewalk, 
court, plaza, alley, or street with tables and chairs for outdoor dining without first obtaining a 
minor discretionary permit in accordance with TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor Administrative and 
Minor Discretionary Permits) and with the provisions of this article. 

9-5-318 Authority to issue outdoor dining permits. 
The Development Services Director, or his or her designated representative, is hereby 
authorized to issue outdoor dining permits, revocable at will, to owners or operators of business 
establishments for the placement of tables and chairs in the public sidewalk, court, alley or 
street adjacent to and incidental to the operation of a food service establishment, according to 
the procedures as set forth in this article. An outdoor dining permit will not be issued where, in 
the opinion of the Community Development Director, or his or her designated representative, 
the speed, volume or nearness of vehicular traffic is not compatible with outdoor dining. 
Issuance will not be unreasonably withheld. 

9-5-319 Application for outdoor dining permit. 
Every owner or operator of a business establishment desiring to place tables and chairs in a 
public sidewalk, court, alley or street shall first submit an application for the issuance of such a 
permit to the Development Services Department. Each application shall state the name of the 
applicant, the name and address of the establishment, the proposed area to be occupied by the 
tables and chairs, and the hours and days that the area is to be so occupied. The application 
shall be accompanied by a space-use plan which indicates the location, number and 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock03/Turlock03.html#3


arrangement of the tables and chairs to be used, the location of the entrance to the 
establishment, and the location of any existing sidewalk obstructions in the proposed area to be 
occupied by the tables and chairs. Trees, traffic signs, benches and all similar obstacles shall 
constitute obstructions. 

9-5-320 Issuance of outdoor dining permit. 
If the proposed design and location of the tables and chairs to be used for outdoor dining, as 
described in the application, conforms to those guidelines set forth by the Development 
Services Director, or his or her designated representative, an outdoor dining permit shall be 
issued to the applicant. 

No permit shall be issued until the applicant has paid a one-time fee for the permit. The amount 
of the permit fee is in an amount as shall be set forth from time to time by resolution of the City 
Council. 

9-5-321 Conditions and restrictions pertaining to outdoor dining. 
The issuance of permits by the Development Services Director for the use of City sidewalks and 
public rights-of-way for the consumption of food or beverages in front of business 
establishments are subject to the following: 

(a) The outdoor dining area shall leave not less than four (4') consecutive feet of sidewalk width 
to ensure adequate space for pedestrian traffic on the adjacent sidewalk. The minimum width 
stated above must be free of all obstacles and obstructions for a clear path of travel. For the 
purpose of minimum clear path, traffic signs, trees and all similar obstacles shall constitute 
obstructions. It is the responsibility of the permittee to keep this sidewalk pedestrian zone clear 
and unimpeded for pedestrian movement. 

(b) Outdoor dining areas may not intrude on pedestrian “clear vision zones” at corners and thus 
must be set back a minimum of six (6') feet from any crosswalk. The outdoor dining area must 
not interfere with curbs, ramps or driveways. No element of the outdoor dining area may 
interfere with access to any building including all paths of travel or exit. 

(c) When the sidewalk is not in use for seating and service, all removable fixtures (i.e., chairs, 
planters, tables, etc.) shall be stored inside the restaurant premises. 

(d) The outdoor dining area must remain clear of litter at all times. The permittee shall maintain 
the tables and chairs in the permitted outdoor dining area in a clean condition at all times. 

(e) Outdoor dining areas must conform to and comply with all relevant regulations in this Code 
and all applicable building laws including State laws and regulations. 

(f) Tables, chairs, and customers shall be confined to the area shown on the application 
submitted by the permittee. 

9-5-322 Insurance. 
Each outdoor dining permittee shall provide the City Clerk with evidence of insurance coverage 
in the amount and form as approved by the City Attorney or his/her designee. Such amounts 
shall be set forth from time to time by resolution of the City Council. The required insurance 
shall be maintained in a current status throughout the use of the public right-of-way, and a copy 
of the insurance renewal shall be provided to the City Clerk and/or the Planning Division upon 
renewal. 

9-5-323 Alcoholic beverage restrictions. 



The service of alcoholic beverages shall be restricted solely to on-premises consumption by 
customers within the outdoor dining area. Each of the following standards apply to outdoor 
dining areas which provide alcoholic beverage service: 

(a) The outdoor dining area must be clearly and physically separated from pedestrian traffic. All 
barriers, railings, fences or planters placed around a sidewalk cafe whether moveable or 
permanent, affixed, and contiguous to the sidewalk and in place during hours of operation to 
clearly define the area. The spacing, if any, between barriers, railings, fences, or planters must 
prevent pedestrian traffic through them. Landscaping can be either in planters or planted in the 
ground. In order to maximize visual access and pedestrian safety, the height of the railing, 
barrier or planter, with its planted material, shall not be less than three (3') feet; 

(b) The business operator shall post a written notice to customers that the drinking or carrying of 
an open container of alcohol is prohibited outside the outdoor dining area; 

(c) The outdoor dining area operation must be duly licensed by the State Department of 
Alcoholic Beverage Control, and the City of Turlock requirements and restrictions for the service 
of alcoholic beverages in outdoor dining areas shall not be less than those required by the State 
Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control; and 

(d) Any and all exits from the bona fide food service establishment to be used for the service of 
alcoholic beverages to the outdoor dining area must be included in the outdoor dining permit 
issued pursuant to this  section. 

9-5-324 Outdoor dining permit not deed or easement. 
Permission to encroach upon a portion of a public sidewalk with tables and chairs granted under 
this  section shall not constitute a deed or grant of an easement by the City. 

9-5-325 Suspension or revocation of outdoor dining permit. 
The outdoor dining permit granted under this chapter shall be subject to suspension or 
revocation by the Development Services Director when the permittee violates any of the 
restrictions and conditions set forth in this  section, or any rule or regulation of the Development 
Services Director adopted in pursuance of the provisions of this  section. The outdoor dining 
permit shall be automatically suspended upon the termination of the insurance required under 
TMC 9-5-322. Upon termination of the insurance required under TMC 9-5-322, permittee agrees 
to indemnify and hold the City of Turlock, its officers, agents and employees free and harmless 
from any and all damages, costs, charges or liability of any kind or character that may arise out 
of, relate to, or in any way be connected with the exercise of the rights granted pursuant to the 
issuance of the encroachment permit. 

The City of Turlock must notify the State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control of any 
suspension or revocation of an outdoor dining permit granted under this  section. 

9-5-326 Protest issuance of permit. 
Any person or persons who deem their interests or property, or that of the general public, will be 
adversely affected by the occupancy of a public sidewalk, court, alley or street with tables and 
chairs for outdoor dining and for which permission has been applied for under the provisions of 
this chapter, may protest the issuance of said permit by writing to the Development Services 
Director within thirty (30) calendar days after the permit has been approved. Upon receipt of any 
such protest, the Development Services Director will schedule a hearing to hear all protests or 
oppositions to the issuance of an outdoor dining permit. 

9-5-327 Denial of permit. 



Upon denial of a permit by the Development Services Director, an applicant may, within ten (10) 
calendar days following notification of such denial, file a notice of appeal to the City Council, 
who shall then hear all appeals concerning the application for permit. 

9-5-328 Penalties. 
The placement of tables and chairs on a public sidewalk or other public right-of-way without a 
permit issued in compliance with this chapter shall constitute an infraction punishable by a fine 
of One Hundred and no/100ths ($100.00) Dollars. The nonpayment of such fine, or the 
continued existence of a condition in violation of this  section, shall be grounds for the 
Development Services Director to prohibit placement of tables and chairs by the responsible 
owner or operator of the fronting business establishment until such penalty has been paid or the 
condition corrected. 

9-5-329 Removal of tables and chairs. 
Any tables and chairs placed in or upon the public sidewalk or rights-of-way without a validly 
issued permit may be seized and removed pursuant to this section. The City of Turlock shall 
issue a notice to the owner or operator of the business establishment fronting on the sidewalk 
from which the tables and chairs are to be removed before such tables and chairs are seized. 
The owner or operator of the business establishment shall be given ten (10) business days in 
which to remedy the violation. If the responsible party does not remedy the violation and apply 
for and obtain an outdoor dining area permit within the time prescribed, the City may seize and 
remove the tables and chairs. 

Any other provisions of this  section notwithstanding, if tables and chairs are placed in the public 
sidewalk or in or upon the public sidewalk or rights-of-way in such a manner as to pose an 
immediate and serious danger to persons or property, the City may seize such tables and chairs 
without prior notice to the person responsible for such tables and chairs if it is impractical to 
remedy the danger by moving the tables and chairs to another point on the sidewalk or public 
right-of-way. 

The responsible party shall be notified promptly of such seizure of tables and chairs and shall 
have the right to request an informal hearing before a designated City official within ten (10) 
business days after such notification to determine whether the seizure was proper. All tables 
and chairs seized pursuant to this section shall be retained by the City and may be recovered as 
provided herein. 

As a condition of recovering outdoor dining tables and chairs properly seized pursuant to this 
section, the person responsible for such tables and chairs shall pay an impound fee covering 
the actual cost to the City of transporting and storing the outdoor dining tables and chairs. 

Article 4. Minor Exceptions 

9-5-401 Purpose. 
These provisions shall ensure the following: 

(a) Minor adjustments from standards contained in this title of the Turlock Municipal Code shall 
be granted only when, because of special circumstances applicable to the property, the strict 
application deprives such property of privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity and 
under identical land use districts. 

(b) Any minor exception granted shall be subject to such conditions as will ensure that the minor 
adjustment thereby authorized shall not constitute a grant of special privilege inconsistent with 



the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and land use district in which such property is 
situated. 

9-5-402 Application. 
An application for a minor exception shall be filed in a manner consistent with the requirements 
contained in Article 3 of this chapter for minor discretionary permits. 

9-5-403 Applicability. 
The Development Services Director may grant a minor exception up to a maximum of ten (10%) 
percent governing only the following measurable design/site considerations: 

(a) Distance between structures; 

(b) Lot dimensions; 

(c) On-site parking, loading and landscaping; 

(d) Setbacks; 

(e) Structure heights. 

Any minor exception request which exceeds the prescribed limitations outlined in this section 
shall require the filing of a variance application pursuant to Article 6 of this Chapter. Minor 
exceptions may be approved by the Development Services Director only if no other entitlements 
are required. If other approvals are necessary, the minor exception shall be filed concurrently. 

9-5-404 Findings. 
The Development Services Director may approve and/or modify an application in whole or in 
part, with or without conditions, only if all of the following findings are made: 

(a) That there are special circumstances applicable to the property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this code deprives such property of 
privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity; 

(b) That granting the minor exception is necessary for the preservation and enjoyment of a 
substantial property right possessed by other property in the same vicinity and land use district 
and denied to the property for which the minor exception is sought; 

(c) That granting the minor exception will not be materially detrimental to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, or injurious to the property or improvements in such vicinity and land use 
district in which the property is located; 

(d) That granting the minor exception does not constitute a special privilege inconsistent with 
the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and land use district in which such property is 
located; 

(e) That granting the minor exception does not exceed ten (10%) percent of the standards being 
modified, or allow a use or activity which is not otherwise expressly authorized by the 
regulations governing the subject parcel; and 

(f) That granting the minor exception will not be inconsistent with the General Plan. 

9-5-405 Burden of proof. 



The burden of proof to establish the evidence in support of the findings as required by TMC 9-5-
404, above, is the responsibility of the applicant. 

9-5-406 Precedents. 
The granting of a minor exception is not admissible as evidence for the granting of a new minor 
exception. 

9-5-407 Minor exception: Expiration. 
A minor exception approval shall expire after one (1) year if construction has not begun or the 
use commenced. If requested prior to expiration, the minor exception may be extended upon a 
finding of just cause. 

Article 5. Temporary Uses of Land 

9-5-501 Temporary uses. 
Certain land uses of a temporary nature as defined in TMC 9-1-202 (Definitions), may be 
authorized by the Development Services Director pursuant to the proper application process 
and subject to the limitations and standards contained herein. Temporary land uses otherwise 
regulated by the Turlock Municipal Code (Christmas tree sales, fireworks stands, parking lot 
sales, and other similar uses) shall be exempt from this  article. 

(a) Limitations of use by zoning district. 

(1) Commercial/Industrial Districts and Planned Development Districts. Temporary 
uses of land may include, but are not limited to: sales office trailers, storage yards, parking 
lots, parking lot sales, outside sales of seasonal merchandise (produce, pumpkins, and the 
like), special events and displays of community interest in which the temporary use is 
intended to be operated as defined in TMC 9-1-202 (Definitions). Temporary outside sales 
conducted by itinerant vendors are also subject to the regulations of Chapter 17 of Title 5 of 
this Code. No temporary use of land permit shall be required for a parking lot sale in an 
organized shopping center when: 1) all of the participants are permitted uses in the center; 
2) the event is held on the improved portion of the site; and  3) adequate parking is 
provided. 

(2) Residential and Residential Planned Development Districts. Temporary uses of land 
may include, but are not limited to: contractor storage yards, model homes, and tract sales 
offices, when the temporary uses are incidental and accessory to the primary land uses 
permitted in the residential zoning district. This limitation shall not apply to accessory uses 
that are otherwise permitted and regulated by other sections of this Code (examples: home 
occupations, residential garage/yard sales). 

(b) Duration of temporary uses. The temporary use of land for those activities permitted 
herein may be authorized for a limited and specified period of time not to exceed one (1) year in 
duration as set by the Development Services Director within the terms and conditions of each 
particular temporary use of land permit. The Development Services Director may consider and 
take appropriate action on a request for an extension of a temporary use of land for one (1) 
additional one (1) year period, upon review of a written request submitted no later than thirty 
(30) days prior to the expiration of the approved temporary use of land permit. In regards to the 
following specific temporary land uses, these time periods shall apply: 

(1) Outside sales of seasonal merchandise (Christmas trees, pumpkins, and the like). 
The outside sale of seasonal merchandise and produce in one (1) location may be permitted 
up to a maximum of ninety (90) days within a calendar year on a single property, with a 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock091.html#9-1-202


limitation of no more than three (3) non-consecutive separate events of a maximum of thirty 
(30) days per each event. 

(2) Outdoor commercial promotional/sales events.  

(i) When located within an organized shopping center, commercial businesses that are 
not permitted uses in the center may be permitted for up to six (6) such special events 
per calendar year. Each separate temporary outdoor promotional/sales event shall not 
exceed seventy-two (72) hours in length. 

(ii) For commercial business(es) that are part of an organized shopping center, there is 
no limit on the number or duration of the promotional or sales events when: 1) any or all 
tenants or owners within the center participate; 2) adequate parking is provided on site; 
and 3) the property owner has provided written permission for the event, if applicable.  

(3) Itinerant vendors. No temporary use of land permit shall be required for any itinerant 
vendor that vends on the improved portion of a commercial or industrial property for a period 
of less than thirty (30) minutes during a twenty-four (24) hour period so long as the vendor 
does not relocate within one thousand (1,000) feet of such location. “Mobile food facilities” 
are regulated pursuant to TMC 9-2-124 and shall not be required to obtain a temporary use 
of land permit. All other itinerant vendors may be permitted up to a maximum of seventy-two 
(72) hours on a single property, with a limitation of no more than six (6) events of any type in 
any one (1) year at any single location. 

(c) Signing. 

(1) All signing related to an authorized temporary use of land shall comply with the 
temporary sign regulations in TMC 9-2-500ART (Signs). A temporary sign permit shall first 
be obtained from the City prior to the installation of any temporary signage. 

(2) Noncommercial signing, which may include balloons, pennants, and special displays, 
may be permitted as part of an approved temporary land use permit as specified above. 
Such noncommercial signs must be securely fastened or attached so as not to create any 
type of public safety hazard. 

(d) Maximum number of temporary uses per lot. On properties less than one (1) acre in size, 
no more than one (1) temporary use may be permitted at any one (1) time. Exceptions to this 
provision may be made by the Director if it is determined that all of the findings in TMC 9-5-
504 can be made. At no time shall two (2) similar temporary uses be permitted on any property 
less than one (1) acre in size. 

(e) Maximum number and locations of temporary uses per applicant. No single 
organization or individual may conduct more than six (6) events of any type in any one (1) year 
at any single location. Furthermore, no single organization or individual may conduct events at 
more than three (3) locations in any one (1) year. For the purposes of this article, an “event” is a 
single occurrence of any temporary activity on a particular lot. 

9-5-502 Application. 
Any person may apply to the Development Services Department for approval of a temporary 
use of land not less than fifteen (15) days before the use is intended to begin. Such application 
shall be on a form prescribed for that purpose, and shall include the written consent of the 
owner of the property on which the use is to be located. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock092.html#9-2-125
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-504
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-504


9-5-503 Approval. 
(a) All applications for a temporary use of land permit must first be approved in writing by the 
Development Services Director before such use commences. The Development Services 
Director may approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove an application for such use. 

(b) The Development Services Director may require a conditional use permit as provided in 
Article 6 of this chapter, to allow for Planning Commission review and action on a temporary use 
of land permit request where a determination is made that the proposed use may be of 
particular interest or concern to surrounding property owners or to the public at large. A 
conditional use permit must be required for those uses which would require such a permit under 
other provisions in this  title. 

9-5-504 Findings. 
The Development Services Director may approve an application for a temporary use of land for 
a period of time as specified in this chapter only upon making all of the following findings: 

(a) The proposed use will not adversely affect adjacent structures and uses or the surrounding 
neighborhood; 

(b) The proposed use will not adversely affect the circulation and flow of vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic in the immediate area; 

(c) The proposed use will not create a demand for additional parking which cannot be met safely 
and efficiently in existing parking areas; 

(d) The proposed use will not conflict with the terms or intent of any planned unit development 
permit or conditional use permit currently in effect on the property; 

(e) The proposed use will not otherwise constitute a nuisance or be detrimental to the public 
welfare of the community. 

9-5-505 Conditions. 
(a) In authorizing an application for a temporary use of land permit, the Development Services 
Director shall include as conditions of approval, the following minimum provisions: 

(1) The use will be limited to the dates and times (or period of time), nature and extent 
prescribed by the Development Services Director; 

(2) All work, including building, electrical, and plumbing will conform to all requirements of 
applicable codes; 

(3) Provisions for fire protection and fire vehicle access will be made as prescribed by the 
Fire Chief; 

(4) Signing will be limited to that approved by the Development Services Director; 

(5) The site will be continuously maintained free of weeds, litter and debris; 

(6) Within three (3) days after removal of the temporary use, the site will be completely 
cleaned; all trash, debris, signs, sign supports, and temporary electrical service will be 
removed; 

(7) Any additional limitations or conditions as required by the Development Services Director 
as conditions of approval. 



(b) For applications for temporary use of land permits which allow for an itinerant vendor, the 
following minimum provisions and conditions shall also be applicable: 

(1) An itinerant vendor sales stand and/or use shall not be located upon the paved or any 
unpaved portion of a public right-of-way nor impede the free and unobstructed use of any 
sidewalk. Push carts may use the public sidewalk so long as the cart does not impede the 
movement of pedestrians. 

(2) The itinerant vendor sales activity, including the display of all related merchandise or 
products for sale, shall be limited to the immediate confines of the temporary street side 
stand, trailer, vehicle, or other enclosure approved as part of the permit. 

(3) All uses shall be located in such a manner that will not impede the normal use of 
driveways serving the property where the use is proposed nor in such a manner that 
encourages customers to stop in the street or driveway to obtain vendor service. 

(4) Uses providing for temporary street side stands, trailers, or vehicles shall comply with the 
setback/yard provisions of the specific commercial or industrial zone the use is proposed to 
be located in. 

(5) Uses providing for temporary street side stands, trailers, or vehicles shall not reduce the 
number of off-street parking spaces below the minimum number specified for the zone 
district the use is proposed to be located in. 

9-5-506 Fee. 
A fee shall be paid by the applicant to cover the costs of processing and administering the 
temporary use of land permit application. Such fee shall be set by City Council resolution, and 
may be amended from time to time. 

Article 6. Conditional Use Permits and Variances 

9-5-601 Conditional use permits: Authorized. 
Upon acceptance of an application, the Planning Commission may grant a conditional use 
permit for a use allowed conditionally in the respective zoning district. 

9-5-602 Conditional use permits: Required: Purposes. 
(a) Required. No conditional use shall be located in any district unless and until a conditional 
use permit is granted in accordance with the procedure set forth in this article. 

(b) Purpose. The purpose of a conditional use permit is to evaluate the site features, operating 
characteristics, and design of a proposed use to ensure compatibility with other uses in the 
general area. 

9-5-603 Conditional use permits: Applications: Hearings. 
At the time an application for a conditional use permit is deemed complete, the Secretary of the 
Planning Commission shall set the date of hearing in the manner prescribed by law. 

9-5-604 Conditional use permits: Granting. 
All actions of the Planning Commission relating to findings and recommendations shall be in 
accordance with the provisions of this  article. The Planning Commission shall authorize the 
granting of the conditional use permit if it finds as follows: 



(a) That the site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate such 
uses, all yards, open spaces, wall, fences, parking, loading, landscaping and other features 
required by the Municipal Code or the Planning Commission to make sure such use is 
compatible with the land and uses in the vicinity; 

(b) That the site for the proposed use is related properly to streets and highways to carry the 
quantity and kind of traffic generated by the proposed use; 

(c) That the proposed use will not adversely affect the abutting property or the permitted use 
thereof with the provisions of conditions; and 

(d) That the site for the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan. 

9-5-605 Conditional use permits: Granting: Conditions. 
(a) Imposition of conditions. In authorizing a conditional use permit, the Planning Commission 
may require that the use conform with the site plan, architectural drawings, or statements 
submitted in support of the application necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 
general welfare and secure the objectives of the General Plan. The Commission may also 
impose such other conditions necessary to achieve these purposes, including, but not limited to, 
the following: 

(1) Special yards, open spaces, and buffers; 

(2) Fences and walls; 

(3) The provision and surfacing of parking areas; 

(4) Street dedications and improvements, including the provision of service roads or alleys 
where practical and necessary; 

(5) The regulation of points of vehicular ingress and egress; 

(6) The regulation of signs; 

(7) Landscaping and the maintenance; 

(8) The maintenance of the grounds; 

(9) The control of noise, vibration, odors, and other potentially dangerous and objectionable 
elements; 

(10) Limits on the time for conducting certain activities; 

(11) The time period within which the proposed use shall be developed; and 

(12) Any other conditions that will promote the development of the City in an orderly and 
efficient manner and in conformity with the intent and purpose set forth in this  article and 
the General Plan. 

(b) Guarantees of compliance with conditions. The Planning Commission may require 
reasonable guarantees that such conditions will be complied with. 



(c) Yard, height, and area requirements. Unless otherwise approved by resolution, the 
provisions for required front, rear, and side yards and the requirements for height and area 
applicable to the specific district shall prevail. 

(d) Off-street parking and loading requirements. The provision of off-street parking and 
loading applicable to the particular use shall prevail unless otherwise approved by resolution. 

9-5-606 Conditional use permits: Denial. 
If because of the size or character of the use proposed on a particular site, its location, or its 
relationship to adjoining parcels and uses, the Planning Commission is unable to make the 
findings set forth in Section 9-5-504, the Planning Commission shall disapprove the conditional 
use permit application. 

9-5-607 Conditional use permits: Issuance. 
Immediately following the Planning Commission approval of a conditional use permit 
application, the Secretary of the Planning Commission shall cause a formal conditional use 
permit to be issued to the applicant. 

9-5-608 Conditional use permits: Effective date. 
The conditional use permit shall become effective on the eleventh calendar day after the date of 
approval, unless appealed on or before the tenth day. 

9-5-609 Conditional use permits: Time limits for development of property and uses. 
The Planning Commission may establish a time limit for development of the subject property 
and use. The time limit set by the Planning Commission shall be reasonable, based upon the 
size and nature of the proposed development. Such time limit may be extended by the Planning 
Commission for good cause when the applicant presents proof of an unusual condition not of 
his own making. 

9-5-610 Conditional use permits. Expiration. 
If no specific time is specified, any permit granted by the Planning Commission or Council shall 
become null and void within one year after the effective date of such permit. The permits shall 
not become null and void if: 

(a) The use has commenced; or 

(b) A building permit has been issued for the project by the Building Inspector and construction 
has begun with continuous progress toward completion maintained; or 

(c) A certificate of occupancy has been issued by the Building Inspector for the use or structure. 

9-5-611 Conditional use permits: Renewal. 
If an application for renewal is filed prior to expiration, a conditional use permit may be renewed 
for an additional one year period. The acting agency may grant or deny an application for 
renewal in the same manner as set forth for the original application. 

9-5-612 Conditional use permits: New applications. 
Following the denial or revocation of a conditional use permit, an application for the same, or 
similar use on the same site, shall not be accepted for submittal to the Planning Commission 
within a one year period after the date of denial or revocation. 

9-5-613 Variances: Authorized. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock095.html#9-5-504


The Planning Commission shall have the authority to investigate and hear an application for 
variance from the provisions of this  article when a practical difficulty, unnecessary hardship or 
inconsistent result is alleged due to the strict and literal interpretation of this  article. Upon 
hearing the application, the Planning Commission may grant, conditionally grant or deny the 
following applications for variance: 

(a) To vary any of the requirements of this  article in the case of a parcel which is exceptionally 
narrow, shallow, of unusual shape, unusual topographic conditions or due to other exceptional 
existing conditions that limit the practical use of the parcel; and 

(b) To permit modifications of the requirements of this  article for the practical use of a parcel 
where a legal nonconforming use or structure exists. 

9-5-614 Variances: Applications. 
Completed applications and filing fees for a variance shall be submitted to the Secretary of the 
Commission. 

9-5-615 Variances: Applications: Hearings. 
Upon receipt of a completed variance application, the Secretary of the Planning Commission 
shall set a hearing in the manner prescribed by law. 

9-5-616 Variances: Granting. 
All actions of the Planning Commission relating to findings and recommendations shall be in 
accordance with the provisions of this  article. The Planning Commission shall grant, or 
conditionally grant, the requested variance upon determining at the public hearing, that the 
following findings are established beyond reasonable doubt: 

(a) That there are exceptional or extraordinary circumstances or conditions applying to the 
property or the intended use, which do not apply to other properties or uses in the same district; 

(b) That, due to these exceptional or extraordinary circumstances, the literal enforcement of the 
provisions of this  article  would result in a practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship; 

(c) That a variance is necessary for the preservation of a substantial property right possessed 
by other properties in the same district; 

(d) That the granting of a variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare, 
injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity or district where the property is located; 

(e) That granting a variance will not constitute a special privilege inconsistent with the limitations 
on other properties classified in the same zoning district; and 

(f) That granting a variance will be in harmony with the general purpose and intent of the 
provisions of this  article and the General Plan. 

9-5-617 Variances: Granting: Conditions. 
(a) Imposition of conditions. In granting a variance, the Planning Commission may require 
that the use conform to the site plan, architectural drawings, or statements submitted in support 
of the application as necessary to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare and 
secure the objectives of this  article and the General Plan. The Commission may also impose 
other conditions necessary to achieve such purposes as: 

(1) Special yards, open spaces, and buffers; 



(2) Fences and walls; 

(3) The provision and surfacing of parking areas; 

(4) Street dedications and improvements, including the provision of service roads or alleys 
where practical and necessary; 

(5) The regulation of vehicular ingress, egress and circulation; 

(6) The regulation of signs; 

(7) The provision and maintenance of landscaping; 

(8) Maintenance of grounds; 

(9) The control of noise, vibration, odors 

(10) Limits on the time for conducting certain activities; 

(11) The time period within which the proposed use shall be developed; and 

(12) Any other conditions that will promote the development of the City in an orderly and 
efficient manner and in conformity with the intent and purposes set forth in this  article and 
the General Plan. 

(b) Guarantees of compliance with conditions. The Planning Commission may require 
reasonable guarantees that these conditions will be complied with. 

9-5-618 Variances: Denial. 
If, because of the size or character of the site, its location, or its relationship to adjoining parcels 
and uses, the Planning Commission is unable to make the findings set forth in Section 9-5-616, 
the Planning Commission shall disapprove the granting of the variance. 

9-5-619 Variances: Granting or denial: Transmittal of resolution. 
In addition to the requirements of this  article, a copy of the resolution granting or denying the 
variance shall be filed with the City Clerk, and a copy shall be sent to the Building Inspector by 
the Secretary of the Planning Commission. 

9-5-620 Variances: Issuance. 
Immediately following the approval of a variance application, the Secretary of the Planning 
Commission shall cause a certificate of variance to be issued to the applicant. 

9-5-621 Variances: Effective date. 
The variance shall become effective on the eleventh day after the copy of the resolution 
granting the variance is filed with the City Clerk, unless appealed on or before the tenth day. 

9-5-622 Variances: Time limits for development of property and uses. 
The Planning Commission may establish a time limit for development of the subject property 
and use. The time limit set by the Planning Commission shall be reasonable, based upon the 
size and nature of the proposed development. Such time limit may be extended by the Planning 
Commission for good cause when the applicant presents proof of unusual conditions not of his 
own making. 

9-5-623 Variances: Expiration. 



If no time limit is specified, the granted variance shall become null and void within 180 days 
following the effective date unless: 

(a) The use has commenced; or 

(b) A building permit has been issued for the project by the Building Inspector and construction 
has begun toward completion with continuous progress maintained; or 

(c) A certificate of occupancy has been issued by the Building Inspector for the use or structure. 

9-5-624 Variances: Renewal. 
If an application for renewal is filed prior to the expiration, a variance may be renewed for an 
additional period of 180 days. The Planning Commission may grant or deny an application for 
the renewal of a variance. 

9-5-625 Variances: New applications. 
Following the denial or revocation of a variance, an application for the same, or similar request 
on the site, shall not be filed within one year from the date of denial or revocation of a variance. 

Article 7. Prezoning and Annexation 

9-5-701 Prezoning of unincorporated land. 
(a) The City may prezone unincorporated territory adjoining the City limits for the purpose of 
establishing the zoning district which will apply in the event of subsequent annexation to the 
City. 

(b) The method and procedure for establishing such prezones shall be in accordance with TMC 
9-5-700ART (Prezoning and Annexation) for the establishment of zoning districts and 
reclassification of land within the City. 

(c) Unincorporated territory which has been prezoned shall carry a “P” prefix before the zone 
classification and shall be so designated on the official zoning map of the City. 

(d) The zone classification established through the prezoning procedure shall become effective 
and enforceable at the time annexation of the territory to the City becomes effective. At this 
time, the “P” prefix shall be deemed automatically removed from the zone classification. 

9-5-702 Prezoning: Purpose. 
The purposes of prezoning territory prior to annexation into the City are: 

(a) To promote the orderly development and expansion to the boundaries of the City of Turlock; 
and 

(b) To protect, preserve and promote the quality of life in the City by establishing control over 
the quality, distribution and rate of growth in the City of Turlock. 

9-5-703 Prezoning: Exceptions. 
The standards established and the process contained in this  article shall not be applicable to 
the following types of annexation proposals to the City of Turlock: 

(a) Publicly owned lands and/or facilities; 

(b) Lands within unincorporated portions of Stanislaus County which are totally bounded by the 
Turlock corporate limits (unincorporated islands); 



(c) Annexations initiated by the Turlock City Council. 

9-5-704 Prezoning and annexation: Applications: Hearings. 
Applications for prezoning and annexation of territory to the City of Turlock shall be submitted to 
the Secretary of the Planning Commission for evaluation. At the time the application is deemed 
complete, a date of hearing shall be set in the manner prescribed by law and in accordance with 
Article 1 of this chapter. 

9-5-705 Prezoning and annexation: Findings. 
Each application submitted to the City of Turlock proposing prezoning and annexation of 
unincorporated territory shall be reviewed pursuant to the following application criteria: 

(a) Orderly and contiguous development. 

(1) Is the territory proposed for annexation adjacent to existing urban limits of Turlock? 

(2) Is the territory located within the primary sphere of influence area of the City of Turlock? 
A single parcel in which more than fifty (50%) percent of the land area is located within the 
primary sphere of influence shall be considered to be located within the primary sphere. 

(3) Is the development proposed for the unincorporated territory consistent with the land use 
designations contained within the Turlock Area General Plan? 

(b) Educational facilities. Has the proposed residential development fully mitigated all potential 
impacts to the Turlock School Districts? 

(c) Parks and recreation facilities. Does the proposal include full mitigation of impacts on 
parks and recreation needs by either land dedication and development or by payment of in lieu 
development fees at a standard consistent with the Turlock General Plan? 

(d) Public safety facilities. Does the proposal include full mitigation of impacts to police and 
fire services including analysis of emergency (CODE I) response times or other innovative 
techniques? 

(e) Public infrastructure facilities. 

(1) Does the proposal include full mitigation of impacts to needed public infrastructure both 
on-site and along the project frontage which serve the proposed development without the 
need for the City to provide supplemental facilities? 

(2) Does the proposal have the capability to fully mitigate the impacts associated with its 
development through the payment of applicable Capital Facility Fees? 

(3) Does the proposal include full mitigation that will not worsen the LOS (Level of Service) 
at any intersection or along any roadway serving or affected by the project (computed for 
weekday peak hour at full buildout/occupancy) to an unacceptable level? 

9-5-706 Prezoning and annexation: Consideration of territory within secondary sphere of 
influence. 
If the territory proposed for annexation does not meet the above standard regarding location 
within the primary sphere of influence, the applicant has the opportunity to apply for an 
amendment to the primary sphere of influence line. In considering requests to amend the 
primary sphere of influence line, the City of Turlock shall be guided by the following standards: 



(a) The inventory of available land located within the primary area of influence that has not 
received prezone approval and/or been annexed to the City is less than 500 acres. 

(b) The Turlock City Council, upon recommendation from the Planning Commission, adopts 
findings that a particular request for an amendment to the primary sphere of influence line is 
necessary for the protection of the public welfare; the enhancement of the community; and is 
consistent with and furthers the goals and policies of the Turlock Area General Plan. 

9-5-707 Prezoning and annexation: Denial. 
If the proposed prezone and annexation application does not meet all of the findings referenced 
above, the application shall be considered premature and shall be denied. 

9-5-708 Prezoning and annexation: Development agreement requirements. 
A development agreement may be required for consideration in conjunction with the review of a 
prezone and annexation proposal when determined appropriate by the City. The application 
process for a development agreement shall be as specified in Article 9 of this chapter: 
Development Agreements, and shall include the payment of processing fees as established by 
City Council resolution which may be amended from time to time. 

9-5-709 Prezoning and annexation: Area-wide planning required. 
It is the policy of the City of Turlock (Turlock General Plan and Resolution 99-021 as amended 
from time to time), subject to certain exceptions, that all annexations of land to the City shall be 
accompanied by an appropriate area-wide plan. This requirement shall be accomplished by 
either the preparation of a Specific Plan as set forth in Government Code Section 65450 et seq. 
or by the preparation of a Master Plan as described below. A Master Plan shall be adopted by 
the procedure set forth in TMC 9-5-700ART (Prezoning and Annexation). 

(a) Master Plan content. A Master Plan shall address and describe the following, as applicable: 

(1) Location and boundaries of the Master Plan area; 

(2) Proposed uses of land, including proposed densities and/or intensities, design and 
development standards; 

(3) Proposed prezoning of property, which shall become the zoning upon the effective date 
of the annexation (or rezoning in the case of any property already in the City); 

(4) Proposed location and development standards of major streets and roads (public and 
private), including traffic control devices needed to maintain the City’s established level of 
service standards; 

(5) Proposed location and description of public infrastructure, facilities and utilities needed to 
support the development of the Master Plan area; 

(6) Proposed location of any parks and other public open space; 

(7) Proposed location of any public schools; 

(8) Identification of the means and methods of financing public improvements, including 
those funded through the City’s development impact fee program and/or any supplemental 
development impact fee needed to fund needed facilities not included in the City’s 
development impact fee program; 



(9) Phasing plan or program (if any), including its relationship to public infrastructure, 
facilities and utilities, and to any policies affecting the rate and/or timing of growth and 
development of the City; 

(10) Mitigation measures identified in the environmental review process that are needed to 
reduce and/or eliminate environmental impacts; 

(11) Discussion of the consistency of the proposed Master Plan with the Turlock General 
Plan, including the Housing Element (where applicable); and 

(12) Any other such matters or issues that that could affect the orderly development of the 
Master Plan area. 

(b) Master Plan development standards and review processes. Unless otherwise specified 
in the adopted Master Plan, all development in the Master Plan area shall be subject to the 
applicable review and approval processes and design and development standards of the zoning 
regulations of this Code. Subject to a Minor Discretionary Permit, the Community Development 
Director may approve minor modifications, exceptions and waivers to the zoning regulations of 
this Code to allow for orderly development in the Master Plan area. Modifications or changes 
considered major (e.g. significant changes in land use/zoning, circulation or public facilities, etc.) 
may be considered subject to the process and procedures for amending the Code including 
rezoning (TMC 9-5-112 et seq.). 

(c) Master Plan funding. A Master Plan may be initiated and prepared by property owners 
and/or developers in consultation with the City of Turlock or by the City of Turlock at its 
discretion. When the preparation of a Master Plan is privately initiated, the applicant shall pay all 
costs associated with the preparation of the Master Plan. The applicant shall submit the draft 
Master Plan to the Community Development Department for review and pay a processing fee as 
established by council resolution, as amended from time to time. When the preparation of a 
Master Plan is initiated and funded by the City of Turlock, the City shall be fully reimbursed for 
the cost of preparing the Master Plan. The collection of a Master Plan reimbursement fee shall 
occur in conjunction with either the issuance of a building permit and/or final subdivision map, 
as established in conjunction with the approval of the Master Plan. By written agreement with 
the City, the cost of preparing a Master Plan may be shared between the City and private 
parties. 

Article 8. Historic Site Contracts 

9-5-801 Specific purpose. 
The provisions and regulations for Historic Site Contracts are hereby established for the 
following purposes: 

(a) For the protection, enhancement, and use of places, sites, buildings, and structures having 
special historic, architectural, and cultural interest and value; 

(b) To impose appropriate and reasonable controls on the appearance and use of these places, 
sites, buildings, and structures for preserving their character and economic value to the City and 
its citizens; 

(c) For the proper use of places, sites, buildings, and structures that are desirable to the 
community but require special considerations because of their age, structural nature, or threats 
from modernization which could have a negative effect on their unique and important character 
and economic value; 



(d) For the protection of substantial public investments in conservation, recreation, aesthetics 
and the general public health, safety, and welfare; and 

(e) For the enhancement of tourism and the economy of the City by protecting and preserving 
places having special and unique character and interest. 

9-5-802 Historical site contract. 
(a) Application. Upon submittal of an application, the Development Services Director may 
authorize a Historical Site Contract for places, sites, properties, buildings, structures, and signs 
found to be qualified as historical buildings or structures. Applications shall be submitted and 
reviewed pursuant to the minor discretionary permit process as set forth in TMC 9-5-300ART 
(Minor Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits) including payment of all applicable 
processing fees. 

(b) Findings. In reviewing an application for a Historic Site Contract, the Development Services 
Director shall consider the following criteria and include those applicable as findings of fact to 
any approval: 

(1) The property, place, site, building, structure, or use has special local historical, 
architectural, archaeological, or cultural interest that embodies the character and history of 
the City of Turlock; 

(2) The unique character and history of the City of Turlock reflected in the property, place, 
site, building, structure or use should be preserved as living parts of the community; 

(3) The property, place, site, building, structure or use is facing increasing pressures of 
modernization and may be threatened with demolition or decay; 

(4) The request represents an area of special natural beauty, aesthetic interest, or entryway 
corridors, which would enhance the economy of the City by creating market draws or tourist 
attractions; 

(5) The property is listed on the National Register of Historic Places or any state or county 
official register of historical or architecturally significant sites, places, or landmarks or should 
be and by this action is listed on the City of Turlock register of historically or architecturally 
significant sites, places, or landmarks. 

(c) Terms of the contract. 

(1) The use of the property may be restricted in a manner deemed reasonable to carry out 
the purpose of this article. 

(2) The term of the contract shall be for a minimum period of ten (10) years. 

(3) Where applicable, the contract shall provide for the following: 

(i) The preservation of qualified historical property and, the restoration and rehabilitation 
of the property to conform to the rules and regulations of the California Office of Historic 
Preservation  , the United States Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation, 
and the State Historical Building Code. 

(ii) The periodic examination of the interior and exterior of the premises by the assessor, 
the  California Office of Historic Preservation, and the State Board of Equalization as 
necessary to determine the owner’s compliance with the contract. 



(4) The owner or agent of an owner shall provide written notice of the contract to the Office 
of Historic Preservation within six (6) months of entering into the contract. 

(5) Unless a notice of non-renewal has been issued by the City or the owner, a one (1) year 
renewal period shall be added to the term of the contract on each anniversary date of the 
execution of the contract. 

(6) If the City or the owner desires not to renew the contract, a written notice of non-renewal 
shall be issued at least ninety (90) days prior to the renewal date by the owner or at least 
sixty (60) days prior to the renewal date by the City. 

(7) Upon receipt of a notice of non-renewal from the City, an owner may submit a written 
protest of the proposed non-renewal. The City may then withdraw the notice of non-renewal 
at any time prior to the renewal date. 

(8) If either the City or the owner serves a notice of non-renewal, the contract shall remain in 
effect for the balance of the contract term. 

(9) The owner shall furnish the City with any information necessary to determine the 
eligibility of the property involved. 

(10) Within twenty (20) days after the execution of a contract, the Secretary of the Planning 
Commission shall record a copy of the contract with the county recorder. 

(d) Finding to protect public safety and welfare. In authorizing a Historic Site Contract, the 
Development Services Director must find that the granting of the contract, or the authorization of 
the Chief Building Official to use the State Historic Building Code, will not be detrimental to the 
public safety and welfare. 

9-5-803 Qualified historical building or structure. 
For the purpose of this section, pursuant to California Government Code Section 18955 of the 
Health and Safety Code, a qualified historical building or structure is any structure, collection of 
structures, and their associated sites deemed of importance to the history, architecture, or 
culture of an area by an appropriate local or state governmental jurisdiction. This shall include 
structures on existing or future national, state or local historical registers or official inventories, 
such as the National Register of Historic Places, State Historical Landmarks, State Points of 
Historical Interest, and city or county registers or inventories of historical or architecturally 
significant sites, places, historic districts, or landmarks. 

9-5-804 Use of the state historic building code. 
Repairs, alterations and additions necessary for the preservation, restoration, rehabilitation or 
continued use of a building or structure may be made as required by the State Historic Building 
Code, when authorized by the building official, provided that: 

(a) Any unsafe or substandard conditions will be corrected in accordance with approved plans; 

(b) The restored building or structure will be less hazardous, based on life and fire risk, than the 
existing building. 

9-5-805 Demolition. 
No building or structure, or portion thereof, for which a Historic Site Contract has been entered 
into, shall be removed, relocated, demolished or structurally altered without prior approval from 
the Development Services Director in the form of a minor administrative approval as set forth in 



TMC 9-5-300ART (Minor  
Administrative and Minor Discretionary Permits). 

9-5-806 Cancellation. 
The City may cancel a contract if it determines that the owner has breached any of the 
conditions of the contract or has allowed the property to deteriorate to the point that it no longer 
meets the standards for a qualified historical property. The City may also cancel a contract if it 
determines that the owner has failed to restore or rehabilitate the property in the manner 
specified in the contract. 

Article 9. Development Agreements 

9-5-901 Short title. 
This article may be referred to as the “Development Agreement Law of the City of Turlock.”  

9-5-902 Authority and purpose. 
This article is adopted pursuant to the provisions of Sections 65864 through 65869.5 of the 
California Government Code. The purpose of adopting this article is to establish procedures and 
requirements for the consideration of development agreements in conjunction with specific 
development plans. 

9-5-903 Forms and information. 
(a) The Development Services Department shall prescribe the form for each application, notice, 
and document provided for or required by this article for the preparation and implementation of 
development agreements. 

(b) The Development Services Department may require an applicant to submit such information 
and supporting data as necessary to process the application. 

9-5-904 Qualifications of applicants. 
(a) Only a qualified applicant may file an application to enter into a development agreement. A 
qualified applicant is a person who has legal or equitable interest in the real property which is 
the subject of the development agreement, and an applicant includes an authorized agent. 

(b) The Development Services Director may require an applicant to submit proof of his or her 
legal or equitable interest in the real property and of the authority of the agent to act for the 
applicant. Before processing the application, the Development Services Director may obtain the 
opinion of the City Attorney as to the sufficiency of the applicant’s interest in the real property to 
enter into the agreement. The Development Services Director may require the applicant to 
submit a preliminary title report. 

9-5-905 Form of development agreement. 
Each application to enter into a development agreement shall be accompanied by the form of 
standard development agreement established by the City and approved by the City Council with 
such additional alternatives or modifications or changes as may be proposed by the applicant. 
Such alterations or modifications or changes as proposed by the applicant are not binding on 
the City and may or may not be approved for inclusion by the City Council. 

9-5-906 Duty to give notice. 
The Development Services Department shall give notice of the City’s intention to consider the 
adoption of a development agreement in conjunction with any other public hearing required by 
State law or this article at least ten (10) days prior to the hearing date. 



(a) Form of notice. The form of the notice of intention to consider the adoption of a 
development agreement shall contain: 

(1) The time and place of the hearing; 

(2) A general explanation of the matter under consideration, including a general description 
of the area; and 

(3) Other information required by specific provisions of this article or which the Development 
Services Department considers necessary or desirable. 

(b) Time and manner of notice. The time and manner of giving notice shall be by both: 

(1) Publication. Publication at least once in a newspaper of general circulation published and 
circulated in the City; and 

(2) Mailing. Mailing of the notice to all persons shown on the last equalized assessment roll 
as owning real property, as per TMC 9-5-120, which is the subject of the proposed 
development agreement. 

9-5-907 Contents of development agreements. 
(a) A development agreement shall specify the duration of the agreement, the permitted uses of 
the property, the density or intensity of use, the maximum height and size of proposed buildings, 
and provisions for reservation or dedication of land for public purposes. 

(b) The development agreement may also include conditions, terms, restrictions, and 
requirements for subsequent or concurrent discretionary actions applicable to the project; 
provided that such conditions, terms, restrictions, and requirements shall not prevent 
development of the land for the uses and to the density or intensity of development set forth in 
the agreement. 

(c) The agreement may provide that construction shall commence within a specified time and 
that the project or any phase thereof be completed within a specified time. 

(d) The agreement may also include terms and conditions relating to applicant financing of 
necessary public facilities and subsequent reimbursement over time. 

9-5-908 Determinations by the Planning Commission. 
After the hearing held by the Planning Commission, which may be held in conjunction with other 
required hearings for the project, the Planning Commission shall make its recommendation in 
writing to the City Council. The recommendation shall include findings on the Planning 
Commission’s determination whether or not the proposed development agreement: 

(a) Is consistent with the objectives, policies, general land uses, and programs specified in the 
General Plan and any applicable Specific Plan; 

(b) Is compatible with the uses authorized in, and the regulations prescribed for, the land use 
district in which the real property is located; 

(c) Is in conformity with the public convenience and general welfare and good land use 
practices; 

(d) Will be detrimental to the health, safety, and general welfare; 



(e) Will adversely affect the orderly development of property or the preservation of property 
values; and 

(f) Will provide sufficient benefit to the City to justify entering into the agreement. 

9-5-909 Council hearings. 
(a) Following notice pursuant to TMC 9-5-906, the City Council shall hold a public hearing. The 
City Council may accept, modify, or disapprove the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission. The City Council shall not approve the development agreement unless the City 
Council adopts findings to support its action as referenced in TMC 9-5-908. 

(b) If the City Council approves the development agreement, it shall do so by the adoption of an 
ordinance as required by Government Code Section 65867.5. After the ordinance approving the 
development agreement takes effect, the City may enter into and execute the agreement. 

9-5-910 Initiation of amendments or cancellation. 
Either party may propose an amendment to or the cancellation, in whole or in part, of a 
development agreement previously entered into. If proposed by a developer, the procedure for 
proposing and the adoption of an amendment to or cancellation, in whole or in part, of the 
development agreement shall follow the same procedures required for entering into the 
development agreement (Government Code Section 65868). However, where the City initiates a 
proposed amendment or cancellation of the development agreement, the City shall provide 
thirty (30) days advance notice to the property owner of the intention to initiate proceedings. 

9-5-911 Recordation of agreements, amendments, or cancellation. 
(a) Within ten (10) days after the City enters into the development agreement, the City Clerk 
shall record the agreement with the County Recorder. 

(b) If the parties to the agreement, or their successors in interest, amend or cancel the 
agreement as provided in Section 65868 of the California Government Code, or if the City 
terminates or modifies the agreement as provided in Section 65865.1 of the Government Code 
for the failure of the applicant to comply in good faith with the terms or conditions of the 
agreement, the City Clerk shall also record notice of such action with the County Recorder. 

9-5-912 Review of agreements. 
The Development Services Department shall review the development agreement every twelve 
(12) months after the date the agreement is entered into, until the project is fully implemented. 
After full project implementation, the City shall review the development agreement as often and 
in the manner as may be specified within the terms of each specific development agreement. 

(a) The Development Services Department shall begin the review proceeding by giving notice to 
the property owner that the City intends to undertake a periodic review of the implementation of 
the development agreement. The Department shall give thirty (30) days advance notice of the 
time when the matter will be considered by the Planning Commission and City Council. 

(b) The Planning Commission and City Council shall conduct a public hearing at which the 
property owner shall demonstrate good faith compliance with the terms of the agreement. The 
burden of proof on such issue shall be upon the property owner. Notice of the hearing shall be 
given in conformance with TMC 9-5-118 et.seq. 

(c) The City Council, upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission, shall determine 
whether or not the property owner, for the period under review, has complied in good faith with 
the terms and conditions of the agreement. 



(d) If the City Council finds and determines that the property owner has complied in good faith 
with the terms and conditions of the agreement during the period under review, the review shall 
be concluded. If the City Council finds and determines that the property owner has not complied 
in good faith with the terms and conditions of the agreement during the period under review, the 
City Council shall order the property owner to cure the default within sixty (60) days. If the 
property owner fails to do so, the City Council may modify or terminate the agreement. 

Article 10. Design Review 

9-5-1001 Purpose. 
The purposes for establishing design review are as follows: 

(a) Effective implementation of the objectives and goals in the General Plan. 

(b) Standards and policies to promote and enhance quality architectural design, good site 
planning and the preservation of property values throughout the City. 

(c) Enhancement of the orderly and harmonious appearance of new development. 

(d) To compliment the mandatory property development regulations contained in Title 9 of this 
Code by providing good examples of potential design solutions and by providing design 
interpretations of the various mandatory regulations. 

(e) Maintenance of the public health, safety, general welfare and property throughout the City by 
avoiding and preventing possible deterioration in the form of: 

(1) The appearance of open spaces, buildings and related structures visible from public 
streets having a substantial effect on property values and the taxable value of property in 
the City. 

(2) Poor planning, neglect of proper design standards, and the construction of buildings and 
structures unsuitable and incompatible with the character of the neighborhood. 

(f) To protect the general health, welfare and safety of the residents of the City. 

9-5-1002 Applicability. 
Design guidelines are advisory for permitted uses. However, the design guidelines should be 
incorporated as applicable in all development subject to a Minor Administrative Permit, Minor 
Discretionary Permit, Conditional Use Permit or planned development proposal, to encourage 
the highest level of design quality while at the same time providing the flexibility necessary to 
encourage creativity on the part of project designers. Exceptions include: single-family 
residences on in-fill sites, interior remodels, or interior tenant improvements. 

9-5-1003 Findings. 
Upon receipt of an application, the Development Services Director or designee shall review the 
proposed project and determine the project adequately meets the following findings: 

(a) The design and layout of the proposed project will not unreasonably interfere with the use 
and enjoyment of neighboring existing or future development, will not result in vehicular and/or 
pedestrian hazards and provides a desirable environment for occupants, visitors and neighbors. 

(b) The architectural design of the proposed project is compatible with the character of the 
surrounding neighborhood and will implement the General Plan by insuring harmonious, orderly 
and attractive development. 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock09/Turlock09.html#9


Article 11. Enforcement 

9-5-1101 Purpose. 
Enforcement of the provisions of this code shall be diligently pursued in order to provide for their 
effective administration, to ensure compliance with any conditions of approval, to promote the 
City’ s planning efforts and for the protection of the public health, safety and welfare of the City. 

9-5-1102 Permits, licenses, certificates, and approvals. 
All persons empowered with the authority to issue permits, licenses, certificates, or other 
approvals, shall comply with the provisions of this title and grant no permit, license, certificate, 
or approval in conflict with these provisions. Any permit, license, certificate, or approval granted 
in conflict with any provision of this title shall be void. 

9-5-1103 Violation. 
It shall be unlawful to violate or fail to perform any condition, requirement or restriction placed on 
any permit, Planned Development zone, variance or other similar action. 

9-5-1104 Enforcement. 
It shall be the duty of the Neighborhood Preservation Officer, the Chief of Police, and the 
Development Services Director to enforce the provisions of this title. In addition to all other 
actions and/or remedies provided by this Code, any violation of this title shall be deemed a 
nuisance and enforcement proceedings shall be pursuant to Article 3 of Chapter 5-5 (Nuisance 
Abatement Procedures), Article 1 of Chapter 4-16 (Cost Recovery), and/or Article 1 of Chapter 
2-11 (Administrative Citations). 

 SECTION 7.  VALIDITY:  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase 
of this ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid for any reason, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.  The Turlock City Council hereby 
declares that they would have passed this ordinance, and each section, subsection, sentence, 
clause, word, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that one or more section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, word, or phrase be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
 SECTION 8.  ENACTMENT:  Prior to the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the 
passage and adoption thereof, this ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 
circulation printed and published in the County of Stanislaus, State of California, together with 
names of the members of the City Council voting for and against the same. 
 

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Turlock/html/Turlock05/Turlock055.html#5-5


 SECTION 7.  VALIDITY:  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or 
phrase of this ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid for any 
reason, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this ordinance.  
The Turlock City Council hereby declares that they would have passed this ordinance, 
and each section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase thereof, irrespective of 
the fact that one or more section, subsection, sentence, clause, word, or phrase be 
declared invalid or unconstitutional. 
 

 SECTION 8.  ENACTMENT:  Prior to the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the 

passage and adoption thereof, this ordinance shall be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation printed and published in the County of Stanislaus, State of California, together with 

names of the members of the City Council voting for and against the same. 

 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Turlock 

this 28th day of April, 2015, by the following vote: 

 

AYES:     

NOES:  

NOT PARTICIPATING:  

ABSENT:  

 

Signed and approved this 28th day of April, 2015. 

 

 __________________________ 

 Gary Soiseth, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Kellie E. Weaver, City Clerk, 

City of Turlock, County of Stanislaus,  

State of California 

 




















	Agenda
	2A
	2B
	2C
	2D
	2E
	2F
	5A
	5B
	5C
	5D
	5E
	5F
	5G
	5H
	5I
	5J
	5K
	5L
	5M
	5N
	5O
	5P
	5Q
	5R
	5S
	5T
	5U
	5V
	6A
	6B

